#### NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH

# Studies in Business Cycles No. 2

# MEASURING BUSINESS CYCLES

# NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH 1964

#### OFFICERS

Albert J. Hettinger, Jr., Chairman Arthur F. Burns, President Frank W. Fetter, Vice-President Donald B. Woodward, Treasurer Solomon Fabricant, Director of Research Geoffrey H. Moore, Associate Director of Research Hal B. Lary, Associate Director of Research William J. Carson, Executive Director

DIRECTORS AT LARCE Robert B. Anderson, New York City Wallace J. Campbell, Nationwide Insurance Erwin D. Canham, Christian Science Monitor Solomon Fabricant, New York University Marion B. Folsom, Eastman Kodak Company Crawford H. Greenewalt, E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company Gabriel Hauge, Manufacturers Hanover Trust Company A. J. Hayes, International Association of Machinists Albert J. Hettinger, Jr., Lazard Frères and Company Nicholas Kelley, Kelley Drye Newhall Maginnes & Warren H. W. Laidler, League for Industrial Democracy Charles G. Mortimer, General Foods Corporation George B. Roberts, Larchmont, New York Harry Scherman, Book-of-the-Month Club Boris Shishkin. American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations George Soule, South Kent, Connecticut Joseph H. Willits, Langhorne, Pennsylvania Donald B. Woodward, A. W. Jones and Company

DIRECTORS BY UNIVERSITY APPOINTMENT

V. W. Bladen, Toronto Francis M. Boddy, Minnesola Arthur F. Burns, Columbia Lester V. Chandler, Princeton Melvin G. de Chazeau, Cornell Frank W. Fetter, Northwestern R. A. Gordon, California Harold M. Groves, Wisconsin Gottfried Haberler, Harvard Maurice W. Lee, North Garolina Lloyd G. Reynolds, Yale Paul A. Samuelson, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Theodore W. Schultz, Chicago Willis J. Winn, Pennsylvania

DIRECTORS BY APPOINTMENT OF OTHER ORGANIZATIONS Percival F. Brundage, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Nathaniel Goldinger, American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations Harold G. Halcrow, American Farm Economic Association Murray Shields, American Management Association Willard L. Thorp, American Economic Association W. Allen Wallis, American Statistical Association Harold F. Williamson, Economic History Association Theodore O. Yntema, Committee for Economic Development

DIRECTORS EMERITI Shepard Morgan, Norfolk, Connecticut N. I. Stone, New York City Jacob Viner, Princeton, New Jersey

RESEARCH STAFF

Moses Abramovitz Gary S. Becker William H. Brown, Jr. Gerhard Bry Arthur F. Burns Phillip Cagan Joseph W. Conard Frank G. Dickinson James S. Earley Richard A. Easterlin Solomon Fabricant Albert Fishlow Milton Friedman Victor R. Fuchs H. G. Georgiadis Raymond W. Goldsmith Challis A. Hall, Jr. Millard Hastay Daniel M. Holland Thor Hultgren F. Thomas Juster C. Harry Kahn Irving B. Kravis Hal B. Lary Robert E. Lipsey Ruth P. Mack Jacob Mincer Ilse Mintz Geoffrey H. Moore Roger F. Murray Ralph L. Nelson G. Warren Nutter Richard T. Selden Lawrence H. Seltzer Robert P. Shay George J. Stigler Norman B. Ture Herbert B. Woolley Victor Zarnowitz

# MEASURING BUSINESS CYCLES

١

ARTHUR F. BURNS and WESLEY C. MITCHELL

NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH NEW YORK 1946

.

#### REPRINTED 1947, 1964

4

COPYRIGHT, 1946 BY NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH, INC.

> ALL RIGHTS RESERVED MANUFACTURED IN THE U.S.A. BY H. WOLFF, NEW YORK

#### Relation of the Directors to the Work and Publications

#### of the

#### National Bureau of Economic Research

1. The object of the National Bureau of Economic Research is to ascertain and to present to the public important economic facts and their interpretation in a scientific and impartial manner. The Board of Directors is charged with the responsibility of ensuring that the work of the Bureau is carried on in strict conformity with this object.

2. To this end the Board of Directors shall appoint one or more Directors of Research.

3. The Director or Directors of Research shall submit to the members of the Board, or to its Executive Committee, for their formal adoption, all specific proposals concerning researches to be instituted.

4. No report shall be published until the Director or Directors of Research shall have submitted to the Board a summary drawing attention to the character of the data and their utilization in the report, the nature and treatment of the problems involved, the main conclusions and such other information as in their opinion would serve to determine the suitability of the report for publication in accordance with the principles of the Bureau.

5. A copy of any manuscript proposed for publication shall also be submitted to each member of the Board. For each manuscript to be so submitted a special committee shall be appointed by the President, or at his designation by the Executive Director, consisting of three Directors selected as nearly as may be one from each general division of the Board. The names of the special manuscript committee shall be stated to each Director when the summary and report described in paragraph (4) are sent to him. It shall be the duty of each member of the committee to read the manuscript. If each member of the special committee signifies his approval within thirty days, the manuscript may be published. If each member of the special committee has not signified his approval within thirty days of the transmittal of the report and manuscript, the Director of Research shall then notify each member of the Board, requesting approval or disapproval of publication, and thirty additional days shall be granted for this purpose. The manuscript shall then not be published unless at least a majority of the entire Board and a two-thirds majority of those members of the Board who shall have voted on the proposal within the time fixed for the receipt of votes on the publication proposed shall have approved.

6. No manuscript may be published, though approved by each member of the special committee, until forty-five days have elapsed from the transmittal of the summary and report. The interval is allowed for the receipt of any memorandum of dissent or reservation, together with a brief statement of his reasons, that any member may wish to express; and such memorandum of dissent or reservation shall be published with the manuscript if he so desires. Publication does not, however, imply that each member of the Board has read the manuscript, or that either members of the Board in general, or of the special committee, have passed upon its validity in every detail.

7. A copy of this resolution shall, unless otherwise determined by the Board, be printed in each copy of every National Bureau book.

(Resolution adopted October 25, 1926 and revised February 6, 1933 and February 24, 1941)

#### Studies in Business Cycles

- 1 Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting By Wesley C. Mitchell
- 2 Measuring Business Cycles By Arthur F. Burns and Wesley C. Mitchell
- 3 American Transportation in Prosperity and Depression By Thor Hultgren
- 4 Inventories and Business Cycles, with Special Reference to Manufacturers' Inventories By Moses Abramovitz
- 5 What Happens during Business Cycles: A Progress Report By Wesley C. Mitchell
- 6 Personal Income during Business Cycles By Daniel Creamer with the assistance of Martin Bernstein
- 7 Consumption and Business Fluctuations: A Case Study of the Shoe, Leather, Hide Sequence By Ruth P. Mack
- 8 International Financial Transactions and Business Cycles By Oskar Morgenstern
- 9 Federal Receipts and Expenditures during Business Cycles, 1879–1958
   By John M. Firestone
- 10 Business Cycle Indicators: Volume I, Contributions to the Analysis of Current Business Conditions; Volume II, Basic Data on Cyclical Indicators Edited by Geoffrey H. Moore
- 11 Postwar Cycles in Manufacturers' Inventories By Thomas M. Stanback, Jr.
- 12 A Monetary History of the United States, 1867–1960 By Milton Friedman and Anna Jacobson Schwartz

## Preface

THE BASIC features of the plan for measuring business cycles presented in this book were outlined in the last six pages of *Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting*, published by the National Bureau in 1927. My 'tentative working plans' of that date were embryonic. They have developed slowly under the solicitous attention of numerous coworkers, and besides secular growth, have undergone some structural changes.

I had thought of analyzing the movements of "all the time series for a given country on the basis of a standard pattern derived from the business annals of that country, not on the basis of the various patterns which might be derived from study of the several series themselves." This plan was promptly amended to include analysis on both bases. We found that the words 'prosperity' and 'depression', to which I clung in 1927, misrepresent some business-cycle phases, and replaced them by 'expansion' and 'contraction'. As our statistical findings accumulated, we refined upon the rough chronologies provided by the collection of *Business Annals* that Willard L. Thorp had compiled for us. To picture the cyclical behavior of a series, I had proposed to draw a separate chart for each of the four phases of a business cycle. We found it better to plot the four phases on a single chart, and to add a 'specific-cycle pattern' based upon the series' own troughs and peaks.

To determine what aspects of cyclical behavior should be measured, and just how each measure should be made, required much experimenting with the wide variety of data we wished to use. For six years, the brunt of this developmental work was borne by Simon Kuznets and several assistants, of whom Cicely Applebaum was chief. When Dr. Kuznets became absorbed in estimating national income and its components, Arthur F. Burns took over. He instituted a searching critique of our methods and rigorous tests of our findings, out of which came many improvements in our conceptions and procedures.

While I shared in building up our technique, my chief function was to study and interpret the results it yielded. In that capacity, I wrote two experimental reports at different stages of our progress, explaining our

#### PREFACE

ł

:

methods and summarizing what they seemed to show about the cyclical behavior of the activities we had studied. These efforts were useful mainly in a negative way. They demonstrated first that we needed to enlarge our sample of time series in various directions; second that much more intimate knowledge of economic activities than I possessed was necessary to understand their reactions to business cycles: third that our findings could not be adequately presented in a single volume as I had naively expected. The upshot was that we enlarged our staff. The detailed interpretation of our findings was undertaken by a group of collaborators who were or became specialists in such fields as agriculture, construction work, transportation, merchandising, inventories, prices, labor problems, foreign trade, international finance, and banking. I stuck to the task of trying to see how the results in all the fields fitted together, depending on others to supply knowledge I lacked. Meanwhile, Dr. Burns familiarized himself with the uses of our measures by preparing a preliminary analysis of our findings about construction work, and then devoted himself to a final critique and revision of our statistical methods.

The present volume is mainly his work. Though the basic features of my original design have been retained, Dr. Burns has made our technique of measuring cyclical behavior a much better kit of tools than it was when put into his hands. All of the tests of our measures were planned and executed by him. So also were the chapters on the time unit and our treatment of secular and random components. With minor exceptions, the drafts I contributed have been so much improved by him that they have become virtually his products. I have taken advantage of my seniority to insist against his wish that the relative shares we have had in preparing this book be represented by putting Dr. Burns' name first on the title page.

The dozen chapters form three broad groups. Chapters 1-5 describe our methods, first in general terms, then in full detail. Chapters 6-8 elaborate upon three themes treated briefly in the third chapter: our insistence upon using monthly data whenever they can be had, and our peculiar ways of dealing with secular and random movements. Chapters 9-12 examine critically the justification for using averages to express the typical characteristics of cyclical behavior.

We have sought to make the book useful to several groups of readers. While the discussion is focussed throughout upon the National Bureau's technique, certain alternative methods of time-series analysis come in for examination. Also, the abundant illustrations of our results possess substantive as well as methodological interest. Students who desire earnestly to understand business cycles must feel a professional interest in the design and efficiency of the tools used in observing cyclical behavior. On the one hand, these observations show what should be explained; on the other hand, they afford means for testing explanatory hypotheses. For such specialists, there is no short cut. To facilitate use of the book by others, we offer a tabular guide.

#### A Reader's Guide

	recommended
Laymen and economists with a general interest in busi- ness cycles	1-2
Students of business cycles Who have little or no concern with the empirical foundations of the subject, but would like to see what 'economic statisticians' may contribute to 'theory'	1-4ª, 9b, 12ª 1-4ª, 9-12
Statisticians whose primary interest is Time-series analysis Measurement of economic magnitudes Testing hypotheses regarding time series	2, 3, 5-8 4 2, 9-12ª
<ul> <li>Sec. IV of Ch. 3 may be omitted.</li> <li>Perhaps add Sec. VII-VIII of Ch. 10, and Sec. VII of Ch. 11.</li> <li>Omit Sec. III.</li> </ul>	

۰Om <sup>d</sup>Omit Sec. III-IV.

Dr. Burns and I have received generous and varied help from many friends. Acknowledgments of specific suggestions on technical points are made at the appropriate points in the text, and need not be recapitulated here. But this is the place to mention obligations of a more general sort.

Chester I. Barnard, W. Leonard Crum, and Oswald W. Knauth formed the Committee of National Bureau Directors who examined our manuscript. All three raised questions of which we have taken account as best we could. Mr. Barnard's critique incited us to add a section to Chapter I on 'The Symbols Used in Observing Business Cycles'.

Our present and former colleagues in the National Bureau have read parts or all of the successive versions through which the manuscript has passed, and aided in various ways to better it. We are especially indebted to Milton Friedman, Simon Kuznets, Frederick C. Mills, Geoffrey H. Moore. Julius Shiskin, and W. Allen Wallis. We have benefited also from criticisms or suggestions by Moses Abramowitz, James W. Angell, G. Heberton Evans, Gottfried Haberler, Edward E. Lewis, Oskar Morgenstern, George Stigler, Albert Wohlstetter, and Leo Wolman. Harold Hotelling of Columbia University kindly advised us on some points of statistical analysis. Martha Anderson put her editorial skill at our disposal, and Hanna Stern prepared the Index.

We owe an especially heavy debt of gratitude to our statistical assistants. Karl Laubenstein was mainly responsible for compiling data

<u>\_\_\_\_</u>

and verifying sources. H. Irving Forman, Sophie Sakowitz and Denis Volkenau, aided at times by several computers, carried through the extensive calculations. Sophie Sakowitz helped also in the preparation of the printers' copy, and assumed the main burden of reading the proofs. H. Irving Forman drew all the charts in the volume, and assisted with the proofs. Sally Edwards typed our bulky and difficult manuscripts with a diviner's art. Without the care, patience, and skill of all five, our task would have been far harder and less pleasant.

WESLEY C. MITCHELL

# Contents

.

•

,

3

					Page
CE	•	•	•	•	vii
CHAPTER 1					
NG PLANS	•	•			3-22
The Point of Departure					3
Questions Raised by the Definition		•		•	5
'Inductive Verification' of Business-cycle Hypotheses					8
The Data Needed for Observing Cyclical Behavior.				•	10
Requirements that Technique Must Meet					11
The Symbols Used in Observing Business Cycles .					14
Range Covered by the Observations					17
The Program as a Whole					21
	CHAPTER 1 CHAPTER 1 NG PLANS	CHAPTER 1 CHAPTER 1 NG PLANS	CHAPTER 1 NG PLANS	CHAPTER 1 CHAPTER 1 NG PLANS	CHAPTER 1 CHAPTER 1 NG PLANS

#### CHAPTER 2

MINARY SKETCH OF THE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	•	•	. 23-	-36
Basic Features of the Analysis		•		23
Reference Dates, Reference Cycles and Specific Cycles.				24
Timing, Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles				26
Measures of Secular Movements	,			28
Cyclical Patterns		•		29
Measures of Conformity to Business Cycles				31
Averages and Average Deviations			•	33
Charts of Cyclical Patterns.				34
Comparison with Customary Techniques				36
	MINARY SKETCH OF THE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS Basic Features of the Analysis	MINARY SKETCH OF THE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS       .         Basic Features of the Analysis       .         Reference Dates, Reference Cycles and Specific Cycles       .         Timing, Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles       .         Measures of Secular Movements       .         Cyclical Patterns       .         Measures of Conformity to Business Cycles       .         Averages and Average Deviations       .         Charts of Cyclical Patterns       .         Comparison with Customary Techniques       .	MINARY SKETCH OF THE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS       .         Basic Features of the Analysis       .         Reference Dates, Reference Cycles and Specific Cycles       .         Timing, Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles       .         Measures of Secular Movements       .         Cyclical Patterns       .         Measures of Conformity to Business Cycles       .         Averages and Average Deviations       .         Charts of Cyclical Patterns       .         Comparison with Customary Techniques       .	MINARY SKETCH OF THE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

#### CHAPTER 3

PLAN	OF TREATING SECULAR, SEASONAL AND RANDOM MO	VEI	ME	37-	-55	
Ι	The 'Cycle of Experience' as the Unit of Analysis .					37
II	Limitations of the Technique			•		40
III	Need to Economize Effort	•	•		•	41
IV	Treatment of Seasonal Variations			•		43
Apper	ndix: Notes on the Elimination of Seasonal Variations					51

## CONTENTS

1

.

.

1

### CHAPTER 4

DATING SPECIFIC AND BUSINESS CYCLES	•	•	56-114
I Dating Specific Cycles			. 56
II Diffusion of Specific Cycles			. 66
III Different Methods of Deriving a Reference Scale			. 71
IV A Tentative Schedule of Reference Dates			. 76
V Difficulties in Setting Reference Dates Illustrated			. 81
VI Dependability of the Reference Dates	•		. 94

### CHAPTER 5

Тне	BASIC MEASURES OF CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR
Ι	Positive and Inverted Specific Cycles
II	Timing of Specific Cycles
III	Duration of Specific Cycles
IV	Amplitude of Specific Cycles
V	Measures of Secular Movements
VI	Specific-cycle Patterns
VII	Reference-cycle Patterns
VIII	Relation between Reference- and Specific-cycle Patterns 170
IX	Conformity to Business Cycles: Behavior during Fixed Periods 176
X	Conformity to Business Cycles: Timing Differences Recognized 185
XI	Analysis of Quarterly and Annual Data

### CHAPTER 6

is of the Time Unit on Cyclical Measures	•	•	•	·	203	-269
The Problem of This Chapter				•		203
Why the Time Unit Matters			•	•		204
The Direction of Movements in Time Series				•		210
The Number of Specific Cycles		-	•			215
Duration of Specific Cycles						220
Timing of Specific Cycles				•		223
Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Annual Data .						229
Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Quarterly Data.						241
The Secular Component of Specific Cycles				•	•	245
Specific-cycle Patterns						246
Different Forms of Annual Data			•			252
Reference-cycle Measures						261
Conclusions						268
	TS OF THE TIME UNIT ON CYCLICAL MEASURES The Problem of This Chapter	TS OF THE TIME UNIT ON CYCLICAL MEASURES . The Problem of This Chapter Why the Time Unit Matters The Direction of Movements in Time Series The Number of Specific Cycles Duration of Specific Cycles Timing of Specific Cycles Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Annual Data Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Quarterly Data The Secular Component of Specific Cycles Different Forms of Annual Data	TS OF THE TIME UNIT ON CYCLICAL MEASURES       .         The Problem of This Chapter       .         Why the Time Unit Matters       .         The Direction of Movements in Time Series       .         The Number of Specific Cycles       .         Duration of Specific Cycles       .         Timing of Specific Cycles       .         Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Annual Data       .         Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Quarterly Data       .         Specific-cycle Patterns       .         Different Forms of Annual Data       .         Reference-cycle Measures       .         Conclusions       .	TS OF THE TIME UNIT ON CYCLICAL MEASURES          The Problem of This Chapter          Why the Time Unit Matters          The Direction of Movements in Time Series          The Number of Specific Cycles          Duration of Specific Cycles          Timing of Specific Cycles          Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Annual Data          Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Quarterly Data          Specific-cycle Patterns          Different Forms of Annual Data          Reference-cycle Measures	TS OF THE TIME UNIT ON CYCLICAL MEASURES	TS OF THE TIME UNIT ON CYCLICAL MEASURES       203-         The Problem of This Chapter          Why the Time Unit Matters          The Direction of Movements in Time Series          The Number of Specific Cycles          Duration of Specific Cycles          Timing of Specific Cycles          Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Annual Data          Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Quarterly Data          Specific-cycle Patterns          Different Forms of Annual Data          Reference-cycle Measures

#### CHAPTER 7

EFFECTS OF TREND ADJUSTMENTS ON CYCLICAL MEASURES													-309
I	Materials Used in the Tests .							•					271
II	The Number of Specific Cycles	•							•				273

xii

.

CONTENTS

1

,

.

1

,

								Page
III	Timing and Duration of Specific Cycles							276
IV	Amplitude of Specific Cycles							280
v	Reference-cycle Measures							294
VI	Variability of Cyclical Measures							299
$\mathbf{VII}$	The Time Unit and Trend Adjustments				•			302
VIII	Conclusions		•	•		•	•	307
	CHAPTER 8							
Effec	CTS OF SMOOTHING ON CYCLICAL MEASURES .	•	•		•		310	-369
I	Range of the Tests							310
II	The Number of Specific Cycles							312
III	Timing and Duration of Specific Cycles			•	•		•	316
IV	Amplitude of Specific Cycles	•	•	•	•	•	•	326
V	The Secular Component of Specific Cycles .	·	•	•	•	·	•	335
VI	Specific-cycle Patterns	•	•	•	•	·	•	336
VII	Reference-cycle Patterns	•	•	•	•	·	·	349
VIII	Measures of Conformity to Business Cycles .	•	•	•	•	·	•	357
IX	Variability of Cyclical Measures	•	•	·	•	·	•	361
X	Uncertainties in Identifying Specific Cycles .	٠	•	•	•	•	•	363
XI		•	•	·	•	•	·	367
	CHAPTER 9							
Role	OF AVERAGES IN THE ANALYSIS	•			•		370	-383
I	Variability of Cyclical Behavior							370
II	Function of Averages and Average Deviations		•	÷	•	:	•	380
III	Problems Raised by Averages	•						382
	CHAPTER 10							
SECUL		ιĐ	бен	AV	IOR		384	-417
T	Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles							221
TT I	Deference cycle Datterns	•	·	•	•	•	•	204
111	Other Cyclical Measures	•	·	•	•	·	•	202
IV	Duration and Amplitude of Business Cycles	•	·	·	•	•	•	401
v	Business Cycles and Economic Stages	·	·	•	•	·	•	403
vi	Business Cycles before and after 1914		·	•	·	•	•	406
VII	Conclusions from Tests	•	•				•	412
VIII	Preparation for Later Work	•		•	•	•	•	413
	CHAPTER 11							
Сусы	ICAL CHANGES IN CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR						418	-465
T	Long Cycles Marked Off by Long Marine in P	:)	di-	~		-		A 10
1. 11	Long Cycles Marked Off by Long Waves in B	ull	un	g	·	·	·	418
TTT TTT	Long Cycles as Deviations from Trends	vice	•	·	·	·	·	427
IV	Long Cycles as Triplets of Business Cycles	ice	з.	·	•	•	•	421
T v	Long Cycles as Triplets of Dusiness Cycles .	•	•	·	•	•	•	140

## CONTENTS

.

ŧ

.

				Page
v	Long Cycles Marked Off by Booms			448
VI	Long Cycles Marked Off by Severe Depressions.			455
VII	Conclusions and Plans for Later Work			464

#### CHAPTER 12

Stable	•	466	-508	
Ι	Individual Features of Successive Cycles			466
II	Stable Features of Successive Cycles			474
III	Influence of Extreme Items on Averages			491
IV	Causal Interpretation of Averages			503
v	Test of Consilience among the Results			506

#### APPENDICES

A B C	Div Son Sou	/isi ne irce	on Su es c	of pp of J	Ro ort Dat	efei ing a	ren 5 D	ice ata	Cy	cle	s ir	nto	Sta	iges	5.	• • •	• • •	• •	• • •		• •	509 517 540
INDEX				•		•	•				•								•	•	•	551

xiv

# List of Tables

1

:

Table		Page
1	Series Classified According to the Process Represented, Country, and the Time Unit	20
2	Periods Covered by American and Foreign Series	20
3	Number of Business Cycles Covered by American and Foreign Series	21
4	Coke Production, United States, 1914–1933.	25
5	Sample of Table S1: Timing and Duration of Specific Cycles, Coke Pro- duction, United States, 1914–1932	26
6	Sample of Table S2: Amplitude of Specific Cycles, Coke Production, United States, 1914–1932	27
7	Sample of Table S3: Secular Movements, Coke Production, United States, 1914–1932	28
8	Sample of Table S4: Specific-cycle Patterns, Coke Production, United States, 1914–1932	29
9	Sample of Table S5: Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Specific Cycles, Coke Production, United States, 1914–1932	30
10	Sample of Table R1: Reference-cycle Patterns, Coke Production, United States, 1914–1933	30
11	Sample of Table R2: Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Reference Cycles, Coke Production, United States, 1914–1933	31
12	Sample of Table R3: Conformity to Business Cycles, Coke Production, United States, 1914–1933	32
13	Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905-1939	<b>5</b> 9
14	Chronology of Specific Cycles in Employment, Ten Manufacturing In- dustries, United States, 1919–1938	68
15	Dates of Cyclical Peaks and Troughs, Successive Versions of Three Indexes of 'Industrial Production', United States, 1919–1938	75
16	Reference Dates and Durations of Business Cycles in Four Countries .	78
17	Number of Monthly or Quarterly American Series Available at Decennial Dates since 1860	82
18	Short-term Fluctuations around the Cyclical Turns of 1937 and 1938, 23 American Series	86
19	Sequence of Cyclical Turns in the 1937 Recession and the 1938 Revival, 40 American Series	88
20	Production, Employment and Prices in Three Countries, 1914-1918.	91

Table		Page
21	Directions of Movement in Successive Reference Phases, 1854–1933: 46 American Series	98
22	Summary of Movements in All Reference Expansions and Contractions, 46 American Series, 1854–1933 .	101
23	Summary of Movements in Successive Reference Phases, 1854–1933: Based on 46 American Series	102
24	Summary of Movements in Successive Reference Phases, 1854–1933: Based on Three Subsamples Drawn from 46 American Series	103
25	Summary of Movements in Successive Reference Phases, 1854–1933: Based on Different Methods Applied to 46 American Series	105
26	Relation between the Amplitude and Diffusion of Business Cycles, United States, 1879-1933	106
27	Business Cycles Recognized by the National Bureau and Other Inves- tigators, United States, 1854–1938	108
28	Turning Dates of Specific Cycles in Six American Series	119
29	Samples of a Section of Table S1: Timing of Specific Cycles, Three American Series	124
30	Sample of Table S1: Timing and Duration of Specific Cycles, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1907–1938	129
31	Sample of Table S2: Amplitude of Specific Cycles, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1907–1938	133
32	Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles on Positive and Inverted Plans, Three American Series, Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted	136
33	Sample of Table S3: Secular Movements, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1907-1938	142
34	Sample of Table S4: Specific-cycle Patterns, Bituminous Coal Produc- tion, United States, 1907–1938	145
35	The Computation of Specific-cycle Patterns Illustrated: Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1908–1919.	146
36	Sample of Table S4: Specific-cycle Patterns on Inverted Plan, Slab Zinc Stocks at Refineries, United States, 1921–1938	147
37	Sample of Table S5: Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Specific Cycles, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1907–1938	150
38	Adjustment of Average Specific-cycle Pattern to Show Relative Variation of Rates of Change from Stage to Stage of Expansion and Contraction, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1908–1938	159
39	Sample of Table R1: Reference-cycle Patterns, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905–1938	161
40	The Computation of Reference-cycle Patterns Illustrated: Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1908–1919.	163
41	Sample of Table R2: Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Reference Cycles, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905–1938	167
42	Samples of Table R3: Conformity to Business Cycles, Three American Series	177
<b>4</b> 3	Conformity Indexes for P Instances of Positive Conformity in N Cycles	184
<b>4</b> 4	Possible Divisions of Reference Cycles when Three to Five Stages Are Assigned to Expansion	189

xvi

1

,

ł

٠

.

ī

,

,

Table		Page
45	Sample of Table R1: Reference-cycle Patterns, Railroad Bond Yields, United States, 1857-1933	1 <b>9</b> 0
4 <b>6</b>	Sample of Table R3: Conformity to Business Cycles, Timing Differences Ignored, Railroad Bond Yields, United States, 1857–1933	192
47	Sample of Table R4: Conformity to Business Cycles, Timing Differences Recognized, Railroad Bond Yields, United States, 1857–1933	193
48	Methods Used in Analyzing Quarterly and Annual Series	198
49	Illustrations of the Dependence of Specific Cycles in Annual Data on the Months of Cyclical Turn	206
50	How Months of Cyclical Turn Determine Whether Brief Cyclical Phases Remain or Disappear in Calendar-year Summations	208
51	Comparison of the Directions of Movement of Monthly and Annual Data, Six American Series	212
52	Comparison of the Directions of Movement of Two Series in Annual Form with the Directions of the Same Series in Monthly Form: Every Pair of Six American Series	215
53	Characteristics of Cyclical Phases Skipped by Annual Data, Six American Series	218
54	Joint Distribution of Durations and Amplitudes of All Cyclical Phases and Those Skipped by Annual Data .	219
55	Number of Specific Cycles in Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data, Six American Series	220
56	Duration of Specific Cycles Measured by Different Methods, Pig Iron Production, United States, 1879–1933	221
57	Average Duration of Specific Cycles in Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data, Six American Series	222
58	Frequency Distribution of Leads or Lags of Specific Cycles in Monthly Data, Six American Series	224
59	Joint Distribution of Corresponding Leads or Lags of Monthly and Annual Data	225
60	Frequency of Leads or Lags and Average Timing of Specific Cycles, Six American Series: Monthly, Quarterly and Annual.	226
61	Average Timing of Specific Cycles Computed in Different Ways, Six American Series: Monthly, Quarterly and Annual.	228
62	Average Timing of Specific Cycles during Brief Periods, Six American Series, Monthly and Annual	230
<b>6</b> 3	Standings at Peaks and Troughs, Cycle Bases, and Amplitudes of Cor- responding Specific Cycles in Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data, Pig Iron Production, United States	232
64	Frequency Distribution of the Differences between Absolute Ampli- tudes, Cycle Bases, and Relative Amplitudes of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data	234
65	Average Amplitude of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data, Six American Series	236
<b>6</b> 6	Coefficients of Rank Correlation between Amplitudes of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Monthly and Other Data, Six American Series	237
67	Average Amplitude of Corresponding, Noncorresponding and All Spe- cific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data, Six American Series	238

Table	,	Page
68	Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles during Brief Periods, Six Ameri- can Series, Monthly and Annual	239
69	Variability of Amplitudes of Specific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data, Six American Series	240
70	Average Per Month Amplitude of Corresponding, Noncorresponding and All Specific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data, Six American Series	241
71	Standings at Cyclical Turns and Amplitudes of Monthly Data Com- pared with Similar Measures of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Quar- terly Data	242
72	Frequency Distribution of the Differences between Amplitudes of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data	243
73	Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Monthly and Quarterly Data, Six American Series	244
74	Average Secular Movement of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data, Six American Series	246
75	Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data, Six American Series	249
76	Position of Fastest and Slowest Rates of Change in Specific-cycle Pat- terns, Six Monthly American Series	252
77	Duration and Amplitude of Successive Specific-cycle Contractions in Monthly and Twelve Forms of Annual Data, Pig Iron Production, United States, 1883–1933	256
78	Characteristics of Cyclical Phases Skipped by Calendar- and Fiscal-year Data, Three American Series	258
79	Average Measures of Specific Cycles in Monthly and Four Forms of Annual Data, Three American Series	259
80	Number of One-year Phases in Annual Reference Cycles, Four Coun- tries	262
81	Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data, Six American Series	263
82	Conformity to Business Cycles of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data, Six American Series	266
83	Conformity to Business Cycles of Monthly and Four Forms of Annual Data, Three American Series	267
84	Change per Decade of Monthly Ordinates of Secular Trend, Six Amer- ican Series	273
85	List of Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Six American Series	274
86	Size and Frequency of Leads or Lags of Specific-cycle Turns in Trend- adjusted Data at Corresponding Turns of Unadjusted Data, Five Amer- ican Series with Upward Trends	277
87	Average Timing of Specific Cycles in Trend-adjusted Data at Corre- sponding Turns of Unadjusted Data, Six American Series	279
88	Average Duration of Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Six American Series	280
89	Absolute Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend- adjusted Data, Pig Iron Production, United States, 1879–1933	281

.

xviii

## LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
90	Frequency Distribution of the Differences between Amplitudes of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data .	281
91	Relation between Amplitudes of Full Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data under Different Conditions	283
92	Average Amplitude of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data Computed by Different Methods, Six Amer- ican Series	285
93	Comparison of Relative Amplitudes of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data	286
94	Average Amplitude of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data on Positive and Inverted Plans, Five Ameri- can Series	288
95	Average Amplitude of Corresponding and All Specific Cycles in Un- adjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Six American Series	289
96	Rates of Rise and Fall of Specific Cycles in Unadjusted Data Compared with Corresponding Measures of Trend-adjusted Data, Six American Series	291
97	Average Per Month Amplitude of Corresponding and All Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Six American Series	291
98	Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Six American Series	292
99	Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Six American Series	294
100	Conformity to Business Cycles of Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Six American Series	296
101	Average Deviations from Average Measures of Cyclical Behavior, Five American Series, Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted	300
102	Average Measures of Specific Cycles in Railroad Bond Yields, United States: Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, 1868-1899 and 1899-1918	301
103	Number of Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Six American Series, Monthly and Annual	303
104	Cyclical Measures of Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Two American Series, Monthly and Annual	304
105	Full List of Rises and Declines in Monthly Smoothed Data, Pig Iron Production, United States, 1878-1932	314
106	Shifts in the Timing of Specific Cycles Produced by Smoothing, Four American Series	316
107	Effects of Fourteen Smoothing Formulas on the Timing of Specific Cycles, Call Money Rates on New York Stock Exchange, 1887-1893	319
108	Timing of Raw and Smoothed Data of Six Artificial Series Compared with Timing of the Underlying Pure Cycles	319
109	Effect of Smoothing on Cyclical Turns That Are 'Smooth' in Raw Data, Three American Series	323
110	Timing and Duration of 'Brief' Specific-cycle Phases, Four Ameri- can Series, Raw and Smoothed	324
111	Chronology of Specific-cycle Turns in the Contraction of 1907–1908, Ten American Series, Raw and Smoothed	325
112	Average Duration of Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data, Four American Series	325

xix

Table		Page
113	Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data, Four American Series	327
114	Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data, Pig Iron Production, United States, 1878–1933	328
115	Coefficients of Rank Correlation between Amplitudes of Correspond- ing Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data, Four American Series	329
116	Average Per Month Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data, Four American Series	329
117	Influence of the Duration of Cyclical Phases on the Gap between Amplitudes of Corresponding Phases in Raw and Smoothed Data	331
118	Effects of Fourteen Smoothing Formulas on Amplitude of Specific Cycles, Call Money Rates on New York Stock Exchange, 1887–1893	332
119	Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles, Call Money Rates on New York Stock Exchange before and after Inauguration of Federal Reserve Sys- tem	333
120	Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data of Six Arti- ficial Series Compared with Amplitude of the Underlying Pure Cycles	335
121	Average Measures of Secular Movements of Raw and Smoothed Data, Four American Series	336
122	Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data, Four American Series	337
123	Average Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Specific Cycles, Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed	340
124	Position of Fastest and Slowest Rates of Change in Specific-cycle Pat- terns, Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed	341
125	Weighted Average Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Specific Cycles, Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed	342
126	Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data of Six Artificial Series Compared with Patterns of the Underlying Pure Cycles .	344
127	'Special' Cyclical Patterns, Pig Iron Production, United States, 1879- 1933	347
128	Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data, Four American Series	350
129	Average Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Reference Cycles, Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed	352
130	Ranks of Average Rates of Change from Stage to Stage of Reference Cycles, Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed	353
131	Average Patterns of Small Groups of Reference Cycles, Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed	<b>3</b> 54
132	Conformity to Business Cycles of Raw and Smoothed Data, Four Amer- ican Series	<b>3</b> 58
133	Stage-by-stage Indexes of Conformity to Business Cycles, Four Amer- ican Series, Raw and Smoothed	<b>3</b> 59
134	Average Deviations from Average Cyclical Measures, Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed	360
135	Effect of Smoothing on Average Deviations from Average Cyclical Measures	362
136	Effect of a 'Dubious' Cycle on Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles, Three American Series	364

Table		Page
137	Effect of a 'Dubious' Cycle on Average Specific-cycle Patterns, Three American Series	365
138	Effect of a 'Dubious' Cycle on Average Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Specific Cycles, Three American Series	367
139	Average Duration of Business Cycles and Their Variability, Four Countries	371
140	Averages and Ranges of Selected Cyclical Measures of Seven Ameri- can Series	375
141	Average Timing of Specific-cycle Turns and Their Variability, Seven American Series	376
142	Average Specific-cycle Patterns and Their Variability, Seven Ameri- can Series	378
143	Average Reference-cycle Patterns and Their Variability, Seven American Series	379
144	Extreme Ordinates of Straight-line Trends Fitted to Durations and Amplitudes of Successive Specific Cycles, Seven American Series	385
145	Average Duration and Amplitude of Three Successive Groups of Spe- cific Cycles, Seven American Series	385
146	Correlation between Specific-cycle Measures and Their Order in Time, Seven American Series	39 <b>0</b>
147	Tests of Secular Change in Durations and Amplitudes of Specific Cycles, Seven American Series	393
148	Average Patterns of Three Successive Groups of Reference Cycles, Seven American Series	395
149	Square of Correlation Ratio between Reference-cycle Standings and Time, Seven American Series	395
150	Tests of Secular Change in Reference-cycle Patterns, Seven Ameri- can Series	39 <b>6</b>
151	Average Duration and Amplitude of Expansions and Contractions of Three Successive Groups of Specific Cycles, Seven American Series .	397
152	Average Timing of Specific Cycles and Rates of Change during Three Successive Groups of Reference Cycles, Seven American Series	39 <b>9</b>
153	Summary of Variance Tests in Preceding Tables	400
154	Average Duration of Three Successive Groups of Business Cycles, Four Countries	401
155	Tests of Secular Change in Durations of Business Cycles, United States, 1854–1933	402
156	Ranks of Amplitudes of Cyclical Expansions and Contractions, Three Indexes of American Business Activity, 1879–1933	403
157	Analysis of Durations of Business Cycles Classified According to Mills' Stages of Industrialization	405
158	Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles before and after 1914, Seven American Series	407
159	Average Timing of Specific Cycles and Rates of Change during Reference Cycles before and after 1914, Seven American Series	409
160	Average Duration of Business Cycles before and after 1914, Four Countries	412
161	Average Duration and Amplitude of Long Cycles in Building Con- struction, Twenty-five Annual American Series	419

.

:

•

,

xxi

Table		Page
162	Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles during the Up- swings and Downswings of Long Cycles in Building Construction, Twenty-five Annual American Series	421
163	Relations in Time between Business Cycles and Long Building Cycles, United States, 1853–1933	422
164	Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Seven Series and Average Duration of Business Cycles during the Upswings and Down- swings of Long Cycles in American Building Construction	426
165	Peak and Trough Dates of Kondratieff's Long Waves and the Long Waves in Wholesale Prices of Four Countries	43 <b>2</b>
166	Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles during the Up- swings and Downswings of Long Waves in Wholesale Prices, Seven American Series	436
167	Average Duration of Business Cycles during the Upswings and Down- swings of Long Waves in Wholesale Prices, Four Countries	437
168	Frequency Distribution of Durations of Business Cycles, Four Countries	441
169	Relations in Time between Business Cycles and Schumpeter's 'Juglar Cycles', United States, 1848–1932	441
170	Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Seven Series and Average Duration of Business Cycles Occupying First or Last Place within Schumpeter's 'Juglar Cycles' in the United States	445
171	Number of Minor or Business Cycles within Kitchin's Major Cycles: United States, 1873-1920 and Great Britain, 1848-1921	449
172	Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Six Series and Average Duration of Business Cycles Occupying First or Last Place within Kitchin's Major Cycles, United States, 1883–1920	451
173	Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles Occupying First, Middle or Last Place within Periods Marked Off by Severe Depressions from 1873 to 1933, Seven American Series	459
174	Amplitude of Specific Cycles Occupying Successive Places within Periods Bounded by Troughs of Severe Depressions, 1879–1933, Four American Series	461
175	Average Duration of Specific Cycles in Seven American Series and of American and British Business Cycles Occupying First, Middle or Last Place within Periods Marked Off by Severe Depressions from 1873	
176	to 1933	463
170	1879–1933	467
177	Amplitude of Successive Reference Cycles, Seven American Series, 1879–1933	481
178	Amplitude of Specific Cycles Corresponding to Successive Business Cycles, Seven American Series, 1885–1914	483
179	Arrays of Average Durations and Amplitudes of Specific Cycles Based on Four Samples from Seven American Series	484
180	Average Cyclical Measures Covering Successive Periods of Five Business Cycles and All Fifteen Cycles from 1879 to 1933, Seven American Series	486
181	Coefficients of Rank Correlation between Average Cyclical Measures of Seven American Series in Different Periods	488

xxii

•

.

Table		Page
182	Tests of the Statistical Significance of Differences among Average Cyclical Measures of Seven American Series	489
183	Frequency Distribution of Amplitudes of Specific Cycles, Seven Amer- ican Series	489
184	Frequency Distribution of Leads or Lags of Specific Cycles, Seven American Series	490
185	Frequency Distribution of Durations of American Business Cycles and Specific Cycles in Seven Series	49 <b>0</b>
186	Influence of the Highest and Lowest Values on the Average Dura- tion, Timing and Amplitude of Specific Cycles, Seven American Series	493
187	Several Positional Arithmetic Means: Duration, Timing and Ampli- tude of Specific Cycles, Seven American Series	494
188	Several Positional Arithmetic Means of Specific-cycle Patterns, Seven American Series	498
189	Several Positional Arithmetic Means of Reference-cycle Patterns, Seven American Series	499
190	Several Positional Arithmetic Means: Duration and Amplitude of Small Groups of Specific Cycles, Seven American Series	502
Al	Division of Monthly Reference Cycles into Nine Stages, Four Countries	510
A2	Average Interval between Reference-cycle Stages during Selected Periods, United States	516
Bl	Measures of Successive Specific Cycles Treated on Positive Plan, Seven American Series	518
B2	Measures of Successive Specific Cycles Treated on Inverted Plan, Seven American Series	524
<b>B</b> 3	Measures of Successive Reference Cycles Treated on Positive Plan, Seven American Series	529
<b>B</b> 4	Patterns of Successive Reference Cycles Treated on Inverted Plan, Seven American Series	534
B5	List of Cycles Included in Table 164 and Chart 60	537
B6	List of Cycles Included in Table 166 and Chart 63	538
<b>B</b> 7	List of Cycles Included in Table 167.	538
<b>B</b> 8	List of Cycles Included in Tables 170, 172, 173 and 175, and Charts 67, 69 and 71	580
<b>B</b> 9	List of Specific Cycles Included in Table 180	559
		222

xxiii

# List of Charts

•

-

8 ....

,

Chart		Page
1	Coke Production, United States, 1914-1933	25
2	Sample Chart of Cyclical Patterns	35
3	Original and Seasonally Adjusted Data, Three American Series, 1919-	
	1941	45
4	Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905–1939	<b>6</b> 0
5	Ratios of Original Data to Twelve-month Moving Averages, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905–1914	62
6	Net Gold Imports by the United States from the United Kingdom, 1879–1914	63
7	Six American Series that Lack Continuous Specific Cycles	67
8	Behavior of Forty American Series, 1932-1939	84
9	Behavior of Twenty-three American Series, 1914–1918	92
10	Frickey's Standard Pattern of Short-term Fluctuations in American Business Activity, 1866–1914	112
11	Illustrations of Mechanical Rules for Comparing the Timing of Spe- cific Cycles with the Reference Dates, Six American Series	121
12	Illustrations of Relaxed Rules for Comparing the Timing of Specific Cycles with the Reference Dates, Two American Series	122
13	Employment and Payrolls in Dyeing and Finishing Textile Plants, United States, 1919–1924	139
14	Derivation of Specific-cycle Patterns, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905–1939	152
15	Patterns of Successive Specific Cycles and Their Average Pattern, Bitu- minous Coal Production, United States, 1907–1938	155
16	Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Ten American Series	156
17	Variation of Average Rates of Change from Stage to Stage of Expan- sions and Contractions of Specific Cycles, Ten American Series	158
18	Derivation of Reference-cycle Patterns, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905-1939	164
19	Patterns of Successive Reference Cycles and Their Average Pattern, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905–1938	165
20	Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Ten American Series	169
21	Average Cyclical Patterns of Ten American Series	173

Ş

1

•

,

Chart		Page
22	Patterns of Successive Reference Cycles and Their Average Pattern, Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905–1938: Drawn to a Schematized Time Scale.	187
23	Pig Iron Production, United States, 1877–1933: Monthly, Quarterly and Annual	209
24	Sequence of Cyciical Downturns in 1929, Six American Series, Monthly and Quarterly	227
25	Relation between the Cycle-dampening Effect of Annual Data and the Duration of Specific-cycle Phases	235
26	Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data, Six American Series	247
27	Average Patterns of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Monthly and An- nual Data, Five American Series	248
28	Variation of Average Rates of Change from Stage to Stage of Expansions and Contractions of Specific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data, Six American Series	253
29	Pig Iron Production, United States, 1877–1933: Monthly and Six Forms of Annual Data	254
30	Bank Clearings outside New York City, Deflated, 1875–1933: Monthly and Four Forms of Annual Data	255
31	Call Money Rates on New York Stock Exchange, 1868–1933: Monthly and Four Forms of Annual Data	257
32	Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Calendar- and Fiscal-year Data, Three American Series	260
33	Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data, Six American Series	264
34	Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Calendar- and Fiscal-year Data, Three American Series	268
35	Pig Iron Production, United States, 1877–1933: Unadjusted and Trend- adjusted	272
36	Railroad Bond Yields, United States: Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted .	275
37	Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Six American Series	293
38	Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Six American Series	295
3 <b>9</b>	Average Specific-cycle Patterns, Bank Clearings outside New York City, Deflated: Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Monthly and Annual	305
40	Average Specific-cycle Patterns, Pig Iron Production, United States: Un- adjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Monthly and Annual	306
41	Average Reference-cycle Patterns, Bank Clearings outside New York City, Deflated: Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Monthly and Annual	307
42	Average Reference-cycle Patterns, Pig Iron Production, United States: Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Monthly and Annual	308
43	Pig Iron Production and Call Money Rates, United States, 1877-1933: Raw Data and Macaulay's Graduation	313
44	Seven Smoothing Formulas Applied to Call Money Rates on New York Stock Exchange, 1886–1894.	317

## LIST OF CHARTS

Charl		Page
45	Six Artificial Series Combining Cyclical and Random Components: Raw Data, Their Cyclical Component, and Macaulay's Graduation.	321
46	Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data, Four Amer- ican Series	338
47	Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data of Six Artificial Series Compared with Patterns of the Underlying Pure Cycles .	345
48	Special and Standard Average Cyclical Patterns, Pig Iron Production, United States	349
49	Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data, Four American Series	351
50	Differences between Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data, Four American Series.	353
51	Average Patterns of Small Groups of Reference Cycles, Four Amer- ican Series, Raw and Smoothed	355
52	Effect of a 'Dubious' Cycle on Average Specific-cycle Patterns, Three American Series	366
53	Behavior of Seven American Series, 1857–1933	373
54	Average Cyclical Patterns of Seven American Series	377
55	Secular Changes in the Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles, Seven American Series	386
56	Average Patterns of Three Successive Groups of Reference Cycles, Seven American Series	<b>3</b> 94
57	Average Specific-cycle Patterns before and after 1914, Seven American Series	410
58	Average Reference-cycle Patterns before and after 1914, Seven American Series	411
59	Average Patterns of Four Successive Groups of Reference Cycles, Railroad Traffic and Investment, United States, 1870-1933.	415
60	Average Specific-cycle Patterns during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Cycles in Building Construction, Seven American Series	423
61	Average Reference-cycle Patterns during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Cycles in Building Construction, 1879–1933, Seven American	494
62	Average Reference-cycle Patterns during the Upswings and Downswings of Wardwell's Major Cycles, 1891–1914, Seven American Series	430
63	Average Specific-cycle Patterns during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Waves in Wholesale Prices, Seven American Series	434
64	Average Reference-cycle Patterns during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Waves in Wholesale Prices, 1879–1933, Seven American Series	435
65	Indexes of Wholesale Prices, Four Countries, 1790-1940	439
6 <b>6</b>	Average Patterns of Reference Cycles Occupying First, Second or Third Place within Successive Triplets of Cycles, 1879–1933, Seven American	449
67	Average Datterns of Specific Cycles Computing Einst on Last Diago within	773
07 60	Schumpeter's 'Juglar Cycles', Seven American Series	446
00	within Schumpeter's 'Juglar Cycles', Seven American Series	447
09	in Kitchin's Major Cycles from 1883 to 1920, Six American Series	452

xxvi

## LIST OF CHARTS

xxvii

Chart		Page
70	Average Patterns of Reference Cycles Occupying First or Last Place within Kitchin's Major Cycles from 1883 to 1920, Seven American Series	453
71	Average Patterns of Specific Cycles Occupying First, Middle or Last Place within Periods Marked off by Troughs of Severe Depressions, 1879–1933, Seven American Series	456
72	Average Patterns of Reference Cycles Occupying First, Middle or Last Place within Periods Marked off by Troughs of Severe Depressions, 1879–1933, Seven American Series	457
73	Patterns of Successive Reference Cycles Compared with Their Average Pattern, 1879–1933, Seven American Series	469
74	Patterns of Successive Reference Cycles Compared with Their Average Pattern, 1882-1929, Seven American Series (Patterns made on inverted	
	basis)	475
75	Mean and Median Specific-cycle Patterns, Seven American Series	500
76	Mean and Median Reference-cycle Patterns, Seven American Series	501
77	Average Cyclical Patterns of Crop and Pig Iron Production, United States and Great Britain	504

# MEASURING BUSINESS CYCLES

.

.

. .

# THIS AN ness Cycle earlier voi the defini

Business cy of nations of expansic lowed by si the expans periodic; in years; they approxima

This of pending of attempts t economic economy, a tool of sciences, a not borne Whet cycles int upon the ing that r

1 Wesley C. Research, 19

#### CHAPTER 1

## Working Plans

## I The Point of Departure

**L** HIS AND succeeding volumes of the National Bureau's Studies in Business Cycles take as their point of departure a definition reached in an earlier volume.<sup>1</sup> With modifications suggested by experience in using it, the definition runs as follows:

Business cycles are a type of fluctuation found in the aggregate economic activity of nations that organize their work mainly in business enterprises: a cycle consists of expansions occurring at about the same time in many economic activities, followed by similarly general recessions, contractions, and revivals which merge into the expansion phase of the next cycle; this sequence of changes is recurrent but not periodic; in duration business cycles vary from more than one year to ten or twelve years; they are not divisible into shorter cycles of similar character with amplitudes approximating their own.

This definition lists the observable characteristics of what we assume, pending closer study, to be a distinct species of economic phenomena. It attempts to differentiate business cycles from the fluctuations in aggregate economic activity that occurred prior to the emergence of our business economy, and from other types of fluctuations in modern times. It is thus a tool of research, similar to many definitions used by observational sciences, and like its analogues is subject to revision or abandonment if not borne out by observation.

Whether an investigator needs to condense his concept of business cycles into a definition, and what kind of definition he needs, depends upon the researches he has in view. Many theorists feel justified in assuming that readers know what business cycles are; the use of that term or one

1 Wesley C. Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting (National Bureau of Economic Research, 1927), p. 468.

- 5 -

#### WORKING PLANS

of its equivalents suffices to designate the range of experience they plan to explain. Others pave the way by defining business cycles as recurrent departures from and returns toward 'a normal state of trade', or 'a position of economic equilibrium'. Still others, intent from the start upon some line of explanation, begin by confining the discussion to movements arising from the factors they have in mind; they may say, for example, that business cycles are recurrent alternations of prosperity and depression generated by 'factors originating within the economic system itself', or that business cycles are departures from equilibrium arising from discrepancies between 'the' market rate of interest and 'the natural rate'.

Whatever their working concepts, and we have done no more than illustrate the diversities, all investigators cherish the same ultimate aim namely, to attain better understanding of the recurrent fluctuations in economic fortune that modern nations experience. This aim may be pursued in many ways. The way we have chosen is to observe the business cycles of history as closely and systematically as we can before making a fresh attempt to explain them.

At the beginning of this investigation our knowledge of business cycles was derived partly from an imperfectly digested mass of factual observations, partly from a great variety of untested hypotheses. Journalists in many lands have been publishing impressions concerning changes in the state of trade week by week and year by year for many decades. Useful as are the business annals that have been compiled from these materials, they give at best vague accounts, in terms that are general and shifting. Within the last generation, statisticians have been making more precise observations by analyzing time series and compiling 'indexes of business conditions'. Their work is instructive; but differences in method make it difficult to compare and combine the results of the many investigations, and the best of the business indexes cover too short a period or are woefully incomplete in coverage. Meanwhile with increasing finesse economic theorists have been tracing causal relationships among the cyclical movements of different activities. Their work is often highly suggestive; yet it rests so much upon simplifying assumptions and is so imperfectly tested for conformity to experience that, for our purposes, the conclusions must serve mainly as hypotheses. Nor can we readily use the existing measures of statisticians to determine which among existing hypotheses account best for what happens. Satisfactory tests cannot be made unless hypotheses have been framed with an eye to testing, and unless observations upon many economic activities have been made in a uniform manner.

If we are to observe the business cycles of actual experience closely and systematically, we need a working definition that tells where to look and for what to look. It must list observable characteristics, particularly such as differentiate business cycles from other movements with which they may be cor returns toward that they are m and natural ra normal states o Nor, when we s due to factors o

Though bu potheses in the they put us in t sets of contribu dence can now of the best avail whether many tion states, and cycles. Once the explain how by variation.

How much the our working d questions, som itself.

Thus the d economic activ large nation, s or do the sever movements? C unit to observ movements? H are associated are they subject with those of measure of ind out when free controls, or w oly? Did they Even in Grea undergone pr The state in 'many econ ties' mean spe

#### QUESTIONS RAISED BY DEFINITION

ence they plan es as recurrent ade', or 'a posithe start upon n to movements y, for example, fity and depresic system itself', n arising from e natural rate'. no more than ultimate aim fluctuations in s aim may be ve the business fore making a

ge of business hass of factual heses. Journalrning changes many decades. ed from these e general and making more ng 'indexes of ces in method many investirt a period or easing finesse s among the en highly sugns and is so our purposes, e readily use hong existing ts cannot be testing, and en made in a

ence closely here to look particularly with which they may be confused. To say that business cycles are departures from and returns toward a normal state of trade or a position of equilibrium, or that they are movements resulting from discrepancies between market and natural rates of interest, will not help, because we cannot observe normal states of trade, equilibrium positions, or natural interest rates. Nor, when we start observing, can we tell whether cyclical movements are due to factors originating within the economic system or outside of it.

Though business annals, time-series analysis, and business-cycle hypotheses in their present forms do not provide the knowledge we need, they put us in the path of learning more. It was by analyzing these three sets of contributions that our definition was developed. Considerable evidence can now be cited to support its every clause. But an intensive study of the best available records is necessary if we are to ascertain conclusively whether many economic activities really fluctuate in unison as the definition states, and how different activities behave with respect to the alleged cycles. Once that is accomplished we can proceed to the next step: to explain how business cycles run their course and their tendency toward variation.

## II Questions Raised by the Definition

How much there is to learn about business cycles begins to appear when our working definition is examined critically. Every clause suggests hard questions, some of which raise doubts about the validity of the concept itself.

Thus the definition states that business cycles occur in 'nations' whose economic activities are organized 'mainly in business enterprises'. Does a large nation, such as the United States, have a single set of business cycles, or do the several geographical regions have substantially different cyclical movements? Or is a nation too small, rather than too large, a geographical unit to observe? May it not be best to treat business cycles as international movements? How far back in history can business cycles be traced? If they are associated with a form of economic organization that is itself evolving, are they subject to secular changes that make recent cycles noncomparable with those of earlier times? The term 'business enterprise' connotes a measure of individual initiative and competition. Do business cycles fade out when freedom of enterprise is drastically limited by governmental controls, or when competition is virtually suppressed by private monopoly? Did they disappear in Fascist Italy, Nazi Germany, Soviet Russia? Even in Great Britain and the United States, have not business cycles undergone progressive changes?

The statement that cyclical expansions occur at about the same time in 'many economic activities' is vague. In some contexts 'economic activities' mean specific acts performed by individuals, while in others the same

#### WORKING PLANS

words signify a few broad categories of actions performed continuously by millions of people, as when an economist speaks of the production, exchange and distribution of wealth. Clearly, our definition requires that we go back of broad aggregates or index numbers of economic activity, such as indexes of production and prices, or national aggregates of income, employment, bank clearings, and imports. But how far is it wise to break down the aggregates and examine their constituent parts? If broad aggregates hide differences among their constituents that are significant for understanding business cycles, may not economic activities be atomized to the point where cyclical movements are obscured by the idiosyncrasies of small units?

Our definition presents business cycles as a consensus among expansions in 'many' economic activities, followed by 'similarly general' recessions, contractions, and revivals. How 'general' these movements are, what types of activity share in them and what do not, how the consensus differs from one cyclical phase to another, and from one business cycle to the next, can be learned only by empirical observation. And that is more than a mere matter of counting the series that rise and that fall during a given phase. A rise in bankruptcies when most activities are expanding would be a movement counter to the tide; a fall is what we expect, usually find, and interpret as sharing in the consensus of movements. Copper prices move with the general tide if expressed in cents per pound; they move counter to the tide if expressed as pounds per dollar. Thus not only the character of the activity represented but also the form in which the record is kept determines whether a series is related positively or invertedly to business cycles. Hence, it is necessary to know precisely what each series represents and its bearing on economic activity as a whole.

The statement that similar cyclical movements occur 'at about the same time' in many activities admits the possibility of 'leads' and 'lags'. But the implication is that the cyclical turns of different processes are concentrated around certain points in time; for if there were no bunching of cyclical turns, there would be no business cycles answering to our definition. We can imagine a world in which every economic activity is subject to cyclical fluctuations, but in which the divergences in the timing of these cycles produce an unchanging total. The need for ascertaining leads and lags is thus clear from the start. And the significance of this inquiry grows as the results multiply and demonstrate characteristic differences in the timing of different types of activity.

The sequence of expansion, recession, contraction, and revival is said to be 'recurrent but not periodic'. To determine the respects in which and the regularity with which the sequence recurs, it is necessary to identify and compare successive business cycles. But will our definition enable us to identify business cycles among the other movements—seasonal variations, random changes, and secular trends—with which they

are interv general bu net resulta set perhap duce the v Anoth a continuo recession. a fresh exp successor. Yet curren state of trad are doing Granted th can we claim is again nec mine whet continuous The de tion of busi figures rest considerabl business in can hardly s or that the we be confi movements exclusively and measur necessary to though the assured the The last examination forbade us to depressions a new troug cycles seem t some cycles irregularitie tifying busin 2 Ibid., pp. 339-4 8 Ibid., pp. 365-7

4 Ibid., p. 329 ff.

are interwoven? And is there only one set of cyclical fluctuations in general business activity? May not the business cycles we identify be the net resultants of several sets of general cycles running concurrently, each set perhaps periodic but combining with cycles of other periods to produce the variability our definition admits?

Another tacit implication of the definition is that business cycles run a continuous round; for the definition says that expansion is followed by recession, recession by contraction, contraction by revival, and revival by a fresh expansion. No intervals are admitted between one phase and its successor, or between the end of one cycle and the beginning of the next. Yet current reports sometimes speak month after month of a confused state of trade, and statistics often indicate that some industries or localities are doing well while others of equal importance are dull or depressed. Granted that our concept of business cycles fits the facts much of the time, can we claim that it fits them all of the time? To answer with assurance, it is again necessary to investigate the behavior of many activities and determine whether the alleged consensus among their cyclical movements is continuous or intermittent.

The definition gives 'more than one year' as the lower limit of duration of business cycles, and 'ten or twelve years' as the upper limit. These figures rest upon an earlier attempt to identify the cycles revealed by a considerable collection of business annals and a smaller collection of business indexes.<sup>2</sup> Neither set of materials is thoroughly satisfactory. We can hardly suppose that current commentators are infallible summarizers, or that the compilers of business annals are infallible digestors. Nor can we be confident that statistical indexes represent correctly the cyclical movements in the general condition of business.<sup>8</sup> Hence we cannot rely exclusively upon annals and business indexes to mark off business cycles and measure their durations. Even for that seemingly simple task, it is necessary to compare individual time series covering many activities, though the data become scantier and we know the results will be less assured the further back we go.

The last clause of the definition brings up a related problem. Our examination of business indexes, and less definitely of business annals, forbade us to think of business cycles "as sweeping smoothly upward from depressions to a single peak of prosperity and then declining steadily to a new trough".<sup>4</sup> On the contrary, the expansion and contraction of many cycles seem to be interrupted by movements in the opposite direction, and some cycles apparently have double or triple peaks or troughs. When the irregularities are slight they do not seriously complicate the task of identifying business cycles; but in some instances, notably in this country since

2 Ibid., pp. 339-43, 391-407.
8 Ibid., pp. 365-75.
4 Ibid., p. 329 ff.

ously ction. s that ivity, of inise to broad ficant es be y the xpanrecess are. ensus cle to more ring a hding sually pper they only h the br inwhat it the lags'. **is** are ching b our ity is ming ining this : c difsaid hich ry to ition -seathey

#### WORKING PLANS

1930, they attain considerable proportions. Hence the need of criteria for deciding what reversals in direction mark the end of a cyclical phase. Most brief movements are excluded by the clause that business cycles cover 'more than one year'. By adding that they 'are not divisible into shorter cycles of similar character with amplitudes approximating their own', a rule is laid down for deciding when to treat movements lasting several years as a single cycle and when to recognize two or more cycles.<sup>5</sup> But this rule cannot be applied without knowing at least approximately what amplitudes are characteristic of business cycles.

### III 'Inductive Verification' of Business-cycle Hypotheses

The need to answer the difficult questions suggested by our definition is not peculiar to the plan of research we have chosen. Any investigator who sets out to explain the business cycles of the actual world should know what he is explaining; that is, at some stage of his work, he should identify the cycles of historical record and study their characteristics.

Systematic factual research is often thought of as belonging to the stage of 'inductive verification', and 'inductive verification' as a step to be taken after a 'theory' has been excogitated. Of course no writer has ever attempted to devise a hypothesis concerning business cycles entirely apart from the facts to be explained. But theorists have not infrequently been handicapped by a sadly incomplete, sometimes by a badly twisted, knowledge of the facts. Numerous writers have invented plausible explanations of business cycles before they have tried to ascertain what consensus actually prevails among the cyclical movements of different economic activities: which activities have a positive, which an inverted, relation to the supposed consensus, and which follow a path of their own; the timing relations among the movements and the relative amplitudes they attain; how considerable are the checks encountered and overcome by businesscycle expansions and contractions; how long these phases last; what changes in business cycles have accompanied or followed secular and structural changes in economic organization; how the cycles in different countries compare with one another in timing, duration, and amplitudein short, without knowing definitely the actual behavior for which their explanations should account.

When this order of inquiry is followed—explanation preceding thorough knowledge of what is to be explained—the results are likely to be unhappy. (1) The theorist often stops before his work is finished, leaving 'inductive verification' to others, who may or may not take on the job. (2) When anyone tries to 'verify' a hypothesis about business cycles, he often finds that it rests on assumptions purposely chosen to simplify

5 This rule is necessary as a 'brake' on an investigator's pattern sense which, while the source of all true knowledge, may lead to mischievous fictions.

the situati world has imaginati but it can that the h verify it n unless he pointed o

Recent writ ... Each g the chief ca their chosen for the worl Among assigned by clouds all p business ded 'progressive industrial e flow of mol explanation for each sh phenomena

Hence, an of busines sis. If he c hypothesis other hyp broaden in fit together Anyon all the diffi whether th so what ar cyclical bel fluctuate in and contra must ident hard quest This w one hypot theories w order, and 6 Ibid., pp. 11,

7 Ibid., p. 58.

#### VERIFICATION OF HYPOTHESES

the situation that is analyzed. In that case evidence drawn from the actual world has a problematical relation to the simpler world of the theorist's imagination; the hypothesis propounded may be logically impeccable, but it cannot be confirmed or refuted by an appeal to facts. (3) Granted that the hypothesis concerns actual experience, the worker who tries to verify it must examine the processes on which it centers attention; but unless he examines other processes as well, the test will be superficial. As pointed out in another volume:

Recent writers upon business cycles differ . . . less in principle than in emphasis . . . Each gives chief attention to the one or more factors which he believes to play the chief causal role; but many writers also show how the changes produced by their chosen causes affect other processes, and in so doing they are likely to find use for the work of men whose distribution of emphasis differs from their own.

Among the factors to which the leading role in causing business cycles has been assigned by competent inquirers . . . are the weather, the uncertainty which beclouds all plans that stretch into the future, the emotional aberrations to which business decisions are subject, the innovations characteristic of modern society, the 'progressive' character of our age, the magnitude of savings, the construction of industrial equipment, 'generalized over-production', the operations of banks, the flow of money incomes, and the conduct of business for profits. Each of these explanations merits attention from those who seek to understand business cycles; for each should throw light upon some feature or aspect of these complex phenomena.<sup>6</sup>

Hence, an investigator who seeks earnestly to discover the cause or causes of business cycles should not restrict himself to testing any single hypothesis. If he concludes that the facts of experience are consistent with one hypothesis, he should make sure that they are not equally consistent with other hypotheses. In the measure that he is thorough, his effort will broaden into an attempt to test many hypotheses and determine how they fit together.

Anyone who embarks upon such a venture will presently encounter all the difficulties that confront this investigation. He must satisfy himself whether there really are cyclical fluctuations in general business, and if so what are their characteristics. For that purpose he must study the cyclical behavior of many activities, determine which do and which do not fluctuate in unison, what are the timing relations among their expansions and contractions, what amplitudes these fluctuations attain; in brief, he must identify business cycles, and in the process answer as best he can the hard questions listed in the preceding section.

This work cannot be organized in the most effective way by taking up one hypothesis after another for 'verification'. "The plan of testing theories would indeed lead to work with the facts, but in an artificial order, and one involving much repetition." <sup>7</sup> The investigator can save

<sup>6</sup> Ibid., pp. 11, 12. <sup>7</sup> Ibid., p. 58.

criteria al phase. ss cycles ble into ng their s lasting cycles.<sup>6</sup> cimately

#### leses

hition is itor who ld know identify

to the ep to be has ever ly apart ly been knowlinations nsensus onomic ation to timing attain; usinesst; what lar and ifferent litudeth their

eceding kely to nished, on the cycles, implify

source of
#### WORKING PLANS

time, all the more important because the undertaking is so huge, by concentrating upon a systematic examination of the cyclical movements in different economic activities, classified in whatever fashion seems best suited to his purpose. In making this examination, he will not put the 'theories' aside; on the contrary he will use them continuously as hypotheses concerning what activities and what relations among them are worth studying. In that way they will be of inestimable value in his factual inquiries. Also, his detailed studies are likely to suggest new hypotheses from time to time, or modifications of old ones, and they too will direct his researches. But he will not think himself equipped to judge what contribution any hypothesis makes to the understanding of business cycles until he has attained as clear a view as he can of the whole congeries of interrelated movements. If this attitude of suspending judgment taxes patience at times, the investigator can comfort himself with the belief that, so far as he succeeds in showing what cyclical behavior is characteristic of economic activities, he will put others as well as himself in a better position to evaluate hypotheses.

#### IV The Data Needed for Observing Cyclical Behavior

The longest records of cyclical fluctuations in economic activities are the contemporary opinions of journalists. They show that men whose business it was to report the condition of trade were impressed by the alternations of prosperity and depression long before the concept of business cycles had been formulated. They indicate what years were deemed good and what years bad by contemporaries, and thus are helpful in identifying successive business cycles, and in making rough measures of their duration. Further, they often call attention to the branches of trade that prospered notably or suffered in exceptional degree at particular periods. But the business annals we now have, specifically the compilation made by Willard L. Thorp and published by the National Bureau in 1926, do not provide detailed and continuous observations upon the changing fortunes of many branches of trade.<sup>8</sup>

Better suited to our purposes are time series that record the fluctuations of specific processes or transactions from month to month, quarter to quarter, or year to year, though, as will be demonstrated in Chapter 6, annual data leave much to be desired. These materials must be sufficiently abundant to allow systematic comparisons of the behavior of different activities in the same business cycle, and of the same activity in different

8 Of course, fuller and probably more representative annals can be compiled by ransacking the sources, and much can be learned about business cycles by work of this sort. But no compilation can transcend the limitations of its data. We believe that at the present stage of research more can be accomplished by analyzing time series than by elaborating annals: though the latter effort promises to contribute heavily to knowledge of those periods and countries for which the statistical record is scanty.

cycles. O have defi activity of ing freig index n not-ren ness. Ev 'index of tion, prie the cour composi ties.<sup>9</sup> A l represen it is accer of many of restric definitel the whol wholes t

To deter activities applied in quant economi and wha The of all, wh recession more that series it specific c collectio task to l contagio we cann moveme Nex are relat peaks an tions. K 9 See ibid.,

#### DATA FOR OBSERVING BUSINESS CYCLES

ار در میشوند. مورد روسید مشتوسین از

cycles. Obviously, no single time series can reveal business cycles as we have defined them. At best a series reveals only the cyclical changes in one activity or group of activities, such as mining coal, building houses, hauling freight, paying wages, trading in securities, clearing checks. Nor do index numbers-whether of prices, production, employment, or what not-represent more than the average changes of specific factors in business. Even the audacious statistician who constructs what he calls an 'index of business conditions', perhaps basing it upon indexes of production, prices, sales, employment, and financial operations, is not charting the course of business cycles. Apart from the limitations of coverage, his composite shows net resultants, not similar movements in many activities.<sup>9</sup> A business index may establish a presumption that the activities it represents fluctuate in unison, but the presumption must be tested before it is accepted, and an adequate test entails examining the cyclical behavior of many series. To repeat: only by analyzing numerous time series, each of restricted significance, can business cycles be made to reveal themselves definitely enough to permit close observation. If we wish to know what the wholes are like, we must study the parts and then see what sort of wholes they make up.

#### V Requirements that Technique Must Meet

To determine the cyclical behavior characteristic of different economic activities, we should have a method that yields comparable results when applied to a wide variety of time series. If possible, the results should be in quantitative form, that is, we should *measure* the cyclical behavior of economic activities; otherwise we cannot say definitely what uniformities and what differences appear among the movements.

The questions raised in Section II suggest that we must ascertain, first of all, what economic activities reveal recurrent sequences of expansion, recession, contraction, and revival, lasting more than one year but not more than ten or twelve years. We call such cyclical movements in a time series its 'specific cycles'. According to our methods of observation, specific cycles appear in a preponderant majority of the time series in our collection. But there are some exceptions, and it is as much a part of our task to learn which economic activities are virtually immune to cyclical contagion as to learn which are sensitive to it. Without such knowledge we cannot judge how general is the alleged consensus among cyclical movements.

Next, we need to know how the specific cycles of different activities are related to one another in direction of movement, in the timing of their peaks and troughs, and in the duration of their expansions and contractions. Knowledge of the existence or nonexistence of specific cycles in

9 See ibid., pp. 307-26, for a critique of business indexes.

by conments in ems best put the ly as hyhem are is factual potheses ill direct vhat conss cycles geries of ent taxes he belief racterisa better

#### vior

s are the ose busialternabusiness ied good ntifying ir duraide that periods. in made 926, do hanging

fluctuaarter to apter 6, ficiently ifferent ifferent

icking the mpilation more can tter effort statistical -11

#### WORKING PLANS

many economic activities, and of their agreement or nonagreement in direction of movement, timing, and duration are obvious prerequisites for determining empirically whether there are business cycles answering to our definition. Finally, we must have measures of the amplitude of the cyclical movements of individual activities and of their rate of change during cyclical expansions and contractions. These measures together with those showing the sequence in which different activities turn up at business-cycle revivals and turn down at business-cycle recessions are essential in tracing causal relations.

In order to observe these several features of specific cycles closely, the original data of time series must be subjected to several operations. Before the specific cycles of a series are identified, it is desirable to remove the seasonal variations. To compare the amplitudes and patterns of specific cycles in series that run in different physical units, different sums of money, or in the form of ratios, some common denominator is necessary. The simplest plan is to express the original data as percentages of their average value during a specific cycle, and determine in terms of these percentages the rise from trough to peak, the fall from peak to trough, and the change from one stage to another into which the phases of expansion and contraction may be broken. That plan has the further advantage of eliminating in step-wise fashion the secular trend of a series.

More elaborate preparations are required to measure cyclical timing. If we attempted to compare the turning dates of the specific cycles in all the series analyzed, millions of comparisons would be required; for our investigation, though far from complete, already includes over eight hundred monthly and quarterly series for the United States alone, a few of which cover more than twenty specific cycles. Our solution of this difficulty is to draw up a table of 'reference dates' that purport to mark off the troughs and peaks of successive business cycles, and to measure the leads or lags of specific-cycle troughs and peaks from these benchmarks. This step is the crux of the investigation; it involves passing from the specific cycles of individual time series, which readers not embarrassed by experience are likely to think of as objective 'facts', to business cycles, which can be seen through a cloud of witnesses only by the eye of the mind. We prepared for the transition by modeling the definition of specific cycles upon that of business cycles, as the reader may have noticed. Granted that the time series representing many economic activities show recurrent sequences of expansion, recession, contraction, and revival, lasting more than one year but not more than ten or twelve years, we should be able to determine whether there is a consensus among these movements. If there is, the dates of specific-cycle troughs of individual activities must be concentrated around certain points of time, and the like must be true of specific-cycle peaks. We can then proceed to identify business cycles in the country from which the time series come, assign approximate dates to

their tro ferent ec The in all ser attempt on which many th start just able, or w what im turns in many ac we form ing on th specific of together At an pare the cycle tur usually c These re The best see how By a pro a set of da about sp ized in ar this proc definitio more is l But c country, business another, from stay series is the busin sonally a theirave rise or fa cycle exp For a 10 The meth

in Ch. 4.

#### REQUIREMENTS TECHNIQUE MUST MEET

their troughs and peaks, and plunge into a study of the behavior of different economic activities within the periods thus marked off.

The logic of this procedure may seem to imply that the specific cycles in all series we intend to analyze for a country should be identified before attempting to identify its business cycles. That is a counsel of perfection on which we could act only if we knew at an early stage of the investigation many things learned in the course of the work. We did not know at the start just what time series should be analyzed among those readily available, or what gaps should be filled by new compilations. Nor did we know what importance to attach to different time series as indicators of cyclical turns in general business activity. Only as we discovered the relations of many activities to the general consensus among cyclical movements could we form intelligent judgments upon these matters. This process of 'learning on the job' would have been inefficient if we had confined analysis to specific cycles for a long while, and postponed trying to see how they fit together into business cycles.

At an early stage of the investigation we thought it prudent to compare the specific cycles in numerous series.<sup>10</sup> Rough tabulations of specificcycle turns suggested that they clustered around certain months, which usually came in years when business annals reported a recession or revival. These results were reassuring, but we wished to test them systematically. The best way was to settle on an experimental set of 'reference dates' and see how they met expectations, when applied in the analysis of new series. By a process of trial and error, we were able to work out several years ago a set of dates that fitted fairly well both the annals and what we then knew about specific-cycle turning dates. These reference dates have been utilized in analyzing additional series and thus subjected to further tests. And this process of refinement must continue: the reference dates, like our definition of business cycles, are a tool of research subject to revision as more is learned about the phenomena they help us investigate.

But once a set of fairly well tested reference dates is obtained for a country, we can show in detail how different activities behave during business cycles: how the cyclical turns of different series are related to one another, and how their movements compare in magnitude and direction from stage to stage of business cycles. For the latter purpose, every time series is broken into segments corresponding to the periods occupied by the business cycles of the country to which the series refers, and the seasonally adjusted data for each segment are turned into percentages of their average value. This step enables us to measure in a common unit the rise or fall of different economic activities from stage to stage of business-cycle expansions and contractions.

For an economic historian concerned with what happened in a par-

10 The methods used to identify business cycles and date their troughs and peaks are described in Ch. 4.

pent in quisites wering e of the change ogether n up at ons are

ely, the Before ove the specific ums of cessary. of their ese pergh, and pansion tage of

timing. es in all for our ht hunfew of iis diffioff the e leads s. This specific experiich can We prees upon hat the current ig more able to If there be contrue of s in the lates to

#### WORKING PLANS

ticular period these measures of the behavior of time series during individual specific or business cycles may be sufficient. An economic theorist, however, wishes to know primarily what features have appeared in all or in most cycles, though he should be interested also in the variability of the phenomena, which is one of their most striking characteristics. The thousands of people who nowadays anxiously follow the course of business cycles have practical needs that combine those of the historian and theorist. They are as deeply immersed in what happens at a particular period as any historian; but in trying to foresee what will happen in the near future they require knowledge of the type a theorist strives for. Thus our historical studies of individual business cycles should be supplemented by efforts to learn whatever we can concerning the uniformities and diversities among them.11 This final requirement laid upon our technique of observation calls for averaging the measures of cyclical behavior during successive specific cycles and during contemporaneous business cycles. Of course, we must examine also the way in which measures of individual cycles are distributed about their means.

#### VI The Symbols Used in Observing Business Cycles

When we speak of 'observing' business cycles we use figurative language. For, like other concepts, business cycles can be seen only 'in the mind's eye'. What we literally observe is not a congeries of economic activities rising and falling in unison, but changes in readings taken from many recording instruments of varying reliability. These readings have to be decomposed for our purposes; then one set of components must be put together in a new fashion. The whole procedure seems far removed from what actually happens in the world where men strive for their livings. Whether its results will be worth having is not assured in advance; that can be determined only by pragmatic tests after the results have been attained.

This predicament is common to all observational sciences that have passed the stage of infancy. An example familiar to everyone is meteorology. The layman observes the weather directly through his senses. He sees blue sky, clouds, snow, and lightning; he hears thunder; he feels wind, temperature and humidity; at times he tastes a fog and smells a breeze; he sees, hears, and feels storms. The meteorologist can make these direct observations as well as a layman; but instead of relying upon his sense impressions he uses a battery of recording instruments—thermographs, barographs, anemometers, wind vanes, psychrometers, hygrographs, precipitation gauges, sunshine recorders, and so on. That is, he transforms much that he can sense, and some things he cannot sense, into numerous sets of symbols stripped of all the vivid qualities of personal experience.

11 Cf. ibid., p. 469.

It is with sent to hi works. T he must his symbo few hour clusions : to be proc artificial over wide sense the All of can obser associates ings no sy and anxie a few asso row circle identified but we ca A mai productio of a vast p other furr stage in a stone, coa plants, an training w steel, setti can watch in the acti what is ha symbols th mainly by For the and noise of figures turned ou weeks. Th looks like well or ill tion, whic types of pr all the oth

#### SYMBOLS IN OBSERVING BUSINESS CYCLES

It is with these symbols from his own station and with similar symbols sent to him by other observers dotted over continents and oceans that he works. They show the weather broken down into numerous factors, which he must put together again in his mind. To that end he plots certain of his symbols on a weather map, which he compares with maps drawn a few hours earlier. From these maps, a new set of symbols, he derives conclusions about air masses of different types and about the weather likely to be produced by their movements and internal changes. By these highly artificial operations he arrives at forecasts concerning actual conditions over wide areas, that will soon be judged right or wrong by millions who sense their local weather.

All of us can observe economic activities as easily and directly as we can observe the weather, for we have merely to watch ourselves and our associates work and spend. What we see in this way has a wealth of meanings no symbols can convey. We know more or less intimately the hopes and anxieties, efforts and fatigues, successes and failures of ourselves and a few associates. But we realize also that what happens to us and our narrow circle is determined largely by what is being done by millions of unidentified strangers. What these unknowns are doing is important to us, but we cannot observe it directly.

A man tending an open-hearth furnace has a close-up view of steel production. But what he sees, hears, smells and feels is only a tiny segment of a vast process. He works at one furnace; he cannot see the hundreds of other furnaces in operation over the country. And smelting is only one stage in a process that includes mining and transporting iron ore, limestone, coal, and alloys; the getting of orders for steel, the erection of plants, and the raising of capital; importing and exporting, hiring and training workers, making and selling goods that give rise to a demand for steel, setting prices, and keeping accounts of outgo and income. No man can watch personally all these activities. Yet those engaged in them and in the activities dependent on the steel industry need an over-all view of what is happening. To get it they, like meteorologists, resort to the use of symbols that bear no semblance to actual processes and that are compiled mainly by other men.

For the intermittent process of making steel in a furnace with its heat and noise, its dim shadows and blinding glares, they substitute a column of figures purporting to show how many tons of steel ingots have been turned out by all the furnaces in a given area during successive days or weeks. That colorless record gives no faintest idea of what the operation looks like or feels like; it does not tell whether the work is hard or easy, well or ill paid, profitable or done at a loss. It suggests continuous operation, which is achieved at no furnace. It hides differences of location and types of product. And it separates the one act of turning out tonnage from all the other activities with which it is interwoven. Many, though not all,

15

h and licular in the Thus upplemities n our al beineous measguage. nind's ivities many to be but tofrom vings. that been have eteores. He wind. ze: he direct sense raphs, s, preforms ierous lience.

indi-

eorist,

all or

of the

thou-

isiness

of these interrelated changes are likewise recorded in columns of figures; but each record is as devoid of reality and as divorced from its matrix as the record of tons produced.

It is with such symbolic records that a 'realistic' investigator who wishes to find out what happens during a business cycle must work. Not all the activities he wishes to study are recorded; some of the most interesting figures are not published; of the published figures many are defective in one way or another. Less obvious are the difficulties of combining what one learns from time series of very limited, very comprehensive, or intermediate coverage. The most detailed series keep closest to individual experience; but they are likely to be so dominated by circumstances peculiar to single enterprises, groups, or localities that common behavior traits are hard to descry. These difficulties can be reduced to a minimum, and much labor saved, by confining study to broad aggregates or indexes. But then the field of vision becomes as dim as it is wide. Highly significant differences in cyclical timing and amplitude may be hidden from sight.<sup>12</sup> Nor can one tell whether the movements in these comprehensive series are net resultants of concomitant or of divergent fluctuations in individual activities. Records of intermediate coverage are less affected by 'disturbing circumstances' than the most detailed and reveal more of individual experience than the most inclusive series; but they have the defects of these qualities, being more remote from individual experience than the first and more affected by disturbing circumstances than the second. If all activities were recorded in equal detail, an investigator might use series belonging to each of these coverage groups, or a larger number than our rough classification recognizes, just because they give him different pictures of the process he wants to understand. In practice the available data differ considerably from one activity to another, so that he cannot maintain uniform standards. Oh the contrary, he must often compare the cyclical behavior of activities represented by symbols that relate to details in one case and broad aggregates in another. Then he must mix a large element of personal judgment into his comparisons.

In trying to compose a picture of business cycles from these diverse materials, the would-be objective student is forced to devise further artifices. He must take apart every record he uses in order to separate as best he can the cyclical fluctuations from movements of other kinds. In so doing he must solve the technical problems of 'time-series analysis' in some fashion, and the solutions he chooses will shape the new set of symbols he derives from the symbols that constitute his 'raw data'. And a still higher pitch of abstraction is reached if the investigator seeks, as we do,

12 When the differences in timing are considerable, the amplitude of the cyclical fluctuations of an aggregate differs widely from the average cyclical amplitude of its components. See Wesley C. Mitchell and Arthur F. Burns, Production during the American Business Cycle of 1927–1933 (National Bureau of Economic Research, Bulletin 61, Nov. 9, 1936), Sec. IV.

to get a averagir Nor of roug whether ures of assemble In statist synthesis if the m they mu our effor fashion step towa of 'refere reached can, we d that will Thus gives me few of wh opportun pounded havior ch derived b practical muting a strange, r into new The h worth try most part about the rowed at f applied to and these include. V attain a b business o

The range manner sl

#### SYMBOLS IN OBSERVING BUSINESS CYCLES

to get a picture of the cyclical behavior characteristic of each activity by averaging measures covering as many cycles as his time series include.

Nor is that the end of the story. We conceive business cycles to consist of roughly synchronous movements in many activities. To determine whether this thought symbol represents experience or fantasy, our measures of the cyclical behavior characteristic of many activities must be assembled into the end products of which our definition is the blueprint. In statistical jargon, time-series analysis must be followed by a time-series synthesis. Most of this assembling job is reserved for a future volume. But if the measures described in this volume are later to be fitted together, they must be designed with that use in view. This requirement explains our effort to develop a method of analysis that can be applied in uniform fashion to a wide variety of time series. More than that, it explains one step toward the ultimate synthesis taken in this volume, namely, the fixing of 'reference dates' that are meant to show when successive business cycles reached their peaks and troughs. Having fixed these dates as best we now can, we derive measures of characteristic behavior during business cycles that will serve as the basic symbols for our later synthesis.

Thus the concept of business cycles ties together in our minds, and gives meaning to, a host of experiences undergone by millions of men, few of whom think of themselves as influenced by cyclical pressures and opportunities. The concept, as we develop it, is itself a symbol compounded of less comprehensive symbols representing the cyclical behavior characteristic of many unlike activities. In turn, these symbols are derived by extensive technical operations from symbolic records kept for practical ends, or combinations of such records. We are, in truth, transmuting actual experience in the workaday world into something new and strange, much as a meteorologist transforms our experience of sunshine into new and strange symbols that record solar radiation.

The hazards of our undertaking are many. What makes the venture worth trying is that the symbols constituting our basic data have for the most part been made for practical ends and found useful; also our notions about the ways in which different activities fit into one another are borrowed at first or second hand from experience; our analytic methods when applied to many time series yield results that broadly confirm one another, and these time series cover a goodly part of the activities we should like to include. With such materials, a staff of workers should be able at least to attain a better approximation to knowledge of what happens during a business cycle than has been available hitherto.

#### VII Range Covered by the Observations

The range of activities whose cyclical behavior can be measured in the manner sketched in Section V, the number of countries that can be

figures; trix as

br who k. Not t interdefecbining sive, or ividual ices pehavior imum, ndexes. hificant sight.12 e series ndividby 'dishore of ave the erience han the stigator larger ey give bractice so that it often bls that hen he ions. diverse further arate as nds. In lysis' in of symd a still we do,

ations of Wesley C.

4927-1988

#### WORKING PLANS

covered, and the periods over which the observations can be extended are limited by the time series that have been or might be compiled. But much narrower limits have been set to this investigation by the funds available to us and by our capacity to integrate diverse inquiries.

The subjects we have sought to cover so far include the production of commodities, construction work, transportation and communication, prices at wholesale and retail, sales by merchants and manufacturers, the stocks of goods held by various hands, foreign trade, hours of work, wage rates and employment, the disbursement of money incomes to individuals, the profits or losses of business enterprises, the formation of new businesses, savings and investments, dealings in securities, interest rates, currency, banking, and the aggregate volume of business transactions. We hope to expand this list by analyzing also changes in the balance-sheet items of business enterprises, public finance, and the social concomitants of business cycles.<sup>13</sup> All these processes are stressed in the theoretical literature of business cycles; but our actual selection of individual series has been determined as much by the puzzles that turned up in the course of work with the data as by the suggestions gleaned from theoretical writings.

The adequacy of the statistical records, and therefore of our observations upon cyclical behavior, differs widely from subject to subject. For example, statistics of inventories, sales by manufacturers, savings, and retail trade, are meager. On the other hand, price quotations at wholesale, and data upon exports and imports of individual commodities are so abundant that we cannot afford to analyze all the available series—which does not mean that we can obtain just the data we should like best to have on these subjects.

To investigate adequately how the business cycles of different nations are related to one another,<sup>14</sup> it would be necessary to observe perhaps twenty nations. That we cannot do. But neither can we confine analysis to a single nation. A man interested solely in the business cycles of the United States could not understand them by studying American data alone; for they would not show the changes in foreign business conditions that stimulated or retarded American expansions, and mitigated or aggravated the contractions. Our compromise between what we should like and what we are able to do is to observe business cycles in the four large nations that led in commercial, industrial, and financial developments during the nineteenth century—Great Britain, France, Germany, and the United States. These nations have had close business relations with one another, possess good statistical records as such things go, and present a

18 Matters such as birth and death rates, marriage and divorce rates, poor relief, unemployment benefits, school attendance, and crime.

14 Willard L. Thorp's Business Annals (National Bureau of Economic Research, 1926) suggests that contemporaneous cycles in nations trading freely with one another have much in common. For a summary of the evidence, see Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, pp. 424-50.

outside the

16 See, how

17 This cour

It omits a lai

without pro

#### RANGE OF OBSERVATIONS

variety of economic conditions. In dealing with some activities we may be forced to extend the geographical range of observation.<sup>15</sup> But for the most part we shall have to rest content with a four-country sample, knowing full well that it does not represent adequately the cyclical tides that sweep round the world.

Meanwhile it is important to observe carefully the business cycles of single nations. The domestic idiosyncrasies of these cycles are not less significant than their international similarities. Most time series upon which we are dependent refer to conditions in a single nation or one of its subdivisions: these are the ultimate sources from which we must build up knowledge even of international business cycles. The latter bear much the same relation to the cycles of different nations as the business cycles of a single nation bear to the specific cycles of its different economic activities. As we must get knowledge of domestic business cycles by studying a complex of interrelated movements in many industries and markets, so we must get knowledge of world cycles by studying the interrelated expansions, recessions, contractions, and revivals in many nations.

Regrettably, our analysis cannot be pushed back far enough to answer the questions raised by our definition about the beginnings of business cycles. The periods we can cover in practice are determined mainly by a factor beyond our control—the availability of continuous statistical data. Relatively few time series in monthly form begin before the 1870's. More than half of our collection dates from 1900 or later, and a considerable fraction is confined to years since World War I. Our general rule is to cover as long a period as the data allow. In one series our results may therefore sum up two or three generations of experience, in another they may represent barely a decade. The problem of combining materials with such varied time reference may become acute at a later stage.<sup>18</sup> At present, in trying to ascertain what is characteristic of the cyclical behavior of economic processes taken singly or in small groups, it would be profligate to discard half or more of the evidence concerning one factor merely because we cannot get evidence for the same years about other factors.

Tables 1-3 show the range of time series we had analyzed by July 1, 1942. Of the 1,277 series,<sup>17</sup> 76 per cent relate to the United States, 11 per cent to Great Britain, 7 per cent to Germany, and 6 per cent to France. Over 40 per cent of the series cover production, construction work, and transportation. These and the holding of commodity stocks are the activities we have studied most thoroughly so far, and upon which monographs

15 One colleague who is studying the cyclical behavior of foreign trade has been driven to construct series representing the imports and exports of 'Outlandia', that is, a combination of countries outside the four covered systematically by our compilations.

16 See, however, the tests in Ch. 10-12, which are reassuring as far as they go.

17 This count is confined to series subjected to the full analysis described in subsequent chapters. It omits a large number of series that have been only partially processed or used for special purposes without processing.

ed are much ailable

tion of ation, rs, the wage dividbf new rates, hs. We e-sheet hitants literaies has urse of itings. bservat. For and relesale, are so which o have lations erhaps ysis to of the n data litions aggrad like large ments nd the h one sent a

suggests common.

loyment

#### WORKING PLANS

## TABLE 1

Series Classified According to the Process Represented, Country, and the Time Unit

(Series analyzed by July 1, 1942)

Group	United States	Great Britain	Germany	France	Four countries
PROCESS					
Production	214	23	25	22	284
Construction	133	21	15	15	184
Transportation	53	11	5	8	77
Commodity prices	144	20	10	7	181
Inventories	67	1	• •	••	68
Merchandising	41				41
Foreign trade	19	13	4	8	44
Personal incomes	115	12	5	2	134
Profits and losses	40	1	1		42
Savings and investments	17	6	3	2	28
Security markets	11	9	1	3	24
Interest rates	26	6	5	3	40
Money and banking	75	14	7	6	102
Aggregate transactions	17	4	3	4	28
Total	972	141	84	80	1,277
TIME UNIT					
Monthly	727	92	52	53	924
Quarterly	84•	19	3	1	107
Annual	161	30	29	26	246
Total	972	141	84	80	1,277

\* Includes 57 series relating to the status of national banks through 1914, at 5 irregularly spaced 'call dates' within the year.

#### TABLE 2

#### Periods Covered by American and Foreign Series (Series analyzed by July 1, 1942)

No. of	No. of United States				Three opean count	tries	Four countries			
covered*	Monthly& quarterly	Annual	All series	Monthly & quarterly	Annual '	All scrics	Monthly& quarterly	Annual	All series	
Under 10 10 - 19 20 - 29 30 - 39 40 - 49 50 - 59 60 - 69 70 - 79 80 - 89	13 338 204 69 98 43 16 19 10	24 21 16 33 20 10 24 4	13 362 225 85 131 63 26 43 14	1 40 15 55 38 '39 8 10 13	 1 3 7 14 25 8 8 8 8	1 41 18 62 52 64 16 18 21	14 378 219 124 136 82 24 29 23	25 24 23 47 45 18 32 12	14 403 243 147 183 127 42 61 35	
90 - 99 100 - 109 110 - 119 120 - 129 130 - 139 140 - 149	··· ··· ··· 811	4   1	3 4  1 972	··· 1 ··· ·· 220	2   3	0 2 1  3 305	1  1  	6   4 246	11 6 1  4	

This table shows roughly the periods covered by our analyses, many of which stopped in 1932 or 1933 at the time the table was prepared. Since then another cycle has been added in a majority of the series.

\*Determined from the years in which our cyclical analysis starts and ends, irrespective of the month or quarter. CX. Table 17.

23 4 5 Under 5 5 - 9 10 - 14 15 - 19 20 - 24 25 - 29Total.. See note to T are neare sively, w suppleme eventual chandisir be added The tute 72 p cent, and farther t more, a b Of the mo ness cycle cycles. T per cent. monthly

ħ

No. of business cycles covered

This vol Cycles,<sup>18</sup> that we a limitation types of c averages.

18 The first

#### PROGRAM AS A WHOLE

#### Three No. of United States Four countries European countries busines cycles Monthly& Monthly& All Monthly& All All Annual Annual Annual covered quarterly series quarterly series quarterly series . . .. . . Under 5 10 - 14 15 ~ 19 20 - 24 - 29 5] 1,031 1,277 Total

 
 TABLE 3

 Number of Business Cycles Covered by American and Foreign Series (Series analyzed by July 1, 1942)

See note to Table 2.

Pour

All eries

e time

larter

within

intrics

are nearest completion. As any part of the field is worked over intensively, we find that the series selected in advance should and can be supplemented by additional analyses. Doubtless many more series will eventually be used in the section on prices and in the sections from merchandising to money and banking than is indicated by Table 1; some will be added even to the first three sections.

The analysis rests as far as possible on monthly records which constitute 72 per cent of the series analyzed; quarterly records contribute 8 per cent, and annual series 19 per cent. Annual data as a rule run back much farther than monthly: over half of our annual series cover 50 years or more, a bare 16 per cent of the monthly and quarterly series are so long. Of the monthly and quarterly series 39 per cent include fewer than 5 business cycles, 36 per cent include 5-9 cycles, 25 per cent include 10 or more cycles. The corresponding figures for the annual series are 14, 23, and 63 per cent. The series including 15 or more cycles make 7 per cent of the monthly or quarterly and 30 per cent of the annual group.

#### VIII The Program as a Whole

This volume, the second of the National Bureau's Studies in Business Cycles,<sup>18</sup> sets forth in detail the methods of measuring cyclical behavior that we are using; presents various tests of the methods; discusses their limitations for the purpose they are meant to serve; and analyzes four types of changes that may occur in cyclical behavior and compromise our averages.

18 The first volume is Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, by Wesley C. Mitchell.

#### WORKING PLANS

The monographs to follow will give the results obtained by applying our technique to time series representing various groups of economic activities. Their aim is to summarize the statistical results, and to explain, so far as possible, the differences found to be characteristic of the cyclical behavior of different activities, the role these activities play in the domestic economy of a country, and their bearing upon international business relations. Since these tasks require much technical knowledge of industries and markets, each monograph is entrusted to a specialist. The dozen monographs thus far initiated include the cyclical behavior of agriculture, mining and manufacturing production, construction work, transportation and communication, inventories, prices at wholesale and retail, wages and employment, consumer income and expenditures, formation of new business firms, money and banking, foreign commerce, and international financial relations. We hope to add, as promptly as conditions permit, monographs on public finances, incomes and expenditures of business firms, security markets, and savings and investment, and to embark on a series of historical studies of business cycles. None of the monographs will attempt to present a general theory of business cycles. If our conception of the problem is sound, that task cannot be performed satisfactorily until the cyclical behavior of all the activities we are attempting to study has been measured and the salient differences in behavior have been examined with care.

Our original plan called for a final volume that would weave the results established by the monographs together with existing knowledge into a theoretical account of how business cycles run their course. The outbreak of war and the need to anticipate post-war adjustments have led us to modify this leisurely program. Several of our collaborators are giving all or part of their time to the government, and it will not do to postpone the theoretical analysis of business cycles until all their investigations can be completed. In view of the pressure of the times, we think it advisable to make available as soon as possible the best summary that can now be framed of what typically occurs in the course of a business cycle. This 'preview' will be published shortly under the title *What Happens during Business Cycles: A Progress Report*, by Wesley C. Mitchell.

When better days return, we hope to expand and to revise the 'preview'. The final volume will attempt to fulfill the many promises made in different places in this monograph. It will draw heavily upon the studies of collaborating specialists, and carry through some fresh investigations. We hope that other students will find the *Studies in Business Cycles* as useful in their theoretical constructions as the National Bureau expects to find them. Our r so much full com of the m characte plan as a

The sch

Pı

how eac record b purpose cycles in By analy wide va a fairly Whi all our widely which a dates in or by co Now th every ec tides of business supplen

#### CHAPTER 2

## Preliminary Sketch of the Statistical Analysis

OUR PLAN of measuring the numerous features of cyclical behavior is so much of one piece that some understanding of the whole is needed for full comprehension of the parts. Hence we preface the detailed exposition of the method by a preliminary sketch designed to bring out its general characteristics. Even the most careful reader will save time by viewing the plan as a whole before plunging into the detailed explanations of its parts.

#### I Basic Features of the Analysis

The scheme of analysis has two parts. Primarily we seek to determine how each important economic process of which we possess a statistical record behaves during the periods occupied by business cycles. For that purpose we break every time series into segments that coincide with the cycles in general business activity in the country to which the series refers. By analyzing on this basis over one thousand time series representing a wide variety of economic processes in four countries, we are able to get a fairly comprehensive picture of what happens during a business cycle.

While our interest centers in this picture, it cannot stop there. Almost all our series exhibit cyclical fluctuations, but these fluctuations bear widely different relationships in time to business cycles. The dates on which a series makes its cyclical turns may differ little from the turning dates in general business, may usually lead or lag behind them by brief or by considerable intervals, or may have no regular relationship to them. Now the course of business cycles is influenced by cyclical fluctuations in every economic process, whether or not they synchronize with the general tides of activity. Hence, to lay a satisfactory foundation for a theory of business cycles, our analysis based upon business-cycle periods must be supplemented by studies of the cycles peculiar to each series. The following sections explain and illustrate most of the measures we make, define the technical terms we use, and give a sample of the standard charts upon which we rely heavily in presenting results.

## II Reference Dates, Reference Cycles and Specific Cycles

To learn how different economic processes behave in respect of business cycles, their movements must be observed during the revivals, expansions, recessions, and contractions in general business activity. Before we can begin observing we must mark off these periods. To that end we have made for each of the four countries a table of 'reference dates', showing the months and years when business cycles reached troughs and peaks. These tables were based first upon the business annals compiled for the National Bureau by Willard L. Thorp; then we refined, tested, and at need amended the dates by studying statistical series. The turning points of the cyclical movements in general business activity can be made more precise as the field covered by economic statistics expands. Hence we have more confidence in the reference dates for the United States than in those for the three European countries, and more confidence in the later than in the earlier dates.

After eliminating the seasonal variations of a series, we break it into segments marked off by the reference troughs of the country to which the series relates. Since each segment spans an interval between successive reference troughs, we call it a 'reference-cycle segment', or 'reference cycle' for brevity.<sup>1</sup> Next we compute the average of the monthly values during each 'reference cycle' and convert the data into percentages of this base; these percentages are called 'reference-cycle relatives'. The application of a uniform set of dates to all series for a given country, and the reduction of the original data expressed in diverse units to relatives of their average values during the periods thus marked off, put all the materials into comparable form and enable us to see how different processes behave during successive business cycles.

Next, we look in every series for wave-like movements, the duration of which is of the same order as that of business cycles. We call the cyclical movements peculiar to a series its 'specific cycles'. In most series the dates of the troughs and peaks of the specific cycles are fairly clear, but in some series they are obscured by erratic fluctuations. We mark off the specific cycles by the dates of their turning points as well as we can; compute the average value of the monthly data during each cycle, and convert the monthly data into 'specific-cycle relatives' which correspond in every

.....

<sup>1</sup> We find it convenient to use the term 'reference cycle' in two senses: first, to denote the section of a time series between the dates of successive reference troughs (or peaks), second, to denote the interval between successive troughs (or peaks). The meaning intended should be obvious from the context.

Year	Jan.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	June	July	Aug.	Sep.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.	
1914	2973	3147	3476	3364	2940	2897	2991	2927	2797	2531	2193	2348	
1915	2281	2555	2675	2897	2990	3410	3613	3873	395 <b>9</b>	4320	4475	455 <b>3</b>	
1916	4381	4564	4554	4425	4581	4581	4392	4667	4684	4655	4593	4499	
1917	4664	4523	4672	4720	4693	4778	4731	4611	4693	4542	4577	4452	
1918	3855	3957	4415	4639	4801	4941	5228	5067	5033	5017	4844	4730	
1919	4763	4126	3773	3335	2977	3173	3777	3987	3943	3157	3600	3624	
1920	4329	4261	4360	3885	4031	4299	4412	4536	4520	4496	4284	3971	
1921	3314	2886	2203	1855	1860	1679	1497	1637	1719	2076	2231	2338	
1922	2391	2512	2658	2798	2979	3180	3038	2413	2927	3638	4145	4342	
1923	4650	4695	4853	5174	5250	5216	5076	4901	4641	4362	4132	4107	
1924	4278	4493	4386	4199	3581	3108	2923	2936	3132	3466	3596	4182	
1925	4599	4458	4259	4204	3950	3900	3804	3838	4102	4333	4836	5087	
1926	5244	5280	4746	4719	4643	4635	4721	4606	4578	4604	4665	4495	
1927	4471	4426	4521	4553	4389	4320	4219	4219	4112	4027	3887	3991	
1928	4249	4348	4276	4365	4450	4413	4286	4344	4332	4524	4569	4688	
1929	4822	4798	4889	5005	5250	5311	5361	5295	5000	4961	4761	4502	
1930	4441	4480	4387	4562	4460	4316	4041	3817	3579	3480	3280	3193	
1931	3195	3193	3187	3266	3167	2870	2682	2522	2396	2403	2356	2277	
1932	2150	2174	2037	1948	1761	1619	1586	1522	1598	1741	1817	1846	
1933	1853	1819	1664	1720	1948	2363	2928	3029	2803	2553	2443	2523	

TABLE 4 Coke Production, United States, 1914–1933 (Thursday of short (apr.)

i

Adjusted for seasonal variations. The original data come from the Bureau of Mines, Mineral Resources of the United States, 1925, Part II, p. 545, and later annual numbers (now called Minerals Yearbook).

respect to the reference-cycle relatives, except that they show movements during specific cycles.

To exemplify these steps: Table 4 shows by months the seasonally adjusted figures of coke production in the United States from 1914 through 1933, a series chosen because it is relatively short and presents few of the complications we ordinarily encounter. These figures are plotted on Chart 1, which shows also the turning points of business cycles and of the specific cycles in coke production. The average monthly production of coke during the first complete specific cycle (November 1914

CHART 1



Adjusted for seasonal variations. Shaded areas represent reference contractions, while areas represent reference expansions. Asterisks identify peaks and troughs of specific cycles. See Table 4.

Logarithmic vertical scale

to May 1919) was 4,246,000 short tons. With that figure as a base, the monthly values in Table 4 for the months covered by this cycle are converted into specific-cycle relatives. The first reference cycle covered by this series runs from December 1914 to April 1919. Average monthly output was 4,305,000 short tons, which is the base upon which the first set of reference-cycle relatives is computed. During the second specific cycle (May 1919 to July 1921) average monthly output was 3,565,000 short tons; during the second reference cycle (April 1919 to September 1921) it was 3,417,000 short tons. These figures are the bases upon which relatives are computed for the second specific and the second reference cycle. The turning points shown on Chart 1 mark off three more specific and three more reference cycles for each of which we compute cycle relatives.

From the specific-cycle relatives we make what we call 'S' tables, of which there are five. Samples of these tables interspersed with explanatory text appear as Tables 5-9. Similarly, from the reference-cycle relatives we make three or four 'R' tables, samples of which appear as Tables 10-12. Important details of our procedure are omitted in the sketch that follows. A full description of the methods underlying the tables is presented in Chapter 5.

#### III Timing, Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles

The reference dates yield measures of the duration of business cycles and of their expansions and contractions. The dates of the cyclical turns in a given series yield similar measures of the duration of its specific cycles. By comparing the turning dates of specific cycles with the reference dates,

Coke Production, United States, 1914-1932

			•			-	•						
	Timing at reference peak		Timing at reference trough		Duration of cyclical movements (mos.)						Per cent of duration of		
Dates of specific cycles	No. of months	Date of	No. of months	Date of	Specific cycles			Excess over reference cycles			specific cycles		
Trough – Peak – Trough	lead () or lag (+) (2)	refer- ence peak	lead () or lag (+) (4)	refer- ence trough	Ex- pan- sion (6)	Con- trac- tion (7)	Full cycle	Ex- pan- sion	Con- trac- tion (10)	Full cycle	Ex- pan- sion (12)	Con- trac- tion (13)	
Nov 14				12/14					(10)	<u></u>	(12)	(13)	
Nov. 14 - July 18 - May 19	-1	8/18	+1	4/19	44	10	54	0	+2	+2	81	19	
May19 - Aug.20 - July 21	+7	1/20	-2	9/21	15	11	26	+6	-9	-3	58	42	
July 21 - May 23 - July 24	0	5/23	0	7/24	22	14	36	+2	0	+2	61	39	
July 24 - Feb. 26 - Nov.27	-8	10/26	-1	12/27	19	21	40	-8	+7	-1	48	52	
Nov.27 - July 29 - Aug.32	+1	6/29	-7	3/33	20	37	57	+2	-8	-6	35	65	
Average	-0.2		-1.7		24.0	18.6	42.6	+0.4	-1.6	-1.2	57	43	
Average deviation	3.4		1.9		8.0	8.3	10.3	3.5	5.5	2.6	12	12	

 TABLE 5

 Sample of Table S1: Timing and Duration of Specific Cycles

we determine the number of months by which the troughs and peaks in the series precede or follow the reference troughs and peaks.

These procedures are illustrated by the sample of Table S1. After the specific cycles have been marked off, the dates of the turning points are entered in column (1). The reference dates with which the specific-cycle turns are compared are entered in columns (3) and (5). The differences in months between the turning dates of the specific cycles and the reference dates are then shown in columns (2) and (4). The durations of the specific cycles and their phases are shown in columns (6) to (8). The differences between the durations of specific cycles and corresponding business cycles are shown in columns (9) to (11). Finally, in columns (12) and (13) the lengths of the specific-cycle phases are expressed as percentages of the durations of full cycles.

Next, the amplitude of the cyclical swings is ascertained by measuring the rise of the specific-cycle relatives from the initial trough of a cycle to the peak, and the fall from the peak to the terminal trough. In order to diminish the influence of random factors upon the amplitudes, we use three-month averages centered on the troughs and peaks. Of course, the results show the rise and fall in percentages of the average value of the series during each specific cycle.

Table S2 gives these amplitude measures in three forms. Columns (2) to (4) show the three-month averages of the specific-cycle relatives cen-

Dates of specific cycles	3-month average in specific-cycle relatives centered on			Ar	nplitude	e of	Per month amplitude of		
Trough – Peak – Trough (1)	Initial trough (2)	Peak (3)	Terminal trough (4)	Rise (5)	Fall (6)	Rise & fall (7)	Rise (8)	Fall (9)	Rise & fall (10)
Nov.14–July 18–May19	55.5	119.6	74.5	64.1	45.1	109.2	1.5	4.5	2.0
May19–Aug.20–July 21	88.7	125.9	45.0	37.2	80.9	118.1	2.5	7.4	4.5
July 21–May23–July 24	44.3	144.0	82.6	99.7	61.4	161.1	4.5	4.4	4.5
July 24–Feb. 26–Nov.27	69.4	118.2	92.1	48.8	26.1	74.9	2.6	1.2	1.9
Nov.27–July 29–Aug.32	105.5	141.6	41.7	36.1	99.9	136.0	1.8	2.7	2.4
Average	72.7	129.9	67.2	57.2	62.7	119.9	2.6	4.0	3.1
	19.5	10.4	19.1	19.8	22.2	23.0	0.8	1.7	1.2

 TABLE 6

 Sample of Table S2: Amplitude of Specific Cycles

 Coke Production, United States, 1914–1932

tered on the initial trough, peak, and terminal trough. The second set of measures, columns (5) to (7), shows the rise from trough to peak, the fall from peak to trough, and the total rise and fall; these figures are obtained from the entries in columns (2) to (4). The third set of measures, columns (8) to (10), shows the amplitudes per month; they are obtained by dividing the figures in columns (5) to (7) of Table S2 by the corresponding duration figures in columns (6) to (8) of Table S1.

#### **IV** Measures of Secular Movements

Our method of computing cycle relatives as percentages of the average value during a specific or a reference cycle eliminates from the original data what we call the 'inter-cycle' portion of the secular trend. The 'intracycle' portion of the trend we make no effort to eliminate, because we wish to reproduce as faithfully as may be the 'cyclical units' of actual economic experience.

Table S3 throws into relief the secular component of the specific cycles. Columns (2) and (3) show the average value of the seasonally

	Ave	rage mon	thly	Per	cent from	Per cent change from preceding cycle on base of			
Dates of specific cycles		standing		prece	ding ase	Prec	eding	Aver giver	age of and
r	(tho	us. short t	ons)	Contrac-	Expan-	cy	cie	preceding cycle	
Trough – Peak – Trough (1)	Expan- sion (2)	Contrac- tion (3)	Full cycle (4)	expan- sion (5)	contrac- tion (6)	Total (7)	Per month (8)	Total (9)	Per month (10)
Nov.14-July 18-May 19	4193	4479	4246		+7				
May 19-Aug. 20-July 21	3906	3099	3565	-13	-21	-16	-0.40	-17	-0.42
July 21-May 23-July 24	3171	4326	3620	+2	+36	+2	+0.06	+2	+0.06
July 24-Feb. 26-Nov. 27	4107	4488	4307	-5	+9	+19	+0.50	+17	+0.45
Nov. 27-July 29-Aug. 32	4577	3319	3760	+2	-27	-13	-0.27	-14	-0.29
Average								-3.0	-0.05
Average deviation								12.5	0.30
Weighted average			•••						-0.08

TABLE 7 Sample of Table S3: Secular Movements Coke Production, United States, 1914–1932

adjusted data during the phases of specific cycles. Column (4) shows the average value during full specific cycles; these values are the bases on which the specific-cycle relatives are computed. Column (5) shows the percentage change from the average standing during a contraction to the average during the following expansion, and column (6) shows the percentage change from the average standing during an expansion to the average during the following contraction. Column (7) shows the percentage change from the average standing during a full specific cycle to that during the next. And column (8) reduces the measures in column (7) to a per month basis, the divisor being the number of months from the midpoint of one cycle to the midpoint of the next.

Column (9) is the same as column (7) except that the percentages are computed on the base of the average of the two cycles being compared,

instead of on the base of the first of the two cycles. This shift of method frees the percentages from secular 'bias' and permits us to strike averages over all cycles. Column (10) bears the same relation to column (9) as column (8) bears to column (7). The weighted average at the bottom of column (10) is obtained by weighting the entries in this column by the intervals between the midpoints of successive cycles.

## **V** Cyclical Patterns

To show the behavior of a series during the course of its specific cycles in greater detail than in Table S2, each specific cycle is broken into nine stages. Stage I covers the three months centered on the initial trough, stage V covers the three months centered on the peak, and stage IX the three months centered on the terminal trough. Stages II to IV cover successive thirds of the length of the expansion, and stages VI to VIII cover successive thirds of the contraction. By averaging the specific-cycle relatives for the months included in each of these stages, we get 'specific-cycle patterns'. These computations are illustrated in the sample of Table S4.

TABLE 8
Sample of Table S4: Specific-cycle Patterns
Coke Production, United States, 1914–1932

		4	Average i	in specif	fic-cycle	relatives	at stage		
	I	II	ш	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
Dates of specific cycles	3 mos. cen- tered	E	Expansion	a –	3 mos. cen- tered	С	3 mos. cen- tered		
Trough – Peak – Trough	on initial trough	First third	Middle third	Last third	on peak	First third	Middle third	Last third	on ter- minal trough
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
Nov. 14 - July 18 - May 19	55.5	81.3	108.0	107.1	119.6	118.7	112.6	88.2	74.5
May 19 - Aug. 20 - July 21	88.7	101.2	110.9	117.8	125.9	124.4	86.8	50.4	45.0
July 21 – May 23 – July 24	44.3	58.8	78.9	124.3	144.0	137.0	118.1	105.5	82.6
July 24 – Feb. 26 – Nov.27	69.4	84.8	95.1	106.2	118.2	108.3	105.2	99.0	92.1
Nov.27 - July 29 - Aug.32	105.5	113.8	118.4	133.3	141.6	122.4	86.2	55.9	41.7
Average	72.7	88.0	102.3	117.7	129.9	122.2	101.8	79.8	67.2
Average deviation	19.5	15.0	12.2	8.9	10.4	6.9	12.2	21.5	19.1

We make 'reference-cycle patterns' on a similar plan; but here the nine stages are marked off on the basis of the cyclical turning dates of general business. By breaking each reference cycle into nine segments, we show the behavior of different economic processes from stage to stage of business cycles and put both our concept of business cycles and the schedule of reference dates to a critical test. Table R1 presents the reference-cycle patterns. It differs from Table S4 in only two respects: the troughs and peaks are taken from the standard list of reference dates instead of from the turning points of specific cycles, and the entries are expressed in units of reference-cycle relatives instead of specific-cycle relatives.

Additional information concerning cyclical patterns is supplied by Tables S5 and R2. Table S5 shows the rate of change from one stage of specific cycles to the next, and Table R2 shows the rate of change from one stage of reference cycles to the next. The entries in Table S5 are obtained by dividing the differences between successive figures on each

	Average change per month in specific-cycle relatives between stages										
	1-11	11-111	III-IV	IV-V	V-VI	VI-VII	VII-VIII	VIII-IX			
Dates of		Expa	nsion		Contraction						
Trough - Peak - Trough	Trough to first third (2)	First to middle third	Middle to last third	Last third to peak	Peak to first third (6)	First to middle third (7)	Middle to last third	Last third to trough			
(1) New 14 July 18 May 10	(2)	(3)	(4)	(3)	(0)		(0)	(9)			
May 19 - Aug. 20 - July 21	+3.4	+1.8	-0.1 +1.5	+1.7	-0.4	-2.0	-8.1	-0.8			
July 21 – May 23 – July 24	+3.6	+2.9	+6.5	+4.9	-2.8	-4.2	-2.8	-9.2			
July 24 – Feb. 26 – Nov. 27	+4.4	+1.7	+1.8	+3.4	-2.5	-0.5	-1.0	-1.7			
Nov. 27 - July 29 - Aug. 32	+2.4	+0.7	+2.3	+2.4	-3.0	-3.0	<b>~2</b> .5	-2.2			
Average	+3.6 0.6 4.3	+1.9 0.6 7.7	+2.4 1.6 7.7	+3.0 0.9 <i>4.3</i>	-1.9 1.0 3.4	-4.1 2.7 5.9	5.0 3.4 5.9	-4.5 2.8 <i>3.4</i>			

#### TABLE 9

Sample of Table S5: Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Specific Cycles Coke Production, United States, 1914–1932

#### TABLE 10

Sample of Table R1: Reference-cycle Patterns Coke Production, United States, 1914–1933

		A	verage i	n refere	nce-cycle	e relativ	es at stag	ge	
	I	II	ш	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
Dates of reference cycles	3 mos. cen- tered	I	Expansio	n	3 mos. cen- tered	с	ontractio	on	3 mos. cen- tered
Trough – Peak – Trough	on initial trough	First third	Middle third	Last third	on peak	First third	Middle third	Last third	minal trough
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
Dec. 14 - Aug. 18 - Apr. 19	52.8	83.9	106.7	106.6	118.7	116.7	111.0	91.7 52.3	78.1
Apr. 19 - Jan. 20 - Sep. 21 Sep. 21 - May 23 - July 24	48.4	63.3	80.2	124.2	139.5	132.7	114.4	102.2	80.0
July 24 - Oct. 26 - Dec. 27 Dec. 27 - June 29 - Mar. 33	69.5 114.4	90.0 123.1	98.4 124.8	138.9	107.4	128.2	83.3	52.3	94.0 49.1
Average	76.7 23.8	91.4 14.8	105.2 12.8	116.5 12.0	127.0 14.3	121.2 8.2	105.6 10.2	78.6 21.0	70.8 15.8

	Average change per month in reference-cycle relatives between stages										
	1-11	II-III	III-IV	IV-V	V-VI	VI-VII	VII-VIII	VIII-IX			
Dates of		Expa	nsion		Contraction						
Trough - Peak - Trough	Trough to first third (2)	First to middle third (3)	Middle to last third	Last third to peak (5)	Peak to first third (6)	First to middle third (7)	Middle to last third (8)	Last third to trough			
(1)					(0)						
Dec. 14 – Aug. 18 – Apr. 19	+4.1	+1.6	0.0	+1.6	-1.3	-2.3	-7.7	-9.1			
Apr. 19 – Jan. 20 – Sep. 21	-0.8	+7.7	-5.9	+9.0	+1.1	-0.9	-10.0	+0.2			
Sep. 21 – May 23 – July 24	+4.3	+2.6	+6.8	+4.4	-2.7	-4.1	-2.7	-8.9			
July 24 – Oct. 26 – Dec. 27	+4.1	+1.0	+1.6	-0.8	-1.0	-0.6	~1.8	-0.2			
Dec. 27 – June 29 – Mar.33	+2.5	+0.3	+2.6	+3.2	-2.8	-3.1	-2.1	-0.4			
Average	+2.8	+2.6 2.0	+1.0 3.2	+3.5 2.6	-1.3 1.1	-2.2 1.2	-4.9 3.2	-3.7 4.3			
Average interval (mos.)	4.3	7.5	7.5	4.3	3.6	6.5	6.5	3.6			

 TABLE 11

 Sample of Table R2: Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Reference Cycles

 Coke Production, United States, 1914–1933

line in Table S4 by the number of months from the middle of one specificcycle stage to the middle of the next stage. Table R2 is made from Table R1 just as Table S5 is made from Table S4.

### VI Measures of Conformity to Business Cycles

The comparisons in Table S1 between specific and reference cycles show roughly how the wave-like movements in a given series conform to the waves in general business activity. Further light is shed upon this matter by the similarity or the difference between the average specific-cycle and the average reference-cycle patterns of Tables S4 and R1. But it is desirable to measure explicitly the varying degrees of conformity.

Table R3 gives the measures we seek. Column (4), which is derived from columns (2) and (3), supplies essential information on the conformity of the series to business-cycle expansions. That is, the entries in column (4) show the average rise or fall per month during successive reference expansions, while the average near the bottom of this column shows the average rate of change during all the reference expansions covered by the series. Column (7) supplies similar information concerning the behavior of the series during reference contractions. Finally, column (8) expresses the difference between the rates of change during reference expansion and contraction; this measure is needed because some series with rapidly rising trends continue to advance even during reference contractions, and we wish to know how much, if at all, the rate of rise is intensified during expansions in general business and diminished during contractions.

	Cha	ange in r	ring	Av. change per month during reference con-					
Dates of reference cycles	Refere	ence expa	ansion	Refere	nce cont	raction	traction minus that during		
Trough-Peak-Trough	Total change	Inter- val in months	Average change per month	Total change	Inter- val in months	Average change per month	Pre- ceding reference expan- sion	Suc- ceeding reference expan- sion <sup>a</sup>	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	
Dec.14-Aug.18-Apr. 19 Apr. 19-Jan. 20-Sep. 21 Sep. 21-May 23-July 24 July 24-Oct. 26-Dec. 27 Dec. 27-June 29-Mar. 33	+65.9 +20.8 +91.1 +37.9 +35.8	44.0 9.0 20.0 27.0 18.0	+1.50 +2.31 +4.56 +1.40 +1.99	-40.6 -66.2 -59.5 -13.4 -101.1	8.0 20.0 14.0 14.0 45.0	-5.08 -3.31 -4.25 -0.96 -2.25	-6.58 -5.62 -8.81 -2.36 -4.24		
Average deviation	+50.5		+2.35	-30.2		-3.17	-5.52 1.78		
Index of conformity to ref Expansions Contractions Cycles, trough to trough Cycles, peak to peak Cycles, both ways	erence		+100			. +100	+100 	+100	

#### TABLE 12 Sample of Table R3: Conformity to Business Cycles Coke Production, United States, 1914–1933

•Only the sign of the difference is entered.

While the averages near the bottom of columns (4), (7) and (8) are useful measures of conformity, they do not indicate the regularity with which a series 'responds' to the stimuli of general business expansion and contraction. To bring out this feature of cyclical behavior we make a second set of conformity measures, that is, 'indexes of conformity' which take account of the direction of movements but not their magnitude. When a series rises during a reference expansion we mark it +100; when the series remains unchanged we mark it 0; when it falls we mark it -100. By casting up the algebraic sum of these entries for all cycles and dividing by their number, we get an index of conformity to reference expansions. This result, entered at the bottom of column (4), may vary between +100 (positive conformity to all the reference expansions covered) and -100 (inverse conformity to all the expansions). An equal number of positive and inverse movements produces an index of 0.<sup>2</sup> To measure conformity to reference contractions we proceed in a similar way, but a decline in column (7) is now marked +100, and a rise -100; for a decline means positive conformity to reference contractions and a rise means inverse conformity.

Finally, we make indexes of conformity to business cycles as wholes.

2 Again, an index of +50 means positive conformity in 3 and inverse conformity in 1 case out of 4; an index of +33 means positive conformity in 2 and inverse conformity in 1 case out of 3.

Here we wish to take account of the fact that some series rise or decline throughout reference cycles, but at a different rate during reference expansions and contractions. A preliminary index is obtained by crediting each difference in column (8) with +100 when the difference is minus, with -100 when it is plus, and then striking an arithmetic mean of these entries. This index shows merely the conformity to business cycles marked off by troughs; hence it is supplemented in column (9) by a similar index showing conformity to business cycles marked off by peaks. A weighted average of the two preliminary indexes gives our final index of conformity to business cycles taken as wholes. A value of +100 for this index means that the rate of change per month during a reference contraction is without exception algebraically lower than the rate of change during the next preceding and following reference expansions.

The sample Table R3 for coke production illustrates these computations. The 'expansion index' comes out +100 because all entries in column (4) are plus. The 'contraction index' comes out +100 because all signs in column (7) are negative. The preliminary 'full-cycle index', taken on a trough-to-trough basis, comes out +100, and so too does the index of conformity to full cycles on a peak-to-peak basis, since all signs in columns (8) and (9) are negative. The final full-cycle index is obviously +100, since it is an average of two preliminary indexes each of which is +100.

Coke production typically rises from stage I to stage V and declines from stage V to stage IX of the reference cycles. Although many series follow this simple pattern, some show pronounced leads or lags at the reference turns. When a series conforms to business cycles with a characteristic lead or lag, we take this fact into account in Table R4. This table is similar to Table R3 in every respect, except that it recognizes differences in timing between the cyclical movements of a given activity and those of business at large. A sample of Table R4 is given in Chapter 5, where our measures of cyclical behavior are described more fully.

## VII Averages and Average Deviations

Most of the measures described above are made for every reference and for every specific cycle covered by a series, and are then averaged for each set of cycles. When averages are struck for all the cycles covered by a series, features peculiar to single cycles tend to fade away, while features common to all or most of the cycles tend to stand out prominently.

In general, the more cycles a series covers, the greater is our confidence that the average discloses faithfully what cyclical behavior is typical of the process represented. But in analyzing price and value series, we usually exclude cycles affected by grave monetary disturbances from the averages. We also make exclusions when some exceptionally powerful random factor, such as a great strike, has warped an individual cycle out of resemblance to other cycles in the array. When the cyclical behavior of a long series gives definite indications of having undergone a secular or structural change, we break the series into relatively homogeneous segments, and strike separate averages for each segment.

Our attempt to find what cyclical behavior is characteristic of different economic processes does not end in the contemplation of average measures; for one of the leading features of specific and of business cycles is that they vary in duration, intensity, and other respects. To keep this feature prominently before our minds and to provide materials for studying it at a later stage of the investigation, we compute average deviations from the averages. These deviations are simple measures of the degree to which the figures for individual cycles in a series are clustered about the arithmetic means that we use to represent 'central tendencies'.

## VIII Charts of Cyclical Patterns

Several results of our statistical analysis that lend themselves readily to graphic presentation are embodied in charts of cyclical patterns. The sample for coke production, shown in Chart 2, pictures the averages and average deviations in Tables S4 and R1, and certain additional measures from Tables S1, S5, and R2.

The curves in the chart trace out the specific-cycle and reference-cycle patterns made by averaging the standings of the individual cycles at each of the nine stages used in Tables S4 and R1. Since coke production corresponds closely in time to business cycles, its two patterns are nearly identical. The more irregular the timing of a series in relation to business cycles, the smaller will be the amplitude of the reference-cycle pattern relative to that of the specific-cycle pattern. The representative value of the two patterns is indicated by the lengths of the vertical lines, which show the average deviations of the individual cycles from their average standings at the nine stages.

The long horizontal lines above and below the cyclical patterns represent the average durations of the specific and reference cycles. We refer to them as 'duration lines'. The vertical lines representing the average deviations from the average standings are dropped from or erected at the midpoints of the cycle stages. The short horizontal lines above and below the duration lines represent the average deviations from the average durations. The ruler at the bottom of the chart defines the time scale; with its aid all durations can be approximated.

When, as in coke production, the specific and reference cycles correspond to one another, the two duration lines are placed so that they show average leads or lags. When the specific and reference cycles of a series do not correspond throughout, the duration lines are so placed that the peak standings of the two patterns are aligned vertically.

## CHART 2

Sample Chart of Cyclical Patterns (Drawn to twice the standard scales)



T represents the trough stage (I or IX), P the peak stage (Y). For explanation of how the line representing the average duration of specific cycles is placed in relation to the line representing the average duration of reference cycles, see Ch. 5, Sec. VIII.

The charts of cyclical patterns presented later in this volume have been drawn to a strictly uniform set of scales. However, in order to help the reader learn our method, the scales in Chart 2 are twice the standard scales. The explanatory comments on this chart are not repeated in later charts; nor are the scale numbers for average deviations of the standings in successive cycle stages.

## IX Comparison with Customary Techniques

Despite its relative simplicity, our statistical technique may strike the reader as formidable. This impression may be due to the numerous measures we require to reveal the cyclical behavior of a series. But the impression may be due also to the novel features of the technique. It may help the reader to become oriented in our analysis, if our method of finding what cyclical behavior is characteristic of a series is contrasted with the method that has become customary since the publication of Warren M. Persons' basic memoirs on time series analysis.<sup>3</sup>

The customary way of showing the cyclical fluctuations of a time series is to begin by measuring the secular trend and the seasonal variations. These two elements are then combined, and the original data expressed as percentage deviations from corresponding ordinates of the 'secularseasonal' composite. The percentages are supposed to show cyclical and erratic movements in combination. Sometimes the percentages are expressed in standard deviation units, at other times this step is omitted. In either case the results are presented in a chart where the 'secularseasonal' composite is reduced to a horizontal line about which oscillate the 'cyclical-erratic' values, smoothed or not as the case may be. What we should call the 'specific cycles' of the series in trend-adjusted form can then be distinguished, though the turning dates may be obscured by erratic movements. The behavior of the specific cycles in relation to business cycles can be made out after a fashion by marking the time scale with the cyclical turning dates in general business activity or by plotting a curve that purports to represent business cycles. Cyclical analysis of economic time series frequently does not go further; although average amplitudes of specific cycles, average leads or lags at the turns of selected 'indicators of business', and coefficients of correlation between the series and some 'indicator of business cycles' are sometimes computed.

Our method follows precedent in eliminating seasonal variations at the outset. It then diverges from the usual technique: first, in breaking the data adjusted for seasonal variations into reference-cycle segments and into specific-cycle segments, which are treated as units of economic experience subject to comparison and averaging; second, in eliminating the inter-cycle portions of the secular trend; third, in preserving the intracycle portions of the secular trend in the measures of cyclical behavior, but arranging the measures so as to bring out the secular movements; fourth, in striking averages for a group of cycles to show what cyclical behavior is characteristic of the series; fifth, in charting, not successive specific cycles as a continuum, but average behavior during a group of specific cycles and during the group of contemporaneous business cycles.

<sup>3</sup> Indices of Business Conditions, Review of Economic Statistics. Ian. 1919: An Index of General Business Conditions, *ibid.*, April 1919.

CHAPTER 3

# Plan of Treating Secular, Seasonal and Random Movements

#### I The 'Cycle of Experience' as the Unit of Analysis

**L** N Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting various methods of 'eliminating' seasonal variations and secular trends from time series were described. Since the publication of that book in 1927, the technical devices available to the investigator of business cycles have multiplied abundantly. In the present studies we might utilize such of these tools, old and new, as approve themselves to our judgment, and begin the analysis of cyclical behavior by striving for the completest attainable isolation of cyclical fluctuations.

We do not follow that plan. In the first place, the isolation of cyclical fluctuations is a highly uncertain operation. Edwin Frickey once diligently assembled 23 trend lines fitted by various investigators to pig iron production in the United States, and found that some of the trend lines yield cycles averaging 3 or 4 years in duration while others yield cycles more than ten times as long.<sup>1</sup> This range of results illustrates vividly the uncertainty that attaches to separations of trends and cycles, though it perhaps exaggerates the difficulties. If an investigator fits a trend line in a mechanical manner, without specifying in advance his conception of the secular trend or of cyclical fluctuations, he may get 'cycles' of almost any duration. But an informed investigator who is seriously studying cycles of a given order of duration will use whatever guidance he can get from history and statistics; he will scrutinize the movements of the original data, seek to mark off in advance the cycles or traces of cycles that

<sup>1</sup> The Problem of Secular Trend, Review of Economic Statistics, Oct. 15, 1934; see also Ch. 7-8 below.

y strike the erous measthe impres-It may help I of finding ed with the Warren M.

time series variations. a expressed he 'secularvclical and ges are exis omitted. he 'secularch oscillate e. What we l form can bscured by on to busiscale with plotting a vsis of ecoage ampliof selected the series đ.

riations at n breaking e segments economic liminating the intrabehavior, ovements; at cyclical successive oup of specycles.

s of General

## 38 SECULAR, SEASONAL AND RANDOM MOVEMENTS

correspond to his basic conception, then choose a trend line that cuts through and exposes the cycles in which his interest centers. Yet this procedure also illustrates the difficulties of segregating trends and cycles. For it leaves room for choice of the trend line, the method of fit, and the method of trend elimination. Further, it makes the trend depend upon the cycles, and may not lead to the discovery of cycles that are obscured by the trend. To judge what features of the final result are merely technical and what features are a significant characteristic of the series is likely to require considerable testing and experimenting even on the part of a skilled technician.<sup>2</sup>

It is fairly common for statisticians to assume that the elimination of the secular trend from a time series indicates what the course of the series would have been in the absence of secular movements, and that the graduation of a time series, whether in original or trend-adjusted form, indicates what the course of the series would have been in the absence of random movements. There is no warrant for such simple interpretations. A 'least squares' trend line fitted, for example, to grocery chain store sales in the United States may move majestically on a chart, but the analytic significance of the trend line is obscure. At least some of the 'growth factors' impinging on this branch of business-the addition of meats and vegetables to the grocery line, the rise of supermarkets, special taxes on chain stores-have made their influence felt spasmodically. When a continuous 'trend factor' is eliminated from the data, it is therefore difficult to say what influences impinging on the activity have been removed and what influences have been left in the series. Cyclical graduations are no easier to interpret than trend adjustments. Systematic smoothing of a time series will, indeed, eliminate short-run oscillations produced by random factors; but can it eliminate the influence of powerful random factors-such as a protracted strike, or a succession of bad harvests, or a great war?

There is always danger that the statistical operations performed on the original data may lead an investigator to bury real problems and worry about false ones. When new commodities, new techniques of production, new methods of organizing business, new methods of financing are first introduced on a substantial scale, they affect the general business situation more profoundly than at a later time when they have fully penetrated the economic system and become a part of routine experience. For example, railroad investment in the United States shows long leads at cyclical revivals during the eighteen seventies and eighties; as the decades roll on the leads tend to become shorter, disappear, and finally are replaced by lags. A fact of this sort is of considerable importance

<sup>2</sup> See the interesting study of this problem by Edwin Frickey, *Economic Fluctuations in the United States* (Harvard University Press, 1942). Cf. Arthur F. Burns, Frickey on the Decomposition of Time Series, *Review of Economic Statistics*, Aug. 1944.

historically. ally shifted f from busines it suggests a tries. But thi is completely ardize the fea If these o to explain be take account The historica distinct from sharper and dwindling pr brief and mil developing a duce the form nations whose we make no a falls within th of time series of the analysis sions and con As explain are based upor This practice the results, an for all the cy seasonally adj the data inclu average value trend that rep but retains th similar result then converti cycle relative realistic pictu 8 See Ch. 10, Sec.

<sup>4</sup> See Ch. 7, especia Vol. I, Ch. V. <sup>5</sup> This procedure it that line would be *Production Trends* Ch. II.

6 See Charts 14 and

#### THE CYCLE OF EXPERIENCE

historically, for it suggests that railroad investment in this country gradually shifted from an 'active' to a 'passive' role in the process of recovery from business depressions.<sup>3</sup> It is also of theoretical significance, so far as it suggests a point that may be true generally of 'new' versus 'old' industries. But this point is likely to be lost or blurred when the secular trend is completely removed from the data, since that operation tends to standardize the features of successive cycles.<sup>4</sup>

If these observations are well founded, it follows that in attempting to explain business cycles, we should work with cyclical measures that take account of secular trends, and also of substantial random movements. The historical records of processes that represent volume of business, as distinct from prices, usually appear as a series of expansions followed by sharper and briefer but less considerable contractions. Also the few dwindling processes in business do not show a steady movement, but brief and mild expansions followed by larger contractions. Our aim in developing a technique for analyzing cyclical behavior has been to reproduce the form of development common to the industrial activities of nations whose economic life has been organized on a business basis. Hence we make no attempt to adjust for that portion of the secular trend which falls within the limits of a single cycle; but we do adjust the original data of time series for seasonal variations, and make allowance in the course of the analysis for the minor oscillations that diversify the cyclical expansions and contractions of economic processes.

As explained in the preceding chapter, most of our cyclical measures are based upon entries for three or more months instead of single months. This practice tends to moderate the influence of erratic movements on the results, and so too does the device of averaging the cyclical measures for all the cycles covered by a series. Our practice of first breaking the seasonally adjusted data of a series into specific cycles and then turning the data included within each of these segments into percentages of their average value during the segment, eliminates the portion of the secular trend that represents shifts in the level of the series from cycle to cycle, but retains the portion that lies within the limits of a specific cycle.<sup>5</sup> A similar result is obtained by breaking a series into reference cycles and then converting the data within each of these segments into referencecycle relatives.<sup>6</sup> On the whole these statistical procedures yield fairly realistic pictures of the 'cyclical units' of economic experience in modern

<sup>3</sup> See Ch. 10, Sec. VIII.

<sup>4</sup> See Ch. 7, especially Sec. VI. Also, Joseph A. Schumpeter, *Business Cycles* (McGraw-Hill, 1939), Vol. I, Ch. V.

5 This procedure implies that if the secular trend were represented instead by a continuous line, that line would be a flexible curve cutting through successive specific cycles. Cf. Arthur F. Burns, *Production Trends in the United States since 1870* (National Bureau of Economic Research, 1934), Ch. II.

6 See Charts 14 and 18.

ENTS

he that cuts (et this proand cycles. fit, and the pend upon re obscured nerely techhe series is ven on the

mination of of the series t the graduform, indiabsence of pretations. n store sales he analytic he 'growth f meats and al taxes on /hen a conbre difficult moved and ions are no bthing of a oduced by ul random rvests, or a

formed on blems and ues of prof financing al business have fully experience. long leads ies; as the and finally mportance

in the United sition of Time

nations, and afford clues to the actual behavior of men from stage to stage of business cycles.

We treat these units of experience in seasonally adjusted form. Seasonal fluctuations vary endlessly from one business activity to another, but they are a comparatively regular factor within each activity. Since the seasonal pattern, by and large, is much the same in years of 'good' business and years of 'bad' business,<sup> $\tau$ </sup> our analysis of cyclical movements can be facilitated by putting the seasonal fluctuations provisionally out of sight. The effects on business enterprises of an increase in activity that is expected to last at most a few months are very different from an increase that is expected to continue for years. For one thing, seasonal increases do not lead men to expand their investments as does rapid secular growth. To understand changes in contracting for the construction of new plants, ordering of industrial equipment, issuing of corporate securities, and the like, it is not necessary to differentiate activities that reach their seasonal peaks in January, April, and November; but it is necessary to differentiate activities that, seasonal variations aside, are growing, remaining constant, and shrinking. The business community 'allows for' seasonal fluctuations deliberately or tacitly, and we merely follow suit by erasing as well as may be their influence on time series.8

The larger the seasonal fluctuations the more essential is this step, both practically and theoretically. For example, the prices and inventories of many farm products are highly unsteady; but the wide fluctuations are rooted principally in seasonal factors, not in business cycles. If we ignored this knowledge and marked off their specific cycles on the basis of the original figures, we should conclude that their cyclical amplitudes are among the largest in economic records. That conclusion would rest on measures that reflect mainly the amplitude of the seasonal movements, and would be seriously misleading.

#### II Limitations of the Technique

Our technical procedures, designed as they are to aid in the explanation of the business cycles of experience, have certain disadvantages for the more modest task of describing the business-cycle behavior of individual time series. If secular trends were eliminated at the outset as fully as are

seasonal va sive and a For when ence of cy of this infl lapses from not appear do not obsc of trend th other trout movements eliminate ra find that ou than the pro-But we a comings of swiftness, w diminutive ness-cycle co a series is les tion in gene expansions. trend retain we know are We believe checks and c related series ciencies of o

Doubtless the each series: o variations, as able isolation at our dispos The isola assure sensibl experimentat first, of the or of data adjus seasonal varia perhaps less to method. This

<sup>7</sup> Since 1940, seasonal fluctuations have practically disappeared in numerous branches of industrial activity in this country. Such a result is to be expected when an industry is operating over a protracted period at 'full capacity'. But protracted plateaus of industrial output are not typical of cyclical fluctuations: as a rule, once output stops expanding, a decline sets in rather promptly.

<sup>8</sup> Of course, no exact correspondence is implied. Our seasonal correction for a given year is usually based on the data of that year and of several preceding and following years. But when a businessman 'corrects' for the seasonal movement in recent months, he has only past experience to guide him. Again, the net result of seasonal adjustments applied to the sales of individual firms in an industry may differ materially from the seasonal adjustment applied to a single series representing aggregate sales of the industry.

#### LIMITATIONS OF TECHNIQUE

ge to stage

ENTS

form. Seao another, Since the d' business nts can be ut of sight. that is exn increase 1 increases ar growth. hew plants, es, and the ir seasonal o differenremaining r' seasonal by erasing

this step, d inventouctuations cles. If we n the basis implitudes would rest ovements,

eplanation ses for the individual ully as are

a of industrial ng over a pronot typical of promptly.

year is usually en a businessience to guide al firms in an s representing seasonal variations, we would show that business cycles are a more pervasive and a more potent factor in economic life than our results indicate. For when the secular trend of a series rises rapidly it may offset the influence of cyclical contractions in general business, or make the detection of this influence difficult. In such instances our method may indicate lapses from conformity to contractions in general business, which would not appear if the secular trend were removed. Even when secular trends do not obscure the specific cycles, our cyclical patterns include an element of trend that confuses somewhat the 'cyclical component' proper. Another troublesome factor is the persistence of what seem to be random movements in the reference-cycle patterns of some series. If we could eliminate random movements from the original data we would probably find that our series on the whole conform more closely to business cycles than the present results indicate.

But we are not without safeguards against being misled by these shortcomings of method. Thus, when the secular trend rises with exceptional swiftness, we may put aside the early portions of a series, or recognize diminutive declines as contractions of specific cycles. Our index of business-cycle conformity is designed to show whether the rate of increase in a series is less rapid, or the rate of decrease more rapid, during a contraction in general business than during the next preceding and following expansions. Also we make measures that throw into relief the element of trend retained in the cyclical measurements. Those specific cycles which we know are dominated by random forces we exclude from the averages. We believe that these safeguards and certain others, combined with the checks and counterchecks that our many measures for each series and for related series make possible, overcome to a considerable extent the deficiencies of our technique for describing cyclical behavior.

## III Need to Economize Effort

Doubtless the ideal procedure would be to make two sets of measures for each series: one set based on the original data adjusted only for seasonal variations, as is our present practice, the other based on the best attainable isolation of the 'cyclical component' of the data. But the resources at our disposal place grave obstacles to the realization of this ideal.

The isolation of cyclical components is a very costly operation. To assure sensible results, painstaking study of each series and considerable experimentation are likely to be necessary. If we attempted a full analysis, first, of the original data adjusted merely for seasonal variations, second, of data adjusted for secular trend and random movements as well as seasonal variations, we would be able to analyze comparatively few series, perhaps less than a tenth of the number we can analyze by our simple method. This restriction of the coverage would doom our efforts to lay

#### 42 SECULAR, SEASONAL AND RANDOM MOVEMENTS

a thorough factual foundation for the explanation of business cycles. As explained in Chapter 1, our working definition of business cycles makes necessary extensive observation on the cyclical behavior of economic activities. These activities embrace at least the production of commodities, construction work, transportation, pricing, carrying stocks of commodities, marketing, foreign commerce, getting and spending personal incomes, making business profits, saving, investing, borrowing, trading in securities, the circulation of money, and banking. Each of these broad processes must be divided into several or many parts, and for each subdivision enough time series are needed to show what cyclical behavior, or what varieties of cyclical behavior, are characteristic.

We might have limited the sample to perhaps a hundred series by working with broad aggregates or index numbers. But experience early convinced us that this labor-saving shift would not do. Though comprehensive series reveal certain facts that might otherwise escape notice, and we analyze many series of this type, they hide differences among their constituents in respect of cyclical timing, duration, amplitude, pattern, and conformity-differences many of which seem highly significant for the understanding of business cycles. To get a clear view of the cyclical behavior of economic activity, it is necessary to go back of broad aggregates or index numbers to the series from which they are made.

In studying an economic process in detail, for example, the production of textiles, the construction of buildings, the prices of foodstuffs at retail, interest rates, we often find marked divergences in cyclical behavior and so must analyze a considerable number of series. If another group of activities behaves so similarly that any one series might be accepted as representative of the group, that important fact can be established best by making several sets of measurements and comparing them. Doubts concerning the trustworthiness of the original data add weight to these considerations. To dispel or confirm doubts we look for series compiled by two or more authorities, or series that record different aspects of the same activity. In so doing we are guided by the belief that comparison of the results yielded by different series relating to a given group of activities is the surest way of judging whether the measurements represent typical characteristics of cyclical behavior.9 For example, we cannot be certain that an analysis of wheat harvests in the United States will give a representative picture of the cyclical behavior of agricultural production. To make sure, we examine also wheat crops in other countries, add studies of other crops, and investigate the output of animal husbandry. Our simple analysis of some forty series showing production by farmers, supplemented by numerous series on the acreage planted and the acreyields of leading crops, also by the prices, sales, stocks, exports and imports

9 Cf. Ch. 12, Sec. V.

of farm pro knowledge achieved b based on t of the cyc] Our de tries make desire has the behavi unique his cessors, and every speci learn the r specific cyc cyclical cha variations ( for such stu what are th instances ar The bu only rules o simplicity in only for seas ness cycles t force of this Chapters 7operations full justifica

While we of trends and a mize effort l annual data behavior of in different sible to trac sometimes t

10 See the section The Problem an 11 This problem 12 Cf. also Ch. 10

#### NEED TO ECONOMIZE EFFORT

of farm products and their processed derivatives, gives more trustworthy knowledge of the relation of agriculture to business cycles than could be achieved by expending equal effort on two sets of cyclical measures—one based on the 'original' data and the other on the best attainable isolation of the cyclical component—for perhaps only ten or twelve series.

Our desire to cover as many cycles as possible in each of several countries makes still more formidable the task of a double analysis. That desire has grown stronger as we have become increasingly familiar with the behavior of time series. "Strictly speaking, every business cycle is a unique historical episode, differing in significant ways from all its predecessors, and never to be repeated in the future."<sup>10</sup> The like is true of every specific cycle in every economic activity. It is part of our task to learn the respects in which and the degree to which business cycles and specific cycles vary: in particular, whether there are secular and perhaps cyclical changes in their duration and intensity, as well as the irregular variations that everyone recognizes.<sup>11</sup> Obviously, long series are necessary for such studies. And we can no more discover what are the uniform than what are the variable characteristics of our phenomena unless numerous instances are observed.

The bulk of materials required by our concept of business cycles not only rules out two analyses of each series; it also puts a premium upon simplicity in analysis. Fortunately the measures made from data adjusted only for seasonal variations promise to be more useful in explaining business cycles than would measures made from highly fabricated data. The force of this statement will become clearer after the reader has studied Chapters 7-8, where the influence of trend adjustments and smoothing operations upon our measures of cyclical behavior is analyzed; <sup>12</sup> but its full justification must await the theoretical analysis of the final volume.

### **IV** Treatment of Seasonal Variations

While we consider it desirable to economize effort in handling secular trends and random movements, experience has taught us not to economize effort by working with annual data. As Chapter 6 shows in detail, annual data are exceedingly crude materials for comparing the cyclical behavior of different activities in the same period or of the same activity in different periods. They obscure timing relations, they make it impossible to trace cyclical patterns with confidence, often they obscure and sometimes they obliterate cyclical fluctuations. For these reasons our

10 See the section on The Distinctive Character of Each Business Cycle, in Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, pp. 354-7.

11 This problem is tentatively considered in Ch. 9-12.12 Cf. also Ch. 10, Sec. VIII.

INTS

cycles. As cles makes economic commodiks of comg personal g, trading nese broad each subbehavior,

l series by ence early h compretotice, and nong their e, pattern, lificant for he cyclical oad aggre-

he producodstuffs at vclical be-If another might be h be estabring them. dd weight for series ent aspects t comparigroup of nts reprewe cannot s will give al produchtries, add usbandry. y farmers, the acred imports

#### 44 SECULAR, SEASONAL AND RANDOM MOVEMENTS

analysis, excepting crop harvests, is based chiefly on monthly and quarterly data; annual data are used only as a last resort.

Monthly and quarterly records are more difficult to compile and to analyze by our standard technique than annual data; they also impose the burden of removing seasonal fluctuations. A preponderant number of monthly and quarterly series show an unmistakable seasonal swing, that is, a repetitive intra-annual fluctuation. Although techniques of seasonal measurement have been greatly improved in recent years, the problem of adjusting time series for seasonal variations remains very troublesome in practice. Hard decisions must be made at every turn: Is the series characterized by a genuine seasonal movement? If definite evidence of seasonality does exist, how should it be measured? What period should the computation cover? Should a constant or a shifting seasonal index be constructed? If a shifting seasonal index seems preferable, may it remain constant over short segments of the data or should it change from year to year? Should the seasonal index be of the 'absolute' type, of the 'relative' type, or some cross between the two? If a relative seasonal index is used, by what method should it be constructed? Should the index be adjusted, and in what manner, for variations in seasonal amplitude? After these questions have been settled, it is still necessary to decide how to remove the seasonal variations and, most important of all, to judge the success of the seasonal adjustment.

A statistician who has struggled with seasonal adjustments of numerous time series is not likely to underestimate the part played by 'hunch' and 'judgment' in his operations. If pressed hard, he may admit that what he does, and not too satisfactorily in many instances at that, is merely to erase the repetitive intra-annual tendency that he observes in the original figures. Seasonally adjusted figures no more show what the behavior of time series would have been in the absence of seasonal forces than indexes of physical production show what production would have been in the absence of changes in relative prices; or than figures on per capita income show what income would have been in the absence of income inequalities. But although it is difficult to give a satisfactory theoretical interpretation of seasonal adjustment, this operation like any other can be subjected to a pragmatic test. In the last resort, its significance must be judged by the results to which it leads. That the removal of seasonal variations can facilitate analysis of the interrelations of cyclical movements in different activities will be plain to any reader who takes the trouble to study Chart 3, which depicts the movement in recent years of industrial production, railroad freight traffic, and department store sales in the United States, before and after adjustment for seasonality. The seasonal variations follow an individual course in each series, and obscure the protracted fluctuations in freight traffic and department store sales. When the variations associated with the seasons of the year are removed, the underlying fluc-

#### SEASONAL VARIATIONS

CHART 3 Original and Seasonally Adjusted Data

## and quar-

NTS

le and to o impose number al swing, hiques of years, the ains very v turn: Is finite eviat period seasonal able, may it change ute' type, e seasonal the index mplitude? cide how judge the

of numery 'hunch' that what merely to e original havior of n indexes en in the ta income qualities. pretation jected to ed by the can facilint activi-Chart 3, bduction, ed States, tions foled fluctuvariations ying fluc-



For sources of data, see Appendix C.
tuations in economic fortune come clearly to the surface and can be readily traced in the several series.

The seasonal variations of some series are removed by their compilers, but in most instances we have had to carry through this operation ourselves. This step in the analysis precedes all others and often takes as much time as the subsequent operations put together. We have measured seasonal variations by a variety of methods, partly because different series require different types of adjustment, partly because our methods changed as we gained experience in using them. A brief description of the methods we currently use will have to suffice; they differ little from the techniques explained in treatises on statistics.<sup>13</sup>

In ascertaining the seasonal variations of monthly data we use two principal methods. Method (1) consists in taking averages of the original figures for successive Januaries, for successive Februaries, and for each of the other months, then adjusting these monthly averages for secular trend. Method (2) entails taking a twelve-month moving average of the original figures, placing each average in the seventh month of shifting twelve-month intervals, expressing the original figures as ratios to the 'centered' moving averages, and striking averages of these ratios, first for the Januaries, then the Februaries, and so on.14 In applying each method we attempt to protect the twelve monthly averages from distortion by extreme items. Sometimes we compute two or three sets of positional means and select that set which includes the largest number of items without including any extreme item; at other times we drop extreme items or years at the start-that is, before striking averages. In either case the twelve monthly averages are adjusted so that their sum equals 12.15 When the data come by quarters, the general procedure is the same, but the sum of the values of the seasonal index equals 4. When it is obvious that the amplitude of seasonal fluctuations is more nearly constant in absolute than in percentage units we vary the method; that is, the final seasonal index is expressed in units of the original data, the algebraic sum of the twelve monthly terms being zero.

Our two principal methods of constructing seasonal indexes rest on the same logic: to ascertain the seasonal variations of a time series, all nonseasonal movements must be eliminated. By averaging the arrays for successive Januaries, Februaries, and so on, we allow the random move-

13 See also Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, pp. 233-49.

14 In practice we use ratios to twelve-month moving totals instead of to moving averages. The two yield the same final results, but the former is a more economical method of calculation. A thirteenmonth moving average centered on the seventh month, the first and last months receiving half weight, is preferable in principle to a simple twelve-month moving average; but experiments by one of our colleagues, Julius Shiskin, have demonstrated that the gain is negligible and definitely is not worth the extra cost. Even a simple four-quarter moving average centered on the third quarter is not appreciably inferior to a five-quarter moving average in which the two end quarters receive half weight each.

15 See Note 1 of the Appendix to this chapter.

ments of a tions the b out in fact clear indic assumption cal compor met better each of wh component component years instea duces the (1) is used, secular con eliminated data for the (2) the adju the original nation of th (2), which Method most other variations t When seaso when they analysis by moving ave periods, if a The period years. The rately upon seem excell best seasona tions. Espe seem to be year by a m In some to the next to be the se sharply from do not cons we compute pute season from year t

#### SEASONAL VARIATIONS

ments of a series to cancel one another. The larger the number of observations the better are the chances that the random movements will cancel out in fact; hence extreme values are dropped only when there is fairly clear indication that they distort the averages. Each method rests on the assumption that the process of averaging will tend also to make the cyclical components of a series sum to zero. This desideratum is likely to be met better by method (2) than by method (1); for in (2) we average values each of which contains, as a rule, merely a small portion of the cyclical component, while in (1) we average values that contain the full cyclical component. In applying each method we analyze periods covering whole years instead of periods covering whole cycles. The former practice reduces the chances of eliminating the cyclical component when method (1) is used, but it helps to prevent distortion of the seasonal index by the secular component of the series. In method (1) the secular component is eliminated by adjusting the month-by-month averages of the original data for the average monthly increment of a linear trend; while in method (2) the adjustment for trend is automatically accomplished by expressing the original data as ratios to twelve-month moving averages. The elimination of the secular movement is likely to be more successful in method (2), which takes account of a trend of any degree of flexibility.

Method (1) is obviously less laborious, but method (2) is superior on most other counts. Hence we confine method (1) to series having seasonal variations that seem both clear-cut and fairly constant over many years. When seasonal variations are obscured by other types of fluctuation, or when they seem to change materially over time, we begin the seasonal analysis by expressing the original figures as ratios to twelve-month moving averages. The ratios are then studied with a view to finding periods, if any, during which the seasonal variations were fairly uniform. The periods selected rarely cover less than eight or more than fifteen years. The operations called for by method (2) are then performed separately upon each segment. The final seasonal measurements sometimes seem excellent, more often they are merely tolerable. For some series the best seasonal indexes we can make after much labor are poor approximations. Especially troublesome are the cases in which the timing of what seem to be seasonal peaks and troughs varies irregularly from year to year by a month or two.

In some series the pattern of seasonal variations shifts from one year to the next in regular fashion; in some others the pattern of what seems to be the seasonal movement remains constant but the amplitude varies sharply from year to year. When series of these types are encountered, we do not construct 'constant' seasonal indexes. To take care of the first group we compute 'moving' seasonal indexes; to take care of the second we compute seasonal indexes that are constant in pattern but vary in amplitude from year to year.

ITS

can be

mpilers, ion ouras much ured seant series changed methods chniques

use two original for each secular e of the shifting os to the first for method rtion by ositional of items extreme ther case als 12.15 me, but obvious stant in the final raic sum rest on

eries, all rrays for m move-

s. The two A thirteeneiving half riments by d definitely the third nd quarters

Our method of constructing 'moving' seasonal indexes consists of the following steps: (1) a twelve-month moving average of the original data is taken and placed in the seventh month; (2) the original monthly figures are expressed as ratios to the centered moving averages; (3) the ratios for successive Januaries are arranged in chronological order, so also are the ratios for the Februaries and the other months; (4) these figures are plotted on twelve diagrams, one for each month; (5) a moving average, usually covering five points, is taken of the ratios for successive Januaries, and likewise for each of the other months; (6) the moving averages for the Januaries are plotted on the diagram showing the ratios for successive Januaries, and the moving averages for other months are plotted on the other monthly diagrams; (7) the lines of the moving averages are smoothed freehand and are extended to cover the initial and the terminal years for which there are no moving averages; (8) the values for the months of each year are read from the smoothed curves; (9) if the sum of the monthly values for each calendar year is not equal to 12, the smoothed curves are experimentally adjusted to produce this result.

The series in which the amplitude of the seasonal swings varies sharply and irregularly from year to year are treated on a different plan. The first step is to make a 'constant' seasonal index by one of the methods described above. The seasonal observations <sup>16</sup> for a given year are then adjusted so that their sum is 12. Next, the constants of a 'least squares' straight line are computed for the year, the seasonal index being treated as the independent variable and the adjusted seasonal observations for the year as the dependent variable. Finally, monthly values for the year that correspond to the monthly values of the seasonal index are computed from the equation of the straight line; this step yields a seasonal index having the same pattern as the constant seasonal index but a different amplitude. These operations are repeated' for each year covered by the series, or each year of that portion of the series subjected to a seasonal correction of shifting amplitude.

This refinement upon current practice has been employed extensively by Simon Kuznets,<sup>17</sup> who refers to the slope of the straight line just described as the 'amplitude ratio'. As Kuznets points out, the amplitude ratio rests on the hypothesis that the nonseasonal movements within each year are uncorrelated with the seasonal movements. The amplitude ratio cannot be used properly except when the seasonal observations for a given year are positively correlated with the constant seasonal index; we do not employ it when the coefficient of correlation between the two is less

16 That is, the values averaged to make the seasonal index: the original data in method (1), ratios to moving averages in method (2).

17 See his Seasonal Pattern and Seasonal Amplitude: Measurement of Their Short-time Variations, Journal of the American Statistical Association, March 1932; and Seasonal Variations in Industry and Trade (National Bureau of Economic Research, 1933), pp. 322-42. 19 The case for has a 'natural' b farms. The amp year, there is no ratio and the fin In some serie values in the im acteristic of the year to year, but chapter (method 20 This is the st sonal index (one terms being zero 21 For a fuller d

#### SEASONAL VARIATIONS

than +.70. The amplitude ratio may break down completely, as when the calculated seasonal index for some month is negative.<sup>18</sup> Even over the range for which the amplitude ratio is serviceable, it makes merely approximate adjustments possible. We believe, nevertheless, that if used judiciously, this device improves the results.<sup>19</sup>

Having constructed by one or another method measures of seasonal behavior, we proceed to free the series from their seasonal variations. As a rule we follow the standard procedure; that is, the original figure for each month is divided by the seasonal index for the month.<sup>20</sup> This operation implicitly assumes that the seasonal correction, regarded as an additive term, depends not only on the trend and cyclical components but also on the random component-an assumption not easy to justify and one that sometimes leads to very poor results. To meet this difficulty, we occasionally substitute for the standard method of eliminating seasonal variations another method based on the assumption that the seasonal and random components are independent. This method involves (1) multiplying a centered twelve-month moving average of a series by its seasonal index, month by month, (2) subtracting these products from the original figures, (3) adding the resulting differences to the twelve-month averages. The first step estimates the nonrandom component of the series, the second estimates the random component, the third estimates the nonseasonal component by combining the trend-cycle and random components.<sup>21</sup> The results yielded by this method will not diverge appreciably from those obtained by using the standard method of eliminating seasonal variations, except when the seasonal and random movements are both very large.

After the laborious process of eliminating the seasonal variations from a time series has been carried out, two tests are applied before we are content to leave the matter of seasonality. First, the mean annual 'level' of the seasonally adjusted data is compared with that of the original data. If a discrepancy of more than 10 per cent turns up in any twelve-month interval, we consider the adjustment unsatisfactory and resort to new

18 This difficulty, however, may be avoided by making the computation in terms of logarithms.

19 The case for applying an amplitude ratio is clearest when the activity represented by a series has a 'natural' business year, with a definite beginning and end, as in movements of products from farms. The amplitude ratio should then apply to the natural year. In the absence of a natural year, there is no basis other than convention for selecting the boundaries of the year; the amplitude ratio and the final seasonal adjustment will then vary with the boundaries selected.

In some series, what look like enormous differences in seasonal amplitude are confined to the values in the immediate vicinity of the seasonal troughs or the seasonal peaks and are not characteristic of the month-by-month differences. If the troughs vary considerably in intensity from year to year, but not the peaks, the simple procedure described in Note 2 of the Appendix to this chapter (method B) is likely to yield better seasonal adjustments than do 'amplitude ratios'.

20 This is the standard procedure for a 'relative' seasonal index. In the case of an 'absolute' seasonal index (one expressed in units of the original data, the algebraic sum of the twelve monthly terms being zero), the index for each month is subtracted from the original value for the month. 21 For a fuller description, see Note 2 of the Appendix to this chapter.

sts of the inal data ly figures ratios for o are the ures are average, anuaries, es for the uccessive d on the ages are terminal for the the sum 5 12, the ılt. bs varies ent plan. methods are then squares' g treated tions for the year bmputed al index different d by the seasonal

**VTS** 

tensively just denplitude hin each ide ratio r a given t; we do wo is less

d (1), ratios Variations,

in Industry

#### 50 SECULAR, SEASONAL AND RANDOM MOVEMENTS

devices, such as computing the seasonal index on the basis of a slightly different period, replacing a constant seasonal index by a changing seasonal index, substituting our modified method of removing seasonal variations for the 'standard' method, or discarding a seasonal index expressed in percentage units in favor of a seasonal index expressed in units of original data. Second, the adjusted figures are scrutinized to see whether they still show similar monthly movements in successive years, or movements correlated with the seasonal index.<sup>22</sup> If not, we deem the operation successful and pass on to the measurement of cyclical behavior. If clear traces of seasonal variations do remain, we must find what is wrong or deficient in the calculation and try again. Perhaps the correction for secular trend was too mechanical; perhaps method (1) was applied to data that call for the more elaborate treatment of method (2); perhaps the need of working with shorter periods was overlooked, or the need of moving seasonal indexes or seasonal indexes of constant pattern but varying amplitude. A second or third trial usually yields results we are willing to accept. But there remain instances in which we feel far from satisfied with the seasonal indexes as we have left them.

To free time series from seasonal variations is not the sole use to which we put indexes of seasonal variations. At a later stage we plan to compare seasonal movements with cyclical behavior. Meanwhile our worksheets show the average amplitude of the seasonal movements during the period covered by a series. The average amplitude is measured in two ways: by the range <sup>23</sup> and by the average deviation of the seasonal index. When more than one seasonal index is computed for a series, we take a weighted mean of the average amplitudes of whatever seasonal indexes are used, the weights being proportionate to the number of years to which each seasonal index is applied. In the few instances where the seasonal index is expressed in units of the original data, it must be converted into percentage units before calculating the average amplitude.

22 See Note 3 of the Appendix to this chapter.

<sup>23</sup> Strictly speaking, we take the rise of the seasonal index from trough to peak, plus the fall from peak to trough. This equals twice the range. Of course, the erratic component that remains in the seasonal index tends to increase the range.

The reaso twelve term why the sin number. Let  $o_{ij}$ figures in t in the *i*<sup>th</sup> m In the figure for  $n_{ij} = \frac{o_{ij}}{s_i}$ , o

twelve-mor

figures dur.

Here on is the seaso the year, and

As may

fulfilled: (i nated prop year their r seems clear moving two value of rne that the suf value of the the origina 24 G. U. Yule,

<sup>25</sup> If an 'absolution made 0,  $\frac{\Sigma n}{12}$  w

a slightly iging seaseasonal index exd in units ed to see ive years, deem the behavior. t is wrong ection for ed to data rhaps the need of but varyre willing h satisfied

to which compare orksheets aring the ed in two hal index. we take a l indexes years to e the seaconverted

the fall from t remains in

#### APPENDIX

#### Notes on the Elimination of Seasonal Variations

## Note 1

The reasons for adjusting a monthly seasonal index so that the sum of its twelve terms equal 12 should be made explicit. This note attempts to show why the sum is 12, or 1200 in percentage terms, rather than some other number.

Let  $o_{ij}$  and  $n_{ij}$  stand respectively for the original and seasonally adjusted figures in the *i*<sup>th</sup> month of the *j*<sup>th</sup> year, and let  $s_i$  stand for the seasonal index in the *i*<sup>th</sup> month.

In the standard method of removing seasonal fluctuations, the original figure for a month is divided by the seasonal index for the month; that is,  $n_{ij} = \frac{o_{ij}}{s_i}$ , or  $o_{ij} = n_{ij}s_i$ . The mean value of the original figures during any twelve-month interval is  $\frac{\sum o}{12}$  or  $\frac{\sum ns}{12}$ . The mean value of the seasonally adjusted figures during the year is  $\frac{\sum n}{12}$ . The relation between the two means is as follows:

$$\frac{\Sigma ns}{12} \cdot \frac{12}{\Sigma s} = \frac{\Sigma n}{12} + \frac{r_{ns}\sigma_n\sigma_s}{\bar{s}}$$
(1)

Here  $c_n$  is the standard deviation of *n* during the year,  $c_s$  the standard deviation of the seasonal index,  $r_{ns}$  the coefficient of correlation between *n* and *s* during the year, and  $\bar{s}$  the mean value of the seasonal index.<sup>24</sup>

As may be seen from the above expression,  $\frac{\sum ns}{12} = \frac{\sum n}{12}$  if two conditions are

fulfilled: (i)  $r_{ns} = 0$ , (ii)  $\sum s = 12$ . Now, if seasonal variations have been eliminated properly, we should expect n and s to be uncorrelated. In any given year their numerical values may be correlated positively or inversely. But it seems clear, *a priori*, that in any given series the average value of  $r_{ns}$  (over a moving twelve-month interval) will closely approximate zero. The average value of  $r_{ns}$  for many series will approximate zero more closely still. It follows that the sum of the seasonal index must equal 12 in order that the *expected value* of the sum of the seasonally adjusted figures for a year equal the sum of the original figures for the year.<sup>25</sup>

24 G. U. Yule, An Introduction to the Theory of Statistics (Charles Griffin, London, 1927), p. 221.

<sup>25</sup> If an 'absolute' seasonal index is used, n = o = s. For any year,  $\frac{\sum n}{12} = \frac{\sum o}{12} = \frac{\sum s}{12}$ . Hence if  $\sum s$  is made 0,  $\frac{\sum n}{12}$  will equal  $\frac{\sum o}{12}$ .

- 51 -

#### Note 2

Call the standard procedure of eliminating seasonal variations 'method A', and the alternative procedure sketched in the text 'method B'. Let the seasonally adjusted figures be represented by  $n_{ij}$  when method A is used and by  $n'_{ij}$  when method B is used.

Method A assumes that  $o_{ij} = n_{ij}s_i$ .

Method B assumes that  $o_{ij} = m_{ij}s_i + R'_{ij}$ , where *m* represents a composite of the trend and cyclical components of the series, and *R'* the random component. A rough estimate of *m* can be obtained by taking a centered twelve-month moving average of the original figures and that is the method we use in practice; but the argument that follows does not depend on this or any other specific method of estimating *m*. We assume *R'* to be independent of *s*. Whether or not *R'* should also be treated as independent of *m* is critical for the problem of obtaining an optimum estimate of *s*. But we are not concerned with that problem at present; we take *s* as given, and merely consider the consequences of alternative methods of removing *s*.

From the above definitions it is evident that  $n_{ij} = \frac{o_{ij}}{s_i}$ , and that  $n'_{ij} = m_{ij} + R'_{ij}$ .

There is an advantage in writing these expressions in another form:

$$n_{ij} = \left[\frac{o_{ij}}{s_i} \left(1 - s_i\right)\right] + o_{ij} \tag{2}$$

$$n'_{ij} = \left[ m_{ij} \left( 1 - s_i \right) \right] + o_{ij} \tag{3}$$

The bracketed expressions in (2) and (3) show the seasonal correction, treated as an additive term, in methods A and B respectively. The implicit seasonal component is obtained by reversing the sign of the bracketed expressions. Clearly, the seasonal correction in method B is proportional to the trend-cycle component alone, while in method A it is proportional to the seasonally adjusted figure which includes the random component besides the trend-cycle component.

These relations can be put another way. The random component is the seasonally adjusted figure minus the trend-cycle component. Hence in method B the random component  $(R'_{ij}) = n'_{ij} - m_{ij} = o_{ij} - m_{ij}s_i$ . In method A the (implicit) random component  $(R_{ij}) = n_{ij} - m_{ij} = \frac{o_{ij} - m_{ij}s_i}{s_i}$ . Algebraically,  $R_{ij}$  is the seasonally adjusted equivalent of  $R'_{ij}$ ; but it should be noted that the seasonal (s) applies to plus and minus values.

We may, finally, write n and n' as follows:

$$n_{ij} = R_{ij} + m_{ij} = \left(\frac{o_{ij} - m_{ij}s_i}{s_i}\right) + m_{ij}$$
(4)

$$n'_{ij} = R'_{ij} + m_{ij} = (o_{ij} - m_{ij}s_i) + m_{ij}$$
(5)

From these cannot diff Even when so long as t variations of  $R_i$  will according larger will must be sm The ba is independ tend to be of seasonal values at m original val logarithmic the seasona of its origin from year stable, met arithmetic of to introduc of s on n be that in serie B is ordinar for the appl Whethe sonally adju figures; that period will B has a stro If method A  $\bar{s} = 1$ . If me

where  $\sigma_m$  is the coefficie  $\frac{\Sigma o}{12} - \frac{\Sigma n'}{12}$ (i)  $\sigma_n$  is like while *m* is a  $|r_{ms}|$  are like high values of

28 One technical negative figures

From these expressions it is plain that the results yielded by methods A and B cannot differ much when the seasonal variations of a series are relatively small. Even when the seasonal variations are large, the results will tend to be similar so long as the random variations are small. But when the seasonal and random variations are both large, n and n' may diverge sharply. If  $s_i < 1$ , the variance of  $R_i$  will exceed the variance of  $R'_i$ , and  $R'_{ij}$  will be greater or less than  $R'_{ij}$  according as  $R'_{ij}$  is plus or minus; the larger the gap between s and 1, the larger will be these differences. On the other hand, if  $s_i > 1$ , the variance of  $R_i$  must be smaller than the variance of  $R'_i$ .

The basic assumption underlying method B is that the random component is independent of s. If this condition is fulfilled, the random component will tend to be a larger part, in percentage terms, of the original values at months of seasonal trough (and immediately adjacent months) than of the original values at months of seasonal peak (and immediately adjacent months). The original values at months of seasonal trough will therefore tend to vary more, logarithmically, than the original values at months of seasonal peak. Hence, if the seasonal fluctuations of a particular series are large, and the logarithms of its original figures at months of seasonal trough vary much and irregularly from year to year while the logarithms of the figures at peaks are relatively stable, method B is preferable to method A despite the added burden of arithmetic calculations. In such a series the application of method A is bound to introduce a seasonal factor into the seasonally adjusted figures, the imprint of s on n being positive in some years and inverted in others. We have found that in series of this type the seasonal adjustment obtained through method B is ordinarily a considerable improvement upon the results got by method A; for the application of method B yields, in effect, an amplitude correction.26

Whether method A or B is applied to a given series, the 'level' of the seasonally adjusted figures will normally differ from the 'level' of the original figures; that is, the mean of seasonally adjusted figures for any twelve-month period will normally differ from the mean of the original figures. But method B has a stronger tendency to satisfy the 'equality condition' than method A. If method A is used,  $\frac{\sum o}{12} - \frac{\sum n}{12} = r_{ne}\sigma_n\sigma_e$ . This follows from equation (1), since  $\bar{s} = 1$ . If method B is used,  $\frac{\sum o}{12} - \frac{\sum n'}{12} = \frac{\sum ms}{12} - \frac{\sum m}{12}$ . But since  $\bar{s} = 1$ ,  $\frac{\sum ms}{12} = \frac{\sum m}{12} + r_{me}\sigma_m\sigma_e$ .

where  $\sigma_m$  is the standard deviation of m for a twelve-month interval and  $r_{ms}$ the coefficient of correlation between m and s during this interval. Hence  $\frac{\sum o}{12} - \frac{\sum n'}{12} = r_{ms}\sigma_m c_s$ . But  $|r_{ns}\sigma_n\sigma_s|$  will tend to exceed  $|r_{ms}\sigma_m\sigma_s|$  for two reasons: (i)  $\sigma_n$  is likely to be larger than  $\sigma_m$  since n includes the random component while m is a smoothed variable; (ii) inasmuch as m is smooth, low values of  $|r_{ms}|$  are likely to rule, while the erratic values of n will now and then produce high values of  $|r_{ns}|$ .

26 One technical disadvantage of method B (shared by an absolute seasonal) is that it may yield negative figures.

thod A', the seal and by

TS

posite of ponent. e-month in pracny other int of *s*. tical for ncerned ider the

> (2) (3)

, treated seasonal ressions. nd-cycle asonally nd-cycle

it is the method the (im-

y,  $R_{ij}$  is hat the

- (4)
- (5)

An empirical test demonstrates that method B approximates the 'equality condition' far better than method A. We applied the test to eight series, five of which were chosen because very large inequalities were known to result occasionally from the application of method A. In each series a (moving) twelve-month interval was taken as the unit of comparison. Method A yielded inequalities of 10 per cent or more in 159 instances, of 25 per cent or more in 52 instances, of 50 per cent or more in 19 instances; the largest inequality that turned up was 67 per cent. Method B yielded only eight inequalities of 10 per cent or more, the maximum discrepancy being 11.8 per cent.

A word may be added about the relevance of the 'equality condition'. The problem has been largely ignored by statisticians, and as yet has not entered the stage of open debate. But one way or another, the equality condition is involved in much of the work done on seasonal measurements. As explained in Note 1, this condition underlies the practice of making  $\sum s = 12$ . Again, the equality condition is the only logical defense for not recognizing a seasonal problem in work on annual figures. The statistician who disavows this condition has a seasonal problem on his hands even when he is concerned exclusively with the behavior of annual figures. For from his point of view, it may be desirable to remove seasonal variations from monthly or quarterly figures, and operate with annual sums or averages of the seasonally adjusted figures instead of annual sums or averages of the original figures.

If the 'equality condition' were made a crucial test of the goodness of seasonal adjustment, the standard method of removing seasonal variations (method A) would be ruled out from the start. That would be embarrassing in practice, since 'relative' seasonals usually give satisfactory results when judged by other criteria. The method we have followed represents a compromise, which seems wise in the present rough state of our knowledge of seasonal variations. Other things equal, we regard a seasonal adjustment as satisfactory in the degree to which the equality condition is fulfilled. But there is a point beyond which we are not willing to tolerate differences in the 'level' of a series produced by seasonal adjustments. Our limit of 10 per cent for a twelve-month interval is one of those practical rules for which no more can be said than that it is convenient, leads to recomputation infrequently, and yet yields results that usually look sensible.

#### Note 3

A common method of judging the goodness of a seasonal adjustment is to see whether the adjusted figures show similar movements in successive years. If a positive (or inverse) correlation exists between n and s, year by year, over the entire period covered, or if the correlation is positive at one end of the period and inverse at the other, it is plain that the seasonal adjustment is defective.<sup>27</sup> But it is more difficult to judge the seasonal adjustment if n and s do not behave in this fashion, yet are correlated in individual years. Some correlation, positive or inverse, is practically bound to exist; that is why the 'equality condition' is not met by method A (see the preceding note). The correlation

27 Here n stands for seasonally adjusted data, irrespective of the method used in their derivation.

may resul there is no single yea It may and to jud estimate o of s and of to happen. grave diffic will be as r behavior o any correla must count Other a the 'best' es the 'best' e methods A of the rand expect the applies to . case the tw the twelve according as judged, say This no careful expl

#### ELIMINATION OF SEASONAL VARIATIONS

e 'equality series, five n to result a (moving) 1 A yielded or more in inequality alities of 10

INTS

ition'. The oct entered ondition is explained Again, the a seasonal this condined excluiew, it may rly figures, ted figures

ness of seavariations rrassing in hen judged mpromise, of seasonal atisfactory is a point of a series lve-month said than yet yields

nt is to see be years. If ir, over the the period lefective.<sup>27</sup> do not beorrelation, e 'equality orrelation

derivation.

may result from a poor seasonal adjustment but that need not be the case: there is no good reason for assuming that n and s are invariably uncorrelated in single years.

It may be well, therefore, to put the trend-cycle component out of sight, and to judge the goodness of a seasonal adjustment by comparing s with an estimate of the random component of the series. In any single year the patterns of s and of the random component may be correlated; but that is not very likely to happen. Of course, the 'isolation' of the 'random component' is beset with grave difficulties. But if several methods of seasonal adjustment are tried, there will be as many (explicit or implicit) estimates of the random variations. The behavior of these estimates may then be compared with s, year by year, and any correlation between the two noted. The emergence of such correlations must count against the method that yields them.

Other things equal, that method of seasonal adjustment which involves the 'best' estimate of the random component may be regarded as yielding also the 'best' estimate of the nonseasonal movement of the series. For example, methods A and B, described in the preceding note, involve different estimates of the random component. Now, if R were truly a random series, we should expect the variance of  $R_i$  to equal the variance of  $R_{i+1}$ , of  $R_{i+2}$ , etc. The like applies to R'. (The variances should be measured from zero.) In any actual case the twelve variances of R will almost certainly not be the same, nor will the twelve variances of R'. But a preference may be expressed for R or R'according as the one or the other shows substantially smaller variability, when judged, say, by the coefficient of variation of the twelve variances.

This note is intended merely to be suggestive. The problem raised requires careful exploration.

# CHAPTER 4

# Dating Specific and Business Cycles

ONCE A TIME series has been adjusted for seasonal variations, it is ready for analysis on the plan sketched in Chapter 2. That plan, it will be recalled, consists of two parts. Each series is broken into segments corresponding in time to successive business cycles in the country to which the series relates, and the principal characteristics of these segments are measured. Next, the series is broken into segments corresponding to its own specific cycles, and their characteristics are measured. But before the two sets of measurements can be made, the specific and business cycles must be identified and their turning points dated. This chapter is concerned with the technical problem of dating cyclical fluctuations.

# I Dating Specific Cycles

To determine whether a time series has specific cycles, and if so, to fix the dates when each cycle began, culminated, and ended, we plot the data, both in their original form and after adjustment for seasonal variations, upon a semi-logarithmic chart and study the whole record in this graphic form. A typical chart of monthly data covering sixty years is about 7 feet long; its width ranges from about 1 to 3 feet, depending mainly on the size of the secular movement. As far as possible the scales are kept uniform. They are varied only in handling annual data, where we compress the horizontal scale; in monthly or quarterly series having exceedingly violent cyclical amplitudes, where we compress the vertical scale; and in the few series with plus or minus values, where the vertical scale eludes standardization.<sup>1</sup>

When charted, almost all monthly and quarterly series show cyclical

1 The rigidity of the printed page has compelled us to vary rather freely the horizontal and vertical scales, both absolutely and relatively to one another, in the historical charts of this book.

fluctuatio movemen movemen toward h long in re tions of a contour' characteri termediat oscillation defined m to trough a years. The to ten or to of the sam Occasi cycles lasti of buildin full list of imposed u same princ them, but The ta cult accord those of en three types widely in employme with ease. scured. In of the diffid example, series the c When smooth the of moving and mild when the specific-cyc 2 See Arthur F

3 Mitchell, Bus Statistical Indi May 28, 1938), 4 See Ch. 11, S

#### DATING SPECIFIC CYCLES

fluctuations, but they are more or less obscured by secular and erratic movements. Our basic criterion for distinguishing these three types of movement is their duration. We conceive of secular trends as drifts toward higher or lower levels that persist in a given direction for periods long in relation to business cycles.<sup>2</sup> Erratic movements appear as alternations of rise and fall that cover usually a few months; the 'saw-tooth contour' characteristic of indexes of business conditions is still more characteristic of series that represent a narrower range of activities.<sup>3</sup> Intermediate between the persistent drifts that often cover decades and the oscillations that occur every few months, there appear in most series welldefined movements of rise and fall, the duration of which from trough to trough and from peak to peak is rarely less than two or more than seven years. These fluctuations varying in duration 'from more than one year to ten or twelve years' are our specific cycles; that is, they are fluctuations of the same order of duration as business cycles.

Occasionally the specific cycles of a series are superimposed upon cycles lasting from fifteen to twenty-five years. Such long waves are typical of building construction; they occur also in certain other activities, the full list of which we do not yet know. When we find specific cycles superimposed upon long cycles, both sets are marked off and analyzed on the same principles.<sup>4</sup> If we found only long cycles in a series we would analyze them, but not call them specific cycles.

The task of identifying specific cycles in a time series is easy or difficult according as their amplitudes are large or small in comparison with those of erratic and secular movements. The relative magnitude of the three types, and hence the difficulty of distinguishing among them, differs widely in the processes we analyze. For example, the specific cycles in employment and disbursements of wages can almost always be recognized with ease, while the specific cycles in security flotations are often obscured. In some series the specific cycles are hard to distinguish because of the difficulty of eliminating large and shifting seasonal fluctuations; for example, inventories of farm products. But in a large majority of our series the cyclical fluctuations stand out clearly on the charts.

When specific cycles are made doubtful by random movements, we smooth the data by moving averages and base judgments upon the curve of moving averages. When the secular trend rises sharply, we allow brief and mild declines to count as contractions of specific cycles. Similarly, when the secular trend falls sharply, brief and mild rises are counted as specific-cycle expansions. We do not recognize a rise and fall as a specific

<sup>2</sup> See Arthur F. Burns, Production Trends in the United States since 1870, Ch. II.

<sup>3</sup> Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, pp. 329-30. See also Mitchell and Burns, Statistical Indicators of Cyclical Revivals (National Bureau of Economic Research, Builetin 69, May 28, 1938), pp. 4-8.

4 See Ch. 11, Sec. I and VII.

it is ready till be rents correto which nents are ing to its at before ess cycles er is con-

to fix the the data, ariations, s graphic out 7 feet ly on the uniform. press the ngly viond in the le eludes

v cyclical

and vertical

#### DATING SPECIFIC AND BUSINESS CYCLES

cycle unless its duration is at least fifteen months, whether measured from peak to peak or from trough to trough. Fluctuations lasting less than two years are scrutinized with especial care; they are not treated as specific cycles unless they are clearly defined and in no sensible part a result of faulty adjustment for seasonal variations. The lower limit of the range of amplitudes of all fluctuations that we class confidently as specific cycles is our rough guide in deciding whether any doubtful fluctuation, of long or short duration, is well enough defined to be accepted as a specific cycle. Our general practice is to identify specific cycles without consulting the 'reference dates of business cycles', which are explained later in this chapter. We depart from this rule only in treating series that conform with great regularity to business cycles. In such series we first determine whether there are any lapses from one-to-one correspondence between specific and business cycles. If there are and they are due to our failure to class movements close to the borderline of our rules as specific cycles, the rules are relaxed and these movements accepted as specific cycles.<sup>5</sup>

Once the specific cycles have been distinguished we proceed to date their turning points. When the cycles are clear in outline, our practice is to take the lowest and highest points of the plotted curves as the dates of the cyclical turns. When the crests or troughs are 'flat', the latest month in the horizontal zone is chosen as the turning date.<sup>6</sup> The chief difficulties arise when erratic movements are prominent in the vicinity of a cyclical turn. Then we examine the several competing peaks or troughs to determine whether any are due to inadequate seasonal correction. That question settled, let us say for the peaks, we compare the average levels of several months centered on each potential peak and select as the actual peak the highest point in the cluster having the highest average level. If the averages of several clusters are approximately the same, we give preference to the highest point in the latest cluster, provided the movement in the period spanning the multiple peaks is not clearly downward.7 Finally, if the series is especially choppy in the turning zone, moving averages are used to help determine the month of the peak or trough. We rarely deviate from these rules. The main exceptions come when an isolated high point occurs many months before or after the general contour of a curve indicates a cyclical peak, or when an isolated low point occurs many months before or after the general contour indicates a cyclical trough. We aim especially to disregard such extreme isolated

#### <sup>5</sup> See the illustrations on pp. 314-5.

<sup>6</sup> Horizontal movements may be an intrinsic feature of the data (as in central bank discount rates) or merely a technical effect of rounding. In the latter case the rule in the text imparts a bias, in the sense that turns dated from, say, three-digit figures must coincide with or come later than turns dated from four-digit figures of the same series. This point is usually of slight practical importance, but bears watching when refined comparisons are attempted.

7 See also pp. 148, 346.

values as a random ev An illu such as cok the specific doubt is wi We do not the dip is 1918, which industry ca only thirtee

Year	Jan.
1905	24.2
1906	30.6
1907	31.9
1908	24.3
1909	28.1
1910	35.8
1911	33.3
1912	36.2
1913	41.1
1914	38.3
1915	35.1
1916	44.0
1917	45.3
1918	39.8
1919	39.8
1920	46.9
1921	38.8
1922	33.8
1923	45.1
1924	45.7
1925	44.9
1926	46.3
1927	49.3
1928	39.0
1929	45.6
1930	43.8
1931	33.8
1932	24.6
1933	24.3
1934	29.1
1935	32.3
1936	35.0
1937	36.0
1938	27.0
1939	30.9

Adjusted for seaso Resources of the Uni Resources (since 19) the figures for 1938

#### DATING SPECIFIC CYCLES

values as we know are associated with strikes, tariff changes, or other random events.

An illustration or two may make the procedure clearer. In a series such as coke production in the United States (see Chart 1 and Table 4) the specific cycles stand out clearly and their dating is easy. One possible doubt is with respect to the movement from June 1917 to January 1918. We do not treat this contraction as a cyclical movement. In the first place, the dip is slight except for the low values in January and February 1918, which reflect the disturbance in railroad operations and in the iron industry caused by extreme winter weather. In any event June 1917 is only thirteen months from the cyclical peak recognized in July 1918, too

 TABLE 13
 .

 Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905–1939
 (Million of that hard)

	Year	Jan.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	June	July	Aug.	Sep.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.
	1905	24.2	24.7	26.9	26.7	26.6	26.6	25.9	25.6	27.1	26.1	26.5	28.1
	1906	30.6	29.5	29.5	29.1	28.0	27.5	27.2	28.1	27.5	27.6	29.2	28.9
	1907	31.9	32.8	31.8	34.8	34.8	34.1	34.2	34.1	32.1	34.0	32.2	28.2
	1908	24.3	25.6	25.8	26.9	26.9	28.2	30.0	28.8	28.1	28.5	29.0	30.2
	1909	28.1	28.7	29.5	28.8	29.4	31.2	31.7	32.1	34.3	34.2	34.9	35.6
	<b>19</b> 10	35.8	35.4	34.5	35.1	35.7	36.0	33.7	33.3	33.7	34.1	35.6	34.6
	1911	33.3	30.8	32.4	32.5	32.7	32.8	33.1	35.2	35.3	35.4	35.6	35.9
	1912	36.2	39.8	37.1	37.6	40.0	37.7	36.5	37.8	35.6	36.2	38.5	37.7
	1913	41.1	41.2	38.3	37.6	39.2	39.4	39.7	<b>40</b> .0	39.8	42.4	39.6	39.9
	1914	38.3	35.9	38.2	34.7	34.0	34.5	36.1	36.3	37.1	32.5	31.2	33.6
	1915	35.1	32.9	32.4	34.9	32.5	34.7	35.6	35.9	38.7	38.4	43.0	46.3
	1916	44.0	50.8	44.7	39.1	40.8	38.5	38.1	40.3	39.7	39.0	43.2	44.5
	1917	45.3	46.5	48.9	48.7	49.6	47.8	46.3	44.7	42.5	42.0	45.9	44.4
	1918	39.8	49.2	49.1	53.5	53.1	52.1	55.0	52.0	48.3	45.5	42.2	40.6
	1919	39.8	36.1	35.0	38.0	40.2	38.5	43.4	41.1	45.5	49.7	18.3	37.6
	1920	46.9	46.2	48.9	45. <b>1</b>	41.9	47.0	46.0	47.2	47.4	46.3	50.6	53.8
	1921	38.8	35.4	31.7	32.8	35.9	35.3	31.0	33.3	33.9	38.9	35.4	31.9
	1922	33.8	40.4	49.0	20.1	25,0	26.9	20.2	27.6	41.7	39.9	43.0	43. <b>3</b>
	1923	45.1	41.5	45.7	54.4	56.8	54.8	53.7	52.2	46.9	43.5	40.7	37.1
	1924	45.7	45.0	39.0	37.5	38.5	36.6	38.3	37.0	41.6	41.4	38.6	41.7
	1925	44.9	37.0	35.3	41.4	42.0	43.0	45.3	46.0	45.7	45.2	46.3	47.3
	1926	46.3	44.0	43.1	49.0	46.1	48.4	49.5	47.4	47.6	46.2	54. <b>3</b>	51.5
	1927	49.3	50.2	56.5	42.6	42.0	42.4	38.5	42.8	41.0	37.4	37.2	37.0
	1928	39.0	40.0	42.2	40.4	44.3	42.4	42.4	43.1	41.2	43.8	42.9	39.7
	1929	45.6	45.8	37.8	46.4	48.7	45.1	47.6	46.1	44.4	44.6	42.7	42.3
	1930	43.8	38.2	34.2	44.8	43.3	39.7	40.5	37.2	38.3	38.2	35.4	36.2
	1931	33.8	30.2	32.3	35.6	34.0	34.3	34.6	31.9	31.7	30.9	27.9	27.6
	1932	24.6	27.0	30.8	25.4	22.1	20.9	20.8	23.5	26.2	28.3	28.4	28.4
	1933	24.3	26.6	23.0	24.4	26.8	29.7	34.1	35.5	29.1	25.9	28.6	27.3
	1934	29.1	31.1	36.3	30.5	32.6	30.1	28.6	28.4	27.4	28.2	28.4	29.3
	1935	32.3	33.4	. 36.8	27.3	32.1	35.2	25.9	27.1	24.8	32.6	30.9	32.3
	1936	35.0	39.5	30.0	38.0	34.3	34.4	37.1	34.5	37.0	37.5	39.0	41.8
	1937	36.0	40.7	49.0	32.3	36.1	37.2	37.0	35.3	38.6	35.1	33.7	33.7
	1938	27.0	26.1	25.2	28.0	25.4	26.2	26.9	29.6	31.7	29.9	32.9	32.9
	1939	30.9	32.3	33.3	13.2	21.3	32.4	33.4	35.8	37.5	39.3	39.3	33.6

Adjusted for seasonal variations. The original data for 1905-22 come from the Geological Survey, Minnat Resources of the United States, 1922, Part II, pp. 464-5; for 1923-37, Bureau of Mines, annual numbers of Minnal Resources (since 1932 Minerals Tearbook) through 1939; for 1938-39, Survey of Current Business. (Slight revisions in the figures for 1938 and 1939 made later by the Bureau of Mines are ignored.)

iscount rates) arts a bias, in ne later than practical im-





short an i from Janu tion. This tions: Jan February recognized A bett cific cycles (see Table tions and variations impossible apparent t and this fa operated u 'even' year renewal, th tions, and o In many m new agreen curve of pr by July or differences are sufficien (Chart 5). which speci (Chart 4). Some of three succes specific cycl the second f March 1919 nitude to be declines als May 1917 t ment. The c 1917; the us notable dro War I came traffic and e 8 'Peace' and 'str

of strike statistic state Commerce chronicle of the

late called Mine.

short an interval to pass as a specific cycle under our rules. The decline from January to July 1925 also fails to qualify as a specific-cycle contraction. This movement is mild and does not meet our rule concerning durations: January 1925 is only thirteen months from the peak recognized in February 1926, while July 1925 is only twelve months from the trough recognized in July 1924.

Logarithmic vertical

5661

1934

1933

932

16.91

928

927

1925

924

923

1922

ŝ

50

616

1916

19

916

1914

1913

1912

181

016

606

<u>19</u>08

1907

906

905

uterisks identify

4 1915 Table 13.

See

dates assigned to peaks and troughs of specific cycles.

A better illustration of the problems encountered in identifying specific cycles is afforded by bituminous coal production in the United States (see Table 13 and Chart 4), an industry notorious for its seasonal fluctuations and labor disputes. A preliminary attempt to eliminate seasonal variations by our standard devices yielded such poor results that it was impossible to date the specific cycles reliably. After a little study it became apparent that at least from 1904 to 1914 strikes had a clear periodicity, and this fact provided a clue to analysis. A large section of the miners operated under two-year agreements, which expired April 1 of every 'even' year. For several months before the agreements were due for renewal, there was general uncertainty as to the outcome of the negotiations, and consumers sought protection by adding to their stocks of coal. In many mines operations were actually suspended in April. But soon a new agreement was reached, gradually the miners returned to work, the curve of production rose again, at first sharply, then more gently, and by July or August the usual seasonal pattern was being repeated. The differences between the odd (peace) and even (strike) years 8 before 1914 are sufficiently strong and regular to justify separate seasonal indexes (Chart 5). By adopting this expedient we finally attained a curve from which specific cycles up to 1914 could be dated with ease and confidence (Chart 4).

Some of the later years, however, are troublesome. During 1914–19 three successive waves may be distinguished. We could not accept all as specific cycles. The first decline extends from February 1916 to July 1916, the second from May 1917 to January 1918, the third from July 1918 to March 1919. There can be little doubt that the third is of sufficient magnitude to be considered a cyclical movement. But are the two preceding declines also to be treated as cyclical contractions? The decline from May 1917 to January 1918 is suspect on account of the seasonal adjustment. The original data testify to a sustained demand for coal throughout 1917; the usual lull in the spring and summer is absent. Indeed, the only notable drop during the entire period of our participation in World War I came in the winter of 1917–18, when severe storms tied up railroad traffic and caused car shortages. Even if the propriety of our seasonal

8 'Peace' and 'strike' years in the coal industry are a matter of degree. For a convenient tabulation of strike statistics, see The Effect of Labor Relations in the Bituminous Coal Industry upon Interstate Commerce (National Labor Relations Board. Bulletin 2, June 30, 1938). Table 13. For a chronicle of the industry in all its aspects, see the annual reviews of coal in Mineral Resources (of late called Minerals Yearbook) by the Bureau of Mines. CHART 5

Ratios of Original Data to Twelve~month Moving Averages

# Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905 – 1914

adjustments for 1917 and 1918 were not in question, we would have to disregard the decline from May 1917 to January 1918, since only 14 months separate its trough from the trough recognized in March 1919. On the other hand, the wave starting in November 1914 lasted 20 months, and thus manages to meet the duration test. But it lacks impressive amplitude. Moreover, it is due, in considerable part, to a spurt in anticipation of a strike in April 1916, followed by a drop when the strike failed to develop. Our decision, therefore, was to treat the declines of February– July 1916 and May 1917–January 1918 as interruptions of a cyclical expansion running from November 1914 to July 1918.

In addition to these uncertainties in identifying the specific cycles in coal production, several questions arise in dating their turns. The general movement of the data seems a sufficient reason for placing a trough in June 1924, instead of March 1925 when output was somewhat lower. Again, a trough is placed in March 1919, not in November 1919 when output was very much lower. The abrupt drop in November 1919 was due to a general coal strike. It caused merely a brief halt in the expansion that clearly got under way March 1919; for that reason we disregard it. For a similar reason the low value in April 1939 is disregarded, and the cyclical trough is dated March 1938. But we have not hesitated to date a cyclical trough in a month when a strike occurred if that month seemed

to coincid peak in a coinciden March 19 are exam The t trough in of this affl next two strike pro ally adjus against 20 with our r Other vided in T Some of the share tradi ish. But n United St



tained mov naked eye. movement

9 The trough n higher in Dec. doubtful if a cy vanish if the p 1922, we assum for a strike.

to coincide roughly with the end of a cyclical decline, or to date a cyclical peak in a month preceding the outbreak of a strike if it seemed roughly coincident with the end of a cyclical expansion. Our decisions to treat March 1927 as a specific-cycle peak and July 1922 as a specific-cycle trough are examples.9

The trough in 1922 exemplifies a 'double bottom'. There is a deep trough in April 1922, when a strike-probably the greatest in the history of this afflicted industry-broke out. A slight revival occurred during the next two months, and a relapse in July, when the railroad shopmen's strike produced an acute car shortage in the non-union field. The seasonally adjusted figure is fractionally higher in July than in April (20.2 against 20.1 million tons). But the difference is negligible, and in line with our rules, the trough is dated in the later month.

Other illustrations of our method of dating specific cycles are provided in Table 19, which accompanies Chart 8, and in Charts 11 and 53. Some of the turning points are problematical, especially in series like share trading and structural steel orders, where erratic movements flourish. But no series in these charts is as extreme as net gold imports by the United States from the United Kingdom, pictured in Chart 6. No sus-

CHART 6



Source: Great Britain, Board of Trade, Accounts Relating to Trade and Navigation

tained movements of rise and fall can be detected in this series by the naked eye. By applying moving averages, the semblance of a cyclical movement could be created. But we cannot trust 'cyclical movements'

9 The trough might have been set in July 1921 instead of July 1922. But output was only a little higher in Dec. 1921 than in July 1921, and it was considerably lower in April-July 1922. It is doubtful if a cyclical rise occurred between July 1921 and March 1922; for the apparent rise would vanish if the peak in a single month, March 1922, were removed. In setting the trough in July 1922, we assume that the sharp peak in March 1922 reflects entirely or largely the preparations for a strike.

ld have to e only 14 arch 1919. 20 months, ive ampliticipation e failed to Februarya cyclical

rhanes

c cycles in The geng a trough hat lower. 919 when 1919 was expansion sregard it. d, and the l to date a th seemed

that arise from a mathematical spreading of isolated peaks and troughs over surrounding months. Fortunately, series of this erratic type are very rare in our collection.

Our methods of determining specific cycles make no pretensions to elegance. Since no fast line separates erratic or episodic movements from specific cycles, or erratic turns from cyclical turns, there is ample opportunity for vagaries of judgment. At times our rules fail to yield a clear-cut decision. At times the members of our statistical staff disagree in their efforts to apply the rules to a given series. Our experience indicates that this difficulty cannot be removed by multiplying rules. The most effective way of coping with it is to organize the work on a plan that disciplines judgment. Hence when a new series comes up for analysis, three persons mark off its specific cycles, each working independently. If a conflict arises, the reasons for the divergent choices are discussed in conference. Sometimes, agreement is reached quickly. More often, new work must be undertaken, such as the application of moving averages to a troublesome period, or the recomputation of the seasonal adjustment, or detailed comparisons with related series, or research to clarify the background of some puzzling fluctuation. Once the conflict is settled, and the computations involved in the analysis of a series are completed and checked, the whole operation-including the dating of the specific-cycle turns-is 'audited' by an experienced member of our staff, who often has not participated in the work to this point. This process of checking may be repeated two or three times. For when a series previously analyzed is brought up to date, the occasion is made an opportunity for a thorough reexamination of all specific-cycle decisions. A check of this sort may come years after the original work has been done, and thus tests the consistency with which judgment has been applied. When earlier decisions seem faulty, we do not hesitate to reanalyze the series. Still another check on both the uniformity and reasonableness of the procedure comes when the data charts and cyclical measures are used by our collaborators in preparing their monographs on cyclical behavior.

These safeguards are adequate, we believe, to ensure trustworthy pictures of average specific-cycle behavior in the great majority of our series. A whimsical factor nevertheless remains in the measures of many individual cycles, and sometimes plagues even the average measures. These matters are discussed critically later in the book, especially in Chapter 8. Here we need only mention that in order to help readers judge the reliability of our results we plan to indicate in later monographs the amplitudes of erratic movements relatively to the specific cycles in each series analyzed, by a scale that runs from 'mild' to 'moderate', 'pronounced', and 'very pronounced'—terms that indicate roughly what degree of confidence we attach to our analysis of the specific cycles.<sup>10</sup>

It migh dating spe and smoot specific cy the line of plus and m ing results cific cycles. cycles not s criteria are behavior o The most from the n first differen Nor are than in raw the turns. continuous not meet a by our meth still necessa or too mild of smoothin months into a mild and We beli justed data data adjuste the same tin by supplem adjusted da seasonally a them adjust both secular satisfactoril had to be sa portions of It is easi or quarterly potently in not affect th 11 See pp. 37-8. 12 For illustratid

13 See pp. 215-6.

# DATING SPECIFIC CYCLES

and troughs ype are very

etensions to ments from nple oppora clear-cut ree in their dicates that ost effective disciplines ree persons f a conflict conference. work must a troubleor detailed kground of e computahecked, the le turns—is has not parng may be analyzed is a thorough t may come consistency sions seem r check on omes when borators in

rustworthy rity of our es of many measures. pecially in aders judge graphs the les in each rate', 'proly what dees.<sup>10</sup> It might seem to some readers that the uncertainties connected with dating specific cycles could be overcome by eliminating secular trends and smoothing out erratic movements; but this is an illusion. Unless specific cycles are marked off prior to fitting a line of secular trend, and the line of trend is so fitted as to equilibrate exactly or approximately the plus and minus deviations within each cycle distinguished, widely differing results are possible with respect to the number and duration of specific cycles.<sup>11</sup> Of course, if secular trends are eliminated, some specific cycles not shown by our methods may be revealed. But once more, unless criteria are laid down, on the basis of study of the raw data, for the behavior of the trend line, many sorts of specific cycles may be found. The most refined procedure in computing trends offers no escape from the necessity of distinguishing cycles in the raw data or in their first differences.

Nor are the turns of specific cycles any easier to date in trend-adjusted than in raw data, for it is erratic movements that make most trouble at the turns. Smoothing by a sensitive graduation formula that produces continuous curvatures solves formally the dating of the turns; but it does not meet all the difficulties encountered in identifying specific cycles by our methods and it introduces some new difficulties. For example, it is still necessary to decide by arbitrary rule what movements are too brief or too mild to be considered specific cycles. More important, the process of smoothing may convert a steep random peak with a base of two or three months into a 'cycle' lasting two years or longer, or it may erase entirely a mild and brief cyclical movement in the raw data.<sup>12</sup>

We believe, therefore, that specific cycles dated from seasonally adjusted data are not less trustworthy than they would be if dated from data adjusted for secular and erratic as well as seasonal movements. At the same time we think that the dating of specific cycles could be improved by supplementing study of the charts of the original and seasonally adjusted data by study of several additional curves, one showing the seasonally adjusted data freed from erratic flutterings, another showing them adjusted for secular trend, and a third showing them adjusted for both secular trend and erratic movements. But to adjust many time series satisfactorily on this plan is extremely laborious and costly, and we have had to be satisfied with passing simple moving averages through doubtful portions of time series.

It is easier to mark off specific cycles in annual series than in monthly or quarterly.<sup>13</sup> But secular trends tend to obscure specific cycles far more potently in annual than in monthly data. While annual reporting does not affect the size of secular movements, it chops off the cyclical peaks

<sup>11</sup> See pp. 37-8. But note the comments on pp. 273-6.
<sup>12</sup> For illustrations, see Ch. 8, Sec. II.
<sup>13</sup> See pp. 215-6.

### DATING SPECIFIC AND BUSINESS CYCLES

and fills in the cyclical troughs that would appear in data reported at briefer intervals.<sup>14</sup> For this reason, as well as because annual data often misrepresent the timing of peaks and troughs in what specific cycles do appear, we use such series only when dealing with crops that are harvested once a year, or when monthly or quarterly data are unavailable, or when monthly or quarterly data cover such short periods that we doubt their representative value.

# **II** Diffusion of Specific Cycles

Not all time series exhibit specific cycles. For example, net gold imports (Chart 6) undergo large movements, but they are so brief and irregular that we cannot regard them as cyclical. Chart 7 presents several other series that seemingly are either free from specific cycles or undergo such movements only intermittently. Commutation traffic on railroads is a steady series, except for the shift to a lower level during the 1930's and minor erratic fluctuations throughout. Local transit in New York is also a steady series. The amount of milk used in the production of dairy products is more volatile; but what waves can be distinguished in this series are rendered uncertain by the nature of the seasonal adjustment. The remaining three series do not change at all for months or years, then rise or fall in a vertical step to a new level. We do not treat such movements as specific cycles unless the shifts in level are frequent enough to trace out, after their own fashion, a wave-like pattern with recognizable peaks and troughs.

that Lack Continuous Specific Cycles

Series

American

Siz

CHART

used in factor

(1) M(IL

These series are instructive because they illustrate the diversity of behavior found in time series. They represent, however, exceptional types. A survey of our American series in monthly or quarterly form, made when the number analyzed was 828, showed that there were only 27, or slightly over 3 per cent, in which we found no specific cycles or only intermittent specific cycles. Of course, an investigator who insisted on greater regularity in durations than we do would surely find fewer series moving in specific cycles. The like would happen if the concept of specific cycles were restricted to fluctuations of closely similar amplitude. On the other hand, by adopting refined mathematical techniques, specific cycles might be found in so steady a series as transit rides in New York or in so jerky a series as net gold imports from the United Kingdom. But we do not wish to labor a defense of our detailed results. It may well be that now and then, despite the precautions taken to guard against 'cyclical bias', we have 'seen' cycles in series that have none in fact. After making liberal allowance for this possibility, we can still say that the great majority of series in our collection exhibit continuous fluctuations whose period corresponds to that specified by our working definition of business cycles.

These specific cycles are the basic 'raw materials' of this investigation.

14 The shortcomings of annual data in studying business cycles are treated at length in Ch. 6.



# TABLE 14

#### Chronology of Specific Cycles in Employment Ten Manufacturing Industries, United States, 1919-1938

i			Number of whose sp	of industries ecific cycles	s		
Date	Industries reaching a peak or trough <sup>a</sup>	Reach a Deak	Reach a trough	Undergo expan- sion <sup>b</sup>	Undergo contrac- tion <sup>b</sup>		Date
Feb. 1919	Textiles*, Stone*, Lumber*		3		10	Jan. 1	928
Mar. 1919	Leather*		ī	3	7	Feb. '2	28-Mar.'2
Apr. 1919			••	4	6	· Apr. 1	928
May 1919	Food*, Paper*, Iron, Transportation equipment.		4	4	6	Sep. 1	928
June 1919 July 1919	Machinery	••	1	9		Oct.	928
Aug. 1919	Tobacco.		i	ģ	i	Nov. 1	928
Sep. '19-Nov.'19				10		Dec. 7	28-Jan. '2
Dec. 1919	Food, Lumber, Leather	3		10	•;	Mar.'2	929 29-June'?
Jan. 1920 Feb. 1920	Transportation equipment	2	••	5	5	July	929
Mar. 1920	Iron, Machinery	2		4	6	Aug. 1	929
Apr. 1920	Textiles	1	• •	2	8	Sep.	929
May '20-June '20		• :		1	9	Nov 1	020
July 1920	Paper	1		1	10	Dec. '2	29-Dec. '3
Dec. 1920	Lumber	••	'i	••	10	Jan. 1	931
Jan. 1921	Textiles, Leather, Transportation equipment.		3	1	9	Feb. '	31-June'3
Feb. 1921	Stone		1	4	6	July	931
Mar.'21-Apr. '21	7	• •	• 1	5	5	Aug.	1932 June 3
May 1921	Paper	••	1	5	2	Aug	932
July 1921	Iron	• •	'i	6	4	Sep. '	32-Feb. '3
Aug. 1921	Food		1	7	3	Mar.	1933
Sep. 1921	Textiles	1		8	2	Apr.	1933
Oct. 1921	Machinery		1	7	3	May	1034
Nov. 21-Dec. 21	Takata	•••	••	× v	2	May'	34-Sen. '3
Feb. '22-Apr. '22	1000000		1	9	1	Oct.	1934
May 1922	Textiles		1	9	i i	Nov.'	34-Sep. '3
June 1922				10		Oct.	1935 25 Jan 22
July 1922	Tobacco	1		10	• •	INOV.	55-jan. '5 1936
Aug. 22-Mar. 23	T anthon	•;	••	9	1	Mar.'	36-Oct. '3
May 1923	Textiles	i	••	8	2	Nov.	1936
June 1923	Iron.	i		7	3	Dec. '	36-Mar.'3
July 1923	Stone, Lumber, Machinery	3	• ·	6	4	Apr. May	1937
Aug. 23-Sep. 23	Fand	•••	••	3	7	Iune	1937
Nov 1923	Transportation equipment	1	••	2	8	July	1937
Dec. '23-June'24				ī	9	Aug.	1937
July 1924	Textiles, Stone, Lumber, Leather		4	1	9	Sep. 7	37-May'3
Aug. 1924	Iron, Transportation equipment	••	. 2	5	5	June	1938
Oct 1924	Fond	••	L 1	<u>'</u>	2	Aug.	1938
Nov. '24-Feb. '25	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			9	ĩ	Sep.	1938
Mar. 1925	Leather	1		9	1	Oct.	1938
Apr. '25-Oct. '25		• •		8	2	Nov.	30-Dec. '3
Nov. 1925	Textiles, Transportation equipment	2		8	Z A	Based	on the Bure
Apr. 1926	Lumber, Leather	· i	1	6	4	Federa	l Reserve B
May '26-June '26				6	4	revised	l figures for
July. 1926	Textiles		1	6	4	were f	urnished dir full titler of
Aug. 1926	Tobacco	· .	1	7	3	1 ne equipr	nent (limite
Sep. 1926	Iron, Stone	2	••	8	4	textile	s and their
Nov. 1926	Paper	i		5	5	paper	and printin
Dec. 1926	Leather.	i		4	6	produ	cts; nonferro
Jan. '27-July '27		· · ·		3	7	their r	ecora abes i
Aug. 1927	Textiles.	1	• •	3	7	*So ta	raspossible
Oct 1927	1004000	L	••	1	9	turns	an i yey. I i
Nov. 1927	Transportation equipment.		i	i	ģ	-Indus bFor-	implicity in
Dec. 1927				2	8	-For s	restance of the

r.

68

.

## DIFFUSION OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

#### TABLE 14-Continued

#### Chronology of Specific Cycles in Employment Ten Manufacturing Industries, United States, 1919-1938

:\$

8 industries ic cycles Indergo

xpansion<sup>b</sup>

> ... 3 4

10 10 7

i

11578998866666786543321

1

Undergo

contraction<sup>b</sup>

10

766211

. .

i

123477

8995321

12244443245

6 7 7

8 9 9

8

		Number of industries whose specific cycles						
Date	Industries reaching a peak or <i>trough</i> *	Reach a peak	Reach a trough	Undergo expan- sion <sup>b</sup>	Undergo contrac- tion <sup>b</sup>			
Jan. 1928	Iron, Lumber, Machinery		3	2	8			
Feb. '28-Mar.'28			• •	5	5			
Apr. 1928	Paper	• •	1	5	5			
May '28-Aug. '28	<u></u>	• •	• :	6	4			
Sep. 1928	Textiles	••	1	0	4			
Oct. 1928	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	••	· · :	4	2			
Nov. 1928	Leather	••	1					
Dec. '28-Jan. '29	·····	•	••	0	2			
Feb. 1929	Transportation equipment	1		9	2			
Mar. 29-June 29	·····	•		1 7	3			
July 1929	I extlics	1	1					
Aug. 1929	Iron, Lumber, Machinery	5	1		1 7			
Sep. 1929	Paper	1	1	1 2	6			
Oct. 1929	T			2				
Nov. 1929	rood, Leather	2	••		10			
Dec. 29-Dec. 50	$ au_{ m out}$	• •	1	· · ·	10			
Jan. 1951	<i>I extutes</i>	••	1	1 i	10			
Tube 1031	Tautilaa	1		l i	ó			
July 1951	1 CALIES	1		1 1	10			
Aug. 51-June 52	Food Tentiles Leather		1 2	1 ••				
Aug 1032	I umber		l ĭ	3	1 7			
Sen '32-Feb '33	Lantoer		1 .	4	6			
Mar 1033	Iron Machinery		1 2	4	6			
Apr. 1933	Paper Stone Transportation equipment Tobacco		4	6	4			
May '33-Mar.'34				10				
Apr. 1934	Tobacco	1		10				
May'34-Sen. '34				9	1			
Oct. 1934	Food	1	1	9	1			
Nov. '34-Sep. '35				8	2			
Oct. 1935	Food		1	8	2			
Nov.'35-Jan. '36			1	9	1			
Feb. 1936	Tobacco		1	9	1 1			
Mar.'36-Oct. '36			1	10	•••			
Nov. 1936	Tobacco	1		10				
Dec. '36-Mar.'37	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			9	1			
Apr. 1937	Stone	1		9	1			
May 1937	Textiles	1		8	2			
June 1937	Paper, Leather	2		7	3			
July 1937	Food, Lumber	2		5	5			
Aug. 1937	Iron, Machinery, Transportation equipment	3		3	7			
Sep. '37-May'38		• • •	· · ·		10			
June 1938	Textiles, Paper, Stone, Lumber, Leather		5		10			
July 1938	Iron, Machinery		2	5	5			
Aug. 1938	Transportation equipment		1	7	3			
Sep. 1938			1 .:	8				
Oct. 1938	Food	••	1	8	2			
Nov. '38-Dec. '38			••	9	1			

Based on the Bureau of Labor Statistics indexes of factory employment, adjusted for seasonal variations by the Federal Reserve Board. Source: *Federal Reserve Bulletin*, Oct. 1938, pp. 842-5, and Oct. 1939, p. 880, except that revised figures for textiles in 1933–38, automobiles in 1919–22, and transportation equipment in July-Sept. 1938 were furnished directly.

revised ngures for textiles in 1933-36, automobiles in 1913-22, and transportation equipment in July-sept. 1936 were furnished directly. The full titles of the ten industrial groups covered are iron, steel, and their products; machinery; transportation equipment (limited to automobiles prior to 1923); lumber and allied products; stone, clay, and glass products; textiles and their products; leather and its manufactures; food and kindred products; tobacco manufactures; paper and printing. Three industrial groups (chemicals and allied products, and petroleum refining; rubber products; nonferrous metals and their products) in the Bureau of Labor Statistics index are omitted here because their record does not go back to 1919.

\*So far as possible, data on employment before 1919 and related records were consulted in dating the cyclical turns in 1919. The troughs marked with an asterisk are more uncertain than the others.

\*Industries reaching a trough are italicized.

<sup>b</sup>For simplicity in tabulation, a rise or fall between two months is credited to the second month.

#### DATING SPECIFIC AND BUSINESS CYCLES

Our central problem is to determine how they fit together. The nature of this undertaking may be glimpsed from a highly simplified illustration. Table 14 lists, month by month, the specific-cycle turns of ten constituents of the Bureau of Labor Statistics index of factory employment during 1919-38. This information is developed in later columns, which show the number of industries in which employment rose or fell, reached a peak or trough, each month. A tendency toward a common rhythm can be detected in the table, but the different industries do not always keep in close step. Six industries-food products, tobacco, leather, textiles, paper and printing, and stone, clay and glass-occasionally 'skip' a cycle common to the other four, or trace out an 'extra' cycle. Even when corresponding cyclical turns are found in all ten series, they are dispersed over several months. For example, every series turned up in 1932-33, but the troughs span 10 months. The 'turning zone' is still longer at the upturn in 1921. On account of the divergencies in the timing of cyclical turns, all industries experience specific-cycle expansion or all experience specific-cycle contraction in only 69 of the 239 months covered, less than a third of the full period.

Let the reader imagine a thousand time series arranged on the plan of Table 14, and he will begin to face in their full complexity the timing relations among the cyclical movements of actual life. Such a table would show every month, or practically every month, some activities in an expanding phase, some beginning to recede from their peaks, some contracting, and some beginning to revive from their troughs. But although the four phases of expansion, recession, contraction, and revival will be found running side by side at all times, the basic conception that emerges from our studies is that at any one time one phase is dominant. Recession is evident in some activities in the first stage of the phase when expansion becomes dominant, and spreads gradually to other activities until recession replaces expansion as the dominant phase. Similarly, revival begins early in the phase when contraction becomes dominant, and spreads gradually until revival becomes dominant. Our hypothesis, in other words, is that a period in which expansions are concentrated is succeeded by another in which cyclical peaks are concentrated, by another in which contractions are concentrated, by another in which cyclical troughs are concentrated; and this round of events is repeated again and again. To expose this process of continual change, it is necessary to observe systematically the direction and amplitude of the cyclical movements of many activities.

If our analysis were restricted to a few time series, it would be simple to compare their specific cycles directly. But when the analysis covers hundreds of series, it is clumsy and wasteful to compare the timing of each series with every other; indeed, as clumsy and wasteful as it would be to express the exchange value of each commodity in terms of every

other comme common der every series of to be artifici continuous. cyclical chan and contract theless, if ou years and mo peaks and tr the reference This refe assume that Chapter 1. Se dates when ex minate. This a peak or trou to decline in assumptions validity of th must be fully scale actually and if so how from stage to investigation

# III Di

The derivatic problems. Ho sions and cont sible plan is to points in individua turns to be de points of a ser the boundarie a meaning that enough to be to be necessary to ity against the purpose and h

# DIFFUSION OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

he nat**ure** lustration. nstituents nt during hich show reached a ythm can ways keep , textiles, p' a cycle hen correersed over 3, but the he upturn cal turns, ience speess than a

the plan he timing ble would ies in an ome conalthough al will be t emerges Recession xpansion htil recesal begins 🛿 spreads in other ucceeded in which bughs are gain. To serve sysments of

be simple sis covers iming of it would of every other commodity. Much clearer results can be attained by adopting some common denominator, that is, by setting up a reference scale on which every series can be laid out in strictly uniform fashion. Any scale is bound to be artificial in the sense that it will break apart movements that are continuous. But the scale should be as little artificial as possible. The cyclical changes going on all the time are highly complex: expansions and contractions of economic activities weave into one another. Nevertheless, if our concept of business cycles is valid, there must be certain years and months in which 'general business activity' reaches successive peaks and troughs. Approximations to these 'turning points' will give the reference scale we seek.

This reference scale will rest on two assumptions. First, we shall assume that business cycles run a continuous round, as explained in Chapter 1. Second, we shall assume that it is sufficient to mark off the dates when expansions and contractions in general business activity culminate. This implies that once business activity as a whole has reached a peak or trough, it does not linger there, but commences rather promptly to decline in the one case, to rise in the other. We believe that these assumptions are tolerably close to the run of experience. However, the validity of the reference scale built on this framework of assumptions must be fully tested. Whether the periods marked off by our reference scale actually correspond to business cycles in the sense of our definition, and if so how different activities are related in direction and amplitude from stage to stage of the business cycles, are precisely the questions this investigation must answer.

# III Different Methods of Deriving a Reference Scale

The derivation of a reference scale of business cycles raises numerous problems. How should we proceed to ascertain the dates when the expansions and contractions in 'general business activity' culminate? One possible plan is to identify the central tendency in each cluster of turning points in individual economic activities. But how are different activities to be marked off from one another; that is, how are they to be classified and individualized? And how is the central tendency of their cyclical turns to be determined? Another plan would be to identify the turning points of a series measuring aggregate economic activity. But where are the boundaries of aggregate activity to be set? Can this 'quantity' be given a meaning that is at once significant for the purpose at hand and precise enough to be measurable? Suppose that much is done. Then it will still be necessary to check the cycles in the chosen measure of aggregate activity against the evidence of related series. But what series will serve this purpose and how are conflicts to be reconciled? It will also be necessary

#### DATING SPECIFIC AND BUSINESS CYCLES

to determine whether the cycles in aggregate activity are sufficiently diffused through the economy to rate as business cycles. What series or processes should be examined to determine this issue? Should the list be kept the same or varied from country to country and from period to period within a country? Must the fluctuation be reflected in all the items on the list or will some specified set or number or proportion suffice? Should not a fluctuation that satisfies the criterion of diffusion meet also certain criteria of duration and amplitude, phase by phase as well as for the entire fluctuation, before it is admitted to the family of business cycles? Finally, how should we distinguish between cyclical and erratic turns in aggregate activity; in other words, how are the uncertainties connected with dating the turning points of the specific cycles in the series chosen as a measure of aggregate activity, and in other series that may be used in conjunction with it, to be surmounted?

These tantalizing questions cannot be resolved by excogitation alone. The only practicable plan is to work with the facts in the light of tentative judgments and hypotheses, then revise the hypotheses in the light of the findings. Work with the facts can be organized on many different plans. An investigator whose main concern was to establish a chronology of business cycles might wish to spend years in studying specific cycles before venturing to date the peaks and troughs of business cycles. But our interest in a reference scale is largely incidental to theoretical ends. Early in the investigation it seemed wise to determine whether our working definition of business cycles was a promising guide to further inquiry, and if that seemed to be the case, to organize the work in such fashion that we could learn quickly, even if only approximately, how the cyclical fluctuations of leading economic activities are related to one another. For this purpose it was necessary to settle rather promptly on a reference scale of business cycles; conceived of as a tool of analysis that was to be tested, amended or, if need be, rejected in the course of further observation.

The simplest method of deriving such a scale would be to mark off the months in which the specific cycles of an acceptable measure of aggregate economic activity reached successive peaks and troughs. Aggregate activity can be given a definite meaning and made conceptually measurable by identifying it with gross national product at current prices. This total includes the values of all finished commodities and services reaching the final users in a nation during a given period, plus or minus any change in claims on international account.<sup>16</sup> However, for the purpose of analyzing business cycles, it is better to restrict the total to the portion of the national product that passes through the 'market'. In ex-

15 For a fuller explanation and supplementary definitions of this total, see Simon Kuznets, National Income and Capital Formation, 1919-1935 (National Bureau of Economic Research, 1957), pp. 3-5, and especially pp. 34-5.

tending me production self-sufficien of aggregate production less force, to excluding. Unfortu by months of Estimates of or quarterly Commerce to 1929. Rec and gross na Britain, Col since 1929. in the measu considerable mates eked o which leave Index ni units are ava they too fail Reserve Boa an older vers the record st adequate co volume of b able indexes World War to be desired manufacturi fluctuations a change in t weights assig reaches a cy the Federal tory. The cy Company ar

18 See Frederick Foreign and Dom the United States Income and Out May 1943, p. 159,

tending measurements into the past, an increasing part of agricultural production should be excluded; also production of all sorts within local, self-sufficient communities. Similar restrictions apply to other measures of aggregate activity that might be used, such as the physical volume of production or the volume of employment. They apply also, though with less force, to total income payments, and to total monetary transactions excluding, of course, trading in assets.

Unfortunately, no satisfactory series of any of these types is available by months or quarters for periods approximating those we seek to cover. Estimates of the value of the gross or net national product on a monthly or quarterly basis are still in an experimental stage. The Department of Commerce estimates of total income payments by months go back only to 1929. Recently, Harold Barger has prepared quarterly estimates of net and gross national product in the United States back to 1921. For Great Britain, Colin Clark has devised quarterly figures on national income since 1929. These statistical efforts represent an important step forward in the measurement of 'national income' by short time units, and bear considerable promise for the future. But as yet they rest heavily on estimates eked out from small samples or purely mathematical interpolations, which leave considerable margins of uncertainty in the final result.<sup>16</sup>

Index numbers of the physical volume of production by short time units are available for longer periods than national income estimates, but they too fail to meet our needs. The 'present' version of the Federal Reserve Board index of industrial production goes back only to 1923; an older version goes back to 1919, and a still older version to 1913. There the record stops. The one monthly index of production with reasonably adequate coverage before World War I is Babson's index of the physical volume of business, which starts in 1904. In our foreign countries tolerable indexes of production by months or quarters are available only since World War I. Even for recent years, indexes of production leave much to be desired. Thus the Federal Reserve Board index is restricted to manufacturing and mining, both covered on a sampling basis. Since the fluctuations of different branches of production synchronize imperfectly, a change in the sample of series included in a production index or in the weights assigned to the series may easily shift the date when the index reaches a cyclical peak or trough. Table 15 shows the turning points of the Federal Reserve Board index at different stages of its statistical history. The cyclical turns of the index developed by the Standard Statistics Company are presented on a similar plan, as are also the turns of the index

<u>s</u>s

fficiently diferies or proce list be kept od to period items on the ffice? Should t also certain for the entire cles? Finally, rns in aggrennected with s chosen as a e used in con-

itation alon**e.** t of tentative e light of the fferent plans. hronology of cycles before ut our internds. Early in brking definiquiry, and if hion that we lical fluctuaher. For this ence scale of to be tested, ervation. mark off the of aggregate gregate activeasurable by s. This total reaching the s any change lus or minus for the purtotal to the arket'. In ex-

Simon Kuznets, nomic Research,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See Frederick M. Cone, Monthly Income Payments in the United States, 1929-40 (Bureau of Foreign and Domestic Commerce, *Economic Series No. 6*); Harold Barger, Outlay and Income in the United States: 1921-1938 (National Bureau of Economic Research. 1942): Colin Clark, National Income and Outlay (Macmillan, London, 1937), Ch. IX. See also Review of Economic Statistics, May 1943, p. 159, and The Economist, April 12, 1941, p. 489, and April 18, 1942, pp. 531-2.

of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.<sup>17</sup> Sometimes the shifts in the cyclical turns from one index to another are negligible, but not always. The instability of cyclical turns disclosed by the table is a warning that the turning points of even the latest production indexes are approximations, not precise measurements.18

Employment series by months or quarters are no better suited to our needs than production indexes. Estimates of the number of civil nonagricultural employees in the United States go back to 1929 only. The index of the number of factory employees by the Bureau of Labor Statistics goes back to 1914, but is based on a slender sample before 1923. These series can be supplemented by data on the average number of hours worked per man-week, collected since 1920 (except for January-June 1922) by the National Industrial Conference Board and on a much wider scale by the Bureau of Labor Statistics since 1932. But there are practically no statistics of employment or unemployment on a national basis prior to World War I. Foreign countries, especially Great Britain, are more fortunate in this respect. In Germany trade-union unemployment percentages are available by months back to 1906 and by quarters back to 1903; in France by months since 1894, and in Great Britain by months since 1854. But the coverage of these foreign materials narrows as the records recede into the past: the British data before 1887 are limited to the Friendly Society of Iron Founders.

There are indeed some comparable monthly or quarterly series that extend over several decades in each or all except one of our four coun-

17 Some trend-adjusted indexes are placed deliberately in the table. If a rising trend were removed from a production index and nothing else changed, cyclical troughs of the trend-adjusted index would coincide with or come later than corresponding turns of the unadjusted index, while cyclical peaks would coincide or come earlier. (See Ch. 7 for an analysis of the influence of trend adjustments on cyclical timing and other measures of cyclical behavior.) The reader will note how frequently the actual relations among the several samples of production indexes are not in keeping with this simple model. The reason, of course, is that the trend-adjusted and unadjusted indexes differ in other respects-composition, weighting, etc.

18 This should be plain enough from the composition of any production index. The statistician who sets out to construct a production index must choose, in principle, between an index based on inadequate industrial coverage and an index based in part on crude estimates. In practice, he is sure to compromise. Thus the Federal Reserve Board index of 'industrial production' actually covers only the manufacturing and mining sectors. Of the 81 series included in the index, as revised in the Federal Reserve Bulletin of Aug. 1940, only 38 with a weight of 40.4 per cent (that is, the 38 series account for this percentage of the index figure) in 1935-39 are production series in their original state. Another 19 with a weight of 11.3 per cent in 1935-39 also report production, but are partly estimated; in most instances, so as to conform to Census of Manufactures data. The remaining series do not report production as such, but other activities supposed to reflect production. Among these are 8 man-hour series, with a weight of 27.6 per cent in 1935-39, adjusted by smooth interpolated values that allegedly reflect changes in man-hour productivity.

The representation of man-hour series was increased in revisions of the index published in the Federal Reserve Bulletin, Sept. 1941 and Oct. 1943. Of late the effective weight of the manhour series has increased by leaps and bounds, partly because of their increased number, partly because these series predominantly represent war industries. In June 1943 the man-hour series accounted for 58 per cent of the total index of industrial production, and for a still larger percentage of its manufactures component (ibid., Oct. 1943, p. 949).

Cvcli

turn

T P

T P

Fed

A

June 1 Jan. 1

July t

May 1

Aug. 1

tries. But t a reference sale prices, Our experi by itself, is if limited financial t pretation o checks 19 as have come such as pay prices have many stude and the pl divergent p Nor can op criterion fo 19 That has be

#### DERIVATION OF REFERENCE SCALE

#### TABLE 15

#### Dates of Cyclical Peaks and Troughs Successive Versions of Three Indexes of 'Industrial Production' United States, 1919–1938

Cycli- cal	Federal	Reserve Boa	ard index <sup>b</sup>	Standard	Statistics C	Co. index°	Federal Reserve Bank of New York index <sup>d</sup>			
turn*	A B		С	A <sup>e</sup>	В	С	Aª	B•	C°	
T P	June 1919 Jan. 1920	Mar. 1919 Feb. 1920	· · · · ·	June 1919 Jan. 1920	May 1919 Mar. 1920	May 1919 Feb. 1920	Mar. 1919 Jan. 1920	Mar. 1919 Jan. 1920	Mar.1919 Jan. 1920	
T P	July 1921 May 1923	Apr. 1921 June 1923	May 1923	July 1921 May 1923	Apr. 1921 May 1923	Mar. 1921 May 1923	Jan. 1921 Feb. 1924	Mar.1921 Apr. 1923	Mar. 1921 May 1923	
T P	Aug. 1924	July 1924 Oct. 1926	July 1924 Mar. 1927	June 1924	June 1924 Sep. 1926	July 1924 Sep. 1926	July 1924	July 1924 Dec. 1925	July 1924 Dec. 1925	
T P	····	Nov. 1927 June 1929	Nov. 1927 Aug. 1929	 	Dec. 1927 May 1929	Nov. 1927 June 1929		Dec. 1927 June 1929	Dec. 1927 Aug. 1929	
T P		July 1932 Dec. 1936	July 1932 May 1937	••••	. <i>.</i>	Mar. 1933 Mar. 1937	 	Mar. 1933 Dec. 1936	Mar.1933 Dec. 1936	
т		May 1938	May 1938			Apr. 1938			May 1938	

All indexes are seasonally adjusted.

\*T stands for trough, P for peak. When a cylical movement culminates in two or more identical values, the latest month was taken as the date of turn.

<sup>b</sup> For index A, see Federal Reserve Bulletin, May 1924-Jan. 1927; index B, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, Annual Report for 1937, pp. 173-9, and Federal Reserve Bulletin, Oct. 1938, p. 910; index G, ibid., Aug. 1940, p. 825. Slight revisions in the latter index (ibid., Sept. 1941, p. 934) shifted the trough from May to June 1938, but left the other cyclical turns unchanged.

See the following publications of the Standard Statistics Company: for index A, Standard Daily Trade Service: Annual Statistical Bulletin, 1926, pp. 32-6; index B, Standard Trade and Securities: Base Book, Standard Statistical Bulletin, Jan. 1932, p. 159; index C, Standard Trade and Securities: Basic Statistics, April 29, 1938, Sec. D, p. 67, and later issues (title changes).

<sup>d</sup> For index A, see the series on 'productive activity' in Carl Snyder, The Revised Index of the Volume of Trade, *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, Sept. 1925. Indexes B and C were obtained directly from the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. For a description of B, see *ibid.*, Dec. 1931, p. 436 ff; for a description of C, *ibid.*, June 1938, p. 341 ff. Cf. *ibid.*, Dec. 1923, p. 949 ff; June 1928, p. 154 ff; Sept. 1941, p. 423 ff.

\*Adjusted for secular trend as well as seasonal variations.

tries. But the only series of this type that warrant consideration for setting a reference scale of business cycles are bank clearings, indexes of wholesale prices, open-market interest rates, and indexes of business conditions. Our experience with American data indicates that none of these records, by itself, is a satisfactory gauge of business cycles. Bank clearings, even if limited to cities outside New York, give excessive weight at times to financial transactions. The addition of new cities complicates the interpretation of the figures in the early decades. The increasing reliance upon checks 19 as an instrument of payment is a more serious factor, since checks have come to be used more and more in relatively stable transactions, such as paying salaries, rents, and trading at retail. Indexes of wholesale prices have served more faithfully as 'barometers' of business cycles than many students now believe. It is true, nevertheless, that wholesale prices and the physical volume of business activity have sometimes followed divergent paths for months at a time, as during 1926-29 and 1938-39. Nor can open-market commercial paper rates be trusted implicitly as a criterion for dating business cycles. The substantial business cycle from

19 That has been the broad secular tendency, at least to 1930.

ifts in the tot always. ng that the ximations.

ted to our civil nononly. The bor Statis-23. These of hours uary-June uch wider are practional basis ritain, are ployment rters back by months bws as the limited to

series that our coun-

rend were rerend-adjusted ljusted index, e influence of he reader will n indexes are usted and un-

he statistician n index based In practice. duction' actuin the index, 40.4 per cent re production so report pro-Manufactures supposed to nt in 1935-39, roductivity. published in of the manumber, partly an hour series ill larger per-

# DATING SPECIFIC AND BUSINESS CYCLES

1933 to 1938 made hardly a ripple in short-term interest rates. At other times short-term interest rates have traced out specific cycles which reflected disturbances confined largely to the financial markets, as during the depression of the 1870's. Indexes of business conditions should be free from the vagaries that mark the cyclical course of individual series; but before the 1890's these composites are made from exceedingly inadequate data. We believe that with the exception of open-market interest rates, foreign records of these various types are, if anything, even less satisfactory than the American.

The conclusion to be drawn from this condensed review of statistical data bearing on aggregate economic activity is obvious. If there is no monthly or quarterly series in any of our countries that can serve by itself as a criterion for setting a reference scale of business cycles, whether because the series is not long enough, or not accurate enough, or not broad enough in its coverage, or not stable enough in its relation to business cycles, or for all these reasons, then it is necessary to use a more laborious method; that is, a reference scale of business cycles must be extracted from the fallible indications provided by time series for varied economic activities. In using this method there is, of course, considerable leeway in the range of data, as well as in the choice of specific techniques. In view of our aims at the start of this investigation, it was not worth while to use time-consuming statistical methods. Hence we followed a simple procedure, which cannot lay claim to elegance or to a high degree of precision, but which at least promised more trustworthy results than did any single statistical series.

# IV A Tentative Schedule of Reference Dates

Here, as elsewhere, our working definition of business cycles served as a guidepost. According to this definition, no fluctuation in activity qualifies as a business cycle unless it spreads over many of the economic processes of a country. Descriptive evidence concerning the generality of past fluctuations is provided by *Business Annals*, compiled by Willard Thorp and published by the National Bureau in 1926.<sup>20</sup> Our first step toward identifying business cycles was to identify the turns of general business activity indicated by these annals. Next, the evidence of the annals was checked against indexes of business conditions and other series of broad coverage. In most cases these varied records pointed clearly to some one year as the time when a cyclical turn occurred. When there was conflict of evidence, additional statistical series were examined and historical accounts of business conditions consulted, until we felt it safe to write down an interval

20 For a continuation of these annals through 1931, see W. L. Thorp, The Depression as Depicted by Business Annals (National Bureau of Economic Research, News-Bulletin No. 43, Sept. 19, 1932).

within w then proc turns in a time and But th in their l within w choose the series 'inc increase y equipmer the evider within the behave er always or of a series unison, so lead at on These tim ence turns power pro evidence during th contractio movemen tion to cy sent speci the ampli (7) Finall the econo to period period. Thus. turns, one we first m knowledg cance of d assign for ment as t had been trols. In n so closely the turnin concentra

within which a cyclical turn in general business probably occurred. We then proceeded to refine the approximate dates by arraying the cyclical turns in the more important monthly or quarterly series we had for the time and country.

But the outstanding fact about economic time series is wide variation in their behavior traits. It would not do merely to mark off the zone within which a succession of series reached (say) cyclical peaks, then choose the month of their central tendency as the reference peak. (1) Some series 'indicate' a decline in business activity when they rise and an increase when they fall; for example, bankruptcies, unemployment, idle equipment. Their peaks and troughs must be inverted before casting up the evidence. (2) Some series regularly reach their peaks and troughs within the intervals marked by concentrations of turning dates. Others behave erratically. In setting reference dates, the evidence of a series that always or usually keeps in step with others is more significant than that of a series that usually 'walks by itself'. (3) Of the series that fluctuate in unison, some are early to rise and early to fall; others are laggards; a few lead at one turn and lag at the other; many exhibit no consistent timing. These timing characteristics must be taken into account in fixing reference turns. (4) So also must the secular trends of the series. That electric power production in the United States rose from 1924 to 1929 is not good evidence that there was no business-cycle contraction in 1926-27; for during these years the use of electricity was growing so fast that a mild contraction in general business might merely retard its rise. (5) Erratic movements must be taken into account because, when large in proportion to cyclical fluctuations, they cast doubt on the dates chosen to represent specific-cycle turns. (6) These dates may be dubious also because the amplitudes of specific-cycle expansions and contractions are slight. (7) Finally, it is essential to recognize that the relative importance of the economic activities represented may vary considerably from period to period for the same series, as well as from series to series for the same period.

Thus, to ascertain a business-cycle turn from an array of specific-cycle turns, one needs to know a great deal about the individual series. When we first made a reference scale of business cycles, we had to rely on vague knowledge concerning the cyclical behavior and the economic significance of different series. Under the circumstances, it seemed pointless to assign formal weights to the turning dates of individual series. A judgment as to a reference turn was based on a study of whatever evidence had been marshaled, without the aid of any 'objective' statistical controls. In many cases the turning points of different series were bunched so closely that we could not go far astray. But there were cases in which the turning points were widely scattered, and others in which they were concentrated around two separate dates. If there was little else to guide

At other hich reduring ould be l series; y inadeinterest ven less

atistical re is no by itself whether or not to busia more must be r varied iderable iniques. th while simple egree of lts than

ved as a qualifies cesses of fluctuaprp and i identiactivity checked pverage. r as the vidence, of busiinterval

5 Depicted . 19, 1932).

# TABLE 16

# Reference Dates and Durations of Business Cycles in Four Countries

	Monthly reference dates		Duration in months			Quarterly da	reference	Calendar-year reference dates		Fiscal-year <sup>4</sup> reference dates			
Line	Peak	Trough	Expan- sion®	Contrac- tion <sup>b</sup>	Full cycle	Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough		
	United States												
1					•••				1834				
2		•••	•••		••			1836	1838				
4					•••			1845	1846				
5					••	• • • •		1847	184 <b>8</b>				
6		Dec. 1854					4Q 1854	1853	1855				
7	June 1857	Dec. 1858	30	18	48	2Q 1857	4Q 1858	1856	1858	•••			
8	Oct. 1860	June 1861	22	8	30	3Q 1860	3Q 1861	1860	1861				
10	Apr. 1865 June 1869	Dec. 1807	40 18	52 18	36	20 1869	40 1870	1869	1870	1869	1871		
11	0	Mar. 1970	24		00	20 1073	10 1970	1072	1070	1072	1070		
12	Oct. 1875 Mar 1882	Mar. 1885	36	38	99 74	10 1882	20 1885	1882	1885	1882	1885		
13	Mar. 1887	Apr. 1888	22	13	35	20 1887	10 1888	1887	1888	1887	1888		
14	July 1890	May 1891	27.	10	37	3Q 1890	2Q 1891	1890	1891	1890	1891		
15	Jan. 1893	June 1894	20	17	37	1Q 1893	2Q 1894	1892	1894	1893	1894		
16	Dec. 1895	June 1897	18	18	36	4Q 1895	2Q 1897	1895	1896	1896	1897		
17	June 1899	Dec. 1900	24	18	42	3Q 1899	4Q 1900	1899	1900	1900	1901		
18	Sep. 1902	Aug. 1904	21	23	44	4Q 1902	3Q 1904	1903	1904	1903	1904		
19	May 1907	June 1908	33	13	46	2Q 1907	2Q 1908	1907	1908	1907	1908		
20	Jan. 1910	Jan. 1912	19	24	45	IQ ISIO	4Q 1911	1910	1911	1910	1911		
21	Jan. 1913	Dec. 1914	12	23	35	1Q 1913	4Q 1914	1913	1914	1913	1915		
22	Aug. 1918	Apr. 1919	44	20	20	10 1918	2Q 1919 3Q 1921	1918	1919	1918	1919		
23	May 1920	July 1924	20	14	34	20 1923	30 1924	1923	1924	1923	1924		
25	Oct. 1926	Dec. 1927	27	14	41	3Q 1926	4Q 1927	1926	1927	1927	1928		
26	June 1929	Mar. 1933	18	45	63	20 1929	10 1933	1929	1932	1929	1933		
27	May 1937	May 1938	50	12	62	2Q 1937	2Q 1938	1937	1938	1937	1939		
					Fŗ	ance							
1									1840				
2			• •			· · · · '		1847	1849				
3	•••		•••		••			1853	1854				
4	•••	 Dec 1865	••		••	•••		1857	1858	•••	• • •		
		Dec. 1005				•••		1004	1005		•••		
6	Nov. 1867	Oct. 1868	23	11	34			1866	1868				
8	Sen. 1873	Aug. 1876	19	35	54			1873	1876		•••		
9	Apr. 1878	Sep. 1879	20	17	37			1878	1879				
10	Dec. 1881	Aug. 1887	27	68	95			1882	1887				
11	Jan. 1891	Jan. 1895	41	48	89		1Q 1895	1890	1894		• • •		
12	Mar.1900	Sep. 1902	62	30	92	1Q 1900	3Q 1902	1900	1902		•••		
13	May 1903	Oct. 1904	8	17	25	2Q 1903	3Q 1904	1903	1904	•••	• • •		
14	July 1907	Aug 1914	52	19	54	30 1913	30 1914	1907	1908		•••		
1.5	June 1913						20 1010	1017	1010	•••			
16	June 1918	Apr. 1919	46	10	56 27	2Q 1918	2Q 1919	1917	1918		•••		
18	Oct. 1920	July 1921 June 1925	39	8	47	30 1924	30 1925	1920	1921		•••		
19	Oct. 1926	June 1927	16	8	24	3Q 1926	3Q 1927	1926	1927				
20	Mar.1930	July 1932	33	28	61	1Q 1930	3Q 1932	1930	1932		•••		
21	July 1933	Apr. 1935	12	21	33	30 1933	10 1935	1933	1935				
22	June 1937	Aug. 1938	26	14	40	2Q 1937	3Q 1938	1937	1938		•••		

Line	Monthly da
	Peak
1 2 3 4 5	· · · · · · · · · ·
6 7 8 9 10	···· ··· ···
11 12 13 14 15	   Sep. 1857
16 17 18 19 20	Sep. 1860 Mar. 1866 Sep. 1872 Dec. 1882 Sep. 1890
21 22 23 24 25	June 1900 June 1903 June 1907 Dec. 1912 Oct. 1918
26 27 28 29 30	Mar.1920 Nov. 1924 Mar.1927 July 1929 Sep. 1937
1 2 3 4 5	 Jan. 1882 Jan. 1890
6 7 8 9 10	Mar. 1900 Aug. 1903 July 1907 Apr. 1913 June 1918
11 12 13	May 1922 Mar.1925 Apr. 1929
• From • From • That	trough on p peak to trou is, years end

Refer

# SCHEDULE OF REFERENCE DATES

## TABLE 16-Continued

Reference Dates and Durations of Business Cycles in Four Countries

T in a	Monthly reference dates		Duration in months			Quarterly di	reference	Calendar-year reference dates		Fiscal-year <sup>e</sup> reference dates	
Line	Peak	Trough	Expan- sion <sup>a</sup>	Contrac- tion <sup>b</sup>	Full cycle	Pcak	Trough	Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough
	Great Britain										
1								1792	1793		
2					•••			1796	1797		
3				•••	••		•••	1802	1803		
5								1810	1811		
6								1815	1816		
7								1818	1819		
8					••			1825	1826		•••
10		••••	•••		••			1828	1829		
10				•••	••			1051	1052		
11		•••		•••	••			1836	1837		• • • •
13						•••		1845	1848		
14		Dec. 1854		•••			1Q 1855	1854	1855		
15	Sep. 1857	Mar. 1858	33	6	39	4Q 1857	1Q 1858	1857	1858		
16	Sep. 1860	Dec. 1862	30	27	57	4Q 1860	4Q 1862	1860	1862		
17	Mar. 1866	Mar. 1868	39	24	63	2Q 1866	2Q 1868	1866	1868		• • • •
18	Sep. 18/2 Dec. 1882	June 18/9	54 42	81 42	135	4Q 18/2	2Q 18/9	18/3	1886	• • •	•••
20	Sep. 1890	Feb. 1895	51	53	104	3Q 1890	1Q 1895	1890	1894		
21	June 1900	Sep. 1901	64	15	79	20 1900	40 1901	1900	1901		
22	June 1903	Nov. 1904	21	17	38	2Q 1903	4Q 1904	1903	1904		
23	June 1907	Nov. 1908	31	17	48	2Q 1907	4Q 1908	1907	1908		
24 25	Oct. 1912	Sep. 1914 Apr. 1919	49	21 6	70 55	30 1918	2O 1914	1913	1914		•••
26	Mar 1920	June 1921	11	15	26	20 1920	20 1921	1020	1021		
27	Nov. 1924	July 1926	41	20	61	40 1924	30 1926	1924	1926		
28	Mar.1927	Sep. 1928	8	18	26	2Q 1927	3Q 1928	1927	1928		
29	July 1929	Aug. 1932	10	37	47	3Q 1929	3Q 1932	1929	1932		
	Sep. 1957	Sep. 1958	01	12	/3	JOQ 1937	3Q 1938	1937	1938	•••	•••
					' Ger	many					
1									1866		
2								1869	1870		• • •
3	Ian 1882	Feb. 18/9	35		 00	10 1992	1Q 18/9	18/2	18/8	•••	•••
5	Jan. 1890	Feb. 1895	41	61	102	10 1890	10 1895	1890	1894		
6	Mar 1900	Mar 1902	61	24	85	20 1900	10 1902	1900	1902		
7	Aug. 1903	Feb. 1905	17	18	35	3Q 1903	1Q 1905	1903	1904		
8	July 1907	Dec. 1908	29	17	46	2Q 1907	4Q 1908	1907	1908		
9	Apr. 1913	Aug. 1914	52	16	68	1Q 1913	3Q 1914	1913	1914		•••
10	June 1918	June 1919	40	12	58	ZQ 1918	20 1919	1917	1919		• · · ·
11	May 1922	Nov. 1923	35	18	53	2Q 1922	4Q 1923	1922	1923		
12	Mar. 1925	Mar. 1926	10 37	40	28	2Q 1925 2Q 1929	2Q 1926 3O 1932	1925	1926	•••	•••
		1 sug. 1752	,,	<u> </u>	· ·	-Q 1929	52 1932	1929	1754	•••	•••

• From trough on preceding line to peak. • From peak to trough on same line. • That is, years ending June 30.

Fiscal-year<sup>e</sup> ference dates cak Trough

> . . . ••• • • • ... ... ... · • • 1868

> ••• • • • • • • . . . • • • • • • ••• ••• ... ... . . . • • • ••• ••• · • • • • •

• • • ••• • • • •••

869 1871

**92**9 937 193**3** 1939

#### DATING SPECIFIC AND BUSINESS CYCLES

us, we placed the reference turn toward the close of the transition period.

The reference dates derived in this rough fashion have been subjected to continual tests, as new series have been studied and old ones restudied. If only a few specific-cycle turns occurred near one of our experimental reference dates, we questioned the existence of a business-cycle turn at that time, reexamined what evidence we had, and sought more. If most of the specific-cycle turns in the vicinity of a reference date came months before that date, we concluded that it had been put too late. After extensive testing on this plan, which necessitated various revisions, we obtained several years ago a reference scale that seemed to fit the specific-cycle movements tolerably well in most instances. This reference scale is still tentative, and will be reviewed thoroughly in the course of future work.

Table 16 presents the reference scale in its present stage of development for the United States, Great Britain, Germany and France.<sup>21</sup> In analyzing monthly series we need the reference dates by months, as is explained fully in Chapter 5. The quarterly reference dates are needed in handling quarterly series, and the annual reference dates in handling annual series. The fiscal-year reference dates are designed to facilitate analysis of some important American records available only by years ending June 30. In each country the annual reference scale covers more cycles than the monthly or quarterly, because annual series extend furthest into the past. But the reference scale by fiscal years is carried back no further than is necessary to analyze the series in our collection that come in this form. A like reason accounts for the relatively brief quarterly reference scale for France.

The monthly reference dates are basic. They alone enable us to observe cyclical behavior in the detail we consider essential.<sup>22</sup> They therefore control the quarterly and annual reference dates. The quarterly dates are virtually derived from the monthly. When the monthly reference date (peak or trough) occurs in the middle of a quarter (February, May, August, or November), we took that quarter as the date of the reference turn. When it occurs in the first month of a quarter, we placed the quarterly turn either in that quarter or in the one just preceding, according to the indications of a sample of important statistical series by quarters. Similarly, when the monthly reference date occurs in the last month of a quarter, we placed the quarterly turn in that quarter or in the one just following.

The annual reference dates have also been set to correspond with the monthly dates, although some mild and short business cycles are obscured

22 Quarterly records, however, are often a satisfactory substitute. For an analysis of the influence of the time unit on cyclical measures, see Ch. 6.

# VΓ

The critica quality of United Stat In each cou 1919, than ence dates number of were limite activities of monthly or nology is re that the diff by months, ogy is push Given t in which th

28 Independent for forcing the a periods not cove 24 When the pr much smaller th price series. The in Chicago, cat<sup>a</sup> of slight value i

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Simon Kuznets took a leading part in the preparation of the original set of reference dates. For aid in extending, revising or criticizing the dates, we are indebted to Isaiah Frank, George Garvy, and Walt Rostow; and especially Moses Abramovitz, Cicely Applebaum, Geoffrey H. Moore, Julius Shiskin, and Albert Wohlstetter.

in annual records.<sup>23</sup> The annual reference turn often comes in a year other than that of the monthly turn. The reason is that the annual reference dates purport to state the years in which general business reached a high or low point when comparisons are made by full years; these need not be the same as the years in which business activity on a monthly basis made cyclical turns.

Since our reference dates delimit only expansions and contractions, we may, and often do, speak of business cycles as if they consisted of only two phases. But our working definition of business cycles presents each of them as passing through four phases: expansion, recession, contraction, and revival. The most important practical and the most difficult theoretical problems presented by business cycles do not lie in the processes by which expansions and contractions develop after they have started; they lie in processes by which an expansion is succeeded by a recession and a contraction by a revival. Since a definition designed to guide an investigation should focus attention upon matters that require attention, we include in our definition the transitional phases of which we must later give an account.

# V Difficulties in Setting Reference Dates Illustrated

The critical difficulty in setting reference dates is the uneven range and quality of statistical records for different periods and countries. In the United States monthly data are more abundant than in foreign countries. In each country they are more abundant since 1900, and especially since 1919, than in the nineteenth century. For example, in setting the reference dates for France in the 1860's, we were able to utilize a fairly large number of annual series. Our monthly records for this period, however, were limited to open-market interest rates and several series representing activities of the Bank of France. Even in the United States the number of monthly or quarterly series available for the early decades of the chronology is relatively small, as Table 17 indicates.<sup>24</sup> It is obvious, therefore, that the difficulty of setting reference dates, especially if they are expressed by months, must increase, and their reliability diminish, as the chronology is pushed back into the past.

Given the range of available records and the fineness of the time unit in which the reference scale is to be expressed, the ease or difficulty of

23 Independent dating of annual reference scales would probably yield fewer cycles. Our reasons for forcing the annual chronology to correspond with the monthly are explained on p. 262. In the periods not covered by the monthly scales, the annual reference dates are of necessity independent.
24 When the present reference scale was developed, the number of series in our collection was much smaller than in the table. Even as it stands, the list in 1860 is dominated by financial and price series. The production group in that year includes only three monthly series: hog receipts in Chicago, cattle receipts in Chicago, boot and shoe shipments from Boston. These activities are of slight value in fixing a reference scale of business cycles.

If most e months ter extenobtained cific-cycle ale is still ıre work. developnce.<sup>21</sup> In nths, as is e needed handling facilitate by years vers more ttend furried back tion that quarterly ble us to hey therequarterly hly refer-February, the referblaced the g, accordby quarast month

n period. subjected

estudied.

rimental

e turn at

d with the obscured

n the one

ice dates. For ceorge Garvy, Moore, Julius

the influence
#### TABLE 17

### Number of Monthly or Quarterly American Series Available at Decennial Dates since 1860

(Series analyzed by July 1, 1942)

	Number of series in our collection for											
Process	1860	1870	1880	1890	1900	1910	1920	19 <b>30</b>				
Production	3	7	13	15	23	29	133	154				
Construction	••	1	2	1	1	8	78	81				
Transportation		4	4	9	13	17	28	29				
Commodity prices	8	11	13	66	76	86	141	143				
Inventories		1	2	3	6	7	50	61				
Merchandising	••	4	4	4	4	6	38	32				
Foreign trade		7	7	7	8	19	19	19				
Personal incomes			1	2	2	6	86	91				
Profits and losses			2	5	9	11	16	22				
Savings and investments		1	1	1	1	4	15	16				
Security markets	2	2	4	7	8	10	9	6				
Interest rates	4	4	5	6	11	11	20	24				
Money and banking*		6	35	59	59	59	16	16				
Aggregate transactions	2	2	11	12	13	13	16	16				
Total	19	50	104	197	234	286	665	710				

See note to Table 2.

• The drop in 1920 and 1930 is explained by the fact that statistics on the condition of the national banks have been analyzed thus far only through 1914.

setting reference dates depends on the nature of the fluctuations found in different activities and their interrelations. The range and quality of the statistical data for the United States since 1929 surpass anything we have for other countries or periods. Some uncertainty nevertheless surrounds the setting of monthly reference dates in this period. Readers unfamiliar with the complex behavior of economic time series are invited to study Chart 8, both for its own sake and for the illustrations it affords of the practical problems encountered in marking off the turning points of business cycles. The chart exhibits the movements of 40 significant monthly series, each of rather broad coverage,<sup>25</sup> during 1932–39.

The first feature to notice is that business activity fell to a deep trough in the summer of 1932, revived in the autumn, slumped again at the end of the year, and reached a new trough in the spring of 1933. The 'double bottom' appears in most series. Of the two troughs, that in the summer of 1932 is lower in the Federal Reserve Board index of production and in several other series. But a great majority of the series show a lower trough in the spring of 1933. This fact, reinforced by our general rule to accept a later date in cases of doubt, led us to date the trough in March 1933. We believe that the evidence favors this date rather than June or July 1932, whether a business-cycle trough is considered as a turn in aggregate activity, defined in some plausible fashion, or as the central tendency in the turning dates of leading branches of activity.<sup>26</sup> True, the

25 Except commercial paper rates.

28 See Tables 14-15 above; also our Bulletin 61, pp. 2-4.

between the some resembl are bunched divergence ar mum in 1926 It may be Keynes' thesi suddenly and substituted for Harcourt, Br

#### DIFFICULTIES IN SETTING REFERENCE DATES 83

Federal Reserve index of production reached a minimum in July 1932. But an enterprising investigator who sought to date business cycles according to the cyclical turns in physical production would begin, not stop, with that index. Noting the slight difference between its values in July 1932 and March 1933, the roughness of many of the underlying series and of their adjustment for seasonal variations, the limited industrial coverage of the index, and the different showing of other production indexes; he would want to examine many series, of the sort depicted in Chart 8, for the light they throw indirectly on the physical volume of production. In the end he would probably, though by no means certainly, pick March 1933 as the trough date.

1930

154

81

29 143

61

32 19 91

22 16

6

24

16 16

710

banks have

found

ality of

hing we

less sur-

Readers

invited

Fords of

points

nificant

trough

the end

double

ummer

ion and

a lower

rule to

March

June or

turn in

central

rue, the

When the cyclical turns of leading branches of economic activity are sharply angular and closely bunched, as in the second quarter of 1938 in the United States, a cyclical turn in general business activity can be dated with considerable assurance. In such a case minor errors in the original data, in the adjustments for seasonal variations, or in the dates assigned to the turns of the specific cycles, are likely to have slight influence on the final judgment. But when the turns in leading activities are comparatively 'flat', crisscrossed by erratic movements, and dispersed over many months, the turn in general business activity becomes elusive. The American business-cycle peak of 1937 approximates this type. To fix the month of this peak, a wide range of evidence, or at least a variety of independent measures or indicators of aggregate activity, is essential, no matter what theoretical criterion or criteria of a business-cycle turn an investigator may set in advance. Tables 18 and 19 summarize a few of the contrasts revealed by Chart 8 between the business-cycle peak in 1937 and the trough in 1938. Table 18 shows that erratic movements in a sample of 23 series on the volume of business activity are more prominent in the vicinity of the 1937 turn than of the 1938 turn; also that the figures reached at the turns are nearly duplicated in more months in the vicinity of the former turn than in the vicinity of the latter. Table 19 shows that the peaks reached in 1937 or thereabouts by our full sample of 40 series are widely dispersed, whereas the troughs are sharply concentrated: 27 series reach a trough in the interval from April to June 1938.27 In view of unavoidable errors in the data and in the dates assigned to the specific-cycle

27 Tables 14-15 supply further contrasts between the business-cycle turns in 1937 and 1938; also between the trough in 1924, which resembles that of 1938, and the peak in 1926, which bears some resemblance to that of 1937. Table 14 indicates that the cyclical turns of employment series are bunched more closely in 1924 than in 1926, and in 1938 than in 1937. Table 15 shows that the divergence among the cyclical turns of different measures of industrial production is at a maximum in 1926, considerable in 1937, but slight in 1924 and 1938.

It may be noted parenthetically that this evidence, so far as it goes, gives no support to J. M. Keynes' thesis that "the substitution of a downward for an upward tendency often takes place suddenly and violently, whereas there is, as a rule, no such sharp turning-point when an upward is substituted for a downward tendency." (The General Theory of Employment, Interest and Money, Harcourt, Brace and Co., 1936, p. 314.)





• -----

.



į

rable

s, nondurable actures

ed in

ufacturing

rable manufact

937

res

1938 1939

.



.

#### TABLE 18

#### Short-term Fluctuations around the Cyclical Turns of 1937 and 1938 23 American Series

		Ina	n interva	l of elev	en month	ns cente	red on the	e cyclic	al turn
		No. c	of months of the val	that ar ue at th	e within he turn <sup>b</sup>		No. of re direc	versals tion°	in
No	Series	Speci	fic-cycle	Ref	erence	Speci	fic-cycle	Re	ference
		Peakd	Troughd	Peak (May 1937)	Trough (May 1938)	Peakd	Troughd	Peak (May 1937)	Trough (May 1938)
	PRODUCTION								
11	Total industrial (F.R.Bd.)	3	1	6	3	3	1	3	1
12	Total industrial (S.S.Co.)		2	3	3	4	3	4	3
13	Durable manufactures	1		1	1	3	1	3	1
14	Nondurable manufactures	3		4	3	1	2	1	2
16	Producers' durable goods			3	1	3	1	4	1
17	Consumers' durable goods		1	4	2	2	1	5	1
18	Producers' nondurable goods	1		6	1	5	2	4	2
19	Consumers' nondurable goods			1	3	5	2	5	2
15	Minerals	2		3	1	3	3	6	3
10	Electric power	4	3	7	5	3	4	4	4
9	Freight car loadings	1	• •	3	1	4	1	4	1
	DOMESTIC TRADE								
3	Bank debits outside N.Y.City	1	1	7	3	6	3	6	3
6	Retail sales	3	2	7	4	5	1	5	1
7	Department store sales			7	1	4	2	2	2
8	Chain store sales	5	6	8	7	4	3	5	3
	EMPLOYMENT	]							
2	Nonagricultural employment	4	3	8	5	1	1	1	1
23	Man-hours, manufacturing	2	2	6	3	1	1	1	1
24	Man-hours, durable manufactures	3		6	2	3	1	4	1
25	Man-hours, nondurable manufactures	4	2	7	3	4	4	3	4
	FLOW OF INCOMES								
1	Total income payments	3	2	5	5	1	1	2	1
20	Pavrolls, manufacturing			5	2	1	2	1	3
21	Payrolls, durable manufactures		1	2	1	3	2	4	3
22	Payrolls, nondurable manufactures	2	1	3	3	1	4	1	4
	Total	42	27	112	63	70	46	78	48
			Comp	arison	betweer	n peak	s and tr	oughs	

-		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	No. of series in which entry at peak				
	Exceeds entry at trough	13	18	14	15
	Is exceeded by entry at trough	4	1	4	4
	Equals entry at trough	6	4	5	4

•The series are numbered as in Chart 8. For sources of data and other notes, see Appendix C.

<sup>b</sup> In the case of reference turns, the average value in the three months centered on the turn was treated as the value at the turn. In the case of specific-cycle turns, the actual value in the month of turn was used. Hence the count is based on 10 months for specific-cycle turns, and 11 months for reference turns.

•Within an interval of 11 months, there are 10 observations on direction of movement and 9 on reversal of direction; hence the theoretical range is from 0 to 9. Horizontal movements are ignored in the tabulation. Another calculation made on the assumption that a first difference of zero is equally likely to be plus or minus in fact (excepting, of course, a series like commercial paper rates in recent years) did not change the results significantly; it is omitted for reasons of simplicity.

<sup>d</sup> The dates are listed in Table 19.

turns, there is a fair chance that the peak we have dated in May 1937 is misplaced by several months. But it seems rather unlikely from the present evidence that the trough dated in May 1938 can be in error by more than one month.

The series in Chart 8 are, of course, a sample drawn from a large 'parent population'. The sample rests on judgments that inevitably condition the reference dates. The present list is confined to series of rather broad significance. When the reference dates of 1937 and 1938 were originally set, another list was used, which included series on individual industries as well as broad composites. The change from one list to the other represents a shift in judgment on our part.28 Even the series common to the two lists are in several instances common in name only. These differences arise from shifts in judgment on the part of the original compilers, who-contrary to widespread opinion-are not engaged simply in 'straight reporting'. To make progress, they experiment in handling their problems as we do in handling ours. When our work was first done, we chose May instead of June 1938 as the reference trough, largely because three of the most comprehensive aggregates at our disposal-the Federal Reserve index of industrial production, the Department of Commerce series on total income payments, and an unpublished index of consumer expenditures by the Federal Reserve Board-all showed a trough in May. Later revisions by the compilers shifted the trough in the production index to May and June, in income payments to June, and in the consumption index to July.<sup>29</sup> If we took up the problem of dating anew, we would set the reference trough in June instead of May 1938, whether relying on the series originally used or those in Chart 8.30 But changes in the underlying sample of time series will not always be so neutral in their effect on a reference date; nor will revisions of the figures of the same series always have so slight an effect.

Chart 8 illustrates another difficulty in developing a reference scale of business cycles; namely, how to distinguish between fluctuations that are and those that are not 'business cycles'. In many branches of business the expansion from March 1933 to May 1937 was seriously interrupted from about July to November 1933 and again from about May to September 1934. So widespread were these reversals that they raise the question whether one or more 'extra' business cycles should not be recognized in this period. Several factors argue against such treatment. (1) Unlike past recoveries in this country, the recovery from the slump of 1929–32 was

<sup>28</sup> Compare, for example, the series in Chart 8 with the list in our *Bulletin 61*, p. 3.
<sup>29</sup> The index for consumption is not included in Chart 8, because of its uncertain dependability. We use instead a major component of the index: the total dollar value of retail sales (undeflated).
<sup>30</sup> Hence this paradoxical result: despite the simplicity of dating the reference turn of 1938 compared with that of 1937, we seem to have erred by one month in dating the turn in 1938, while there is no clear evidence at present that the date of the peak set in May 1937 can be improved.

1938

eversal of direclation. Another or minus in fact alts significantly;

#### TABLE 19

# Sequence of Cyclical Turns in the 1937 Recession and the 1938 Revival 40 American Series

Year & month	Specific-cycle peak	Year & month	Specific-cycle trough	Year & month	
7936 Dec.	Production of producers' nondurable goods (18) Production of consumers' nondurable goods (19) Orders for manufactured goods (31)				
<i>193</i> 7 Jan.	Man-hours worked, nondurable manufactures (25) Corporate bond prices <sup>a</sup> (34) Number of business failures, <i>inverted</i> <sup>b</sup> (35) Net demand deposits of member banks (38)				
Feb.	Private construction contracts (30) New corporate capital issues (36)		l		
Mar.	Bank debits outside N.Y.City (3) Total industrial production, S.S.Co. (12) Industrial common stock prices (33)				
Apr.	Index of wholesale prices (4) Freight car loadings <sup>a</sup> (9) Man-hours worked in manufacturing (23)				
May	Retail sales <sup>6</sup> (6) Total industrial production, F.R.Bd. (11) Production of nondurable manufactures <sup>6</sup> (14) Payrolls in manufacturing (20) Payrolls, nondurable manufactures (22) Total exports (28)			Ta thia	toble
June	Total income payments <sup>d</sup> (1) Total imports (27)			it is invo cannot	erted. The determ
July	Total civil nonagricultural employment (2) Electric power production (10) Man-hours worked, durable manufactures (24) Total construction contracts (29)			are num • The s: <sup>b</sup> A slig • The s: d A bic	nbered as ame value htly highe ame value
Aug.	Production of durable manufactures (13) Production of producers' durable goods (16) Payrolls, durable manufactures (21) Loans of reporting member banks (37)			• A higi	her value
Sep.	Production of minerals <sup>e</sup> (15) Production of consumers' durable goods (17)			aggre	egates
Oct.	Index of cost of living <sup>a</sup> (5) Department store sales <sup>f</sup> (7)			empl	loymeı
	Chain store sales <sup>8</sup> (8) Average hourly earnings in manufacturing (26)			tions	evide
	Inventories held by manufacturers (32)	1937		tion the s	consis
		Dec.	Production of nondurable manufactures (14)	fuct	uation
7938 Feb.	Commercial paper rates (39)	7938 Feb.	Total construction contracts (29)	from	abour
Apr	Vield of corporate bonds (40)	Apr	Private construction contracts (30)	four	on the
			Total industrial production, S.S.Co. (12) Production of consumers' nondurable goods (19)	the le	ower l
			Industrial common stock prices(33) Corporate bond prices (34)	inter	esting
			Net demand deposits of member banks (38)	busir	ness cy
		May	Bank debits outside N.Y.City (3) Retail sales (6)	The	mecha
			Department store sales (7) Chain store sales <sup>e</sup> (8)	same	as tha
			Electric power production <sup>b</sup> (10) Production of minerals (15)	phase	e of a
			Production of producers' nondurable goods (18)	31 But	it is imp
			Total imports (27)	its mai Proble	rch from m and 14
l	(		Orders for manufactured goods (31)	i	a

D

Sequ

#### **8**9 DIFFICULTIES IN SETTING REFERENCE DATES

#### TABLE 19-Continued Sequence of Cyclical Turns in the 1937 Recession and the 1938 Revival 40 American Series

Year & month	Specific-cycle peak	Year & month	Specific-cycle trough
		June	Total income payments (1) Total civil nonagricultural employment (2) Total industrial production, F.R.Bd.* (11) Production of durable manufactures (13) Production of producers' durable goods (16) Production of consumers' durable goods (17) Payrolls in manufacturing (20) Payrolls, durable manufactures (21) Payrolls, nondurable manufactures (22) Man-hours worked in manufacturing (23) Man-hours worked, durable manufactures (24)
		July	Number of business failures, inverted (35)
		Aug.	Average hourly earnings in manufacturing (26)
		<i>1939</i> Jan.	Total exports (28)
		Apr.	Loans of reporting member banks (37)
		June	Index of cost of living (5) Inventories held by manufacturers (32)
		Aug.	Index of wholesale prices (4)
		Sep.	New corporate capital issues <sup>1</sup> (36)

In this table, as in Chart 8, the series on corporate bond prices is the same as corporate bond yields, except that it is inverted. There is no entry for commercial paper rates and bond yields at the trough; the lower turning points cannot be determined even now (spring 1943). See Appendix C for sources and other notes about the series, which are numbered as in Chart 8.

\* The same value in the preceding month.

<sup>b</sup>A slightly higher value in Oct. 1936.

" The same value two months earlier.

<sup>d</sup>A higher value in June 1936 (payments to veterans). <sup>e</sup>A higher value in March 1937.

tures (14)

(12)

nks (38)

e goods (18)

factures (25)

e goods (19)

<sup>1</sup> The same value in Feb. 1937. \*The same value in May and Sept. 1937.

<sup>h</sup>A slightly lower value in Jan. 1938. <sup>i</sup> A lower value in April 1938, Jan. and May 1939, and June 1940.

subject to repeated political shocks. (2) Three of the most comprehensive aggregates of economic activity-total income payments, nonagricultural employment, retail sales-show little or no trace of the two sharp fluctuations evident in most production and employment series, the first fluctuation consisting of a rise and fall from about March to November 1933, the second from about November 1933 to September 1934. (3) These fluctuations are similar to that from about July 1932 to March 1933 and from about September 1934 to May 1935. It seems reasonable to treat all four on the same basis. (4) The duration of these fluctuations is well below the lower limit set by our working concept of business cycles. However interesting the short fluctuations may be, we cannot recognize them as business cycles without changing the object of our investigation.<sup>31</sup> (5) The mechanism of fluctuations lasting only a few months cannot be the same as that of fluctuations lasting several years. The transition from one phase of a business cycle to the next comes about gradually through a

31 But it is important to keep in mind that general business activity is subject to interruptions in its march from a trough to a peak and from a peak to a trough. See Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, pp. 329-30; and our Bulletin 69, pp. 6-7.

complicated set of cumulative changes in the relations among different factors in the economy. This process takes time.<sup>32</sup> We know, for example, that months elapse before a downturn in contracts for new factories is followed by a downturn in the construction work actually done, and that another few months must elapse before a downturn occurs in the new industrial facilities completed. (6) We may follow our rule governing durations and yet recognize a business cycle with a trough in March 1933, a peak approximately in May 1934, and a terminal trough approximately in September 1934. But this 'cycle' would violate another part of our definition: namely, that no cycle be divisible into shorter cycles with amplitudes approximating its own. Further, the contraction phase of this cycle would be only 4 months, distinctly shorter than any we have recognized.

These considerations seem to us to constitute a reasonably decisive argument against recognizing more than one business cycle in the United States from 1933 to 1938. The case in point is significant, however, because it draws attention to the vagueness of our definition of business cycles; which fails to set a lower limit on the amplitude of business cycles, or to limit the duration of their phases of expansion and contraction, or to specify how extensively a fluctuation must be diffused through the economy in order to rate as a business cycle. The lack of precision in our criteria of business cycles has proved troublesome in a few border-line cases. But so great is the variation in the quantity, quality and economic range of statistical records for different countries and periods, that our definition would not be so useful as a working tool if every element of vagueness in it were removed. Moreover, border-line cases are intrinsic in the historical process itself. Puzzling cases are likely to arise in practice, no matter how precisely the boundary line that sets off business cycles is drawn, or how reverently it is observed. The important thing, therefore, is to organize the statistical analysis on a plan that will force the border-line cases to the surface and thus permit revisions, if that should prove desirable. In the end our statistical analysis will accomplish this aim.

It may perhaps be helpful at this time to describe one puzzling case, and our reasons for treating it as we have. Readers familiar with the disturbed course of business during World War I may wonder why this period counts as an expansion in our reference chronology. Table 20 is not likely to dispel the doubts. In Great Britain and Germany, production of basic commodities dropped, as did employment. At the same time, the price level soared and unemployment practically disappeared. In the United States, production of basic commodities, viewed in the aggregate, changed little from our entry into the war until the Armistice; the same

32 Note the long average leads or lags of some of the series tabulated in the source last cited.

#### UNITED (1) Industrial (2) Employm (3) Unemploy

Series ar

Pro

(4) Wholesale

(5) Industrial

(6) Employm

(7) Unemploy (8) Wholesale

#### GERM

(9) Industrial(10) Employme(11) Unemploy

(12) Wholesale The series are not

SOURCES (1) Geoffrey 1 Economic Rese York, New Jers of Economic Re chusetts. Depai Part III, p. 20. the Bureau of I (5) W. Hoffm Weltwirtschaftlich July. Ministry insured work-per 1926, p. 50. Ann excludes Decemi Ireland.) (9) Rolf Was Industrieprodukt Sonderheft 31), p by Albert Wohl trade union me end-of-month fig Sonderheft 1, 192

seems to ha war indust durable typ American i War are de production Wholesale rose in doll trading in active. On garding 191 and Germa

33 See the study by Albert Woh.

#### DIFFICULTIES IN SETTING REFERENCE DATES

#### TABLE 20

g different r example, ories is fol-, and that he new inning duratch 1933, a roximately bart of our ycles with hase of this have recog-

ly decisive the United wever, beof business ness cycles, ction, or to h the econion in our border-line economic s, that our element of ntrinsic in ractice, no ss cycles is ing, thereforce the hat should nplish this

zling case, th the disr why this Table 20 is y, producsame time, red. In the aggregate, ; the same

last cited.

Production, Employment and Prices in Three Countries, 1914-1918

, ,	,			•		
Series and country	Unit	1914	1915	1916	1917	1918
UNITED STATES						
(1) Industrial production	Av. $1914 = 100$	100	110	1 <b>27</b>	132	127
(2) Employment	Av. 1914 = 100	100	102	118	122	125
(3) Unemployment	Per cent	8.9	8.4	2.6	3.2	2.4
(4) Wholesale prices	Av. $1914 = 100$	100	102	126	173	193
GREAT BRITAIN						
(5) Industrial production	Av. 1914 = 100	100	101	93	90	85
(6) Employment	July 1914 = 100	100	92	93	92	91
(7) Unemployment	Per cent	4.2	1.3	0.6	0.7	0.8
(8) Wholesale prices	Av. 1914 = 100	100	127	160	206	226
GERMANY						
(9) Industrial production	Av. $1914 = 100$	100	81	77	75	69
(10) Employment	Av. 1914 = 100	100	81	81	84	84
(11) Unemployment	Per cent	7.1	3.4	2.3	1.0	1.0
(12) Wholesale prices	Av. $1914 = 100$	100	135	145	170	207
· · ·						

The series are not closely comparable, but they probably suffice to indicate broad tendencies.

SOUTRO

SOURCESS: (1) Geoffrey H. Moore, Production of Industrial Materials in World Wars I and II (National Bureau of Economic Research, Occasional Paper 18, March 1944), p. 5. (2) Factory employment in three states—New York, New Jersey and Massachusetts; estimated by H. Jerome, Migration and Buiness Cycles (National Bureau of Economic Research, 1926), p. 248. (3) Reported percentage of unemployed trade union members in Massa-chusetts. Department of Labor and Industries of Massachusetts, Annual Report on the Statistics of Labor, 1923, 1990 Part III, p. 20. Annual averages derived from 2-point moving averages of end-of-quarter figures. (4) Index of the Bureau of Labor Statistics; see its Bulletin 493, p. 9.

(5) W. Hoffmann, Ein Index der industriellen Produktion für Grossbritannien seit dem 18. Jahrhundert, (5) W. Hoffmann, Ein Index der industriellen Produktion für Grossbritannien seit dem 18. Jahrhundert, Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, Sept. 1934, p. 398. (6) Estimates of industrial employment (private concerns), for July. Ministry of Munitions, History of the Ministry of Munitions, Vol. VI, Part 4, pp. 23-9. (7) Percentage of insured work-people unemployed. Ministry of Labour, Eightenth Abstirati of Labour Statistics of the United Kingdom, 1926, p. 50. Annual averages derived from 2-point moving averages of endof-month figures. Average for 1918 excludes December. (8) The Statist, Jubilee Section, June 1928, p. 134. (Series 5-7 for Great Britain include Ireland.)

(9) Rolf Wagenführ, Die Industriewirtschaft: Entwicklungstendenzen der deutschen und internationalen Industrieproduktion 1860 bis 1932 (Institut für Konjunkturforschung, Vierteljahrshefte zur Konjunkturforschung, Sonderheft 31), p. 23. (10) Estimates of industrial employment on the basis of accident insurance membership, by Albert Wohlstetter and Fred Lynn of the National Bureau staff. (11) Reported percentage of unemployed trade union members. *Reichsarbeitsblatt*, 1920, p. 25. Annual averages derived from 2-point moving averages of end-of-month figures. (12) Zahlen zur Geldentwertung in Deutschland 1914 bis 1923, *Wirtschaft und Statistik*, Sonderheft 1, 1925, p. 16.

seems to have been true of employment.<sup>33</sup> In each country the output of war industries rose; the output of consumer goods, especially of the durable type, slumped. A few of the sharp contrasts that developed in American industry and finance during our active participation in the War are depicted in Chart 9. The production of trucks rose rapidly; the production of pleasure cars and residential construction fell drastically. Wholesale prices rose vigorously, stock prices declined. Domestic trade rose in dollar value, exports fell a trifle. Security issues declined, also trading in outstanding shares; but the bond market was exceptionally active. On the face of the statistical record, there is little reason for regarding 1917 and 1918 in the United States, or 1914-18 in Great Britain and Germany, as characterized by 'cyclical expansion'.

33 See the study by Geoffrey H. Moore cited in the note to Table 20; also an expected publication by Albert Wohlstetter on German and British experience during World War I.

CHART D Behavior of Twenty-three American Series, 1914 – 1918 (A) Price or Value Series (10) Liabilities of bus failures (inverted 3 88.97 (11) Corporate Perc tage change - 20 (5) Bank clearings N. Y. City - 30 - 64 (6) Factory payro N. Y. State - 70 •20 + 100 + 80 + 80 + 40 + 20 + 20 - 80 (7) Construction contrac 27 states (12) Net operating inc U. S. Steel Corp. (8) Total (mport (9) Total exports 1915 1916 1914 1915 1916 1917 1918



1917

1918



DIF

**9**2

(1) Index of

(2) Index

(3) Ca

(4) Inde:

W

# DIFFICULTIES IN SETTING REFERENCE DATES

#### CHART 9 (CONTINUED)

#### (B) Physical Volume Series

Percentage change



82

1917 1918

•

.



(21) Truck production

\* N.Y Stock Exchange closed Aug. - Nov. 1914.

#### Shaded areas cover period of American participation in World War 1. For sources of data and other notes, see Appendix C.

However, the bare statistical record is somewhat misleading. If one country ceded part of its area to another, we would want to allow for the change in geographic coverage before pronouncing a judgment on the 'trend' of economic activity in either country. So too must we allow for the shrinkage in the economic sector of a nation's life during a major war, regardless of changes in its geographic area. In Great Britain and Germany a great part of the industrial manpower was diverted to the military forces. This loss was only partly made up by absorption of the unemployed, youths coming of industrial age, and accessions of men and women not normally in the labor force. A reduction in the efficiency of industrial labor probably accompanied the reduction in numbers. Similar factors were at work in the United States; though in view of our relatively brief participation in the war, their influence was much smaller. The virtual disappearance of 'unemployment' and the violent rise of commodity prices in 1916--18 testify to the terrific strain on such resources as were available to industry in each of our countries.<sup>34</sup> Rising money incomes, a relative decline in the output of consumer goods, and increasing inelasticity of supply of commodities are typical of cyclical expansions; these factors were merely magnified by the war.

The sharp divergence in the movements of different branches of production is admittedly troublesome from the viewpoint of our concept of business cycles. But there is only one feasible alternative to treating 1914–18 as a cyclical expansion, and that is to ignore it—a practice frequently followed by writers on business cycles. That solution would be proper if our aim were merely to explain the tendencies toward cyclical fluctuations generated by processes internal to the economy. But as said in Chapter 1, the task before this investigation is to explore the business cycles of history, however 'disturbed' or 'distorted' they may be by random factors. The inclusion of the period 1914–18 as well as other war 'expansions' in the analysis, if it accomplishes nothing else, at least makes it possible to compare peace and war expansions,<sup>38</sup> and thus to gain some insight into differences among business cycles.<sup>36</sup>

### VI Dependability of the Reference Dates

As already explained, the reference dates purport to mark the culminations of the cyclical expansions and contractions in 'general business

34 In France the index of wholesale prices (Statistique Générale) rose from 118 in 1914 to 392 in 1918. Regrettably, no other statistics, similar to those used in Table 20 for other countries, seem to be available for France.

<sup>35</sup> For a preliminary study, see Wesley C. Mitchell, Wartime 'Prosperity' and the Future (National Bureau of Economic Research, Occasional Paper 9, March 1948).

<sup>86</sup> Of course, so far as individual activities, such as governmental expenditures or commodity prices or shipbuilding, undergo fluctuations well outside the usual range, they cannot be included in average measures of cyclical behavior without prejudice to their representative value. In such cases, our practice is to omit the war and immediate post-war cycles from the averages. See pp. 381, 492.

activity'. results co correspon But as we except fo the plan can be tr on precisi quantity, different havior of cyclical tu tions he v long as st theoretica thoughtfu in practice That is stage of re something conspicuo Surely, the extensive business c present chi such a stud lem of dati reconcile o embark on cycles. But in charge w For the that requir trough in 37 Progress in s

37 Progress in s revisions of stat 38 Indeed, the have been allow *in the United* 39 Concerning of time series, s and Edwin Fric 40 This may, of would force a m 41 See above, p.

#### DEPENDABILITY OF REFERENCE DATES

ng. If one ow for the ent on the e allow for ng a major ritain and ted to the tion of the f men and fficiency of numbers. iew of our ch smaller. ise of comresources money inincreasing xpansions;

hes of proconcept of to treating ractice frewould be rd cyclical But as said te business by random rar 'expant makes it gain some

e culmina-Il business

1914 to 392 in ountries, seem

ture (National

or commodity be included in In such cases, pp. 381, 492. activity'. If this concept is somewhat fuzzy, so must be our dating. Neater results could be attained by estimating the cyclical turns of a quantity corresponding to some precise concept of aggregate economic activity. But as we have shown, the existing records virtually rule out this course except for the most recent business cycles. Even in dating recent cycles the plan has limitations. No measure of aggregate activity now available can be trusted implicitly on matters of fine detail. An investigator bent on precision will therefore wish to examine other measures of the same quantity, whether made by the same compiler at different times or by different compilers; 37 also related series that reflect indirectly the behavior of the given quantity. In the end he might present estimates of the cyclical turning dates of, say, the volume of 'employment'; but the operations he will have performed may not be very different from ours. As long as statistical data remain in something like their present state, theoretically distinct methods of dating business cycles-each used in a thoughtful and discriminating fashion-are reasonably certain to merge in practice.

That is not to say that the reference dates must remain in their present stage of rough approximation. Most of them were originally fixed in something of a hurry; revisions have been confined mainly to large and conspicuous errors, and no revision has been made for several years.<sup>38</sup> Surely, the time is ripe for a thorough review that would take account of extensive new statistical materials, and of the knowledge gained about business cycles and the mechanics of setting reference dates since the present chronology was worked out. In the summer of 1941 we projected such a study. The plan was to explore further the methodological problem of dating business cycles,<sup>39</sup> to set reference dates by different methods, reconcile conflicts so far as possible,<sup>40</sup> and with the experience thus gained embark on a more ambitious undertaking—a reasoned history of business cycles. But this project had barely started when the investigators placed in charge were drawn into war work.

For the time being, therefore, we must put up with a reference scale that requires extensive reworking. For example, the American reference trough in 1938 seems predated one month,<sup>41</sup> the trough in 1927 seems

87 Progress in statistical records, as in other branches of life, is uneven. Despite the labor expended, revisions of statistical series are not always improvements.

<sup>38</sup> Indeed, the monthly (but not the quarterly or annual) American reference dates through 1927 have been allowed to stand as published in 1929 in the National Bureau's *Recent Economic Changes* in the United States, Vol. II, p. 892.

<sup>39</sup> Concerning techniques of ascertaining the consensus of cyclical turning points from a collection of time series, see Arthur F. Burns, *Production Trends in the United States since 1870*, pp. 182-96, and Edwin Frickey, *Economic Fluctuations in the United States*, Part II.

<sup>40</sup> This may, of course, involve replacing some reference turning *points* by turning *zones*; which would force a modification of some features of our technique. Cf. p. 148.

41 See above, p. 87,

postdated one month,<sup>42</sup> the trough in 1921 is probably postdated several months, and the peak in 1899 predated several months. Revision is certain to shift many reference dates by a month or two or three; some may be shifted six months or a year. Even after the revisions have been carried through, the reference dates will still vary in dependability. Estimates of turning points of business cycles cannot transcend the raw materials on which they are based; hence, annual reference dates are and will continue to be more dependable than monthly,<sup>43</sup> American reference dates than foreign, and reference dates for recent than for early decades.

The matter of primary importance, however, is whether the reference cycles that we have recognized correspond to business cycles in the sense of our definition. That is the essential thing; the precision of the dates assigned to the culminating points of the expansions and contractions in business activity is a matter of detail by comparison. This investigation has reached a stage where we can be reasonably confident that the list of reference cycles, as a whole, identifies with substantial fidelity the cyclical tides that have swept the business world. The full evidence will be presented in subsequent publications. All we can attempt now is to put before the reader a few fragments of the evidence on which this confidence is based.

If business cycles really consist of roughly concurrent fluctuations in many economic activities, and if our reference dates mark approximately the turning points of business cycles, we should find expansion predominating in every period marked off as a reference expansion, and contraction predominating in every period marked off as a reference contraction. Table 21 tests this expectation by recording the movements of 46 monthly or quarterly series in successive phases of the American reference cycles. The sample leaves much to be desired. No series on employment, or the flow of incomes, or retail trade is included. Production, construction work, and banking are inadequately represented. Physical quantity series are relatively few. There are many partial duplications among the series. But these deficiencies must not be permitted to distort judgment. The sample covers fairly well the behavior of commodity prices, short- and long-term interest rates, security prices, trading in securities, foreign trade, payments by check, business failures, the activity of the iron industry, railroad traffic, and railroad investment. Several indexes of business conditions, which combine on different plans a variety of activities, are also included. The sample is thus of sufficient scope to lend serious interest to the results.

#### 42 See our Bulletin 61, pp. 2-3.

43 But when an error does occur in an annual date, it is likely to be more serious than an error in a monthly date: the former cannot be less than twelve months.

The fiscal-year reference scale for the United States was derived from smaller samples of time series than the calendar-year scale, and therefore is not so trustworthy as the latter.

44 This samp Every mo ending in 193 of simplicity to a fixed gro

But in 18 are included a sample don modity price was met by 7 Of the 74

Cattle receipt Sheep and lan Hog receipts, Hog slaughter Wool receipts Flour shipmer Raw sugar me Stocks of rotto Stocks of whea Stocks of row a Price of corn, Price of wheat Price of cattle.

Most (22) cultural com industrial, or existence or a agricultural s Of the six of a mathem cluded partly case of anthra control over s erratic behav Some of t made for inc Group VI of are highly err are, though t nature of the 45 The signs i should not be tic timing of e

#### DEPENDABILITY OF REFERENCE DATES

The table shows the direction of movements in successive reference phases, without any regard to the size of the movements. Each series covers at least 25 reference phases, ending in 1933. Hence the table includes 46 series in every phase since 1890, and a diminishing number in earlier phases.<sup>44</sup> A plus entry for a reference phase indicates a rise, a minus indicates a decline, zero indicates no change.<sup>45</sup> If a series systematically tends to move early or late at the reference turns, that fact is taken into account in ascertaining its direction of movement; the size of the lead or lag, if any, is entered in the two columns following the title of the series. For example, orders for locomotives tend to lead by one cycle stage at both reference peaks and troughs. Hence the sign for each reference

44 This sample was selected from our basic collection on the following plan:

Every monthly or quarterly series that covers continuously 12 or more full reference cycles ending in 1933 was listed, the minimum period being therefore from 1891 to 1933. In the interests of simplicity it seemed desirable to limit the sample over the greater part of the period surveyed to a fixed group of series.

But in 1890 begin the price series published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics. Since many are included in our basic collection, strict adherence to the above criterion would have yielded a sample dominated by price series. This difficulty was met by including only those single-commodity price series that covered more than 12 full reference cycles. The criterion thus modified was met by 74 series.

Of the 74 series, we dropped the following 28:

Cattle receipts, Chicago Sheep and lamb receipts, Chicago Hog receipts, Chicago Hog slaughter, commercial Wool receipts, Boston Flour shipments. Minneapolis Raw sugar meltings, 4 to 8 ports Stocks of cotton, visible supply Stocks of wheat, visible supply Stocks of raw sugar, 4 ports Price of corn, Chicago Price of wheat, Chicago Price of cattle, Chicago Price of sheep, Chicago Price of hogs, Chicago Index of wholesale prices, farm products Index of wholesale prices, foods Crude rubber imports Raw silk imports Tea imports Coffee imports Tin imports Anthracite coal shipments (or production) Crude petroleum production, Appalachian field Petroleum wells completed, Appalachian field Price of steel rails, Pennsylvania Snyder's index of wages

Most (22) of these series represent marketing, crude processing, prices, imports, or stocks of agricultural commodities. Nearly all of the agricultural series are of narrow coverage-geographic, industrial, or both. The behavior of few, if any, can be regarded as important evidence of the existence or nonexistence of business cycles. In view of the dominating role nature plays in the agricultural sphere, it seemed well to exclude the purely agricultural series entirely.

Of the six remaining series, the wage index was excluded because it consists from 1875 to 1913 of a mathematical interpolation of monthly values from annual data. The other five were excluded partly because of narrow coverage, partly for other reasons: the frequency of strikes in the case of anthracite coal; a rigidly maintained price over protracted periods, in rails; limited business control over supply (a condition similar to that found in agriculture), in the two petroleum series; erratic behavior of monthly data, in tin imports.

Some of the decisions are more or less arbitrary. For example, perhaps as good a case can be made for including rubber and tin imports as for including the price series (at least tin) in Group VI of Table 21; though the fact that monthly data on imports of individual commodities are highly erratic must not be overlooked. Apart from a few doubtful cases, the series in the table are, though to an uneven degree, of broad economic significance, in contrast to the specialized nature of the items that dominate the excluded list.

45 The signs in the columns for successive reference phases, which show direction of movement, should not be confused with the signs in the two 'lead or lag' columns, which show the characteristic timing of each series at the reference turns.

d several on is cerome may n carried imates of erials on continue ates than

reference e sense of the dates ctions in stigation he list of e cyclical I be preis to put his confi-

ations in ximately predomicontractraction. monthly ce cycles. nt, or the struction tity series he series. ent. The hort- and , foreign on indusbusiness vities, are erious in-

han an error

ples of time

### TABLE 21

#### Directions of Movement in Successive Reference Phases, 1854-1933

46 American Series

Series no.	Series	Lead lag ( cycle at refe	(-) or +) in stages erence	E 57	C 58	E 60	C 61	E 65	C 67	E 69	C 70	E 73	C 79	E 82	C 85	
		Peak	Trough	_						<u> </u>			!	_		
	I OENERAL BUSINESS ACTIVITY								6				1	!		
1	Ayres' index of business activity	0	0	+	-	+	-	+	-	{+ }	-	! + j	- ;	+	-	
2	Persons' index of production & trade	0	0		••		•••	••	••		••	•••	•••	11	2	
4	A.T.&T. index of business activity	ŏ	ŏ											+	-	
5	Pittsburgh index of business	0	0													
6	Bank clearings, total	0		• •			••	•••	•••				•••		Ξ	ŧ
8	Bank clearings outside N.Y. City. deflated	0												1+1	_	'
9	Snyder's clearings index of business	Õ	0											+	-	
10	Snyder's index of deposits activity	-1	-1		•••			• •	• •					+	-	
	II ORDERS FOR INVESTMENT GOODS												i			
11	Orders for locomotives	-t	-1									+	-	+	-	
12	Orders for freight cars	-1	-1		•••	••		•••	• •	• •	• •		+	11	-	
14	Plans filed for new buildings Manhattan	-1	-2						•••	+	-	-	<u> </u>	+	+	
		-														
15	Railroad freight ton-miles	0	-1							+	+	+	+ 1	i+	+	
16	Pig iron production	Ő	Ō					•••						+	-	
	IV FOREION TRADE															
17 18	Total imports Total exports	0 0	-1 0					•••	•••	+++	+;	++	+	++	=	
	V INDEXES OF PRICES															
19	Snyder's index of general prices	0	0				-	+	-	-	- !	: - ,	-	+	-	
20	Wholesale prices, total	0	0	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	
21	Wholesale prices, metals & metal products	0 +1	0		•••		•••		••		• •	• •	•••		••	
23	Wholesale prices, fuel & lighting	0	ŏ													
24	Wholesale prices, chemicals & drugs	0	0			•••	•••	•••								
25	Wholesale prices, textiles		0		• •	: • •	•••	•••	•••	••			••	• •	••	
27	Wholesale prices, hides & leather products	0	-1						••						•••	
	VI WHOLESALE PRICES OF INDIVIDUAL COMMODITIES															
28	Pig iron, Philadelphia	0	0	-	-	+	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	+	-	
29	Steel billets, Pittsburgh	0	+1 '	• •	• •	1		• •			!				••	
30	Slab zinc, N.Y.City	0	0	• •	• •	••	<u> </u>				12	1		1	_	
32	Pig lead. N.Y.City	o	ŏ							I		+	-	+		
33	Pig tin, N.Y.City	0	0												-	
	VII MONEY AND SECURITY MARKETS															
34	Bank clearings, N.Y.City	-1	-1	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	
35	Shares traded, N.Y.Stock Exchange	-1		•••		••	••	• •	• •		•••		· ·	+	-	
30	Index of 'all' common stock prices	+2 −1	-1							1::			-	i 🕂 i	<u> </u>	i
38	Index of railroad stock prices	-1	-1		-	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	-	+	-	
39	Call money rates, N.Y.Stock Exchange	0	0	• •	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	
40	90-day money rates, stock exchange loans	+1	+1	•••	21	+		· · · +	÷	<del> </del>	11		21	· +		
42	Railroad bond yields.	+1	+2		-	+	-	+	o	+	-	-	-	-	-	•
	VIII BUSINESS FAILURES												il			
43	Number (Dun's), inverted	0	0											+	-	*
44	Number (Bradstreet's), inverted	0		• •	•••							• •	•••	1:1	Ξ	1
45	Liabilities (Bradstreet's), inverted.	-1	-2											.		
!			<u>'</u> !	I. I		2	: 1	·	أمعس	!!	·!	<u>ا</u>		1 <u>i</u>		1

For explanation of the signs, see text. 'E 57' stands for the reference expansion ending June 1857, 'C 58' for the reference contraction ending Dec. 1858, etc. The monthly reference dates are listed in Table 16. See Appendix C for sources and other notes about the series.

98

# Direc

E C 93 94

- || +

-+--+-+-

-+

.....

. . . . . . . . . .

C E C 88 90 91

E 87

+ - + - + -+ - + - + -+ - + - + -

+ + + + +

+ + +

· · · · · · · · ·

+ | -

++++

+++-

+ + + -

-

+ - - -

++-++ :++

--+++ - + - + - +

-

# DEPENDABILITY OF REFERENCE DATES

#### TABLE 21-Continued

### Directions of Movement in Successive Reference Phases, 1854-1933

46 American Series

E 87	C 88	Е 90	C 91	Е 93	C 94	E 95	C 97	Е 99	с 00	E 02	С 04	E 07	С 08	E 10	C 12	E 13	C 14	E 18	C 19	E 20	C 21	E 23	C 24	E 26	C 27	E 29	C 33	Series no.
* * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +		+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	1111111	· ++++++++++	111111111	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	111111111	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	111111111	<u> </u>	1111+111	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	111111111	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	1111++111	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	1 1 1 1 + 1 1 +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
+ + + +	- - - -	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	- - +	+++-		++++++		++++++	 + -	++++++	1111	+++++	  	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		++++		++-+	- - -	+++++		+++++	  +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	- + -	+++-+	  	11 12 13 14
+ +	+ -	++++	+ -	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	-	+++	-	++++	+ -	+ +	+ -	+++++	-	++	+ -	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	-	++++	-	+++	-	+ +	-	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	-	+++	-	15 16
+ -	+ -	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	- +	+ -	- +	++++	++++	-+	+ +	+ +	-	+++++	-	+ -	- +	+ +	- +	+++	- +	+++	-	+ +	-	+ +	- -	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	-	17 18
+ 0	+ +   		1+111+1+1	+ + +		+++-++-+	+	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ 1 1 1 1 + 1 1	+++++		+++++++++	+	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ - + + + +	+ + + + + + + +	+ + +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		++++1++1		++	+ +	+ - + +		19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27
+++++++	- + + + +	-++	11111			++++	- + + +	+++++	+	+++	- - + +++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	1 1 1 1 1	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ + - +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		+++++-		+ + + + + + + +	+	+ + + + +		++++	11111	28 29 30 31 32 33
. + : + + : + +		++-++.++	+ + + + + + + +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		<b>+ +</b> + + + + + -	1111111	+++++++	111++11+	+ + + + + + + + +	+	+ + + + + + + + +		+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	+ - + + + + + + + +	- 	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	++-++	++-++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		++++++++	+	+++++++	++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	11111111	34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42
+ + + +	- - - -	- - + +		++++++	  	- - + +	+	++++++		- + + +		+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	  	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		+++		+++++	++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		+ + + +		- + + +		++++	1 + 1	43 44 45 46

	E	C	E	C
70	73	79	82	85
	+		++++	
  -	++++-	-   +   +   -	++++	- - +
+	+	, 	++	+ -
+   +	++++	i -   +	+++	
			++	
- : : 1 : :	+  + +	- : : :	++ +	
- : : + - :	+++	- : : :	+++++++-	
		· · · · · · ·	+  +	

58' for the reference

expansion indicates whether the average volume of orders in the stage just before the reference peak exceeded or fell short of the average in the stage just before the preceding reference trough. Likewise the sign for each reference contraction compares the average volume of orders in the stage just before the reference trough with the average in the stage just before the preceding reference peak. Of the 46 series, 22 have no tendency to lead or lag; in this group of series the signs are determined simply by comparing the standings at successive reference peaks and troughs. In bankruptcies and bond sales, which bear an inverted relation to business cycles, all signs are reversed; but it is simpler to think of these series as treated on the standard plan, after having been inverted at the start, and they are designated thus in the stub.<sup>46</sup>

Table 22 summarizes these entries, series by series. A small group of highly significant items-four indexes of business activity, pig iron production, and locomotive orders-invariably rise during reference expansions and decline during reference contractions. Another two indexes of business activity conform in direction to every reference phase but one. Six more series conform in direction to all but two reference phases; another seven conform to all but three phases, and another twelve to all but four or five phases. This count includes 33 series, among which are the most comprehensive items in the full sample of 46. The number of series whose fluctuations match closely our reference cycles would appear still larger if the entries in Table 21 were refined. For example, although railway freight traffic rose in eight reference contractions, the rise in seven of these instances was at a lower rate than during the adjacent phases of expansion.<sup>47</sup> Taken as a whole, the table clearly supports the hypothesis that many business activities in the United States have shared a common rhythm and that our reference-cycle chronology exposes and expresses this rhythm.

It is a matter of some consequence whether the reference cycles fit the cyclical fluctuations in business activities phase by phase, as well as on the average. The summary in Table 23 is directed to this question. Without exception we find that the proportion of rising series drops abruptly in passing from a reference expansion to a contraction; with equal abruptness it goes up in passing from a reference contraction to an expansion. Further, in every reference expansion the proportion of rises exceeds one-half by a good margin, and the like is true of declines during reference.

46 This explanation covers the essentials, but is incomplete. It is not possible to go further without assuming knowledge of Ch. 5, or repeating much of that chapter. The entries in Table 21 are taken directly from our standard Table R4, explained in Ch. 5, Sec. X.

<sup>47</sup> Furthermore, declines that we recognize as specific-cycle contractions occurred within four of the eight reference contractions. They fail to register in Table 21, because their timing differs materially from the fixed schedule assumed in the table. See Thor Hultgren, Railway Freight Traffic in Prosperity and Depression (National Bureau of Economic Research, *Occasional Paper 5*, Feb. 1942). Table 3 of that paper is not strictly comparable with our Table 21, since the former does not take account of the tendency to lead at reference troughs.

# Summar

t OENERAL B Ayres' index of busin Persons' index of pro Axe-Houghton index, A.T.&T. index of bu Pittsburgh index of b Bank clearings, total. Bank clearings outside Bank clearings outside Snyder's clearings in Snyder's index of dep

II ORDERS FOR ID Orders for locomotive Orders for freight cat Orders for passenger Plans filed for new bu

Iff PRO Railroad freight ton-Pig iron production, IV FOREM

Total imports...... Total exports......

#### V INDEXES

Snyder's index of gen Wh. prices, total.... Wh. prices, metals & Wh. prices, building of Wh. prices, fuel & lig Wh. prices, chemicals Wh. prices, the states... Wh. prices, housefurn Wh. prices, hides & h

#### VI WHOLES

OF INDIVIDUAL Pig iron, Philadelphia Steel billets, Pittsburg Slab zinc, N.Y.City... Copper, N.Y.City... Pig lead, N.Y.City... Pig tin, N.Y.City...

#### VII MONEY AND

Bank clearings, N.Y.C Shares traded, N.Y.St Bonds traded, N.Y.St Index of 'all' commo Index of railroad stoc Call money rates, N.Y 90-day money rates, s Commercial paper ra Railroad bond yields

#### VIII BUSINE

Number (Dun's), inte Number (Bradstreet's Liabilities (Dun's), in Liabilities (Bradstreet

Derived from Table 2 \*Rises during referent bDifference between Includes one referent dIncludes two referent

### DEPENDABILITY OF REFERENCE DATES

#### TABLE 22

#### Summary of Movements in All Reference Expansions and Contractions 46 American Series, 1854-1933

	Numb	er of ref xpansio	erence ns	Numt	er of ref	erence	Numb	er of ref phases	erence
Series	Corr	In w	hich ies	Con	In w ser	hich ies	Corr	In w ser	hich ics
	ered	Rises	De- clines	ered	Rises	De- clines	ered	Con- forms*	Fails to con- form <sup>b</sup>
I GENERAL BUSINESS ACTIVITY									
Ayres' index of business activity	20	20		20		20	40	40	
Persons' index of production & trade	15	15	•••	15		15	30	30	
A.T.&T. index of business activity	15	15		15		15	30	30	
Pittsburgh index of business	14	14		14		14	28	28	
Bank clearings, total	15	15	••	15	4	11	30	26	4
Bank clearings outside N.Y.C.	15	15		15	4	11	30	26	4
Sonder's clearings index of business	15	15		15	1	14	30	29	1
nyder's index of deposits activity	15	15		15	2	13	30	28	2
II ORDERS FOR INVESTMENT GOODS									
Orders for locomotives	16	16		16		16	32	32	
Orders for freight cars	16	16		16	3	13	32	29	3
Orders for passenger cars.	16	14	2	16	1	15	32	29	3
rians med for new buildings, mannattan.	17		-	17	- 1	17			5
III PRODUCTION	17	17		17				~	
Cailroad freight ton-miles	17.	1/		1/	8	15	34	20	8
	15	.5		15		.5	30	70	••
IV FOREIGN TRADE	17	16	1	17		13	34	20	٤
Total exports	17	14	3	17	9	8	34	22	12
V INDEXES OF DRICES									
invder's index of general prices	18	15	3	19	6	13	37	28	9
Vh. prices, total	2 <b>0</b> °	13	6	20	3	17	40	30	10
Vh. prices, metals & metal products	12	10	2	13		13	25	23	2
Vh. prices, building materials	12	9	3	13		13	25	22	3
Vh. prices, fuel & lighting	12	8	4	13	4	9	25	17	8
Vh. prices, textiles	12	9	3	13	2	11	25	20	5
Vh. prices, housefurnishing goods	12	8	4	13	4	9	25	17	8
Wh. prices, hides & leather products	12	8	4	13	3	10	25	18	7
VI WHOLESALE PRICES OF INDIVIDUAL COMMODITIES									
ig iron, Philadelphia	20	16	4	20		20	40	36	4
teel billets, Pittsburgh	14	12	2	14		14	28	26	2
lab zinc, N.Y.City	15	14	1	15	3	12	30	26	4
Sopper, N.Y.City	18	14	4	19	4	15	3/	29	87
Pig tin, N.Y.City	14	8	6	15	5	10	29	18	11
VII MONEY AND SECURITY MARKETS									
ank clearings, N.Y.City	20	20		20	3	17	40	37	3
hares traded, N.Y.Stock Exchange	15	14	1	15	2	13	30	27	3
Sonds traded, N.Y.Stock Exchange, inv	13	10	3	13	1	12	26	22	4
ndex of fail common stock prices	15	14	1	16	3	13	31	27	4
Call money rates, N.Y.Stock Exchange	19	16	3	20	.	20	39	36	3
0-day money rates, stock exchange loans.	12	11	1	13	1	12	25	23	2
Commercial paper rates, N.Y.City	19	18	1	20	3	17	39	35	4
Cauroad bond yields	19	14	5	204	0	12	39	26	13
VIII BUSINESS FAILURES					_ [				,
Number (Dun's), inverted	15	12	4	15	2	13	30	24	6 ∡
Liabilities (Dun's), inverted	15	13	2	15	1	14	30	27	3
iabilities (Bradstreet's), inverted	14	13	1	15	i	14	29	27	2

Derived from Table 21.

A Rises during reference expansion or declines during reference contraction.
Difference between the two preceding columns.
Includes one reference expansion during which the series shows no change.
Includes two reference contractions during which the series shows no change.

ES

s in the stage verage in the e the sign for orders in the the stage just e no tendency hed simply by d troughs. In on to business hese series as the start, and

mall group of pig iron proerence expanwo indexes of hase but one. rence phases; twelve to all ng which are he number of would appear ple, although s, the rise in the adjacent supports the have shared a exposes and

e cycles fit the well as on the ion. Without s abruptly in qual abruptn expansion. rises exceeds during refer-

o further without Table 21 are taken

within four of the differs materially ht Traffic in Prosper 5, Feb. 1942). mer does not take

ence contractions. The smallest proportion of rises to declines in a reference expansion, or of declines to rises in a reference contraction, is 2 to 1. Though not conclusive, these results strongly indicate that the successive reference dates under test mark off units of pervasive fluctuations in business life, and thus serve the purpose for which they were designed.

		Dube		norneun ot			
Nature	Period	Number of	Num	ber of series	that	Per ce series	ent of that
phase		covered	Rise	Rise Decline Show		Rise	Decline
Exp. Con.	1854–57 1857–58	4 8	3	1 8		75 0	25 100
Exp.	1858–60	8	7	1	···	88	12
Con.	1860–61	10		10	···	0	100
Exp.	1861–65	10	9	1		90	10
Con.	1865–67	10	1	8	1	15	85
Exp.	1867–69	14	11	3		79	21
Con.	1869–70	14	. 4	10		29	71
Exp.	1870–73	18	13	5		72	28
Con.	1873–79	19	4	15		21	79
Exp.	1879-82	32	31	1		97	3
Con.	1882-85	35	2	33		6	94
Exp.	1885–87	37	34	2	1	93	7
Con.	1887–88	37	8	29		22	78
Exp.	1888–90	38	29	9		76	24
Con.	1890–91	46	9	37		20	80
Exp.	1891–93	46	31	15	····	67	33
Con.	1893–94	46	1	45	···	2	98
Exp.	1894–95	46	39	7		85	15
Con.	1895–97	46	8	38		17	83
Exp.	1897-99	46	44	2	····	96	4
Con.	1899-00	46	16	30		35	65
Exp.	1900–02	46	41	5		89	11
Con.	1902–04	46	7	39		15	85
Exp.	1904–07	46	45	1	·	98	2
Con.	1907–08	46	1	45		2	98
Exp.	1908–10	46	44	2		96	4
Con.	1910–12	46	9	37		20	80
Exp.	1912–13	46	42	4	··	91	9
Con.	1913–14	46	4	41	i	10	90
Exp.	1914–18	46	42	4		91	9
Con.	1918–19	46	15	31		33	67
Exp. Con.	1919–20 1920–21	46 46	43	3 46		93 0	7 100
Exp.	1921–23	46	41	5		89	11
Con.	1923–24	46	5	41		11	89
Exp.	1924–26	46	38	8		83	17
Con.	1926–27	46	15	31		33	67
Exp. Con.	1927–29 1929–33	46 46	38	8 46	····	83 0	17 100

TABLE 23
Summary of Movements in Successive Reference Phases, 1854-1933
Based on 46 American Series

Derived from Table 21.

\* These instances were split equally between the rises and declines, in computing the percentages of the following columna

The pre samples. O activity'; a ing 28 series

T

Nature Perio

of

Sum B

phase	
_	
Exp.	1854-5
Con.	1857-5
Exp.	1858-6
Con.	1860-6
Exp.	18616
Con	18656
Exp.	1867–6
Con.	1869–7
Exp.	1870–7
Con.	1873–7
Exp.	1879–8
Con.	1882–8
Exp.	1885-8
Con.	1887-8
Exp.	1888-9
Con.	1890-9
Exp.	1891–9
Con.	1893–9
Exp.	1894–9
Con.	189 <b>5–</b> 9
Exp.	1897-9
Con.	1899-0
Exp.	1900 <b>-0</b>
Con.	190 <b>2-0</b>
Exp.	1904 <b>01</b>
Con.	190708
Exp.	1908–10
Con.	1910–12
Exp.	1912–13
Con.	1913–1
Exp.	1914–18
Con.	1918–19
Exp.	1919–20
Con.	1920–21
Exp.	1921–23
Con.	1923–24
Exp.	1924–20
Con.	1926–21
Exp.	1927–29
Con.	1929–33

# See notes to Table

<sup>a</sup> Includes groups I-I <sup>b</sup> Includes groups V <sup>c</sup> Includes series 8, 1 back of 1890, series

its dollar coverage i

### DEPENDABILITY OF REFERENCE DATES

The preceding results are tested in Table 24 on the basis of three subsamples. One group includes 18 series on 'commercial and industrial activity'; a second on 'prices and financial activity' includes the remaining 28 series. The second group bears out the full sample, phase by phase.

#### TABLE 24 Summary of Movements in Successive Reference Phases, 1854-1933 Based on Three Subsamples Drawn from 46 American Series

Nature		Comme tri	rcial an al activ	id indus- ity*	Prices	and fir activity	nancial <sup>b</sup>	Nor	-duplic sample	ating
of phase	Period ·	No. of	Per o serie	cent of is that	No. of	Per seri	cent of es that	No. of	Per o serie	cent of is that
		series	Rise	Decline	series	Rise	Decline	series	Rise	Decline
Exp.	1854–57	1 1	100	0	3	67	33	3	67	33
Con.	1857–58		0	100	7	0	100	6	0	100
Exp.	1858–60	1	100	0	7	86	14	6	83	17
Con.	1860–61	1	0	100	9	0	100	7	0	100
Exp.	1861–65	1	100	0	9	89	11	7	86	14
Con.	1865–67	1	0	100	9	17	83	7	21	79
Exp.	1867–69	5	100	0	9	67	33	11	82	18
Con.	1869–70	5	60	40	9	11	89	11	27	73
Exp.	1870–73	8	88	12	10	60	40	15	73	27
Con.	1873–79	8	50	50	11	0	100	16	25	75
Exp.	1879–82	17	100	0	15	93	7	20	95	5
Con.	1882–85	17	12	88	18	0	100	22	9	91
Exp.	1885–87	18	94	6	19	92	8	23	89	11
Con.	1887–88	18	11	89	19	32	68	23	30	70
Exp.	1888-90	18	100	0	20	55	45	24	75	25
Con.	1890-91	18	17	83	28	21	79	25	32	68
Exp.	1891-93	18	89	11	28	54	46	25	68	32
Con.	1893-94	18	6	94	28	0	100	25	4	96
Exp.	1894–95	18	100	0	28	75	25	25	88	12
Con.	1895–97	18	11	89	28	21	79	25	12	88
Exp.	1897-99	18	94	6	28	96	4	25	92	8
Con.	1899-00	18	33	67	28	36	64	25	40	60
Exp.	1900–02	18	100	0	28	82	18	25	96	4
Con.	1902–04	18	6	94.•	28	21	79	25	12	88
Exp.	1904–07	18	100	0	28	96	4	25	96	4
Con.	1907–08	18	6	94	28	0	100	25	0	100
Exp.	1908-10	18	94	6	28	96	4	25	92	8
Con.	1910-12	18	22	78	28	18	82	25	16	84
Exp.	1912–13	18	100	0	28	86	14	25	88	12
Con.	1913–14	18	6	94	28	12	88	25	18	82
Exp.	1914–18	18	94	6	28	89	11	25	88	12
Con.	1918–19	18	17	83	28	43	57	25	32	68
Exp.	1919–20	18	100	0	28	89	11	25	96	4
Con.	1920–21	18	0	100	28	0	100	25	0	100
Exp.	1921-23	18	100	0	28	82	18	25	84	16
Con.	1923-24	18	17	83	28	7	93	25	8	92
Exp.	1924–26	18	100	0	28	71	29	25	76	24
Con.	1926–27	18	33	67	28	32	68	25	36	64
Exp.	1927–29	18	94	6	28	75	25	25	76	24
Con.	1929–33	18	0	100	28	0	100	25	0	100

See notes to Table 23.

See notes to 1 able 23. Includes groups I-IV in Table 21. Includes groups V-VIII in Table 21. Includes groups V-VIII in Table 21. Includes series 8, 11-18, 21-27, 34-37, 39-42, and 46, as numbered in Table 21. Since series 21-27 do not go back of 1890, series 20 and 28-33 are used instead through 1890. Series 46 was preferred to series 45, because its dollar coverage is on the average larger.

in a refern, is 2 to 1. successive bns in busimed.

-1933

tes of the following

17

100

In the first group, rises slightly outnumber declines in one reference contraction and equal the number of declines in another; but these anomalies occur before our sample reaches its full size. Finally, the table shows the movements of 25 series that are practically independent, in the sense that their coverage is practically free from duplication. The summary for this subsample is easier to interpret than the summary for the full sample, for the subsample has some claim to statistical purity while the full sample has none. At the same time, the duplications in the latter tend on the whole to give additional weight to the more important activities in the sample. But we need not dwell on the respective merits of the two samples, for the nonduplicating series confirm closely the results for the full sample.

Further confirmation is afforded by Table 25, which records the number of rises and declines determined on three principles. The entries under 'A' repeat the results in Table 23. Method B is the same as method A, except that it makes no allowance for the characteristic lead or lag of some series at reference turns.48 Method C is a hybrid of A and B. If the movement of a series appears as countercyclical (that is, as a rise in a reference contraction or a decline in a reference expansion) when method A is used but as conforming when method B is used, it is counted as conforming in method C. In all other instances the count in method C is the same as in A.49 Thus method B ignores leads or lags entirely, A recognizes fixed leads or lags, while C admits some flexibility in timing. Of the three methods, B supplies the severest test of our hypothesis that the reference cycles mark off units of roughly concurrent fluctuations in many economic activities. Method C, on the other hand, is most closely geared to our hypothesis, which admits the possibility of irregular leads or lags.<sup>50</sup> But the merits of the several methods need not detain us; in view of the roughness of each, it is better to regard them as supplements than as alternatives. In any event, each method supports the list of reference cycles.51

48 The count was made from a table similar to Table 21. Of course, the entries in the two tables were identical for the 22 series for which no allowance for leads or lags was necessary in Table 21.
49 There is nothing to recommend this method of admitting flexibility, except that it is easy to compute, allows no room for subjective judgments, and is conservative—in the sense that it allows only slight flexibility.

#### 50 Cf. p. 6.

51 So do several other methods, not reproduced for reasons of economy. The one discordant item in these experiments is the result of method B for the reference contraction of 1899-1900. But the peak from which this contraction starts is predated, perhaps by a half year. A rough adjustment for the error in dating may be obtained by measuring the change from the first third of the reference contraction to the trough (that is, from stage VI to IX in our standard Table R1, instead of from V to IX). According to this computation, likely to be an understatement, the percentage of declines Is 61. It may also be noted that 72 per cent of the series 'conform' to the reference contraction even as dated; that is to say, the rate of change during this fixed interval is algebraically smaller than in the next preceding and following expansions in 72 per cent of the series in our sample.

## Besides the unever characteris expansions

Sum

Natur of phase	e Period
Exp.	1854–5
Con.	1857–5
Exp.	1858-6
Con.	1860-6
Exp.	1861-6
Con.	1865-6
Exp.	1867 <b>6</b>
Con.	18697
Exp.	1870–7
Con.	1873–7
Exp.	187981
Con-	188285
Exp.	1885-87
Con.	1887-88
Exp.	188 <b>8-90</b>
Con.	1890-91
Exp.	1891–93
Con.	1893–94
Exp.	189495
Con.	189597
Exp.	1897–99
Con.	1899–00
Exp.	1900–02
Con.	1902–04
Exp.	1904–07
Con.	1907–08
Exp.	1908–10
Con.	1910–12
Exp.	1912–13
Con.	1913–14
Exp.	1914–18
Con.	1918–19
Exp.	191920
Con.	192021
Exp.	1921-23
Con.	1923-24
Exp.	1924–26
Con.	1926–27
Exp.	1927–29
Con.	1929–33
In an ins	ignificant

• Taken directly fr • Explained in text

Besides the general results already indicated, Tables 23-25 bring out the uneven diffusion of business cycles, which is one of their outstanding characteristics. On the average the proportion of rises during reference expansions exceeds slightly the proportion of declines during reference

#### TABLE 25

#### Summary of Movements in Successive Reference Phases, 1854-1933 Based on Different Methods Applied to 46 American Series

							_	
			Per cent o	f series that	rise when	Per cent of	series that d	ecline when
Nature of phase	Period	No. of serics covered	Allowance is made for fixed leads or lags <sup>a</sup> (A)	No allowance is made for leads or lags <sup>b</sup> (B)	Allowance is made for flexible leads or lags <sup>b</sup> (C)	Allowance is made for fixed leads or lags <sup>a</sup> (A)	No allowance is made for leads or lags <sup>b</sup> (B)	Allowance is made for flexible leads or lags <sup>b</sup> (C)
Exp.	1854–57	4	75	75	75	25	25	25
Con.	1857–58	8	0	0	0	100	100	100
Exp.	1858-60	8	88	75	88	12	25	12
Con.	1860-61	10	0	10	0	100	90	100
Exp.	1861–65	10	90	80	90	10	20	10
Con.	1865–67	10	15	30	5	85	70	95
Exp.	1867-69	14	79	79	79	21	21	21
Con.	1869-70	14	29	25	21	71	75	79
Exp.	1870–73	18	72	56	78	28	44	22
Con.	1873–79	19	21	37	21	79	63	79
Exp.	1879–82	32	97	97	97	3	3	3
Con.	1882–85	35	6	6	6	94	94	94
Exp.	1885–87	37	93	88	93	7	12	7
Con.	1887–88	37	22	32	19	78	68	81
Exp.	1888-90	38	76	58	76	24	42	24
Con.	1890-91	46	20	26	17	80	74	83
Exp.	1891–93	46	67	59	70	33	41	30
Con.	1893–94	46	2	4	2	98	96	98
Exp.	1894–95	46	85	78	85	15	22	15
Con.	1895–97	46	17	34	17	83	66	83
Exp.	1897–99	46	96	93	96	4	7	4
Con.	1899–00	46	35	52	33	65	48	67
Exp.	1900-02	46	89	80	89	11	20	11
Con.	1902-04	46	15	26	15	85	74	85
Exp.	1904–07	46	. 98	87	98	2	13	2
Con.	1907–08	46	2	7	0	98	93	100
Exp.	1908–10	46	96	91	96	4	9	4
Con.	1910–12	46	20	26	20	80	74	80
Exp.	1912–13	46	91	90	93	9	10	7
Con.	1913–14	46	10	13	10	90	87	90
Exp.	1914–18	46	91	87	93	9	13	7
Con.	1918–19	46	33	37	28	67	63	72
Exp.	1919–20	46	93	91	93 .	7	9	7
Con.	1920–21	46	0	5	0	100	95	100
Exp.	1921-23	46	89	89	4 93	11	11	7
Con.	1923-24	46	11	20	9	89	80	91
Exp.	1924–26	46	83	76	85	17	24	15
Con.	1926–27	46	33	29	25	67	71	· 75
Exp.	1927–29	46	83	77	85	17	23	15
Con.	1929–33	46	0	2	0	100	98	100

In an insignificant number of instances, a series showed zero change during a reference phase. Their treatment is explained in Table 23, note 'a'.

• Taken directly from Table 23. • Explained in text.

erence cone anomalies e shows the e sense that ary for this sample, for full sample end on the ities in the wo samples, or the full

ds the num-The entries e as method ad or lag of nd B. If the a rise in a hen method nted as conhod C is the A recognizes Of the three he reference many ecoly geared to ds or lags.<sup>50</sup> view of the ents than as of reference

n the two tables y in Table 21. it is easy to comat it allows only

scordant item in 00. But the peak justment for the of the reference instead of from ntage of declines

contraction even

smaller than in

nple.

#### TABLE 26

#### Relation between the Amplitude and Diffusion of Business Cycles United States, 1879-1933

· Mathed of			Average per ce	nt of series t	hat	
ascertaining direction of	v	Rise in expansi vhose amplitud	ons e is <sup>b</sup>	De	cline in contrac whose amplitude	tions is <sup>e</sup>
movement <sup>a</sup>	Mild	Moderate	Vigorous	Mild	Moderate	Severe
B	73	84	91	67	74	95
A	81	90	94	75	82	. 98
<b>c</b>	83	91	95	78	84	<b>98</b>

Derived from Table 25. The averages are unweighted arithmetic means. Weighting by number of series would change the averages by one point at most. It cannot be of much consequence because the sample is fixed, starting with the reference contraction of 1890-91.

See the headings in Table 25 and the explanations in the text.

<sup>b</sup>To classify business-cycle expansions according to intensity of amplitude (see Table 156), we (a) matched the specific-cycle expansions of three indexes of business activity (A.T.&T., Ayres, and Persons) with the reference expansions, (b) ranked the fifteen expansions in each index from 1879 to 1929, (c) averaged the ranks of the three indexes for each reference expansion, (d) sorted the reference expansions into three equal groups on the Mild (smallest 5): 1888-90, 1891-93, 1900-02, 1912-13, 1927-29 Moderate (next 5): 1885-87, 1894-95, 1904-07, 1919-20, 1924-26 Vigorous (largest 5): 1879-82, 1897-99, 1908-10, 1914-18, 1921-23

• The cyclical contractions were classified on the same plan as the expansions, with the following results-Mild (smallest 5): 1887-88, 1893-1900, 1902-04, 1910-12, 1926-27 Moderate (next 5): 1890-91, 1895-97, 1913-14, 1918-19, 1923-24 Severe (largest 5): 1882-85, 1893-94, 1907-08, 1920-21, 1929-33

contractions. This is the result to be expected in a progressive economy.<sup>52</sup> However, there are more business-cycle contractions in which every or almost every series of our sample declines than there are expansions in which every or almost every series rises. Consequently, the proportion of falls during reference contractions varies more from case to case than does the proportion of rises during reference expansions. Table 26 demonstrates that the degree of cyclical diffusion is correlated with the amplitude of cyclical fluctuations. Since 1879<sup>53</sup> practically all series in our sample declined during severe business-cycle contractions, while a substantial proportion rose during mild contractions.54 The diffusion of business-cycle expansions is likewise correlated with their amplitude, though the correlation is not so close as in contractions (see Tables 25 and 156).55

52 The average per cent of rises during reference expansions is 82, 88, 89, according to methods B, A and C, respectively, in the sample of 46 series. The corresponding averages of the per cent of declines during reference contractions are 78, 85, and 87. The discrepancy between the averages for expansion and contraction would be more prominent if the sample excluded series adjusted for secular trend and included more volume series relatively to price series. The averages just cited are weighted arithmetic means, the weight being the number of series covering a reference phase.

58 That is as far back as it is safe to go at present, in view of the diminishing size of the sample and the uncertainties in grading the severity of cyclical movements. Cf. pp. 455, 462, 464.

54 It may be of interest to note (Table 24) that, according to method A, every series on 'prices and finance declined during the five severe contractions between 1879 and 1933. This happened as well in the substantial contractions of 1857-58 and 1873-79. However, back of 1879 the sample shrinks rapidly.

55 If we may judge from our sample, there is no significant correlation between the duration of reference phases and cyclical diffusion.

Fron tion of th of busin regard m of pheno judge wł violent c are busir and unev considere among th cycles, to 'severe de for 'crise economic method of charts a co have been are overle are very si Table States bet tors, each on some in ton speak contractio 'depression when well properly Eckler see severe con are held 'depressio and recove ing space mental ch does not vigorous 56 These matt

Its Setting, pp 57 Economic s cycles. It is in widely. See Ch 58 Review of A 59 Ibid., Aug.

#### DEPENDABILITY OF REFERENCE DATES

From the uneven diffusion of business fluctuations and the correlation of this feature with their amplitude springs discord in chronologies of business cycles. There is a growing tendency among economists to regard mild and severe business contractions as belonging to one species of phenomena, but disagreements on this issue persist. Every competent judge who admits the existence of business cycles will readily agree that violent contractions, such as occurred in 1907-08, 1920-21 and 1929-33, are business-cycle movements. But there is disagreement whether a mild and uneven contraction such as that of 1887-88 or 1926-27 may be justly considered a phase of business cycles.<sup>56</sup> It is still a fairly common practice among theorists, when venturing observations on the history of business cycles, to recite with little ado chronologies restricted to 'booms' and 'severe depressions'. Economic historians still have a special predilection for 'crises' dates. These traditional procedures have been dropped by economic statisticians; not from a love of novelty, but because their method of working trains and disciplines the eye. Observing in their charts a continuous gradation from 'mild' to 'vigorous' fluctuations, they have been impelled to recognize as business cycles many movements that are overlooked or slighted by literary investigators. Their chronologies are very similar to ours,<sup>57</sup> though their language is not always the same.

ons

Severe

95

98

98

f series would

fixed, starting

) matched the the reference

e ranks of the groups on the

ults

onomy.52

every or

nsions in

ortion of

than does

6 demon-

he ampli-

es in our

ile a sub-

**F**usion of

mplitude,

Tables 25

to methods per cent of

averages for

adjusted for

just cited are e phase.

sample and

n 'prices and

ened as well

mple shrinks

duration of

Table 27 shows compactly how our list of business cycles in the United States between 1854 and 1938 compares with the lists of other investigators, each of whom has chronicled all or a substantial part of this period on some independent basis. Kitchin, Persons, Ayres, and Axe and Houghton speak explicitly of dating 'business cycles'. Eckler observes that some contractions on his list should be regarded as 'recessions' rather than 'depressions'. Hubbard writes in a similar vein: "minor movements, when well defined, have been included, whether such movements are properly to be classified as depressions or not".58 Both Hubbard and Eckler seem to imply that only a 'depression'-by which they mean a severe contraction-can mark the close of a business cycle. Similar views are held by Gilbert, who argues, for example, that a 'recession', not a 'depression', occurred late in 1887 and early in 1888: "to consider the dip and recovery of 1887 and 1888 as more than a slight adjustment or breathing space in the forward march is to deny the significance of those fundamental changes which have been distinguished as business cycles".<sup>59</sup> It does not seem that more is meant here by 'fundamental changes' than vigorous expansions and severe contractions. Terminological prefer-

56 These matters are rarely analyzed scientifically. Cf. Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, pp. 464-8, and our Bulletin 61, pp. 2, 18-20.

<sup>57</sup> Economic statisticians have also called attention to fluctuations of a higher order than business cycles. It is instructive to note in this connection that their chronologies of 'long cycles' differ widely. See Ch. 11.

<sup>58</sup> Review of Economic Statistics, Feb. 1936, p. 17.
<sup>59</sup> Ibid., Aug. 1933, pp. 142-3.

	United States.
	Investigators.
	Other
1 1	and
I A D L.	Bureau
	National
	the
	þ
	Recognized
	ycles

	Busine	sss Cycles R	ccognized by	the National I	Bureau and Other Investigators, United	States, 1854–1938
Investigator	Period covered by comparison <sup>®</sup>	Number of cyclical phases <sup>b</sup> during this period in N.B.E.R. chronology	Cyclical phases recognized by N.B.E.R. that investigator omits	Cyclical phases not recognized by N.B.E.R. that investigator lists	Criterion for dating business cycles	Source of publication
J. Kitchin	1890-1920	.18	None	None	Bank clearings, wholesale prices, and com-	Cycles and Trends in Economic Factors, Perian of Frommic Contents, 1002 - 10
E. W. Axe and R. Houghton	1885-1929	27	<b>Con. 1</b> 926–27	None	Axe-Houghton index of trade and industrial activity	reactor by zeronance, spanner, part, p. 10. Financial and Business Cycles, Manufactur- ing Growth, and Analysis of Individual Industries, 1883–1930, <i>The Annalist</i> , Jan. 16, 1931, pp. 150–1. Numerous misprints, verified from pp. 95, 162–3 of this source, and <i>ibid.</i> , Jan. 15, 1926, pp. 115-6, and
W. M. Persons	18731938	33	None	Exp. 1875–76 Con. 1898	Persons' index of production and trade (Bar- ron's index after 1929)	July 18, 1930, pp. 102-3. Proceasing Burners Cycts (John Wiley, 1931), pp. 84-5, 198. Continued alter 1929 ac- cording to Persons' method, by Elmer C. Bratt, Burners Cycle and Foreasing (Busi- ness Publications, 1940) – 401, 401
A. R. Eckler	1873-1933	31	Con. 1918-19	None	Six annual scries: railway operating revenues, imports, pig iron production, cotton con- sumption, coal production (bituminous and anthractic), bank clearings or debits for selected cities.	A Measure of the Severity of Depressions, 1873–1932, Review of Economic Statistics, May 1933, p. 79.
D. W. Gilbert	1854-1929	39	Con. 1918-19	Exp. 1866	Ayres' index of business activity, Persons' index of production and trade, Snyder's clearings index of business. Also the follow- ing annual records: Thorp's annals, Bul- lock's analyses of imports and postal reve- nues, and Cole's index of domestic trade	Business Cycles and Municipal Expendi- tures, <i>Ravizw of Economic Statistics</i> , Aug. 1933, pp. 140-1.
J. B. Hubbard	1873–1912, 1920–33	56	Exp. 1894–95 Con. 1926–27	None	Frickey's clearings index for seven cities out- side New York before World War I. Bank debits for 241 cities (excluding Boston, Chicago, Los Angeles, San Francisco, De- troit, Phildelphia and Cleveland, as well as New York) after the war.	Business Declines and Recoveries, <i>Review of Economic Statistics</i> , Feb. 1936.
L. P. Аутса	1854-1938	42	Con. 1926-27	None	Ayres' index of business activity	Turning Points in Business Cycles (Macmillan, 1939), pp. 19, 35, 51.
• The years cited re	elate to the corn	esponding mon	athly reference peak	ts or troughs in ou	r chronology. <sup>b</sup> That is, expansions or contractio	as of business cycles.

ences as other in we feel f It ap parts in disagreer the perio "for cert of the per stantial a 1896".61 genuine nized by the other and mod annual su is treated for this tr Hubbard that it fai 60 However,

Kitchin's in cycles' (Kitch somewhat from Table 27 i exclusively by ogy and thos also by Ayres had previous Trade and the has commente contraction. S University Pre 1846 was a vea is certainly by (A Reinterpre University of 61 Review of 1930, pp. 183-62 Eckler deri exceptions Gil and annual re 63 Indeed, Kit 64 Ayres write portant to be But if we may decline is a tri little shorter business cycle.

index of trade traction of 192

108

DATING SPECIFIC AND BUSINESS CYCLES

F -----

ences aside, it is plain that our chronology and the chronologies of the other investigators are designed to describe the same class of facts. Hence we feel free to speak of all of them as chronologies of business cycles.

Turning Points in Business Cycles (Macmillan, 1939), pp. 19, 35, 51.

<sup>b</sup> That is, expansions or contraction

our chronology.

monthly reference peaks or troughs in

relate to the corresponding

The years cited

Cleveland, as well

troit, Philadelphia and Clevel as New York) after the war. Ayres' index of business activity

None

Con. 1926-27

42

1854-1938

L. P. Ayres

It appears that only three cyclical movements in our list lack counterparts in one or more of the other chronologies. In fact, the area of real disagreement is even smaller than Table 27 may suggest.<sup>60</sup> Hubbard treats the period from 1893 to 1897 as a single depression. But he observes that "for certain purposes, it is probably desirable to consider the fluctuations of the period as involving two depressions: that of 1893, followed by substantial and persistent recovery, and then relapse into depression again in 1896".61 Since that is precisely the course we have chosen, there is no genuine difference between us. The contraction of 1918-19 is not recognized by Eckler or Gilbert, whose chronologies run by years,62 whereas the other chronologies are monthly.<sup>63</sup> In view of the exceptional brevity and moderate amplitude of this contraction, its failure to register in annual summaries is not surprising. Finally, the period from 1924 to 1929 is treated as a single expansion in three of the chronologies. The reasons for this treatment by Ayres and by Axe and Houghton are obscure.<sup>64</sup> In Hubbard's case, the omission of the 1926-27 contraction merely means that it failed to register in bank debits of selected centers outside New

60 However, the table is silent on one point. Although our list of business cycles agrees with Kitchin's in the period for which he supplies actual dates, he intimates a chronology of 'minor cycles' (Kitchin prefers this term but uses it interchangeably with business cycles) that diverges somewhat from ours prior to 1890. See Ch. 11, Sec. V.

Table 27 is confined to the period covered by our monthly reference dates. In the period covered exclusively by the annual reference dates (1834–54), comparisons can be made between our chronology and those of Ayres and Gilbert. Every cyclical movement we list in this period is recognized also by Ayres and Gilbert, except the contraction of 1845–46. The genuineness of this movement had previously been challenged by C. J. Bullock and H. L. Micoleau in their paper on Foreign Trade and the Business Cycle, *Review of Economic Statistics*, Nov. 1931, pp. 153-4. Arthur H. Cole has commented on the difficulty of distinguishing cyclical movements in the vicinity of the alleged contraction. See W. B. Smith and A. H. Cole, Fluctuations in American Business, 1790–1860 (Harvard University Press, 1935), p. 136. In an able study by David Schwartz the conclusion is reached that 1846 was a year of "mild depression", but that "of all the recessions" during 1843–59 "that of 1846 is certainly by far the mildest and the one which affected the least number of spheres of activity" (*A Reinterpretation of American Business Cycle History, 1843–1859*. Unpublished master's thesis, University of California, May 1941).

61 Review of Economic Statistics, Feb. 1936, p. 20. See also Hubbard's earlier study, ibid., Nov. 1930, pp. 183-4.

<sup>62</sup> Eckler derived his chronology from annual data and expressed it by calendar years. With minor exceptions Gilbert made qualitative judgments for full calendar years on the basis of both monthly and annual records; in our judgment these records, on the whole, indicate a contraction in 1918–19.

63 Indeed, Kitchin dated peaks and troughs to the hundredth of a year.

84 Ayres writes: "There was a minor business downturn in 1927 which was not sufficiently important to be considered as marking the end of a cycle" (*Turning Points in Business Cycles*, p. 45). But if we may judge from the index he used as a criterion for marking off business cycles, this decline is a trifle longer and at least as large as the 1887–88 decline, and definitely larger though a little shorter than the 1869–70 decline, both of which Ayres considers as marking the end of a business cycle. A similar remark applies to Axe and Houghton: according to their trend-adjusted index of trade and industrial activity (the series they used to mark off business cycles), the contraction of 1926–27 is a trifle milder but appreciably longer than the contraction of 1887–88.

York City, the indicator on which he relied to identify business cycles.85

Table 27 calls attention also to several movements that have no place in our chronology. These 'extra' movements raise the question whether we may not have recognized too few, rather than too many, business cycles. Some uncertainty is bound to surround this matter, at least until precise distinctions are drawn between business cycles and shorter fluctuations. We should, however, be able to determine whether the 'line' separating business cycles from other fluctuations has been drawn with tolerable consistency in our chronology; that is, whether our list of cycles excludes any movements that are clearly 'larger' than certain other movements that are included. The preceding tabulations for the sample of 46 series throw no light on this question; for close conformity to a given reference phase does not rule out the possibility that this phase might be subdivided into segments, each characterized also by good conformity, and yet no shorter in duration or smaller in amplitude than certain phases recognized by our chronology.

We have tested this possibility on sundry occasions in the past, when movements not covered by our reference scale seemed to recur in a variety of activities. The matter has been tested again by examining the specificcycle turns of the sample of 46 series analyzed in this chapter. These studies have yielded negative or inconclusive results. Although it is impossible to predict what more thorough investigation will disclose, it seems highly improbable that our chronology omits any movements that are clearly 'larger' than any now included. It is unlikely that it even omits any movements that rival closely any now recognized. We have been unable to find strong evidence in favor of the two 'extra' cyclical movements suggested by Persons.<sup>66</sup> The evidence seems a shade more favorable

85 But as he well observes, "a single measure of business activity cannot tell the whole story" (Review of Economic Statistics, Feb. 1936, p. 16). 'Outside debits' in 1927 were not uninfluenced by the intense speculative activity of the time. Cf. Edwin Frickey, Outside Bank Debits Corrected for Seasonal Variation: Monthly and Weekly, 1919-31, ibid., May 1931.

86 Persons' basic chronology of 'phases of business cycles' is derived from his index of industrial production and trade, which starts in Jan. 1875. In 1875-76 the index consists solely of Frickey's series on bank clearings in seven cities, adjusted for trend (p. 91). Persons characterizes Jan. 1875-Jan. 1876 as 'prosperity' (p. 198), defined as "that interval of supra-normal business . . . ending with the month preceding a persistent recession to sub-normal business" (p. 197). Since 'prosperity is preceded by 'recovery', it would appear that expansion started months before Jan. 1875 and continued through the year. But in other places Persons suggests that the crisis of 1873 was followed by depression in 1874 (pp. 85-7); describes 1875-78 as characterized by "deflation and the struggle for resumption of specie payments; great increase in agricultural production of the world accompanied by declining commodity prices" (pp. 89, 93); and claims that 'business expansion' occurred in the last quarter of 1875 (p. 93). It is impossible to reconcile these statements with an expansion that is supposed to have started before Jan. 1875. (All page references are to W. M. Persons, Forecasting Business Cycles.)

Again, the contraction of 1898 is a dubious entry in Persons' list from the standpoint of his criteria, though not necessarily of ours. Persons dates a trough in Oct. 1896, a recovery from Nov. 1896 to Feb. 1898, a recession from March to June 1898, and a trough from July to Oct. 1898. Since the 'recovery' never developed into 'prosperity' (statistically, the index failed to reach 100 in Feb. 1898), this cycle fails to meet Persons' specifications of a business cycle. Cf. Elmer C. Bratt, Business Cycles and Forecasting, p. 401.

to the m statistical temporar reached. Anoth fluctuatio derived fi 1914. Thr marked ' purposes, original d trend, and Except for form of th movement tested the no part in he felt abl from the c there is a c the whole In view its archite cycles agre have draw peaks and tractions s 'specific cy points of vary still n

67 On the basi the reference Aug. 1865. He expansion, or from this date 68 Clearings in loans of New prices, wholes mercial paper 69 Also, three form of two of curves, see E. appendices to We are indebte and to the Ha reproduce then 70 Ibid., p. 230.

to the mild 'extra' movement in Gilbert's chronology. But monthly statistical records for 1865–67 are very scanty, and extensive study of contemporary journals will be necessary before a firm decision can be reached.<sup>67</sup>

Another check on our chronology is made possible by the 'pattern' of fluctuations in American business activity, which Edwin Frickey has derived from thirteen important time series, 68 by quarters, from 1866 to 1914. Three variants of this pattern are exhibited in Chart 10. The curve marked 'supplementary standard pattern' is the most useful for our purposes, since it involves no adjustment for the secular trends in the original data. The 'standard pattern' makes approximate adjustments for trend, and the 'revised standard pattern' makes refined adjustments.69 Except for the secular drift in the 'supplementary standard pattern', the form of the three curves is much the same. Frickey examined in detail the movements of the thirteen series from which the pattern was derived, and tested the results by analyzing an extensive body of materials that played no part in the original derivation of the pattern. At the end of his labors he felt able to conclude that in "the United States over the half-century from the close of the Civil War to the outbreak of the World War in 1914, there is a clearly-defined pattern of short-run fluctuation which permeates the whole structure of the nation's industrial and commercial life".<sup>70</sup>

In view of the importance of this conclusion and the scientific care of its architect, it is especially desirable to see how well our list of reference cycles agrees with the cyclical waves in Frickey's pattern. On Chart 10 we have drawn vertical lines at the months when business activity reaches peaks and troughs according to our chronology, shaded the reference contractions so that they stand out prominently, and marked by asterisks the 'specific cycles' that we recognize in each of Frickey's curves. The turning points of these specific cycles vary somewhat from curve to curve, and vary still more from our reference dates; such differences are natural in

87 On the basis of preliminary explorations, Isaiah Frank, formerly on our staff, has suggested that the reference peak be dated in Oct. 1864 instead of April 1865, and that a trough be recognized in Aug. 1865. He was uncertain, however, whether Aug. 1865–June 1869 should be treated as a single expansion, or broken into three phases: expansion from Aug. 1865 to some later date, contraction from this date to about Dec. 1867, expansion thereafter to about June 1869.

68 Clearings in seven cities outside New York (only Philadelphia before 1875), New York clearings, loans of New York banks, railroad earnings, imports, exports, immigration, sensitive commodity prices, wholesale commodity prices, railroad stock prices, industrial stock prices, bond prices, commercial paper rates.

69 Also, three series (loans of New York banks, exports, and bond prices) were dropped, and the form of two others (outside clearings, railroad earnings) changed. For the derivation of the pattern curves, see E. Frickey, *Economic Fluctuations in the United States*, Ch. III, IV, XII, XIV, and the appendices to these chapters. The figures for the 'revised standard pattern' are taken from p. 328. We are indebted to Frickey for the figures of the 'standard' and 'supplementary standard' patterns, and to the Harvard University Committee for Research in the Social Sciences for permission to reproduce them.

70 Ibid., p. 230.

o place whether s cycles. precise nations. arating lerable kcludes nts that s throw e phase ed into shorter by our t, when variety specific-These t is imlose. it nts that n omits ve been l movevorable ole story'

ycles.65

industrial if Frickey's Jan. 1875-. ending prosperity' 1875 and as followed ne struggle rld accomn' occurred expansion

uenced by

rrected for

bint of his from Nov. 1898. Since 100 in Feb. t, Business

sons, Fore-



view of matter of and the o ence pha three qu ment ke Frickey' nology; sponden three qua have man cyclical F could no would at The p business of for foreig mations i contractio is dubiou careful re marked b in busines a differen made dras tion conti enterprise mental co freedom i tion for w Fragmenta started, bu movemen now in ut already pa that the f definition. rule about 71 The follow

between the se 1870, (c) contr and third qual expansion, and same is true of 'revised stands' expansion (185

#### DEPENDABILITY OF REFERENCE DATES

view of the differences in the time unit, data, and methods used. The matter of chief interest is the correspondence between our reference cycles and the cycles in Frickey's pattern. Allowing for leads or lags, every reference phase is reflected in a movement of corresponding direction, lasting three quarters or longer in each of Frickey's curves. Again, every movement keeping the same direction for three quarters or longer in any of Frickey's curves is matched by a corresponding movement in our chronology; so that the two sets of cyclical waves are in one-to-one correspondence throughout. Except for the contraction in 1900, which lasted three quarters, the duration of each expansion and contraction that we have marked off in Frickey's curves is at least one year. If any 'extra' cyclical phase were recognized in one or another of Frickey's curves, it could not be of more than two quarters' duration, and its amplitude would at best be marginal.<sup>71</sup>

The preceding analysis is confined to the reference dates of American business cycles. Our experience indicates that the lists of reference cycles for foreign countries are at least tolerable, if not equally good, approximations to the historical course of their business cycles. However, the contraction we list for Germany between August 1903 and February 1905 is dubious. The chronology for France in the 1860's and 1870's requires careful reconsideration. After 1932 the economic situation in France is marked by many confusions and conflicts, which render any description in business-cycle terms uncertain. German developments since 1932 raise a different problem. When the National Socialists came into power, they made drastic changes in economic organization. Production and distribution continued to be carried on mainly by business enterprises, but these enterprises were subjected to increasingly strict and pervasive governmental controls. The Nazi State repudiated the concept of individual freedom in business enterprise as in other matters. Large-scale preparation for war produced a great expansion in employment and output. Fragmentary records indicate that the expansion continued after the war started, but we do not have the data to determine when the peak of this movement was reached. Nor do we know when the German economy, now in utter collapse, will begin to revive. Close to thirteen years have already passed since the cyclical trough we have set in August 1932, so that the full 'cycle' will last longer than the extreme limit set by our definition. But this German episode is not an exception to our working rule about the duration of business cycles where free enterprise prevails.

71 The following 'extra' movements of two quarters' duration can be distinguished: (a) expansion between the second and last quarters in 1866, (b) expansion between the first and third quarters in 1870, (c) contraction between the first and third quarters in 1880, (d) contraction between the first and third quarters in 1880, (d) contraction between the first and third quarters in 1898. In the 'standard' pattern, (a) and (b) are of smaller amplitude than any expansion, and (c) and (d) are of smaller amplitude than any contraction, marked on the chart. The same is true of the 'supplementary standard' pattern. The same is true again of (b) and (c) in the 'revised standard' pattern; but in this pattern (a) exceeds slightly the amplitude of one recognized contraction (1887–88).

cycles. See text for further

Shaded areas repre

It is not profitable to push critical evaluation of our reference chronology further at this juncture. A fully dependable list of business cycles in several countries can be attained only as the end product of a thorough study of business cycles. An investigator who strives for such a result must proceed by successive approximations, using what he learns from one approximation to improve the next. For all its faults, we are confident that our present chronology of business cycles in four countries is sufficiently close to the mark to yield trustworthy results of a general character. Future revisions of the reference dates will doubtless change materially the reference-cycle measures for some single cycles or single series, but the broad results portrayed by our average measures of cyclical behavior are practically certain to stand.<sup>72</sup> The force of this observation will be clarified in the course of the tests of our technique carried through in subsequent chapters.

72 This, on the whole, has been our experience as the reference dates have been revised or brought forward, and the average reference-cycle measures recomputed.

IN THI methods calculati bitumin activity ties not of draw on results of methods methods

A large r rise dur periods of and une fashion. can ofter of a serie oleomarg while the Stocks of tively to tend to b In 'po to trough Hence it or 'inver

#### CHAPTER 5

# The Basic Measures of Cyclical Behavior

IN THIS chapter we explain in greater detail than in Chapter 2 our methods of measuring specific-cycle and reference-cycle behavior. The calculations are described in full for one series, the monthly records of bituminous coal production in the United States (Table 13). This activity conforms closely to business cycles but exhibits a few irregularities not encountered in the coke illustration given in Chapter 2. We also draw on other series to illustrate different steps in the procedure and the results obtained in practice. The bulk of this chapter is devoted to methods of handling monthly data, but Section XI shows how the methods can be adapted to quarterly and annual records.

### I Positive and Inverted Specific Cycles

A large majority of the series we have analyzed show a strong tendency to rise during periods of general business expansion and to fall during periods of general business contraction. But series such as bankruptcies and unemployment have as strong a tendency to move in the opposite fashion. In our jargon the latter series have 'inverted' specific cycles. We can often, but by no means always, anticipate whether the specific cycles of a series will be positive or inverted. For example, the specific cycles of oleomargarine production bear a positive relation to business cycles, while the specific cycles of butter production bear an inverted relation. Stocks of raw materials held by manufacturers tend to be related positively to business cycles, stocks of finished products held by manufacturers tend to be related invertedly, and so on.

In 'positive' series we treat specific cycles as units running from trough to trough; in 'inverted' series we treat them as units from peak to peak. Hence it is necessary to decide whether a series is to be classed as 'positive' or 'inverted' before any measures of specific-cycle behavior are made.

- 115 -

Ordinarily, study of the reference-cycle patterns of a series yields a clear verdict: a series rises during most of the reference expansions and falls during most of the reference contractions, or it falls during most of the former and rises during most of the latter phases. More difficult to classify are series that (1) ordinarily rise during the early stages of reference expansion, fall during the later stages, and turn upward again while general business is still shrinking; (2) ordinarily rise from the later stages of reference expansion to the early stages of reference contraction, and fall during the later stages of reference contraction and the early stages of expansion; (3) show marked independence of business cycles.

As explained in Section X, if a series typically moves in the same direction as general business over more reference-cycle stages than it moves in the opposite direction, we class the series as 'positive' and analyze the specific cycles on a trough-to-trough basis. In the opposite case, we class the series as 'inverted' and analyze the specific cycles on a peak-to-peak basis. If the expansions of a series typically run from the middle of reference expansion to the middle of reference contraction, or from the middle of reference contraction to the middle of reference expansion, we arbitrarily analyze the specific cycles on a trough-to-trough basis. Series that move in virtual independence of business cycles are handled in the same way. Thus 'positive', 'neutral', and 'irregular' series are treated on a *positive plan*—that is, their specific cycles are treated as units running from trough to trough; while 'inverted' series are treated on an *inverted plan*, their specific cycles being marked off by peaks.

These rules are instruments of convenience. As will be explained presently, we at times find it desirable to analyze 'neutral' series on both a positive and inverted basis, and sometimes treat a series as positive when strict application of our rules calls for inverted analysis and vice versa. Positive or inverted analysis is a poor guide to the conformity of a series to business cycles. A series may be related to business cycles in many ways, and several measures are necessary to bring out clearly the actual relations.

### II Timing of Specific Cycles

One of the principal aims of this investigation is to measure the time sequence in which various economic activities have followed one another in the revivals and recessions of general business activity. Hence we seek to compare the dates of the peaks and troughs of the specific cycles of each series with the reference dates of business cycles in the country to which the series relates. By noting the number of months that the turns of the specific cycles of a series lead or lag behind the reference turns, striking averages of the leads or lags for peaks and also for troughs, and supplementing the averages by average deviations, we can tell what timing has been characteristic of the series in regard to business cycles. By observing the leads or lags of numerous series at successive reference dates, we can determine also in what respects the sequence of upturns has been similar or different in past business-cycle revivals, and in what respects the sequence of downturns has been similar or different in past recessions.

In some series, as in the production of coke or bituminous coal in the United States, the specific cycles correspond closely in time to business cycles. It is fairly easy to fit the turns of the specific cycles of such series into the chronology of business cycles. More often the correspondence between the two sets of cycles is imperfect; sometimes it is negligible. Thus if two specific cycles occupy approximately the same period as a business cycle, the trough between the two specific cycles and at least one peak will not correspond to any reference turn. Again, if one specific cycle spans two business cycles, its initial and terminal troughs will match reference turns and the peak is likely to do so, but at least two reference turns will not match any specific-cycle turn. In series where the relationship between the turning dates of specific and business cycles is still looser, matching of the two sets of dates becomes very hazardous unless the entire operation can be reduced to a tolerably objective basis.

The first step in the measurement of the cyclical timing of a series is to decide whether to match the specific-cycle turns with like or opposite reference turns. The rules recited in the preceding section <sup>1</sup> must be used discriminatingly. For example, series on new orders usually lead similar turns in general business; most of them are clearly 'positive' according to our criterion, but a few with longer leads are on the margin, while one or two with still longer leads are 'inverted'. To avoid confusion we analyze all series in this group on a positive basis. This seems the more logical treatment, although it may prove desirable later to add inverted measures for the entire group. In analyzing activities such as bond yields or bond sales, which usually have cyclical turns near the middle of reference expansions and contractions, we may make a double analysis from the start. From certain points of view it is desirable to think of upturns and downturns in long-term interest rates as lagging behind the revivals and recessions of general business; from other points of view it is important to emphasize the tendency of upturns in long-term interest rates to lead general recessions and of downturns to lead general revivals. A similar problem arises in handling short-term interest rates in the principal money markets, despite the fact that series of this type are clearly 'positive' according to our rules and have been uniformly handled on this basis. In tracing the developments that generate revivals and recessions in business activity, we are sure to add inverted measures; for a decline in interest rates is a favorable development and a rise an unfavorable development

1 When the relationship in time between specific and business cycles is rather loose, it may be difficult to decide whether the relation is positive, inverted, neutral, or irregular. However, errors in classifying such series cannot be serious: irregular timing is their most prominent feature and that will be demonstrated whether the analysis is carried through on a positive or on an inverted basis.
with respect to the business situation at large. The subtle and shifting demands of analytic work can be anticipated only in part at the stage where series are taken up for examination, one by one.

Once a decision has been reached on the issue of positive versus inverted treatment, the next step is to match individual turns of the specific cycles of a series with individual turns of business cycles. This operation calls for considerable self-restraint, lest the data be forced to suit preconceived notions. We follow fairly rigid rules in making timing comparisons. The method is not 'purely objective', for we have found no mechanical device that insures sensible results; but it is sufficiently objective to minimize if not eliminate bias.

Our basic rule is that a specific-cycle turn (S) must meet two criteria in order to be considered as corresponding to a *like* reference turn (R):

- there is no other reference turn in the interval between S and R (including the month of S)
- (2) there is no other specific-cycle turn in the interval between S and R (including the month of R).

These criteria help to weed out 'extra' specific cycles, that is, specificcycle movements unrelated to business cycles. It may happen, however, that two specific-cycle peaks, coming on opposite sides of a given reference peak, deviate by approximately the same number of months from the reference peak, but that the earlier specific-cycle peak meets both criteria while the later peak meets only the first criterion (since the intervening specific-cycle trough happens to follow the reference peak). To say in that event that the earlier peak 'corresponds' to a reference turn and that the later one does not is to settle a problem of causation by mechanical rule. Difficulties of this type are reduced by our third criterion: if S meets criteria (1) and (2) and another like specific-cycle turn on the opposite side of R meets just criterion (1), S will be treated as a corresponding turn only in the event that it deviates no more than three months from R. In applying criterion (3) we avoid guessing about the behavior of the series prior to the first or after the last specific-cycle turn; that is, a turn is treated as noncorresponding so long as it might fail to meet this criterion if the series were extended.<sup>2</sup>

If all three criteria are met, S is treated as corresponding to R. If not, S is treated as noncorresponding; that is, no attempt is made to compare its timing with that of business cycles. The three criteria have been phrased for series that are treated on a positive plan. To apply the criteria

<sup>2</sup> Criteria (1) and (2) would yield identical comparisons if the turning dates of the series were the standard against which the reference dates were compared—instead of the other way around, which of course is our practice. Criterion (3) does not satisfy this principle of reversibility. If that criterion were dropped we might gain a formal advantage, but at the cost of a less stringent weeding of 'extra' specific cycles in relation to business cycles.

Criteria (1) and (2) may be combined in the following rule: a specific-cycle turn (S) corresponds to a like reference turn (R) if no other specific or reference turn falls in the interval between S and R. Criterion (3) places a restriction on this rule.

to series treated on an inverted plan, it is necessary merely to substitute *opposite* for *like* in the wording of the rules. A simpler expedient is to think of inverted relations as being transformed into positive ones by plotting figures invertedly, and we therefore continue the exposition as if all series were treated on a positive basis.

Chart 11 illustrates the application of the timing rules. The angular line at the top identifies the American reference cycles from 1905 to 1933 and serves no other purpose.<sup>3</sup> All series are seasonally adjusted. The turns of the specific cycles are marked on the chart, and the dates are listed in Table 28. To facilitate comparisons between the turning dates of the

COKE PRODUCTION		BITUMIN	DUS COAL UCTION	CALVES SLAUGHTERED UNDER FEDERAL INSPECTION		
Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough	
Jan. 1913	Nov. 1914	May 1907	Jan. 1908		Feb. 1908	
July 1918	May 1919	June 1910	Feb. 1911	Dec. 1909	Dec. 1911	
Aug. 1920	July 1921	Oct. 1913	Nov. 1914	Aug. 1912	Nov. 1914	
May 1923	July 1924	July 1918	Mar. 1919	June 1920	Dec. 1920	
Feb. 1926	Nov. 1927	Dec. 1920	July 1922	July 1925	June 1929	
July 1929	Aug. 1932	May 1923	June 1924	June 1931	Dec. 1932	
		Mar. 1927	Dec. 1927	-		
		May 1929	July 1932			
APPALAC	UM OUTPUT HIAN FIELD	COTTON STO	CKS AT MILLS	STRUCTUR	AL STEEL DERS	
PETROLE APPALAC Peak	UM OUTPUT HIAN FIELD Trough	соттон stor Peak	Trough	STRUCTUR ORI Peak	AL STEEL DERS Trough	
PETROLE APPALAC Peak	UM OUTPUT HIAN FIELD Trough Aug. 1908	сотток stor Peak	Trough Oct. 1914	STRUCTUR ORL Peak May 1909	AL STEEL DERS Trough Nov. 1910	
PETROLE APPALAC Peak Nov. 1909	UM OUTPUT HIAN FIELD Trough Aug. 1908 Jan. 1912	сотток stor   Nov. 1916	Trough Oct. 1914 Oct. 1917	STRUCTUR ORI Peak May 1909 Oct. 1912	AL STEEL DERS Trough Nov. 1910 Nov. 1914	
PETROLE APPALAC Peak Nov. 1909 May 1912	UM OUTPUT HIAN FIELD Trough Aug. 1908 Jan. 1912 Oct. 1915	COTTON STOR Peak Nov. 1916 Oct. 1918	CKS AT MILLS Trough Oct. 1914 Oct. 1917 Apr. 1919	STRUCTUR ORL Peak May 1909 Oct. 1912 Dec. 1915	AL STEEL DERS Trough Nov. 1910 Nov. 1914 Sep. 1917	
PETROLE APPALAC Peak Nov. 1909 May 1912 July 1919	UM OUTPUT HIAN FIELD Trough Aug. 1908 Jan. 1912 Oct. 1915 Feb. 1920	соттон stor Peak Nov. 1916 Oct. 1918 Jan. 1920	CKS AT MILLS Trough Oct. 1914 Oct. 1917 Apr. 1919 Nov. 1920	TRUCTUR ORI Peak May 1909 Oct. 1912 Dec. 1915 July 1918	AL STEEL DERS Trough Nov. 1910 Nov. 1914 Sep. 1917 Jan. 1919	
PETROLE APPALAC Peak Nov. 1909 May 1912 July 1919 Feb. 1921	UM OUTPUT HIAN FEELD Trough Aug. 1908 Jan. 1912 Oct. 1915 Feb. 1920 Nov. 1924	COTTON STOR Peak Nov. 1916 Oct. 1918 Jan. 1920 Nov. 1922	Trough Oct. 1914 Oct. 1917 Apr. 1919 Nov. 1920 Oct. 1924	STRUCTUR         ORE           Peak         May 1909           Oct. 1912         Dec. 1915           July 1918         Feb. 1920	AL STEEL DERS Trough Nov. 1910 Nov. 1914 Sep. 1917 Jan. 1919 Feb. 1921	
Peak Peak Nov. 1909 May 1912 July 1919 Feb. 1921 Feb. 1930	UM OUTPUT HIAN FIELD Trough Aug. 1908 Jan. 1912 Oct. 1915 Feb. 1920 Nov. 1924 Aug. 1931	COTTON STOR Peak Nov. 1916 Oct. 1918 Jan. 1920 Nov. 1922 June 1927	Trough           Oct. 1914           Oct. 1917           Apr. 1919           Nov. 1920           Oct. 1924           Sep. 1928	STRUCTUR         ORE           Peak         May 1909           Oct. 1912         Dec. 1915           July 1918         Feb. 1920           Mar. 1923         Mar. 1923	AL STEEL DERS Trough Nov. 1910 Nov. 1914 Sep. 1917 Jan. 1919 Feb. 1921 June 1923	
Petrole APPALAC Peak Nov. 1909 May 1912 July 1919 Feb. 1921 Feb. 1930 Oct. 1931	UM OUTPUT HIAN FIELD Trough Aug. 1908 Jan. 1912 Oct. 1915 Feb. 1920 Nov. 1924 Aug. 1931 May 1933	COTTON STOR Peak Nov. 1916 Oct. 1918 Jan. 1920 Nov. 1922 June 1927 Mar. 1930	Trough           Oct. 1914           Oct. 1917           Apr. 1919           Nov. 1920           Oct. 1924           Sep. 1928           Sep. 1931	TRUCTUR ORE Peak May 1909 Oct. 1912 Dec. 1915 July 1918 Feb. 1920 Mar. 1923 Oct. 1925	AL STEEL DERS Trough Nov. 1910 Nov. 1914 Sep. 1917 Jan. 1919 Feb. 1921 June 1923 Sep. 1926	

TABLE 28						
Turning Dates of Specific Cycles in Six Americ	an Series					

See Chart 11.

specific and business cycles, vertical lines are erected at the reference turns and the reference contractions are shaded. In each case where a specificcycle turn satisfies our three criteria, an arrow is drawn from it to the reference turn with which it is compared. The absence of an arrow at a specific-cycle turn means that one or more of the criteria are not met, and accordingly that no timing comparison is made.

In the series on calves slaughtered, the specific-cycle trough of June 1929 fails to satisfy criterion (1); hence no arrow appears at this point. There is also no arrow at June 1931, for this peak fails to meet criterion (2). In cotton stocks held by mills, every specific-cycle turn can be matched with a reference turn so as to satisfy criterion (1), but four turns

<sup>3</sup> The straight lines joining peaks and troughs are arbitrary; so also are the uniform amplitudes,

(November 1916, October 1917, September 1931 and May 1932) fail to satisfy criterion (2). A failure to meet criterion (3) is illustrated by the peak of July 1919 in Appalachian petroleum output. Both this peak and that of February 1921 are linked by criterion (1) to the reference peak of January 1920; the first specific-cycle peak meets criterion (2) while the second specific-cycle peak does not; but the first specific-cycle peak succumbs to criterion (3) since it deviates more than three months from the reference peak in the face of a competing specific-cycle peak on the opposite side of the same reference peak. There is no arrow at the last turning points of coke production, bituminous coal production, and structural steel orders. These turns satisfy criteria (1) and (2); but since there is no assurance that they would satisfy criterion (3) if the data were carried forward, they are not classed as corresponding turns. These cases illustrate how we handle series when the records cannot be carried forward or backward. Of course, it is now possible to carry all series sufficiently beyond 1933 to decide whether or not criterion (3) is actually met.

The mechanical rules for timing comparisons separate out the cyclical movements in a series that are closely related to business cycles from others dominated by factors peculiar to the series. They thus serve to restrict our averages to cyclical turns that have some presumptive claim to being connected with the revivals and recessions of general business. But the separation is very rough and we do not consider it final. Obviously, the rules treat with excessive liberality series that move in virtual independence of business cycles. That is not especially disturbing, since timing averages are in any event of slight value in series that conform badly to business cycles. On the other hand, the rules may reduce unduly the number of timing comparisons in series that conform well to business cycles. This difficulty is serious: first, because even our longest series cover relatively few cycles, second, because the rules may weed out turns in a way that biases the averages. Thus criterion (1) weeds out leads or lags equal to, or longer than, a full reference phase. Leads or lags of this length may be of slight value in describing the sequence of cyclical turns in a particular revival or recession of general business, but they should not therefore be ignored in estimating the typical timing of an activity at business-cycle revivals or recessions. When the turns of the specific cycles of a series usually precede reference turns by half a phase, random factors are as likely to produce a lead that is slightly longer than a full reference phase as they are to produce a short lag. To give random movements an opportunity to cancel out in the averages, it seems no less necessary to include the one than to include the other.4

We therefore relax the mechanical rules in series that *conform well* to business cycles. If each of two specific-cycle turns deviates less than a full • See the analysis in Ch. 8, Sec. III of the influence of erratic movements on our timing measures.



CHART 11 Illustrations of Mechanical Rules for Comparing the Timing of Specific Cycles with the Reference Dates Six American Series

Sbaded areas represent reference contractions; while areas, reference expansions. Asterisks identify peaks and troughs of specific cycles. See text for explanation of arrows and other features. Sources are listed in Appendix C. phase from the same reference turn, we may treat one of them as corresponding regardless of the mechanical rules. When cases of this sort are encountered, we scrutinize the amplitudes and patterns of the competing movements, and draw on whatever knowledge we may have concerning the particular fluctuations. In the absence of special knowledge, if any cyclical movement in the neighborhood of the reference turn is so mild that it might have been disregarded in the first place, we ignore it in making timing comparisons; while if none of the cyclical movements is dubious, we give preference to the turn that represents the culmination of a larger specific-cycle movement. Chart 12 gives an illustration of the procedure. If we followed the mechanical rules, we would disregard the troughs in zinc prices in 1932 and 1934. But no one could reasonably



doubt that zinc prices were at a trough in 1932, while the contraction from 1933 to 1934 might be considered a pause in the sharp recovery that started in 1932 and culminated in 1937. We therefore disregard the trough in 1934 and match the trough in 1932 with the reference trough.

We relax the mechanical rules in two additional respects when handling well conforming series. First, in applying criterion (3) we proceed on the assumption that there is no competing turn just before the first or just after the last turn of the specific cycles that can be dated from existing records.<sup>5</sup> Second, we sometimes admit timing measures as long as a full reference phase or even longer. For example, the trough of June 1923, peak of October 1925, and trough of September 1926 in structural steel orders are noncorresponding according to the mechanical rules (Chart 11). But since the series on the whole conforms well to business cycles, we might compare the trough of September 1926 with the reference trough in December 1927, in spite of the fact that this comparison yields a lead longer than a full phase. Once that decision is made, the trough in June 1923 is readily matched with the reference trough in July 1924 and the peak in October 1925 with the reference peak in October 1926. Chart 12 illustrates a similar situation in share trading on the New York Stock Exchange. Here we recognize a lead longer than a phase at the reference peak of January 1913; two additional timing comparisons naturally follow from this decision.

These relaxed procedures make possible a fuller use of the statistical information than could be attained by relying exclusively on the mechanical rules. In practice we begin the analysis of every series by applying the mechanical rules. If a series does not conform well to business cycles, nothing further is done regardless of the number of specific-cycle turns that are classed as noncorresponding. But if a series conforms closely to business cycles, we try to reduce the number of noncorresponding turns by relaxing the mechanical rules. The main difficulty is to draw a reasonable dividing line between series that conform 'closely' to business cycles and those that do not. In general, we accept an index of full-cycle conformity of 50 or higher as indicative of close conformity. But this index is not an infallible indicator; and we therefore take account as well as may be of other evidence before making a decision, such as the patterns of successive reference cycles, the number of reference cycles covered, the number of specific cycles relatively to the number of reference cycles, and the behavior of intimately related series.<sup>6</sup>

Once decisions have been reached, by studying charts like those produced here, concerning what turns of the specific cycles of a series correspond to what reference turns, the timing measures are entered in our

<sup>5</sup> However, to avoid absurdities, no timing comparison longer than 12 months is made unless such timing is typical of the series.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See below, Sec. X.

124 BASIC MEASURES OF CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

standard Table S1. Table 29 presents a few samples of the first five columns in Table S1, the part devoted to timing measures. Column (1) shows the turning points of each full specific cycle: the month of the initial trough, of the cyclical peak, and of the low point that marks the end of the conř

	Timing at re	eference peak	Timing at ref	erence trough
Dates of specific cycles Trough – Peak – Trough (1)	Number of months lead (-) or lag (+) (2)	Date of reference peak (3)	Number of months lead (-) or lag (+) (4)	Date of reference trough (5)
	Bitumino	us coal production	n	·
May 07 - Jan. 08 Jan. 08 - June 10 - Feb. 11 Feb. 11 - Oct. 13 - Nov. 14 Nov. 14 - July 18 - Mar. 19 Mar. 19 - Dec. 20 - July 22 July 22 - May 23 - June 24 June 24 - Mar. 27 - Dec. 27 Dec. 27 - May 29 - July 32 Average.	0 +5 +9 -1 +11* 0 +5 -1 +3.5	5/07 1/10 1/13 8/18 1/20 5/23 10/26 6/29	$ \begin{array}{c} -5 \\ -11 \\ -1 \\ +10 \\ -1 \\ 0 \\ (-8) \\ -2.1 \end{array} $	6/08 1/12 12/14 4/19 9/21 7/24 12/27 3/33
Average deviation	4.0		4.4	
	Struct	ural steel orders		
May 09-Nov. 10 Nov. 10-Oct. 12-Nov. 14 Nov. 14-Dec. 15-Sep. 17 Sep. 17-July 18-Jan. 19 Jan. 19-Feb. 20-Feb. 21 Feb. 21-Mar.23-June 23 June 23-Oct. 25-Sep. 26 Sep. 26-Mar.29-Jau. 32	$ \begin{array}{r} -8 \\ -3 \\ \cdots \\ -1 \\ +1 \\ -2 \\ (-12) \\ -3 \\ \end{array} $	1/10 1/13  8/18 1/20 5/23 10/26 6/29	-14* -1  -3 -7 (-13)* (-15)** (-14)	1/12 12/14  4/19 9/21 7/24 12/27 3/33
Average	-4.0 3.4		-9.6 5.1	
	Petroleum ou	tput, Appalachian	field	
Aug. 08 Aug. 08–Nov. 09–Jan. 12 Jan. 12–May 12–Oct. 15 Oct. 15–July 19–Fcb. 20 Feb. 20–Feb. 21–Nov. 24 Nov. 24–Feb. 30–Aug. 31 Aug. 31–Oct. 31–May 33	-2 -8*  +8 	1/10 1/13  6/29 	+2 0 +10  +4  +2	6/08 1/12 12/14  7/24  3/33
Average	-0.7 5.8		+3.6 2.7	

 TABLE 29

 Samples of a Section of Table S1: Timing of Specific Cycles

 Three American Series

Average is the arithmetic mean; the average deviation is measured from the mean. The entries in parentheses identify the timing measures made under the 'relaxed rules'.

\*Indicates that the specific-cycle turn deviates more than a half but less than a full reference phase from the corresponding reference turn.

\*\* Indicates that the soecific-evcle turn deviates a full reference phase or longer from the corresponding reference turn.

traction. If a specific-cycle peak comes before the first or after the last complete specific cycle, its date is also entered since we wish to utilize fully what information we have on timing. Columns (3) and (5) indicate the reference dates with which the specific-cycle turns are compared. Column (2) states the number of months by which the peak of a specific cycle precedes or follows the corresponding reference peak. Similarly, column (4) states the number of months by which the trough of a specific cycle, as shown by the last set of entries in column (1), precedes or follows the corresponding reference trough. A minus sign indicates a lead at a reference turn, a plus a lag, zero a coincidence; a blank indicates noncorrespondence. Thus the entries for coal production of (-5) in column (4) and '6/08' in column (5) mean that the specific-cycle trough (January 1908) precedes the reference trough (June 1908) by 5 months. To facilitate use of the timing measures, several symbols are used. Parenthetic entries represent timing comparisons in addition to those permitted by the mechanical rules. Thus Appalachian petroleum output is treated throughout according to the mechanical rules; but these rules are relaxed in bituminous coal production and structural steel orders, which conform well to business cycles.7

When specific cycles are treated on an inverted plan, the general procedure is the same. But now we match the specific-cycle troughs with the reference peaks and the specific-cycle peaks with the reference troughs. Column (1) gives the month of the initial specific-cycle peak, of the trough, and of the terminal peak. Column (2) indicates the number of months by which the cyclical troughs in the series precede or follow the reference peaks. Similarly, column (4) indicates the number of months by which its cyclical peaks precede or follow the reference troughs.

As explained in Chapter 4, some business-cycle turns are more difficult to date than others. Hence we do not have implicit confidence in the accuracy of the leads and lags, even when the turning points of specific cycles are perfectly clear. Moreover, our practice of setting reference dates toward the close of transition periods whenever cyclical waves seemed to culminate in a flat or double peak or trough produces a bias—leads are more numerous than lags.<sup>8</sup> But since the leads and lags of all series for a given country are measured from a standard set of benchmarks, they are dependable with respect to one another, within the variable margins of

8 Dating specific cycles in a similar manner does not prevent a bias. For example, an expansion in general business might culminate in a plateau maintained for several months, while the peaks in the specific cycles of most individual activities are sharply angular.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> There is no timing entry in Chart 11 for the specific-cycle trough of July 1932 in bituminous coal production. There is an entry in Tables 29 and 30, parenthetic in the former table but not in the latter. The reasons for these differences are as follows. The chart shows what timing comparisons would be made if bituminous coal output were treated according to the mechanical rules; the tables show the comparisons we actually make in this well conforming series. But whereas Table 29 is made on the assumption that the available data stop in 1933 (the period covered by the chart). Table 30 draws upon later data.

### BASIC MEASURES OF CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

error involved in dating the turning points of specific cycles. Any error we may make in fixing the reference dates affects the absolute timing measures, but does not misrepresent the sequence of the cyclical turns in individual series during a business-cycle revival or recession. Nor do errors in reference dates affect the average sequence of individual series so long as they are compared for identical periods; for the average error of the timing measures, if any, is then necessarily the same for all series. If the periods are not identical, the average timing measures may contain an error of varying size, since the average error of one set of reference dates may differ from the average error of another set of reference dates.

Further difficulties arise if a series shows 'extra' cycles or if its timing differs widely in other respects from that of business cycles-complications which we ignore in the preceding paragraph. In such instances slight shifts in reference dates may alter decisions as to what turns of the specific cycles are corresponding, and may even result in a different matching of specific and business cycles. These difficulties are inherent in any set of rules involving rigid boundary lines. There are always some cases near the margin, so that if a reference date is changed, however slightly, a turn that is barely corresponding according to the rules may become noncorresponding or vice versa. Another aspect of the same difficulty appears when the cyclical turns of a group of closely related series are nearly coincident, yet differ materially from the reference dates in some portion of the period covered. In a case of this sort a difference of one or two months in the turning points of individual series may result in a different matching of their cyclical turns with the reference dates. Moreover, the timing of 'extra' cycles will go unrecorded; in other words, part of the information concerning the timing of the specific cycles common to the group will not be used.<sup>9</sup> These difficulties flow from the fact that the measures in Table S1 are designed chiefly to determine what timing is characteristic of a series in regard to general business activity. If another problem is faced, such as comparing the turns of a closely related group of series, our standard measures cannot be trusted implicitly. The safest method is to check timing measures made on the standard plan by direct comparisons among the series.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>9</sup> It is proper to ignore this information if the problem is simply to determine the timing relations among the series in the vicinity of business-cycle revivals and recessions. The text refers to an effort to determine the timing relations among the specific cycles of a closely related group of series, regardless of their conformity to business cycles.

<sup>10</sup> It is always desirable to check timing comparisons made from the dates assigned to the turning points of specific cycles by going back to the data charts. If all series were sine curves of equal period and amplitude, the sequence of their cyclical movements could be determined completely by dating peaks and troughs alone; indeed, the dates of a single cluster of turns including all series would suffice. But in actual life the shapes of cyclical movements are so varied that a mere record of the months in which different series turned up or down may be misleading. Data charts must be studied closely before drawing conclusions about sequences even of series with clearly defined cyclical movements. The charts should show the original as well as seasonally adjusted figures so that faulty seasonal adjustments may be detected. See also below, Sec. VII.

At a later stage of the investigation we shall make tables showing the order in which different series turned up at successive reference troughs and turned down at successive reference peaks, thus establishing a record of the sequence in which various economic activities have followed one another during cyclical reversals of general business activity. In drawing up these tables we shall need to supplement the measures in Table S1. The distinction between 'corresponding' and 'noncorresponding' turns, although vital for the purpose of determining what timing is characteristic of a given activity in regard to business cycles, is of little use when interest shifts to particular business-cycle revivals or recessions. Specificcycle movements now classed as 'noncorresponding' may be no less important for an understanding of individual business cycles than those classed as 'corresponding'. On the other hand, 'leads' or 'lags' lasting longer than a reference phase may be misleading for this purpose.

As these remarks indicate, the method of measuring sequences must be adapted to the aims pursued in different parts of this investigation. And in this connection, it is well to note briefly our reasons for choosing the particular method that we use to determine what cyclical timing is characteristic of a series instead of the traditional method, which takes as a measure of the typical lead or lag the pairing of months that yields the highest coefficient of correlation between the series and some index of business activity. Our method involves judgment at every step of the calculation: in dating business cycles, dating specific cycles, deciding whether to analyze a series on a positive or inverted basis, and deciding how to match the specific and business cycles. The traditional method, while by no means free from personal factors, is more objective and more elegant. But it has three grave shortcomings: (1) it fails to distinguish between the months of cyclical turn and other months and therefore also between troughs and peaks, (2) it tells nothing about the variation in timing from cycle to cycle, and (3) it reports at best the sequence of trendadjusted data. For our purposes, it is highly important to distinguish between the timing at upturns and downturns of business cycles, to note the variations in timing from one business cycle to the next, and to follow the sequence of cyclical movements as they occur rather than as they appear after trends are removed. Whatever its defects, our method at least gets directly at matters that, from our viewpoint, are significant for the understanding of business cycles.

Moreover, in trying to determine the timing of cyclical movements characterizing different economic processes, we do not rely exclusively upon the leads and lags of Table S1. The reference-cycle patterns, described in Section VII, afford a check on these measures. Although the check is insensitive to minor variations in timing, it has several valuable features. First, the reference-cycle patterns indicate roughly the timing of the rate of change of a series during the expansions and contractions

## BASIC MEASURES OF CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

of business cycles, as well as the timing of its peaks and troughs. Second, though these measures have uncertainties of their own, they are free from practically every uncertainty that surrounds the calculation of leads and lags in Table S1, except the dating of business cycles. Third, the reference-cycle patterns automatically show timing in fractions of businesscycle expansions and contractions.

The last feature raises an important question about the timing measures in Table S1, which are expressed in months. Since a business cycle in a given country is the fundamental unit in our scheme of analysis, timing measures expressed as fractions of the duration of a business cycle or one of its phases may seem more defensible logically than timing measures expressed in months. Yet the issue is full of complexities. For some practical purposes the simple measures in months are best: for example, when one is trying to anticipate business-cycle recessions or revivals from the average leads of related series in the past and their current movements.<sup>11</sup> The critical question from an analytic viewpoint is whether timing measures are more stable in months or in fractions of cyclical units, but that question we are as yet in no position to answer. And if the answer should turn out to be that most economic groups show greater stability on one plan but that a few show greater stability on the other, the question will remain whether the method that is best for most series is best for all.

At a later stage we may want to convert the leads and lags given by months in Table S1 to other forms, but it should be noted that the conversion into cyclical units is not a simple matter. Perhaps the best plan is that implicit in our reference-cycle measures of timing, where the lead or lag of a series at a reference turn takes the form of a fraction of the reference phase within which the turn of the series falls.<sup>12</sup> But there are other methods that cannot be dismissed lightly. To mention just one, the lead or lag at a reference peak might be expressed as a percentage of the cycle running from the preceding to the following reference trough, and the lead or lag at a reference trough as a percentage of the cycle running from peak to peak. Preference for one base or another may shift with the purpose the investigator has at the moment. In any case the measures in months in Table S1 are of direct value as they stand, and they may be converted into other forms more readily than highly fabricated measures.

## **III** Duration of Specific Cycles

Table 30 presents a sample of Table S1 in full. The measures of cyclical duration in columns (6) to (8) are obvious and raise no difficulties. The

11 For a preliminary study of this problem, see our paper, Statistical Indicators of Cyclical Revivals (Bulletin 69).

12 See below, note 70.

expansion is the interval from the midpoint of the date of the initial trough to the midpoint of the date of the peak; the contraction is the interval from the midpoint of the peak to the midpoint of the terminal trough. The duration of a full specific cycle is obtained by summing the lengths of the expansion and contraction. If the duration of a contraction or expansion of an incomplete specific cycle at the beginning or end of a series can be ascertained, it is recorded but excluded from the averages; e.g., the contraction from May 1907 to January 1908 in coal production.

				,								
	Timing at reference peak		Timing at reference trough		Duration of cyclical movements (mos.)					Per cent of duration of		
Dates of specific cycles	No. of	Date	No. of	Date	Spe	cific cy	cles	E» refer	cess ov ence cy	er voles	cy	cles
	lead (-) or	refer- ence	lead (-) or	refer- ence	Ex- pan-	Con- trac-	Full cycle	Ex- pan-	Con- trac-	Full cycle	Ex- pan-	Con- trac-
(1)	(2)	реак (3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
May 07–Jan. 08	0	5/07	-5	6/08		8ª			-5ª			
Jan. 08-June 10-Feb. 11	+5	1/10	-11	1/12	29	8	37	+10	-16	-6	78	22
Feb. 11-Oct. 13-Nov. 14	+9	1/13	-1	12/14	32	13	45	+20	-10	+10	71	29
Nov. 14-July 18-Mar. 19	-1	8/18	-1	4/19	44	8	52	0	0	0	85	15
Mar.19-Dec. 20-July 22	+11*	1/20	+10	9/21	21	19	40	+12	-1	+11	52	48
July 22-May 23-June 24	0	5/23	-1	7/24	10	13	23	-10	-1	-11	43	57
June 24-Mar.27-Dec. 27	+5	10/26	0	12/27	33	9	42	+6	-5	+1	79	21
Dec. 27-May 29-July 32	-1	6/29	-8	3/33	17	38	55	-1	-7	8	31	69
July 32-Mar.37-Mar.38	-2	5/37	-2	5/38	56	12	68	+6	0	+6	82	18
Averageb	+2.9		-2.1		30.2	15.0	45.2	+5.4	~5.0	+0.4	65	35
Average deviation <sup>6</sup>	4.1		3.9		11.0	6.8	9.8	6.8	4.5	6.6	17	17

т	A	B	L	Е	30	

Sample of Table S1: Timing an	d Duration of Specific Cycles
Bituminous Coal Production,	United States, 1907–1938

\* Excluded from the average and the average deviation.

<sup>b</sup> Arithmetic mean determined separately for each column. Hence (6)+(7) may differ from (8) in the last place; likewise (9)+(10) from (11).

<sup>e</sup>Measured from the mean.

• Indicates that the specific-cycle turn deviates more than a half but less than a full reference phase from the corresponding reference turn.

In columns (9) to (11) the durations of specific cycles are compared with the durations of corresponding business cycles derived from the monthly reference dates. A plus sign in column (9) means that the expansion of the specific cycles is longer than the corresponding reference expansion; a minus sign means that it is shorter. Similar rules govern columns (10) and (11). Columns (9) to (11) are restricted as a rule to well conforming series, in the sense defined in the preceding section on timing measures. In series of this type we compare the durations of all corresponding phases, but base the averages on specific cycles that correspond in full to business cycles. In other words, if an expansion in the series corresponds to a reference phase while the succeeding contraction does not, the former is compared with the corresponding reference expansion but is excluded from the average at the bottom of the table. Similarly, if there is a full phase of an incomplete specific cycle at the beginning or end of a series, its duration is compared with the corresponding duration of business cycles but is excluded from the averages; the first entry in column (10) is a case in point.<sup>13</sup>

Finally, in columns (12) and (13) we transform the entries in columns (6) and (7) into relatives of the entries in column (8). This step facilitates comparisons of the expansion and contraction phases of specific cycles of different durations. In the averages of columns (12) and (13), each cycle receives the same weight regardless of its duration. Weighted averages, if desired, may be obtained by expressing the averages in columns (6) and (7) as percentages of the average in column (8); these percentages would show the proportion of the period covered by the full cycles that consisted of expansion and the proportion that consisted of contraction. In coal production the unweighted average for expansions is 65 per cent and the weighted average is 67 per cent; the difference is negligible because the correlation between the absolute duration of specific cycles and the percentage consisting of expansions is slight.

If a series is analyzed on an inverted plan the procedure is essentially the same. But now the contraction is entered in columns (6) and (12), the expansion is entered in columns (7) and (13), the entries in column (9)compare the contraction of specific cycles with the corresponding reference expansion, and the entries in column (10) compare the expansion of specific cycles with the corresponding reference contraction.

The measures of cyclical duration are peculiarly sensitive to uncertainties in identifying specific cycles and must be used with discrimination. If a contraction or expansion is just on the margin of being counted as a specific-cycle movement, its inclusion or omission may have considerable effect on the average duration of specific cycles and their phases, especially if the series is short. The average durations must be interpreted with care even when the specific cycles are perfectly clear. For example, the specific cycles in mill consumption of cotton in the United States averaged 36 months during 1914–32, or 8 months less than business cycles during a comparable period. Cattle slaughter, on the other hand, shows specific cycles averaging 100 months from 1908 to 1932, in contrast to an average of 42 months for business cycles. The first difference arises entirely from an 'extra' cycle during the great contraction of 1929–33, while the second arises from individual observations that are characteristically longer than those for business cycles.

13 The entries in col. (2) to (11) check one another. The figure in col. (4) minus that in col. (2) should equal the figure on the same line in col. (10). The figure in col. (2) on a given line minus the figure in col. (4) on the preceding line should equal the figure in col. (9) on the given line, while the figure in col. (4) on a given line minus the figure in the same column on the preceding line should equal the figure in col. (10) on the given line. If these columns check, the entries in col. (6) to (8) are in all likelihood also correct.

## **IV** Amplitude of Specific Cycles

The original data of economic time series are expressed in diverse units: tons, dollars, persons, bushels, miles, square feet, percentages, and so on. Variations of the unit do not affect the comparability of duration measures, but bar direct comparisons of the amplitude of cyclical swings. Our solution of this difficulty is to express the rise from the trough to the peak and the fall from the peak to the trough of each specific cycle as a percentage of the average monthly value of the series during the cycle. This method puts amplitudes of different types of series in a similar unit and thereby facilitates comparisons among them. Also, it eliminates the secular trend in step-wise fashion and thus facilitates comparisons of the cyclical amplitudes at different stages of the development of a given activity.

The first step in measuring the amplitude of a specific cycle is, therefore, to compute the 'cycle base', that is, the average value of the series during the cycle. Since specific cycles run into one another, a trough is as much a part of a given cycle as of the one adjacent to it. Hence we include both the initial and terminal troughs in computing the average value during a specific cycle; but to avoid a downward bias the trough values receive a weight of one-half each.14 For example, the initial trough of the first complete specific cycle in bituminous coal production comes in January 1908, the terminal trough in February 1911, and the duration of the full cycle is 37 months. To obtain the average monthly standing during the cycle, we sum the values of the seasonally adjusted figures from February 1908 to January 1911 inclusive, add to this sum one-half the value in January 1908 and one-half the value in February 1911, and divide the grand total by 37, the number of months in the cycle. When a series is analyzed on an inverted instead of a positive basis, the procedure is the same except that the peak values are weighted one-half each. The 'cycle bases' yielded by these calculations are recorded in column (4) of Table S3, of which Table 33 gives a sample.

The second step is to compute specific-cycle relatives, which involves expressing the seasonally adjusted figure for each month during a specific cycle as a percentage of the average monthly value for the cycle. In practice it is not necessary to compute specific-cycle relatives for every month. As explained below, nearly all measures based upon these relatives cover two or more months. It is quicker to average the seasonally adjusted data for the months covered by a measure and to reduce this average to a relative than to compute relatives for the individual months and average them.<sup>15</sup> But our explanation can be kept simpler by assuming that the roundabout calculation is made; that is to say, that the monthly values

<sup>14</sup> Here we follow a suggestion by Milton Friedman.<sup>15</sup> Also, errors from rounding numbers are reduced.

in each specific cycle are converted to specific-cycle relatives, and that subsequent computations are made from these relatives.

The next step is to determine the standing of the series at the successive troughs and peaks of the specific cycles. Since the cycle relatives at the troughs are likely to be lower and at the peaks higher than they would be if the data were adjusted for erratic movements, we represent the limits of the cyclical swings by three-month averages centered on the peaks and troughs.<sup>16</sup> This is the general rule, but now and then exceptions are necessary. If there is an extremely low value in the month following or preceding a cyclical peak, or an extremely high value in the month following or preceding a cyclical trough, we omit it in computing the peak or trough standing. In these instances a two-month average represents better the limit of a cyclical swing than does a three-month average. On the other hand, some series are free from erratic movements; for example, the specific cycles in series on wholesale prices and bank discount rates at times have horizontal tops and bottoms. In such cases the cyclical peaks and troughs are best represented by the highest and lowest values.

Short phases also require special treatment. When the phase of a specific cycle is extremely short, three-month averages centered on the peak and trough may use up all or most of the observations on the phase. and therefore dampen the cyclical movement as well as eliminate erratic flutterings. To reduce this difficulty we use two-month averages in handling cyclical phases of less than four months. Thus, if the short phase is an expansion, the standing at the trough is represented by an average of the values at the trough and in the preceding month, while the standing at the peak is represented by an average of the values at the peak and in the following month. Similarly, if the short phase is a contraction, the standing at the peak is represented by the peak month and the one preceding it, and the standing at the trough by the trough month and the one following. But in some short phases a two-month average fails to reach as high up into the peak or as far down into the trough as would a threemonth average, and therefore is even less satisfactory than a three-month average. To provide for such cases we follow the rule that if the average value in the two months specified to represent the peak is equal to or lower than the value in the additional month that would be included in a three-month average centered on the peak, the standing at the peak should be determined from the value in the peak month alone. With obvious changes in wording, this rule applies also to troughs of short phases.

The amplitude measures are shown in three forms in Table S2, of which Table 31 gives a sample. Columns (2), (3) and (4) show the standings at the initial low point of a specific cycle, at the high point, and at the terminal low point. As stated, these standings are usually three-month

16 In this connection, see pp. 326, 334-5.

Dates of specific cycles	3-month average in specific-cycle relatives centered on			Amplitude of			Per month amplitude of		
Trough – Peak – Trough (1)	Initial trough (2)	Peak (3)	Terminal trough (4)	Rise (5)	Fall (6)	Rise & fall (7)	Rise (8)	Fall (9)	Rise & fall (10)
May 07-Jan. 08		111.1*	83.6*		27.5*			3.4	
Jan. 08-June 10-Feb. 11	82.7	111.6	102.2	28.9	9.4	38.3	1.0	1.2	1.0 ·
Feb. 11-Oct. 13-Nov. 14	87.3	110.2	88.0	22.9	22.2	45.1	0.7	1.7	1.0
Nov. 14-July 18-Mar. 19	76.0	124.3	85.2	48.3	39.1	87.4	1.1	4.9	1.7
Mar.19-Dec. 20-July 22	93.4	122.7	64.0	29.3	58.7	88.0	1.4	3.1	2.2
July 22-May 23-June 24	57.2	127.0	86.8	69.8	40.2	110.0	7.0	3.1	4.8
June 24-Mar.27-Dec. 27	85.9	113.1	85.8	27.2	27.3	54.5	0.8	3.0	1.3
Dec. 27-May 29-July 32	100.1	124.0	57.7	23.9	66.3	90.2	1.4	1.7	1.6
July 32-Mar.37-Mar.38	68.4	128.0	83.2	59.6	44.8	104.4	1.1	3.7	1.5
Average <sup>b</sup>	81.4	120.1	81.6	38.7	38.5	77.2	1.8	2.8	1.9
Average deviation <sup>e</sup>	10.6	6.4	10.4	15.4	14.2	23.5	1.3	1.0	0.8
Weighted average		• • •					1.3	2.6	1.7

 TABLE 31

 Sample of Table S2: Amplitude of Specific Cycles

 Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1907-1938

Average rise & fall of seasonal: 68.4 per cent

<sup>a</sup> Computed on base of inverted cycle, May 1907–June 1910. Excluded from the average and the average deviation. <sup>b</sup> Arithmetic mean determined separately for each column. Hence (3)–(2) may differ from (5) in the last place; likewise (3)–(4) from (6), and (5)+(6) from (7).

<sup>o</sup>Measured from the mean.

averages of the specific-cycle relatives centered on the turning points of the specific cycles. If a standing is based on fewer than three months, the exceptional treatment is noted in the table. The 'terminal trough' of each cycle interlocks with the 'initial trough' of the next cycle; that is, the same item is presented as the terminal trough of one cycle and as the initial trough of the next. But the three-month averages of cycle relatives made from the same items differ almost always, sometimes widely, because the average value used as the base of the cycle relatives changes from one cycle to the next. Thus, in bituminous coal production the average of the three values centered on the trough of November 1914 is 88 per cent of the average monthly value during the cycle of February 1911–November 1914, but 76 per cent of the average monthly value during the cycle of November 1914–March 1919.

By scanning the entries on successive lines in columns (2) to (4) one gets a mental image of the specific cycles in the series. This image is severely simple, for it presents only the trough, peak, and trough of each cyclical wave measured from its own mean level. The varying shapes of the cycles from one turning point to the next and from series to series are brought out in the measures of cyclical patterns, described in Section VI. In the meantime columns (5) to (7) show the rise from trough to peak, the fall from peak to trough, and the total rise and fall. These measures are obtained from the entries in the preceding columns. Column (5) shows the absolute differences between columns (2) and (3); column (6) shows the absolute differences between columns (3) and (4); column (7) is the sum of columns (5) and (6). These figures add no information, but they make it easier to compare the amplitudes of different specific cycles in one process and of corresponding specific cycles in different processes. For convenience, the average rise and fall of the seasonal fluctuations is noted at the bottom of the table. Coal production is a highly seasonal industry, but the range of the seasonal fluctuations has been narrower on the average than the range of the cyclical fluctuations.

The third set of amplitude measurements, given in columns (8) to (10), is obtained by dividing the rise and fall figures in columns (5) to (7)of Table S2 by the corresponding duration figures in columns (6) to (8) of Table S1. This step brings out characteristics of the cyclical waves that are hidden by the preceding measurements of rise and fall. In Table S2 for bituminous coal production, the largest cyclical decline occurred in the cycle of 1927-32. But this contraction was uncommonly long, and when we divide the amplitudes of fall by their respective durations, we find that the average rate of fall was smaller in this cycle than in any other cycle except the first and second. Again, the rise exceeds the decline in five cycles out of the eight, but the rate of decline exceeds the rate of rise in every cycle except one. That contraction is a more violent change than expansion is a common finding, though it is not characteristic of all series. The per month figures are useful not only in comparing relatively long with relatively short cycles in the same country, but also cycles of unlike duration in different countries. For example, the specific cycles in British and American exports have almost the same average amplitudes. But the American cycles are on the average decidedly shorter than the British, and their per month amplitudes are therefore much greater.

The averages of columns (8) to (10) are given in two forms. In the simple averages each entry receives the same weight regardless of the length of the period to which it applies. In the weighted averages successive entries are assigned weights proportionate to the durations. Our plan of treating each cycle as a unit of analysis implies that the average should be unweighted. But we also wish to protect the averages against the distorting influence of extreme items. One way of approximating this objective is to compute weighted average rates of change.<sup>17</sup> Weighting reduces the influence of violently large values, for they are much more likely to come during brief than during long phases. In practice the weighted averages are obtained as a by-product of other calculations; for example, the weighted average of column (8) in Table S2 is derived by dividing the sum of column (5) in Table S2 by the sum of column (6) in Table S1. The differences between the simple and weighted averages are instructive. Thus the unweighted average rate of rise in coal production

17 See pp. 364-5 and Tables 186-187.

is 1.8 per cent per month, the weighted average 1.3 per cent. The unweighted average rate of fall is 2.8 per cent, the weighted average 2.6 per cent. The weighted figure is commonly lower than the unweighted one, since there is a tendency for the rates of change during cyclical phases to be correlated inversely with their duration.

When a series is analyzed on an inverted basis, columns (2) to (4) show successively the three-month averages of cycle relatives centered on the initial peak of the specific cycle, the trough, and the terminal peak; columns (5) and (8) show the fall instead of the rise, and columns (6) and (9) show the rise instead of the fall. Although the method of calculation is essentially the same, the measure of average amplitude obtained by analyzing a series on an inverted basis is likely to differ from the measure that would be obtained by positive analysis. One reason for the difference is that the period covered by a group of positive cycles is slightly different from the period covered by inverted cycles: the former start and end with a trough, the latter start and end with a peak. But there is also another reason of a more technical character.

This technical reason arises from our practice of eliminating secular trends by steps covering a full cycle, not continuously as is the usual practice of statisticians. When the trend is upward a fall of specific cycles will usually appear larger in units of cycle relatives if the fall is made a part of a positive cycle than if it is made a part of an inverted cycle; for the base of the positive cycle is apt to be smaller than the base of the inverted cycle. But an upward trend will also make a rise of specific cycles smaller when the rise is included in a positive cycle than when it is included in an inverted cycle; for the base of the former is now larger than the base of the latter. If we take positive analysis as a standard, inverted analysis tends to reduce the amplitude of fall and to increase the amplitude of rise when the trend is upward; it tends to produce opposite effects when the trend is downward; but the effects on the rise are set against the effects on the fall when the amplitudes of rise and fall are combined. When the trend is horizontal, the positive and inverted measures should be identical.

These effects and their order of magnitude are illustrated by Table 32, which includes two samples of a rising trend, one of a falling trend, and three of a horizontal trend.<sup>18</sup> The three samples of a horizontal trend are the trend-adjusted forms of the actual data; the latter are designated in the table as 'unadjusted', being corrected merely for seasonal variations. To isolate the difference between the positive and inverted measures that is attributable to differences in the periods covered, the averages for the positive cycles are shown in two forms. One set covers a period beginning and ending with a trough, as is our usual practice. The second set omits the expansion of the first and the contraction of the last

18 For the rate of secular advance or decline in these series, see Table 84. The series themselves are identified more fully in Ch. 7, Sec. I.

#### TABLE 32

Series and	Period	No. of	Direction	Av in spe	Average amplitude in specific-cycle relatives			
type of analysis	covered	cycles	of trend*	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall		
		Unadjus	ted data					
A.T.&T. INDEX						Ţ		
Positive	1900-1933	9	U	30.5	26.1	56.5		
Positive	1903-1929	8	U	30.7	20.2	51.0		
Inverted	1903-1929	8	U	31.4	19.1	50.6		
PIG IRON PRODUCTION								
Positive	1879-1933	15	U	62.1	54.8	116.8		
Positive	18831929	14	U	61.9	48.0	110.0		
Inverted	1883-1929	14	U	64.5	43.9	108.4		
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS								
Positive	1868-1899	8	D	6.3	14.6	20.9		
Positive	1869-1896	7	D	6.0	14.4	20.4		
Inverted	1869-1896	7	D	5.8	15.0	20.8		
		Trend-adju	usted data					
A.T.&T. INDEX								
Positive	1900-193 <b>3</b>	9	н	23.9	29.6	53.6		
Positive	1903-1929	8	н	25.1	23.5	48.6		
Inverted	1903-1929	8	н	24.8	23.8	48.6		
PIG IRON PRODUCTION								
Positive	1879-1933	15	н	52.2	57.7	109.9		
Positive	1882-1929	14	н	53.1	51.2	104.3		
Inverted	18821929	14	н	52.1	51.9	104.1		
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS								
Positive	1868-1899	8	н	8.6	8.4	17.0		
Positive	1869-1896	7	н	8.6	8.4	17.0		
Inverted	1869-1896	7	н	8.6	8.4	17.0		

Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles on Positive and Inverted Plans Three American Series, Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted

\*U stands for upward, D for downward, H for horizontal.

specific cycle, and thus includes exactly the same cycles as do the inverted averages.<sup>19</sup> We find a systematic difference between the positive and inverted measures in the samples in which the secular trend has a definite direction; but the differences are small in relation to the size of the figures, and are practically confined to the rise and fall taken separately. In general, as the table suggests, the inclusion or omission of an additional cycle may well exercise a greater effect on the averages than a shift from positive to inverted analysis or vice versa for the same group of cycles.<sup>20</sup>

It follows, if the analysis is positive, that the amplitude of a declining

:

Į.

<sup>19</sup> That applies to the rise and fall in specific-cycle relatives; the bases, on which the relatives are computed, unavoidably cover the maximum numbers of cycles shown for the positive analysis in the table.

<sup>20</sup> The trend-adjusted forms of pig iron production and the A.T.&T. index behave a little like series with downward trends (Table 32). This or the opposite result can happen, since the cycle bases of trend-adjusted data are almost certain to vary somewhat. See pp. 287-9 for further analysis of the effect of positive versus inverted treatment on measures of amplitude.

phase of an incomplete specific cycle at the beginning of a series, or of a rising phase at the end, can be approximated by treating it as part of an inverted cycle. Similarly, if a series is analyzed on an inverted basis, the amplitude of an extra phase at the beginning or end of the series can be approximated by treating it as part of a positive cycle. We follow this practice in making Table S2, since we wish to record as fully as we can the amplitudes of the cyclical movements recognized in the series. For example, the relatives on the first line in columns (3) and (4) of Table 31 are computed on the base of the inverted cycle from May 1907 to June 1910; the remaining entries on this line are derived in the usual fashion. But we do not include the entries for the incomplete cycle in the averages, mainly because comparisons of the averages for the phases of rise and fall are as a rule facilitated if based on the same number of observations.

A more serious difficulty is that our measure of amplitude is not entirely independent of the unit in which the original data are expressed.<sup>21</sup> For example, the measure is the same whether a series is expressed in dollars or cents, in long tons or short tons, in miles or yards. But we shall get one measure of amplitude if the price of eggs is expressed as so many cents per dozen, and another measure if the price is expressed as so many dozens per dollar; or if London exchange is expressed in dollars per pound, instead of shillings per dollar. Again, a series showing the percentage of workers unemployed is apt to yield very different measures of amplitude than the same data converted into employment percentages. For example, the percentage of trade union members unemployed was exceptionally low in Great Britain during 1914-17, the average for this cycle being 1.091 per cent. At the peak of the cycle in August 1914 unemployment was 5.20 per cent, then fell to a trough of .33 per cent in April 1917, and rose to another peak of 1.17 per cent in December 1917; the total swing is thus 5.71 per cent.<sup>22</sup> When 5.71 is expressed as a relative of 1.091, the small unemployment average for the cycle, we get an impression of an enormous fluctuation-a total swing of 523 per cent. But we get the opposite impression when the unemployment percentages are converted into employment percentages; for now 5.71, expressed as a percentage of 98.909, comes out 6 per cent.

A shortcoming of the amplitude measure is that it cannot be applied to series of figures that are sometimes plus, sometimes minus. Familiar

21 Assume that the original figures of a time series are represented by  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ ,  $a_3$ ,  $a_4$ , etc. Then our measure of amplitude will be unchanged if each term is multiplied by a constant; that is, the measure of amplitude for the series  $a_1k$ ,  $a_2k$ ,  $a_3k$ , etc. is the same as for the original series. But the measure will be different if the original data are converted to the form  $\frac{k}{a_1}$ ,  $\frac{k}{a_3}$ ,  $\frac{k}{a_3}$ , etc., or if they are converted to the form  $k - a_1$ ,  $k - a_2$ ,  $k - a_3$ , etc.

22 The figures cited are three-month averages centered on the turns. The figure for 1914 is seasonally adjusted; the others are not, no seasonal calculation being made for the few disturbed years that followed. The original figures come from the Ministry of Labour, Twenty-first Abstract of Labour Statistics of the United Kingdom (1919-33), p. 69.

examples are series on profits or losses, net movements of gold from one country to others, differentials between interest rates in the same or different markets, net changes in inventories or plant equipment. In such series the cycle base may approach zero or even be negative, and thus produce preposterous amplitudes. This difficulty is not peculiar to the amplitude measures; it is common to all measures in our scheme of analysis that involve percentages, which means all the measures we make except those in Table S1 and the conformity indexes in Tables R3 and R4. The alternative we have adopted for handling series with plus or minus figures is to work with absolute deviations from the average for each cycle, instead of percentage deviations. Amplitudes measured in this way can be compared for series expressed in the same unit, but not for series in diverse units.

L

L

Another troublesome point is that our rules for identifying specific cycles sometimes fail to yield clear-cut results. This difficulty too is not peculiar to the amplitude measures, but applies to all measures of specific cycles. To minimize the difficulty we check carefully the specific-cycle decisions for related series, and thus attempt to prevent inconsistent treatment of marginal cases. Sometimes we leave a period beclouded by violent erratic movements out of the averages, or else use a range instead of a single figure to indicate the central tendency, one average including and the other excluding the doubtful movements.<sup>23</sup> But even when there are no marginal cases in the sense of our rules, the results may be unsatisfactory, for the rules themselves suffer from discontinuity. An extreme instance is illustrated by Chart 13, showing the employment and pavrolls in dyeing and finishing textile plants from 1919 to 1924. The cyclical movements of the two series are similar except that payrolls have wider fluctuations than employment, which is to be expected. Yet, so long as we adhere rigidly to the rules, we must recognize one cycle less in payrolls than in employment; for the interval between the peaks of payrolls in 1920 and 1921 is only 13 months, while the minimum interval that can qualify as a specific cycle under our rules is 15 months. Since we must choose between the peaks in 1920 and 1921, it seems better to select the former. If we now recognize a trough in January 1921, which seems unavoidable, we are bound to ignore the contraction of 1921 to 1922, although it is both longer and larger than the corresponding contraction in employment. Decisions of this character are obviously absurd and can only lead to confused results and interpretations. They can be avoided by any of three devices: by omitting the period causing trouble from the averages of both series, by recognizing peaks in both 1920 and 1921 in payrolls despite the rules, or by ignoring the contraction from 1921 to 1922 in employment as well as in payrolls. It is wiser to set the rules aside 23 Cf. Ch. 8, Sec. X,



momentarily when they lead to absurd results than to stand by and permit them make a mockery of common sense.

Some modification of the standard procedure of measuring amplitudes may be desirable in other situations. Suppose, for example, that we wish to compare the amplitude of the cyclical declines in different branches of production during the contraction of 1929-33 in the United States. It would not do to measure the change during the same interval for each industry, since the timing of the peaks and troughs varies considerably from activity to activity. If the amplitude of the full cyclical declines is to be determined, the measures must be made from the specific cycles of the individual series. But work with specific cycles in our usual fashion is awkward for two reasons. In the first place, some industries skipped the contraction of 1926-27, while a few skipped both this and the 1923-24 contraction, so that the bases on which specific-cycle relatives are computed cover widely varying periods in different series. To meet this difficulty the decline of each series may be expressed as a percentage of its standing at the peak from which the decline started; or better, as a percentage of its average value during the reference cycle 1927-33. The second difficulty is that although the contraction of 1929-33 engulfed virtually the entire industrial system, the long decline was interrupted by several abortive revivals, one of which lasted long enough to produce an 'extra' specific-cycle expansion in the production of many consumer

goods industries.<sup>24</sup> The peak of the extra expansion was as a rule lower, sometimes much lower, than the peak in the vicinity of the reference turn in 1929. For the special purpose of comparing the amplitude of the cyclical declines in different branches of industry during the businesscycle contraction of 1929-33, it is probably best therefore to ignore entirely the extra cyclical movements. But the extra cycles cannot be ignored in other connections: they are a conspicuous feature of the Great Depression, and they raise the question whether similar developments occurred in other protracted depressions of general business.

It must always be remembered that the large amplitude of one activity in units of cycle relatives and the small amplitude of another activity tell us little about the relative importance of the two activities in business cycles. For example, industrial building contracts in the United States have larger cyclical amplitudes than residential building contracts; this relation is reversed if the amplitudes are measured in dollars instead of cycle relatives. Again, since repair work has smaller amplitudes in cycle relatives than new building, it may be said to 'moderate' the cyclical fluctuations of total building construction inclusive of repair work. But this observation means merely that the cyclical swing of total building is a smaller percentage of its average level than the swing of new building is of its average. So far as the cyclical timing of repair work is similar to that of new building, repair work is obviously an intensifying factor in building fluctuations; that is, it tends to increase the fluctuations of the industry whether measured in man-hours of employment or in dollars expended. One more example may be cited. In recent business cycles the construction of new railroad lines in this country appears to be nearly as volatile, on a percentage basis, as in the eighteen-seventies or eighties, when thousands of miles of road were added each year to the railroad system. But the enormous percentage fluctuations of recent times excite little interest, since the construction of new railroads has shrunk to insignificance both absolutely and in relation to total industrial activity.

These illustrations point a moral, and one that applies to all the measures we use to describe cyclical behavior, not only to the amplitudes. These measures cannot be interpreted properly unless the relation of each process to the economy at large is brought out. For example, we must know the relative importance of agriculture, of exports and imports, of railroads and other transport agencies, of commercial banks, of construction work, of the steel industry, and so on, in each of the four countries represented in our statistical collection. In these instances, useful criteria of importance are the contribution of a factor to the national income, the number who get their living from the activity in question, and the capital invested. Such indicators of the importance of an activity

24 See our paper, Production during the American Business Cycle of 1927-1933 (Bulletin 61), especially pp. 18-19.

must be supplemented by knowledge of its industrial and financial relation to other activities. It is well to know that railroads rate much higher as employers of labor than banks; yet it is no less essential to recognize that railroads and banks are alike in that all modern business depends upon their continuous functioning, that business cycles existed before railroading though not before commercial banking, that when banks provide more credit the volume of a nation's circulating medium is increased, but that when railroads move more traffic the direct monetary effect is merely an increase in the exchange velocity of 'money'.

# V Measures of Secular Movements

The 'intra-cycle' trend of a series is that portion of its secular movement which occurs within the period of a single cycle. The 'inter-cycle' trend is that portion of the secular movement which cumulates from cycle to cycle. The former we retain in our measures of cyclical behavior; the latter we eliminate in computing specific-cycle and reference-cycle relatives.

The element of trend retained in our measures can be judged from the difference between the average rise and the average fall of the specific cycles, or from the tilt of the curves on the charts of cyclical patterns. But these approximations are rough and may be misleading, especially when the series is short. Hence we set out in Table S3 some of the chief facts concerning the secular movements of each series we study. A sample for bituminous coal production appears in Table 33.

Columns (2) and (3) of Table S3 show the average monthly standing of the seasonally adjusted data during the expansions and contractions of specific cycles. If there is a full phase of an incomplete specific cycle at the beginning or end of a series, its average value is also recorded in these columns. In computing the average standing during an expansion or contraction, the values at the peak and trough dates receive a weight of onehalf each and the intervening monthly values a weight of one each. Column (4) shows the average standing of the seasonally adjusted data during each specific cycle. This figure may be obtained by striking a mean of the average standings in the expansion and contraction phases, each weighted by its duration; which is equivalent to assigning a weight of one-half each to the values at the initial and terminal troughs ar.d a weight of one to each intervening value. As previously explained, the entries in column (4) are the bases on which the specific-cycle relatives are computed.

The entries in later columns are elaborations of the figures in columns (2) to (4). Column (5) states by what percentage the average standing during an expansion is higher or lower than the average during the preceding contraction. Similarly, column (6) states by what percentage the level of

	Average monthly standing			Per cent change from		Per cent change from preceding cycle on base of			
Dates of specific cycles				prece pha	ding ase	Preceding		Average of given and	
·····				Contrac-	Expan-	Cy	cie	preceding cycle	
Trough - Peak - Trough (1)	Expan- sion (2)	Contrac- tion (3)	Full cycle (4)	expan- sion (5)	contrac- tion (6)	Total (7)	Per month (8)	Total (9)	Per month (10)
May 07-Jan. 08 Jan. 08-June 10-Feb. 11 Feb. 11-Oct. 13-Nov.14 Nov.14-July 18-Mar.19 Mar.19-Dec. 20-July 22 July 22-May 23-June 24 June 24-Mar.27-Dec. 27 Dec. 27-May 29-July 32 July 32-Mar.37-Mar.38	30.8 37.0 42.5 43.3 42.1 44.8 42.3 31.3	32.3 34.0 36.5 43.7 34.0 44.7 41.2 35.6 34.1	 31.5 36.9 42.7 38.9 43.6 44.0 37.7 31.8	 -5 +9 +16 -1 +24 0 +3 -12	 +10 -1 +3 -21 +6 -8 -16 +9	 +17 +16 -9 +12 +1 -14 -16	+0.41 +0.33 -0.20 +0.38 +0.03 -0.29 -0.26	 +16 +15 -9 +11 +1 -15 -17	+0.39 +0.31 -0.20 +0.35 +0.03 -0.31 -0.28
Average	····	···· ···	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			·	····	+0.3 12.0	+0.04 0.26 +0.01

#### TABLE 33 Sample of Table S3: Secular Movements Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1907–1938

Average is the arithmetic mean; the average deviation is measured from the mean.

a given contraction is above or below that of the preceding expansion. In both columns the percentages are computed on the base of the preceding phase. Together they show the height of the steps from one phase of specific cycles to the next, the width of the steps being already entered in columns (6) and (7) of Table S1. When the secular trend rises, as in the first few cycles of coal output, the average standing during contraction is often higher than during the preceding expansion. The mean levels of successive phases thus bring out important features of cyclical movements in an economic system characterized by secular changes that differ in pace and direction within given processes during different periods and among different processes during the same period.

For our purposes the magnitude of the 'intra-cycle' trend can usually be judged sufficiently well from the line of 'inter-cycle' trend, that is, the step-line formed by the mean levels of successive specific cycles. In column (7) we therefore give the percentage change from the mean level of one specific cycle to the mean level of the next. We take account of the width of the steps between successive cycles in column (8), which shows the percentage change per month between the mean levels of successive cycles. This column is obtained by dividing the number of months from the midpoint of one cycle to the midpoint of the next into the entries in column (7). Thus the duration of the first specific cycle in coal output is 37 months and of the second cycle 45 months; the interval between their midpoints is 41 months; the mean level of the second cycle is 17 per cent higher than

the mean level of the first; therefore the percentage change per month between the two cycles is +0.41.

While the measures in columns (5) to (8) show in a simple manner the percentage changes between successive phases or cycles, we would get biased results if we averaged these measures for a number of cycles. Assume, for example, that the average monthly standings of successive cycles are 80, 40, 80, 40, 80. There is, obviously, no secular trend in this series. Yet the percentage changes between successive cycles are -50, +100, -50, +100; hence the average percentage change from cycle to cycle is +25. This result exemplifies the familiar statement that percentage changes have an 'upward bias'. But the bias disappears if the average of the two values being compared is taken as the base of the percentage, instead of the first value. On this plan the bases are uniformly 60 in our example; the percentage changes are alternately -67 and +67, and their average is 0. We enter in column (9) percentages computed in this manner; that is, instead of using the average standing in the preceding cycle as the base, as we do in column (7), we use a simple average of the average standings in the given and preceding cycles as the base.25 Column (10) differs from (8) in the same way that column (9) differs from (7). Averages for all cycles are restricted in Table S3 to columns (9) and (10), because these alone are free from 'secular bias'.

At the foot of column (10) both simple and weighted averages are entered. The latter weights the individual entries by the intervals to which they relate, that is, the intervals between midpoints of successive cycles. In practice the weighted average is most readily obtained by dividing the sum of the entries in column (9) by the number of months from the midpoint of the first to the midpoint of the last full cycle in the series. Whereas the unweighted average is likely to vary with specific-cycle decisions, the weighted average is virtually independent of those decisions. We use this weighted figure more commonly than any other in the table. We have found empirically that it is a good approximation to the average percentage change per month determined from a 'least squares' exponential.

When a series is analyzed on an inverted basis, the procedure is the same except that the average standing during contraction is entered in column (2), the average standing during expansion in column (3), the

25 Let A be the average standing of a series during a given specific cycle, KA the average during the next cycle, F the customary measure of percentage change, and J the measure described in the text as free from secular bias. Then

$$F = 100\left(\frac{KA - A}{A}\right) = 100 (K - 1), \text{ and } J = 100\left(\frac{KA - A}{\frac{KA + A}{2}}\right) = 200 \frac{K - 1}{K + 1}.$$

The theoretical limits of F are -100 and  $\infty$ , while the limits of J are -200 and +200. Since  $J = \left(\frac{2}{K+1}\right)F = \frac{200F}{200+F}$ , in practice we first compute F, then find the equivalent J from a table relating F and J.

## 144 BASIC MEASURES OF CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

percentage change from expansion to contraction in column (5), and the percentage change from contraction to expansion in column (6). In handling series such as net changes in inventories, the successive values of which are sometimes plus and sometimes minus, we show absolute instead of percentage changes in the table.

Table S3 supplies what we wish to know: the shifts in the average level of a series from one phase of specific cycles to the next and from one full cycle to the next. We should use different procedures were we concerned primarily with secular trends instead of cyclical fluctuations.<sup>26</sup> Of course, if a series is free from specific cycles, Table S3 cannot be made. In such series we use measures like those in Table S3, but made from reference cycles instead of specific cycles. Since reference cycles cover uniform periods in all series, this plan facilitates comparisons of different series for some purposes, and it may prove profitable at a later stage to extend this computation to all series. However, the weighted average in column (10) is virtually bound to be the same when computed from reference cycles as when computed from specific cycles, unless a series is short and the specific and reference cycles match very badly at the ends.

## **VI** Specific-cycle Patterns

While Table S1 shows the timing and duration of the specific cycles of economic activities, Table S2 their amplitudes, and Table S3 the changes in their average levels, these tables do not give a clear idea of the form of the mounting wave from trough to crest or of the subsiding wave from crest to trough. Supplemental measures are needed to show in some detail the progress of the cyclical fluctuations. These measures are supplied by Table S4, which records the average standing of a series during nine segments of each specific cycle. A sample for bituminous coal production is shown in Table 34.

The nine-point 'pattern' of a specific cycle is made on the following plan. First, the average of the cycle relatives in the three months centered on the initial trough of the specific cycle is entered in column (2). Next, the expansion phase-strictly speaking, the interval beginning with the month after the trough and ending with the month before the peak-is subdivided into three parts as nearly equal as may be without using fractions of a month. The average standing of the cycle relatives in each third of expansion is computed, and the results entered in columns (3) to (5). The standing at the specific-cycle peak is represented by a three-month average centered on that date; this average is entered in column (6). The contraction phase, that is, the interval beginning with the month after the peak and ending with the month before the terminal trough, is

28 Indeed, as our work on business cycles deepens, we find at times a need for mathematical representations of secular movements or for measures other than those recorded in Table S3. divided into thirds as is the expansion phase, and the average standings are entered in columns (7) to (9). Finally, the average standing in the three months centered on the trough that links the given cycle to the next is presented in column (10). For convenience, the successive stages into which each specific cycle is broken are designated by Roman numerals from I to IX: the stage of the initial trough is represented by I, of the peak by V, and of the terminal trough by IX.

#### TABLE 34

	1	Average in specific-cycle relatives at stage							
	I	II	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
Dates of specific cycles	3 mos. cen- tered	Expansion			3 mos. cen- tered			3 mos. cen- tered	
Trough – Peak – Trough	initial trough	First third	Middle third	Last third	on peak	First third	Middle third	Last third	minal trough
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	_(8)	(9)	(10)
May 07-Jan. 08					111.1ª	109.7°	107.3°	97.0ª	83.6°
Jan. 08-June 10-Feb. 11	82.7	87.8	94.9	111.4	111.6	106.4	109.5	107.8	102.2
Feb. 11-Oct. 13-Nov. 14	87.3	92.5	101.9	106.9	110.2	104.3	95.9	96.3	88.0
Nov.14-July 18-Mar.19	76.0	86.7	101.3	110.5	124.3	117.5	100.2	88.9	85.2
Mar.19-Dec. 20-July 22	93.4	108.8	104.1	119.8	122.7	89.9	87.5	83.6	64.0
July 22-May 23-June 24	57.2	83.6	100.5	108.3	127.0	119.1	95.8	91.8	86.8
June 24-Mar.27-Dec. 27	85.9	90.7	102.8	111.5	113.1	96.2	92.4	87.6	85.8
Dec. 27-May 29-July 32	100.1	109.3	113.1	114.3	124.0	114.3	95.1	74.2	57.7
July 32-Mar.37-Mar.38	68.4	87.3	96.3	111.1	128.0	112.2	114.4	94.8	83. <b>2</b>
Average	81.4	93.3	101.9	111.7	120.1	107.5	98.8	90.6	81.6
Average deviation	10.6	7.8	3.6	2.6	6.4	8.3	6.9	7.0	10.4

Sample of Table S4: Specific-cycle Patterns Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1907–1938

Average is the arithmetic mean; the average deviation is measured from the mean.

\*Computed on base of inverted cycle, May 1907-June 1910. Excluded from the average and the average deviation.

Thus the nine-point pattern is an elaboration upon the skeleton framework in columns (2) to (4) of Table S2. The standings in stages I, V and IX are taken directly from that table. When one or two months instead of the usual three are used in Table S2 to represent the standing at a peak or trough, that is done also in Table S4. Stage V overlaps stages IV and VI; that is, of the three months usually included in stage V, the first is included also in IV and the last in VI. In a similar manner stage I (or IX) overlaps stages VIII and II. Since stages IV and VI omit the peak month, and stages VIII and II omit the trough month, the intervals designated as 'expansion' and 'contraction' in Table S4 cover one month less than the full phase. If the duration of the expansion or contraction, thus defined, is exactly divisible by three, the distribution of months into thirds is straightforward. If the division yields a remainder of one, the extra month is placed in the middle third. If the remainder is two, an extra month is assigned to the first and last thirds.<sup>27</sup> Thus the successive stages of expansion or contraction may cover 6, 6, 6 months, or 6, 7, 6, or 7, 6, 7. This plan ensures that the midpoint of stage III is also the midpoint of the expansion, and that the midpoint of stage VII is also the midpoint of the contraction. Further, it tends to make the average number of months in each third of a run of expansions or contractions equal, since the probability that the duration of a phase when divided by three will leave a remainder of zero is presumably the same as the probability that the remainder will be one or two.

				Average standi	Interval from	
Cycle	Stage Period covered r		months	Millions of short tons	Cycle relatives	stage to stage (mos.)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
	I	Dec. 1907 - Feb. 1908	3	26.033	82.7	
	II	Feb. 1908 - Oct. 1908	9	27.644	87.8	5.0
Ian, 1908-Feb, 1911	III	Nov. 1908 - Aug. 1909	10	29.870	94.9	9.5
(Av. monthly	IV	Sep. 1909 - May 1910	9	35.056	111.4	9.5
value = 31.482	v	May 1910 - July 1910	3	35.133	111.6	5.0
million short	VI	July 1910 - Aug. 1910	2	33.500	106.4	1.5
tons)	VII	Sep. 1910 - Nov. 1910	3	34.467	109.5	2.5
	VIII	Dec. 1910 - Jan. 1911	2	33.950	107.8	2.5
	IX	Jan. 1911 - Mar.1911	3	32.167	102.2	1.5
	I	Jan. 1911 - Mar.1911	3	32.167	87.3	
	II	Mar.1911 - Dec. 1911	10	34.090	92.5	5.5
Feb. 1911 - Nov. 1914	III	Jan. 1912 - Nov. 1912	11	37.545	101.9	10.5
(Av. monthly	IV	Dec. 1912 - Sep. 1913	10	39.400	106.9	10.5
value = 36.853	v	Sep. 1913 - Nov. 1913	3	40.600	110.2	5.5
million short	VI	Nov. 1913 – Feb. 1914	4	38.425	104.3	2.5
tons)	VII	Mar.1914 – June 1914	• 4	35.350	95.9	4.0
	VIII	July 1914 - Oct. 1914	4	35.500	96.3	4.0
)	IX	Oct. 1914 - Dec. 1914	3	32.433	88.0	2.5
	I	Oct. 1914 - Dec. 1914	3	32.433	76.0	
	II	Dec. 1914 – Jan. 1916	14	37.000	86.7	7.5
Nov.1914-Mar.1919	III	Feb. 1916 - Apr. 1917	15	43.207	101.3	14.5
(Av. monthly	IV	May 1917 - June 1918	14	47.143	110.5	14.5
value = 42.667	v	June 1918 - Aug. 1918	3	53.033	124.3	7.5
million short	VI	Aug. 1918 - Sep. 1918	2	50.150	117.5	1.5
tons)	VII	Oct. 1918 - Dec. 1918	3	42.767	100.2	2.5
	VIII	Jan. 1919 - Feb. 1919	2	37.950	88.9	2.5
	IX	Feb. 1919 - Apr. 1919	3	36.367	85.2	1.5

TABLE 35	
The Computation of Specific-cycle Patterns	Illustrated
Bituminous Coal Production, United States,	1908-1919

The illustration covers the first three full specific cycles in coal production; see Table 34.

The illustration worked out in Table 35 may clarify the details. The initial trough of the first complete specific cycle recorded for bituminous coal production comes in January 1908. Hence the standing in stage I is an average of the specific-cycle relatives for December 1907, January <sup>27</sup> We are indebted to W. Allen Wallis for suggesting this arrangement.

1908, and February 1908, each computed on the base January 1908-February 1911. As stated before, this result is obtained more easily by averaging the original values in the three months and then converting the average into a relative, and the calculations in Table 35 are shown in this form. The 'expansion' phase covers the period from February 1908 through May 1910, or 28 months in all. Hence stages II, III and IV cover successively 9, 10 and 9 months. Stage V includes the three months May-July 1910, but May is included also in stage IV and July in stage VI. Stage IX includes the three months January-March 1911, and thus laps over stage VIII of the given cycle and stage II of the next cycle. The three months entering into stage IX of the cycle from January 1908 to February 1911 constitute also stage I of the cycle from February 1911 to November 1914. But the standing in stage IX of the first cycle is 102 and the standing in stage I of the next cycle is only 87; the difference means that the monthly average of the data for January-March 1911 is 102 per cent of the monthly average for January 1908-February 1911, and 87 per cent of the average for February 1911-November 1914.

When the specific cycles of a series are treated as inverted, the procedure is the same but now the sequence of stages runs from the initial peak (stage I) to the terminal peak (stage IX). A sample of an inverted analysis appears in Table 36. If there is a full phase of an incomplete specific cycle at the beginning or end of a positive analysis, as in coal production, this phase is subdivided in the usual fashion, but the standings are expressed as relatives on the base of an inverted cycle and excluded from the averages of all cycles. If a series is treated on an inverted plan, the standings of a full phase of an incomplete specific cycle are

	Average in specific-cycle relatives at stage								
	I	II	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
Dates of specific cycles	3 mos. cen- tered	Contraction			3 mos. cen- tered	Expansion			3 mos. cen- tered
Peak - Trough - Peak	on initial peak	First third	Middle third	Last third	on trough	First third	Middle third	Last third	on ter- minal peak
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
July 21 - Apr. 23 - July 24 July 24-Nov. 25 - Sep. 28 Sep. 28 - May 29 - Jan. 31 Jan. 31 - Oct. 33 - Dec. 34 Dec. 34 - Aug. 37 - June 38	237.8 174.4 58.4 117.7 153.8	190.2 125.1 58.6 110.7 145.0	102.7 63.1 55.4 106.3 107.5	42.5 54.6 45.9 100.3 39.8	28.3 27.0 44.4 80.1 16.8	53.5 67.9 64.7 87.4 35.8	88.9 115.0 120.7 85.1 114.8	103.1 143.5 171.1 88.7 175.5	135.6 157.4 182.7 95.6 194.2
Average	148.4 48.3	125.9	87.0	56.6	39.3 18.3	61.9 13.8	104.9	136.4 32.4	153.1

 TABLE 36

 Sample of Table S4: Specific-cycle Patterns on Inverted Plan

 Slab Zinc Stocks at Refineries, United States, 1921-1938

Average is the arithmetic mean; the average deviation is measured from the mean.

expressed as relatives on the base of a positive cycle. In the few series consisting of plus or minus values, whether analyzed on a positive or inverted basis, the standings in successive stages of the cycles are shown as absolute deviations from the cycle base, instead of in percentages.<sup>28</sup>

Our method of tracing cyclical patterns makes implicit assumptions about the general character of cyclical movements. The principal assumption is that the turns of specific cycles come in single months; that is to say, the tops and bottoms of specific cycles are rounded or angular, not flat. On the whole this assumption is amply justified by experience. Specific cycles consisting of a horizontal low level followed by a stationary high level, which in turn is followed by a stationary low level and so on, appear very rarely in practice. But intermediate types are troublesome, as when a specific cycle consists of an expansion, plateau, and contraction; or of an expansion, contraction, and flat bottom; or of an expansion, flat top, contraction, and flat bottom. Our standard practice has been to date the peak towards the end of a flat top and the trough towards the end of a flat bottom-a method that obviously biases the cyclical patterns. But such cases are few in proportion to the number of cycles we have analyzed; they can be readily spotted on the data charts, and qualitative amendments made where needed. A simple quantitative adjustment could be made by including all months within the flat top in the standing at stage V, including all months within the flat bottom in stages I and IX, assigning the months between the end of the flat bottom and the beginning of the flat top to stages II, III and IV, and the months between the end of the flat top and the beginning of the flat bottom to stages VI, VII and VIII. But this method also will not work perfectly in practice, for so-called 'flat' tops or bottoms may be jagged and therefore not easy to delimit. And when the tops and bottoms do happen to be perfectly flat, the expansions and contractions are likely to be staircase movements, and this feature will be concealed by the adjustment just as it is concealed by the standard plan of making patterns.

Another assumption that underlies our method of tracing cyclical patterns is that the phases of specific cycles cover fairly large numbers of months, so that there is reasonable opportunity for erratic flutterings to disappear. The practice of breaking expansions and contractions into thirds irrespective of their duration becomes a thin formality when the phases are very short. When an expansion lasts four months, three months are covered by the interval exclusive of the peak and trough and hence only one month each is left for stages II, III, and IV. When a phase lasts less than four months, as happens occasionally, we must resort to interpolation to get the standings needed for the successive thirds of the phase.

<sup>28</sup> To keep the exposition simple, the remainder of this section, except for the closing paragraphs, is written from the viewpoint of positive analysis. With obvious changes in phrasing, the description applies also to inverted analysis.

Interpolated figures, if any, are enclosed in parentheses in Table S4.29

Where needed, the interpolations are made on the following plan. If the short phase is an expansion, the standing at stage III is determined from the cycle relatives for the one or two months in the expansion exclusive of the trough and peak months. The standing at stage II is then determined by interpolating along a straight line between the standings at stages I and III, and the standing at stage IV by interpolating between the standings at stages III and V. In these computations each standing is conceived as placed in the middle of the stage. The midpoint of stage V is treated as coming in the middle of the peak month and the midpoint of stage I as coming in the middle of the trough month, although these stages are commonly represented by two months in very brief phases. This procedure is necessary to ensure that the sum of the intervals from midpoint to midpoint of the stages equals the duration of the cycle; and may be rationalized by saying that stages I, V and IX include in principle only the trough or peak months, but that the cyclical standing at these stages is estimated in practice from one, two or three months.<sup>30</sup>

The disregard of differences in cycle durations in Table S4, and in its congener Table R1, is the most considerable distortion we practise upon the original data at any point in the analysis. At a later stage, we plan to make a special study of long, medium, and short cycles to see whether differences in duration are regularly associated with differences in other aspects of cyclical behavior. Meanwhile we express the relations between the amplitude and duration of cyclical fluctuations in the per month figures of Table S5,<sup>31</sup> which show the average change per month, in units of cycle relatives, from stage to stage of the specific cycles. As the sample in Table 37 indicates, the rate of change of coal production has been far from steady during successive intervals of expansion and contraction. As usual, within its briefer span contraction is somewhat more violent than expansion. But in coal production at least, the most violent declines tend to occur at the beginning and close of contraction.

#### 29 For some examples, see Appendix Table B1.

30 In a three-month expansion, stages II to IV cover two months in all, or two-thirds of a month each; the middle of stage II is five-sixths and the middle of stage III is nine-sixths of a month from the middle of stage I. Hence if we interpolate along a straight line between stages I and III, the standing in stage II is equal to the standing in stage I plus five-ninths of the excess of the standing in stage III over the standing in stage I. Again, the middle of stage IV is four-sixths and the middle of stage V nine-sixths of a month from the middle of stage III; hence the standing in stage IV is equal to the standing in stage III plus four-ninths of the excess of the standing in stage V over that in stage III.

By similar reasoning, if the expansion lasts two months, the standing in stage II equals that in stage I plus two-thirds of the excess of stage III over stage I, and the standing in stage IV equals that in stage III plus one-third of the excess of stage V over stage III.

With obvious changes in stage numerals, the procedure is the same in handling short contractions.

<sup>31</sup> Also in Tables S2, R2, R3, and R4 the amplitudes are reduced to a per month basis. In Table S3 per month figures are used to express the relation between changes in the average level of successive cycles and the intervals between their midpoints.

	Average change per month in specific-cycle relatives between stages							
	1-11	11-111	III-IV	IV-V	v-vi	VI-VII	VII-VIII	VIII-IX
Dates of		Expa	nsion		Contraction			
specific cycles Trough-Peak-Trough (1)	Trough to first third (2)	First to middle third (3)	Middle to last third (4)	Last third to peak (5)	Peak to first third (6)	First to middle third (7)	Middle to last third (8)	Last third to trough (9)
May 07 - Jan. 08	:				-0.9ª	-1.0*	-4.1*	-8.9*
Jan. 08 – June 10 – Feb. 11	+1.0	+0.7	+1.7	0.0	-3.5	+1.2	-0.7	-3.7
Feb. 11 - Oct. 13 - Nov. 14	+0.9	+0.9	+0.5	+0.6	-2.4	-2.1	+0.1	-3.3
Nov. 14 - July 18 - Mar. 19	+1.4	+1.0	+0.6	+1.8	-4.5	-6.9	-4.5	-2.5
Mar. 19 - Dec. 20 - July 22	+3.8	-0.7	+2.4	+0.7	-9.4	-0.4	-0.6	-5.6
July 22 - May 23 - June 24	+13.2	+5.6	+2.6	+9.4	-3.2	-5.8	-1.0	-2.0
June 24 – Mar. 27 – Dec. 27	+0.8	+1.2	+0.8	+0.3	-8.4	-1.5	-1.9	-0.9
Dec. 27 - May 29 - July 32	+3.1	+0.7	+0.2	+3.2	-1.5	-1.5	-1.7	-2.5
July 32 - Mar. 37 - Mar. 38	+2.0	+0.5	+0.8	+1.8	-6.3	+0.6	-5.6	-4.6
Average	+3.3	+1.2	+1.2	+2.2	-4.9	-2.0	-2.0	-3.1
Average deviation	2.6	1.1	0.8	2.0	2.4	2.2	1.5	1.2
Weighted average	+2.3	+0.9	+1.0	+1.6	-4.5	-1.8	-1.8	-3.2
Average interval (mos.)	5.3	9.8	9.8	5.3	2.8	4.7	4.7	2.8
Duration of irregular mo Duration of specific of	ovements cycles	$=\frac{16.5}{370}$	= 4.5 pe	r cent	<b>.</b>		<b>1</b>	

# TABLE 37 Sample of Table S5: Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Specific Cycles Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1907–1938

Average is the arithmetic mean; the average deviation is measured from the mean.

Computed on base of inverted cycle, May 1907-June 1910. Excluded from the average, the average deviation, and the average interval.

The figures in Table S5 are obtained by dividing the differences between successive entries in Table S4 by the number of months from the middle of one stage to the middle of the next stage. The calculation of these intervals is illustrated in the last column of Table 35. Whether one, two or three months are used to represent the standing in stage V, the intervals between stages IV and V and between stages V and VI are computed as if the standing in stage V were in the center of the peak month. A like remark applies to stage I (or IX) in relation to adjacent stages. Where the standings of an expansion are interpolated, the average rate of change is computed from stage I to III and from stage III to V; the first represents the change from stage I to II and from stage II to III; the second represents the change from stage III to IV and from IV to V. Contractions are handled on the same principle. The rates of change computed from interpolated values are placed in parentheses, so that they may be easily 'spotted'. There are no instances of this type in coal production.

The average rates of change at the bottom of Table S5 are first shown in unweighted form; that is, the rate of change from stage to stage of every cycle is allowed to count the same regardless of the interval to which it applies. Since the rates of change computed from interpolated values

are apt to be of extreme size relatively to corresponding figures in longer cycles, we exclude them as a rule from the averages. But the averages may be distorted also by rates of change during phases that are sufficiently long not to require interpolation, yet too short to reduce erratic movements effectively. One method of handling this difficulty is to omit the 'extreme' items from the averages. Another and perhaps less arbitrary method is to weight the rates of change between successive standings by the intervals to which they apply. Weighted averages are therefore included in Table S5. They are derived, in effect, from the average standings at the bottom of Table S4 and the average intervals at the bottom of Table S5. Thus the excess of the average standing in stage II over the average in stage I, divided by the average interval between these stages, is equivalent to an arithmetic mean of the rates of change in successive cycles weighted by the intervals to which the rates apply; and so on from stage to stage.<sup>32</sup> These weighted averages correspond precisely to the slopes of our graphic pictures of average specific-cycle patterns, described later in this section.

Since stages I, V and IX overlap adjacent stages, the differences between the standings at the cyclical turns and adjacent standings involve a peculiar weighting of individual months. This difficulty could be avoided by not assigning to the 'expansion' any month included in stages I and V, or to the 'contraction' any month included in stages V and IX. However, the use of overlaps adds two months to each phase; and consequently, the chance of wiping out erratic flutterings is improved, the occasions on which interpolating is needed to get cyclical standings are fewer, and the inaccuracy of describing stages II to IV as successive thirds of expansion and stages VI to VIII as successive thirds of contraction is reduced. The advantages of the overlaps seem to outweigh the disadvantages.<sup>33</sup> In practice the two plans yield closely similar cyclical patterns.

The manner in which our method of replacing the full set of monthly values for a cycle by nine average standings irons out erratic movements and discloses the form of the successive cycles is brought out vividly by Chart 14. Curve A shows the original monthly figures of coal production in the United States from 1905 to 1939, and curve B shows these

<sup>32</sup> Let the standings of successive cycles in a given stage be  $a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_N$ , the standings in the next stage  $b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_N$ , and the intervals between the midpoints of the adjacent stages  $d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_N$ . Then the rates of change from one stage to the next in successive cycles are  $\frac{b_1 - a_1}{d_1}, \frac{b_2 - a_2}{d_2}$ , and so on. If these rates are weighted by the corresponding durations, the weighted average is

$$\frac{\Sigma b - \Sigma a}{\Sigma d}, \text{ or } \frac{\frac{Z b}{N} - \frac{Z a}{N}}{\frac{\Sigma d}{N}}. \text{ In practice, we derive the weighted averages from sums instead of means.}$$

<sup>38</sup> If the overlaps were eliminated, cyclical patterns made from monthly data would be more nearly comparable with patterns made from quarterly data than at present. But our statistical analysis is designed primarily for monthly data, and the analysis of quarterly and anual data adapted as well as may be to the monthly model. See below, pp. 199, 249-50.



CHART 14

- 152 -

figures adjusted for seasonal variations. Curve C, derived from the seasonally adjusted figures, shows the patterns of successive specific cycles expressed in units of the original data, that is, before adjustment for the changing level of the specific cycles. Curve D is the same as C but is cut across by horizontal lines representing the mean levels of successive specific cycles, and curve E shows the cyclical patterns after elimination of the inter-cycle trend—the standard form in which we put the results for practically all series.

When the amplitudes of erratic movements are modest compared with those of specific cycles, they tend to disappear from view when the full set of monthly values within a cycle is replaced by nine average standings. But when the erratic movements are relatively large, they are likely to leave their stamp visibly on the patterns of individual cycles, sometimes even on the average patterns. Chart 14 indicates that the erratic movements in bituminous coal production are removed in large part, but not entirely. In four specific cycles the rise is continuous from stage I to V and the decline is continuous from stage V to IX; each of the other four cycles shows one irregularity. Any reversal of direction within a phasethat is, a decline between stage I and V, or rise between stage V and IXis an irregular movement. Such reversals of direction may be due to the failure of erratic movements to cancel out, or to recognition of one specific cycle when two should have been taken, which can happen when erratic movements obscure the specific cycles. Therefore a simple though indirect method of judging the amplitude of the erratic movements in a series relatively to the amplitude of its specific cycles is to compare the number of irregularities in its stage-to-stage movements with the total number of stage-to-stage intervals; or better, the total duration of the intervals having irregular signs with the total duration of all the specific cycles. We do the latter and enter the result for each series at the bottom of Table S5.34

The qualitative descriptions of erratic movements noted in Section I of Chapter 4 are derived largely from these percentages. Four classes of percentages are distinguished: 0 to 2.0 is taken to indicate 'mild' erratic movements, 2.1 to 6.0 'moderate', 6.1 to 10.0 'pronounced', and over 10.0

84 The result for coal production is obtained as follows:

List of irregular movements	Interval in months
Stage VI to VII, cycle 1908-11	2.5
Stage VII to VIII, cycle 1911-14	4.0
Stage II to III, cycle 1919-22	6.5
Stage VI to VII, cycle 1932-38	3.5

The total duration of intervals showing irregular signs is 16.5 months. The total duration of specific cycles from May 1907 to March 1988 is 370 months. The first figure is 4.5 per cent of the second.

A slight change between consecutive stages in Table S4 may be lost by rounding in Table S5. Hence, if a zero appears in Table S5, it is necessary to refer to Table S4 to make sure whether a sign cannot be determined.
'very pronounced'. Descriptions carried through on this plan are then checked against independent judgments made from the data charts, and frequently revised in the light of the latter. Although the method is very rough,<sup>35</sup> it helps us appraise the analysis of specific cycles. More confidence can be placed in the measures for specific cycles when the erratic movements are set down as mild than when they are set down as pronounced or very pronounced. These descriptions are included in our worksheets for each series, which list in detail any peculiarities of the data or doubtful features of the analysis.

The patterns developed in Chart 14 are rearranged in Chart 15 to bring out the significance of the average pattern of all the cycles in a series. The vertical scale runs in units of cycle relatives, the horizontal scale in units of time, as in Chart 14. The patterns of the single cycles are plotted so that each peak (standing in stage V) is directly under the preceding one. Since the durations of the cycles vary, the standings at other stages are out of alignment; but they can be readily identified from the dots representing the successive standings. The average specific-cycle pattern at the bottom of the chart is drawn from the average standings in Table S4 and the average intervals between successive stages in Table S5. This pattern gives a composite photograph of the durations, amplitudes and stage-to-stage changes of the individual specific cycles. As is to be expected, it is considerably smoother than the patterns of most individual cycles. Its slope represents the average rate of change from stage to stage of the cycles weighted by the intervals between the stages, and thus corresponds to the weighted averages in Table S5.36 But the average pattern gives no heed to the sequence in which the cycles actually occurred. This disregard of the historical succession of the cycles is implicit in all the averages we strike of cyclical measures: it is a crucial feature of our technique and raises questions of great importance to which Chapters 9-12 are devoted.

Chart 16 shows our standard method of summarizing graphically some leading features of the specific cycles of a series. The diagram for coal production is the same as that at the bottom of Chart 15 except for additional detail. Several other series are included in the chart to give a glimpse of the variety of cyclical patterns found in economic activities.<sup>37</sup>

36 See note 32.

37 For several of these series, the patterns of individual cycles are shown in Appendix Table B1.

<sup>85</sup> Not all irregularities of sign are due to erratic movements. If a series flattens out some months before it reaches a specific-cycle peak and falls sharply in the month following the turn, the standing in stage V may be lower than in stage IV; for similar reasons the standing in stage IX may be higher than in stage VIII. On the other hand, absence of irregular signs need not mean that erratic movements are slight. For example, if a declining segment of a highly choppy series is mistakenly treated as a specific-cycle contraction, there may be a continuous decline from stage to stage of this false contraction. In general, the longer the phase of specific cycles the more effectively will the cyclical patterns wipe out erratic movements; our method takes this principle into account, though very imperfectly.

CHART 13 Patterns of Successive Specific Cycles and Their Average Pattern Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1907 – 1938



See Chart 14 and explanations in text.

- 155 -



The long horizontal line at the bottom of each pattern represents the average duration of the specific cycles; the short horizontal line below it represents the average deviation of the cycle durations. The distances we take to represent time are shown by a ruler, which furnishes a scale for approximating all measurements of duration. The vertical scale at the left runs in units of cycle relatives; with its aid the successive standings of a cyclical pattern and its amplitude can be read. The horizontal line indicating the average duration of the specific cycles is broken by vertical lines erected at the midpoints of the successive cycle stages. The midpoint of the trough stage is marked by 'T' and of the peak stage by 'P' in order that the eye may quickly find these stages. The lengths of the nine vertical lines represent average deviations from the average standings at successive stages of the specific cycles.<sup>38</sup>

When numerous patterns have been worked out, they give lively impressions of the variety of cyclical behavior characteristic of economic processes. Among these patterns we can distinguish various types, and classify the series according to the duration and amplitude of their cyclical movements, the relative magnitude of the average deviations, the rate of change during successive stages of their cycles, the peakedness of the patterns, the presence or absence of 'saw teeth' in the patterns, as well as their positive or inverted shapes.<sup>39</sup> Chart 16 suggests, and our later monographs will demonstrate in detail, that there is little justification for the common notion that cyclical patterns of different activities vary merely in amplitude, or that a sine curve is a satisfactory 'approximation' or 'model' of the specific cycles found in experience.

The patterns in Chart 16 show besides the changing pace of the average rise and fall of the specific cycles, the durations of the expansions and contractions, their amplitude, and the intra-cycle trend. The latter features are standardized in Chart 17, which isolates the information that the cyclical patterns add to the average measures described in preceding sections. The new chart shows merely the rates of change from stage to stage of an average expansion relatively to one another, as well as the rates of change from stage to stage of an average contraction relatively to one another. The computations necessary to make the chart are illustrated in Table 38. The adjusted durations in column (8) are plotted along the horizontal axis, and the adjusted standings in column (4) are plotted along the vertical axis. A similar procedure is used when the analysis is inverted. Here also the expansion is treated separately from the contraction; but in making the adjustments the average standing in stage V is subtracted from the standings in other stages, since the trough now comes in stage V and the peak in stages I and IX.40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> See in this connection the description of specific-cycle patterns in Chart 2.

<sup>39</sup> Note carefully, however, the last two paragraphs in Sec. I.

<sup>40</sup> The principal features of this chart were suggested by Geoffrey H. Moore.



Variation of Average Rates of Change from Stage to Stage of Expansions and Contractions of Specific Cycles Ten American Series



To facilitate study, the peaks and troughs are joined by streight lines representing uniform rates of expansion and contraction. See explanations in test and Table 38, For sources of data and other notes, see Appendis C.

#### TABLE 38

### Adjustment of Average Specific-cycle Pattern to Show Relative Variation of Rates of Change from Stage to Stage of Expansion and Contraction Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1908–1938

Expansion of specific cycles										
		Exces	s over ge I	Average in mon	interval ths from	Average interval	Adjusted interval			
Stage	Average standing (see Absolute Table 34) amount		As % of excess for stage V	Preceding stage (see Table 37)	Stage I as origin (cumulatives of col. 5)	from stage I as origin, as % of twice the duration of expansion	from stage I as origin (same as col. 7)			
(1)	(2) .	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)			
I II III IV	81.4 93.3 101.9 111.7	0.0 11.9 20.5 30.3	0.0 30.7 53.0 78.3	5.3 9.8 9.8	0.0 5.3 15.1 24.9	0.0 8.8 25.0 41.2	0.0 8.8 25.0 41.2			
v	120.1	38.7	100.0	5.3	30.2	50.0	50.0			

Contraction of specific cycles

		Exces stag	s over e I <b>X</b>	Average in mon	ths from	Average interval	Adjusted interval from stage I as origin (add 50 to col. 7)	
Stage	Average standing (see Table 34)	Absolute amount	As % of excess for stage V	Preceding stage (see Table 37)	Stage V as origin (cumulatives of col. 5)	from stage V as origin, as % of twice the duration of contraction		
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	
v	120.1	38.5	100.0		0.0	0.0	50.0	
VI	107.5	25.9	67.3	2.8	2.8	9.3	59.3	
VII	98.8	17.2	44.7	4.7	7.5	25.0	75.0	
VIII	90.6	9.0	23.4	4.7	12.2	40.7	90.7	
IX	81.6	0.0	0.0	2.8	15.0	50.0	100.0	

The adjusted patterns are of uniform amplitude and have no tilt. In series treated on a positive plan the pattern starts at 0 in stage I, rises to 100 in stage V, and falls to 0 in stage IX; in inverted analyses the movement is from 100 to 0 to 100. The durations are also uniform: the expansion runs from 0 to 50 and the contraction from 50 to 100. The adjusted patterns can therefore differ only in their slopes. These correspond precisely to the slopes in Chart 16, in the sense that whatever set of numbers is formed by the slopes of the latter during an average expansion or contraction, taken separately, precisely the same set of numbers multiplied by some constant is formed by the slopes of Chart 17; so that the relative variation of the slopes during expansion or contraction is preserved. A glance at Chart 17 reveals whether the average expansion of a series has been characterized by a steady, increasing or decreasing rate of rise, how the rate of decline has behaved on the average during contractions, and the manner and degree in which the pace of expansions or contractions has varied in different series. It is clear, for example, that neither the production nor price of pig iron has moved at a steady average pace during the expansions and contractions of specific cycles; but whereas

three-fifths of the rise in production came in the first half of the expansion and three-fifths of the decline in the last half of contraction, in prices only a fourth of the rise was accomplished from the trough to midexpansion and less than two-fifths of the decline was accomplished from mid-contraction to the trough.

Our methods of analyzing cyclical patterns are far from perfect. We hope that they may excite the reader sufficiently to undertake fresh experiments. One troublesome question is whether the patterns give sufficient detail, particularly in the neighborhood of the turning points. This question is briefly explored in a later chapter. Two related issues are also considered there: whether three-month averages are satisfactory representatives of cyclical peaks and troughs, and whether the results could be improved by preliminary smoothing of the data.<sup>41</sup>

# **VII** Reference-cycle Patterns

The 'S' tables do not show how different economic activities behave at one and the same time. Were our analysis confined to these measures, we would be left with vague notions concerning the relations in time of the fluctuations of different series. Study of the leads and lags in Table S1 would demonstrate that certain series agree more or less closely in timing with the reference turns, and differ by more or less regular intervals from certain other series. But if business cycles really are units of concurrent fluctuations in many activities, the critical point to establish is how different activities fluctuate during fixed periods. To that end, we transfer measurements of cyclical behavior from specific cycles, which vary in timing from series to series, to reference cycles, which occupy uniform periods in all series for a given country.

The behavior of each series during the periods occupied by successive business cycles is shown in a set of 'R' tables. These are a slighter affair than the 'S' tables, because some of the essential comparisons between specific and business cycles have already been made, and because certain measurements of specific cycles need no counterparts in reference cycles. Thus the leads and lags and the duration measurements of Table S1 have compared the timing of specific with that of business cycles. To measure the full amplitudes of cyclical waves, we must have the cyclical peaks and troughs touched by each series at whatever times these turning points are reached—the procedure followed in Table S2. Nor can we measure secular changes for our purpose any better than in Table S3, so long as we center attention on the cyclical behavior of different activities, one by one. Hence we make the 'R' tables in forms corresponding only to Tables S4 and S5, and add two sections measuring the conformity of the series to business cycles.

41 See Ch. 8, Sec. IV and VI.

		A	lverage i	n refere	nce-cycle	e relativ	es at stag	ge		A	
	I	II	ш	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX	monthly	
Dates of reference cycles	3 mos. cen- tered	os. Expansion				Contraction			3 mos. cen- tered	standing during cycle (million	
Trough – Peak – Trough	on initial trough	First third	Middle third	Last third	on peak	First third	Middle third	Last third	minal trough	short tons)	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	
Aug. 04–May 07–June 08			97.2*	103.2*	119.9*	116.6ª	102.9*	91.2ª	98.4ª	28.85	
June 08–Jan. 10–Jan. 12	86.6	88.9	89.4	103.2	108.7	105.9	101.8	105.4	113.9	32.7	
Jan. 12-Jan. 13-Dec. 14	99.2	102.7	99.3	98.4	106.4	104.6	102.6	91.8	88.5	37.6	
Dec. 14-Aug. 18-Apr. 19	77.9	89.4	100.9	111.2	121.1	109.7	95.6	83.2	88.3	42.7	
Apr. 19-Jan. 20-Sep. 21	91.8	99.0	105.4	85.7	106.0	111.6	111.1	81.1	86.1	41.1	
Sep. 21-May 23-July 24	87.9	95.0	71.5	113.1	137.5	129.0	105.4	94.2	92.7	40.2	
July 24-Oct. 26-Dec. 27	84.5	90.3	102.1	106.0	111.8	116.2	100.5	89.7	85.4	44.2	
Dec. 27–June 29–Mar.33	104.2	114.3	117.9	121.6	130.2	115.6	92.2	70.9	68.1	36.2	
Mar.33–May 37–May 38	76.3	92.7	93.2	115.2	108.8	114.5	105.6	82.2	82.0	32.3	
Average	88.6	96.5	97.5	106.8	116.3	113.4	101.8	87.3	88.1		
Average deviation	7.4	6.6	9.6	8.5	10.0	5.4	4.3	8.0	7.7		

# TABLE 39 Sample of Table R1: Reference-cycle Patterns

Average is the arithmetic mean; average deviation is measured from the mean.

Average rise & fall of specific cycles

Computed on base of incomplete cycle, starting Jan. 1905. Excluded from the average and the average deviation. <sup>b</sup> Incomplete cycle; data start in Jan. 1905.

Table 39 presents a sample of Table R1, which parallels Table S4 in every respect except for the insertion of cycle bases.<sup>42</sup> But now the dates of troughs and peaks are taken from the standard list of reference dates instead of from the turning points of specific cycles, and the standings during successive stages are expressed in reference-cycle relatives instead of specific-cycle relatives. The reference cycles are divided into nine stages in exactly the same way as are the specific cycles.43 As in the specific-cycle patterns, the standing at the terminal trough in one reference cycle is rarely the same as the standing at the initial trough in the next cycle; for although the standings are made from the same items, the base of the former is the monthly average during that reference cycle, while the base of the latter is the monthly average during the following reference cycle. The successive reference-cycle stages in Table R1 also are designated by Roman numerals from I to IX; V refers to the reference peak. But the standings in stages I, V and IX invariably cover three months, whereas they are sometimes based upon one or two months in the specific cycles. The nine standings within a reference cycle are called the 'reference-cycle pattern'.

#### 42 The specific-cycle bases are given in Table S3.

43 Appendix Table Al shows in full the division of successive reference cycles in the United States, Great Britain, Germany and France, when the analysis is based upon monthly data.

Table 40 illustrates the calculation in detail, and Charts 18-19 show the process graphically. The table and charts are precise analogues of Table 35 and Charts 14-15 for specific cycles. As said before, it is easier to compute the average standing of relatives in a cycle-stage by taking an average of the original figures and converting it to a relative than by computing relatives for individual months and then averaging them; hence the computations in Table 40 are shown on the former plan. Indeed, there is a slightly better method of calculation, though its meaning may be less obvious at first sight. Let T be the total of the monthly values included in a stage, M the number of months in the stage, S the total of the monthly values in the cycle,<sup>44</sup> and N the number of months in the cycle.

Then the standing in a reference-cycle stage is given by  $\frac{TN}{MS}$ . Of course,  $\frac{N}{S}$ , the reciprocal of the cycle base, is a constant for a given cycle; hence

the most convenient formula is  $\frac{TV}{M}$ , where  $V = \frac{N}{S}$ .

Since most of our time series do not start at the very trough of a reference cycle, they cover only part of a reference cycle at the beginning. It is desirable to utilize information on even a fraction of a cycle, especially in brief series. We handle fractional cycles as follows. If only one or two stages are missing, as in the reference cycle from 1904 to 1908 in coal production, the standings in the stages covered by the data are expressed as relatives on the base of the incomplete cycle. If more than two stages are missing, the standings in the stages covered by the data are computed on the base of the nearest complete reference cycle, whether marked off by peaks or by troughs. These standings are recorded in Table R1, but are not included in the averages.

Since the aim of Table R1 is simply to show how different series behave during the same periods, it is not necessary to distinguish between series that trace out specific cycles and those that do not. A series that appears to have no specific cycles, and for which therefore no 'S' Tables are made, can be chopped into reference-cycle segments as readily as any other. These segments can be presented in Table R1 and scrutinized to see what 'response' if any the series makes, or what relation it bears, to business cycles. Nor is it necessary to distinguish between positive and inverted analyses in making Table R1; although the decision to analyze *specific cycles* on a positive or inverted basis is actually based on a study of Table R1, which comes first in the order of computation.

Table R1 is therefore computed for every series and in every series the computation is made on a positive plan; that is, every series is broken into segments running from one reference trough to the next. Businesscycle units could be delimited in other ways: for example, from one

<sup>44</sup> As in the specific cycles, this includes the values from the initial to the terminal trough, but only half the value at the troughs.

The Computation of Reference-cycle Patterns Illustrated Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1908–1919

				Average r standir	nonthly ng in	Interval from	
Cycle	Stage	Period covered	No. of months	Millions of short tons	Cycle relatives	stage to stage (mos.)	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(0)	(/)	
	Ι	May 1908 – July 1908	3	28.367	86.6		
	II	July 1908 - Dec. 1908	6	29.100	88.9	3.5	
June 1908 - Jan. 1912	ш	Jan. 1909 – June 1909	6	29.283	89.4	6.0	
(Av. monthly	IV	July 1909 - Dec. 1909	6	33.800	103.2	6.0	
value = 32.740	v	Dec. 1909 - Feb. 1910	3	35.600	108.7	3.5	
million short	VI	Feb. 1910 - Sep. 1910	8	34.675	105.9	4.5	
tons)	VII	Oct. 1910 - Apr. 1911	7	33.329	101.8	7.5	
	VIII	May 1911 – Dec. 1911	8	34.500	105.4	7.5	
	IX	Dec. 1911 - Feb. 1912	3	37.300	113.9	4.5	
	I	Dec. 1911 - Feb. 1912	3	37.300	99.2	•••	
	II	Feb. 1912 - May 1912	4	38.625	102.7	2.5	
Ian. 1912-Dec. 1914	III	June 1912 - Aug. 1912	3	37.333	99.3	3.5	
(Av. monthly	IV	Sep. 1912 – Dec. 1912	4	37.000	98.4	3.5	
value = 37.611	v	Dec. 1912 - Feb. 1913	3	40.000	106.4	2.5	
million short	VI	Feb. 1913 - Aug. 1913	7	39.343	104.6	4.0	
tons)	VII	Sep. 1913 - Apr. 1914	8	38.600	102.6	7.5	
	VIII	May 1914 - Nov. 1914	7	34.529	91.8	7.5	
	IX	Nov.1914 - Jan. 1915	3	33.300	88.5	4.0	
	I	Nov. 1914 - Jan. 1915	3	33.300	77.9		
	II	Jan. 1915 – Feb. 1916	14	38.229	89.4	7.5	
Dec. 1914-Apr. 1919	III	Mar.1916 - May 1917	15	43.127	100.9	14.5	
(Av. monthly	IV	June 1917 - July 1918	14	47.529	111.2	14.5	
value = 42.746	v	July 1918 - Sep. 1918	3	51.767	121.1	7.5	
million short	VI	Sep. 1918 - Oct. 1918	2	46.900	109.7	1.5	
tons)	VII	Nov. 1918 – Jan. 1919	3	40.867	95.6	2.5	
	VIII	Feb. 1919 - Mar.1919	2	35.550	83.2	2.5	
	IX	Mar.1919 - May 1919	3	37.733	88.3	1.5	

The illustration covers the first three full reference cycles in coal production; see Table 39.

reference peak to the next, or from the midpoint of one reference expansion to the midpoint of the next. Our reason for making Table R1 on a positive plan is merely that this method is more familiar than any other; it involves no theoretical assumptions such as may have influenced other investigators who have also considered business cycles as units running from trough to trough. True, the developments during the transition from expansion to contraction of business cycles can be traced more easily from patterns made on a positive basis than from patterns made on an inverted basis. But just as clearly patterns on an inverted basis facilitate analysis of business-cycle revivals, and that is one reason among others why it is sometimes desirable to put the patterns in this form.<sup>45</sup>

45 See below, Ch. 11, Sec. V and Ch. 12, Sec. I. In Appendix B we show individual reference-cycle patterns on both a positive and inverted basis for several series; see Tables B3 and B4.



F

- 164 -







ì

Inverted average patterns may be derived by a fresh computation along the lines described for positive patterns, or approximated by a simple transformation of the positive patterns.<sup>46</sup> If the average standings in stages I and IX are the same, the inverted pattern can be estimated by accepting the values of the positive pattern, beginning in stage V and going the full round to stage V again. If the average standings in stages I and IX differ, as they usually do, a tolerable approximation can be achieved by using the average of the standings in stages I and IX to represent the trough, then adjusting the standings in stages V-IX by the ratio of this average to the standing in stage IX, and adjusting the standings in stages I-V by the ratio of this average to the standing in stage I.<sup>47</sup>

In the few series having plus and minus values, it is not feasible to work with reference-cycle relatives. But series of this type can still be broken into reference-cycle segments and presented in Table R1. The standings in successive stages of each cycle may then be expressed as simple averages of the original data, or as plus or minus deviations from the average value during the cycle.<sup>48</sup> The latter plan resembles our standard method, since it involves an adjustment for the changing level of successive reference cycles. But the absolute level of a series is frequently of considerable interest.<sup>49</sup> For example, in analyzing the relations among different types of interest rates during a business cycle, it is desirable to know not only the percentage variations of each about its average during the cycle, but also whether and how much one type of interest rate is above or below another. Hence we sometimes find it profitable to express the standings of a series in successive stages of business

I

46 The term 'inverted pattern', when applied to reference cycles, is slippery; it may refer to the shape of the pattern or to the plan on which Table R1 is computed. Thus the pattern of zinc stocks (Chart 20) is inverted in shape, though made on a positive plan. The statement in the text refers to the plan of computation solely.

47 This transformation will rarely give exactly the same results as direct calculation, for the following reasons. (1) The period covered by inverted cycles must differ somewhat from that covered by positive cycles, since the former begin and end with a reference peak while the latter begin and end with a trough. (2) The cycle bases and therefore also the cycle relatives vary according as the cycles are marked off by troughs or peaks; see Ch. 12, note 3.

It might seem that the estimated pattern should be adjusted so that the average of its nine average standings equals 100. But this average may differ from 100 even when a pattern is computed directly. To explain: In a single cycle the average of the nine average standings would necessarily equal 100 if (a) the standings at reference peaks and troughs were represented by single months, (b) the standings at the troughs (assuming positive analysis) were weighted one-half each, (c) the other standings were weighted by the number of months they cover. For a group of cycles an additional condition would be necessary in order that the average of the nine average standings equal 100: the average for each stage must be a weighted average, where the weights are the periods covered by the stage in successive cycles.

48 The difficulty of plus and minus values may be circumvented by ranking the nine standings within each reference cycle, then averaging the ranks for each stage to obtain the average pattern. This plan of computation is unsatisfactory for most purposes, because it brushes aside differences in amplitude.

49 That is our reason for showing the reference-cycle bases in Table R1.

cycles in the form of simple averages of the original data, not only when the series contains plus and minus values, but also when it consists of positive values throughout.

Table R2 elaborates upon Table R1: that is, it records the figures obtained by dividing the differences between successive stages in Table R1 by the number of months between the middle of one stage and the middle of the next. All that has been said about the relations between Tables R1 and S4 might be rephrased to apply to Tables R2 and S5. Also, Table R2 supplements R1 in the same way that Table S5 supplements S4. The rates of change per month in Table R2 are a highly valuable device for examining the influence of business cycles and random factors upon different business processes. For example, coal production rose in every business cycle from the trough to the first third of expansion; in the middle stages of expansion the rise tended to slacken; there was a fresh burst of activity from the last third of expansion to the peak, and sometimes the rise extended into the first third of contraction; a fairly continuous and vigorous decline followed; but the rate of decline tapered off from the last third of contraction in general business to the trough and in a few of the earlier cycles coal production actually rose during this interval (Table 41).

	A					1				
	Average	tt ttt	TH IV	IN IN FEIER	V VI	VI VII	VII VIII	n stages		
Dates of	1-11	Evna	nsion			Contr	action	VIII-IA		
reference cycles		- DAPa		'		Contraction				
	Trough	First	Middle	Last	Peak	First	Middle	Last		
	to	to '	to	third	to	to	to	third		
Trough - Beak Traugh	first	middle	last	to	first	middle	last	to		
Trough - reak - Trough	third	third	third	peak	third	third	third	trough		
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)		
Aug. 04 – May 07 – June 08			+0.6•	+2.8"	-1.3	-3.4	-2.9*	+2.9*		
June 08 – Jan. 10 – Jan. 12	+0.7	+0.1	+2.3	+1.6	-0.6	-0.5	+0.5	+1.9		
Jan. 12 – Jan. 13 – Dec. 14	+1.4	-1.0	-0.3	+3.2	-0.4	-0.3	-1.4	-0.8		
Dec. 14 - Aug. 18 - Apr. 19	+1.5	+0.8	+0.7	+1.3	-7.6	-5.6	-5.0	+3.4		
Apr. 19 - Jan. 20 - Sep. 21	+3.6	+2.6	-7.9	+10.2	+1.6	-0.1	-4.6	+1.4		
Sep. 21 – May 23 – July 24	+2.0	-3.6	+6.4	+7.0	-3.4	-5.2	~2.5	-0.6		
July 24 - Oct. 26 - Dec. 27	+1.2	+1.4	+0.5	+1.2	+1.8	-3.5	-2.4	-1.7		
Dec. 27 – June 29 – Mar. 33	+2.9	+0.7	+0.7	+2.5	-1.8	-1.6	-1.5	-0.4		
Mar.33 - May 37 - May 38	+1.9	0.0	+1.3	-0.8	+2.3	-2.5	-6.7	-0.1		
A.u.a.a.a.a.	110		105		1.0					
Average	T1.9	+0.1	+0.5	+3.3	-1.0	-2.4	- 3.0	+0.4		
Average deviation	0.7	1.2	2.3	2.7	2.4	1.8	1.9	1.4		
Weighted average	+1.8	+0.1	+1.2	+2.1	-0.8	-1.8	-2.3	+0.2		
Average interval (mos.)	4.5	7.9	7.9	4.5	3.6	6.4	6.4	3.6		

TABLE 41

Sample of Table R2: Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Reference Cycles Bituminous Coal Production, United States, 1905–1938

Average is the arithmetic mean; the average deviation is measured from the mean.

<sup>a</sup>Computed on base of incomplete cycle, starting Jan. 1905. Excluded from the average, the average deviation, and the average interval.

Chart 20 shows the average reference-cycle pattern of coal production and of several other American series.<sup>50</sup> The chart is constructed on the same principles as Chart 16 showing specific-cycle patterns,<sup>51</sup> but now the graphs are drawn from the average standings in Table R1 and the average intervals in Table R2. The long horizontal line below each pattern represents the average duration of the business cycles covered by the series, and the shorter horizontal line represents the average deviation of the business-cycle durations. The other features correspond to similar features of Chart 16; for example, the slopes of the average reference-cycle pattern represent weighted averages of the rates of change from one stage of the reference cycles to the next, just as in the specific cycles. The average patterns of most series we have analyzed rise during reference expansions and decline during reference contractions, attesting the existence of business cycles in the sense of our definition. But the patterns of some series rise during contractions though at a retarded rate (e.g., postal receipts), while others move invertedly (zinc stocks) or quasi-invertedly (bond yields), and still others move in haphazard fashion (sugar meltings).

By studying Tables R1 and R2 we can learn in some detail what the behavior of a series has been during successive reference expansions and contractions, and thus supplement the knowledge derived from the timing measures of Table S1, which show merely the timing of the series at reference turns. For example, Table S1 tells us that if we count all turns in the nine specific cycles from 1893 in pig iron production and from 1895 in pig iron prices to World War I and from 1921 or 1922 to 1933, production led the reference troughs by 4.3 months on the average while prices lagged 4.4 months. At reference peaks, production lagged 1.6 months while prices led by 1.7 months. The following summary of Tables R1 and R2, based on the nine reference cycles in 1894–1914 and

	Average in reference-cycle relatives at stage										
	I	11	111	IV	<b>v</b> .	VI	VII	VIII	IX		
Production	73.1	90.5	102.9	116.9	126.1	119.0	96.4	84.5	81.5		
Prices	89.5	91.2	94.2	108.9	117.4	114.7	103.2	91.6	86.9		

Average change per month in reference-cycle relatives between stages

	I-II	11-111	III-IV	IV-V	V-VI	VI-VII	VII-VIII	VIII-IX
Production	+4.4	+1.9	+2. <b>3</b>	+2.6	-1.6	-3.4	-1.8	-1.0
Prices	+0.2	+0.4	+2.4	+2.0	-0.9	-1.9	-2.0	-1.5

1921–1933, adds significant information about the timing of the advances and declines.<sup>52</sup> Production increased at an extremely fast rate between the trough and the first third of reference expansion, much faster than during

50 For several of these series the patterns of individual cycles are shown in Appendix Table B3.

51 In this connection, see the description of reference-cycle patterns in Chart 2.

52 The rates of change shown are unweighted averages. Weighted averages would demonstrate similar results.

#### CHART 20

Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Ten American Series

BitumInous coal production 8 Reference cycles: 1908-38



Pig iron production 15 Reference cycles: 1879 - 1933 130 ------



Price'of pig iron 10 Reference cycles: 1891-1914, 1921-33 120 ------



Railroad bond yields 19 Reference cycles: 1858 - 1933 110 ------





Horizontal scale, in months 1 2 1 2 2 2 3 4 5 50 9 12 24 35 45 50 See explanations in test. For sources of data and other notes, see Appendix C.



Call money rates 19 Reference cycles: 1858-1933



Total exports 16 Reference cycles: 1867-1914, 1921-38 120 -----









Slab zinc stocks at refineries 4 Reference cycles: 1921-38

D



## 170 BASIC MEASURES OF CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

the rest of the expansion. Prices, on the other hand, did not begin to rise appreciably until the middle of the expansion. Both series fell sharply between the first and middle thirds of reference contraction, production much more than prices. After the middle of the reference contraction, the rate of decline abated considerably in production but not in prices. Comparisons of this character for numerous series should give fairly clear pictures of the timing relations among the movements of different processes during the periods when general business activity is experiencing cyclical expansions and contractions.

Tables R1 and R2 provide also a partial check on the timing measures of Table S1. For example, the average reference-cycle pattern of railroad bond yields reaches a trough in stage III and a peak in stage VI. This result is broadly confirmed by Table S1, which shows that bond yields lagged on the average 8 months at reference peaks and 12 months at reference troughs. The average reference-cycle pattern of share trading reveals a pronounced tendency to lead, and this result too is confirmed by Table S1. On the other hand, the patterns of production and prices of pig iron obscure the much smaller departures of these series from the reference dates. Both reach a peak in stage V and a trough in stage IX, although it seems clear from Table S1 that their timing differed significantly: from 1893 to 1933 the cyclical peaks in prices led the peaks in production in eight instances, coincided in three, but lagged in none, while the cyclical troughs in prices lagged behind the troughs in production in ten instances, and coincided in the two remaining instances.<sup>53</sup>

To extract reliable information on cyclical timing, Tables S1, R1 and R2 should be used together. As said before, the measures in Table S1 show the timing of cyclical turns in months, but are surrounded by uncertainty because of the difficulties of dating specific cycles and matching them with business cycles. The measures in Tables R1 and R2 are free from these difficulties, show timing of the rates of change of cyclical movements as well as of their reversals in direction, but indicate timing in coarse fractions of a cyclical phase. The limitations of the two sets of measures to some extent offset one another. The knowledge that can be wrung from time series by checking one set of measures carefully against the other is both more detailed and more reliable than what can be learned by relying on either set exclusively.

## VIII Relation between Reference- and Specific-cycle Patterns

To facilitate study of the cyclical measures described so far, we display in a single chart the averages and average deviations of those features of the

<sup>53</sup> For fuller details, see Table 176. That table stops in 1933. It may be well to add here that at the downturn of business activity in 1937, the peak in pig iron prices came 9 months after the downturn in pig iron production. This is the only lag in the record, and may well excite some speculation.

cyclical behavior of a series that lend themselves readily to graphic presentation. Several samples appear in Chart 21. The purpose of this chart is to picture average behavior during the cycles peculiar to a series and during the group of contemporaneous business cycles. Hence we need merely combine the graphs of specific-cycle and reference-cycle patterns already illustrated. But we must ensure that the averages of the specific and reference cycles cover comparable periods, a matter that was of no concern so long as specific and reference cycles were observed separately. And we must also decide how to place the two patterns in relation to each other.

Our method is as follows: If each turning point of the specific cycles is treated in Table S1 as corresponding to a reference turn and every reference turn within the period covered is thus accounted for, the 'duration lines' of the two patterns-that is, the long horizontal lines representing average cyclical duration-are so placed that they show the average lead or lag of the turning dates of the specific cycles compared with the turning dates of business cycles.<sup>54</sup> Arrows are drawn to call attention to the average leads or lags. If the specific cycles have been analyzed on a positive basis, an arrow is drawn from the trough of the average specific-cycle pattern to the trough of the average reference-cycle pattern, and from the peak of the former to the peak of the latter. If the average lead or lag is one month or less, we draw a vertical arrow, which signifies that the timing of specific and business cycles is roughly coincident on the average at that turn. Similarly, if the specific cycles have been analyzed on an inverted basis, an arrow is drawn from the peak of the specific-cycle pattern to the reference trough and from the trough of the specific-cycle pattern to the reference peak. When the specific cycles do not bear a one-to-one correspondence to business cycles, we do not attempt to represent leads or lags on the chart. In these instances, the 'duration lines' of the two patterns are placed so that their average standings in stage V are aligned vertically. In other words, if the specific cycles have been analyzed positively, as in call money rates, the average standings at the peak stage of specific and business cycles are plotted on the same vertical; but if the specific cycles have been analyzed invertedly, as in zinc stocks, the standings at the trough stage of the specific cycles and at the peak stage of business cycles are plotted on the same vertical.

The two patterns are plotted to a common set of vertical scales; hence the average standings of the patterns can be read directly from the scale on the left. The average deviations of the patterns are drawn as vertical lines above and below the curves representing the average patterns. The

<sup>54</sup> The average lead or lag at the initial reference trough need not be the same as the average at the terminal reference trough. For the former is based on the leads or lags at all reference troughs except the last, while the latter includes the leads or lags at all reference troughs except the last. The average lead or lag shown on the chart at the reference peak may also differ from that in Table S1, since the former includes timing comparisons for full specific cycles only.

## 172 BASIC MEASURES OF CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

average deviations of the specific-cycle standings must be read down from the 'duration line' of the specific cycles, which serves as a zero line for this purpose. The average deviations of the reference-cycle standings must be read up from the 'duration line' representing the average duration of the comparable set of business cycles. The short horizontal lines above and below the 'duration lines' represent average deviations of the cyclical durations. The ruler on the chart affords a scale from which all duration measurements can be approximated.

The figures in Chart 21 may at first seem puzzling even to a person who has studied with care the manner in which they are constructed.55 But the reader will soon learn how to use them if he bears in mind the following points: (1) The patterns indicate average leads or lags at reference turns only when there is a one-to-one correspondence of specific and business cycles. (2) The specific- and reference-cycle patterns cover periods that are as nearly the same as the turning dates of specific and business cycles allow. (3) The representative value of the patterns is indicated by the lines showing average deviations and by the captions stating the number of cycles covered. (4) Even when the number of cycles is 'large' and the average deviations are 'small', the full significance of the patterns cannot be determined without close study of the original data, the arrays from which the patterns are made, and the many measures we compute but do not record on the charts. (5) Differences among cyclical patterns of individual series may reflect persistent differences, or merely special features of the varying periods covered by the series. (6) The amplitude of the reference-cycle pattern relative to that of the specificcycle pattern provides a quick clue to the relationship in time between a given series and business cycles. If the turning dates of the specific cycles are close to the reference dates, the two patterns will be nearly the same. But if the timing of the specific cycles is fairly independent of that of business cycles, then what may have been a large amplitude in the specific-cycle pattern will be obscured or disappear in the reference-cycle pattern.

The last remark is vital and must be understood by anyone wishing to follow closely the results yielded by our technical apparatus. When we break a series into specific-cycle segments, divide each segment into stages, and average the standings at each stage for all cycles, the cyclical movement of the series is exhibited in full. When this procedure is applied to reference-cycle segments, some portion of the cyclical movement is virtually bound to be erased, for the trough-peak-trough reference dates rarely, if ever, match precisely the trough-peak-trough points in the specific cycles. To be sure, if the specific cycles conform approximately in

55 See also above, pp. 154-7, 168; and especially the description in Chart 2. The scales in the charts of cyclical patterns in this volume have been kept strictly uniform, so that the features of one chart may be readily compared with the features of any other. For obvious reasons Charts 2 and 50 are exceptions.

CHART 21 Average Cyclical Patterns of Ten American Series





Price of pig iron - 9 Specific cycles: 1895-1915, 1922-33





Horizontal scale, in months 12 24 36 See Chart 2 and explanations in text. Indicates lead at reference peaks, or troughs.
 Indicates lag at reference peaks, or troughs.





Total exports

-= 21 Specific cycles: 1868-1914, 1921-39 16 Reference cycles. 1867 - 1914, 1921 - 38 P T







Sugar meltings





For sources of data and other nates, see Appendis C.

timing to business cycles, as in the production of bituminous coal or pig iron, the average patterns of Tables S4 and R1 resemble each other closely. Further, if the turning dates of the specific cycles differ from the reference dates by considerable but tolerably regular intervals, the two patterns will be much alike when the difference in timing is allowed for. But if the specific cycles have no systematic relationship in time to business cycles, then what may have been a clearcut cyclical pattern in Table S4 will disappear or be obscured in the averages of Table R1. In other words, when the movements of a series are independent of the direction of business cycles, and the series covers a fairly large number of business cycles, the average reference-cycle pattern is apt to reveal merely the secular trend. Comparison of the averages in Tables R1 and S4 thus gives a snapshot of the relationship in time between the specific and business cycles.<sup>56</sup>

We have no satisfactory method of measuring the degree of resemblance between the specific- and reference-cycle patterns. But the feature of the patterns that concerns us most is the degree to which the amplitudes of the specific cycles are preserved in the reference-cycle patterns, and this can be readily ascertained. We could get reference-cycle amplitudes by taking the maximum rise and fall in the averages of Table R1. But the figures will be less exposed to random perturbations and more influenced by business cycles if we use the rise during those stages of reference cycles that are the characteristic period of expansion in the series and the fall during the stages that are characteristic of contraction; that is to say, if we determine the rise during the stages assigned to 'expansion' and the fall during the stages assigned to 'contraction' in making Table R4, as explained in Section X. In coal production, for example, the typical period of expansion is from stage I to V, and the typical period of contraction from stage V to IX. The average change from stage I to V of the reference cycles is +27.8, the average change from stage V to IX is -28.2.57 The average rise and fall of the reference cycles is therefore 56.0 points, that is, +27.8 - (-28.2). According to Table S2 the average rise and fall of the specific cycles is 77.2 points. Hence the average amplitude of the reference-cycle pattern is 73 per cent of the average amplitude of the specific cycles; this figure is placed at the bottom of Table R1.

The percentage ratio of the average reference-cycle amplitude to the average specific-cycle amplitude can be used not only to indicate the relation in time between specific and business cycles, but also the relation in time of any pair of economic series. For example, a price series may be broken into segments on the basis of the turning points in the specific cycles of a corresponding production series instead of on the basis of the

56 Cf. Ch. 12, Sec. IV.

57 These figures are taken from col. (2) and (5) of our sample Table R<sup>3</sup> (see Table 42). Since Tables R<sup>3</sup> and R<sup>4</sup> are the same for coal production, no Table R<sup>4</sup> is explicitly presented for this series.

turning points of business cycles. In that case the percentage ratio of the amplitude computed on the basis of the special reference dates to the specific-cycle amplitude would indicate the degree of correspondence between the specific cycles in prices and output, since the output series yields reference cycles, so to speak, for the price series. Or if a series on wage rates is broken into segments on the basis of the turning points in the specific cycles of employment, the ratio of the amplitude computed on the basis of these 'reference dates' to the specific-cycle amplitude would indicate the degree of correspondence between the specific cycles in wage rates and employment.

The percentage ratio of the reference-cycle amplitude to the specificcycle amplitude is a rough indicator of similarity, and must be used cautiously. In the first place, leads or lags do not stand on the same footing as coincidences. If the timing of a series coincides with that of business cycles, the reference-cycle amplitude must be the same as the specificcycle amplitude; but the latter is nearly certain to exceed the former if the series leads or lags behind the reference dates by a substantial interval, even though this interval be perfectly uniform, whether in months or in fractions of a cycle phase. For example, if a series led the reference turns uniformly by half a reference phase, the peaks would be in the center of stage III and the troughs in the center of stage VII of the reference cycles. But since the values at the peaks and troughs would be averaged with all the months falling in these stages, usually more than three, the referencecycle amplitude would be smaller for this purely technical reason than the specific-cycle amplitude. Another shortcoming of the measure is that it may be influenced unduly by extreme observations. For example, if the turning points of some specific cycle coincide with the turning points of a business cycle, and this specific cycle happens to be of enormous amplitude relatively to other cycles in the series, the average reference-cycle amplitude may approach in size the average specific-cycle amplitude regardless of the relations in time between the other cycles in the series and business cycles. Finally, the measure may defy logic by falling below 0 or rising above 100. Thus the typical period of expansion may run from stage I to V of the reference cycles, and yet the average referencecycle pattern may not only rise from stage V to IX, but this rise may exceed that between stages I and V; in that case the reference-cycle amplitude, as we measure it, would be minus. Again, if the specific cycles in a series correspond closely to all business cycles but one, and two specific cycles occur during this cycle, the first marked by a slight decline and the second by a slight rise, the average amplitude of the reference-cycle pattern may exceed that of the specific-cycle pattern. Such absurd results are rare, though the series on zinc stocks (Chart 21) illustrates the difficulty: the average amplitude of its four reference cycles in 1921-38 is a little larger than the average of its five specific cycles within this period.

In presenting the results of our analysis of time series, we rely heavily on charts of cyclical patterns, of the type illustrated in Chart 21. The charts are drawn to a uniform set of scales, so that the features of one series can be compared directly with the corresponding features of any other series. Once a person has become expert in interpreting the charts, he will find that a glance gives a fairly comprehensive notion of the behavior of a series with respect to business cycles. But he will also find that the knowledge so quickly won must be tested by close and patient study of the full evidence. This evidence includes, besides the measures already described, Tables R3 and R4, to which we now turn.

I

1

# IX Conformity to Business Cycles: Behavior during Fixed Periods

Several of our measures throw light upon the manner and degree in which various economic processes conform to business cycles. Table S1 shows the differences between the timing and the duration of specific and business cycles; Tables R1 and R2 show the movements of a series from stage to stage of business cycles. Whether these movements match business cycles closely or not is indicated by a comparison of the average amplitudes in Tables S4 and R1. But we need a numerical expression of these relationships that takes account of the type of conformity, its regularity, and that shows separately the conformity to the expansion phase of business cycles, to the contraction phase, and to full business cycles.<sup>58</sup>

A simple method of measuring conformity is to observe the direction and rate of movement of a series during successive reference expansions and contractions. Conformity measures on this plan are set out in Table R3, of which Table 42 provides several samples. The first step is to subtract the standing of the series in stage I of each reference cycle from its standing in stage V; this difference is recorded in column (2). Next the durations of the reference expansions covered by the series are entered in column (3). Each of these entries is then divided into the total change during a reference expansion, and the resulting average change per month entered in column (4). The average change per month during reference contractions is determined similarly. The interval from the midpoint of stage V to the midpoint of stage IX is entered in column (6). The standing in stage V of each reference cycle is subtracted from the standing in stage IX, and the difference entered in column (5). This figure is then divided by the duration of the contraction, and the quotient recorded in column (7). In column (8) we subtract the entry in column (4) from the entry in column (7), in order to show whether there is any 'response' to business cycles in the numerous instances where a series rises

58 The methods that follow may be used to measure the conformity of one series to the specific cycles of another, just as conformity to business cycles. In that case, the specific cycles of either series will yield 'reference dates' for the analysis of the other. See pp. 174-5.

TABLE 42
Samples of Table R3: Conformity to Business Cycles
Three American Series

	Ch	ange in r	ring	Av. change per month during reference con-						
Dates of	Refer	ence exp	ansion	Refere	nce cont	raction	traction minus that during			
Trough - Peak - Trough	Total change	Inter- val in months	Average change per month	Total change	Inter- val in months	Average change per month	Pre- ceding reference expan- sion	Suc- ceeding reference expan- sion <sup>a</sup>		
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)		
Bituminous coal production										
Aug. 04-May07-June 08				-21.5	13.0	-1.65b		-		
June 08-Jan. 10-Jan. 12	+22.1	19.0	+1.16	+5.2	24.0	+0.22	-0.94	-		
Jan. 12-Jan. 13-Dec. 14	+7.2	12.0	+0.60	-17.9	23.0	-0.78	-1.38	-		
Dec. 14-Aug.18-Apr. 19	+43.2	44.0	+0.98	-32.8	8.0	-4.10	-5.08	-		
Apr. 19-Jan. 20-Sep. 21	+14.2	9.0	+1.58	-19.9	20.0	-1.00	-2.58	- 1		
Sep. 21-May23-July 24	+49.6	20.0	+2.48	-44.8	14.0	-3.20	-5.68	- (		
July 24-Oct. 26-Dec. 27	+27.3	27.0	+1.01	-26.4	14.0	-1.89	-2.90	-		
Dec. 27-June 29-Mar. 33	+26.0	18.0	+1.44	-62.1	45.0	-1.38	-2.82	- 1		
Mar.33-May37-May 38	+32.5	50.0	+0.65	-26.8	12.0	-2.23	-2.88			
Average <sup>4</sup> Average deviation <sup>d</sup>	+27.8	 	+1.24 0.45	-28.2		-1.80 1.06	-3.03 1.17			
Index of conformity to reference         Expansions										
		Postal re	ceipts in	50 large	cities					
June 97-June 99-Dec. 00	+12.9	24.0	+0.54	+12.6	18.0	+0.70	+0.16	-		
Dec. 00-Sep. 02-Aug. 04	+18.8	21.0	+0.90	+17.1	23.0	+0.74	-0.16	-		
Aug.04-May07-June08	+23.1	33.0	+0.70	+0.5	13.0	+0.04	-0.66	-		
June 08-Jan. 10-Jan. 12	+15.7	19.0	+0.83	+14.0	24.0	+0.58	-0.25	-		
Jan. 12-Jan. 13-Dec. 14	+10.7	12.0	+0.89	+0.8	23.0	+0.03	-0.86	-		
Dec. 14-Aug.18-Apr. 19	+43.3	44.0	+0.98	+4.9	8.0	+0.61	-0.37	+		
Apr. 19-Jan. 20-Sep. 21	+3.7	9.0	+0.41	+8.5	20.0	+0.42	+0.01	-		
Sep. 21-May23-July 24	+16.9	20.0	+0.84	+1.8	14.0	+0.13	-0.71	-		

(Table continued on next page)

+0.71

+0.18

+0.53

+0.68

0.20

+1.5

-30.2

-5.9

+2.3

. . .

14.0

45.0

12.0

. . .

• • •

+0.11

-0.67

-0.49

+0.20

0.37

-0.60

-0.85

-1.02

-0.48

0.33

+64

+71

. . . . . .

\_

. . .

. . .

. . .

+80

27.0

18.0

50.0

. . .

. . .

Contractions.....--64 Cycles, trough to trough.....

Cycles, peak to peak.....

Cycles, both ways.....

. . .

July 24-Oct. 26-Dec. 27 +19.1

Dec. 27-June 29-Mar. 33 +3.2 Mar. 33-May 37-May 38 +26.6

Average<sup>•</sup>..... || +17.6

Index of conformity to reference

Average deviation<sup>d</sup>.....

	Ch	ange in r	Av. change per month during						
Dates of	Refer	ence exp	ansion	Refere	nce cont	raction	traction minus that during		
Trough - Peak - Trough	Total change	Inter- val in months (3)	Average change per month (4)	Total change	Inter- val in months (6)	Average change per month (7)	Pre- ceding reference expan- sion (8)	Suc- ceeding reference expan- sion <sup>a</sup> (9)	
Slab zinc stocks at refineries									
Apr. 19-Jan. 20-Sep. 21				+86.4•	20.0	+4.32•		+	
Sep. 21-May23-July 24	-190.8	20.0	~9.54	+109.3	14.0	+7.81	+17.35	+	
July 24-Oct. 26-Dec. 27	-136.4	27.0	-5.05	+96.9	14.0	+6.92	+11.97	+	
Dec. 27-June29-Mar.33	-2.6	18.0	-0.14	+103.9	45.0	+2.31	+2.45	+	
Mar.33–May37–May 38	-143.3	50.0	-2.87	+150.6	12.0	+12.55	+15.42		
Average <sup>e</sup>	-118.3		-4.40	+115.2		+7.40	+11.80		
Average deviation <sup>d</sup>	•••		2.90		•••	2.78	4.67	•••	
Index of conformity to ref Expansions Contractions Cycles, trough to trough Cycles, peak to peak Cycles, both ways			100			100	-100	-100 00	

# TABLE 42 - Continued Samples of Table R3: Conformity to Business Cycles Three American Series

\*Only the sign of the difference is entered.

• Arithmetic mean determined separately for each column. Hence  $(7)^{-}(4)$  may differ from (8) in the last place.

<sup>o</sup> Arithmetic mean determined separa <sup>d</sup> Measured from the mean.

\* Computed on base of inverted cycle, 1920-23. Excluded from the average and the average deviation.

or falls throughout a reference cycle. The explanation of column (9) is best postponed to a later point.

Once entries have been made for each reference cycle in Table R3, the results are summarized in two sets of conformity measures. The first set shows arithmetic means, for all business cycles covered by the series, of the rates of change during reference expansions and contractions, and of the differences between the two rates. The averages are given below the entries for individual cycles in columns (4), (7), and (8). For the eight business cycles from 1908 to 1938 covered by bituminous coal, the averages come out +1.2, -1.8, and -3.0 per cent. The first figure indicates that coal output conformed positively to cyclical expansions in business, for output rose on the average during reference expansions. The second figure indicates that coal output also conformed positively to contractions in general business, for it declined on the average during reference contractions. The last figure indicates that coal output conformed positively to full business cycles, for the average rate of change was lower during reference contractions than during reference expansions.

A different type of behavior is illustrated by zinc stocks. For the four business cycles from 1921 to 1938, the averages are -4.4, +7.4, and +11.8; in other words, zinc stocks conformed inversely to reference expansions, contractions, and full cycles. In the series on postal receipts in 50 large American cities, the averages are +0.7, +0.2, -0.5 for eleven business cycles. These results indicate that on the average postal receipts 'responded' to contractions in general business by slackening their rate of increase; the conformity may therefore be said to be positive to expansions, inverted to contractions, but positive to business cycles taken as wholes.

While the average rates of change are significant for many purposes, they do not reveal the degree of consistency in the movements that occurred in successive business cycles. For example, the illustrations just given tell us that the reaction of coal production to business cycles differed, on the average, in direction and degree from the reaction of zinc stocks. They do not tell us whether the reaction of either or both series was uniform or variable from cycle to cycle. Average deviations from the average rates of change during the cycles covered by a series are an important supplement to the averages; so also is the ratio of the average amplitude of the reference-cycle pattern to the average amplitude of the specific-cycle pattern. But these measures still do not show how regularly a series has conformed positively or inversely to business cycles. In the period covered by our illustration, coal production rose during every reference expansion, and declined during every reference contraction but one. Zinc stocks declined invariably during reference expansions, and rose invariably during reference contractions. Postal receipts rose in every expansion, also in nine out of eleven contractions. To measure such differences in the type and regularity of reactions to cyclical changes in general business conditions, we make a second set of conformity measures, namely, 'indexes of conformity'.

We obtain an index of the conformity of a series to reference expansions—more briefly, an 'expansion index'—from column (4) of Table R3 by crediting a series with 100 for every rise, debiting it with 100 for every fall, writing 0 when there is no change, and taking an arithmetic mean of all the entries. In similar fashion column (7) yields a 'contraction index'. But now we weight every decline with  $\pm 100$  and every rise with  $\pm 100$ ; for a decline means positive conformity to reference contractions and a rise means inverse conformity. Indexes made on this plan range from  $\pm 100$ , which means invariable positive conformity, to  $\pm 100$ , which means invariable inverse conformity. An index of zero means an equal number of positive and inverse movements, combined perhaps with one or more instances of no change. The magnitude of an expansion index indicates the degree of consistency in the direction of movement of a series from cycle to cycle during reference expansions; its sign indicates whether the process is related in the main positively or inversely to reference expansions. Similarly, the contraction index shows the regularity of movements during reference contractions, and whether the series is characterized by a positive or an inverted relation to reference contractions.<sup>59</sup>

Since these indexes are based simply on the sign of the net difference between three-month averages centered on reference troughs and peaks, they could be computed directly from the original data instead of from reference-cycle relatives. The former method would be easier if the conformity indexes were the sole measure of conformity. But we need the relatives in any case to determine the average rates of change during business cycles—the measure of conformity previously described. Once the relatives are computed and the entries for successive cycles set out in this form in Table R3, it is simpler to work from the relatives. If an entry for a reference cycle appears in column (7) but not in column (4), or vice versa, it is excluded from the average rates of change for the group of cycles covered by the series but not from the conformity indexes. The main reason for the difference in treatment is that the average rates of change bear a simple additive relation to each other, but not the conformity indexes.

ĥ

A need remains for an index of the conformity of a series to full business cycles, that is, for a 'full-cycle index'. Since the intra-cycle trend is retained in the reference-cycle relatives, it is desirable that the full-cycle index count a decline in the *rate of increase* during reference contractions as equivalent to an actual decline. Hence we consider a series as conforming positively to a business cycle when the sign for that cycle in column (8) of Table R3 is minus, as conforming inversely when the sign is plus, as showing zero conformity when the entry is 0. By counting every minus in column (8) as +100, every plus as -100, and every zero as 0, casting an algebraic sum of these entries, and dividing by the number of business cycles covered, we obtain a preliminary index of conformity to business cycles. The index is entered in the table on the line reading 'Index of conformity to reference cycles, trough to trough'.

This index is based on comparisons of rates of change during reference contractions with the rates of change during the preceding reference expansions. But it is equally important to see how the rate of change during a contraction compares with that during the following expansion, and this requires that business cycles be marked off by successive peaks.

59 It is sometimes convenient to transform conformity indexes so as to show the number of instances of positive conformity as a percentage of the total number of cycles. This may be done by dividing the conformity index by 2 and adding 50 to the quotient. That is, let P be the number of instances of positive conformity and I the number of instances of inverted conformity; then

$$\frac{100\left(\frac{P-I}{P+I}\right)}{2} + 50 = 100\left(\frac{P}{P+I}\right).$$

The transformation assumes that there are no instances of zero conformity, or that one-half of such instances are allotted to the positive group and one-half to the inverted group.

If the expansion and contraction indexes of a series are both +100, its conformity to full business cycles will be the same whether the cycles are considered as running from peak to peak or from trough to trough. In other instances a difference may arise between indexes made on the two plans, and the difference may be substantial if a series shows no specific cycles. Suppose, for example, that the successive terms of a series fall exactly on a parabola whose second derivative with respect to time is negative; then the full-cycle index will be +100 if the reference cycles are taken as units from trough to trough, but -100 if they are taken as units from peak to peak. If we are not to be misled by the first figure, we should have the second.<sup>60</sup> Hence we supplement our first preliminary full-cycle index by a second, which is entered in Table R3 on the line reading 'Index of conformity to reference cycles, peak to peak'.

The second index is computed from the entries in column (9) in exactly the same manner as the first index is computed from the entries in column (8). Column (9) contains only signs; that is, it shows merely whether the average rate of change during each contraction specified in column (1) is algebraically larger or smaller than the average rate of change during the next reference expansion. In most instances the sign in column (9) can be inferred from the signs in columns (4) and (7). If the entry is minus on a given line in column (7) and plus on the next line in column (4), the entry on the given line in column (9) must be minus. Or if the entry is plus on a given line in column (7) and minus on the next line in column (4), the entry on the given line in column (9) must be plus. A difficulty arises, however, when an entry on one line in column (7) has the same sign as the entry on the next line in column (4), for the two rates are computed on different bases and therefore are incomparable. They can be made comparable by measuring the average rates of change from the original data or from cycle relatives expressed on the same base, which may be any convenient figure. The method we find simplest in practice is to shift the standing in stage V of a given cycle to the base of the next cycle, and then compare the change per month from stage V to IX of the given cycle with the change per month from stage I to V of the next cycle.

We obtain the final full-cycle index by striking an arithmetic mean of the two preliminary indexes, each weighted by the number of cycles it covers, and record the result on the line reading 'Index of conformity to reference cycles, both ways'.<sup>61</sup>The final index must be +100 if a series

#### 60 Cf. pp. 298-9.

The final full-cycle index involves a comparison of each phase with the preceding and following phase. Let the reference phase therefore be the unit of observation. If the rate of change during a contraction is algebraically smaller than during the preceding expansion, credit the contraction

<sup>61</sup> The description in the text follows the method of calculation we have found most convenient in practice. But the computations can be organized on a plan that dispenses with the preliminary indexes.

#### 182 BASIC MEASURES OF CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

always rises during reference expansions and declines during reference contractions, or if the average rise per month during contractions is always less than the rise during the next preceding and following expansions, or if the decline during contractions is always more rapid than the decline during the next preceding and following expansions; or, in general, if the average change per month during reference contractions is in every instance algebraically smaller than the average change per month during reference expansions. The full-cycle index will be -100 if the average change per month during reference contractions is in every instance algebraically in every instance algebraically smaller than the average change per month during reference contractions.

To illustrate: the conformity indexes of coke production (Table 12) are all +100; that is, coke output conformed positively to all the cyclical tides in general business covered by the data, rising and falling in harmony with them. The conformity indexes of zinc stocks are all -100; in other words, this process consistently moved inversely to the few cycles in general business covered by the series. Coal production has an expansion index of +100 and a full-cycle index of +100; but the contraction index is +78 because the series moved counter to the business tide in one of the nine contractions covered  $\left(\frac{+800-100}{9}=+78\right)$ . Still another result is illustrated by postal receipts, which have conformity indexes of +100, -64, +71. This series conformed positively to every reference expansion  $\left(\frac{\pm 1100}{11} = \pm 100\right)$ ; it conformed inversely to nine reference contractions and positively to only two  $\left(\frac{+200-900}{11}=-64\right)$ ; yet its conformity was preponderantly positive to full reference cycles, in the sense that its rate of rise was usually lower during contractions than during the next preceding and following expansions  $\left(\frac{+1800-300}{21}=+71\right)$ . The last result may be clearer if stated another way: the 'index of conformity to reference cycles, trough to trough' is  $\frac{+900-200}{11} =$ +63.6; the 'index of conformity to reference cycles, peak to peak' is

with +50; if it is also smaller than the rate of change during the following expansion, credit the contraction with another +50, which makes + 100 in all; but if the rate of change is larger than during the following expansion, the additional credit is -50 and the total credit is 0; while if the rate of change is larger than during both the preceding and following expansions, the contraction gets a total credit of -100. The accounting is similar for expansions, except that the expansion is credited with +50 or -50 according as the rate of change is algebraically larger or smaller than that in a contiguous contraction. Obviously, the first and last phases cannot receive a credit of +100 or -100, since they can be compared with only one adjacent phase. Once a credit has been assigned to each reference phase covered by the analysis, the total is cast up and divided by (N-1), where N is the number of reference phases. The quotient is the final index of full-cycle conformity.

 $\frac{+900-100}{10} = +80$ ; hence the 'index of conformity to reference cycles, both ways' is  $\frac{11(+63.6) + 10(+80)}{21} = +71$ .

The conformity indexes resemble coefficients of correlation. Except for the use of percentages, the limits of both are -1 and +1. The coefficient of correlation (squared) states the degree to which estimates of a given variable may be improved by taking account of its correlation with other variables. The index of conformity may be interpreted in a similar manner: it states the degree to which errors can be reduced in estimating the direction of movement of a series by taking account of its conformity to business cycles instead of guessing.<sup>62</sup> If in eight reference expansions or contractions there are seven movements in the same direction, that is 75 per cent better than chance, and the conformity index is precisely this figure, plus or minus. The greater the number of observations and the firmer the rational analysis, the greater is our confidence in the significance of a coefficient of correlation, and so it is also with indexes of conformity. An index of conformity as low as +33 indicates that instances of positive conformity preponderate over instances of inverted conformity in the ratio of 2 to 1; but the index commands more serious attention when the cycles number ten than when they number three, and when they number thirty than when they number ten.

Conformity indexes are highly unstable when few cycles are covered (Table 43). If there are only four cycles and no zero movements, the index of conformity to reference expansions or contractions may be -100, -50, 0, +50, or +100. The gaps between the possible values of the index diminish as the cycles become more numerous, but the gaps are appreciable even for 15 cycles. If the conformity index for four cycles is +100, the index will drop to +60 if a fifth observation happens to be inverted, and to +33 if a sixth observation also is inverted. If the index is +100 for thirteen cycles, it will drop to +86 if the fourteenth cycle happens to be inverted and to +73 if the fifteenth also is inverted. A conformity index of +100 or -100 for four expansions (or contractions) may seem significant at first glance; but is unimpressive when we remember that a random series would yield such a result one time in eight. Probability tests are therefore helpful in judging the statistical significance of conformity indexes, just as they help to judge coefficients of correlation. Such tests, however, must be used with fine discrimination. because as a rule the values of economic time series are serially correlated and different series are interdependent. In the case of the full-cycle index there is the additional difficulty that the same phase is used twice.63

#### 62 We are indebted to W. Allen Wallis for suggesting these remarks.

68 See in this connection Geoffrey H. Moore and W. Allen Wallis, Time Series Significance Tests Based on Signs of Differences, *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, June 1943. Methods of testing the statistical significance of reference-cycle patterns are developed in this paper.

	25	+100	rmity con-
	24	1+92	e conio ill-cycle ighs.
	23	1000 1484 + 84 1484 + 184	nu, m x of fu by trou
	22	++1100	tinar heinde tsand
	21	++91 +61 +61 +61	cnange ise of ti by peal
	20	+100 +50 +60 +60	ows no n the ca f both h
	19	11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11100 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 110000 110000 11000 110000 10000 10000 1000000	and sn that, i rked of
	18	++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	cuons) abered cles ma
	17	++100 ++79 ++78 ++48 ++48 ++48 ++48	remen remen
( <i>P</i> )	16	++100 ++788 ++68 ++68 ++68 ++33 ++33 ++33	g lour 0 - 50 5 nust be s busir
rmity	15	++100 ++76 +56 +56 +56 +56 +56 +56 +20 +20 +20	s aurur or <u>+45</u> or include
: confo	14	+ 100 + + 87 + + 87 + + 40 + + 40 + + 40 + + 40 + + 12 + + + 12 + + + 12 + + + 12 + + + + 12 + + + + 12 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	$\frac{1}{5}$
ositive	13	++100 +++86 +++53 ++13 ++13 ++13 ++13 ++13 ++13 ++1	x is +4 using ity, th
s of p	12	++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	inde inde form
stance	=	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	ances every posi- four
er of ir	9	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	h 0 for ance of ance of during
Numb	6	++100 ++64 ++64 ++50 ++64 ++20 ++64 ++20 ++6 ++20 ++20 ++20 ++20 ++20 +-10 +-22 +-22 +-28 +-28	5, 2.5, ted wit half inst
	8	++100 +++78 ++45 ++45 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14	0.5, 1. s credi e as a if a ser
	2	+100 ++75 ++75 ++75 ++75 ++75 ++75 ++75 ++	Thus Thus
	9	++100 ++200 ++200 ++200 ++200 ++200 +-201 +200 +-201 +200 +200 +200 +200 +200 +200 +200 +	t colun texes a he zero
	5	$\begin{array}{c} + \\ + \\ + \\ + \\ + \\ + \\ + \\ + \\ + \\ + $	io inser nity inc inting t d confe
	4	++100 ++130 	essary l conforn conforn it to cou
	3	++100 ++200 +200 +200 +200 +200 +200 +20	be nec puting uivalen nec of
	2	+100 +33 -20 -20 -20 -25 -33 -43 -50 -63 -63 -63 -63 -63 -73 -73 -73 -73 -73 -73 -73 -73 -73 -7	would n com h is equ
	1	+1100 -530 -530 -530 -550 -571 -571 -571 -775 -775 -775 -775 -775	ocs, it nity. I t whic d a ha
	0		the zer conforn f change mity an
No. of observa- tions on cycles	NS.	22222222222222222222222222222222222222	account of of positive zero rate o tive confor

TABLE 43

Conformity Indexes for P Instances of Positive Conformity in  $\mathcal{N}$  Cycles

184

. !

.

-----

Strictly speaking, an expansion index of +100 does not mean that a series rose consistently during the reference expansions covered; nor does a contraction index of  $\pm 100$  mean that a series declined consistently during reference contractions. For these indexes as well as the full-cycle index are based simply on the standings at the initial trough, peak, and terminal trough of each reference cycle, and take no account of what happens within the phases of expansion and contraction. If the standing in stage V of a reference cycle is higher than the standing in stage I, the series is considered to conform positively to the given expansion, although the movement from stage I to IV may be sharply downward. On the other hand, if the series rises steadily from stage I to IV, but falls to a lower level in stage V than in stage I, the movement as a whole is counted as inverted.<sup>64</sup> Nor does the size of the difference between the standings at peaks and troughs have any influence; a tiny rise and a huge rise count the same in the expansion and contraction indexes. These considerations reinforce what has already been said, namely, that variations in conformity indexes may have little meaning, especially when cycles are few. They suggest also the wisdom of using the average rates of change in conjunction with the indexes.

# X Conformity to Business Cycles: Timing Differences Recognized

The measures of conformity just described are valuable because they reveal the consistency with which a given process and general business activity have moved concurrently in the same or opposite directions, but they may obscure regular responses to the cyclical rhythm in business when a process leads or lags by considerable intervals. Imagine a series with no definite secular trend, lagging consistently a quarter of a cycle (strictly, by half a phase) behind the turns in general business. The conformity of such a series to business cycles is in a sense perfect; yet the measures described in the preceding section would probably show zero conformity, for within each reference cycle the direction of movement will be opposite to that of general business over as many stages as it will be similar, and the standing of the series at reference peaks will be about the same as its standing at reference troughs. To avoid such pitfalls, we supplement the measures of conformity based on rigid periods with another set that takes differences in timing into account. The additional measures

<sup>64</sup> During the reference contraction from 1910 to 1912, coal production declined from stage V to VII, then rose to stage IX. This rise carried the figure in stage IX above that in stage V, and thus accounts for the lapse of the contraction index from perfect conformity. Indexes of conformity that take account of every movement from stage to stage of the reference cycles are considered in Ch. 8, Sec. VIII.

186

are entered in Table R4, a sample of which is shown in Table 47.65

The preparation of this supplement follows the lines of Table R3, but requires several preliminary steps. The successive reference-cycle patterns in Table R1 must first be charted, these nine-point patterns studied cycle by cycle, and a decision reached how they can best be divided into two uniform segments-one representing the stages during which the series most regularly advances and the other the stages during which it most regularly declines. For this purpose we frequently draw charts on the plan illustrated by Chart 22. The midpoint of stage I of each reference cycle is taken as the origin. The midpoint of stage II is then placed onehalf of a standard unit (which may be any convenient figure) to the right of the origin; in other words, the abscissa of the midpoint of stage II is .5. The abscissas of the midpoints of the later stages are as follows: 1.5 for stage III, 2.5 for stage IV, 3 for stage V, 3.5 for stage VI, 4.5 for stage VII, 5.5 for stage VIII, and 6 for stage IX. This method of plotting reference-cycle patterns blinks the varying durations of reference phases; also the fact that the successive thirds of a reference phase, as we identify them, do not add up to the full duration of the phase, but to this figure minus one month. The advantage of standardizing the durations of all reference phases is that corresponding standings of successive reference cycles, when plotted on a chart, are aligned vertically. The movement of successive reference cycles from one stage to the next can therefore be seen at a glance-in sharp contrast to Chart 19, which represents the varying intervals between successive stages with fidelity. Of course, disregard of the varying durations of reference expansions and contractions may give a very erroneous impression of the behavior of a series that usually or frequently rises or falls throughout a reference cycle; in such cases there is no satisfactory substitute for a chart of the type exemplified by Chart 19.

In general, the task of determining what stages are characteristic of expansion and contraction in a series is easy or difficult according as its timing with respect to business cycles is regular or irregular. In a series like coke production (Table 10) a decision is quickly reached. The series typically rises from stage I to V and declines from stage V to IX; no Table R4 is therefore necessary, or more precisely, Table R3 is the equivalent of Table R4. In bituminous coal production (Table 39 and Chart 22) the timing is less regular, especially at reference troughs. In railroad bond yields (Table 45) the timing varies so much from cycle to cycle that it is not easy to decide upon the typical stages of expansion and contraction, although it is plain that the trough was typically reached later than stage I and that the peak was typically reached later than stage V.

To expose and test what parallelism there may be in the successive reference-cycle patterns of a series, we use a variety of devices. For <sup>65</sup> This step is analogous to that traditionally followed in correlation analysis of time series when one series is 'lagged' after the other, except that our procedure permits differentiation between the timing at peaks and troughs.







See explanations in text; cf. Chart 19. <sup>4</sup> The pattern is incomplete, data not being available, 1

- 187 -

example, we may first examine the timing of the average reference-cycle pattern, then see whether this timing is confirmed by averages of subgroups of cycles, by a count of the rises and falls between successive stages of the reference cycles, by patterns formed by rankings of the referencecycle standings, by averages of the leads or lags expressed in fractions of the duration of a cycle phase  $(\frac{1}{6}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{5}{6})$ , and so on. When a decision is finally reached, we usually feel reasonably certain that we have made that division into 'expansion' and 'contraction' which best represents the behavior of the series during successive reference cycles. If the behavior of a series is so irregular from one business cycle to the next that there is serious doubt whether it is correlated at all with business cycles, we dispense with Table R4.

We rarely make divisions more unequal than five stages for expansion and three for contraction, or three for the former and five for the latter. The terms 'expansion' and 'contraction' are used in a relative sense. Thus, if a series shows no specific cycles, we mean by 'expansion' the stages during which the advance is more rapid or the decline less rapid, according as the secular trend slopes upward or downward. Table 44 indicates that twenty-four divisions of reference cycles into expansion and contraction are possible when no division more unequal than five and three stages is allowed. Of these, six are coterminous with the reference cycles (lines 1-3, 12, 14, and 16), two are coterminous with the reference troughs and peaks (line 2).

Once the division of reference cycles in a series has been decided upon, the next step is to class it as 'positive', 'inverted' or 'neutral'. This classification determines whether the *specific* cycles are to be marked off from trough to trough or from peak to peak,<sup>66</sup> and also plays a part in the computation of Table R4. We class a division of reference cycles as positive when the selected expansion segment contains more stages in reference expansion than in reference contraction; or, what comes to the same thing, when the selected contraction contains more stages in reference contraction than in reference expansion. We class the division of reference cycles as inverted when the selected expansion covers more stages in reference contraction than in reference expansion. When the selected expansion overlaps equally reference expansions and contractions, the division is classed as neutral.

Whatever the division, it is applied uniformly in subsequent operations to all the reference cycles covered by the series.<sup>87</sup> When the division is positive, the expansion segments of the series are matched with reference expansions and the contraction segments with reference contractions. When the division is inverted, the contraction segments are

<sup>66</sup> See Sec. I of this chapter. 67 See, however, Ch. 10, Sec. VIII.

Г	A	В	L	Е	4	4	
---	---	---	---	---	---	---	--

In computing Table R4 Division of the reference cycles the following stages are matched with of a series Classification of Line the division Expansion Contraction Reference Reference covers covers expansion contraction stages stages IV-IX I-IV IV-IX 1 I-IV Positive I-V V-IX I-V V-IX Positive 2 3 I-VI VI-IX Positive I-VI VI-IX 4 II-V II-V V-II Positive V-II II-VI VI-II II-VI VI-II 5 Positive 6 II-VII VII-II Positive II-VII VII-II 7 III-VI VI-III Positive III-VI VI-III 8 III-VII VII-III Neutral III-VII VII-III 9 III-VIII VIII-III Inverted VIII-III III-VIII 10 IV-VII VII-IV Inverted VII-IV IV-VII IV-VIII VIII-IV VIII-IV IV-VIII Inverted 11 IV-IX 12 IV-IX I-IV Inverted I-IV VIII-V V-VIII 13 V-VIII VIII-V Inverted V-IX I-V I-V V-IX 14 Inverted II-V V-II II-V 15 V-II Inverted I-VI I-VI VI-IX 16 VI-IX Inverted II-VI II-VI 17 VI-II Inverted VI-II III-VI III-VI VI-III 18 VI-III Inverted II-VII 19 VII-II II-VII Inverted VII-II 20 VII-III III-VII Neutral VII-III III-VII IV-VII Positive VII-IV IV-VII VII-IV 21 III-VIII 22 VIII-III III-VIII VIII-III Positive IV-VIII VIII-IV v-vIII 23 VIII-IV Positive v-vIII VIII-V V-VIII VIII-V Positive 24

Possible Divisions of Reference Cycles when Three to Five Stages Are Assigned to Expansion

matched with reference expansions and the expansion segments with reference contractions. When the division is neutral, the division is treated as if it were positive; that is, the expansion segments are matched arbitrarily with reference expansions and the contraction segments with reference contractions. For each series we indicate the procedure by writing at the top of Table R4 what stages are considered characteristic of expansions, and whether expansions are matched with reference expansions or reference contractions, implying that contractions are matched with the other reference phase (see Table 47).

We then compute the average rate of change per month during the stages matched with reference expansions and during the stages matched with reference contractions, and enter the results in Table R4. The computations correspond in every respect to those in Table R3. For example, if the selected expansion runs from stage I to IV of the reference cycles, the duration of this segment, that is, the number of months between the midpoints of stages I and IV, is entered in column (3), for the segment is matched with reference expansion. The excess of the standing in stage IV over that in stage I is entered in column (2), and this difference divided
by the interval between the midpoints of the two stages is entered in column (4). Similarly, column (6) shows the number of months in the segment matched with reference contraction, column (5) the total (net) change during this interval, and column (7) the rate of change during this interval. Column (8) is determined from columns (4) and (7) just as in Table R3; so also is column (9), though here, as previously explained, special calculations may be necessary.

A special calculation is also necessary when the segment matched with reference expansion does not begin in stage I; for in that case the standings necessary to determine the average rates of change are expressed on different bases in Table R1. The series on railroad bond yields (see Tables 45 and 47), in which stages III-VI are matched with reference expansion, may serve as an example. There is no difficulty in determining from Table R1 the average change per month from stage III to VI, since the stand-

### TABLE 45

Sample of Table R1: Reference-cycle Patterns Railroad Bond Yields, United States, 1857–1933

		A	verage i	n referei	nce-cycle	relative	s at sta	ge		Av.
	I	п	ш	IV	v	VI	VII	<b>I</b> VIII	IX	ly nonth-
Dates of reference cycles	3 mos. centered on	I	Expansio	a	3 mos. centered on	с	ontracti	on	3 mos. centered on termi-	stand- ing during cycle
Trough – Pcak – Trough (1)	trough (2)	First third (3)	Mid. third (4)	Last third (5)	peak (6)	First third (7)	Mid. third (8)	Last third (9)	nal trough (10)	(per cent) (11)
Dec. 54-June 57-Dec. 58 Dec. 58-Oct. 60-June 61	 99.4		101.6	 96.5	105.8* 96.8	115.9ª 102.5	104.6ª 100.1	98.4ª 102.9	95.0ª 104.2	6.438 <sup>b</sup> 6.150
June 61 – Apr. 65 – Dec. 67 Dec. 67 – June 69 – Dec. 70	112.5 99.6	104.8 97.4	84.4 97.8	87.6 101.0	103.9 100.7	109.8 103.0	111.2	111.0 99.6	111.9 100.7	5.696 6.396
Mar.79-Mar.82-May 85	113.4 112.8	109.5	109.0	108.6 96.6	98.2	97.8	92.0 97.5	89.8 96.7	85.3 93.3	<b>5.677</b> <b>4.292</b>
May 85 - Mar. 87 - Apr. 88 Apr. 88 - July 90 - May 91 May 91 - Jap 93 - June 94	106.3 102.3	103.6 100.4 102.8	98.1 96.7 98 9	98.2 98.7	98.8 100.3 98.8	98.9 101.8	101.4	99.5 104.0	98.9 105.8	3.767
June 94 – Dec. 95 – June 97	102.5	102.1	101.6	98.0	99.4	99.6	102.7	96.9	94.8	3.488
June 97 – June 99 – Dec. 00 Dec. 00 – Sep. 02 – Aug. 04 Aug. 04 – May 07 – June 08	103.1 94.6 96.6	102.1 94.5 95.9	102.9 95.9 96.8	98.1 96.4 99.8	96.0 98.5 102.7	98.3 101.0 104.7	98.9 105.6 109.0	99.6 105.7 105.5	98.7 104.2 104.4	3.207
June 08–Jan. 10–Jan. 12 Jan. 12–Jan. 13–Dec. 14	100.3 96.4	98.2 96.6	96.4 97.5	98.1 98.3	99.3 98.4	101.4 101.7	101.8 101.8	102.4 100.8°	102.2 105.2ª	3.761 3.988•
Dec. 14-Aug. 18-Apr. 19 Apr. 19-Jan. 20-Sep. 21	97.3 <sup>d</sup> 92.4	96.3 92.4	93.9 96.7	106.1 96.6	111.1 99.0	110.5 105.4	103.5 100.5	106.6 101.7	107.6 99.0	4.312 5.020
Sep. 21 – May 23 – July 24 July 24 – Oct. 26 – Dec. 27 Dec. 27 – June 29 – Mar. 33	109.8 102.7 93.1	102.2 102.8 94.7	95.6 102.5 99.5	99.4 99.9 101.9	101.3 99.5 103.8	101.3 98.4 100.5	101.9 96.7 95.0	100.6 95.0 105.8	98.4 93.4 99.8	4.525 4.336 4.349
Average	102.0 5.1	100.5 4.0	98.3 3.3	98.9 2.6	101.0 3.1	102.0 2.5	101.5 3.2	101.1 3.8	100.2 4.7	

Average is the arithmetic mean; the average deviation is measured from the mean.

\*Computed on base of inverted cycle, June 1857–Oct. 1860. Excluded from the average and the average deviation. \*Base of inverted cycle, June 1857–Oct. 1860.

<sup>e</sup> Includes 3 months, instead of 7; see note 'e'.

<sup>d</sup> Includes 2 months, instead of 3; see note 'e'.

\* Omits Aug .- Nov. 1914. No data (N. Y. Stock Exchange closed).

ings in both stages are expressed as relatives on the base of the same reference cycle. Thus the standing of bond yields in stage III of the reference cycle of 1858-61 is 101.6; the standing in stage VI is 102.5; the total change is +0.9 over an interval of 12.5 months, or an average of +0.07per cent per month. But we cannot determine directly the average change per month during the segment matched with the contraction of the given reference cycle-that is, from stage VI of the given cycle to stage III of the next cycle, because the required standing in stage III is expressed in Table R1 as a relative on the base of the next reference cycle. We meet the difficulty by shifting the standing in stage III to the base of the given reference cycle. Thus the standing of bond yields in stage VI of the reference cycle of 1858-61 is 102.5; the standing in stage III of the reference cycle of 1861-67 is 84.4; this standing becomes 78.1 when shifted to the base of the reference cycle of 1858-61; <sup>68</sup> the change from stages VI to III is therefore -24.4 (in relatives of the base of the 1858–61 cycle); and since the interval between these stages is 29.5 months, the average change per month is -0.83 per cent.

The procedure is similar whenever shifts of base are required. For example, if the stages matched with reference expansion were VII-IV, we would need to shift the standing in stage VII of the preceding reference cycle to the base of the given reference cycle in order to compute the average rate of change during the segment matched with the reference expansion of the given cycle. On the other hand, if the stages matched with reference expansion were II-V, we would need to shift the standing in stage II of the following reference cycle to the base of the given reference cycle to compute the average rate of change during the segment matched with the reference contraction of the given cycle.

Once the entries in Table R4 have been made, they are summarized by two sets of conformity measures, in exactly the same way as in Table R3. How useful the new measures can be appears from a comparison of Tables 46 and 47. From Table 46 we learn that the synchronous movements of bond yields and general business have been almost as often in the opposite as in the same direction. We cannot infer, however, that there is no relation between the movements of bond yields and general business, since the table ignores not only haphazard but also systematic differences in timing. Table 47 indicates that when the lagging tendency of bond yields is allowed for, they move preponderantly in the same direction as business cycles.

The conformity measures in Tables R3 and R4 thus serve different ends and we compute both for each series.<sup>69</sup> The measures in the former

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> The base of the 1861-67 cycle is lower than the base of the 1858-61 cycle in the ratio of 5.696 to 6.150, as is indicated by the entries in col. (10) of Table 45.

<sup>69</sup> Except when no typical expansion or contraction segments can be marked off; in such instances Table R4 is omitted. Of course, when the typical expansion of a series runs from stage I to V or from stage V to IX, Table R4 is the same as Table R3.

#### BASIC MEASURES OF CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

tell the behavior of different series during fixed periods, and thereby help to characterize these periods. In particular, they impose a severe test of whether the fixed periods are or are not business cycles in the sense of our definition. But when the problem is to ferret out the 'response' or 'relation' of a series to business cycles, it is essential to take account of the adjustment in time between the given activity and business as a whole.

### TABLE 46 Sample of Table R3: Conformity to Business Cycles **Timing Differences Ignored** Railroad Bond Yields, United States, 1857-1933

Dates of reference cycles	Refer	ence exp	ansion	<b>D</b> (			reieren	
	Total			Kelere	nce cont	traction minus that during		
Trough – Peak – Trough (1)	(2)	Inter- val in months (3)	Average change per month (4)	Total change (5)	Inter- val in months (6)	Average change per month (7)	Pre- ceding reference expan- sion (8)	Suc- ceeding reference expan- sion <sup>g</sup> (9)
Dec. 54-June 57-Dec. 58 Dec. 58-Oct. 60-June 61 June 61-Apr. 65-Dec. 67 Dec. 67-June 69-Dec. 70 Dec. 70-Oct. 73-Mar.79	-2.6 -8.6 +1.1 -1.0	22.0 46.0 18.0 34.0	-0.12 -0.19 +0.06 -0.03	-10.8* +7.4 +8.0 0.0 -27.1	18.0 8.0 32.0 18.0 65.0	-0.60 <sup>a</sup> +0.92 +0.25 0.00 -0.42	+1.04 +0.44 -0.06 -0.39	- + + +
Mar.79–Mar.82–May 85 May 85–Mar.87–Apr. 88 Apr. 88–July 90–May 91 May 91–Jan. 93–June 94 June 94–Dec. 95–June 97	-14.6 -7.5 -2.0 -3.5 -4.2	36.0 22.0 27.0 20.0 18.0	-0.41 -0.34 -0.07 -0.18 -0.23	-4.9 +0.1 +5.5 -2.9 -4.6	38.0 13.0 10.0 17.0 18.0	-0.13 +0.01 +0.55 -0.17 -0.26	+0.28 +0.35 +0.62 +0.01 -0.03	+ + + +
June 97–June 99–Dec. 00 Dec. 00–Sep. 02–Aug. 04 Aug. 04–May 07–June 08 June 08–Jan. 10–Jan. 12 Jan. 12–Jan. 13–Dec. 14	-7.1 +3.9 +6.1 -1.0 +2.0 <sup>b</sup>	24.0 21.0 33.0 19.0 12.0	-0.30 +0.19 +0.18 -0.05 +0.17 <sup>b</sup>	+2.7 +5.7 +1.7 +2,9 +6.8°	18.0 23.0 13.0 24.0 23.0	+0.15 +0.25 +0.13 +0.12 +0.30°	+0.45 +0.06 -0.05 +0.17 +0.13°	- + - -
Dec. 14-Aug. 18-Apr. 19 Apr. 19-Jan. 20-Sep. 21 Sep. 21-May 23-July 24 July 24-Oct. 26-Dec. 27 Dec. 27-June 29-Mar.33	+13.8 <sup>d</sup> +6.6 -8.5 -3.2 +10.7	44.0 9.0 20.0 27.0 18.0	+0.31 <sup>d</sup> +0.73 -0.42 -0.12 +0.59	-3.5 0.0 -2.9 -6.1 -4.0	8.0 20.0 14.0 14.0 45.0	-0.44 0.00 -0.21 -0.44 -0.09	-0.75 <sup>d</sup> -0.73 +0.21 -0.32 -0.68	- + -
Average <sup>•</sup> Average deviation <sup>†</sup>	-1.0 	•••	0.01 0.24	-0.8 	 	+0.03 0.26	+0.04 0.35	

Cycles, trough to trough..... -16 Cycles, peak to peak..... -16 

\*Computed on base of inverted cycle, June 1857-Oct. 1860. Excluded from the average and the average deviation. <sup>b</sup>Computed on base omitting Aug.-Nov. 1914.

Computed on base omitting Aug.-Nov. 1914; standing in stage IX includes 2 months.

<sup>d</sup>Standing in stage I includes 2 months.

<sup>8</sup>Only the sign of the difference is entered.

<sup>\*</sup>Arithmetic mean determined separately for each column. Hence (7)-(4) may differ from (8) in the last place. <sup>f</sup>Measured from the mean.

The measures in Table R4 are therefore more useful for analytical purposes than the measures in Table R3, and we use the former more extensively than the latter. Whenever measures of 'conformity' are referred to without qualification, it is to be understood that Table R4 is meant.

Table R4 shares the defects of Table R3 noted in the preceding section, and suffers besides from the uncertainty inherent in any effort to

### TABLE 47 Sample of Table R4: Conformity to Business Cycles **Timing Differences Recognized** Railroad Bond Yields, United States, 1857-1933 (Expansion covers stages III-VI. Expansions are matched with reference expansions.)

	Change in reference-cycle relatives during stages matched with stages matched with stages matched with stages matched with							
Dates of reference cycles	Refer	ence exp	ansio <b>n</b>	Refere	nce cont	contraction minus that during stages matched with		
Trough-Peak-Trough (1)	Total change (2)	Inter- val in months (3)	Average change per month (4)	Total change (5)	Inter- val in months (6)	Average change per month (7)	Pre- ceding reference expan- sion (8)	Suc- ceeding reference expan- sion <sup>•</sup> (9)
Dec. 54-June 57-Dec. 58 Dec. 58-Oct. 60-June 61 June 61-Apr. 65-Dec. 67 Dec. 67-June 69-Dec. 70 Dec. 70-Oct. 73-Mar.79	 +0.9 +25.4 +5.2 -6.4	 12.5 28.5 12.5 28.0	 +0.07 +0.89 +0.42 -0.23	-18.8 <sup>a</sup> -24.4 0.0 -6.3 -25.5	25.5 29.5 35.5 31.5 72.0	-0.74* -0.83 0.00 -0.20 -0.35	-0.90 -0.89 -0.62 -0.12	- - + -
Mar. 79 – Mar. 82 – May 85 May 85 – Mar. 87 – Apr. 88 Apr. 88 – July 90 – May 91 May 91 – Jan. 93 – June 94 June 94 – Dec. 95 – June 97	-4.2 +0.8 +5.1 +0.6 -2.0	24.5 13.5 15.5 13.0 12.5	-0.17 +0.06 +0.33 +0.05 -0.16	-11.7 -5.4 +0.6 -5.5 -5.0	42.5 24.0 18.0 23.0 26.5	-0.28 -0.22 +0.03 -0.24 -0.19	-0.11 -0.28 -0.30 -0.29 -0.03	- - - +
June 97-June 99-Dec. 00 Dec. 00-Sep. 02-Aug. 04 Aug. 04-May 07-June 08 June 08-Jan. 10-Jan. 12 Jan. 12-Jan. 13-Dec. 14	-4.6 +5.1 +7.9 +5.0 +4.2 <sup>b</sup>	15. <b>5</b> 14.5 19.0 14.0 10.0	-0.30 +0.35 +0.42 +0.36 +0.42 <sup>b</sup>	+1.7 +3.5 -4.3 +2.0 -0.2 <sup>b</sup>	25.0 35.5 20.0 25.5 41.0	+0.07 +0.10 -0.22 +0.08 0.00 <sup>b</sup>	+0.37 -0.25 -0.64 -0.28 -0.42 <sup>b</sup>	
Dec. 14-Aug.18-Apr. 19 Apr. 19-Jan. 20-Sep. 21 Sep. 21-May 23-July 24 July 24-Oct. 26-Dec. 27 Dec. 27-June 29-Mar.33	+16.6 +8.7 +5.7 -4.1 +1.0	23.5 8.0 12.5 16.0 17.0	+0.71 +1.09 +0.46 -0.26 +0.06	+2.1 -19.2 -3.0 +1.4 -19.4	11.0 26.5 25.0 20.5 62.0	+0.19 -0.72 -0.12 +0.07 -0.31	-0.52 -1.81 -0.58 +0.33 -0.37	- + +
Average <sup>6</sup> Average deviation <sup>d</sup>	+3.7	•••	+0.24 0.32	-6.2	••• •••	-0.17 0.20	-0.41 0.33	
Index of conformity to ref Expansions Contractions Cycles, trough to trough Cycles, neak to neak	erence		. +47	· · · · · · · · · · · ·		. +30	. +79	+58

Cycles, both ways..... +68

\* Computed on base of inverted cycle, June 1857-Oct. 1860. Excluded from the average and the average deviation. <sup>b</sup>Computed on base omitting Aug-Nov. 1914.

"Arithmetic mean determined separately for each column. Hence (7)-(4) may differ from (8) in the last place. <sup>d</sup>Measured from the mean.

• Only the sign of the difference is entered.

### 194 BASIC MEASURES OF CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

determine leads or lags. Our leads or lags are expressed in cycle-stage units, since they are derived from Table R1. This method confines the leads or lags to coarse fractions of a cycle. Cycle stages sometimes cover many months, and summation over these intervals may conceal or obscure the true timing. To meet this difficulty we might follow another plan, namely: (1) convert the leads or lags in Table S1 into percentages of the duration of the reference phase within which the turn occurs,<sup>70</sup> (2) determine the typical lead or lag from these percentages, (3) divide the reference cycles into expansion and contraction segments on the basis of the typical percentages, (4) represent the beginnings of the expansion and contraction segments by centered three-month averages of cycle relatives, (5) compute the average rates of change during the expansion and contraction segments from these standings, (6) then proceed as in Table R4. Measures made on this plan might be more sensitive to cyclical influences than our present measures,<sup>71</sup> but they would be more laborious to compute, and it is unlikely that they would yield results materially different from those we get by our simpler method.

Another plan we have considered is to divide reference cycles into segments of expansion and contraction on the basis of typical leads or lags measured in months, instead of in percentages of a cycle phase.<sup>72</sup> If the timing of economic series were more uniform in months than in cyclical percentages,<sup>73</sup> a matter of which we as yet have little knowledge, this plan would be preferable in principle to the method we are using. But this variant upon our current practice may break down when the typical lead or lag is long relatively to a particular reference phase. Thus, if a series typically lagged 5 months at reference peaks but led by 5 months at reference troughs, its conformity to a reference contraction lasting just 10 months could not be determined. If the typical lead were 12 months at both reference peaks and troughs, conformity to a reference phase lasting less than 12 months could be determined arithmetically, but it might be difficult to interpret or justify the computation. On the other hand, a typical lag of 12 months under the assumed circumstances would seem plausible, if it reflected the period required by technical or administrative adjustments. These observations are inconclusive; they mean merely that the division of reference cycles on the basis of monthly leads or lags

70 This statement applies only when the lead or lag is shorter than a reference phase. The following statement covers also longer leads or lags: a lead would be expressed as a percentage of the duration of the reference phase just preceding the reference turn with which the specific-cycle turn is compared, and a lag would be expressed as a percentage of the reference phase just following the reference turn with which the specific-cycle turn is compared.

<sup>71</sup> The uncertainties of measuring leads or lags should be recalled in this connection; see Sec. II. Also, the 'typical' lead or lag is not necessarily the arithmetic mean.

72 See above, p. 128.

<sup>78</sup> In the course of an intensive study of inventory cycles, Moses Abramovitz found this to be true of the behavior of inventories of finished goods held by manufacturers, and certain other classes of inventories.

would work badly under conditions we are sure to encounter occasionally. For the time being at least, our method has the advantage that it avoids these embarrassments.

Our method of making conformity indexes has been criticized on the ground that the cyclical responses of a series may vary in timing from cycle to cycle, and that a uniform division of reference cycles, whether on the basis of leads or lags expressed in months or in percentages, fails to take this variation into account.<sup>74</sup> This criticism may well be justified, but it raises a host of questions in regard to long economic waves, also cyclical versus random movements, with which we cannot cope adequately at present. At this stage of our work there seems to be no satisfactory alternative to uniform divisions; for unless the same division is applied to each reference cycle of a series there is danger that the results will be indistinguishable from subjective judgments of conformity.75 The method has been criticized also on the ground that it maximizes the conformity indexes, but this criticism involves a misinterpretation. The conformity measures are based on the division of reference cycles that seems most representative, not on the division that yields the highest conformity indexes. For example, our series on sales per store of 'variety chains' in the United States rises typically from stage I to VI, but in one of the five cycles covered there is an abrupt drop between stage V and VI. The standing in stage V of this cycle is above while that in stage VI is below the standing in stage I. In Table R3 the expansion index is +100, and the contraction index +20. But in Table R4 we take stages I-VI to represent the expansion and VI-IX the contraction, so that the expansion index drops to +60, while the contraction index remains +20. The conformity indexes in Table R4 not only need not be maximum indexes, but-as this example illustrates-may actually be lower than those in Table R3, though as a rule they are of the same size or higher.

There is, however, a difficulty in the fact that the margin of preference for the division we make is sometimes slight. In bituminous coal production there is little to choose between stages VIII-V and I-V as the typical period of expansion. In railroad bond yields we take stages III-VI to represent expansion, and on this basis the indexes of conformity to reference expansions, contractions, and full cycles come out +47, +30, +68. But there is some uncertainty whether the expansion culminates typically in stage VI or stage VII. If we took stages III-VII to represent expansion, we would get another set of conformity indexes: +37, +60, +58. The dependence of conformity indexes on the particular division that is made of the reference cycles is frequently much greater than in bond yields, especially in short series. The difficulty in question must be met by exercising care and caution. If there is little to choose between two

#### 74 See Ch. 8, Sec. VIII.

75 See, however, method C in Table 25, and the accompanying text.

divisions of reference cycles, the sensible procedure is to compute Table R4 in a form corresponding to each division and to express each result by a range instead of a single figure.

There is no logical justification of our practice of treating neutral divisions, which overlap equally upon reference expansions and contractions, in the same way as positive divisions. Being marginal (neutral), such divisions could just as well be treated as inverted. However, the consequences of our arbitrary practice are less disturbing than may seem at first glance. If a series consistently rises from stage III to VII and declines from stage VII to III, positive treatment must yield conformity indexes of +100, +100, +100; for stages III-VII, the expansion segments, are matched with reference expansions and stages VII-III, the contraction segments, are matched with reference contractions. Inverted treatment, on the other hand, would yield indexes of -100, -100, -100; since the expansion segments would be matched with reference contractions, and the contraction segments with reference expansions.<sup>76</sup> The signs of the conformity indexes are uncertain, since they reflect the arbitrariness of our procedure. No one who notes that the timing is neutral should be misled. In any case, the absolute magnitudes of the indexes are unequivocal: they tell with what consistency the series rose or fell during the two segments into which the reference cycles are broken. Whether these movements are related positively or inversely to business cycles must be determined on independent grounds.

The marginal divisions of reference cycles merely focus a difficulty that applies also to other, if not to all, divisions. Suppose that stages III-VIII are selected to represent expansions; then we are bound by our rules to match the expansion segments in the series with reference contractions and the contraction segments with reference expansions, and so will get negative conformity indexes.<sup>77</sup> The procedure in this instance is more defensible than in the marginal case, but it rests upon rules that have slight relevance to a theoretical understanding of economic processes. If we can attach no importance to signs of conformity indexes when the expansion runs from stage III to VII, or from stage VII to III, we cannot attach much importance to the signs *per se* when the selected expansion covers stages III-VIII or stages VI-III. If an occasional series on business orders rises typically between stages VI and III, we should probably regard it as conforming positively, although the signs of the conformity indexes were all negative; at any rate we would do so if our

77 They will not be negative necessarily. In the first place, the division may be improper. Even if proper, the segment from stage VIII to III may represent a retardation of growth rather than actual decline, so that the expansion index at least will be positive.

<sup>76</sup> Note that if (1) the selected expansion runs from stage III to VII, (2) the conformity analysis is positive, and (3) the expansion, contraction, and full-cycle indexes come out, respectively, +80, +20, +90; then, a shift to inverted treatment would produce conformity indexes of -20, -80, -90, respectively, not -80, -20, -90.

immediate task was to trace the transition of general business from contraction to expansion. Of course, the formal inconsistency can be removed by matching stages VI-III with reference expansions, in defiance of the rules, and we have done that in several instances to facilitate comparisons of closely related series. But the thing to note is that even rigid observance of the rules will never lead an investigator astray if he bears in mind that the signs of conformity measures cannot be taken at face value and must submit to the test of reason.<sup>78</sup>

The list of limitations of the conformity measures might be extended, but enough has been said to demonstrate that judgment of the way a process conforms to business cycles cannot be based solely upon the conformity indexes. In addition one should note carefully how the reference cycles are divided into segments of expansion and contraction, remember that the conformity indexes report merely the consistency of rise or fall between the initial and terminal stages of these segments, study the average rates of change, the average deviations about these averages, the full array from which both averages are made, the number of business cycles and the periods they cover, the relation of the average referencecycle pattern to the average specific-cycle pattern, the behavior in these several respects of related series in the same country and in different countries, and whatever historical and theoretical analysis can teach concerning the causal connections between the given process and business at large. To determine just how much the available time series can be made to reveal about the business-cycle conformity of different economic processes is an elaborate undertaking that requires skillful use of most of the tools in our kit.

# XI Analysis of Quarterly and Annual Data

The methods described in this chapter were originally designed to handle monthly records, but they can be adapted to series that run by quarters and even by years. Table 48 shows, measure by measure, how we analyze quarterly and annual data. The description of some of the operations is limited to positive analysis, but with obvious changes in phrasing the descriptions apply also to series treated on an inverted plan.

The analysis of quarterly series is modeled closely upon the analysis of monthly series. But nothing can overcome the greater coarseness of the time unit in measuring leads and lags. Interpolations are more often necessary in making cyclical patterns than when monthly data are used. Nor does our practice of representing peaks and troughs of specific cycles by single quarterly values ensure that the amplitude measurements will be the same as those derived from three month averages centered on the peaks and troughs of monthly series; for in quarterly series the bound-

78 See above, p. 116.

	TABLE 48 Methods Used in Analyzing Quarterly and	Annual Series
Measure	Quarterly series	Annuel series
Table S1, col. (2)-(5)	If the series expresses totals or averages for the full quarter, the middle month of the quarter that marks the turn of the specific cycles is compared with the corresponding monthly reference turn. When the series relates to the first or third month of the quarter month. In other respects, the leads or lags are computed from that month. In other respects, the method is the same as in monthly series. See Ch. 6, Sec. VI for contrast with another method of measuring leads or lags; namely, comparison of quarterly specific-cycle turns with quarterly reference turns.	Leads or lags are entered only if the series conforms very well to business cycles, and permits at least a dozen comparisons of specific- cycle and reference turns. In such series the lead or lag is obtained by comparing the midpoint of the vear of the specific-cycle turn with the midpoint of the corresponding monthly reference turn. If the series relates to a single month in the year, that month is compared with the monthly reference turn. If the series starts be- fore the monthly reference turns. In other respects, the method is the samual reference turns. In other respects, the method is the samual turns have little value of themselves; there method is the samual turns have little value of themselves; their main use is in estimating the average timing. See Ch. 6, Sec. VI for further discussion of the method and its limitations.
Table S1, col. (6)-(13)	Same as monthly.	Col. (6)-(8) and (12)-(13) same as monthly. Entries in col. (9)-(11) are omitted.
Table S2, col. (2)-(4)	The standings are based on single quarters marking the cyclical turns.	The standings are based on years marking the cyclical turns.
Table S2, col. (5)-(10)	Same as monthly.	Same as monthly.
Table S3, col. (2)-(3)	The average includes all quarters from one turn to the next; the values at the turns are weighted one-half each and the intervening quarters one each.	The average includes all years from one turn to the next. The values at the turns are weighted one-half each; the intervening values, if any, are weighted one each.

Measure Table S3, col. (4) The a		
Table S3, col. (4) The a	Quarterly series	Annual stries
trough one ca	e average includes all quarters from trough to trough; the ughs are weighted one-half each and the intervening values e each.	The average includes all years from trough to trough; the trough are weighted one-half each and the intervening values one each
Table S3, col. (5)-(10) Same	me as monthly.	Same as monthly.
Table S4, col. (2), (6), (10) Same	me as Table S2, col. (2)-(4).	Same as Table S2, col. (2)-(4).
Table S4, col. (3)-(5) The p the qu equal therefores sion of plus of plus of the ful tive at the ful times i methoo when v but times i the ful times i the ful times i the ful times i the ful the ful	e period from the quarter following the initial trough through quarter preceding the peak is divided into three parts as nearly all as possible. The period called 'expansion' in this table is refore 3 months shorter than the true expansion. If exact divi- n of the 'expansion' into thirds is impossible, the remainder, is or minus one, is placed in the middle third. The operations is far are, in principle, the same as in monthly series. But inter- ations of standings in short phases are made on a different norbie: along a straight line connecting the quarterly relatives. recample, if two quarters in all are available for stages II, III 1 IV, the standing in stage I) plus five-sixths of the excess he relative in the quarter following the trough over the relative in the trough (standing in stage I) plus five-sixths of the excess he relative in the quarter following the trough over the relative the trough. Interpolations from quarterly relatives are some- es identical with interpolations from quarterly relatives are some- ter in the quarter is available for the 'expansion'. If no inter is available for stages II, III and IV (in other words, if full length of the expansion is just one quarter) the standings there are interplated for moth conter the standing being the areading at interpolation for the standing stare the stages are interplated for the standings the being the ordead theorements of a month order the standings the stages are interplated the standings at stages I and being the standing are interplated the moth order of a month the standings are interplated for the standings the standings	Only one standing is computed instead of three; namely, at midexpansion. It is entered in col. (4), which refers to stage II col(3) and (5) are fit hank; in other words, there is no stage II o(3) rule (5) and (5) are fit hank; in other words, there is no stage II o(3) rule (5) are (5) and (5) are standing in stage III of each cycle is an arithmetic mea(3) rule (5) are (5) are (5) are (1, 1, 1)(4) are (1, 1, 1)(5) are (1, 1, 1)(6) are (1, 1, 2, 1, 0)(7) are (1, 1, 1, 2, 1, 0)(8) are (0, 1, 1, 2, 2, 1, 1, 0, 0)(9) are (1, 1, 1, 2, 2, 1, 1, 0, 0)(11) are (1, 1, 1, 2, 2, 1, 1, 1, 0)(11) are (1, 1, 1, 2, 2, 1, 1, 1, 1)(11) are (1, 1, 1, 2, 2, 2, 1, 1, 1, 0)(11) are (1, 1, 1, 2, 2, 2, 1, 1, 1, 1)(11) are (1, 1, 1, 2, 2, 2, 2, 1, 1, 1, 1)(11) are (1, 1, 1, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2,
ference ference serres i	course practic interconductions of a month apart. And support of the method of interpolating for monthly and quarterly es is explained by the fact that single monthly values are more so that is not a month of the set of the single monthly values are more so that is not a monthly values are more so that is not a monthly values are more so that is not a monthly values are more so that is not a monthly values are more so that a monthly value so that a monthly v	For longer periods the weight scheme is the same as for ten year if the number of years is even, and the same as for cleven years

## QUARTERLY AND ANNUAL DATA

	T A B L E 48 – <i>Continued</i> Methods Used in Analyzing Quarterly an	d Annual Series
Measure	Quarterly series	Annual series
Table S4, col. (7)-(9)	Same as Table S4, col. (3)-(5), except for obvious changes in wording.	Only one standing is computed instead of three; namely, at mid- contraction. It is entered in col. (8), which refers to stage VII. For the rest, see comments on col. (3)-(5) of this table.
Table S5, col. (2)-(9)	Same as monthly. Note, however, that when the standings in Table S4 are interpolated from quarterly relatives instead of cycle-stage standings, the calculation of the rate of change is made independently for each stage-to-stage interval.	In principle, same as monthly. But now the entries are confined to the rate of change from the trough to the mid-expansion (I-III), the mid-expansion to the peak (III-V), the peak to mid-contraction (V-VII), and mid-contraction to the trough (VII-IX). When the standing in stage III (or VII) is computed by interpolating be- tween the standings in stages I and V (or V and IX), the rate of change from stage I to V represents the rate of change both from stage I to III and from stage III to V (or V to VII and VII to IX). The measure (at the bottom of the table) of the relative amplitude of erratic movements is omitted.
Table R1, col. (2)-(11)	The reference-cycle pattern is made on the basis of quarterly reference dates. The base of the reference cycles is computed on the same principle as the base of the specific cycles. For the rest, see comments on Table S4.	The reference-cycle pattern is made on the basis of annual reference dates. Note that two sets of annual reference dates have been pre- pared for the United States: by calendar years, and years ending June 30. The base of the reference cycles is computed on the same principle as the base of the specific cycles. For the rest, see com- ments on Table S4. The comparison of the amplitudes of reference and specific cycles is omitted.
Table R2, col. (2)-(9)	See comments on Table S5.	See comments on Table S5.
Table R3, col. (2)-(9)	Same as monthly.	Same as monthly.

200

ł

đ

•			
•	() and () and ()	1 1 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	

Annual series

Measure

Same as monthly.

Table R4, col. (2)-(9)

our disposal. Hence if a calendar-year series shows cyclical turns VII-V. In practice, the choice is more restricted, since the durahandling American series, two sets of annual reference dates are at that lag regularly 6 months behind the fiscal-year reference dates III-V, III-VII, III-IX, V-VII, V-IX, V-III, VII-IX, VII-III, tion of reference phases (notably American contractions) is frequently one year. In such cases the standings in stages III and VII are entirely artificial. In view of the difficulty of recognizing leads or lags in cycle-stage units when handling annual data, we often follow another plan. Thus, if an annual series shows a strong tendency to lead the annual reference dates by one year, we postdate the series one year and then compute the conformity on the basis of a typical expansion running from stage I to V, as in Table R3. If the series lags with considerable regularity by one year, we predate the figures one year and then proceed as in Table R3. In ycars ending June 30), we may predate the figures 6 months (the figures for the calendar years 1929, 1930, etc. are treated, respectively, like figures for the fiscal years 1929, 1930, etc.) and then proceed as in Table R3. But we never postdate or predate a series Stages matched with reference expansion may be I-III, I-V, I-VII, by more than one year.

Same as monthly, except that leads or lags of specific cycles are in no case represented.

Same as monthly. Note, however, that leads or lags shown on the chart are obtained by comparing the quarter in which the series makes a cyclical turn with the corresponding quarterly reference or third month if the series refers to the beginning or end of the The former procedure is necessary because the duration lines of the reference-cycle patterns, as well as the intervals into which

Chart of cyclical patterns

date, not by comparing the midmonth of the quarter (or the first quarter) with the monthly reference date, as we do in Table S1. hey are broken, are derived from the quarterly reference dates.

aries of the quarters are fixed by conventions of the calendar while in monthly series the boundaries of the quarters are flexible. Nevertheless, as the following chapter demonstrates, the results obtained by applying our analysis to quarterly series are very similar to those we get from monthly series.

When forced to use annual data we simplify our procedure. The observations are not numerous enough to allow the cyclical patterns to be made on the same plan as when the data run by months or quarters. Instead, we take the standing in the year of the initial trough, of the peak, and of the terminal trough as a framework, and complete the pattern by computing the average standing in mid-expansion and in mid-contraction. This procedure gives five-point patterns; but to avoid confusion the numerals I, III, V, VII, and IX are used to indicate the five stages. In Table S1 we usually omit timing comparisons; that is, measures of leads or lags are restricted to fairly long series that conform exceptionally well to business cycles. In Table R4 we modify the procedure in another respect. Since the small number of observations per reference phase makes it difficult to take account of leads or lags in cycle units, we mark off expansion and contraction segments in some series by years instead of by cycle-stages.<sup>79</sup> The brevity of reference phases limits the extent to which we can prudently go in this direction: in making conformity measures we never assume a systematic lead or lag greater than one year.<sup>50</sup>

The results obtained from annual series are less trustworthy than those from monthly or quarterly. Cycle durations become crude approximations, even when the series undergoes cyclical fluctuations that are large in relation to its secular movements. Summation by years tends to reduce or obliterate cyclical swings. Hence cycle durations obtained by our methods from annual series tend to exceed those obtained from monthly or quarterly series. Amplitude measurements, on the other hand, tend to be reduced; so also are the indexes of conformity. Even our simplified patterns involve an over-elaboration of the data when a cycle lasts less than four years, which is fairly common, particularly in American records.<sup>81</sup> These and other shortcomings of annual data for the study of cyclical behavior are analyzed in detail in the next chapter.

79 We are indebted to Moses Abramovitz for this procedure, which is described in Table 48. 80 See above, p. 194.

<sup>81</sup> A cycle with a duration of four years gives us five observations; a shorter cycle therefore requires interpolating.

r while in vertheless, applying get from

e. The oberns to be arters. Inthe peak, pattern by ld-contracfusion the stages. In es of leads onally well nother rebase makes e mark off stead of by t to which easures we

prthy than le approxins that are rs tends to btained by ined from the other . Even our nen a cycle in Amerir the study

able 48,

refore requires

## CHAPTER 6

# Effects of the Time Unit on Cyclical Measures

IN CHAPTER 1 and more explicitly in Chapter 3 we have explained why we deem it necessary to analyze many time series, why we wish each to cover many cycles, and why we should like to include more countries than we do. By using annual data we could have approximated this far-reaching program better than we have. But we could not meet it nearly so well as we have, if we had spent our resources in elaborating treatment of a relatively small number of monthly or quarterly series; for example, by making one analysis of the raw data adjusted merely for seasonal variations, another of data adjusted for secular trend as well, a third of data adjusted for both erratic and seasonal movements, and perhaps still a fourth of data adjusted in all three respects. The aim of this and the two following chapters is to explain why we have chosen to lavish effort in certain directions and to economize in others. These explanations will not carry conviction to a discerning reader, unless supported by empirical evidence. Hence the chapters abound in detailed demonstrations of the manner in which alternative decisions affect the cyclical measures we make.

#### I The Problem of This Chapter

Annual data are more abundant than monthly or quarterly. Many important series are available only by years, and the monthly or quarterly series we analyze can often be had for much longer periods in annual form. Also, annual data are simpler to handle; there are no seasonal variations to deal with, and the other computations we make are much abbreviated. By confining ourselves strictly to annual data from the outset, it is not improbable that we could have doubled the number of series analyzed and performed the work in half the time we are taking.

- 203 -

The reason we have not adopted this labor-saving course is that we do not trust pictures of cyclical movements drawn from annual series, except when the process represented consists of operations such as the production of staple crops harvested once a year. Though we think this distrust is justified by experience, there is still sufficient difference of opinion and practice among time-series analysts to call for a thorough examination of the influence of the time unit upon measures of cyclical behavior.<sup>1</sup> This examination will not only make clear why we prefer monthly data despite their relative scarcity and the heavy costs of analyzing them, but will also provide a basis for criticizing the results we get ourselves when, in default of better materials, we resort to series that run by years. We shall take this occasion to deal also with the less acute issue of quarterly versus monthly data.

## II Why the Time Unit Matters

The largest number of observations we can make upon a cycle in annual data is one more than the number of years covered. If the cycle lasts two years we can observe only the initial trough, peak, and terminal trough; we treat the last as an observation also upon the initial trough of the following cycle. Quarterly data enable us to make roughly four times and monthly data roughly twelve times as many observations. One-fourth of the business cycles marked off by our monthly reference dates lasted three years or less; more than half of the reference expansions and contractions lasted two years or less, and nearly one-sixth lasted one year or less. Specific cycles have similar durations. The few observations on these short movements yielded by annual data are obviously crude materials for comparing the behavior of the same processes in the same cycle, or for comparing the behavior of the same process in different cycles.

Summation by years hides many of the cycles revealed by monthly data, sometimes introduces spurious cycles, and influences the amplitude, pattern, and other features of all cyclical movements. These effects, which we shall presently examine in detail, depend upon the duration of cyclical expansions and contractions in monthly data, their amplitude, and the steepness of the trend. But a less obvious factor also counts heavily: the time of the year when cyclical turns occur.

Suppose that a monthly series has regular two-year cycles that start from 0 at the initial trough, rise by the monthly increment b to 11b, maintain this peak value for two months, then decline by b each month

<sup>1</sup> We have been influenced most by the experience of one of the authors who in an earlier investigation relied largely upon annual data in trying to get a comprehensive view of 'the rhythm of business activity'. See Wesley C. Mitchell, *Business Cycles* (University of California Press, 1913). For a recent example of reliance upon annual data, see J. Tinbergen, "A Method and Its Application to Investment Activity" and "Business Cycles in the United States of America, 1919–1932" (League of Nations, *Statistical Testing of Business-cycle Theories*, I and II, Geneva, 1939). <sup>2</sup> The way in data can be i Let Q<sub>1</sub> be represent the value in the s

If these twel

we have a we twice, d<sub>3</sub> enter decrease succe It is plain more substan near the bou (which extend larger weight second years. boundarics. 3 We describe or trough mo identical max throughout.

## WHY TIME UNIT MATTERS

e is that we do l series, except as the produck this distrust of opinion and kamination of shavior.<sup>1</sup> This ly data despite t, but will also ten, in default shall take this brsus monthly

cle in annual cycle lasts two ninal trough; agh of the folbur times and One-fourth of es lasted three I contractions r less. Specific e short moveials for comcycle, or for cles.

I by monthly he amplitude, effects, which ion of cyclical tude, and the heavily: the

eles that start ent b to 11b, b each month

an earlier investiof 'the rhythm of a Press, 1913). For nd Its Application 919-1932" (League to 0 at the terminal trough. So long as we deal with specific cycles of monthly data, it does not matter in what months the troughs and peaks occur. But if the data are summarized by years, the results depend upon the months of the cyclical turns.<sup>2</sup> Calendar-year summation or averaging will wipe out the cycles completely if they make turns in January: <sup>3</sup> for the series will rise one year from 0 to 11b, it will fall the next year from 11b to 0, and the successive annual totals will therefore remain constant. If the turns come in any other month, the cycles in monthly data will be reflected in the calendar-year summations, and their amplitude will be largest when the turning points are at the middle of the year. If the turning month is April, the trough values of monthly averages by years will be 3.25b and the peak values 7.75b. If the turning month is July, the trough values will be 2.5b and the peak values 8.5b. Summation or averaging by years ending June, on the other hand, will wipe out the cycles whose turns come in July, and give maximum amplitude to the cycles with turns in January.

Suppose next that the series has regular three-year cycles and a rising trend, the expansions lasting two years and the contractions one year. A cycle 'starts' from 0 at the initial trough, rises by the monthly increment b to 23b, maintains this peak value for two months, declines by b each month to 12b at the terminal trough, maintains this value for two months, rises again by the monthly increment b to a peak of 35b, and so on. In this as in the preceding example, summation or averaging by calendar years will wipe out the cycles completely if the turns come in January, and yield maximum amplitudes if the turns come in July. But the results are very

<sup>2</sup> The way in which the monthly dates of cyclical turn affect the cyclical movements of annual data can be instructively shown by a formula, for which we are indebted to Edward E. Lewis.

Let  $Q_1$  be the sum of a time series in one calendar year and  $Q_2$  the sum in the next year. Let  $q_1$  represent the January value in the first year,  $q_2$  the February value, etc.;  $q_{24}$  represents the December value in the second year. Finally, let  $d_1 = q_2 - q_1$ ,  $d_2 = q_3 - q_2$ , etc. Then

 $q_{13} - q_1 = d_1 + d_2 + d_3 + \dots + d_{12}$   $q_{14} - q_2 = d_2 + d_3 + d_4 + \dots + d_{13}$   $\dots$   $q_{24} - q_{12} = d_{12} + d_{13} + d_{14} + \dots + d_{23}$ 

If these twelve equations are summed, we get  $Q_2 - Q_1$  on the left of the equal sign. On the right we have a weighted sum of the month-to-month differences:  $d_1$  enters this sum just once,  $d_2$  enters twice,  $d_3$  enters three times, and so on through  $d_{12}$  which enters twelve times. After that the weights decrease successively by unity.

It is plain that in the hypothetical series discussed in the text, annual data will show a much more substantial movement if the cyclical turns come in the middle of the year than if they come near the boundaries. In the former case the month-to-month movements during the rising phase (which extends from the middle of one year to the middle of the next) will receive a substantially larger weight than the month-to-month movements during the declining halves of the first and second years. This excess will progressively diminish as the cyclical turns come closer to the yearly boundaries.

<sup>3</sup> We describe the second of the two months reaching identical peak or trough values as the peak or trough month; or in general, as the month of turn. Similarly, the second of two years having identical maxima or minima is treated as the year of turn. These conventions are adhered to throughout.

## EFFECTS OF THE TIME UNIT

#### TABLE 49

## Illustrations of the Dependence of Specific Cycles in Annual Data on the Months of Cyclical Turn

Case A. Cycle period 3 years: expansion 27 months, contraction 9 months, peak and trough values maintained 2 months. Rise per month is  $b_i$  rise per month equals fall per month. Value at trough month in Year I is 0. Case B. Cycle period 3 years: expansion 30 months, contraction 6 months, peak and trough values maintained 2 months. Rise per month is  $b_i$  rise per month equals fall per month. Value at trough month in Year I is 0. Case C. Cycle period 3 years: expansion 34 months, contraction 2 months, peak and trough values maintained 2 months. Rise per month is  $b_i$  total rise equals total fall. Value at trough months in Years I, IV, etc. is 0.

Dates cycles	of possible s in monthl	specific y data	_	Total during calendar year (in units of b)				Amplitu in (	fic cycle als b)	
Trough	Peak	Troug	h	Year I	Year II	Year III	Year IV	Rise	Fail	Rise & fall
Case A										
Jan. I	Apr. III	Jan. I	v	66	210	273	282			
Feb. I	May III	Feb. I	$ \mathbf{v} $	55	198	278	271	223	7	230
Mar. I	June III	Mar. I	v	46	186	281	262	235	19	254
Apr. I	July III	Apr. I	v	39	174	282	255	243	27	270
May I	Aug. III	May I	v	34	162	281	250	247	31	278
June I	Sep. III	June I	v	31	150	278	247	247	31	278
July I	Oct. III	July I	$\mathbf{v}$	30	138	273	246	243	27	270
Aug. I	Nov. III	Aug. I	$\mathbf{v}$	31	126	266	247	235	19	254
Sep. I	Dec. III	Sep. I	v	34	114	257	250	223	7	230
Oct. I	Jan. IV	Oct. I	v	39	102	246	255			
Nov. I	Feb. IV	Nov. I	v	45	90	234	261			
Dec. I	Mar.IV	Dec. I	$\mathbf{v}$	51	78	222	267			
Ian. I	Iuly III	Ian. I	v	66	210	318	354			
Feb I	Aug III	Feb I	$\mathbf{v}$	55	198	317	343			
Mar I	Sen III	Mar. I	v	46	186	314	334			
Apr. I	Oct. III	Apr. I	v	39	174	309	327			
May I	Nov III	May I	$\mathbf{v}$	34	162	302	322			
Iune I	Dec. III	Iune I	v	31	150	293	319			
July I	Ian. IV	July I	v	30	138	282	318			
Aug. I	Feb. IV	Aug. I	$\mathbf{v}$	30	126	270	318			
Sen. I	Mar. IV	Sep. I	$\mathbf{v}$	30	114	258	318			
Oct. I	Apr. IV	Oct. I	v	30	102	246	318			
Nov. I	May IV	Nov. I	v	30	90	234	318			
Dec. I	June IV	Dec. I	$\mathbf{v}$	30	78	222	318			
	<u> </u>	t	1		Cas	∟ œ C		L	l	I
Ian I	Nov III	lan I	v	66	210	318	66	252	252	504
Feb I	Dec III	Feb T	$\mathbf{v}$	55	198	341	55	286	286	572
Mar I	Jap IV	Mar I	v	79	196	330	79	250	250	504
Apr. I	Feb. IV	Apr. I	v	102	174	318	102	216	216	432
			.,	126	162	204	106	100	100	200
May I	Mar.IV	Iviay I	÷	120	102	204	120	180	180	200
June I	Apr. IV	June 1	÷.	174	130	294	174	144	144	288
July I	June IV	July I	Ϋ́	108	126	270	1/4	144	144	200
Aug. I	June IV	Aug. I	*	190	120	2/0	190	144	144	288
Sep. I	July IV	Sep. I	V	222	114	258	222	144	144	288
Oct. I	Aug. IV	Oct. I	V	246	102	246	246	144	144	288
Nov. I	Sep. IV	Nov. I	V	270	90	234	270	180	180	360
Dec. I	Oct. IV	Dec. I	V	294	78	222	294	216	216	432

The second of two months (years) reaching identical peak or trough values is treated as the month (year) of turn. Blank spaces in the last three columns signify that the cycle is skipped.

20ô

cessive observat also free from fall expressed a

trough month

## WHY TIME UNIT MATTERS

different if we change one assumption—make the expansions last 27 months and the contractions 9 months. In this case summation by calendar years will wipe out the cycles that have troughs in October, November, December or January; the maximum amplitude will be reached when the troughs occur in May or June, the minimum when they occur in February or September.<sup>4</sup> If we make the contractions last 6 months and the expansions 26 months, the other assumptions being left unchanged, the cycles will disappear regardless of the months of turn. If we change the assumptions by supposing that the trend is horizontal, the fall will equal the rise, and even a two-month contraction will be preserved in annual data.

Table 49 shows the last case, as well as the two preceding ones, worked out in detail. The two-month contraction is reflected in the calendar-year summations no matter in what month the turns come; the maximum amplitude is yielded if the trough occurs in February, and the minimum amplitude if the trough occurs any month from June to October. Another result, not so explicit in the table, is that the two-month contraction is transformed into a one-year contraction if the trough comes between January and May or between October and December, and into a two-year contraction if the trough comes between June and September.<sup>5</sup>

Table 50 shows what combinations of monthly turning points favor the preservation of cyclical contractions (or expansions) lasting 12 months or less, when calendar-year summations are struck. The table is made on the assumption that both the cyclical rise and fall are continuous and linear; also that the rate of rise equals the rate of fall. We see that a contraction starting or ending in January is wiped out in annual data, whether the movement lasts one month or twelve. On the other hand, a contraction starting or ending in July is preserved in annual data, provided it lasts 8 months or longer. July 1 is more favorable to the preservation of cyclical contractions than any other date. This result is reasonable, since a mid-year peak favors a high average for the year and a mid-year trough favors a low average. A contraction lasting 7 months or less is skipped by our imaginary series whatever the months of turn. A contraction lasting 8 to 12 months is skipped if it starts in certain months, but not if it starts in others. As shown in Section XI, a shift from calendar to fiscal years would merely change the months of cyclical turns that are favorable or unfavorable to the preservation of cycles in annual summations.

4 We consider amplitudes here in absolute units, not in units of cycle relatives; see Table 49, and notes 2 and 3.

5 This example makes no assumption in regard to the absolute amplitude of the cycles. The successive observations are expressed in units of b, which may be any positive number. The example is also free from special assumptions with respect to the relative amplitude (that is, the total rise and fall expressed as a percentage of the average value during a cycle); for if we use x instead of 0 at the trough month in Year I, where x stands for any positive number, the general results are unchanged.

th values maintained ath in Year I is 0. h values maintained th in Year I is 0. h values maintained I, IV, etc. is 0. of specific cycle nual totals units of b) Rise Fall & fall 230 7 19 254 27 270 31 278 31 278 27 270 254 19 7 230 . . . . . . . . . . . . • • • . . . . . . . . . ÷ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 252 504 286 572 252 504 216 432 80 360 44 288 44 288 44 288 44 288 44 288 80 360 16 432

th (year) of turn.

#### TABLE 50

#### How Months of Cyclical Turn Determine Whether Brief Cyclical Phases Remain or Disappear in Calendar-year Summations

ASSUMPTIONS: Cycle period, 3 years. Contraction (or expansion) lasts 12 months or less. The rise is continuous and linear from the trough to the peak; the fall is continuous and linear from the peak to the trough; and the *rate* of rise equals the *rate* of fall. The months are treated as if they were equal in length.

In view of the assumption of continuity, calendar-year totals were obtained by summing areas under the curve. Movements preserved in annual data are marked X. A blank space indicates that the phase is wiped out. If the table is read for contractions, a rising trend is implied; if read for expansions, a declining trend is implied.

Contraction (or expansion)			C	ontract	ion (or	expans	ion) <i>en</i>	ds on th	ne first	of		
the first of	Jan.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	June	July	Aug.	Sep.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.
Jan.												
Feb.		x										
Mar.		x	x									
Apr.		x	x	x								
Мау		x	x	x	x							
June			x	x	х	x						
July			x	x	x	x	x					
Aug.				x	x	x	x	x				
Sep.					x	x	x	x	x			
Oct.						x	x	x	x	x		
Nov.							x	x	x	x	x	
Dec.									x	x	x	x

Pig Iron Production, United States, 1877–1933

Annua

CHART 23 ion, United Stat Quarterly and

Monthly,

An investigator working with annual data does not know in what months the cyclical turns come, the duration in months of the expansions and contractions, or other features of the basic cyclical movements. He therefore cannot allow for the influence of these factors upon the number of specific cycles that appear in annual data, or upon their duration and amplitude. The most he can do is to make a vague allowance for the influence of the secular trend relatively to the amplitude of the cyclical movements. Whether or not these limitations of annual data are serious in practice cannot be settled by imaginary series. The proper method is to take records of experience and compare cyclical measures made from one observation a year with measures made from four or twelve.

Towards this end we have made quarterly and annual averages or totals for six long monthly series for the United States, and compared in detail cyclical measures derived from these records. The series include pig iron production, 'deflated' bank clearings outside New York City, railroad stock prices, number of shares traded on the New York Stock Exchange, call money rates, and railroad bond yields. Chart 23 illustrates

### cal Phases

s or less. The rise hear from the peak if they were equal

by summing areas nk space indicates is implied; if read

ct.	Nov.	Dec.
_		
<b>K</b>		
ζ	x	
K	х	х

now in what e expansions vements. He the number luration and ce for the inthe cyclical ire serious in method is to de from one

averages or compared in ries include York City, York Stock 3 illustrates



the movements of the three forms of pig iron production.<sup>6</sup> Whatever differences appear among the measures made from the three forms of the same data must be due solely to differences in the time unit, provided our methods of analysis are kept strictly uniform. That proviso we observe as far as possible.<sup>7</sup>

## III The Direction of Movements in Time Series

Annual data cannot reveal changes within a year; they reveal only changes between years. A like remark applies to monthly and quarterly data. But data that reveal changes between months enable us to learn what happens within quarters, and data that reveal changes between quarters enable us to learn what happens within years.

It is necessary to insist upon these distinctions because they are frequently obscured by the charts we draw and the words we use in describing the movements of time series. For example, we are apt to say on the basis of annual data that the output of iron 'rose in 1910', though the data merely tell that output in the calendar year 1910 was larger than in the calendar year 1909. We do not know whether this difference is due to a continuous rise in both years, or to a fall within 1909 and a greater rise within 1910, or to a rise within 1909 and a slower fall within 1910, or to some combination of irregular movements. Charts may prove equally misleading. To represent outputs of successive years, the statistician commonly plots points in the middle of the years at heights indicated by the vertical scale and connects the points by straight lines. The chart therefore pictures a continuous rise during the fiscal year 1910, that is, from the end of June 1909 to the end of June 1910. This graphic presentation not only is more brazen than the verbal statement but also conflicts with it, since the latter suggests that the rise occurred during the calendar year

6 See also Charts 29.31. The monthly data of all six series are shown in Chart 53. Cycle-by-cycle measures of the monthly data are presented in Appendix B.

<sup>7</sup> All monthly series are adjusted for seasonal variations, except railroad bond yields and stock prices; the seasonal correction of call money rates stops in May 1931. The annual figures were derived from monthly data unadjusted for seasonal variations, which is the form in which they would come to an investigator concerned with annual figures. However, the quarterly figures were derived from seasonally adjusted monthly data. That step saved time and ensured that comparisons between quarterly and monthly data were not confused by differences in seasonal adjustments. (The latter objective could have been achieved another way; viz., computing quarterly seasonal indexes for the same period and by the same method as in the monthly data, and removing the seasonal variations directly from the quarterly data.)

The series on pig iron production and deflated clearings are on an average daily basis.

For the series on call money rates, railroad bond yields and railroad stock prices, see Frederick R. Macaulay, *The Movements of Interest Rates, Bond Yields and Stock Prices in the United States since 1856* (National Bureau of Economic Research, 1938), Appendix A, Table 10. col. 1, 5, and 6, pp. A142-61. For the series on pig iron production and deflated clearings (continued after 1918 with bank debits in 140 centers outside N.Y.City, adjusted to the level of 'outside' clearings in Jan. 1919, and deflated throughout by Snyder's index of the general price level), see *ibid.*, Appendix A, Table 27, col. 4 and 2, pp. A255-69. The series on number of shares of stock traded through 1897 comes from *Commercial and Financial Chronicle*; since 1898, *New York Stock Exchange Bulletin*, Aug. 1934, pp. 10A-B.

1910.8 ( student 'from 1 specified conceal Perh cyclical solely w within y available be had, data sho sample made th which th The specific o the dire downwa within a pansion seven mo the 'prev traction within th years cov them as and the fi data of e The from the annual o changes. to the ne second ye annual e annual m prevailin Second, i next ind year' tha Call this 8 But the cu as is demons

#### DIRECTION OF MOVEMENTS

Vhatever difforms of the provided our we observe

## fies

only changes ly data. But hat happens rs enable us

hey are free in describo say on the igh the data than in the e is due to a greater rise 1910, or to ove equally stician comtated by the chart therehat is, from resentation nflicts with ilendar year

. Cycle-by-cycle

ields and stock al figures were in which they rly figures were hat comparisons al adjustments. arterly seasonal d removing the

basis.

ee Frederick R. e United States col. 1, 5, and 6, ued after 1918 de' clearings in bid., Appendix d through 1897 hange Bulletin, 1910.<sup>8</sup> Of course if we read our tables and charts by saying, as cautious students often will, that 'yearly output rose between 1909 and 1910' or 'from 1909 to 1910', instead of saying that output (the time unit unspecified) 'rose in 1910', our words are less misleading, in that they do not conceal our ignorance concerning what happened within either year.

Perhaps the investigators who rely upon annual data in studying cyclical movements remember most of the time that they are dealing solely with changes between years and know nothing of what happens within years. But investigators like ourselves, who use monthly data when available and fall back upon annual data only when nothing better can be had, may be betrayed by their words into assuming that both forms of data show the direction of cyclical movements 'in' successive years. As a sample of the errors that arise in practice from this assumption, we have made the comparisons summarized in Table 51 between the directions in which the monthly and annual data of our six test series move.

The direction of movement *within* years can be judged from the specific cycles marked off in the monthly data. In other words, we consider the direction as upward throughout a specific-cycle expansion and as downward throughout a contraction; the month-to-month flutterings within a specific-cycle phase are disregarded. When a specific-cycle expansion continues for a major fraction of a year, or when there are at least seven months of expansion interrupted by a brief contraction, we say that the 'prevailing' direction within the year is upward. When cyclical contraction covers seven or more months, we say that the prevailing direction within the year is downward. Under this rule, some 8 or 10 per cent of the years covered by our sample lack a prevailing direction; we may speak of them as 'neutral' years. In this way we have 'classified both the calendar and the fiscal years (that is, years ending in June) covered by the monthly data of each of the six test series.

The direction of movement *between* years has been judged similarly from the specific-cycle expansions and contractions we recognize in the annual data. Two interpretations may be placed on these year-to-year changes. First, it may be assumed that the change from one calendar year to the next indicates the prevailing direction of movement *within* the second year. Let us call this assumption I. Its graphic equivalent is that the annual entries are plotted at the ends of calendar years. Comparisons of annual movements between calendar years with the monthly movements prevailing within calendar years appear in columns (4) to (6) of Table 51. Second, it may be assumed that the change from one calendar year to the next indicates the prevailing direction of movement *within* the 'fiscal year' that begins in July of the first and ends in June of the second year. Call this assumption II. Its graphic equivalent is that the annual data are

8 But the customary graphic presentation leads to errors less frequently than the verbal statement, as is demonstrated later,

#### EFFECTS OF THE TIME UNIT

#### TABLE 51

#### Comparison of the Directions of Movement of Monthly and Annual Data Six American Series

			No. of ye	ars in which p	orevail	ing direction o	of monthly day	a
		No.	During a gi	ven calendar	year	During a	given fiscal ye	ar
Series	Period covered	of years cov- ered	Agrees with change of annual data from preceding	Disagrees with change of annual data from preceding	Is lack- ing	Agrees with change of annual data between overlapping	Disagrees with change of annual data between overlapping	Is lack- ing
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
Deflated clearings	1878-1933	55	41	9	5	47	4	4
Pig iron production	1879-1933	54	33	15	6	41	4	9
Railroad stock prices.	1857-1932	75	52	14	9	69	3	3
Shares traded	1878-1933	55	35	16	4	42	9	4
Call money rates	1858-1931	73	54	13	6	64	3	6
Railroad bond yields.	1860-1931	71	53	9	9	61	4	6
Six series								
Absolute number		383	268	76	39	324	27	32
Percentage		100.0	70.0	19.8	10.2	84.6	7.0	8.4

The first entry in col. (2) is the year of the initial trough of the first full cycle covered by the monthly analysis; the second entry is the year in which the terminal trough of the last full cycle occurs. The heading of col. (4)-(6) relates to the period in col. (2) except the first year. The heading of col. (7)-(9) relates to a period starting and ending six months earlier than is covered by col. (4)-(6). In making this table we took account of several peaks at the ends of the series.

As explained in the text, the 'prevailing' direction of monthly data during a year is that which dominates seven months or more of the year. The rise or fall during the year need not be continuous; for example, if the monthly data reach a specific-cycle peak in April and a trough three months later, the prevailing direction during the calendar year is considered as upward. A rise from a trough in January to a peak in July is counted as six months, although seven monthly entries fall within the segment including the trough and peak dates. Similarly, if the rise begins before the given calendar year, culminates in a July peak, and is followed by a decline during the remainder of the year, six months are allotted to expansion and five months to contraction. We consider such a year as not having a prevailing direction of movement. Like rules govern the movements of monthly data in fiscal years, that is, years ending in June.

"That is, between the calendar years overlapping the fiscal year.

plotted at the centers of the calendar years. Comparisons of annual movements between calendar years with the monthly movements prevailing within the overlapping fiscal years appear in columns (7) to (9). Of course the results of both sets of comparisons are subject to the uncertainties that beset efforts to identify the specific cycles of time series. Revisions might remove some of the differences between the directions in which the annual and monthly data are said to move; but they might equally well introduce some differences where we now find agreements.

The table demonstrates that the prevailing direction of the monthly data differs from the direction of the annual data in an appreciable fraction of the years covered by our sample, but that the differences are more numerous if we make assumption I than if we make assumption II. If we interpret the changes between calendar-year figures as representing the prevailing direction of movement within calendar years, our test series indicate that we shall be right in 70 per cent of the years. But if we interpret the changes between calendar-year figures as representing the prevailing direction of movements within fiscal years, we shall be right 85 per cent of the time. For future guidance we add an obvious inference:

when fo shall en the pre frequen of move The II is eas month u (b) that by unifo same: ar calendar or some ing the rule, and diction or equal monthly the peak under ou exceeds b comparis likely to: tion I. A annual d of the cy not linea and two imaginar assumption Gran 51 that as of the cyc assumption Wrong co years if a ments of t yielded by years, that series run and that i ment. Cal the real er tion of mo

when forced to work with data that run by fiscal years ending in June, we shall err frequently if we interpret their year-to-year changes as showing the prevailing direction of movement within calendar years, but less frequently than if we interpret them as showing the prevailing direction of movement within fiscal years.

The reason assumption I leads to more serious errors than assumption II is easily explained. Suppose (a) that a series reaches a peak in some month within two calendar years, but makes no other turn in this period; (b) that the series rises to a peak by uniform increments, then falls away by uniform decrements; (c) that the rates of rise and fall need not be the same; and (d) that the average value of the series is higher in the second calendar year than in the first. If the peak comes in May of the second year or some earlier month, the prevailing direction of the monthly data during the second calendar year will be downward under our seven-month rule, and thus contradict the rise assumed in the annual data. A contradiction can occur whether the monthly rate of decline exceeds, is less than, or equals the rate of rise. But to produce a seven-month decline in the monthly data during the fiscal year overlapping the two calendar years, the peak must come not later than November of the first calendar year; under our assumptions this can happen only if the rate of rise to the peak exceeds by some margin the rate of decline after the peak. It follows that comparisons of monthly and annual data based on assumption II are less likely to show differences of direction than comparisons based on assumption I. A similar argument may be formulated regarding declines in annual data associated with troughs in monthly data. Of course, the path of the cyclical expansions and contractions of our test series is usually not linear, erratic movements diversify the expansions and contractions, and two cyclical turns occur in some years; but these differences from our imaginary series are not more favorable to the comparisons based on assumption II than to the comparisons based on assumption I.

Granted the representativeness of our sample, it appears from Table 51 that assumption I leads to wrong conclusions concerning the direction of the cyclical tide prevailing within years three times out of ten, while assumption II leads to wrong conclusions three times out of twenty. Wrong conclusions are likely to be drawn in a still greater proportion of years if annual data are used to compare the direction of cyclical movements of two or more series *within* successive years. In line with the results yielded by assumption I, let us suppose that series A and B both cover 100 years, that the prevailing movement within 20 calendar years of each series runs counter to the change of annual data from the preceding year, and that in another ten years of each series there is no prevailing movement. Call the changes in the annual data in these 30 years 'errors', though the real error lies in treating year-to-year movements as showing the direction of movements within years. If the errors in the two series all occur in

## al Data

monthly data							
ven fiscal year							
Disagrees with change of annual ata between verlapping cal. years <sup>a</sup> (8)	Is lack- ing (9)						
4	4						
4	9						
- 3	3						
9	4						
3	6						
4	6						
27	32						
7.0	8.4						

monthly analysis; ing of col. (4)-(6) criod starting and it of several peaks

a dominates seven ble, if the monthly ection during the ted as six months, Similarly, if the ecline during the consider such a monthly data in

nual moveprevailing ). Of course ncertainties . Revisions n which the qually well

he monthly ciable fraces are more on II. If we senting the r test series if we intering the prebe right 85 inference: different years, which is unlikely, there will be 60 errors in the comparison. If the years of error in the two series coincide, which is still less likely, only 15 errors in the comparison are to be expected.<sup>9</sup> If the errors in the two series are not correlated, which seems the most reasonable assumption, the expectation is that invalid comparisons will number about 46 in 100, or nearly half of the total.<sup>10</sup> Table 52 shows the actual number of valid and invalid comparisons for every possible pair of our six series. The number of invalid comparisons ranges from 36 to 56 per cent for the individual pairs, and is 45 per cent on the average.<sup>11</sup>

**9** Of the 30 years in which errors occur in A, 10 have no prevailing direction. The like applies to B. The probability that both A and B will have no prevailing direction in any year of the 30 is therefore 1/9; the probability that both will have a prevailing direction in any year is 4/9; the probability that A or B but not both will have a prevailing direction in any year is also 4/9.

In the years of error in which the monthly data of both A and B have a prevailing direction, the comparison of annual data must be valid despite the errors in each series taken separately; that is, the comparisons will show correctly the presence or absence of agreement in prevailing directions. The number of such years is 4/9 of 30. On the other hand, the comparison of annual data must be invalid in years in which one of the two series has no prevailing direction; for annual data invariably move up or down, our criteria of movement being the expansions and contractions of the specific cycles distinguished in the annual series. The number of such invalid comparisons is also 4/9 of the total. The remaining 1/9 are years in which both A and B have no prevailing direction. We may expect these years to be divided equally between valid and invalid comparisons: the annual comparison will be valid if the changes in A and B are in the same direction, it will be invalid if the changes are in opposite directions. The expected number of wrong annual comparisons is therefore 30 (4/9 + 1/18) or 15, which is also the expected number of valid comparisons in the 30 years considered.

10 The expected number of years in which an error occurs in A but not in B is  $100 (3/10 \times 7/10) = 21$ . The expected number of years in which an error occurs in B but not in A is likewise 21. In these 42 years the annual comparison is invalid. The expected number of years in which an error occurs in both is  $100 (3/10 \times 3/10) = 9$ . As explained in the preceding note, the comparison will be valid in one-half of the 9 years, and invalid in the remaining half. Hence the expected number of invalid comparisons is 46.5 per 100. This result is based on what we have called assumption I. If, instead, we adopt assumption II, the expected number of invalid comparisons is 26.6 per 100. See also the next note.

11 The comparison of year-to-year changes in direction of two annual series is considered valid in Table 52 if (a) the direction of movement in each annual series of the pair is correct according to the monthly data; or (b) if the direction of movement of each annual series is opposite to that of the monthly data (for in that case the annual comparison will still show correctly whether the two monthly series moved in the same or opposite directions); or (c) if both annual series show the same direction while both monthly series lack a 'prevailing' direction (for, once again, the annual series indicate agreement when agreement. in a technical sense, exists in fact according to monthly data). The comparison of year-to-year changes in direction of two annual series is considered invalid if (d) the direction of one is opposite to that of the monthly data while the direction of the other is the same as that of the monthly data; or (e) if one monthly series not an invalid are apreailing direction (for in that case annual data will show that both series moved in similar or opposite directions, whereas in fact one series lacks a prevailing direction); or (f) if the two annual series move in opposite directions when both monthly series lack a prevailing direction.

Of course, the calculations could be made on a different principle. Thus the number of valid comparisons might be :estricted to type (a), in which case the annual showing would be still worse. On the other hand, the inevitable failure of two annual series to match a 'quasi-inverted' relation of the corresponding monthly series (that is, one having and the other lacking a prevailing direction) might be given a smaller weight than the failure of annual series to report correctly similar or oppresite movements of monthly series; if this were done the showing of annual data would be improved.

Note, finally, that the calculations in Table 52 are restricted to what we have called assumption I, that the results are roughly consistent with the expectations developed in the preceding note, and that the expectation based on assumption II is also stated in that note.

Con

Pa

Iron output Iron output Iron output Iron output Stock prices

Stock prices Stock prices Shares trade Shares trade Call rates & b

See text, espec

An invest on the ba time unit to the con analyzing monthly specific cv in the pre In ma every rise range of movemen movemen contractio exception that is, the iron prodi

## NUMBER OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

e compariless likely, rors in the le assumpbout 46 in iumber of six series. ent for the

applies to B. of the 30 is ar. is 4/9; the lso 4/9. ing direction, en separately; in prevailing son of annual on; for annual d contractions comparisons no prevailing comparisons: ion, it will be nual compariparisons in the

 $(0 \times 7/10) = 21$ . se 21. In these in error occurs will be valid nber of invalid I. If, instead, 0. See also the

Idered valid in ct according to pposite to that ly whether the series show the in, the annual ing to monthly sidered invalid on of the other ks a prevailing opposite direcpal series move

umber of valid be still worse. verted' relation revailing direcprrectly similar data would be

called assumption the preceding

TABLE 52

Comparison of the Directions of Movement of Two Series in Annual Form with the Directions of the Same Series in Monthly Form Every Pair of Six American Series

		No. of	Agreement or disagreement in direction of year-to-year changes of two annual series is					
Paired series	covered	years covered	Confir month	med by ly data	Contradicted by monthly data			
			No. of years	Per cent of years	No. of years	Per cent of years		
Clearings & iron output	1880-1933	54	33	61.1	21	38.9		
Clearings & stock prices	1879-1932	54	31	57.4	23	42.6		
Clearings & shares traded	1879-1933	55	30	54.5	25	45.5		
Clearings & call rates	1879-1931	53	34	64.2	19	35.8		
Clearings & bond yields	1879-1931	53	32	60.4	21	39.6		
Iron output & stock prices	1880-1932	53	32	60.4	21	39.6		
Iron output & shares traded	1880-1933	54	24	44.4	30	55.6		
Iron output & call rates	1880-1931	52	24	46.2	28	53.8		
Iron output & bond yields	1880-1931	52	23	44.2	29	55.8		
Stock prices & shares traded	1879-1932	54	31	57.4	23	42.6		
Stock prices & call rates	1859-1931	73	39	53.4	34	46.6		
Stock prices & bond yields	1861-1931	71	39	54.9	32	45.1		
Shares traded & call rates.	1879-1931	53	28	52.8	25	47.2		
Shares traded & bond yields	1879-1931	53	29	54.7	24	45.3		
Call rates & bond yields	1861-1931	71	42	59.2	29	40.8		
Total		855	471	55.1	384	44.9		

See text, especially note 11; also note to Table 51.

## IV The Number of Specific Cycles

An investigator who relies upon annual data must mark off specific cycles on the basis of what he can see in these materials. To find what effect the time unit has upon cyclical measurements, we should subject ourselves to the conditions under which such an investigator works; that is, when analyzing annual data we should not use the fuller knowledge supplied by monthly figures. We have attempted to follow this rule in marking off specific cycles in annual data; and our decisions have already been applied in the preceding analysis of the direction of cyclical movements.

In marking off specific cycles in annual data our general rule is to treat every rise or fall as cyclical, except when it is well below the typical range of movements characteristic of the series. We ignored only five movements in our test series. in each instance on the ground that the movement seemed to be a triffing pause within a cyclical expansion or contraction. After the work had been done, we found that two of these exceptions were valid according to our analysis of the monthly series; that is, there seems to be only a single cycle between 1914 and 1919 in pig iron production, and between 1899 and 1905 in railroad bond yields. The

remaining three exceptions come in railroad bond yields, and our decisions in these instances are wrong if the decisions based on the monthly data are right.<sup>12</sup> If we had treated every rise or fall in annual data, however slight, as a cyclical movement, we should have a slightly different set of specific cycles. A shift in the method of marking off cycles would therefore blur some of our detailed results; but it could not affect the substance of the argument in this chapter.<sup>13</sup>

When annual data fail to reflect two consecutive cyclical turns in monthly data, they skip a contraction or an expansion and therefore have one cycle less than the monthly data. Of the 218 cyclical turns <sup>14</sup> in our six series, 39 are skipped and there is a resulting loss of 20 specific cycles in the annual records.<sup>15</sup> But annual data sometimes show 'extra' cycles, and they may do so frequently if erratic movements are very large in relation to the cyclical movements. When war broke out in 1914, the interest rate on call loans shot up from 2.88 in July to 6.87 the following month, but

12 The magnitude of the movements disregarded in bond yields is shown by the following figures:

Year	Average yield (per cent)	Per cent change
1872	6.185	±0 K
1876	5.168	10.5
1877	5.178	+0.2
1900 1901	3.182 3.181	-0.03
1913	4.057	
1914	4.046	0.3

The rise between 1917 and 1918 in iron production, which we have also disregarded, is 0.8 per cent. Its magnitude in relation to that of other fluctuations in the series may be judged from Chart 23. <sup>13</sup> To test the consequences of a shift in method, we took another sample of sixteen long series. We recognized 228 specific cycles in this group, and disregarded 17 trifling movements. Upon checking the latter against the lists of specific cycles in the monthly series, we found that nine were cyclical and eight were not. Thus the larger sample confirms the one analyzed in this chapter: by treating every movement in annual data, however small, as cyclical, we would increase the number of specific cycles, but about half of the increase would consist of spurious movements. (For the

analysis of this additional sample, we are indebted to Julius Shiskin.) The recognition of every rise or fall in annual data as a cyclical movement dispenses with judgment. Further, in series with slight or no erratic movements, the 'mechanical' method is superior to ours in that it tends to make the average duration of specific cycles approach more closely the average yielded by monthly data. Our method, on the other hand, tends to give closer approximations to the average amplitudes of monthly data. When a series is characterized by erratic movements that are violent relatively to the cyclical movements, numerous changes in annual data may not be cyclical; so that the mechanical method may yield poorer estimates of both the average duration and the average amplitude of specific cycles.

14 This count is based on complete positive cycles. If the first full specific-cycle phase of the monthly data is a contraction or if the last full phase is an expansion, it is ignored in the analysis of this chapter. The exclusions may be identified from Chart 53. For the periods covered in our analysis of the six series, see Table 55.

15 In pig iron production the annual data skip the initial trough but reflect the peak of the 'first' cycle (1879-85) in the monthly data; that means, of course, that they skip also the peak preceding the first cycle, and explains why an odd number of turns in our monthly analysis is skipped. See Chart 23.

by Decem random m annual ave declines to ber 1911.1 divided in 1913 (troi skipped cy monthly a In gene movement of the turn underlying factor is th lasting twe than one la lasting six. in annual are import their impo of turning the year that phase that annual dat are sharply than if it is than if it i sure what a exactly how tell with an many or fer smaller that from errati In our are usually monthsor data. On th 16 The figures

17 See above, S 18 This is the o data unadjuste influence the n tions and ampl trend is declini Sec. VII, where

## NUMBER OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

by December it was lower than in July.<sup>16</sup> Annual data convert this violent random movement into a bulge that looks like a genuine cycle: the annual average is raised from 3.19 in 1913 to 3.46 in 1914, after which it declines to 1.91 in 1915. Thus the specific cycle with a trough in November 1911, peak in December 1912, and trough in November 1915 gets subdivided in the annual series into two cycles: 1911 (trough), 1912 (peak), 1913 (trough), 1914 (peak), 1915 (trough). The extra cycle plus 20 skipped cycles make 21 discrepancies between the specific cycles in the monthly and annual data; the net difference is 19.

In general, when annual summations are struck the fate of a cyclical movement depends on (1) its duration, (2) its amplitude, (3) the timing of the turns, (4) the pattern of the movement, (5) the steepness of the underlying trend, (6) the nature of the erratic fluctuations. The basic factor is the duration of the cyclical phase. Other things equal, a phase lasting twelve months has a better chance of turning up in annual data than one lasting nine months, and a phase lasting nine months than one lasting six. A phase lasting well over a year is reasonably certain to appear in annual data whatever its other characteristics may be. Factors (2)-(5) are important in short phases, and the shorter the phase the greater is their importance. Given the duration, a brief phase has a better chance of turning up in annual figures if it begins or ends around the middle of the year than if it begins or ends at the boundaries of the year.<sup>17</sup> A cyclical phase that laps over two years has a better chance of turning up in the annual data if the peak and trough zones are gently rounded than if they are sharply angular. The chances are also better if its amplitude is large than if it is small relatively to a given trend; or if the trend is moderate than if it is steep relatively to a given amplitude.<sup>18</sup> Since no one can be sure what annual figures will do to a cyclical movement unless he knows exactly how the six factors combine to shape the movement, no one can tell with any certainty by examining annual data alone whether they skip many or few cycles; or which cyclical movements are larger and which are smaller than the hidden movements, or which movements, if any, spring from erratic fluctuations.

In our sample the expansions or contractions skipped by annual data are usually brief and mild (Tables 53-54). No movement lasting over 16 months or having an amplitude of more than 66 points is erased by annual data. On the other hand, 9 of the 15 phases lasting less than 9 months and

16 The figures cited are monthly averages, seasonally adjusted.

17 See above, Sec. II.

18 This is the only way in which the secular trend influences directly the number of cycles in annual data unadjusted for trend, the form in which we usually analyze time series. But secular trends influence the number of cycles also indirectly, since the retention of trends tends to reduce durations and amplitudes—of contractions in monthly series if the trend is rising, of expansions if the trend is declining. These effects are already allowed for in factors (1) and (2). See Ch. 7, especially Sec. VII, where cycles of monthly and annual data are compared in trend-adjusted form.

d our decihe monthly l data, howdifferent set yould thereect the sub-

al turns in refore have if in our six ic cycles in cycles, and in relation hterest rate nonth, but

wing figures:

is 0.8 per cent. om Chart 23. ong series. We Jpon checking were cyclical r: by treating he number of ents. (For the

lispenses with tod is superior the closely the trapproximaerratic movetual data may the average

the monthly alysis of this our analysis

of the 'first' ak preceding skipped. See

## EFFECTS OF THE TIME UNIT

## TABLE 53

#### Characteristics of Cyclical Phases Skipped by Annual Data Six American Series

	Characteristics of skipped phase			Number of expansions or contractions that are not skipped although they are of					
Series and skipped phase	Na-	Dura- tion	Ampli- tude in specific-	Equal or shorter duration		Equal or smaller amplitude		Shorter duration & smaller amplitude	Smaller size <sup>d</sup>
		(mos.)	mos.) cycle relatives		In six series	In same series	In six series	In six	seri <b>e</b> s
DEFLATED CLEARINGS									
June 1887 – Mar. 1888	С	9	6	4	20	2	11	1	4
July 1903 - May 1904	С	10	6	5	23	2	11	1	4
Mar. 1910 - Oct. 1910	С	7	3	4	14		1		
Aug. 1918 - Dec. 1918	С	4	5	1	3	• •	4		
May 1923 - Sep. 1923	С	4	6	1	3	2	11		1
PIG IRON PRODUCTION <sup>b</sup>									
Oct. 1887 - Mar. 1888	С	5	26		4	2	66	1	19
Dec. 1899 - Oct. 1900	С	10	30	5	23	2	74	9	43
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES									
Oct. 1857 – Mar. 1858	E	5	18		4	12	50	••	11
Apr. 1900 - Sep. 1900	С	5	5		4	• •	4	• -	1
CALL MONEY RATES									
Jan. 1876 – Sep. 1876	C	8	52	1	18	7	110	8	62
Jan. 1878 – Sep. 1878	C	8	66	1	18	10	129	12	72
May 1882 – Sep. 1882	E	4	60	1	3	7	116	1	35
Aug. 1918 – Dec. 1918	C	4	31	1 1	3	1	/5	1	19
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS									
Jan. 1864 – July 1864	C	6	13	• • • •	10	22	36	••	10
Nov. 1866 - Dec. 1867	E	13	3	7	48	1	1	•••	1
July 1872 - Nov. 1873°	E	16	5	13	73	4	4	1	11
Aug. 1876 - Apr. 1877°	E	ð	2	2	18	••	••		••
Dec. 1913 – June 1914°		0	2	•••	10				
Sep. 1918 - Nov. 1918	L L	_ 2	•		1	12	1/		··

For periods covered, see Table 55. There are no entries for shares traded, since annual data reflect every specific cycle in this series.

C stands for specific-cycle contraction, E for expansion.

<sup>b</sup>See note 15. <sup>o</sup>See note 12.

<sup>d</sup>See note 19.

having an amplitude under 20 points, and all 3 phases lasting less than 5 months and with an amplitude under 10 points, are wiped out. But we also find that for every movement skipped by a series, there are usually several, sometimes many, phases of equal or shorter duration, or of equal or smaller amplitude, that are not skipped. Some skipped phases are both longer and larger movements than other phases that are not skipped. To cite an example, annual data on pig iron production wipe out the contraction of 1899–1900, which lasted 10 months and attained an amplitude of 30 points. Fully 9 movements in our six series are reflected in annual records although they have both shorter durations and smaller amplitudes than this contraction in the iron series. And the number swells to 43 if the 'size' of cyclical movements is judged from an index that assigns equal

# Joi

Amplitude o in specificrelative Under 10 -20 -30 -40 -50 -60 -Over

Total.... Based on six An by annual data For the periods

weight to times defe too small ments ma as his guid 1899–190 ments in c Table terly, and ber of cyc one-third; from mon

19 The 'size' index of size r is 300 for the are not skipp last column of 20 In the samp the annual da cycles; hence series of narro cycles may ea slightly from sponding turn chapter (see both are adjud is 26 per cent.

## NUMBER OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

#### TABLE 54

Joint Distribution of Durations and Amplitudes of All Cyclical Phases and Those Skipped by Annual Data

tions that are are of Shorter uration

smalle

mplitude In six series

1

- 1

1

8

12

1

Smaller

4 4

1 19

43 11

1

62

72

35

19

10

1

11

. .

. .

ect every specific

less than 5

but. But we

are usually

or of equal

ses are both

kipped. To

ut the con-

amplitude

d in annual

amplitudes

ells to 43 if

signs.equal

sized

Amplitude of phase		Duration of phase in months							
relatives	Under 5	5-8	9-12	13-16	Over 16	Total			
Under 10	3 (3)	7 (4)	5 (2)	8 (2)	7 (0)	30 (11)			
10 - 19	0 (0)	5 (2)	4 (0)	8 (0)	19 (0)	36 (2)			
20 - 29	1 (0)	3 (1)	0 (0)	2 (0)	13 (0)	19 (1)			
30 - 39	1 (1)	0 (0)	2 (1)	5 (0)	10 (0)	18 (2)			
40 - 49	0 (0)	2 (0)	4 (0)	1 (0)	11 (0)	18 (0)			
50 - 59	0 (0)	3 (1)	0 (0)	2 (0)	6 (0)	11 (1)			
60 - 69	2 (1)	3 (1)	2 (0)	1 (0)	9 (0)	17 (2)			
Over 69	1 (0)	1 (0)	6 (0)	10 (0)	45 (0)	63 (0)			
Total	8 (5)	24 (9)	23 (3)	37 (2)	120 (0)	212 (19)			

Based on six American series. The figures in parentheses show the number of expansions or contractions skipped by annual data; those not in parentheses show the full number, whether skipped or not, in complete positive cycles. For the periods covered, see Table 55; see also note 15.

weight to their duration and amplitude.<sup>19</sup> The use of annual data is sometimes defended on the ground that they wipe out movements that are too small 'to matter'. Of course, everyone is free to decide what movements matter for his purposes; but the investigator who takes annual data as his guide will be frequently misled-he will ignore the contraction of 1899-1900 in iron production and lavish attention on 43 smaller movements in our test series.

Table 55 shows the number of specific cycles in the monthly, quarterly, and annual forms of each of our series. The fraction of the net number of cycles lost in annual data ranges in different series from zero to one-third; the fraction lost in the six series is nearly one-fifth.<sup>20</sup> The shift from monthly to quarterly data affects the number of specific cycles in the

19 The 'size' of a cyclical movement depends on its duration, amplitude, and pattern. A rough index of size may be obtained by multiplying the duration of a phase by its amplitude. This index is 300 for the contraction in iron production from 1899 to 1900. In all, 43 cyclical movements that are not skipped by the annual data of our six test series have smaller indexes. The entries in the last column of Table 53 are made on this plan. See also below, Sec. X1.

20 In the sample referred to in note 13, there are 249 specific cycles in the monthly and 226 cycles in the annual data. The annual data 'skip' 37 cycles in the monthly data, but show 14 'extra' specific cycles; hence the net loss of specific cycles is only about one-tenth. This sample is dominated by series of narrow coverage characterized by large erratic fluctuations. In series of this type spurious cycles may easily appear in annual data. (The number of annual cycles given in this note differs slightly from that in note 13. Here the count starts and ends with specific cycles having corresponding turns in the annual and monthly series.) A sample of six series analyzed in the next chapter (see Table 103) shows 8 per cent fewer cycles in annual than in monthly series when both are adjusted for secular trend. The corresponding loss in annual data not adjusted for trend is 26 per cent. (Three series in the latter group are included in the sample analyzed in this chapter.)

#### ÉFFECTS OF THE TIME UNIT

same direction as the shift from monthly to annual data but in much slighter degree.<sup>21</sup> Only two specific-cycle movements are lost, the contractions in clearings and call money rates in 1918. Both contractions are exceptionally brief and mild: we might have disregarded them even in the monthly series, were it not for our practice of relaxing rules in the case of dubious but conforming movements in series that on the whole conform well to business cycles.

	TABLE 55							
Number of Specific	Cycles in Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data							
Six American Series								

	Period	Number of specific cycles						
Series	covered	Ac	tual num	bers	Relatives of monthly			
	cycles	М	Q	A	М	Q	A	
Deflated clearings	1878-1933	15	14	10	100	93	67	
Pig iron production	1879-1933	15	15	12	100	100	80	
Railroad stock prices	1857-1932	18	18	16	100	100	89	
Shares traded	1878-1933	15	15	15	100	100	100	
Call money rates	1858-1931	23	22	20	100	96	87	
Railroad bond yields	1860-1931	20	20	14	100	100	70	
Total	•	106	104	87	100	98	82	

M stands for monthly data, Q for quarterly, A for annual. The number of cycles in the quarterly and annual data is the number of complete cycles, taken positively, within the periods covered by the monthly cycles. See Table 57.

# V Duration of Specific Cycles

Just as lengths of objects are known less precisely if measured to the nearest foot than to the nearest inch, so measures of cyclical duration are less precise if made to the nearest year than to the nearest month. But there is this difference between the two: telegraph poles are the same poles whether measured in feet or in inches, but cycles are not the same cycles when measured in years as when measured in months, except, of course, when an investigator merely 'rounds' observations of monthly data. The measures of duration made from annual data are thus less precise in two senses: first, they are expressed in a coarser unit; second, this unit changes the form of the cycles—a substantial number of specific cycles are obliterated and those that are left are modified. We may call the first the 'precision effect', and the second the 'twisting effect'.

The two effects are illustrated in Table 56. The table presents three types of duration measures for successive specific cycles in pig iron production: the monthly measures as they come, the monthly measures read

<sup>21</sup> In marking off cycles in quarterly data we took full notice of our monthly decisions. That step is not inconsistent with our treatment of annual data. Borderline cases in monthly data may or may not match borderline cases in annual data. But a borderline case in a monthly series is usually a borderline case also in a quarterly series, and vice versa. To isolate the influence of the time unit upon cyclical measures, it seemed best to treat the borderline case similarly.

Spec

measures effects in the neare and one of the loss of clearly d annual d For exam duction i 3-year con The t regard to and the c is 2.4 mo tions, and

22 Where do of 6 months 6 is 6 month our sample.

## DURATION OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

#### TABLE 56

#### Duration of Specific Cycles Measured by Different Methods Pig Iron Production, United States, 1879–1933

	Duration in months ascertained from									
Specific	Monthly data			Month to th	y duration e nearest	ns read year	Annual data			
	Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Full cycle	Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Full cycle	Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Full cycle	
1879–1885	49	23	72	48	24	72	(°)	12ª	(°)	
1885–1888 1888–1891	33 26	5 11	38 37	36 24	0 12	36 36	{72	12	84}	
1891-1893	10	20	30	12	24	24 or 36	12	24	36	
1893–1896	25	11	36	24	12	36	12	12	24	
1896–1900 1900–1903	38 32	10 6	48 38	36 36	12 0 or 12	48 36	{84	12	96}	
1903-1908	43	6	49	48	0 or 12	48	36	12	48	
1908-1910	24	11	35	24	12	36	24	12	36	
1910–1914	25	23	48	24	24	48	24	12	36	
1914–1919	45	8	53	48	12	48	24	36	60	
1919-1921	16	10	26	12	12	24	12	12	24	
1921-1924	22	14	30	24	12	26	24	12	36	
1924-1927	24	10	64	24	12	60	24	36	60	
1927-1933	20	77	04	24	40		27	50	00	
Average <sup>b</sup> All cycles	28. <b>8</b>	14.5	43.3	29.6	15.2	42.0	31.0	17.0	48.0	
10 corresponding cycles	25.4	16.3	41.7	26.4	17.4	40.2	21.6	18.0	39.6	

\* Years of the initial and terminal troughs of the specific cycles in monthly data.

<sup>b</sup> Where double entries occur, we used their mean in computing the mean of the column.

<sup>e</sup> See note 15. <sup>d</sup> Excluded from average.

to the nearest year—which show the 'precision effect', and the annual measures taken as they come—which show the 'precision' and 'twisting' effects in combination. If cyclical durations of monthly data are read to the nearest year, we cannot distinguish between a duration of 7 months and one of 17 months or between a duration of 19 months and one of 29; the loss of information may be serious but at least the margins of error are clearly defined. When cyclical durations are measured directly from annual data, the margins of error are indefinite and may be enormous. For example, the 45-month expansion of the 1914–19 cycle in iron production is replaced by a 2-year expansion, the 8-month contraction by a 3-year contraction, and the 53-month cycle by a 5-year cycle.

The mean 'precision effect' may be gauged by averaging, without regard to sign, the differences between cyclical durations of monthly data and the corresponding durations read to the nearest year.<sup>22</sup> This average is 2.4 months for the 45 observations covering all expansions, contractions, and full cycles in iron production, and 2.5 months for the 10 cycles

ut in much the contracractions are em even in s in the case whole con-

Data

L						
es of m	es of monthly					
Q	<u>A</u>					
93	67					
100	80					
100	89					
100	100					
96	87					
100	70					
ş						
98	82					

terly and annual nthly cycles. See

red to the uration are nonth. But same poles same cycles , of course, data. The

cise in two hit changes are obliterst the 'pre-

sents three g iron proasures read

is. That step is ta may or may ies is usually a the time unit

<sup>22</sup> Where double entries occur in Table 56, we use both, each weighted one-half. Thus a duration of 6 months is '0 or 12' when read to the nearest year; hence the difference between '0 or 12' and 6 is 6 months. The expected 'precision effect' is 3 months in general, or somewhat higher than in our sample.

#### EFFECTS OF THE TIME UNIT

that match the cycles in annual data. Similarly, the 'twisting effect' may be gauged from the differences between the cyclical durations of annual data and the corresponding monthly measures read to the nearest year; this average is 4.8 months for the 10 cycles common to the monthly and annual lists. In other words, the twisting effect is nearly twice as large as the precision effect even if the most flagrant form of twisting—the obliteration of cycles—is disregarded. Averages made on the above plan do not allow opposite errors in single cycles to cancel out; the averages for all cycles at the bottom of Table 56 show that when such cancellation is allowed, the twisting effect remains larger than the precision effect.

Table 57 shows the effects of the annual time unit on average cyclical durations in each of our six series. One effect is obvious: the average dura-

AB	LΕ	57
----	----	----

#### Average Duration of Specific Cycles in Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data Six American Series

			Duration of specific cycles in months					
Series and	Period	No. of		Average		Aver	age devia	tion
form of data	covered	cycles	Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Full cycle	Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Full cycle
DEFLATED CLEARINGS								
Monthly	1878-1933	15	32.6	11.4	44.0	9.9	6.5	11.6
Quarterly	1878-1932	14	34.7	12.0	46.7	10.8	6.4	14.3
Annual	1878-1933	10	49.2	16.8	66.0	27.6	7.7	30.0
PIG IRON PRODUCTION								
Monthly	1879-1933	15	28.8	14.5	43.3	9.0	7.1	9.9
Quarterly	1879-1933	15	28.6	14.6	43.2	9.1	6.8	9.6
Annual	1884-1932	12	31.0	17.0	48.0	16.5	7.5	18.0
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES								
Monthly	1857-1932	18	28.8	21.0	49.8	16.0	12.1	22.6
Quarterly	1857-1932	18	28.8	20.8	49.7	16.4	11.8	22.1
Annual	1859-1932	16	30.0	24.8	54.8	20.2	10.2	28.2
SHARES TRADED								
Monthly	1878–1933	15	17.9	26.2	44.1	8.0	9.1	11.0
Quarterly	1878–1933	15	16.6	27.4	44.0	9.3	10.1	11.6
Annual	1878-1932	15	20.8	22.4	43.2	10.6	5.5	12.8
CALL MONEY RATES								
Monthly	1858-1931	23	19.9	18.0	37.9	7.6	6.4	8.6
Quarterly	1858-1931	22	21.7	18.0	39.7	8.0	6.8	10.2
Annual	1858-1931	20	25.2	18.6	43.8	7.9	7.3	11.8
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS								
Monthly	1860-1931	20	21.0	21.4	42.4	9.0	11.3	12.6
Quarterly	1860-1931	20	20.6	21.9	42.4	8.7	11.0	12.4
Annual	1860-1931	14	27.4	33.4	60.9	15.2	18.6	20.1
			Per	centage e:	ccess of	annual o	ver month	ly
Deflated clearings			+51	+47	+50	+179	+18	+159
Pig iron production			+8	+17	+11	+83	+6	+82
Railroad stock prices.			+4	+18	+10	+26	-16	+25
Shares traded			+16	-15	-2	+32	-40	+16
Call money rates	. <b></b>		+27	+3	+16	+4	+14	+37
Railroad bond yields			+30	+56	+44	+69	+65	+60

tion of annual mately by the make th 'precisio posite r ency of monthly cycles. I average means. traction on the w sions or and twis short that Just measure Sometin month o in the q differ sti or the en fault. In duration for all cy and call quarterl We dist sparingl ence dat leads an

sixth exc series can nual seri lead or economi ness cycl infants.

## DURATION OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

223

tion of full cycles is increased, the ratio of the average derived from annual data to the average derived from monthly data being approximately equal to the reciprocal of the fraction of specific cycles preserved by the annual data. Another and less obvious result is that annual data make the durations more uneven than they are in the monthly data. The 'precision' and 'twisting' effects combine to produce this result. An opposite result is conceivable; but it cannot be very frequent since the tendency of annual data to combine two and sometimes three cycles in monthly data into a single unit is unrelated to the length of the monthly cycles. In every series covered by our sample, annual data increase the average deviations of full cycles both absolutely and in proportion to the means. The effects of annual data on the phases of expansion and contraction are less predictable than the effects on full cycles. For they depend on the way in which specific cycles are lost-whether by skipping expansions or contractions-as well as on the number lost. Both the precision and twisting effects of annual data tend to be proportionately larger in short than in long durations, hence in cycle phases than in full cycles.

Just as annual measures of duration are less precise than monthly measures, so also are quarterly measures, though in much smaller degree. Sometimes the twisting effect stands out clearly; for example, the twomonth contraction of clearings in 1907 becomes a six-month contraction in the quarterly data. At other times monthly and quarterly durations differ still more, but it is problematical whether the quarterly summation or the erratic movements in the vicinity of the turns are principally at fault. In any event, the differences between the monthly and quarterly durations of single cycles practically disappear when averages are struck for all cycles in a series. The only noticeable differences are in clearings and call money rates, which lose one cycle by the shift from monthly to quarterly data.

## VI Timing of Specific Cycles

We distrust leads or lags determined from annual data and use them sparingly. The reason is that leads or lags of specific-cycle turns at reference dates are usually minor fractions of a year. More than half of the leads and lags in our test series are six months or shorter; only about a sixth exceed a year (Table 58). Since the shortest lead or lag that an annual series can show is 12 months, most cyclical turns of well conforming annual series coincide with the annual reference dates and the rest usually lead or lag 12 or 24 months. These measures can no more help the economist trace the relations in time of different activities during business cycles than lengths in feet can help the physician trace the growth of infants.

ct' may be of annual rest year; nthly and as large as e obliteraan do not ges for all ellation is iect. ge cyclical age dura-

al Data

ionths							
devia	deviation						
intrac-	Full						
jion	cycle						
-							
6.5	11.6						
6.4	14.3						
7.7	30.0						
7.1	9.9						
6.8	9.6						
7.5	18.0						
2.1	22.6						
1.8	22.1						
0.2	28.2						
19.1	11.0						
0.1	11.6						
5.5	12.8						
1							
6.4	8.6						
6.8	10.2						
7.3	11.8						
1.3	12.6						
1.0	12.4						
8.0	20.1						
month	ly						
-18	+159						
+6	+82						
16	+25						
40	+16						
14	+37						
-65	+60						

### EFFECTS OF THE TIME UNIT

#### TABLE 58

#### Frequency Distribution of Leads or Lags of Specific Cycles in Monthly Data Six American Series

Lead or lag	Number of leads or lags in monthly data								
at reference turn (mos.)	Deflated clearings	Deflated Pig iron Ra learings production p		Cailroad Shares stock traded prices		Railroad bond yields	Six series		
Under 4	16	19	11	9	19	4	78		
4 - 6	6	3	3	4	10	7	33		
7 - 9		6	8	6	3	5	28		
10 - 12	5	2	6	4	3	5	25		
Over 12	2	1	7	8	3	11	32		
Total	29	31	35	31	38	32	196		

In this table leads are not distinguished from lags; in other words, we consider merely the number of months that a specific-cycle turn deviates from a corresponding reference turn.

See Table 55 for the periods covered. The grand total (196) is smaller than the full number of cyclical turns (218), because noncorresponding turns are omitted. For the measures of timing, cycle by cycle, see Appendix Table B3.

In practice, the 'twisting effect' of annual data accentuates the difficulties caused by the 'precision effect'. A few examples may help the reader realize how serious these difficulties can be. (1) In 1929 call money rates reached a peak in March, iron production in July, railroad stock prices and bond yields in Septenber, share trading in October, deflated clearings in November. Annual data tell nothing about the sequence of these changes, since all six series reach peaks in 1929. (2) In nine business cycles clearings lag at downturns but lead at upturns; annual data show similar behavior just once. (3) In eleven business cycles share trading leads at both upturns and downturns; annual data show only four such instances. (4) Clearings lead iron production at upturns in twelve instances, lag in one; in another two instances both series turn up the same month. Annual data show coincident upturns in every instance, except one in which clearings lag in the face of a coincidence in the monthly data. (5) Share trading reaches a peak in May and railroad stock prices in June 1881. Annual data convert the one-month lead into a one-year lag, stock prices showing a peak in 1881 and share trading in 1882. (6) At the reference trough in 1904 stock prices lead the procession of upturns, followed in two months by iron production, in seven months by clearings and share trading, in nine months by call money rates, and in sixteen months by bond yields. Annual data, on the other hand, put share trading in the lead, obliterate the turn in clearings, make iron production, stock prices, and call money rates follow in one year, and bond yields in two years. (7) Monthly data on iron production lag one month at the reference peak of 1918; annual data lead by two years. (8) Monthly data on railroad stock prices show two troughs in the vicinity of the reference trough in 1858, a deep trough in October 1857 and a moderate one in May 1859; annual data manage to skip the deep but not the moderate trough.

Table individua restricted tions in n were men table wou to +6 monthly and so on entries, en are due to

Lead (-) of lag (+) of monthly data reference tur (mos.) -42 to -30. -30 to -18. -18 to -6. -6 to +6. +6 to +18. +18 to +30. +30 to +42.

#### Total.....

Based on specifi Table 55. The reference dates. Items falling adjacent classes rounded up or d

#### Quarte

those prod larger in qu result is th that appea except call the turns i ther, the r quarter of the month quarter, no in Chart 2 trading all erratic mo

### TIMING OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

Table 59 shows compactly how wide are the discrepancies between the individual timing measures of monthly and annual data. The table is restricted to corresponding turns, that is, turns for which timing observations in monthly and annual data match. If the annual timing measures were merely 'less precise' than the monthly measures, the entries in the table would be restricted to the diagonal cells: monthly measures of -6 to +6 months would be matched invariably by annual measures of 0, monthly measures of -6 to -18 months by annual measures of -12, and so on. In fact, the diagonal cells include only about two-thirds of the entries, even if skipped turns are left out of account. The remaining third are due to the twisting of cycles by annual data.

 TABLE 59
 Joint Distribution of Corresponding Leads or Lags

of Monthly and Annual Data

Lead (-) or lag (+) of monthly data at	Corresponding lead (-) or lag (+) of annual data at reference turn (mos.)							
reference turn (mos.)	-36	-24	-12	0	+12	+24	+36	Total
-42 to -30		1				•••		1
-30 to -18		2	2					4
-18 to -6	1	1	19	22	1			44
-6 to +6	•••	1	9	74	6	1		91
+6 to +18	•••			6	21	2		29
+18 to +30						2	2	4
+30 to +42								
Total	1	5	30	102	28	5	2	173

Based on specific-cycle turns of the monthly and annual data of six American series within the periods shown in Table 55. The monthly data are compared with the monthly reference dates, the annual data with the annual reference dates.

Items failing at the boundaries of the monthly classes (for example, -6) were distributed equally between adjacent classes in a column. There were eleven such items. The fractions that resulted in certain cases were rounded up or down in a manner most advantageous to the showing of annual data.

Quarterly data once again produce effects similar but smaller than those produced by annual data. The number of coincidences is much larger in quarterly than in monthly data, as Table 60 shows in detail. The result is that the quarterly data frequently cover up differences in timing that appear in monthly data. According to the quarterly data all series except call money rates reached a peak in the third quarter of 1929; but the turns in monthly data are scattered from March to November. Further, the monthly data show the peak in call money rates in the first quarter of 1929, not in the second quarter as do the quarterly data. Again, the monthly data show peaks in clearings and share trading in the last quarter, not in the third quarter. These detailed differences are exhibited in Chart 24. With the possible exception of the monthly data on share trading all cyclical turns on this chart are clearly defined. But when erratic movements are very pronounced the advantage of monthly data

hly Data

d Six series 78 33 28 25 32 196 of months that of cyclical turns , see Appendix

s the diffihelp the all money road stock **r**, deflated quence of e business data show re trading four such welve inthe same ce, except monthly prices in e-year lag, (6) At the turns, folclearings in sixteen re trading ion, stock ds in two reference n railroad trough in lay 1859; bugh.
### TABLE 60

## Frequency of Leads or Lags and Average Timing of Specific Cycles Six American Series, Monthly, Quarterly and Annual

		Timin	g at refer	ence pe	aks		Timing	at refere	nce tro	ice troughs		
Series and		Num	ber of		Average		Num	ber of		Average		
	Leads	Lags	Coinci- dences	Total	or lag (+) in months	Leads	Lags	Coinci- dences	Total	or lag (+) in months		
DEFLATED CLEARINGS												
Monthly (I)	1	10	3	14	+3.2	14		1	15	-5.8		
Quarterly		4	9	13	+2.5	12		2	14	-5.1		
Annual		1	8	9	+1.3	1	1	8	10	0.U		
Monthly (II)	1	7	1	9	+3.3	9		1	10	-5.4		
PIG IRON PRODUCTION												
Monthly (I)	4	8	3	15	+1.9	12	1	3	16	-3.4		
Quarterly	2	7	6	15	+1.8	7	<b>.</b>	9	16	-2.2		
Annual	1	1	11	13	-0.9	1		12	13	-0.9		
Monthly (II)	4	6	3	13	+1.2	9	1	3	13	-3.8		
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES												
Monthly (I)	13	3	1	17	-5.6	14	4		18	-7.4		
Quarterly	13	2	2	17	-5.8	14	2	2	18	-7.3		
Annual	9		7	16	-7.5	5	3	9	17	-2.1		
Monthly (II)	13	2	1	16	-6.6	13	4		17	-7.7		
HARES TRADED												
Monthly (I)	14	1		15	-10.4	12	2	2	16	-4.6		
Quarterly	14	1		15	-11.8	10	1	5	16	-3.8		
Annual	10		5	15	-9.6	4		12	16	-3.0		
Monthly (II)	14	1		15	-10.4	12	2	2	16	-4.6		
CALL MONEY RATES												
Monthly (I)	8	8	3	19	-0.1	9	10		19	+1.5		
Quarterly	6	7	· 5	18	0.0	4	8	6	18	+2.0		
Annual.	3	2	13	18	-0.7	2	6	10	18	+1.3		
Monthly (II)	8	8	2	18	-0.1	8	10	• • •	18	+1.8		
AILROAD BOND YIELDS												
Monthly (I)		16		16	+7.8	2	13	1	16	+11.8		
Quarterly		15	1	16	+7.7	2	13	1	16	+12.4		
Annual		8	6	14	+8.6		13	1	14	+17.1		
Monthly (II)		14		14	+8.8	1	12	1	14	+12.4		

(1) Call

(2) Pig is

(3) Railro

(4) Railro

(5) Shares

(6) Deflat

annual av

ages in sev

average le

dence on

lag of two

month. M

contractio

not be as monthly-a

ages confi

on all turi

See Table 55 for the periods covered. The entries on line (I) include all timing measures for the monthly series within the periods shown in Table 55; the entries on line (II) are restricted to monthly timing measures that correspond to those in the annual series. The timing of the quarterly data is obtained by comparing their specific-cycle turns with the quarterly reference dates. Similarly, the timing of the annual data is obtained by comparing their specific-cycle turns with the annual reference dates. See the next table, and Table 48 in the preceding chapter.

is problematical; in such cases cyclical turns can be dated with greater assurance in quarterly data than in monthly.<sup>23</sup>

When averages are struck for all cycles the monthly and quarterly results agree remarkably well. The largest difference between their averages is only 1.4 months (Table 60). The small differences between the averages leave the rankings of the six series in quarterly form exactly the same as the rankings in monthly form at upturns and at downturns. The

<sup>23</sup> In handling highly erratic series a three-month moving total (or average) may be preferable to monthly or quarterly figures. Of course, quarterly data represent every third term of a threemonth moving total (or average) of monthly figures.

# TIMING OF SPECIFIC CYCLES







annual averages, on the other hand, differ widely from the monthly averages in several instances. For example, monthly data on clearings show an average lead of six months at reference troughs; annual data show coincidence on the average. Monthly data on iron production show an average lag of two months at reference peaks; annual data show a lead of one month. Monthly data put share trading in third place at the turn from contraction to expansion; annual data put it first. These differences cannot be ascribed to the skipping of cycles by the annual data: for the monthly-annual discrepancies are about as large when judged from averages confined to corresponding turns as when judged from averages based on all turns.

227



h greater

rterly reeir averween the actly the rns. The

of a three.

Hence on

is to meas

improve e

the estimation

from ann

those deri

the period

for the fa

average tin the month short annu

cycles; for mine what attach littl them chief

In annual peaks and quarterly s data are ex forms come annual dat covers the the cycle, a ter. The re forms of th spond appr series cover that expan or the year

25 Let S be the the average d

measured by c (9) minus col.

|S| < |S-R|are analyzed f

plus in as mar

is zero, the ab

col. (8) agrees will also hold

probability that

col. (8) will mo With obvior Geoffrey H. Mc

ances and covar

Whether o

VI

It is in

So far we have compared annual specific-cycle turns with annual reference dates and quarterly specific-cycle turns with quarterly reference dates. This is the only method that can be used by an investigator working along our lines but relying exclusively upon annual or quarterly data. But in our own work, not being subject to this limitation, we can use the monthly reference dates as benchmarks for measuring the cyclical timing of all series regardless of the time unit in which they are expressed. Thus, instead of comparing the midpoints of annual specific-cycle turns with the midpoints of annual reference turns, we can relate the former to the midpoints of monthly reference turns.<sup>24</sup> Table 61 presents average timing

TABLE 61
Average Timing of Specific Cycles Computed in Different Ways
Six American Series Monthly Quarterly and Annual

				, , , <u>L</u> aan	,		uur	
	1	Correspondir and qu	ng turns in m uarterly data	onthly	0	Correspondin and a	ng turns in m Innual data	onthly
		Av. lead (	-) or lag (+)	in months		Av. lead (	-) or lag (+)	in months
Series	No. of turns	Monthly speccycle turn com- pared with monthly	Quarterly speccycle turn com- pared with monthly	Quarterly speccycle turn com- pared with quarterly	No. of turns	Monthly speccycle turn com- pared with monthly	Annual speccycle turn com- pared with monthly	Annual speccycle turn com- pared with annual
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
	u		т	'iming at re	ferenc	e peaks		
Deflated clearings	13	+3.5	+3.2	+2.5	9	+3.3	+1.8	+1.3
Pig iron production.	15	+1.9	+2.2	+1.8	13	+1.2	+0.3	-0.9
Railroad stock prices.	17	-5.6	-5.7	-5.8	16	-6.6	-7.1	-7.5
Shares traded	15	-10.4	-11.4	-11.8	15	-10.4	-8.3	-9.6
Call money rates	18	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	18	-0.1	-0.4	-0.7
Railroad bond yields.	16	+7.8	+7.6	+7.7	14	+8.8	+9.0	+8.6
			Ti	ming at rel	erence	troughs		
Deflated clearings	14	~5.9	-5.9	-5.1	10	-5.4	-3.8	0.0
Pig iron production	16	-3.4	-2.9	-2.2	13	-3.8	-3.7	-0.9
Railroad stock prices.	18	-7.4	-7.7	~7.3	17	~7.7	~4.9	-2.1
Shares traded	16	-4.6	-4.4	-3.8	16	-4.6	-5.9	-3.0
Call money rates	18	+1.8	+1.5	+2.0	18	+1.8	-1.8	+1.3
Railroad bond yields.	16	+11.8	+12.0	+12.4	14	+12.4	+14.4	+17.1
		1	1	1		1		1

See Table 55 for the periods covered.

measures of annual data computed both ways, and similar measures for quarterly data. When the timing of annual or quarterly data is measured from the monthly reference dates, the resulting average usually approximates better the average determined from monthly data than when annual or quarterly chronologies are used exclusively. This result is not a peculiarity of our sample; it may be expected as a rule, since the use of monthly reference dates limits the error of the timing measures to the distorting effect of quarterly or annual data on the specific-cycle turns.

24 See Table 48. Of course, if a series starts before the monthly reference dates, we must determine leads or lags of the early cycles from the annual reference dates.

## AMPLITUDE IN ANNUAL DATA

nnual refery reference tor working rterly data. can use the lical timing ssed. Thus, turns with mer to the rage timing

ays

in monthly lata (+) in months Annual al spec.-cycle turn comwith pared with annual ref. turn гn (9) +1.3 -0.9 -7.5 -96 -0.7 +8.60.0 -0.9 -2.1-3.0 +1.3+17.1

asures for measured approxian when ult is not the use of res to the cle turns.

t determine

Hence our standard practice when analyzing quarterly or annual series is to measure their timing from the monthly reference dates.<sup>25</sup>

It is important to recognize that monthly benchmarks merely *tend* to improve estimates of average cyclical timing. As Table 61 demonstrates, the estimates are sometimes worsened; also, some of the estimates made from annual series remain poor, though they are not quite so poor as those derived from the annual reference dates. Table 62 shows that when the period covered by an annual series is brief and no adjustment is made for the failure of its cycles to correspond to the monthly, measures of average timing derived from annual data frequently diverge sharply from the monthly measures. For this reason we rarely measure leads or lags of short annual series. We also insist that the series conform well to business cycles; for unless this condition is met it is extremely difficult to determine what cyclical turns correspond to what reference dates. Finally, we attach little value to individual leads or lags of an annual series: we use them chiefly as materials for estimating average timing.

# VII Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Annual Data

In annual series that represent continuous processes the standings at the peaks and troughs of specific cycles cover twelve months; in monthly and quarterly series they cover three months. When annual and quarterly data are expressed as monthly averages, and the cyclical peaks in all three forms come in the same year, the standing at the peak must be lower in the annual data than in the other forms; for in monthly series this standing covers the three months centered on the highest value attained during the cycle, and in quarterly series the standing is that of the highest quarter. The relations must be similar when the cyclical turns of the three forms of the data occur in different years, provided the cycles still correspond approximately in time. For the standing at the peak of a monthly series covers the three months centered on the apex of expansion, whether that expansion attained its highest annual average in the year preceding or the year following the monthly peak. Likewise the standing at the

25 Let S be the average distortion of the timing of specific cycles produced by annual data, and R the average distortion of the timing of reference cycles produced by annual data. Then S is measured by col. (8) minus col. (7) of Table 61; R is measured by col. (8) minus col. (9); while col. (9) minus col. (7) measures (S - R).

Whether col. (8) will give a better approximation to col. (7) than will col. (9) turns on whether |S| < |S-R|. For any group of reference cycles R may be plus, minus, or zero. If many series are analyzed for the period covered by these reference cycles, the expectation is that S will be plus in as many series as it will be minus. Now if R is zero, col. (8) must agree with col. (9). If S is zero, the above inequality obviously holds, except, of course, when R too is zero, in which case col. (8) agrees with col. (9). If S and R are of opposite sign, the inequality must again hold. And it will also hold when S and R are of the same sign, whenever |R| > |2S|. Hence there is a greater probability that |S| < |S-R| than that |S| > |S-R|; in other words, the expectation is that col. (9). (16) will more often approximate col. (7) than will col. (9).

With obvious changes of phrase, this argument applies to quarterly data. Also, as our colleague Geoffrey H. Moore points out, the above argument could be put more rigorously in terms of variances and covariances.

### Average Timing of Specific Cycles during Brief Periods Six American Series, Monthly and Annual

Series and	No. of	No on ti	. of ob ming a	servati at refer	ons ence	Ave	rage lead n months	(-) or lag at reference	; (+) ce
period covered	ence	Pe	aks	Tro	ughs	Pe	aks	Tro	ughs
	cycles	м	A	М	A	м	A	M	A
Deflated clearings									
1879-1897	5	5	4	5	4	+3.8	+0.8	-6.2	-4.2
1897-1914	5	5	3	5	3	+4.2	+2.5	-7.4	-5.5
1914-1933	5	4	2	5	3	+1.2	+3.0	-3.8	-1.5
Pig iron production									
1879-1897	5	5	4	5	3	+0.8	+0.8	-3.2	-2.8
1897-1914	5	5	4	5	4	+3.4	+5.5	-7.2	-4.8
1914–1933	5	5	5	6	6	+1.4	-4.3	-0.3	-3.3
Railroad stock prices						l			
1858-1888	6	5	5	5	5	-7.6	-6.7	-13.4	-8.3
1888-1908	6	6	5	6	5	-2.2	-5.1	-1.2	+0.7
1908-1933	7	6	6	7	7	-7.3	-9.2	-8.6	-6.4
Shares traded									
1879-1897	5	5	5	5	5	-11.4	-5.9	-2.2	-0.5
1897-1914	5	5	5	5	5	-12.0	-7.5	-4.8	-7.3
1914–1933	5	5	5	6	6	-7.8	-11.5	-6.5	-9.3
Call money rates								ļ	
1858-1888	6	6	6	6	6	-3.3	-3.5	-1.2	-7.8
1888-1908	6	6	6	6	6	+4.2	+1.8	+3.0	+1.7
1908-1933	7	7	6	7	6	-1.0	+0.5	+2.6	+0.7
Railroad bond vields									1
1858-1888	6	6	5	6	5	+9.2	+8.5	+17.8	+18.1
1888-1908	6	5	5	5	5	+9.2	+9.3	+14.4	+15.1
1908–1933	7	5	4	5	4	+4.8	+9.2	+1.8	+8.8
			1				•		

M stands for monthly data, A for annual. The periods mark off successive thirds of the reference cycles covered by a series. Where the full number is not exactly divisible by 3, the odd item is placed in the last period. The averages are made on our standard plan; that is, both monthly and annual specific-cycle turns are com-

I he averages are made on our standard plan; that is, both monthly and annual specific-cycle turns are compared with the monthly reference dates. To avoid duplication, the timing at the terminal trough of the first period is excluded from the average for that period but included in the average for the second, and the timing at the terminal trough of the second period is excluded from the average for that period but included in the average for the third.

apex quarter should be higher than the average standing in the corresponding apex year, whether this year comes before or after the year including the apex quarter. On similar grounds, we expect the annual troughs to be higher than the monthly or quarterly troughs, whether they come in the same, the preceding, or the following year.<sup>26</sup>

Exceptions to these rules are rare. They may arise from disregarding a random peak or trough in marking off specific cycles in monthly or quarterly data.<sup>27</sup> They can scarcely arise from a violently low value in the

### 26 Cf. note 44.

<sup>27</sup> For example, monthly data on the value of building plans filed in Manhattan show a rise from July 1927 to Feb. 1928, a decline to Dec. 1928, followed by an extraordinary rise to April 1929, and a sharp and protracted decline to July 1933. The data suggest that the rise from Dec. 1928 to April 1929 was a random interruption of a cyclical decline that began Feb. 1928; this suggestion is confirmed by other statistics and by the fact that the new Multiple Dwellings Act, with its more stringent provisions governing construction of apartment houses and hotels, was debated by the

value in Ap

rise from 19 peak. The #

and + 72. -

month following or preceding a cyclical peak or from a violently high value in the month following or preceding a cyclical trough; for when such movements appear we omit them in computing the peak or trough standing. In the 70 specific cycles that correspond in the monthly, quarterly, and annual forms of our test series, the peak standings of the annual data are invariably lower and the trough standings invariably higher than the corresponding standings of the quarterly and monthly data. But the differences between the standings vary erratically, as may be seen from the detailed measures for pig iron production on lines 7-13 of Table 63.

lag (+) ence

roughs

А

-4.2

-5.5 -1.5

-2.8

-4.8

-3.3

-8.3

+0.7

-6.4

-0.5

-7.3 -9.3

-7.8

+1.7

+0.7

+18.1

+15.1

cycles covered t period.

urns are comgh of the first

nd the timing cluded in the

he corre-

e year in-

e annual

ther they

regarding

y or quar-

ue in the

v a rise from ril 1929, and

Dec. 1928 to

suggestion is

vith its more bated by the

+8.8

Since the standings at the peaks of specific cycles are lower and the standings at troughs higher in the annual than in the quarterly or monthly data when these standings are expressed in the original units, the absolute rise and fall of specific cycles must be smaller in the annual than in the other data. There are no exceptions in our sample. Lines 19-25 in Table 63 show the discrepancies between the three forms of the data on iron production, and columns (1) to (4) in Table 64 summarize the monthly-annual discrepancies for all six series. In the first cycle of iron production the rise in the annual data is only 24 per cent of the rise in the monthly data; in the eighth cycle this ratio is 72 per cent. The range of the discrepancies is still larger in the cyclical falls. Other series show similar variations in the degree to which the monthly amplitudes are cut by a shift to annual data.

The reduction in amplitude produced by annual summarizing varies inversely with the duration of cyclical expansions and contractions. Chart 25 demonstrates this tendency; but also shows that it is crossed by other factors, and disappears when a phase lasts about four years or longer. As indicated in Section IV, the fate of a cyclical expansion or contraction in annual summations depends partly upon its duration, partly upon other things-the months in which the cyclical turns occur, the amplitude of the movement relatively to the underlying trend, its pattern and that of the erratic fluctuations diversifying it. These factors determine whether a given expansion or contraction will be preserved or wiped out in annual data; also, whether the fraction preserved is large or small. A student working solely with annual data must be ignorant of some of these factors and can have only rough knowledge of others; hence he can no more tell which cycles have lost a large and which a small portion of their amplitude by annual summarizing than he can tell which annual cycles correspond to single cycles in the monthly figures and which combine two or three cycles.

Legislature in the early months of 1929 and became law April 19, 1929. In analyzing the specific cycle from 1927 to 1933 we therefore take Feb. 1928 as the peak, and disregard the much higher value in April 1929. The annual figures are too rigid to be handled in a similar manner; they rise from 1927 to 1928 and again from 1928 to 1929, so that we are forced to recognize 1929 as the peak. The amplitude measures of the 1927-33 cycle come out +141, -252, 393 in the annual and +72, -184, 256 in the monthly data.

### ŝ 13 13 62.45 91.34 52.30 74.63 102 28.89 39.04 67.93 Cycle : 38.7 52.3 91.0 103 98 101 α **88** 94 10 86 89 89 %āð Dec. 10 Jan. 13 Dec. 14 60.37 93.19 51.75 72.96 100 32.82 41.44 74.26 45.0 56.8 101.8 100 00100 100 Σ 42.72 73.66 63.94 65.52 105 1908 1910 1911 30.94 9.72 40.66 47.2 14.8 62.0 114 85 106 ۷ 54 54 35 60 10 08 20 11 Cycle 4 36.74 84.88 62.45 63.10 101 48.14 22.43 70.57 76.3 35.5 111.8 98 98 103 α 86 8 <del>6</del> 97 85 93 Jan. 08 Jan. 10 Dec. 10 37.32 86.38 60.37 62.40 100 49.06 26.01 75.07 78.6 41.7 120.3 100 100 00100 Σ 44.25 69.39 42.72 25.14 26.67 51.81 60.69 101 1904 1907 1908 41.4 43.9 85.3 144 92 114 57 71 63 56 56 56 ۲ 40 03 30 07 10 08 Cycle 3 36.14 74.20 36.74 59.38 99 38.06 37.46 75.52 64.1 63.1 127.2 Pig Iron Production, United States 117 99 98 87 101 93 α 93 93 92 Dec. 03 July 07 Jan. 08 30.77 75.05 37.32 60.20 100 44.28 37.73 82.01 73.6 62.7 136.3 00100 00100 100 Σ 17.62 25.24 22.72 7.62 2.52 10.14 1894 1895 1896 22.71 106 160 85 136 33.6 11.1 44.7 14 F < 30 33 Cycle 2 25 33 8 11.85 29.72 17.87 17.87 11.85 29.72 82.7 54.9 137.6 21.60 101 100 100 α 9 <mark>1</mark> 2 qqq Oct. 93 Nov.95 Oct. 96 11.03 29.72 16.69 21.42 100 18.69 13.03 31.72 87.2 60.8 148.0 0100 1000 1000 0100 0000 0100 0100 Σ 21.08 23.56 17.62 20.47 9**1-**1891 1892 1894 2.48 5.94 8.42 12.1 29.0 41.1 139 93 160 27 38 3 2 2 < 91 93 93 17.17 25.31 11.85 21.74 97 8.14 13.46 21.60 Cycle 1 114 100 37.4 61.9 99.3 88 88 88 α 82 91 ããð Apr. 91 Feb. 92 Oct. 93 15.12 25.31 11.03 22.41 100 10.19 14.28 24.47 45.4 63.7 109.1 100 100 100 Σ Peak..... Terminal trough...... As relatives of M CYCLE BASE In thousand long tons...... As relatives of M...... Peak.....Terminal trough..... Rise..... rcak..... Terminal trough..... Fall. Rise & fall As relatives of M ..... ..... : Initial trough.... In specific-cycle relatives LELATIVE AMPLITUDE<sup>b</sup> Initial trough.... Initial trough.... BSOLUTE AMPLITUDE<sup>a</sup> Rise & fall ..... In thousand long tons In thousand long tons STANDING AT TURNS Rise Measure As relatives of M DATE OF TURNS Rise & fall. Rise. Peak

TABLE 63

Standings at Peaks and Troughs, Cycle Bases, and Amplitudes of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data

Line

-0.04

232

1911 1913 1914

<

63.94 84.24 63.19

# EFFECTS OF THE TIME UNIT

106 122

76.02 104

20.30 21.05 41.35

51 56 56

26.7 27.7 54.4

59 53

& fall.

Rise

Fall

Fall

Fall

۲ Cycle 9 0 Σ < Cycle 8 0 TABLE 63-Continued Σ < Cycle α Σ < Cycle 6 α Σ

¥

0

Σ

Cycle 10

Y

Measure 1 DATE OF TURNS

Line

# AMPLITUDE IN ANNUAL DATA

			Cycle 6			Cycle 7			Cycle 8			Cycle 9			Sycle 10	
Line	Measure	M	α	A	W	γ	V	X	α	V	¥	ø	V	M	a	۲
-064	DATE OF TURNS Initial trough Peak Terminal trough	Dec. 14 Sep. 18 May 19	20 19 20 18 20 19	1914 1916 1919	May19 Sep. 20 July 21	2Q 19 3Q 20 3Q 21	1919 1920 1921	July 21 May23 July 24	30 21 30 23 32 24	1921 1923 1924	July 24 July 26 Nov.27	3Q 24 3Q 26 4Q 27	1924 1926 1927	Nov. 27 July 29 Mar. 33	4Q 27 3Q 29 1Q 33	1927 1929 1932
5 50 - 80	STANDING AT TURNS In thousand long tons Initial trough Peak Terminal trough	51.75 112.73 72.96	52.30 113.42 72.96	63.19 106.68 83.91	72.96 105.85 32.33	72.96 104.81 31.56	83.91 99.50 45.45	32.33 121.88 73.35	31.56 1121.88 75.70	45.45 109.74 85.08	73.35 109.80 91.10	75.70 110.93 91.10	85.08 107.04 99.32	91.10 128.03 18.03	91.10 128.07 17.83	99.32 115.86 23.77
13 13 19	As relatives of M Initial trough Peak Terminal trough	100 100	101 101 100	122 95 115	00100	100 99 98	115 94 141	100	98 100 103	141 90 116	100 100	103 101 100	116 97 109	100 100 100	100	109 90 132
14 15 16	CYCLE BASE In thousand long tons As relatives of M	98.52 100	97.58 99	94.27 96	80.87 100	79.28 98	82.09 102	82.80 100	84.09 102	82.85 100	99.80 100	100.33 101	99.69 100	73.86 100	74.74 101	83.42 113
525018	ABSOLUTE AMPLITUDE <sup>a</sup> In thousand long tons Rise Fall Rise & fall	60.9 <b>8</b> 39.77 100.75	61.12 40.46 101.58	43.49 22.77 66.26	32.89 73.52 106.41	31.85 73.25 105.10	15.59 54.05 69.64	89.55 48.53 138.08	90.32 46.18 136.50	64.29 24.66 88.95	36.45 18.70 55.15	35.23 19.83 55.06	21.96 7.72 29.68	36.93 110.00 146.93	36.97 110.24 147.21	16.54 92.09 108.63
23 23 23	As retatives of M Rise	100	100 102	71 57 66	100	97 100 99	47 74 65	00 100 100	101 95 99	72 51 64	100 100	97 106 100	60 41 54	100 100	100 100	45 84 74
30 30 30 30 30	RELATIVE AMPLITUDE <sup>b</sup> In specific-cycle relatives Rise Fall Rise & fall	61.9 40.3 102.2	62.6 41.4 104.0	46.2 24.2 70.4	40.7 91.1 131.8	40.2 92.6 132.8	19.0 65.8 84.8	108.3 58.6 166.9	107.6 55.0 162.6	77.5 29.7 107.2	36.5 18.7 55.2	35.2 19.8 55.0	22.1 7.8 29.9	50.0 148.9 198.9	49.5 147.5 197.0	19.8 110. <b>4</b> 130.2
32 33 34	As relatives of M Rise Fall Rise & fall.	100 100	101 103 102	75 60 69	100 100	99 102 101	47 72 64	100 100	99 94 97	72 51 64	100 100	96 106	61 42 54	00 I I 00	886	40 74 65
M stan daily pr	is for monthly data, Q for quarterloduction in all three forms of the	ly, A for ar data.	nual. Th	e output f	figures refe	r to averag	P P P	hat is, exp hat is, our	ressed in t	the unit of measure of	the origin of amplitu	ual data. de as deriv	/ed in Tal	ole S2 (see	Table 31)	

TABLE 63-Continued

<u>27.7</u> 54.4

52.3 91.0

56.8 101.8

14.8 62.0

35.5 111.8

> 41.7 120.3

> 43.9 85.3

63.1 127.2

62.7 136.3

11.1 44.7

54.9 137.6

60.8 148.0

29.0 41.1

61.9 99.3

63.7 109.1

Į

59 53

86 92 89

8 0 0 9 0 0

52 52

97 85 9**3** 

0100 0100

56 70 63

87 93

0100 00100

30 30

93 93 <sup>.</sup>

**8** 0 0

27 46 38

**82** 91

<u>8 8 8</u>

Fall Rise & fall As relatives of M Rise Fall Rise & fall

33333958

•

### Frequency Distribution of the Differences between Absolute Amplitudes, Cycle Bases, and Relative Amplitudes of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data

Deviation			Number	of difference	s between		
of annual figure from	Amı	olitudes expr 1 original un	essed its	Cycle	Ampl speci	itudes expres fic-cycle rela	ssed in atives
monthly (per cent) (1)	Rise (2)	Fall (3)	Rise & fall (4)	bases (5)	Rise (6)	Fall (7)	Rise & fall (8)
Under -90	2	1			2	1	
-90 to -81	4	3	2		3	4	2
-80 to -71	5	6	1		7	4	1
-70 to -61	6	6	11		7	7	9
-60 to -51	12	19	14		8	. 19	17
-50 to -41	16	13	15		18	12	13
-40 to -31	10	7	14		9	9	16
-30 to -21	8	7	7		10	7	7
-20 to -11	5	8	6	1	5	7	5
-10 to -1	2	• • •		26	1		••
0 to +9				41			••
+10 to +19		••		2		••	••
Total	70	70	70	70	70	70	70

Based on six American series for periods shown in Chart 27.

The preceding remarks apply to cyclical amplitudes expressed in units of the original data, that is, to one stage in our computation. Our standard measures of amplitude convert the 'absolute amplitudes' into percentages of their respective cycle bases. The differences between 'relative amplitudes' made from annual and from monthly or quarterly data thus depend upon the differences between the cycle bases as well as upon the differences between the absolute amplitudes.28 When the annual cycle base is higher than the monthly, the difference between bases works in the same direction as the difference between the absolute amplitudes; that is, both tend to make the annual measure of amplitude smaller than the monthly. When the annual cycle base is lower than the monthly, the difference between the bases works against the difference between the absolute amplitudes; the relative amplitude may therefore be larger in the annual data. Not a single instance of this sort appears in the comparisons afforded by our sample (Table 64). The reason is that the differences between cycle bases are smaller than the differences between absolute rises or falls. In railroad bond yields the largest difference between the

28 Let *a* and *b* be the standings, in units of the original data, of a monthly cycle at the initial trough and peak, respectively; and let *k* be the average value of the data during the cycle. Then the relative amplitude of the rise is  $100\left(\frac{b-a}{k}\right)$ . Suppose that the absolute rise of the annual data is x (b-a) and that the cycle base of the annual data is yk, where x and y are any positive numbers. Then the relative amplitude of rise of the annual data is  $100\left(\frac{b-a}{k}\right)\left(\frac{x}{y}\right)$ ; that is, the annual amplitude differs from the monthly by the multiplier  $\frac{x}{y}$ . Similar statements apply to the cyclical fall and to the combined rise and fall.

monthly between call mon the diffe less in 2 contrast per cent while th first serie The annual o tudes is ond set o therefor annual a thus ten effects in the mon averages annual a The diff effects of these effe 29 The diffe ence betwee

# Augustion in months of phase in monthy date

### /CHART 25 Relation between the Cycle-dampening Effect of Annual Data and the Duration of Specific-cycle Phases

Besed on 140 corresponding phases in moothly and annual data of six American series. See Chart 26 for the period covered by shares traded, Chart 27 for periods of other series.

monthly and annual cycle bases is 2 per cent, while the smallest difference between the absolute amplitudes is 12 per cent. Even in share trading and call money rates, which have very large cyclical and erratic movements, the difference between monthly and annual cycle bases is 5 per cent or less in 23 out of 30 comparisons, and in no case exceeds 12 per cent. In contrast, the differences between the absolute rises range from 19 to 93 per cent in share trading and from 30 to 69 per cent in call money rates, while the differences between falls range from 30 to 96 per cent in the first series and from 19 to 75 per cent in the second.<sup>29</sup>

The importance of differences between the cycle bases of monthly and annual data relatively to the differences between their absolute amplitudes is still smaller in *average* measures of cyclical amplitude. The second set of differences practically always work in the same direction and therefore register with full force in the averages. But the first set raise the annual amplitudes of some cycles, lower the amplitudes of others, and thus tend to be self-effacing in averages. Table 65 shows these different effects in practice. Columns (3) to (5) present the average amplitudes in the monthly forms of our six series; columns (6) to (8) give corresponding averages for annual data on our usual plan, and columns (9) to (11) give annual averages made by substituting the monthly bases for the annual. The differences between columns (6) to (8) and (9) to (11) gauge the effects of differences between the cycle bases of monthly and annual data; these effects are practically nil. The differences between columns (3) to

29 The difference between the absolute amplitudes of monthly and annual data exceeds the difference between their cycle bases in each of the 210 comparisons afforded by our tests.

. . 70 essed in on. Our les' into en 'relarly data as upon annual es works blitudes: ler than thly, the een the arger in ompari-Ferences bsolute een the tial trough Then the nual data

e numbers

the annual

the cyclical

ed in

ves

Rise

& fall (8)

2

1 9

17 13

16 7

5

• •

### Average Amplitude of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data, Six American Series

_			Aver	age amp	litude i	n spec	ific-cycle	e relativ	es of	
	No. of						Annua	d data		
Series	corre- sponding specific cycles	Mo	onthly d	ata	Comp of a	outed o	n base cycle	Comp of co mor	uted o rrespon hthly c	n base nding ycle
	0,0100	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall
(1)	(2)	(3)	· (4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
Deflated clearings	5	28.1	12.8	40.9	20.0	5.4	25.4	20.3	5.3	25.7
Pig iron production.	10	62.7	64.3	127.0	34.6	36.4	71.0	35.1	37.9	73.0
Railroad stock prices	15	35.4	34.9	70.3	24.7	23.9	48.6	24.8	23.8	48.6
Shares traded	15	98.1	92.4	190.5	49.9	39.3	89.2	48.9	39.2	88.1
Call money rates	15	134.8	136.1	270.9	67.6	69.1	136.7	67.9	69.6	137.5
Railroad bond yields	10	9.4	13.2	22.6	5.2	9.1	14.3	5.2	9.1	14.3
Six series <sup>a</sup>	70	69.8	68.4	138.2	37.6	35.2	72.8	37.6	35.5	73.1

See Chart 27 for the periods covered.

•The averages on this line are weighted averages of the above; that is, the unit observation is the amplitude of a cycle in a series, not the average amplitude in a series.

(5) and (9) to (11) gauge the effects of differences in absolute amplitudes; these effects are considerable, varying from about 30 to over 50 per cent of the monthly figures in different series.

If the monthly measures of amplitude are accurate, the annual measures not only understate the amplitude of cyclical fluctuations, but they do that unevenly. For example, Table 63 shows that in pig iron production the rise of monthly specific-cycle relatives during the second cycle is exceeded only by the rise in the eighth cycle; but in annual data the rise in the second cycle is exceeded in three additional cycles. The monthly rise in the ninth cycle is the smallest in the table; the annual rise in this cycle exceeds three others. The monthly fall in the second cycle is exceeded in four other cycles, the annual fall is exceeded in eight cycles. Such distortions of relations among the amplitudes of different cycles may be a serious matter to a student concerned with the characteristics of individual cycles. However, although annual data distort relations of magnitude, they by no means obliterate them so long as the annual cycles correspond roughly to the monthly. This fact is demonstrated by the coefficients of rank correlation in Table 66. Moreover, the dampening effect of annual data is more nearly uniform between than within series; hence the distortion of relative magnitudes may be of slight consequence to a student concerned with average cyclical behavior provided, once again, that the specific cycles in annual data match the cycles in monthly data.

This proviso is important. The differences we have so far discussed between annual and monthly amplitudes are restricted to corresponding cycles, duced l introdu sion or the sam two suc same p cycles a of the specific the sam the nor the cor ferent f genuin with an and wh ness hi covered cyclical cyclical both of Th necessa to a mo An ann

### Coefficients of Rank Correlation between Amplitudes of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Monthly and Other Data Six American Series

	No. of co ing specifi	rrespond- c cycles in	c	oefficient	of rank	correlatio	n betwe	en
Series	Monthly and	Monthly and	Montl am	nly and a plitudes	innual of	Month arr	ly and qu plitudes	uarterly 9 of
	annual data <sup>s</sup>	quarterly data <sup>b</sup>	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall
Deflated clearings	5	13	1.00	.70	.90	.97	.96	.97
Pig iron production	10	15	.76	.82	.73	.97	.97	.96
Railroad stock prices	15	18	.99	.90	.91	.99	.99	.99
Shares traded	15	15	.79	.88	.90	.91	.88	.95
Call money rates	15	21	.90	.92	.87	.97	.96	.97
Railroad bond yields	10	20	.93	.95	.46ª	.99	1.00	.9 <b>9</b>

\*See Chart 27 for the periods covered.

<sup>b</sup>The periods covered are shown in Table 57, except for the omission of the specific cycles during 1914-21 in deflated clearings and 1915-22 in call money rates.

<sup>a</sup> In specific-cycle relatives.

<sup>d</sup>The coefficient of correlation comes out +.95, when based on the actual values instead of the ranks.

cycles, and therefore take no account of the most serious distortions produced by annual summarizing-the elimination of a genuine cycle or the introduction of a spurious one. When annual data skip a cyclical expansion or contraction, two cycles in the monthly data occupy approximately the same period as one cycle in the annual data. When annual data skip two successive contractions, three cycles in the monthly data occupy the same period as one cycle in the annual data. Such 'noncorresponding' cycles account for 15 of the 87 specific cycles in the annual data and for 35 of the 106 cycles in the monthly data of our six series. In addition, two specific cycles in the annual data of one series (call money rates) occupy the same period as one cycle in the monthly data. If our analysis is sound, the noncorresponding cycles of monthly data are no less genuine than the corresponding. In annual data the two sets of cycles stand on a different footing: the 70 cycles that correspond to cycles in monthly data are genuine, the remaining 17 cycles are not. Since a student working solely with annual series cannot be sure which cycles in his data are genuine and which spurious, he may be gravely misled in his judgments of business history. For example, annual data suggest that within the periods covered by our analysis of iron production and clearings the largest cyclical rise occurred from 1884 to 1890; but this rise telescopes two cyclical expansions, from 1884 or 1885 to 1887 and from 1888 to 1890. both of moderate amplitude.

The mixed character of the cyclical units in annual data makes it necessary to distinguish three cases. (a) An annual cycle that corresponds to a monthly cycle is practically certain to be of smaller amplitude. (b) An annual cycle that combines two or three monthly cycles is likely to

73.1 plitude of a

25.7 73.0

48.6

88.1

137.5 14.3

l on base bonding cycle Rise h & fall (11)

litudes: er cent

l measut they broducd cycle the rise onthly in this is excycles. les may stics of ons of l cycles by the pening series; uence , once onthly

cussed onding

show an extraordinary rise if it skips contractions, or an extraordinary fall if it skips expansions. (c) On the other hand, if two annual cycles occupy the same period as one monthly cycle, they are likely to have especially small amplitudes; though the opposite may happen if the extra 'cycle' is generated by violent erratic movements in the monthly data. Since annual series skip cycles far more often than they insert cycles, it follows that the tendency of annual and monthly cycles to fall out of correspondence opposes the dampening effect of annual data on the amplitudes of corresponding cycles. Table 67 shows these opposite effects on the averages and their net resultants. In four out of five series the average rise of the noncorresponding cycles is larger in the annual than in the monthly data; in the remaining series the average rise of annual data is closer to

### TABLE 67

Average Amplitude of Corresponding, Noncorresponding and All Specific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data

Six American Series

Series and group	Numl spec cyc	ber of cific cles		Average amplitude in specific-cycle relatives					Ann as of	ual av s per c f mont	erage ent hly
of cycles			R	ise	F	all	Rise	& fall			Rise
	М	A	М	A	М	A	М	Α	Rise	Fall	& fall
DEFLATED CLEARINGS											
Corresponding	5	5	28.1	20.0	12.8	5.4	40.9	25.4	71	42	62
Noncorresponding	10	5	26.3	39.4	13.7	14.2	39.9	53.6	150	104	134
All	15	10	26.9	29.7	13.4	9.8	40.2	39.5	110	73	98
PIG IRON PRODUCTION											
Corresponding	10	10	62.7	34.6	64.3	36.4	127.0	71.0	55	57	56
Noncorresponding	5	2	60.8	73.9	35.6	12.0	96.4	85.8	122	34	89
All	15	12	62.1	41.1	54.8	32.4	116.8	73.5	66	59	63
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES											
Corresponding	15	15	35.4	24.7	34.9	23.9	70.3	48.6	70	68	69
Noncorresponding	3	1	36.6	78.8	16.1	18.6	52.7	97.4	215	116	185
All	18	16	35.6	28.1	31.8	23.5	67.3	51.6	79	74	77
SHARES TRADED <sup>8</sup>				1							
All	15	15	98.1	49.9	92.4	39.3	190.5	89.2	51	43	47
CALL MONEY RATES											
Corresponding	15	15	134.8	67.6	136.1	69.1	270.9	136.7	50	51	50
Noncorresponding	8	5	80.6	47.9	78.6	50.2	159.2	98.1	59	64	62
All	23	20	115.9	62.7	116.1	64.4	232.0	127.1	54	55	55
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS											1
Corresponding	10	10	9.4	5.2	13.2	9.1	22.6	14.3	55	69	63
Noncorresponding	10	4	12.2	17.4	11.8	16.1	24.1	33.5	143	136	139
All	20	14	10.8	8.7	12.5	11.1	23.3	19.8	81	89	85
SIX SERIES <sup>b</sup>											
Corresponding	70	70	698	37.6	68.4	35.2	138.2	72.8	54	51	53
Noncorresponding	36	17	40.1	43.1	30.8	25.2	70.9	68.3	107	82	96
All	106	87	59.7	38.7	55.7	33.3	115.4	72.0	65	60	62

M stands for monthly data, A for annual. See Charts 26-27 for the periods covered.

•All cycles correspond in this series. •See Table 65, note 'a'.

238

Series at CON

Deflated a 1878-1 1893-1 1910-1 Pig iron p 1879-1 1896 - 11914-19 Railroad 1857-1 1889-1 1907-1 Shares tra 1878-1 1897-19 1914-1 Call mor 1858--1 1880-1 1904-1 Railroad 1860-1 1876-1

1905-1

M stands i cycles in 11 the monthly average in the noncorresponding than in the corresponding cycles. The results are similar for cyclical declines, though less striking because the annual forms of our test series skip few expansions. Bond yields have the distinction of skipping three expansions and three contractions, and the average fall of their annual noncorresponding cycles is no less conspicuous than the average rise.

The effects of cycle-skipping by annual data seem to be even more haphazard than the dampening effects. In iron production the inclusion of noncorresponding cycles in the averages reduces only slightly the discrepancy between the monthly and annual averages restricted to corresponding cycles. In clearings, on the other hand, the inclusion of noncorresponding cycles produces a larger average rise in the annual data than in the monthly and practically the same full-cycle average as in the monthly-an odd result, but one that may occur whenever annual data skip many cycles. Despite these uneven effects, the ranks of the averages of joint rise and fall, covering all cycles, are the same for the annual and

TABLE 68
Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles during Brief Periods
Six American Series, Monthly and Annual

Series and period	Num spec cyc	ber of ficilies		A in sp	verage a ecific-cy	mplitu vcle rela	de atives		Ann as of	ual av s per c mont	erage ent hly
covered			R	ise	F	all	Rise	& fall			Rise
	м	A	м	A	м	A	м	A	Rise	Fall	& fall
Deflated clearings											
1878-1893	5	4	29.6	27.0	12.5	5.0	42.1	32.0	91	40	76
1893-1910	5	3	27.3	26.7	10.0	5.4	37.3	32.0	98	54	86
1910–1933	5	3	23.7	36.2	17.6	20.7	41.3	56.9	153	118	138
Pig iron production											
1879-1896	5	3	62.3	. 42.4	44.4	18.2	106.7	60.6	68	41	57
1896-1914	5	4	64.4	45.4	48.3	23.9	112.8	69.4	70	49	62
1914–1933	5	5	59.5	36.9	71.5	47.6	131.0	84.5	62	67	65
Railroad stock prices											
1857-1889	6	5	45.8	41.0	30.6	23.1	76.4	64.1	90	75	84
1889–1907	6	5	29.2	24.4	22.7	14.5	51.9	38.9	84	64	75
1907-1932	6	6	31.7	20.4	42.0	31.4	73.7	51.8	64	75	70
Shares traded											
1878-1897	5	5	74.5	30.4	73.1	27.8	147.6	58.2	41	38	39
1897-1914	5	5	108.0	47.9	111.5	46.3	219.5	94.1	44	42	43
1914–1933	5	5	111.7	71.4	92.6	44.0	204.3	115.4	64	48	56
Call money rates											
1858-1880	7	5	109.9	59.6	108.2	52.8	218.1	112.4	54	49	52
1880-1904	8	7	141.6	75.3	147.9	85.0	289.5	160.3	53	57	55
1904–1931	8	8	95.6	53.6	91.2	53.6	186.8	107.2	56	59	57
Railroad bond yields											
1860-1876	6	3	12.3	12.5	14.4	23.9	26.6	36.4	102	166	137
1876-1905	7	6	7.4	4.5	12.8	7.4	20.2	11.8	61	58	58
1905–1931	7	5	13.0	11.5	10.8	7.9	23.7	19.4	88	73	82

M stands for monthly data, A for annual. The periods cover (approximately) successive thirds of the specific cycles in monthly data

verage cent nthly Rise & fall

> 62 134 98

> > 56 89 63

69 185 77

> 47 50

> 62 55 63

139 85 53

> 96 62

monthly data. This credit would be dimmed if our test series were not so dissimilar in the vigor of their cyclical fluctuations; it is dimmed even in our sample when the averages for all cycles are considered separately for expansions and contractions, or when any of the three amplitude measures are restricted to brief periods, as in Table 68. In the 54 comparisons provided by this table the annual average ranges from 38 to 166 per cent of the monthly average, being less than half of the monthly in 11 instances and exceeding the monthly in 6. Table 69 adds the information that in every series covered by our tests the variability of amplitudes relatively to their mean is larger in the annual than in the monthly measures.

DEFLA

betwee are not ages of cycle a

similar

cycles.

Since t

month

so wide

quarte

occurs

30 We om

of the 54

Corr

None All. PIG IRC Corr Non All. RAILRO Corre Non All. SHARES All. CALL MO Corre Nonc AlL RAILRO Corre Nonc All. The aver periods c All cycl

14066 03	Т	AE	BLE	6	9
----------	---	----	-----	---	---

Variability of Amplitudes	of Specific	Cycles in	Monthly	and	Annual	Data
	Six Ameri	can Serie	s			

Series and	No. of	Ave in spec	erage devia affic-cycle	Co V	Coefficient of variation <sup>a</sup>		
form of data	cycles	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall
DEFLATED CLEARINGS							
Monthly	15	10.6	8.7	13.8	39	65	34
Annual	10	14.5	8.7	17.7	49	89	45
PIG IRON PRODUCTION							
Monthly	15	15.7	21.2	26.8	25	39	23
Annual	12	18.9	20.5	23.1	46	63	31
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES						ļ	
Monthly	18	20.5	17.0	35.9	58	53	53
Annu <b>al</b>	16	24.1	16.2	38.9	86	69	75
SHARES TRADED							
Monthly	15	31.8	30.8	56.4	32	33	30
Annual	15	30.0	18.9	39.4	60	48	44
CALL MONEY RATES					1		
Monthly	23	52.0	56.7	105.9	45	49	46
Annual	20	32.2	· 33.0	59.4	51	51	47
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS				1			
Monthly	20	5.3	6.2	7.2	49	50	31
Annual	14	6.0	7.9	10.1	69	71	51

See Table 57 for periods covered.

<sup>a</sup>Here taken as the percentage ratio of the average deviation to the mean.

Finally, Table 70 demonstrates that amplitude measures on a per month basis reduce materially the difficulties caused by noncorresponding cycles and therefore have a special claim on the attention of students forced to work with annual data. The reason is simply that if, say, two cyclical expansions are telescoped by annual figures, we are likely to get an unusually large cyclical rise; but since the rise is also likely to be very long, the one tendency will counteract the other when the *rate* of rise is computed. In each series the average per month figure is considerably lower in annual than in monthly data, whether corresponding or noncorresponding cycles are compared. Not only that, but the discrepancies

### Average Per Month Amplitude of Corresponding, Noncorresponding and All Specific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data Six American Series

Series and	Num spec	ber of cific	Average per month amplitude in specific-cycle relatives							
group of cycles	cyc	les	R	ise	F	all	Rise	& fall		
	M	A	М	A	М	A	M	A		
DEFLATED CLEARINGS										
Corresponding	5	5	0.9	0.8	1.6	0.3	1.1	0.7		
Noncorresponding	10	5	0.8	0.5	2.1	0.5	0.9	0.5		
All	15	10	0.8	0.7	1.9	0.4	0.9	0.6		
PIG IRON PRODUCTION										
Corresponding	10	10	2.8	1.6	4.8	2.2	3.2	1.9		
Noncorresponding	5	2	1.7	1.0	4.4	1.0	2.2	1.0		
All	15	12	2.4	1.5	4.7	2.0	2.9	1.7		
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES										
Corresponding	15	15	1.3	0.8	1.7	0.9	1.4	0.9		
Noncorresponding	3	1	2.2	1.1	1.4	0.8	1.6	1.0		
All	18	16	1.4	0.8	1.7	0.9	1.4	0.9		
SHARES TRADED <sup>8</sup>										
All	15	15	7.6	2.5	4.1	1.7	4.6	2.1		
CALL MONEY RATES			1							
Corresponding	15	15	5.7	2.8	8.7	4.3	6.6	3.4		
Noncorresponding	8	5	9.0	1.7	5.6	2.4	5.7	2.0		
All	23	20	6.9	2.5	7.6	3.8	6.3	3.0		
RAILROAD BOND VIELDS										
Corresponding	10	10	0.5	0.2	0.6	0.3	0.5	0.3		
Noncorresponding	10	4	0.7	0.5	1.1	0.4	0.7	0.4		
All	20	14	0.6	0.3	0.9	0.3	0.6	0.3		

The averages in this table are unweighted. M stands for monthly data, A for annual. See Charts 26-27 for the periods covered.

All cycles correspond in this series.

between the monthly and annual averages for noncorresponding cycles are not very different as a rule from the discrepancies between the averages of corresponding cycles. As a result the relations between the allcycle averages of the monthly and annual data of our series are roughly similar to the relations between averages restricted to corresponding cycles.<sup>80</sup>

# VIII Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Quarterly Data

Since the standings at the peaks and troughs of specific cycles cover three months in both quarterly and monthly series, they are not likely to differ so widely as the annual and monthly standings. Indeed, the monthly and quarterly standings are identical whenever the monthly peak or trough occurs in the middle month of the quarter that has the highest or lowest

80 We omit comparisons of per month amplitudes on the detailed basis of Table 68. In every one of the 54 comparisons, the average per month amplitude is lower in annual than in monthly data.

ient of tion II Rise

& fall

30

44

46

47

31 51

n a per espondstudents say, two y to get be very of rise is iderably or nonepancies

in ab

are e and

Thu

terlv

chan

tives

ences

Dev

ann

qua ami

(pe

from

Under -40 to

-30 to

-20 to -10 to

0 to +10 to

+20 to

+30 to Over Total. Based o \*See Ch \*See no between percenti

It biased carefu The a corres quent

ampl mont

rarel

32 The

differe two di

33 Furt

arise of the diff

signific

value.<sup>31</sup> When they cover different months the monthly peaks are nearly certain to be higher than the quarterly peaks and the monthly troughs lower than the quarterly, if the cyclical rise is symmetrical with the cyclical fall. When the two phases are not symmetrical, as is the rule in experience, the quarterly peak may easily reach higher than the monthly. This result is most probable if the peak comes in the last month of the quarter and is preceded by a moderate rate of rise and followed by a sharp rate of decline; or if it comes in the first month of the quarter and is preceded by a moderate decline. Similarly, the three months centered on the trough month may under certain conditions have a higher value than one of the conventional quarters. Again that result is most probable if the trough comes in the last month of the quarter and is preceded by a moderate decline and followed by a sharp rise; or comes in the first month of the quarter and is preceded by a moderate decline and followed by a sharp rise; or comes in the first month of the quarter and followed by a moderate rate of preceded by a sharp rise; or comes in the first month of the quarter and followed by a sharp rise; or comes in the first month of the quarter and followed by a sharp rise; or comes in the first month of the quarter and is preceded by a moderate rise.

Table 63 illustrates in detail the effect of the quarterly time unit upon the standings at cyclical turns and the resulting amplitude measures of iron production, and shows how these effects differ from those produced by annual data. Table 71 summarizes the effects of the quarterly time unit

	No. of instance	es in which mont	hly measure is
Measure	Smaller than quarterly	Larger than quarterly	Same as quarterly
STANDING IN ORIGINAL UNITS			
At peak	26	47	29
At trough	44	32	34
AMPLITUDE IN ORIGINAL UNITS			
Rise	39	55	8
Fall	34	55	13
Rise & fall.	34	62	6
AMPLITUDE IN SPECIFIC-CYCLE RELATIVES			
Rise	35	61	6
Fall	35	62	5
Rise & fall.	37	61	4

TABLE 71

Standings at Cyclical Turns and Amplitudes of Monthly Data Compared with Similar Measures of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Quarterly Data

Based on specific cycles of six American series. The periods covered are shown in Table 57, except that we omit here the noncorresponding specific cycles during 1914-21 in deflated clearings and during 1915-22 in call money rates.

on all six series. The 102 specific cycles that correspond in the monthly and quarterly data make possible as many comparisons of standings at peaks and a slightly larger number at troughs. The monthly peaks are higher than the quarterly in more instances than they are lower; also the monthly troughs are lower than the quarterly in more instances than they are higher. In neither set of comparisons is there a clear majority, for

81 Except, of course, when the monthly standing is based on one or two months instead of three. See p. 132.

### AMPLITUDE IN QUARTERLY DATA

in about 30 per cent of the instances the monthly and quarterly standings are equal. But when differences are struck between the standings at peaks and troughs, the monthly and quarterly results diverge more sharply. Thus the absolute full-cycle amplitude of monthly data exceeds the quarterly in 62 instances, is lower in 34, and the same in 6. These results are not changed materially when the absolute amplitudes are expressed as relatives of their respective cycle bases, since the monthly-quarterly differences between cycle bases are slight.<sup>32</sup>

Т	A	В	L	Е	7	2
---	---	---	---	---	---	---

Frequency Distribution of the Differences between Amplitudes of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data

Deviation of annual or quarterly	No. of diff and n	erences betw nonthly ampl	No. of differences between quarter and monthly amplitudes <sup>b</sup>					
from monthly (per cent)	m monthly per cent) Rise Fall Rise & fall		Rise	Fall	Rise & fall			
Under -40	45	47	42	1				
-40 to -31	9	9	16		1			
-30 to -21	10	7	7	4	7	3		
-20 to -11	5	7	5	12	13	11		
-10 to -1	1			41	37	44		
0 to +9				33	32	35		
+10 to +19				9	7	7		
+20 to +29				1	3	1		
+30 to +39				1	• • • •	1		
Over +39	9				2			
Total	70	70	: 70	102	102	102		

Based on amplitudes in specific-cycle relatives of six American series.

\*See Chart 27 for the periods covered, and Table 64 for a more detailed breakdown.

<sup>b</sup>See note to Table 71 concerning the periods covered. Rounding figures produces some minor discrepancies between the results in this table and the preceding one. In this table the quarterly amplitude is expressed as a percentage deviation, to the nearest one per cent, from the monthly amplitude.

It appears, therefore, that the amplitudes of quarterly data tend to be biased in the same direction as the annual. But it is important to note carefully the differences between the quarterly and annual effects. (1) The annual amplitudes of our test series are invariably smaller than the corresponding monthly amplitudes; the quarterly amplitudes are frequently larger. (2) The differences between the quarterly and monthly amplitudes are usually much smaller than between the annual and monthly. The deviation of the quarterly amplitude from the monthly rarely exceeds 20 per cent (Table 72),<sup>33</sup> while the deviation of the annual

 $^{32}$  The quarterly base is within 1 per cent of the monthly in 77 of the 102 corresponding cycles. The difference between bases exceeds 3 per cent in share trading only; even in this volatile series only two differences exceed 5 per cent and the largest is 12 per cent.

<sup>33</sup> Further, large percentage differences between the monthly and quarterly amplitudes as a rule arise only when the amplitudes are small. If the monthly rise is 2 points and the quarterly 3 points, the difference between them is 50 per cent; large percentages arising in this manner have slight significance.

it upon ures of oduced ne unit

with

asure is

me as arterly 29 34 - 8 13

6 5 4

omit here

6

honthly lings at aks are also the es than

rity, for

from the monthly is rarely below this figure. (3) The relations among the amplitudes of individual cycles are highly similar in the quarterly and monthly forms of each series, but sometimes diverge considerably in the annual and monthly forms. Coefficients of correlation between monthly and quarterly amplitudes (Table 66) are invariably above .88 and usually well above .90, while the monthly-annual coefficients fall below .80 in five instances and below .50 in one. (4) In every series the average amplitudes of corresponding cycles are considerably lower in annual than in monthly data. The quarterly averages are somewhat lower than the monthly in five series, but higher in one (Table 73). Moreover, the differences between the quarterly and monthly measures are frequently dimmed or erased when the averages are read to the nearest one per cent. (5) Since noncorresponding cycles are few in quarterly and numerous in annual data, their effect on the relations among cycles and on the averages is slight in the quarterly but very marked in the annual measures. (6) The average joint rise and fall of all cycles in monthly data exceeds the annual average by margins of 1 to 105 points in different series; in percentages of the monthly averages the discrepancies range from -2 to -53. Thus the annual effects are usually in the same direction and of considerable size; they cannot be slighted. In contrast, the quarterly average rise and fall is within 1 point of the monthly in 4 series and the largest difference is 6 points; in percentages of the monthly averages the discrepancies range

ΤA	BL	Е	73
----	----	---	----

### Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Monthly and Quarterly Data Six American Series

Saria	Number of specific cycles		Average amplitude in specific-cycle relatives							
and group			, R	Rise		all	Rise & fall			
	м	Q	M	Q	М	Q	M	Q		
ALL CYCLES			a .		1					
Deflated clearings	15	14	26.9	27.7	· 13.4	13.6	40.2	41.3		
Pig iron production	· 15	15	62.1	59.1	54.8	51.4	116.8	110.5		
Railroad stock prices	18	18	35.6	35.2	31.8	31.2	67.3	66.4		
Shares traded	15	15	98.1	100.3	92.4	95.8	190.5	196.1		
Call money rates	23	22	115.9	115.6	116.1	117.3	232.0	232.9		
Railroad bond yields	20	20	10.8	10.5	12.5	12.2	23.3	22.7		
Six series <sup>a</sup>	106	104	59.7	59.3	55.7	55.6	115.4	114.9		
CORRESPONDING CYCLES								l		
Deflated clearings	13	13	27.0	26.3	14.2	13.8	41.3	40.1		
Call money rates	21	21	118.4	114.4	122.0	118.4	240.3	232.8		
Six series <sup>a</sup>	102	102	59.8	58.6	56.6	55.7	116.4	114.3		
NONCORRESPONDING CYCLES										
Deflated clearings	2	1	25.8	45.5	7.9	12.0	33.7	57.5		
Call money rates	2	1	90.6	139.8	54.2	94.7	144.8	234 5		

M stands for monthly data, Q for quarterly. The periods covered by all cycles are shown in Table 57; the noncorresponding cycles cover 1914-21 in deflated clearings and 1915-22 in call money rates. In the other four series the specific cycles in monthly and quarterly data correspond throughout. See Table 65, note 'a'. from -5 amplitud be disreg thrown t difference bias of the correspondare inclu

Measure monthly cycles in and the b Both fac series; b averages Since gether, t than do 1 when the depends and the annual a may be e tion as ar difference tions ski in share spond th secular t Whe tionally lengther systemat rates of the inte annuala ments of they are this mea The to judge

1

ong the

rly and

in the

onthly

usually

🕽 in five

litudes

honthly y in five etween

erased ce non-

al data,

light in

average

average

of the

hus the

ble size;

d fall is

nce is 6

s range

lta

atives

& fall

Q

41.3

110.5

66.4 196.1

232.9

22.7

114.9

40.1

232,8

114.3

57.5

234 5

57; the nonother four from -5 to +3. In view of the errors to which the monthly measures of amplitude are subject, these differences are so small that they may usually be disregarded. (7) When the amplitudes of all cycles in all six series are thrown together, the averages must be carried to a decimal to show a difference between quarterly and monthly data; so that the downward bias of the quarterly amplitudes, which is tenuous and slight even for corresponding cycles, almost disappears when noncorresponding cycles are included.

# IX The Secular Component of Specific Cycles

Measures of percentage change between the levels of successive cycles of monthly, quarterly, and annual data differ for two reasons: the specific cycles in different forms of the same series do not correspond invariably, and the boundaries even of corresponding cycles vary with the time unit. Both factors sometimes produce important differences in individual series; but while the effects of the second factor tend to cancel out in averages, those of the first do not.

Since annual data frequently run two or more monthly cycles together, they tend to show a larger average rise between successive cycles than do monthly data when the trend is upward, and a larger average fall when the trend is downward. When the trend changes direction the result depends in good part on the proportion of cycles skipped along the rising and the declining segments. When there is no clearly defined trend the annual and monthly averages should confirm each other. Quarterly data may be expected to differ from monthly much less but in the same direction as annual data. Table 74 illustrates these effects. The monthly-annual difference is largest in deflated clearings, a series whose annual summations skip one-third of the specific cycles. The difference is negligible in share trading and call money rates; in the first the annual cycles correspond throughout to the monthly, while the second has no clearly defined secular trend.

When the inter-cycle changes are put on a per month basis, an exceptionally large rise or fall that results from cycle-skipping is offset by a lengthened interval between the midpoints of the cycles; hence the systematic biases of annual data tend to disappear. Further, when the rates of change between the levels of successive cycles are weighted by the intervals between their midpoints, the monthly, quarterly, and annual averages become practically identical. In comparing secular movements of different series we rely usually on these weighted averages. That they are practically independent of the time unit attests the soundness of this measure.

The measures of secular movements demonstrate how difficult it is to judge merely from the steepness of the trend what proportion of the

Average Secular Movement of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data Six American Series

	Number of	Average per	cent change from	cycle to cycle
Series and form of data	specific		Per n	onth
	cycles	Total	Unweighted	Weighted
DEFLATED CLEARINGS				
Monthly	15	+15.2	+0.36	+0.37
Quarterly	14	+16.4	+0.37	+0.37
Annual	10	+22.6	+0.36	+0.36
PIG IRON PRODUCTION				
Monthly	14	+12.9	+0.32	+0.32
Quarterly	14	+12.8	+0.33	+0.32
Annual	12	+14.5	+0.28	+0.32
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES				
Monthly	18	+10.4	+0.20	+0.21
Quarterly	18	+10.4	+0.20	+0.21
Annual	16	+11.4	+0.16	+0.21
SHARES TRADED				
Monthly	15	+14.1	+0.37	+0.34
Quarterly	15	+14.1	+0.37	+0.34
Annual	15	+14.3	+0.33	+0.35
CALL MONEY RATES				
Monthly	23	-0.1	-0.02	0.00
Quarterly	22	-0.3	-0.05	-0.01
Annual	20	-0.5	-0.03	-0.01
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS				
Monthly	20	-1.6	-0.01	-0.04
Quarterly,	20	-1.6	-0.01	-0.04
Annual	14	-2.1	-0.03	-0.03

110

Pig iror

130

120

110

See Table 57 for the periods covered. Note, however, that the cycle from 1879 to 1885 in pig iron production is excluded from the monthly and quarterly data, since the cycles in the annual series start in 1885. When this cycle is included, the monthly averages in successive columns are  $\pm 14.5$ ,  $\pm 0.34$ ,  $\pm 0.35$ .

cycles in a series is skipped by annual data. The average rate of secular change is about the same in clearings and share trading, but annual data hide one-third of the monthly cycles in the former and none in the latter. Nor can the effects of the time unit be gauged very well from annual measures of both secular change and cyclical amplitude. For example, since the rate of secular change is larger relatively to the cyclical amplitude in clearings than in share trading, an investigator might expect the first series to skip a greater proportion of cycles than the second. That turns out to be correct; but by the same reasoning, share trading should skip more cycles than call money rates, and that is contrary to fact.

# X Specific-cycle Patterns

Charts 26 and 27 recapitulate many of the results established in preceding sections, and add information about the *form* of the mounting wave from trough to peak and of the receding wave from peak to trough. This in-

### CHART 28 Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data Six American Series



receding ave from This in-

Îta

to cycle

Veighted

+0.37 +0.37 +0.36

+0.32

+0.32

+0.21

+0.21

+0.21

+0.34

+0.34

+0.35

0.00 -0.01

-0.01

-0.04

-0.04 -0.03

production is

f secular

hual data

he latter.

n annual

example,

al ampli-

pect the

nd. That

g should

When this

Horizontal scale, in months 1-1-1-1-2-2-2-38-48-60 In each figure the three horizontal lines representing the average duration of specific cycles are zero base lines from which the average deviations of the three patterns are to be read. For other explanations of charl, see Ch. 5, Sec. YI and XI. See also Table 75.



### CHART 27 Averaçe Patterns of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data Five American Series

formation is both more detailed and reliable when derived from monthly or quarterly than when derived from annual data.

Two factors limit the detail in which the patterns of specific cycles can be measured: erratic movements and the number of observations available for each cycle. Our experience indicates that in monthly and quarterly data fairly satisfactory results are generally obtained by making nine-point patterns.<sup>34</sup> If a series is free from substantial erratic movements, the monthly patterns articulate the timing of the cycles better; for their framework is fixed by quarters centered on the lowest, highest, and

84 See Ch. 8, Sec. VI.

DEFLATE Month Quart Annua PIG IRON Month Quart Annua RAILROAD Month Ouarte Annua SHARES T Month Quarte Annua CALL MON Month Quarte Annua RAILROAD Month Quarte Annual See Chart lowest pattern

Since the divisible terly that than a y more cy always of and cycl better the On a well, alt

35 See pp. 1 36 We inter covered by the month

### SPECIFIC-CYCLE PATTERNS

### TABLE 75

### Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data Six American Series

		Average in specific-cycle relatives at stage								
Sector and	No. of	I	II	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
form of data	spe- cific	Initial	1	Expansion	n		C	Ter-		
	cycles	trough	First third	Middle third	Last third	reak	First third	Middle third	Last third	trough
DEFLATED CLEARINGS		-114								
Monthly	15	85.7	90.5	99. <b>2</b>	106.7	112.6	108.7	106.0	101.9	<b>99.2</b>
Quarterly	14	85.0	90.9	98.4	106.4	112.6	108.7	106.5	102.7	<b>9</b> 9.0
Annual	10	84.0	•••	98.1	• • •	113.6		108.2		103.8
PIG IRON PRODUCTION										
Monthly	15	67.3	82.5	103.7	116.5	129.3	122.6	108.2	88.4	74.6
Quarterly	15	69.3	84.6	103.8	115.9	128.4	118.9	104.7	91. <b>9</b>	77.0
Annual	12	79.4		102.2	• • •	120.5		104.2		88.2
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES										
Monthly	18	82.8	88.0	98.8	110.8	118.3	112.4	103.2	94.0	86.6
Quarterly	18	82.9	88.3	98.4	109.2	118.1	111.5	103.7	95.2	86.8
Annual	16	87.0	•••	99.0	<b>.</b>	115.1	•••	103.0		91.6
HARES TRADED										
Monthly	15	55.4	79.7	106.5	119.0	153.4	119.7	100.4	81.6	61.0
Quarterly	15	54.9	81.3	100.5	116.1	155.2	114.2	101.3	88.1	59.4
Annual	15	75.6	• • •	100.1		125.5		101.8	• • •	86.2
CALL MONEY RATES										
Monthly	23	62.1	80.3	104.7	123.2	178.0	120.4	89.9	71.8	61.9
Quarterly	22	60.3	79.7	105.1	126.1	175.9	113.2	87.8	76.5	58.6
Annual	20	73.3	• • •	102.6		136.0	• • • •	96.4	• • •	71.6
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS										
Monthly	20	96.1	98.4	101.5	104.0	106.9	103.7	100.6	96.9	94.3
Quarterly	20	96.3	99.3	101.7	103.3	106.7	103.1	100.4	97.0	94.5
Annual	14	97.5	•••	101.1		106.2	•••	101.4	•••	95.1

See Chart 26 for the periods covered.

lowest monthly dates of each cycle, while the framework of the quarterly patterns is fixed by the lowest, highest, and lowest calendar-year quarters. Since the durations of expansions or contractions <sup>35</sup> are not always exactly divisible by three, the successive 'thirds' tend to be more uneven in quarterly than in monthly data. Further, since many cyclical phases are shorter than a year, it is frequently necessary to interpolate standings at one or more cyclical stages in the quarterly data.<sup>38</sup> But the advantage is not always on the side of monthly data: if erratic movements are pronounced and cyclical phases short, quarterly data may trace out the cyclical pattern better than monthly data.

On the whole, the quarterly and monthly patterns agree remarkably well, although many differences of detail turn up in Table 75, some con-

### 85 See pp. 145.6 and Table 48.

36 We interpolated one or more standings during 40 of the 208 phases of expansion and contraction covered by the quarterly data of the six series, but during only 2 of the 212 phases covered by the monthly data.

# monthly

- 1911, 1922 - 31 15 - 1911, 1922 - 31

ic cycles rvations hly and making c movetter; for est, and sistently in the same direction. We pass by the differences between the standings in stages I, V and IX, since these standings are taken from the amplitude tables and we have already commented on them. The point that calls for notice is that the average monthly standing as a rule exceeds the quarterly in stages IV and VI and falls short of the quarterly in stages II and VIII; while the differences in stages III and VII seem random. These results arise from a slight difference in our method of making monthly and quarterly patterns, not from the time unit as such.<sup>37</sup> Imagine a monthly series that reaches cyclical turns in the middle month of the quarter in which the quarterly data make their turn. Then the period covered by stages II-IV will be two months longer in monthly data than in quarterly, since this period includes every month except the months of cyclical turn, but every quarter except the quarterly turns. One of the additional months is adjacent to the trough; it is included in stage II and tends to pull the standing for this stage below the quarterly. The second additional month is adjacent to the peak and therefore tends to pull the standing for stage IV above the quarterly. For similar reasons, the standing of monthly data in stage VI tends to be higher and in stage VIII lower than in quarterly data.<sup>38</sup> If we eliminated the one-month overlap of stages IV and VI upon stage V, and of stages VIII and II upon stage I (or IX), we would find that the quarterly standings agree better with the monthly than they do at present.<sup>39</sup>

The patterns of annual cycles cannot be measured in the same detail as the monthly or quarterly patterns, because annual data provide too few observations on individual cycles. To make nine-point patterns without recourse to interpolations, the annual cycles must cover at least 8 years, and their phases of expansion and contraction at least 4 years. Comparatively few specific cycles meet these specifications: in our six series there are only three, and one is spurious since it telescopes two cycles in monthly data. Hence, when working with annual data we simplify the method, and record merely the standing at the initial trough, mid-expansion, peak, mid-contraction, and terminal trough. Even these simplified patterns do violence to the raw data in many instances. For when an expansion or contraction lasts just one year in the annual data, the stand-

37 That is to say, the monthly patterns could have been so made as to avoid the systematic differences from the quarterly. See p. 151. But monthly data are basic in our scheme; we therefore used that method of analysis which seems best suited to them, and adapted the quarterly analysis to it.

<sup>38</sup> The text presupposes positive analysis. If the specific cycles are treated on an inverted basis, the relations between the quarterly and monthly patterns are similar; but stages II, IV, VI and VIII of positive cycles become VI, VIII, II and IV, respectively, in inverted cycles.

39 The very feature of our method that tends to produce a lower standing of monthly than quarterly data in stage II tends to make the interval from stage I to II shorter in monthly than in quarterly data; the one change tends to offset the other so far as the rate of change between stage I and II is concerned. Similar statements apply to the rates of change between other stages: thus the increment from stage II to III tends to be larger in monthly than quarterly data, but the interval between stage II and III also tends to be longer in monthly data, and so on.

42 See pp. 15

### SPECIFIC CYCLE PATTERNS

ing in the middle of the phase must be determined by interpolation. These poor substitutes for actual observations account for 75 out of 174, or over two-fifths of the mid-phase standings in our six series.

Close observation of the form of specific cycles is a matter of great importance. A sine curve in the strict sense has been a common device of mathematical economists in their work on business cycles. In a looser sense, the sine curve assumption is a favorite of 'literary economists' as well. Numerous hypotheses about cyclical fluctuations, particularly those that make much of the 'acceleration principle', proceed on the tacit assumption that the cyclical movements of time series behave like sine curves, in the sense that the rate of rise reaches a maximum around midexpansion and the rate of fall attains a maximum around mid-contraction. Sometimes the specific cycles of economic activities conform to this model, probably more often they do not; the crucial point is that monthly, or at least quarterly, data are necessary to grapple with the acceleration principle or any other hypothesis that calls for fairly detailed knowledge of cyclical patterns.<sup>40</sup> For example, monthly data on iron production show that the rise is fastest typically in the early or late stages of expansion, while the decline is sharpest toward the close of contraction; the annual patterns cover up these variations in the progress of the cyclical movements. Again, the annual pattern of call money rates suggests that the rise is faster in the second than in the first half of expansions, and that the decline is faster in the first than in the second half of contractions. In fact the large movements of call money rates are characteristic of brief intervals in the vicinity of cyclical peaks, not of the full period from mid-expansion to mid-contraction.41

Chart 28 completes the preceding analysis. The chart shows cyclical patterns of monthly and annual data adjusted for variation in the average duration and amplitude of their separate phases.<sup>42</sup> If annual and monthly data conveyed the same information concerning relative variations in the rate of cyclical movements, their adjusted patterns would be the same. If neither conveyed any information on the subject—which would happen if both represented the standing of a series merely at the initial trough, peak, and terminal trough—the adjusted patterns would be the same regardless of the series or the time unit, as are the triangles formed by connecting peaks and troughs in Chart 28. Actually, the annual patterns, as a rule, hug closely the triangular guidelines, while the monthly patterns move freely; in other words, annual data tell little about the form of specific cycles, and what little they tell is not always trustworthy. The real culprit, of course, is the small number of observations from which the annual patterns are made. When a cyclical phase lasts only

40 Cf. pp. 340-7.

41 See Charts 26-27 and Table 76.

42 See pp. 157-9 concerning this adjustment.

een the rom the ie point exceeds n stages andom. making Imagine h of the period ata than months e of the e II and e second pull the le stand-II lower of stages IX), we monthly be detail

tycles in olify the I-expanmplified n an exte standdifferences e used that

vide too

ns with-

least 8

rs. Com-

ix series

s to it. d basis, the I and VIII

than quarly than in ween stage tages: thus he interval

### TABLE 76

Position of Fastest and Slowest Rates of Change in Specific-cycle Patterns Six Monthly American Series

	No. of	Distribution of rates of change between stages									
Series	spe-	I-II	II-III	111-IV	IV-V	v-vi	VI-VII	VII-VII	VIII-IX		
	cific cycles	No. of expansions in which rise is fastest fall is fastest									
Deflated clearings	15	5	1	2	7	6.5	4.5	3	1		
Pig iron production.	15	7	1	2	5	1	2	4	8		
Railroad stock prices	18	2	4	4	8	5	2	4	7		
Shares traded	15	4	4	1	6	9	1	1	4		
Call money rates	23	2	1	3	17	16	2	3	2		
Railroad bond yields	20	6.5	4	1	8.5	10.5	3	2.5	4		
		No.	of expan rise is	sions in v slowest	/hich	No. of contractions in which fall is slowest					
Deflated clearings	15	6	4	3	2		7	5.5	2.5		
Pig iron production.	15	3	1	11		5.5	4.5	2	3		
Railroad stock prices	18	6	2	6	4	5	4	8	1		
Shares traded	15	2	2	9	2	2	4	8	1		
Call money rates	23	3	7	12	1	1	8	4	10		
Railroad bond yields	_ 20	2	7.5	7.5	3	. 2.5	8	3.5	6		

To minimize the number of ties the rates of change were computed to extra decimals. But some ties remained; hence the fractions. See Table 55 for the periods covered.

one year, as happens frequently, we know nothing about variations in the rate of movement within it. When a phase lasts two or three years we have some knowledge; but since we cannot even be sure that annual figures tell correctly the direction of the cyclical movements, we must accept with serious reservations what they tell about rates of change in cyclical movements.<sup>43</sup>

## XI Different Forms of Annual Data

The problem of the time unit consists of three distinct parts, only one of which we have considered thus far. Cyclical measures depend, first, upon the number of entries per year, second, upon the boundaries of the time unit to which the entries refer, third, upon the presence or absence of a gap between the entries. If the number of observations per year is large the three factors merge; as the number dwindles the second and third factors become increasingly important. Specific cycles determined from monthly data are practically independent of the limits of the monthly figures; that is, they would not be changed appreciably if calendar-month figures were replaced by figures running from the fifteenth of one month

<sup>43</sup> To observe how the monthly and annual patterns compare when both show equivalent detail, it is necessary merely to connect the standings at the initial trough, mid-expansion, peak. midcontraction, and terminal trough in the monthly curves on Chart 28. Some enormous differences appear, particularly in iron production, call money rates, and bond yields. Clearly, annual data provide less reliable as well as scantier information about cyclical patterns than do monthly data. See the comparison between the directions of annual and monthly data in Sec. III. Deflater

100

To facilitate :

to the i they be average month. cycles d and on Ima time se the mo out an summa 44 This in

time unit fills in cyc the series of the mo least by t to be low

### DIFFERENT FORMS OF ANNUAL DATA

### CHART 28 Variation of Average Rates of Change from Stage to Stage of Expansions and Contractions of Specific Cycles in Monthly and Annual Data Six American Series



To facilitate study, the peaks and troughs are joined by straight lines representing uniform rates of expansion and contraction. For further explanations, see Ch. 5, Sec. VI.

to the fifteenth of the next, or from the tenth to the tenth. Nor would they be changed materially, except in highly erratic series, if full-month averages or aggregates were replaced by daily figures reported once a month. Annual data lack this stability. What annual data do to the specific cycles depends in considerable measure on the boundaries of the figures and on the size of the gap, if any, between the successive figures.

Imagine a twelve-month moving total (or average) passed through a time series, properly centered, and plotted on a chart. Next suppose that the moving totals plotted at the end of June in successive years are singled out and all others ignored. The figures chosen are the calendar-year summations analyzed in preceding sections,<sup>44</sup> but they are merely one out

44 This interpretation of annual figures is helpful in analyzing various problems raised by the time unit. For example, we know that a twelve-month moving average lops off cyclical peaks and fills in cyclical troughs. But the cyclical amplitude is cut further by selecting every twelfth item of the series of moving averages, for these selected values rarely coincide with the peaks and troughs of the moving averages. It follows that the annual amplitudes must be lower than the monthly at least by the amount of dampening produced by a twelve-month moving average, and are likely to be lower by a larger amount. (See, however, note 27.)

tterns



ons in the rs we have igures tell cept with cal move-

6

ties remained;

5

nly one of irst, upon f the time sence of a ar is large and third ined from monthly lar-month ne month

valent detail, , peak, midus differences annual data nonthly data.



.



### TABLE 77

### Duration and Amplitude of Successive Specific-cycle Contractions in Monthly and Twelve Forms of Annual Data Pig Iron Production, United States, 1883–1933

Contraction in mon data	thly			Duratio	in and	amplit annu	ude of a	corresp mations	onding from	contra	ction in	3	
Peak – trough dates	Dura- tion and am- pli- tude	Aug. to July	Sep. to Aug.	Oct. to Sep.	Nov. to Oct.	Dec. to Nov.	Jan. to Dec.	Feb. to Jan.	Mar. to Feb.	Apr. to Mar.	May to Apr.	June to May	July to June
Feb. 1883-Jan. 1885	23,21	24,14	24,14	24,15	24,14	24,13	12,10	24, 9	24,10	24,10	24,11	24,11	24,12
Oct. 1887 - Mar. 1888	5,19	S	S	S	S	S	s	Ś	S	Ś	12,0.3	Ś	Ś
May1890-Apr. 1891	11,38	12, 8	12,10	12,11	12,11	12,11	12,10	12, 7	12, 2	S	s	12, 3	12, 7
Feb. 1892 - Oct. 1893	20,56	24,46	24,43	24,39	24,34	24,29	24,25	12,24	12,27	24,29	24,34	24,40	24,45
Nov.1895 - Oct. 1896	11,44	12,22	12,19	12,12	12, 3	12, 5	12,10	12,14	12,16	12,18	12,20	12,22	12,23
June 1903 - Dec. 1903	6.42	12,15	12,18	12.20	12.19	12.15	12. 7	12, 3	12, 5	12, 7	12, 8	12, 0	12,13
July 1907 - Jan. 1908	6,50	12,32	12,36	12,39	12,42	12,43	12,38	24,35	24,32	24,30	24,28	24,26	12,27
Jan. 1910 - Dec. 1910	11,30	12,21	12,21	12,20	12,19	12,17	12,13	24,10	24,11	24,13	24,14	12,17	12,20
Jan. 1913 - Dec. 1914	23,44	24,27	24,25	12,22	12,24	12,25	12,25	24,24	24,26	24,28	24,29	24,30	24,29
July 1917 - Jan. 1918ª	6,21	S	s	s	S	s	12, 2	12, 4	12, 4	12, 4	12, 4	12, 4	S
Sep. 1918 – May 1919	8,35	s	S	24,12	36,16	36,19	12,20	12,23	12,24	12,23	12,21	S	S
Sep. 1920 - July 1921	10,70	60,47	60,44	12,38	12,46	12,51	12,54	12,56	12,55	12,52	12,46	36,53	60,50
May1923 - July 1924	14,40	24, 9	12,14	12,19	12,22	12,23	12,22	12,21	12,20	12,20	12,19	12,16	12,10
July 1926 - Nov. 1927	16,17	12, 8	24, 7	24, 7	24, 7	12, 7	12.7	12, 7	12, 8	12, 9	12, 9	12, 9	12, 9
July 1929 - Mar. 1933	44,86	48,78	48,75	36,76	36,78	36,79	36,79	36,80	36,81	36,82	36,82	48,82	48,81

S means that the contraction is skipped; see Chart 29. The figure to the left of the comma shows the duration of the contraction (in months), the figure to the right shows its amplitude. To economize effort, the annual amplitudes are expressed as percentages of the peak value from which the contraction starts. The monthly declines are shown on a similar plan, but they are computed from three-month averages centered on the peaks and troughs. "See text below.

Call Money Rates on New York Stock Exchange, 1868–1933 Monthly and Four Forms of Annual Data

CHART 31

of twelve annual summaries that might have been selected.<sup>45</sup> This point is important; and to give it emphasis, we have carried through an experiment with twelve sets of annual totals for pig iron output. The first two columns of Table 77 list the specific-cycle contractions, their duration and their amplitude. The contraction from July 1917 to January 1918, which we consider a random movement, is also listed because several annual summations reflect it. The succeeding columns give the durations and amplitudes of corresponding declines in each of the twelve annual summations, every decline—however slight—being listed. There is, of course, considerable similarity among the twelve arrangements, but the thing to notice is how whimsically the cyclical movements change now and then with shifts in the annual boundaries (see Chart 29). The contraction of 1892–93 appears in every form of the annual data; but in one summation its duration is one year and its amplitude 24 per cent, in another the duration is two years and the amplitude 46 per cent. The contraction of

<sup>45</sup> On the whole there is an increasing tendency to present annual figures on a calendar-year basis, but this practice is far from universal. For example, the receipts and expenditures of the United States government are reported for the fiscal year ending June 30, similar data for Great Britain and Germany cover years ending March 31, agricultural data are frequently reported by crop years, and so on,



- 257 -

### TABLE 78

Characteristics of Cyclical Phases Skipped by Calendar- and Fiscal-year Data Three American Series

	Phase (n skipp	narked S) ed by	Characteristics of skipped phase*			
Series and phase	Calendar- year data	Fiscal- year data•	Nature <sup>b</sup>	Duration in months	Amplitude in specific-cycle relatives	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS						
June 1881 – Jan. 1882		S	С	7	10.2	
June 1887 – Mar. 1888	S	S	С	9	6.5	
Sep. 1890 - Mar. 1891		S	С	6	8.0	
Sep. 1899 – Sep. 1900		S	С	12	6.2	
July 1903 - May 1904	S		С	10	5.9	
Mar. 1910 - Oct. 1910	S	S	С	7	3.3	
Aug. 1918 - Dec. 1918	S	S	С	4	4.9	
May 1923 - Sep. 1923	S	S	С	4	5.7	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION						
Oct. 1887 - Mar. 1888	S	S	С	5	25.5	
Dec. 1899 - Oct. 1900	s	••	С	10	30.5	
May 1919 - Sep. 1920		S	Е	16	40.7	
CALL MONEY RATES						
Jan. 1876 – Sep. 1876	S		С	8	51.9	
Jan. 1878 – Sep. 1878	S		С	8	66.5	
Oct. 1880 - Feb. 1881		S	E	4	98.0	
May 1882 – Sep. 1882	s		E	4	60.1	
Aug. 1918 - Dec. 1918	s	s	С	4	31.0	
June 1922 – Aug. 1923		S	E	14	33.0	
Feb. 1926 - Sep. 1927		S	C	19	27.0	

See Table 55 for the periods covered.

Years ending June 30.

<sup>b</sup>C stands for specific-cycle contraction, E for expansion.

• See also Table 53 and Charts 29-31.

1907–08 lasted six months according to the monthly data, but one or two years according to the annual data; its amplitude was 50 per cent according to the monthly data, 26 to 43 per cent according to the annual. The contraction of 1910 is reflected in every form of the annual data, while the contraction of 1890–91, which was just as long and more pronounced, is skipped in two instances. The contraction of 1929–33, by far the longest and deepest in the record, is reflected fairly accurately in the annual series, its duration varying from three to four years and its amplitude from 75 to 82 per cent. But even here some annual series are deceptive: in the summations ending June, July, and August, there is a four-year contraction from 1929 to 1933 but a five-year contraction from 1917 to 1922.<sup>46</sup>

These results for iron production are not unusual. Charts 30 and 31 show the monthly, calendar-year, and fiscal-year figures (that is, for years ending June 30) of two additional series, clearings and call money rates.

<sup>46</sup> Compare the present analysis, where we take the monthly turning dates of the cycles as they come and observe shifts in the annual cycles produced by changing the annual boundaries, with the analysis of Sec. II where we treat the years as fixed but shift hypothetical monthly series along the time scale. The principle is the same: the shapes of annual cycles depend upon the months of cyclical turn in relation to the annual boundaries. Average M

Series and form of dat

(1) DEFLATED Monthly... Calendar-ve Fiscal-year June.... December. PIG IRON PRODUCTIC Monthly . Calendar-ye Fiscal-year June.... December CALL MONE RATES Monthly.

Calendar-year Fiscal-year. June..... December... Applies to col <sup>b</sup>The timing of averages dependent

same as the nu • If the month <sup>d</sup> If the month

> Tables 7 the calen between dar-year 1 skip seve phases, b appear it expansio amplitud story. Th

47 Table 78 of call mon figures refie Sept. 1906 to is fairly pro-Only two specific cycle rates from garded, is 6

# Average Measures of Specific Cycles in Monthly and Four Forms of Annual Data

Three American Series

Series and Period		No. of	Av. lead () or lag (+) in months at reference <sup>b</sup>		Av. duration in months			Av. amplitude in specific-cycle relatives			Av. per cent change from cycle to cycle	
form of data	covereda	cific cycles	Peaks	Troughs	Ex- pan- sion	Con- trac- tion	Fuil cycle	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Total	Per month (wtd.)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(0)	$\underline{m}$	(8)	(9)	(10)	<u>(11)</u>	(12)	(13)
DEFLATED												
Monthly	1878-1933	15	+3.2	-5.8	32.6	11.4	44.0	26.9	13.4	40.2	+15.2	+0.37
Calendar-year.	1878-1933	10	+1.8	-3.8	49.2	16.8	66.0	29.7	9.8	39.5	+22.6	+0.36
Fiscal-year	1878-1933	8	+4.8	-5.9	67.5	15.0	82.5	36.8	13.6	50.4	+28.4	+0.36
June	1878-1932	16	+0.5	-2.8	24.8	15.8	40.5	22.0	8.5	30.5	+14.7	+0.38
December	1878-1932	9	-0.8	-4.3	54.7	17.3	72.0	35.6	14.6	50.2	+25.4	+0.36
PIG IRON PRODUCTION												
Monthly	1879-1933	15	+1.9	-3.4	28.8	14.5	43.3	62.1	54.8	116.8	+14.5°	+0.354
Calendar-year.	1884-1932	12	+0.3	-3.7	31.0	17.0	48.0	41.1	32.4	73.5	+14.5	+0.32
Fiscal-year	1885-1933	12	-1.5	-2.9	27.0	21.0	48.0	41.8	33.6	75.4	+13.8	+0.30
June	1885-1932	13	+1.7	-2.0	27.7	15.7	43.4	51.9	44.6	96.5	+15.3	+0.35
December	1884-1932	13	-0.6	-3.3	25.8	18.5	44.3	48.8	45.0	93.8	+10.2	+0.25
CALL MONEY Rates												
Monthly	1858-1931	23	-0.1	+1.5	19.9	18.0	37.9	115.9	116.1	232.0	-0.1	0.00
Calendar-year.	1858-1931	20	-0.4	-1.8	25.2	18.6	43.8	62.7	64.4	127.1	-0.5	-0.01
Fiscal-year	1859-1931	21	+0.4	+2.9	20.6	20.6	41.1	56.2	58.0	114.2	-0.4	-0.01
June	1858-1931	23	-2.1	+0.7	21.4	16.7	38.1	68.6	70.9	139.5	+0.1	0.00
December	1858-1930	24	-4.2	+1.0	17.0	19.0	36.0	63.7	63.7	127.4	-0.3	-0.01

\*Applies to col. (6)-(13). Col. (4)-(5) include all timing measures within the period covered by the monthly data. <sup>b</sup>The timing of each series is measured from the monthly reference dates. The number of turns included in the averages depends on the number of comparisons made with the reference dates. Usually this number is not the same as the number of full specific cycles (see Charts 29-31).

• If the monthly average is restricted to the period of the annual, +12.9. • If the monthly average is restricted to the period of the annual, +0.32.

Tables 78-79 and Chart 32 compare the cyclical measures derived from the calendar- and fiscal-year figures of all three series. The discrepancies between the two annual forms are considerable. In clearings the calendar-year figures skip five specific-cycle contractions, the fiscal-year figures skip seven. In call money rates both annual forms skip four cyclical phases, but they skip only one phase in common.47 Notable discrepancies appear in the timing averages and in the average rates of change within expansions and contractions. The measures of cyclical duration and amplitude differ conspicuously, though they tell a reasonably consistent story. The one measure not affected appreciably by the character of the

47 Table 78 records merely the skipped cycles. But as stated on p. 217 the calendar-year figures of call money rates show an 'extra' specific-cycle expansion from 1913 to 1914. The fiscal-year figures reflect this movement, and besides seem to show another 'extra' cycle. The decline from Sept. 1906 to April 1907, which we have treated as a random movement in analyzing monthly data, is fairly prominent in the fiscal-year data; we have treated it, after some hesitation, as cyclical.

Only two changes in the direction of the fiscal-year figures were disregarded in marking off specific cycles: a decline of 0.1 per cent in deflated clearings from 1910 to 1911 and in call money rates from 1926 to 1927. The decline from 1906 to 1907 in call money, which we have not disregarded, is 6 per cent of the value in 1906.

r Data

d phase mplitude in ecific-cycle relatives

10.2 6.5 8.0 6.2 5.9 3.3 4.9 5.7 25.5 30.5 40.7 51.9 66 5 98.0 60.1 31.0 33.0 27.0 ne or two ht accordual. The ita. while nounced, ie longest e annual ude from e: in the contracto 1922.\*6 0 and 31

for years

ney rates.

as they come

es. with the

les along the

months of



# For explanation of chart, see Ch. 5, Sec. VI and XI.

annual summation is the average secular change per month over the period covered by all cycles.

Charts 29-31 and Table 79 give us a glimpse also of what happens when an annual series fails to represent full years, but refers instead—as do many financial series—to a single date within the year. For the present purpose we have merely taken the original (that is, unadjusted for seasonal) June and December figures in every year covered by three series, and analyzed each set of June and each set of December figures by the technique we apply to full-year data. Our sample is small and the evidence not clear-cut, but the following conclusions seem justified. (1) Specific cycles tend to be more numerous in single-date than in full annual series.

The reaso gether int cycles that approxima December The June calendar-y the fiscal-ve similar in of average be slightly series. (5) ( amplitude experted th averages of series. Thi (6) But it i durations; judgment However d difficult in apt to make comparing fore even i year than w

As explaine cycles is to s annual refe monthly re

<sup>48</sup> In the absent twelfth term of June) is likely to former is likely expectation. Re series and in a larger on the average more cycles that The average are as follows:

> Deflated cle Pig iron pro Call money

The reason is that in single-date series erratic values may be joined together into movements that look like specific cycles. (2) The specific cycles that can be distinguished in the June figures are not very good approximations to the specific cycles in the calendar-year data, nor are the December figures very good approximations to the fiscal-year data. (3) The June and December entries are independent observations. But the calendar-year figure for any given year has six months in common with the fiscal-year figure. Hence the full-year forms of a series are more nearly similar in their movements than are the single-date forms. (4) Estimates of average timing and the average monthly rate of secular change tend to be slightly better when made from full-year than from one-date-per-year series. (5) On the average, specific cycles tend to be shorter but of larger amplitude in single-date than in full-year series. Consequently, it may be expected that these average measures will approximate more closely the averages of the underlying monthly data in single-date than in full annual series. This expectation is stronger for durations than for amplitudes.48 (6) But it is always necessary to make qualitative amendments of average durations and amplitudes derived from annual data; that is to say, some judgment must be made of the biases to which the averages are subject. However difficult this may be in the case of full-year data, it is still more difficult in single-date series, for a change in the boundaries of the data is apt to make a larger difference in single-date than in full-year figures. In comparing annual series of different processes, an investigator is therefore even more likely to err when the series represent only one date a year than when they represent whole years.

# XII Reference-cycle Measures

As explained in Section IV of Chapter 4, our procedure in dating business cycles is to set monthly reference dates, and then make the quarterly and annual reference dates match the monthly as well as may be. Once a monthly reference cycle has been recognized, we recognize also a quar-

<sup>48</sup> In the absence of erratic movements, the peak of (say) calendar-year data (conceived of as every twelfth term of a twelve-month moving average of average daily figures, centered at the end of June) is likely to be lower than the peak of actual (last day of) June figures, while the trough of the former is likely to be higher than the trough of the latter. Erratic movements do not affect the expectation. Regardless of erratic movements, so far as the specific cycles in a single-date annual series and in a full-year series correspond, the amplitudes of the single-date series are likely to be larger on the average. However, this tendency is offset by the tendency of single-date series to show more cycles than do full-year series.

The average amplitudes of specific cycles that correspond in the calendar-year and June series are as follows:

	No. of cycles	Cale	ndar-yea	r data	June data			
		Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	
Deflated clearings	6	22.9	5.8	28.7	27.4	<b>9.0</b>	36.4	
Pig iron production	11	37.5	<b>34.0</b>	71.4	51.5	48.8	100.3	
Call money rates	11	78. <b>3</b>	78. <b>3</b>	151.6	84.4	76.3	160.7	

over the

happens hstead—as e present d for searee series, es by the evidence ) Specific ual series.

Pig Cal
# EFFECTS OF THE TIME UNIT

terly and annual cycle in approximately the same period. It is reasonably certain that if we attempted to date quarterly reference cycles independently of the monthly, we would get practically the same results as are yielded by our method. Independent dating of annual reference cycles, on the other hand, would probably yield fewer reference cycles. Such a chronology would be less significant than the one we obtain by forcing the annual reference cycles into correspondence with the monthly. For the new annual cycles would not be homogeneous, some corresponding to single cycles in the monthly chronology and others combining two or even three cycles. We might get one set of reference cycles on a calendar-year basis and a different set on a fiscal-year basis. There is no assurance that the new list, even if restricted to calendar years, would consistently include the largest and exclude the mildest cycles in the monthly list; for as the experiments of this chapter demonstrate, annual data sort out mild and substantial cyclical movements imperfectly. We can even imagine a case in which every annual series reflected a cyclical movement disclosed by monthly data but which we could not recognize as a reference cycle unless we took account of the monthly data: that would happen if some annual series declined one year, others equally important declined the following year, and a dependable composite of all series merely registered a retarded rise over the two years. By forcing quarterly and annual reference cycles into correspondence with monthly cycles, we avoid these difficulties and ensure that the analysis is always focused on the same units of business experience, though its exactness varies with the form of the data. The small number of annual observations on individual cycles re-

TABLE 80	

Four Countries									
Country and	Total no. of	Number of one-year phases							
period covered	phases	Expansion	Contraction	Both					
United States 1834–1938 1878–1938	52 32	6 3	17 13	23 16					
Great Britain 1793–1938 1879–1938	58 24	3 3	18 7	21 10					
Germany 1866–1932 1878–1932	24 20	1	6 5	7 6					
France 1840–1938 1879–1938	<b>42</b> 26	5 3	12 8	17 11					
Four countries <sup>a</sup>	176	15	53	68					

Number of One-year Phases in Annual Reference Cycles Four Countries

Derived from the calendar-year reference dates in Table 16.

•The summary is based on the maximum period shown above for each country.

stricts the as it restr If we atte data with cycles cov shows how ticularly are necess even our many ann raw data o That **t** 81 and Cl show that call mone in busine business of

Avera

Series form of

DEFLATED C

Ouarterly Annual PIG IRON PR Monthly Quarterly Annual. RATEROAD S Monthly Ouarter Annual. SHARES TRA Monthly Quarterl Annual. CALL MONEY Monthly Quarterly Annual RAILROAD BO Monthly

Quarterly Annual

See Chart 33

# REFERENCE-CYCLE MEASURES

stricts the detail in which reference-cycle patterns can be measured, just as it restricts the detail in which specific-cycle patterns can be measured. If we attempted to make nine-point reference-cycle patterns of annual data without interpolating, we would succeed in only 4 of the 88 reference cycles covered by our annual chronology in four countries. Table 80 shows how numerous one-year phases have been in these countries, particularly contractions in the United States after 1878. Since interpolations are necessary to obtain mid-phase standings for phases lasting one year, even our five-point patterns elaborate excessively upon the raw data of many annual reference cycles, just as they elaborate excessively upon the raw data of many specific cycles.

That the loss of detail is a serious disadvantage is apparent from Table 81 and Chart 33. The annual patterns are like the monthly in that both show that bank clearings, iron production, share trading, stock prices, and call money rates on the average tend to rise and fall with the general tides in business activity, while bond yields bear a quasi-inverted relation to business cycles. But the annual patterns sacrifice precious information:

				Average	in refere	nce-cycle	relative	s at stage	:	
S article at	No. of	I	II	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
form of data	ence	Initial	I	Expansio	n		С	ontractic	n	Ter-
	cycles	trough	First third	Middle third	Last third	Peak	First third	Middle third	Last third	minal trough
DEFLATED CLEARINGS										
Monthly	15	88.1	94.0	98.4	105.2	107.5	106.7	102.3	99.5	100.6
Quarterly	15	87.6	94.3	98.2	105.3	108.2	106.0	102.7	100.0	100.3
Annual	15	88.8		98.6		106.9		104.9		102.6
IG IRON PRODUCTION			•							
Monthly	15	73.3	90.0	103.5	112.5	122.2	117.6	100.4	84.8	81.1
Quarterly	15	71.6	91.0	102.5	111.8	122.0	118.3	100.6	87.9	79.8
Annual	15	79.7		102.1		116.2		102.5		90.2
AILROAD STOCK PRICES										
Monthly	19	91.0	96.9	104.0	109.4	106.9	104.3	97.7	92.5	94.7
Quarterly	19	91.1	97.0	103.6	109.2	107.5	103.2	97.8	92.5	94.7
Annual	19	90.8		102.5		106.1		100.5		94.9
HARES TRADED										
Monthly	15	83.8	111.2	110.9	114.0	110.6	96.8	90.5	79.5	97.5
Quarterly	15	79.3	111.2	110.3	116.7	105.9	94.7	89.0	80.4	89.5
Annual	15	81.7		109.0		103.4		98.7		94.2
CALL MONEY RATES										
Monthly	19	77.5	82.4	98.4	128.2	159.5	128.5	103.9	81.1	76.2
Quarterly	19	79.1	80.4	99.3	125.9	155.1	123.0	102.9	85.6	78.6
Annual	19	83.5		101.2		126.7	• • •	100.9		85.1
AILROAD BOND YIELDS		Į								
Monthly	19	102.0	100.5	98.3	98.9	101.0	102.0	101.5	101.1	100.2
Quarterly	19	102.0	100.3	98.3	98.7	100.4	102.1	101.5	101.4	100.0
Annual	19	102.6		98.8	•••	100.6	•••	100.9	<u></u>	100.8

т	A	в	L	Е	8	1	

Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data Six American Series

See Chart 33 for the periods covered.

263

asonably dependts as are e cycles, s. Such a rcing the For the nding to o or even hdar-year nce that ently inist; for as out mild magine a disclosed nce cycle n if some lined the egistered ual referhese diffie units of the data. cycles re-

Both

# EFFECTS OF THE TIME UNIT

## CHART 33 Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data Six American Series



Horizontal scale, in months  $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 & 7 & 4 & 6 & 6 \\ 1 & ach figure the three horizontal lines representing the average duration of reference eycles are zero base lines from which the average deviations of the three patterns are to be read. For other applications, see Ch. 5, Sec. VII and XI. See also Table 81.$ 

they give ing to tu trading t tendency iron pro traction. movemen Also mations or troug indexes ence date error in a is likely an annua business lower that forms we formity. secular tr is declini tractions sions in s by the gr ing refere The quarterly 82). The The cont monthly terly in a than the than the of annua nance of ever, cha indexes annual th large in

49 Compare reference-cy of 1919-20 a interpolate r 50 See pp. 18

т

## REFERENCE-CYCLE MEASURES

they give no hint of the tendency of clearings, stock prices, and share trading to turn up early in business-cycle revivals; they indicate that share trading tends to turn down early in recessions but fail to disclose a similar tendency in stock prices; they conceal the retardation of the rise in pig iron production in mid-expansion and its accelerated decline in mid-contraction. Quarterly data, on the other hand, trace out the reference-cycle movements with practically the same fidelity as the monthly data.<sup>49</sup>

Also measures of conformity to business cycles are rougher approximations in annual than in monthly or quarterly data. If a reference peak or trough is misdated by one year, it is apt to leave a mark on conformity indexes of annual data, but minor shifts of monthly or quarterly reference dates usually have slight influence. Similarly, if there is a substantial error in a series one month or quarter, the effect on conformity measures is likely to be slight, while even a small error that affects the direction of an annual figure may easily prove serious. If a series conforms badly to business cycles, conformity indexes on an annual basis may be higher or lower than indexes on a monthly or quarterly basis. But if a series conforms well, the chances are that annual indexes will understate conformity. For annual data tend to skip conforming contractions when the secular trend is rising and conforming expansions when the secular trend is declining; they therefore understate the conformity to reference contractions in series of the first type and the conformity to reference expansions in series of the second type. These effects are likely to be reinforced by the greater flexibility of monthly or quarterly data when one is dividing reference cycles into stages of expansion and contraction.

The differences between the conformity indexes of the monthly and quarterly data of our six series are generally slight and seem erratic (Table 82). The annual indexes, on the other hand, betray their coarse origins. The contraction index of annual data is conspicuously lower than the monthly in five series and slightly higher in one; it is lower than the quarterly in all six series. Again, the full-cycle index of annual data is lower than the monthly in four series and the same in two; it is likewise lower than the quarterly in four series and the same in two; it is likewise lower than the quarterly in four series and the same in two. The downward bias of annual expansion indexes is slight, but that merely reflects the dominance of series with rising secular trends in our sample. We must, however, chalk up two credits for the annual measures. First, while the indexes of conformity to full business cycles tend to run lower in the annual than in the monthly or quarterly data, the reduction does not seem large in view of the inherent instability of conformity indexes.<sup>50</sup> Second,

49 Compare the analysis in Sec. X of monthly versus quarterly specific-cycle patterns. In making reference-cycle patterns of American series by quarters, interpolations are needed in the expansion of 1919-20 and the contractions of 1887-88, 1890-91, and 1918-19; in monthly data the need to interpolate never arises.

50 See pp. 183-5, 195.

cycles: 1858-1933

ields

:ycles: 1858 - 1933 ) cycles: 1858 - 1933

les: 1858 - 1932

19 cycles: 1858-1933 cycles: 1858-1932

# TABLE 82

Conformity to Business Cycles of Monthly, Quarterly and Annual Data

Confo

Series form o

DEFLATED CI. Monthly. Calendar-Fiscal-yea June December PIG IRON PRO Monthly Calendar-Fiscal-yea June... December CALL MONEY Monthly Calendar Fiscal-yea June... December See Chart 34 periods to De reference date •Since our fis carlier. To e Cf. Table 82. To i

cycle pat

83. The

call mon

although

referenc

credit th

calendar

single-da

phases is

the inde

ancies of

underly 52 But in c December c conformity correspond

53 For an a

date annua

Six American Series

Series and form of data	No. of refer- ence cycles <sup>•</sup>	Stages matched with reference expansion	Average per m in referen relatives stages m with ref	change onth ce-cycle during atched erence	Index of conformity to reference			
			Expan- sions	Contrac- tions	Expan- sions	Contrac- tions	Cycle	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS								
Monthly	15	VIII-V	+0.78	-0.50	+100	+73	+86	
Quarterly	15	VIII-V	+0.74	-0.63	+100	+73	+93	
Annual	15	I-V	+0.65	-0.17	+100	+7	+86	
PIC IRON PRODUCTION								
Monthly	15	I-V	+2.26	-2.27	+100	+100	+100	
Quarterly	15	I-V	+2.29	-2.47	+100	+87	+100	
Annual	15	I-V	+1.46	-1.65	+100	+73	+100	
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES								
Monthly	19*	VIII-IV	+0.77	-0.61	+79	+60	+74	
Quarterly	19*	VIII-IV	+0.74	-0.62	+68	+70	+68	
Annual	19*	I-V	+0.50	-0.32	+68	+40	+63	
SHARES TRADED								
Monthly	15	VIII-IV	+1.96	-1.66	+87	+73	+93	
Quarterly	15	VIII-IV	+2.06	-1.89	+100	+73	+86	
Annual	15	I-III	+1.73	-0.59	+87	+47	+86	
CALL MONEY RATES								
Monthly	19*	I-V	+3.62	-3.57	+68	+100	+100	
Quarterly	19*	I-V	+3.27	-3.67	+89	+90	+100	
Annual	19	I-V	+1.60	-2.12	+79	+68	+84	
RAILROAD BOND YTELDS							•	
Monthly	19*	III-VI	+0.24	-0.17	+47	+30	+68	
Quarterly	19*	III-VI	+0.24	-0.17	+37	+40	+74	
Annual	19*	ш-үн	+0.11	-0.16	+26	+35	+63	

<sup>a</sup>See Chart 33 for the periods covered; but note that where an asterisk appears, the contraction and full-cycle indexes cover an additional reference contraction at the beginning of the series.

the average rates of change during reference expansions and contractions have invariably the same sign in the annual as in the monthly and quarterly data. Of course, the fact that the annual averages are smaller than the others merely reflects the smaller amplitudes of annual data.<sup>51</sup>

51 Our device of recognizing the timing of a series in units of cycle stages when measuring conformity breaks down partly in annual series, since only one or two observations are commonly available for a reference phase. Hence we often follow another plan when the cyclical turns of a series tend to lead or lag behind the annual reference dates—whether for calendar or fiscal years by some uniform interval. See the explanation in Table 48.

Three of our six annual series show some tendency to lead or lag by a uniform interval, and yield the following conformity indexes on this basis:

	No. of months lead (-) or lag (+)	Index of conformity to reference						
	assumed	Expansions	Contractions	Cycles				
R. R. stock prices	-6	+53	+41	+70				
Shares traded	-6	+60	+87	+79				
R. R. bond yields	+12	+37	+45	+55				

On the whole, these measures do not differ greatly from those obtained by our standard method; but the higher contraction indexes are worth noting.

# REFERENCE-CYCLE MEASURES

267

### TABLE 83

### Conformity to Business Cycles of Monthly and Four Forms of Annual Data Three American Series

Series and form of data	No. of refer- ence cycles	Stages matched with reference	Average per n in referen relatives stages n with re	change nonth nce-cycle during natched ference	Index of conformity to reference			
		•	Expan- sions	Contrac- tions	Expan- sions	Contrac- tions	Cycles	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS								
Monthly	15	VIII-V	+0.78	-0.50	+100	+73	+86	
Calendar-year	15	I-V	+0.65	-0.17	+100	+7	+86	
Fiscal-year	15 ·	1-V	+0.66	-0.14	+100	+20	+86	
June	15	I-V	+0.68	-0.21	+87	+33	+79	
December	15	I-V	+0.76	-0.25	+100	+7	+86	
IG IRON PRODUCTION						Í		
Monthly	15	I-V	+2.26	-2.27	+100	+100	+100	
Calendar-year	15	I-V	+1.46	-1.65	+100	+73	+100	
Fiscal-year	15	I-V	+1.38	-1.31	+87	+73	+86	
June	15	I-V	+1.90	-2.13	+100	+60	+86	
December	15	I-V	+1.57	-1.84	+87	+60	+66	
CALL MONEY RATES					1			
Monthly	17	I-V	+3.92	-3.94	+76	+100	+100	
Calendar-year	17	I-V	+1.68	-2.34	+76	+65	+82	
Fiscal-year	17	III-V	+3.42	-1.18	+76	+76	+88	
June	17	I-V	+1.73	-3.19	+65	+65	+64	
December	17	111-V	+4.82	-1.72	+76	+65	+82	

See Chart 34 for the periods covered. The calendar-year periods apply also to June data, and the fiscal-year periods to December data. The calendar-year and June figures are analyzed on the basis of the calendar-year reference dates, the fiscal-year and December figures on the basis of the fiscal-year reference dates.

<sup>a</sup>Since our fiscal-year reference dates start in 1868, the analysis of the fiscal-year and December data cannot start earlier. To ensure comparability, the analysis of other forms of the data covers approximately the same period. Cf. Table 82.

To illustrate the influence of the form of annual data on referencecycle patterns and conformity measures, we present Chart 34 and Table 83. The patterns of calendar- and fiscal-year data differ conspicuously in call money rates. They seem similar in iron production and clearings, although in the former the variations in the slopes of the patterns within reference expansions and contractions are sufficiently different to discredit their value. On the other hand, the conformity measures of the calendar- and fiscal-year data agree fairly well, as do also the measures of single-date and full-year data.<sup>52</sup> But the rate of change during reference phases is somewhat greater on the average in single-date figures, while the indexes of conformity tend to run higher in full-year figures. Discrepancies of this character are to be expected whenever the conformity of the underlying monthly data is high.<sup>53</sup>

 $5^2$  But in call money rates the division of reference cycles is not the same in the fiscal-year and December data as in the other forms. If stages I-V are taken to represent expansions, the indexes of conformity of the fiscal-year data are: expansion + 53, contraction + 53, full cycles + 70. The corresponding indexes of the December data are + 71, + 53, + 76.

<sup>53</sup> For an adaptation of our method of measuring conformity, especially designed to handle singledate annual series, see a forthcoming monograph on inventory cycles by Moses Abramovitz.

Data

formity nce

Cycles

+86 +93 +86 +100 +100 +100 +74 +68 +63 +93 +86 +86 +100 +100

+84

+68 +74 +63

nd full-cycle

fractions

nd quar-

ler than

uring con-

commonly

turns of a

scal years-

terval, and

d method;

tle

70

## EFFECTS OF THE TIME UNIT

vestigato

purposes

sively th but they

for the t

mild en

eral bus monthly

changes

of the c

moveme

to be lost

we have to handle

terly bas: The investiga life. Tru edge may extreme patterns.

moving : eliminat

chapter.



# XIII Conclusions

At the risk of elaborating the obvious we have attempted in this long chapter, first, to explain why we eschew the easy path of working with annual data, second, to provide an experimental basis for judging cyclical measures made from annual data. Yearly observations are excessively crude materials for studying business cycles, not because they suffer from any inherent flaw, but simply because a year is such a substantial fraction of the usual length of specific and reference cycles. In studies of 'long waves', such as are found in building construction and certain other activities, the annual time unit is not likely to prove a disadvantage, while in studies of broad secular changes data by decades may suffice. On the other hand, in analyzing the financial adjustments that take place during a brief and violent crisis, such as occurred in 1907 in the United States, even monthly data are excessively coarse, and weekly or perhaps daily figures need to be used.<sup>54</sup>

There is no single optimum time unit for economic investigations. A time unit that serves well the needs of one investigation, or some part of one investigation, may serve poorly the needs of another. Nor can an in-

54 See Wesley C. Mitchell, Business Cycles (1913), Ch. XII; or the new edition of Part III of that volume, published under the title Business Cycles and Their Causes (University of California Press, 1941), Ch. 3.

# CONCLUSIONS

vestigator usually do more than approximate the time unit that serves his purposes best. For example, the tests of this chapter demonstrate conclusively that annual data falsify essential features of cyclical fluctuations, but they speak haltingly on the merits of quarterly versus monthly data for the type of analysis we are now making. If a series is characterized by mild erratic fluctuations, subtle responses to cyclical movements of general business may be spotted better in monthly than in quarterly data; monthly data make it possible to trace more faithfully the sequence of changes in revivals and recessions, and to show more accurately the form of the cyclical movements, particularly in short phases. But if erratic movements are pronounced these advantages of monthly data are likely to be lost, and the scale may tip in favor of the quarterly. It is possible that we have carried our preference for monthly data too far; it may be better to handle monthly series with substantial erratic movements on a quarterly basis, which is less expensive than monthly analysis.

The use of annual data, on the other hand, is a poor economy if an investigator seeks earnestly to understand the business cycles of actual life. True, by making careful qualitative allowances, some useful knowledge may be wrung from annual data; but the knowledge thus gained is extremely rough, and may be utterly misleading, as in the case of cyclical patterns. Some shortcomings of annual data may be mitigated by removing secular trends before subjecting time series to analysis, but the elimination of trends raises difficult questions which call for a separate chapter.

ng with cyclical essively er from raction of 'long n other e, while On the during States, os daily

his long

An- 1868 - 1933

ycles: 1867 - 1932

ions. A part of 1 an in-

II of that nia Press,

# CHAPTER 7

# Effects of Trend Adjustments on Cyclical Measures

As shown in an earlier volume, business cycles are a development of late modern times. They emerged with the intensification of technical changes, the vast expansion of commercial and industrial activity, and the widening organization of economic life on the basis of making and spending money incomes.<sup>1</sup> Cyclical fluctuations are so closely interwoven with these secular changes in economic life that important clues to the understanding of the former may be lost by mechanically eliminating the latter. It is primarily for this reason that we take as our basic unit of analysis a business cycle that includes the portion of secular trend falling within its boundaries. In this way we prepare materials that we consider more useful for the explanation of business cycles than similar materials based upon trend-adjusted data.

It is desirable, however, to ascertain as definitely as possible how our various measures of cyclical behavior would be affected by the elimination of intra-cycle trends. The method is obvious. We must compare in detail the results obtained by applying our technique to sample series before and after their secular trends are eliminated. That step will aid in interpreting our results at large. In particular it will aid in comparing the results we get from series that come to us with trends eliminated by their compilers with those we get from the far more numerous series not so adjusted.<sup>2</sup> And it will clarify our reasons for retaining the portion of secular trend that falls within the limits of single cycles.

1 See Mitchell. Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, Ch. II, Sec. I.

<sup>2</sup> The adjustment for secular trend is sometimes explicit, sometimes implicit. An example of the latter is a long series showing the percentage of trade-union workers or insured workers out of employment.

- 270 -

# I Materials Used in the Tests

Our tests cover the unadjusted and trend-adjusted forms of six monthly American series. To economize effort we have utilized series whose secular trend has already been calculated by other investigators. Three of the series analyzed in the preceding chapter—pig iron production, 'deflated' bank clearings outside New York, and railroad bond yields—are taken up also in this chapter. For these series we have used materials worked up by F. R. Macaulay for the National Bureau.<sup>3</sup> Our fourth series consists of the index of business conditions prepared by the American Telephone and Telegraph Company, both with and without trend adjustment, for the period since 1899.<sup>4</sup> The fifth consists of Frickey's composite of bank clearings in seven important cities exclusive of New York, covering 1875– 1914, before and after trend adjustment.<sup>6</sup> The sixth series is the production of electric power since 1919, from which we have ourselves eliminated the secular trend.<sup>6</sup>

In each series the trend-adjusted data are relatives of the 'unadjusted' data to the corresponding ordinates of secular trend; that is, each monthly figure is expressed as a percentage of the corresponding trend value. But we also investigate how the results would be affected if the 'adjusted' data were taken in the form of absolute deviations from trend. Both the 'unadjusted' and 'adjusted' data are corrected for seasonal variations, except railroad bond yields, where we find no seasonal movement. The adjusted data correspond to the unadjusted data in every respect except that they are freed from their secular trends. As an illustration, both forms of the data for pig iron production are presented in Chart 35.

Our sample of series represents a fair variety of secular movements. Five series have rising trends (Table 84). The sixth, railroad bond yields, has an oscillatory trend; in this series we make separate comparisons for

<sup>5</sup> Edwin Frickey, Bank Clearings outside New York City, 1875–1914, *Review of Economic Statistics*, Oct. 1925, pp. 260-1. We are indebted to Frickey for sending us the seasonal indexes applied to his composite over the period 1875–1902.

<sup>6</sup> The figures for 1919 come from a paper on The Nature of Cyclical Fluctuations in Electric Power Production Data (University of Illinois, Bureau of Business Research, 1927, Bulletin 16). After 1919, Survey of Current Business, Nov. 1927, p. 26; *ibid.*, 1922 Supplement, pp. 142-3, and 1936 Supplement. p. 85. Slight revisions of these figures back to 1920 have been made by the Federal Power Commission; our computations are based on the unrevised figures. The trend is a straight line fitted by 'least squares' to annual averages of seasonally corrected monthly data in 1919–32.

÷

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For the sources of the unadjusted forms of these series, see Ch. 6, note 7. The trend-adjusted figures are not given in Macaulay's *Interest Rates, Bond Yields and Stock Prices*. But they are shown graphically (with seasonal unremoved in pig iron production) on pp. 223-6 of this source; see also Macaulay's Appendix, Table 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Through July 1932, both adjusted and unadjusted figures come from *Index of Industrial Activity in the United States* (a confidential report of the American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Oct. 20, 1932). Since Aug. 1932, the adjusted figures come from the company's *Summary of Business Conditions in the United States*; the unadjusted figures and the equation of trend applied to them. from the Chief Statistician's Division of the company. These series have recently been revised extensively, according to later confidential releases by the Chief Statistician's Division. Since the revisions do not affect the methodological issues treated in this chapter, we have not recomputed our results.



Pig Iron Production, United States, 1877–1935 CHART 35

ţ

Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted

Series and measure	Unit	1860– 1870	1870– 1880	1880- 1890	1890- 1900	1900- 1910	1910- 1920	1920- 1930
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS Absolute change Percentage change	Per cent	0.2 3	-1.9 - <i>3</i> 0	-0.8 -18	0.5 14	0.6 20	1.2 31	-0.6 -13
DEFLATED CLEARINGS Absolute change Percentage change	Mill. 1913 <b>\$*</b>	•••	 	29.5 66	44.3 60	66.1 <i>5</i> 6	99.4 54	148.1 <i>52</i>
FRICKEY'S CLEARINGS Absolute change Percentage change	Mill. \$			303 61	668 83	1,055 72	 	···· ···
A.T.&T. INDEX Absolute change Percentage change	Av. 1899 = 100	••••		····		60.4 59	60.4 <i>3</i> 7	60.4 27
PIG IRON PRODUCTION Absolute change Percentage change	Th. long tons <sup>a</sup>			10.4 <i>13</i> 2	19.8 108	29.0 76	27.0 40	13.0 14
ELECTRICITY OUTPUT Absolute change Percentage change	Bill. kilhrs.		 			•••		4.0 113

 TABLE 84

 Change per Decade of Monthly Ordinates of Secular Trend

 Six American Series

This table shows the decennial absolute and percentage increments of *monthly* ordinates of secular trend centered at June 30 of the decennial dates. The increments of deflated clearings from 1910 to 1930 are computed from 'deflated bank debits outside New York' adjusted to the level of 'deflated clearings outside New York' in Jan. 1919. Per day.

segments of rising and declining trends as well as for the full period covered by the data. The trends vary considerably in steepness and curvature. The percentage rate of growth in pig iron production during the 1880's is somewhat larger than that of electric power production during the 1920's, and is several times its own advance during the 1920's.<sup>7</sup> What is a declining rate of growth in percentage units is a uniform rate of growth in the units of the A.T.&T. business index, an increasing rate of growth in 'deflated' dollars of bank clearings, and first a rising and then a falling rate of growth in tons of iron produced. Regrettably, our sample is less satisfactory in representing the cyclical movements encountered in experience than in representing the secular movements. All the series we treat bear a positive and rather close relation to business cycles. However, in the course of analysis we shall attempt to take account of these deficiencies of the sample.

# II The Number of Specific Cycles

It seems reasonable to expect that the elimination of secular trends will tend to increase the number of specific cycles as we count them; for any sharp retardation of growth in the unadjusted data will tend to be con-

7 Table 84 records the decennial rates of change shown by the lines of secular trend. These may differ appreciably from rates of change computed from the original data for separate decades.

verted into an actual decline once the secular trend is removed. So also will any sharp retardation of decline tend to be converted into a rise. But the removal of trends will not add to the number of specific cycles if the amplitude of the 'cyclical component' of a time series is large compared with the amplitude of the 'secular component'. Indeed, under certain circumstances, a specific cycle will be lost when the secular trend is removed. Thus, if the trend is upward, a cycle will disappear in the adjusted data whenever the rate of rise during a cyclical expansion of the unadjusted data is no greater than the rate of rise of the fitted trend line during the corresponding period.<sup>8</sup> Similarly, if the trend is downward, a specific cycle will disappear whenever the rate of decline of a cyclical contraction in the unadjusted data is no greater than the rate of decline of the trend.

In our present sample the elimination of trends has slight influence on the number of specific cycles (Table 85). In pig iron production the

TABLE 85	
List of Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted	Data
Six American Series	

	Direction of trend	All d	cycles		Correspor cycles	nding s	Noncorresponding cycles		
Series			Number in			No. in		Number in	
		covered	Unadj. data	Adj. data	covered	unadj. & adj. data	covered	Unadj. data	Adj. data
Deflated clearings	Upward	1878-1933	15	15	1884-1933	13	1878-1884	2	2
Frickey's clearings	Upward	1878-1914	11	11	1884-1914	9	1878-1884	2	2
A.T.&T. index	Upward	1900-1933	9	9	1900-1933	9			
Pig iron production	Upward	1879-1933	15	15	1879-1933	15			
Electricity output	Upward	1921-1933	2	2	1921-1933	2			
Railroad bond yields	Oscillatory	1860-1931	20	21	a -	16	ь	4	5
Railroad bond yields	Downward	1868-1899	8	8	1868-1899	8			
Railroad bond yields	Upward	1899–1918	5	7	с 1	3	d	2	4

<sup>●</sup>1860–64, 1868–99, 1905–09, 1914–31. <sup>●</sup>1864–68, 1899–1905, 1909–14.

°1905-09, 1914-18. d 1899-1905, 1909-14.

list of specific cycles is the same in the adjusted as in the unadjusted data. The like is true of the A.T.&T. index and the short series on electric power production. In both clearings series the specific cycles in the adjusted and unadjusted data agree in number, yet fail to correspond throughout. On the one hand, the expansion in the unadjusted data during 1878 to 1881 is matched by three phases in the adjusted data; on the other, the cyclical rise of 1882–83 in the unadjusted data is wiped out in the adjusted data. In bond yields, our longest series, the differences between the two lists of specific cycles are more numerous. Here we find two extra cyclical movements in the adjusted data—one during the expansion

8 The two rates of rise may be expressed in units of the original data or their logarithms. It is mathematically possible for a cycle to disappear when the rates of rise are expressed in units of the original data but not when they are expressed in logarithms, and vice versa.

of 1899–1903 and another during the expansion of 1909–13; but these additions are partly offset by the virtual disappearance of the rise in 1866– 67 which we treat as a specific-cycle expansion in the unadjusted data. The manner in which specific cycles are gained or lost in this series is displayed by Chart 36. In summary, we recognize 72 specific cycles in the unadjusted data of our six series and 73 cycles in the adjusted data; the net difference between the two totals is accounted for by bond yields.

Of course, a judgment factor enters into the present comparisons. The representation of the secular trend of a series by a mathematical curve or



CHART 38 Railroad Bond Yields, United States Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted

Corrected for seasonal variations. Asterisks identify peaks and troughs of specific cycles. For sources of data, see Sec. I.

Logarithmic vertical scales

moving average involves judgment. So too does the decision to eliminate trends by division or by subtraction. Finally, the boundary line between a movement that is cyclical under our rules and one that is not becomes uncomfortably vague at times. But plausible variations in the form of trend lines are not likely to influence appreciably our count of specific cycles, since we do not limit the count to full swings about the trend line. If we consider a fluctuation large enough to qualify as a specific cycle, we recognize it as such irrespective whether it falls on one or both sides of the trend line. The removal of trend by division instead of subtraction rarely changes the cyclical turns, and is hardly likely to change the count of cycles of the particular duration in which our interest centers. True, our method of marking off specific cycles leaves margins of uncertainty. But the cyclical movements in our test series are for the most part very clearly defined, and our decisions have been checked with care. We therefore trust the general character of the results for the series covered by the present tests. And since these series seem fairly representative of the bulk of economic time series," we feel justified in concluding that the removal of secular trends will rarely increase much the number of specific cycles as we count them.

This judgment is limited to monthly, or at most to quarterly data; it definitely excludes annual data. Trend adjustments have a substantial influence on the number of specific cycles in annual data, but we postpone analysis of this effect until Section VII.

# III Timing and Duration of Specific Cycles

The effect of removing trends upon the turning points of specific cycles depends on the direction of the 'trend', its slope, and the slope of the 'cyclical component'. Consider a theoretical time series built up by adding a 'cyclical component' to a linear 'trend', the former having sufficient amplitude to stamp its movements on the composite series. If the cyclical component is triangular, both its rising and declining phases being linear, the cyclical turns of the composite should coincide with the turns of the cyclical component; in other words, removal of the 'true' trend will leave the cyclical timing of trend-adjusted data the same as that of unadjusted data. On the other hand, if the cyclical component is gently rounded at tops and bottoms, as for example in a sine curve, the turns of the composite will tend to deviate from those of the cyclical component. If the trend is rising the peaks of the composite will tend to come later and the troughs earlier than corresponding turns of the cyclical component; if the trend is declining, peaks will tend to come earlier and troughs later.

9 Except in length. The addition of a cycle or two is more disturbing in short than in long series; see bond yields in Table 85.

ł

These relations are based on special assumptions, but they may be generalized and put in a form suited to empirical time series. Assume that a rising trend is removed from a time series. This operation will either leave the dating of cyclical peaks unchanged or make the peaks come earlier than in unadjusted data. It will do the former if the rate of rise towards the close of a cyclical expansion in the unadjusted data is greater than the rate of rise of the secular trend during the same period; it will do the latter if the first rate is smaller than the second. In other words, whether the cyclical peak is pushed back or left unmolested by eliminating the trend depends on how steep is the rise in the closing stages of the cyclical expansion compared with the rise of the secular trend. Similarly, if the rate of rise in the early stages of a cyclical expansion in the unadjusted data is smaller than the rise of the secular trend, the removal of trend will make the cyclical trough come later; while if the first rate is larger than the second the dating will be unaffected. The effects of a declining trend on cyclical timing are opposite to those of a rising trend; that is, the removal of a declining trend tends to make cyclical peaks come later and troughs earlier than in unadjusted data, but in order that this tendency become effective the rate of fall towards the beginning and close of a cyclical contraction in the unadjusted data must be smaller than the rate of decline of the secular trend during the corresponding periods.

Table 86 shows the effects of removing trends in practice. The most interesting result is that slightly more than two-thirds of the cyclical turns

					_								
Lead $(-)$ or lag $(+)$		Number of leads or lags in											
of trend-adj. at turn of unadj. data (mos.)	Deflated clearings		Fric clea	Frickey's clearings		A.T.&T. index		Pig iron production		Electricity output		Five series	
(mos.)	P	Т	• <b>P</b>	Т	Р	Т	P	Т	P	Т	Р	Т	
Below -12 -7 to -12 1 to -6 0 +1 to +6 +7 to +12 Over +12	1  5 8  	 10 2 3	··· 1 9• ··· ··	··· ·· 6 2 2 1	··· 1 2 7  	··· ·· 6 4 ··	1 2 11 	··· ·· 14 2 ··	 1 1  	··· ·· 3 ··· ··	2 4 11 35  	 39 10 5 1	
Total	14 6 8	15  10 5	10 1 9°	11  6 5	10 3 7	10  6 4	16 5 11	16  14 2	2 2 	3  3	52 17 35	55  39 16	
Total	14	15	10	11	10	10	16	16	2	3	52	55	

### TABLE 86

Size and Frequency of Leads or Lags of Specific-cycle Turns in Trend-adjusted Data at Corresponding Turns of Unadjusted Data Five American Series with Upward Trends

P stands for peak, T for trough. See Table 87 for the periods eovered.

\*A one-month computed lag included here, because it arises from a slight error in the published figures from which we dated the specific cycles of the adjusted data; that is, we dated a peak in Sept. 1881, whereas the correct month is August.

in our five series with upward trends are unaffected by the trend adjustment.<sup>10</sup> The reason must be that the march of secular trends is usually less vigorous than that of the unadjusted data during early and late stages of cyclical expansions.<sup>11</sup> In those instances in which the elimination of trends alters the dating of cyclical turns, the direction of the shifts conforms to expectations. Most shifts are small, but some exceed six months and a few exceed a whole year. It is plain, therefore, that if cyclical turns were dated from trend-adjusted data, the apparent succession of revivals or recessions of different economic activities would at times be seriously modified.<sup>12</sup> Of course, Table 86 merely indicates the general character and size of the shifts produced by trend adjustments. The specific results are bound to vary with the circumstances surrounding each series, the type of trend used, the manner in which the trend is fitted to the data, and the manner in which the trend is removed. In the present experiments the trends have been removed by division; that is, the unadjusted figures have been expressed as percentages of the corresponding ordinates of secular trend. If our rising trends had been removed by subtraction, the tendency of adjusted data to lag at the troughs of unadjusted data would be slightly stronger, while the tendency to lead at the peaks would be slightly weaker.<sup>13</sup> On the other hand, if our rising trend lines were replaced by others rising still faster, both tendencies would be more prominent than in the present measurements.

The average effect of trend adjustments is larger in our sample at peaks than at troughs. The effect varies appreciably from series to series, and without close regard to the steepness of the secular trend. The average shift is less than two months in 9 out of 16 comparisons (Table 87); it exceeds four months at the cyclical peaks in electric power production, a short series rising with exceptional swiftness. Our one sample of a declining trend, railroad bond yields during 1868–99, shows a shift in average timing at peaks and troughs opposite to that of the several series with

10 Bond yields show a similar result. Of the 41 corresponding turns in this series, 28 coincide in the unadjusted and adjusted data. In all six series, 102 out of 148 corresponding turns coincide (49 out of 73 peaks and 53 out of 75 troughs).

11 Or what comes to the same thing, the rate of fall in the late and early stages of cyclical contractions in the adjusted data is, usually, absolutely larger than the rate of rise of the secular trend during corresponding periods.

12 If trends of different series are not only converted into horizontal lines, but the fluctuations about the trends are expressed in standard deviation units, as is still common practice, about all that can be learned is the relation in time of the cyclical movements. And even this limited knowledge may be false since the timing relations of experience may be distorted.

18 The absolute deviations are, of course, equivalent to percentage deviations multiplied by corresponding ordinates of trend. Upon comparing the adjusted data in the form of absolute deviations from trend with the percentage deviations from trend, we found their troughs coinciding in every instance, but three peaks in the percentage deviations preceded corresponding peaks in the absolute deviations. In two of these three instances the peaks in the absolute deviations coincided with the peaks in the unadjusted data. rising trends. The rough coincidence of average timing in the two forms of railroad bond yields during the full period 1857–1932 is an instructive example of how the effects of a rising and declining trend neutralize each other.

			_			
Series and trend	Period covered	Nun corres tu	nber of ponding Ir <b>ns</b>	Average lead (-) or lag (+) of adjusted at turns of unadjusted data (mos.)		
		Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough	
UPWARD						
Deflated clearings	1878-1933	14	15	-3.2	+2.4	
Frickey's clearings	1878-1914	10	11	-0.2	+3.7	
A.T.&T. index	1899-1933	10	10	-1.4	+0.5	
Pig iron production	1878-1933	16	16	-2.9	+0.5	
Electricity output	1921-1933	2	3	-5.5	0.0	
Railroad bond yields	1899–1918	5	6	-3.0	+1.5	
Railroad bond yields	1868-1899	8	9	+3.2	-0.6	
OSCILLATORY						
Railroad bond yields	1857-1932	21	20	+0.9	+0.2	

### TABLE 87

## Average Timing of Specific Cycles in Trend-adjusted Data at Corresponding Turns of Unadjusted Data Six American Series

The periods run from the year of the first to the year of the last corresponding turn, whether peak or trough, covered by our analysis of monthly data. They are longer in a few instances than the all-cycle periods listed in Table 85, since the latter start and end with a trough.

The turning points in iron production (both the unadjusted and trend-adjusted data) are shown in Chart 35. The turning points of deflated clearings and railroad bond yields (unadjusted data) are shown in Chart 53 and Appendix Table B3; but see the note introducing Appendix B.

The shifts in cyclical turns produced by trend adjustment must modify the durations of the phases of specific cycles. Every time the removal of a rising trend makes a cyclical peak come earlier, expansions are shortened and contractions lengthened. The effect is similar when a cyclical trough is pushed forward; and is likely to be similar, as far as the relation between the average durations of expansions and contractions is concerned, when the number of specific cycles is increased. The removal of a declining trend has opposite effects. The changes in the cyclical durations of our test series produced by trend adjustments are shown in Table 88. The largest effect appears in the rising segment of railroad bond yields —a result that follows from the gain of two specific cycles. It is interesting to observe that even after the trend is removed, cyclical expansions run longer than contractions in every series except bond yields.

Since secular trends have slight influence on the number of specific cycles in our test series, the average duration of full specific cycles is virtually the same in the adjusted and unadjusted data. The one appreciable discrepancy comes in the rising segment of bond yields.

TABLE 88										
Average Duration of Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data										
Six American Series										

Series	Direc-	No. spec	of		Averag	e dura	Average per cent of duration of specific cycles							
and group	trend	cyc	les	Expansion		Contr	Contraction		Full cycle		Expansion		Contraction	
		Un	Ad	Un	Ad	Un	Ad	Un	Ad	Un	Ad	Un	Ad	
CORRESPONDING CYCLES														
Deflated clearings	Up	13	13	33.3	27.7	11.3	16.9	44.6	44.6	76	61	24	39	
Frickey's clearings	Up	9	9	30.6	26.4	9.4	13.6	40.0	40.0	76	66	24	34	
A.T.&T. index*	Up	9	9	25.9	23.8	17.3	19.4	43.2	43.2	60	56	40	44	
Pig iron production*	Up	15	15	28.8	25.1	14.5	18.1	43.3	43.2	67	59	33	41	
Electricity output <sup>a</sup>	Up	2	2	48.5	43.0	22.5	28.0	71.0	71.0	75	62	25	38	
Railroad bond yields.	Up	3	3	22.7	17.0	11.0	14.3	33.7	31.3	69	53	31	47	
Railroad bond yields*	Down	8	8	16.8	20.6	29.6	25.8	46.4	46.4	38	44	62	56	
Railroad bond yields.	Oscil.	16	16	17.4	18.8	24.4	22.6	41.8	41.4	46	46	54	54	
ALL CYCLES		l l												
Deflated clearings	Up	15	15	32.6	25.6	11.4	17.9	44.0	43.5	75	59	25	41	
Frickey's clearings	Up	11	11	29.8	24.1	9.9	15.1	39.7	39.2	74	63	26	37	
Railroad bond yields.	Up	5	7	35.4	13.7	11.2	19.7	46.6	33.4	75	40	25	60	
Railroad bond yields.	Oscil.	20	21	21.0	17.4	21.4	23.1	42.4	40.5	52	43	48	57	

'Un' stands for unadjusted, 'Ad' for trend-adjusted data. See Table 85 for the periods covered.

\*All cycles correspond in the unadjusted and adjusted data.

# IV Amplitude of Specific Cycles

When an upward trend is removed from a time series the cyclical rise in the original units must be reduced and the cyclical fall increased. When a downward trend is removed the cyclical rise must be increased and the fall reduced. Table 89 indicates the magnitude of the changes in absolute cyclical amplitudes that result from the removal of the secular trend from pig iron production.<sup>14</sup> The changes vary considerably from phase to phase and from cycle to cycle, as may be expected from the differences in the durations, amplitudes, patterns, and intra-cycle trends of the specific cycles. We also find that the amplitudes of full specific cycles are usually changed much less than their expansions and contractions. This result reflects the opposite effects of the removal of trend on the rise and on the fall. But these opposite effects are not evenly balanced: the amplitude of full specific cycles is reduced in 12 and increased in only 3 instances. Similar reactions appear in other series, whatever the direction of their trends (Table 90). Of the 64 corresponding cycles in the adjusted and unadjusted data of our six series, the absolute amplitude of full specific cycles is smaller in the adjusted data in 50 and larger in only 14. Apparently, if we removed secular trends before taking cyclical measures, the amplitudes of full specific cycles, expressed in the original units, would as a rule be reduced.

14 Of course, the trends are removed by subtraction. The relative amplitudes in Table 89 are discussed later.

TABLE 89
Absolute Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data
Pig Iron Production, United States, 1879–1933

	A	mplitud	te in the per o	ousand l day	ong ton:	Excess of adjusted over unadjusted data							
Specific cycle*	R	ise	F	all	Rise	& fall	In the tons	ousand s per d	long ay	In percentages <sup>b</sup>			
	Unadj.	Adj.	Unadj.	Adj.	Unadj.	Adj.	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	
1879-1885	6.18	3.35	2.37	4.19	8.55	7.54	-2.83	+1.82	-1.01	-59.4	+55.5	-12.6	
1885-1888	8.88	5.87	3.50	4.01	12.38	9.88	~3.01	+0.51	-2.50	-40.8	+13.6	-22.5	
1888-1891	9.89	6.98	9.34	10.70	19.23	17.68	-2.91	+1.36	-1.55	-34.5	+13.6	-8.4	
1891-1893	10.19	9.36	14.28	17.60	24.47	26.96	-0.83	+3.32	+2.49	-8.5	+20.8	+9.7	
18931896	18.69	14.72	13.03	14.92	31.72	29.64	-3.97	+1.89	-2.08	-23.8	+13.5	-6.8	
1896-1900	24.27	17.03	9.74	11.82	34.01	28.85	-7.24	+2.08	-5.16	-35.1	+19.3	-16.4	
1900-1903	22.14	15.03	22.59	23.99	44.73	39.02	-7.11	+1.40	-5.71	-38.3	+6.0	-13.6	
1903-1908	44.28	33.69	37.73	39.27	82.01	72.96	-10.59	+1.54	-9.05	-27.2	+4.0	-11.7	
1908-1910	49.06	42.82	26.01	30.63	75.07	73.45	-6.24	+4.62	-1.62	-13.6	+16.3	-2.2	
1910–1914	32.82	27.99	41.44	47.40	74.26	75.39	-4.83	+5.96	+1.13	-15.9	+13.4	+1.5	
1914-1919	60.98	52.12	39.77	41.64	100.75	93.76	-8.86	+1.87	-6.99	-15.7	+4.6	-7.2	
1919-1921	32.89	29.35	73.52	74.28	106.41	103.63	-3.54	+0.76	-2.78	-11.4	+1.0	-2.6	
1921-1924	89.55	86.54	48.53	50.31	138.08	136.85	-3.01	+1.78	-1.23	-3.4	+3.6	-0.9	
1924-1927	36.45	33.89	18.70	20.17	55.15	54.06	-2.56	+1.47	-1.09	-7.3	+7.6	-2.0	
1927-1933	36.93	35.50	110.00	112.23	146.93	147.73	-1.43	+2.23	+0.80	-3.9	+2.0	+0.5	

The trend was removed by subtraction.

\*Years of the initial and terminal troughs of the specific cycles in monthly data, unadjusted for trend.

<sup>b</sup>The base of the percentages is the mean of each pair of amplitudes being compared; e.g., the rise for the 1879-85

cycle is  $-59.4 = 100 \left( \frac{-2.83}{\frac{6.18 + 3.35}{2}} \right)$ . This method equalizes the theoretical scale of plus and minus percentages.

## TABLE 90

Frequency Distribution of the Differences between Amplitudes of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data

Deviation of	Number of differences between adjusted and unadjusted data													
amplitude of		Five	series with	upward t	rends		Six s	eries						
adj. from amplitude of	Abso	olute ampl	litude	Rela	tive ampli	tude	Absolute	Relative						
unadj. data <sup>a</sup> (per cent)	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	rise & fall	rise & fall <sup>b</sup>						
Below -70.0	6		1	7		1	1	1						
-70.0 to -50.0	11			11		1	1	2						
-50.0 to -30.0	15		5	14		4	5	4						
-30.0 to -20.0	4		6	4		8	10	12						
-20.0 to -10.0	8		13	8		12	16	16						
-10.0 to 0.0	4		13	4		13	17	16						
0.0 to +10.0		13	10		13	9	11	10						
+10.0 to +20.0		11			11		3	3						
+20.0 to +30.0		5			5									
+30.0 to +50.0	••	9			11									
+50.0 to +70.0		7			5									
Over +70.0		3			3									
Total	48	48	48	48	48	48	64	64						

See Table 85 for the series included and the periods covered by their corresponding cycles.

•See note to preceding table for the method used in computing the percentage deviations. Two items at the stated class limits were distributed after carrying the percentages to an extra decimal.

<sup>b</sup>See pp. 284-5 concerning the measures of relative amplitude of the adjusted data (same as method C in Table 92).

This expectation may be readily tested with the aid of a few symbols. Assume that  $a_t$ ,  $b_0$ ,  $c_t$ ,  $d_0$ , etc. are ordinates of secular trend at dates of successive troughs and peaks of the specific cycles in unadjusted data, the subscript t indicating a trough date and the subscript p a peak date. Assume further that the unadjusted data at corresponding turns are  $(a_t - m)$ ,  $(b_p + n)$ ,  $(c_t - o)$ ,  $(d_p + p)$ , etc., and that the removal of the trend leaves the dating of the cyclical turns unchanged. Then the absolute amplitude of a full cycle running from trough to trough in the unadjusted data is  $(b_p + n) - (a_t - m) + (b_p + n) - (c_t - o)$ , or  $2b_p - (a_t + c_t)$ +(m+2n+o). But (m+2n+o) is the amplitude of a full cycle running from trough to trough in the adjusted data. Hence the absolute amplitude of the unadjusted data will be larger or smaller than that of the adjusted data according as  $2b_p - (a_t + c_t)$  is plus or minus.<sup>15</sup> It may be shown in a similar manner that when the cycles are taken on an inverted basis, the amplitude of a full cycle in the unadjusted data is larger or smaller than that of the adjusted data according as  $(b_p + d_p) - 2c_t$  is plus or minus. Table 91 makes explicit some of the relations implicit in this and the preceding expression.<sup>16</sup> It appears that the removal of secular trends may increase the amplitudes of full cycles, decrease them, or leave them unchanged: the result depends upon the direction of the trend, its curvature, the relative duration of expansions and contractions, and the treatment of the cycles as positive or inverted.<sup>17</sup> But the critical point is that when the trend is rising and expansions are longer than contractions, or when the trend is declining and contractions are longer than expansions, it appears that the amplitude of full cycles of adjusted data is more likely to fall short of than to exceed the amplitude of unadjusted data. These are the conditions we usually encounter in time series. They characterize also our present sample, and thus explain the tendency of the

15 To simplify the argument, the use of three month averages to represent standings at peaks and troughs is disregarded.

16 The relations are obvious to common sense. If, for example, the trend is upward and linear, and the cycle phases are of equal duration, the amplitude of rise is increased by the trend component to the same degree that the amplitude of fall is decreased; for the cumulation of the trend component in one phase is the same as in the other, the two being of the same length. But if the expansion is longer than the contraction, the amplitude of rise is increased more by a linear trend than the amplitude of fall is reduced; for the trend component is now greater for the longer of the two phases. And so on from line to line of the table.

<sup>17</sup> The result depends also on the extent to which cyclical turns are shifted by removing the trend. Table 91 is made on the assumption that the trend changes none of the cyclical turns—a valid assumption only two-thirds of the time according to our sample. If this assumption is dropped, the relations between the absolute amplitudes of unadjusted and adjusted data are modified as follows: (1) If removal of the trend affects the dating of peaks but not of troughs, and the cycles are taken positively, A = m + 2z + o, where z > n. (See the text and Table 91 for the meaning of the symbols.) Hence U - A is algebraically smaller than it would be if the dating of the peaks were unaffected. Similar relations obtain between U and A when the cycles are inverted, if the trend affects the dating of the troughs but not of the peaks. (2) Other things equal, A is increased more than in the preceding case if the dating of both troughs and peaks is affected by removing the trend.

	Upware	d trend	Downward trend							
of trend	Cycles taken from trough to trough	Cycles taken from peak to peak	Cycles taken from trough to trough	Cycles taken from peak to peak						
	Dura	ation of expansion e	equals that of contr	action						
Linear	U = A	U = A	U = A	U = A						
Concave	U > A	U < A	U > A	U < A						
Convex	U < A	U < A $U > A$ $U < A$								
Duration of expansion longer than that of contraction										
Linear	U > A	U > A	U < A	U < A						
Concav <del>e</del>	U > A	$U \geqq A$	$U \geqq A$	U < A						
Convex	$U \gtrless A$	U > A	U < A	$U \geqq A$						
	Duratio	on of expansion sho	rter than that of co	ntraction						
Linear	U < A	U < A	U > A	$U > \Lambda$						
Concave	$U \geqq A$	U < A	U > A	$U \geqq A$						
Convex	U < A	$U \geqq A$	$U \gtrless A$	U > A						

### TABLE 91

## Relation between Amplitudes of Full Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data under Different Conditions

ł

;

ł

U stands for the amplitude of a full specific cycle (rise and fall) in unadjusted data, A for the amplitude of a full cycle in adjusted data. The comparisons are made on the assumption that the turning points of the specific cycles coincide in the adjusted and unadjusted data. The table applies to relative as well as to absolute amplitudes; provided the relative amplitude of adjusted data is envisaged as in 'method C', described on p. 285. The troublesome terms 'convex' and 'concave' are used as follows: the trend is said to be convex if its second

derivative with respect to time is positive, concave if its second derivative is negative.

amplitudes of full specific cycles to run lower in adjusted than in unadjusted data.

The preceding analysis is based on amplitudes expressed in the original units, whereas our standard practice is to work with amplitudes expressed in cycle relatives. In the unadjusted data the trend affects our amplitude measures in two ways. First, it influences the amplitude expressed in the original units. Second, it influences the final result via the cycle bases; for example, if the trend is upward, a set of cyclical rises divided by a set of cycle bases yields smaller quotients if the bases relate to positive than if they relate to inverted cycles. Since the removal of trend lines frees the data from 'intra-cycle' as well as 'inter-cycle' trends, cyclical rises and declines must be roughly equal on the average in relative as in absolute measures of amplitude, providing our general plan of measuring amplitudes is followed. In the unadjusted data, on the other hand, a trend factor must remain in the amplitude measures, whether expressed in units of the original data or in cycle relatives. True, our standard method, which converts the absolute amplitude of a specific cycle into a percentage of the average value of the series during the cycle, involves in

effect an adjustment for secular trend. But since the 'trend' is a step-line of cyclical averages, a line that is horizontal within each specific cycle, a trend component remains within each cycle and each cyclical phase, and its impact on any given phase must vary according as the cycles have been marked off by peaks or by troughs. We may expect therefore the removal of secular trends not only to yield measures of the relative amplitude of specific cycles that differ from our standard measures, but to modify these measures in different ways according as the cycles have been analyzed on a positive or on an inverted basis.

For the moment, we concentrate on positive analysis, which is our typical method of handling specific cycles. Table 90 shows the direction and degree in which the relative amplitude of single specific cycles is changed by eliminating trends. In this table we have followed our standard method in computing the relative amplitude of the specific cycles in the unadjusted data, while in the adjusted data we converted the absolute amplitude of each specific cycle into a percentage of the average value of the unadjusted data during the period occupied by that cycle. It appears from Table 90 that the effects of eliminating secular trends on the relative amplitudes of expansions, contractions and full cycles are distributed in virtually the same way as are the effects on the absolute amplitudes. The results could hardly be otherwise. For the base used in computing the relative amplitude of a specific cycle is the same in the unadjusted and adjusted data whenever their cyclical troughs coincide, and the difference between the bases is usually slight even in the absence of coincidence. It may be recalled that the effects of trend adjustments analyzed in Table 91 assume coincidence of cyclical turns. Since on this assumption the cycle bases of adjusted and unadjusted data are identical, the removal of trend will have exactly the same effect on the relative as on the absolute amplitudes.<sup>18</sup> Hence the reasons previously advanced for the tendency of amplitude measures of full specific cycles to run lower in adjusted than in unadjusted data apply to the relative amplitudes no less than to the absolute amplitudes.

Of course, this argument is based on a particular method of measuring the relative amplitude of specific cycles in trend-adjusted data—a difficulty that should be faced explicitly. At least four plausible methods may be distinguished. (A) If the adjusted data are expressed as trend relatives, we can simply apply our standard technique to these data. (B) The relative amplitude may also be measured directly from the trend relatives, that is, without adjusting the relatives for differences in their average

18 See above, note 17, for the effects of trends on absolute amplitudes of full cycles when the trend shifts cyclical turns. Point (1) of that note applies also to relative amplitudes, for under the assumed conditions the cycle bases are the same in adjusted and unadjusted data. So too does point (2) with this additional comment: the increase in the absolute amplitude tends to be counteracted or reinforced in the relative amplitude according as the cycles are positive or inverted, because (regardless of the direction of the trend) the cycle base tends to be raised in the former case and lowered in the latter.

### TABLE 92

Average Amplitude of Corresponding Specific Cycles										
in	Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data Computed by Different Methods									
	Six American Series									

		Average relative amplitude of													
					Adjusted data treated in the form of										
	No. of	Una	djusted	l data			Trend		Absolute devia-						
Series and trend	corre- spond- ing specific cycles	trea ii s to	ted ac ng to o tandai chniq	cord- ur rd ue	According to our standard technique (Method A)			As in Method A, but not 'cor- recting' for the level of cycles (Method B)			tions from trend, ' but 'correcting' for the level of cycles (Method C)				
		Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall		
UPWARD															
Deflated clearings	13	25.9	13.7	39.7	14.8	17.6	32.4	14.8	17.5	32.3	14.4	19.0	33.4		
Frickey's clearings	9	30.2	13.6	43.8	17.4	17.3	34.7	17.2	17.3	34.5	16.5	18.4	34.8		
A.T.&T. index	9	30.5	26.1	56.5	23.9	29.6	53.6	23.5	28.3	51.8	23.4	30.8	54.2		
Pig iron production.	15	62.1	54.8	116.8	52.2	57.7	109.9	49.9	54.0	103.9	49.8	60.6	110.5		
Electricity output	2	44.2	13.8	58.0	18.0	22.2	40.1	17.6	22.2	39.8	16.4	26.0	42.3		
Railroad bond yields	3	12.9	8.4	21.3	8.7	10.5	19.2	8.7	10.5	19.2	8.6	10.7	19.3		
DOWNWARD															
Railroad bond yields	8	6.3	14.6	20.9	8.6	8.4	17.0	8.6	8.4	16.9	8. <b>8</b>	8.3	17.1		
OSCILLATORY															
Railroad bond yields	16	9.4	14.7	24.1	10.2	11.1	21.2	10.1	11.0	21.2	10.3	10.9	21.3		

Methods A, B and C are identified more fully in the text. See Table 85 for the periods covered.

level during successive specific cycles. (C) When trend-adjusted data are expressed as absolute deviations from trend—and that is the form in which they must be taken to show the effect of trend adjustments on amplitudes in the original units—a different procedure is necessary. Here the absolute amplitude of each cycle may be expressed as a percentage of the aver-*t* age value of the *unadjusted* data during the period occupied by the cycle, or (D) as a percentage of the average value of the ordinates of secular trend during the period occupied by the cycle. It seems that method A should be better than method B whenever the trend is so fitted that some full cycles are sunk below or raised above the line of trend, for in such cases method A supplies what is in effect a supplementary trend adjustment. For similar reasons method C seems better than method D. But it is more difficult to choose between methods A and C either on theoretical or practical grounds.<sup>19</sup>

Table 92 compares the average amplitudes of unadjusted data with the average amplitudes of adjusted data measured by methods A, B and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> If the amplitudes of rise and fall in the adjusted data are equal in the original units, the rise of a specific cycle will still equal the fall if computed by method C but not by method A or B; while if the amplitudes of specific cycles of trend relatives are constant, the rise will equal the fall if ascertained by method A or B but not by method C. Since the amplitude of percentage deviations from trend is apt to vary less than the amplitude of absolute deviations from trend, these considerations seem to argue in favor of methods A and B. So too does the analysis of positive vs. inverted measures, later in this section.

C. The three methods of computing the relative amplitude of trendadjusted data yield closely similar results, although there are numerous differences of detail. The most prominent is that the average cyclical rise is smaller and the average fall larger in method C than in method A or B in every sample of an upward trend, while the average rise is larger and the average fall smaller in method C than in method A or B in the one sample of a declining trend.<sup>20</sup> But whatever the method, the removal of an upward trend reduces the average cyclical rise and increases the average cyclical fall, the removal of a downward trend produces opposite effects, and the removal of an upward or downward trend reduces the joint rise and fall.

TABLE	93
-------	----

Comparison of Relative Amplitudes of Corresponding Spe	cific Cycles
in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data	

Amplitude of adjusted data determined by method <sup>•</sup>	Number of instances in which the relative amplitude of adjusted data											
	that	Is larger than of unadjusted	data	Is smaller than that of unadjusted data '								
	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall						
A		44	8	48	4	40						
В	2	43	8	46	5	40						
<b>c</b>		48	9	48		39						

Based on 48 corresponding cycles in the unadjusted and trend-adjusted data of five American series with upward trends. See Table 85 for the series and periods covered, and Table 90 for more detailed comparisons involving method C.

"The several methods are identified in Table 92, and more fully on pp. 284-5.

Theoretically, these effects are not strictly necessary in any of the methods. The removal of an upward trend must reduce the cyclical rise and increase the cyclical fall when the amplitudes are measured in the original units. But strange as it may seem, the removal of an upward trend

20 Assume that the ordinates of secular trend at the dates of initial trough, peak, and terminal trough of a specific cycle in *adjusted* data are, successively, *a*, *b*, and *c*; that the values of the cyclical component in the original units are -m, +n, and -o at the corresponding dates; and that these dates are the same no matter how the secular trend is eliminated. Then, according to method

B, the cyclical rise is  $100\left(\frac{n}{b}+\frac{m}{a}\right)$  and the cyclical fall is  $100\left(\frac{n}{b}+\frac{o}{c}\right)$ ; while according to method C, the rise is  $100\left(\frac{n}{k}+\frac{m}{k}\right)$  and the fall is  $100\left(\frac{n}{k}+\frac{o}{k}\right)$ , where k is the average value of the unadjusted data during the cycle. The cyclical rise will be smaller in method C than in method B, provided k is larger than the weighted harmonic mean of a and b; their respective weights being m and n. And the cyclical fall will be larger in method C than in method B, provided k is smaller than the weighted harmonic of b and c, their respective weights being n and n. And the cyclical fall will be larger in method C than in method B, provided k is smaller than the weighted harmonic of b and c, their respective weights being n and o. It seems reasonable to expect that k will rarely be below the first harmonic or above the second, so long as the secular trend is upward and the specific cycles are taken positively.

If specific cycles are taken invertedly, it may be expected that the average value of the unadjusted data during the inverted cycle running from the date of b to the next peak will usually be above the weighted harmonic of b and c, while the average value of the unadjusted data during the inverted cycle ending with the date of b will usually be below the weighted harmonic of a and b. Hence inverted analysis should tend to produce differentials between methods B and C that are opposite in sign to those produced by positive analysis. See Table 94, where positive and inverted measures are contrasted.

The preceding remarks may be readily rephrased for the case of a declining trend.

may increase the relative amplitude of the cyclical rise or reduce the relative amplitude of the cyclical fall. For example, if a cyclical contraction is exceptionally violent, the average value of the original data during the cycle including this phase may lie considerably below the trend; hence the amplitude of the fall in the adjusted data, if ascertained by method **B**, may be considerably smaller than the amplitude of the fall in the unadjusted data. The summary of cycle-by-cycle comparisons in Table 93 demonstrates that such curious results are rare in practice. Nevertheless, Table 92 discloses an instance in which the *average* fall of adjusted data covering fifteen specific cycles is smaller than the average fall of unadjusted data, despite the upward trend of the series.<sup>21</sup>

Table 94 compares amplitude measures of positive and inverted cycles on the plan of Table 92. We have already shown in Chapter 5 how measures of amplitude of unadjusted data depend on the decision to analyze specific cycles on a positive or on an inverted basis. In brief, if the secular trend of a series is upward, the amplitude of cyclical rises is likely to be smaller and of cyclical falls larger when the specific cycles are taken positively than when they are taken invertedly; but if the secular trend is downward, rises are likely to be larger and falls smaller in positive than in inverted cycles. The influence of positive versus inverted treatment is similar in the adjusted data if the amplitudes are measured by method C, because cycle bases affect these measures in much the same way as they affect the measures of unadjusted data. Method B, on the other hand, avoids the use of cycle bases; hence there can be no difference between amplitude measures for positive and inverted cycles, provided, of course, they cover the same period. Method A may show differences, but

<sup>21</sup> If the cyclical turns in unadjusted and trend-adjusted data are coincident, the cyclical fall in the adjusted data, according to method B, is  $100\left(\frac{n}{b} + \frac{o}{c}\right)$ , and the cyclical fall in the unadjusted data is  $100\left(\frac{b-c}{k} + \frac{n+o}{k}\right)$ . (The symbols are defined in the preceding note.) If a specific cycle in the unadjusted data has a mild expansion followed by an exceptionally sharp contraction, and the trend line during this cycle moves upward at a gentle pace, k may be much lower than b or c. If that happens  $\frac{n+o}{k}$  will be considerably larger than  $\frac{n}{b} + \frac{o}{c}$ , and this excess will be only slightly offset by  $\frac{b-c}{k}$ ; in other words, the amplitude of fall in the unadjusted data will be larger than in the adjusted data. An example that approximates this hypothetical case is the decline of iron production from 1929 to 1933; the amplitude of which is 148.9 in the unadjusted data, but only 103.3 in the adjusted data treated by method B. This extreme discrepancy is the main reason for the paradoxical result in Table 92, to which we refer in the text. (See Chart 35.)

Method A also may produce curious results. For example, if the cyclical fall in the adjusted data analyzed by method B is only slightly larger than in the unadjusted data, while the average of the trend relatives during the cycle is well above 100, the fall in the adjusted data treated by method A will be smaller than in the unadjusted data.

Nor is method C devoid of this difficulty. The absolute cyclical fall after an upward trend is removed must exceed the absolute fall of unadjusted data. But the base on which the former is expressed may be higher than the base on which the latter is expressed. Hence the relative amplitude of the fall may be smaller in the adjusted than in the unadjusted data, though the likelihood of such a result is slight.

These remarks may be readily extended to cyclical rises.

### TABLE 94

## Average Amplitude of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data on Positive and Inverted Plans Five American Series

			Averag	e rela	tive an	nplituc									
Series, trend, and measure	Uı ju d	nad- sted ata	Adjusted data							Excess of average of adjusted data over average of unadjusted data					
i	Pos.	Inv.	Meth	Method A		Method B		Method C		Method A		Method B		Method C	
			Pos.	Inv.	Pos.	Inv.	Pos.	Inv.	Pos.	Inv.	Pos.	lnv.	Pos.	Inv.	
UPWARD TREND															
Deflated clearings Rise Fall Rise & fall	25.0 10.3 35.4	25.7 9.6 35.3	14.0 14.1 28.1	14.0 14.4 28 5	14.0 14.4 28.5	14.0 14.4 28 5	13.6 14.7 28.3	14.5 13.6 28.1	-11.0 +3.8 -7.3	-11.7 +4.8 -6.8	-11.0 +4.1 -6.9	-11.7 +4.8 -6.8	-11.4 +4.4 -7 1	-11.2 +4.0 -7.2	
Frickey's clearings Rise Fall Rise & fall	29.4 13.8 43.2	30.5 12.7 43.2	16.4 17.0 33.4	16.7 17.7 34.4	16.2 17.1 33.3	16.2 17.1 33.3	15.5 18.2 33.7	16.9 16.7 33.6	-13.0 +3.2 -9.8	-13.8 +5.0 -8.8	-13.2 +3.3 -9.9	-14.3 +4.4 -9.9	-13.9 +4.4 -9.5	-13.6 +4.0 -9.6	
A.T.&T. index Rise Fall Rise & fall	30.7 20.2 51.0	31.4 19.1 50.6	25.1 23.5 48.6	24.8 23.8 48.6	24.6 23.6 48.1	24.6 23.6 48.1	24.5 24.4 48.9	25.2 23.1 48.3	-5.6 +3.3 -2.4	-6.6 +4.7 -2.0	-6.1 +3.4 -2.9	-6.8 +4.5 -2.5	-6.2 +4.2 -2.1	-6.2 +4.0 -2.3	
Pig iron production Rise Fall Rise & fall	61.9 48.0 110.0	64.5 43.9 108.4	53.1 51.2 104.3	52.1 51.9 104.1	50.5 50.4 100.9	50.5 50.4 100.9	50.9 54.1 105.1	53.1 49.4 102.6	-8.8 +3.2 -5.7	-12.4 +8.0 -4.3	-11.4 +2.4 -9.1	-14.0 +6.5 -7.5	-11.0 +6.1 -4.9	-11.4 +5.5 -5.8	
DOWNWARD TREND									j l						
Railroad bond yields Rise Fall Rise & fall	6.0 14.4 20.4	5.8 15.0 20.8	8.6 8.4 17.0	8.6 8.4 17.0	8.6 8.4 16.9	8.6 8.4 16.9	8.8 8.3 17.1	8.4 8.6 17.0	+2.6 -6.0 -3.4	+2.8 -6.6 -3.8	+2.6 -6.0 -3.5	+2.8 -6.6 -3.9	+2.8 -6.1 -3.3	+2.6 -6.4 -3.8	
OSCILLATORY TREND															
Railroad bond yields Rise Fall Rise & fall	9.3 15.4 24.7	9.1 16.0 25.1	10.1 10.8 21.0	10.1 11.0 21.1	10.0 10.9 20.9	10.0 10.9 20.9	10.3 10.7 21.0	10.0 11.2 21.1	+0.8 -4.6 -3.7	+1.0 -5.0 -4.0	+0.7 -4.5 -3.8	+0.9 -5.1 -4.2	+1.0 -4.7 -3.7	+0.9 -4.8 -4.0	

Methods A, B and C are identified in Table 92, and more fully on pp. 284-5. With one exception, the number of corresponding cycles is one less for each sample than in Table 92, the expansion of the first and the contraction of the last cycle being dropped. In railroad bond yields (socillatory trend) the number of cycles is 12 in this table, but 16 in Table 92; the expansion of the first and the contraction of the last cycle in each of the four clusters of corresponding cycles shown in Table 85 (note 'a') was dropped. The brief series on electricity and the rising \*egment of bond yields are omitted because of fewness of cycles.

they are bound to be slight and erratic, since the cycle bases are usually close to 100 and in any case deviate more or less erratically from this value. We can therefore say that in methods A and B the amplitude measures do not depend upon whether the specific cycles are treated positively or invertedly. We also know that the average rise will tend to equal the average fall in methods A and B, while the presence of a trend makes the rise and fall unequal in the case of unadjusted data. It follows that if method A or B is applied to adjusted data, the average rise and fall, taken separately, will be closer to corresponding averages of unadjusted data when their specific cycles are treated positively than when they are treated invertedly—a conclusion that is equally valid for series with upward or downward trends. Or to put the same thing in different words, if method A or B is used, the removal of secular trends will alter our standard measures of amplitude of rise and fall, taken separately, more when the specific cycles have been handled invertedly than when they have been handled positively. No such systematic difference will appear if method C is used. However, as Table 94 shows, the differences on account of positive versus inverted treatment are as a rule very small in relation to the size of the amplitudes of expansions and contractions, taken separately, and they are practically of no consequence whatsoever in the amplitudes of full cycles.<sup>22</sup>

IABLE 95
Average Amplitude of Corresponding and All Specific Cycles
in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data
Six American Series

TADLE OF

Series and group	Direction of	No. of specific cycl <del>es</del>		Average amplitude in specific-cycle relatives							Average of adj. data as relative of average of unadj. data		
	trend			Rise		Fall		Rise	& fall	Dies	<b>F</b> -11	Rise	
		Un	Ad	Un	Ad	Un	Ad	Un	Ad	Rise	гац	& fall	
CORRESPONDING CYCLES													
Deflated clearings	Upward	13	13	25.9	14.8	13.7	17.6	39.7	32.4	57	128	82	
Frickey's clearings	Upward	9	9	30.2	17.4	13.6	17.3	43.8	34.7	58	127	79	
A.T.&T. index*	Upward	9	9	30.5	23.9	26.1	29.6	56.5	53.6	78	113	95	
Pig iron production <sup>a</sup>	Upward	15	15	62.1	52.2	54.8	57.7	116.8	109.9	84	105	94	
Electricity output <sup>a</sup>	Upward	2	2	44.2	18.0	13.8	22.2	58.0	40.1	41	161	69	
Railroad bond yields	Upward	3	3	12.9	8.7	8.4	10.5	21.3	19.2	67	125	90	
Railroad bond yields*	Downward	8	8	6.3	8.6	14.6	8.4	20.9	17.0	137	58	81	
Railroad bond yields	Oscillatory	16	16	9.4	10.2	14.7	11.1	24.1	21.2	109	76	88	
ALL CYCLES	1		{								1		
Deflated clearings	Upward	15	15	26.9	15.6	13.4	17.4	40.2	33.0	58	130	82	
Frickey's clearings	Upward	11	11	31.2	19.7	13.7	18.3	44.8	38.0	63	134	85	
Railroad bond yields	Upward	5	7	13.3	6.7	6.3	7.1	19.6	13.8	50	113	70	
Railroad bond yields	Oscillatory	20	21	10.8	9.9	12.5	10.0	23.3	19.9	92	80	85	

'Un' stands for unadjusted, 'Ad' for trend-adjusted data. The amplitudes of the adjusted data were computed by our standard technique from trend relatives. See Table 85 for the periods covered.

•All cycles correspond in the adjusted and unadjusted data.

It may be well to pause at this point and sum up the main findings, which are simple enough in essence. Four conclusions stand out. (1) The removal of an upward trend tends to reduce the amplitude of cyclical rise and increase the amplitude of cyclical fall; the removal of a declining trend has opposite effects. These effects must register in amplitudes expressed in the original units, and they are very likely to do so in amplitudes expressed in cycle relatives. (2) The removal of any definite trend tends to reduce the amplitude of full specific cycles, whether expressed in the original units or in cycle relatives. This effect is not necessary mathematically, but it is likely to dominate in the time series with which we deal. (3) The average effect produced by trend adjustments (Table 95) is considerable in the case of amplitudes of expansions and contractions

22 Cf. pp. 135-6.

taken separately, and is appreciable even in the amplitudes of full cycles.<sup>23</sup> (4) The effects of trend adjustments on measures of cyclical amplitude depend partly upon 'real' factors, that is, the duration, amplitude, pattern, and intra-cycle trend of different specific cycles; and partly upon 'technical' factors, such as the particular trend line used, the method used to eliminate the trend, the method used to measure the amplitude of trend-adjusted data, and whether the specific cycles are analyzed positively or invertedly. The technical factors are more important in the amplitudes of cyclical phases than in the amplitudes of full cycles; but, in general, if the trend line is at all plausible, the 'technical' effects are reasonably sure to be swamped by the 'real' effects.

To complete the present analysis, we show in Tables 96 and 97 how the removal of secular trends affects the per month amplitudes. It appears that the per month amplitude of full specific cycles is affected by trend adjustments in about the same ratio as is the total amplitude proper. This result reflects the slight influence of trend adjustments upon the duration of full cycles.<sup>24</sup> The effects of trends on the rates of rise and fall, taken separately, are relatively smaller and less uniform than the effects on the amounts of rise and fall. For the removal of an upward trend tends not only to reduce cyclical rises and increase cyclical falls, but also to shorten expansions and lengthen contractions. Likewise the removal of a downward trend tends to reduce both the amplitude and the duration of contractions, and to increase the amplitude and duration of expansions. Whether the removal of trend increases or diminishes the per month amplitude depends therefore upon three factors: the direction of the trend, its influence on the amplitude of a phase, and its influence on the corresponding duration. The main line of cleavage is between cyclical movements that are in the same direction as the trend and the cyclical movements that oppose the trend. Assume that the removal of trend affects the amplitude of cyclical phases in greater proportion than their duration. Then the rate of cyclical rise will be reduced when an upward trend is eliminated and the rate of cyclical fall will be reduced when a downward trend is eliminated. The dominance of these tendencies in our sample appears clearly in the distribution of single cycles in Table 96, as well as in the averages of Table 97. But in order that the removal of an upward trend reduce the rate of cyclical fall or the removal of a downward trend reduce the rate of cyclical rise, the trend adjustment must increase the amplitudes in smaller proportion than the durations. These tendencies are not prominent in the distribution of single cycles, though they

<sup>23</sup> So far as the removal of an upward (downward) trend tends to increase the number of specific cycles, it will tend to intensify the reduction of the average cyclical rise (fall) and, though to a lesser extent, offset the increase of the average cyclical fall (rise): hence it will tend to intensify the reduction of the average amplitude of full cycles. But the noncorresponding cycles in our sample are too few to cut an appreciable figure. See Table 95, and Sec. II of this chapter. <sup>24</sup> But see Ch. 8, note 18.

# TABLE 96

## Rates of Rise and Fall of Specific Cycles in Unadjusted Data Compared with Corresponding Measures of Trend-adjusted Data Six American Series

		Number of instances in which									
	Number of corre-	Rise per adjusted	month in data is	Fall per month in adjusted data is							
Series	sponding specific cycles	Larger than in unadjusted data	Smaller than in unadjusted data	Larger than in unadjusted data	Smaller than in unadjusted data						
Upward trend											
Deflated clearings	13	2	11	7	6						
Frickey's clearings	9		9	4	5						
A.T.&T. index	9	1	8	6	3						
Pig iron production	15	3	12	8	7						
Electricity output	2		2	1	1						
Railroad bond yields	3	1	2	2	1						
Total	51	7	44	28	23						
			Downwa	ard trend							
Railroad bond yields	8	6	2		8						

The rates of rise or fall in specific-cycle relatives were computed by our standard technique, to as many places as was necessary to establish a difference between the adjusted and unadjusted data. See Table 85 for the periods covered.

## TABLE 97

### Average Per Month Amplitude of Corresponding and All Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data Six American Series

Scries	Direction	No. of specific cycles		Average per month amplitude in specific-cycle relatives							Average of adj. data as relative of average of unadj. data		
and Broah	trend			Rise		Fall		Rise & fal		-		Rise	
		Un	Ad	Un	Ad	Un	Ad	Un	Ad	Rise	Fall	& fall	
CORRESPONDING CYCLES													
Deflated clearings	Upward	13	13	0.81	0.64	2.05	1.93	0.92	0.74	79	94	80	
Frickey's clearings	Upward	9	9	1.00	0.69	1.78	1.65	1.13	0.88	69	93	78	
A.T.&T. index <sup>a</sup>	Upward	9	9	1.30	1.12	1.87	1.79	1.35	1.28	86	96	95	
Pig iron production <sup>a</sup>	Upward	15	15	2.43	2.49	4.68	4.02	2.89	2.72	102	86	94	
Electricity output <sup>a</sup>	Upward	2	2	0.97	0.48	0.80	0.69	0.92	0.56	49	86	61	
Railroad bond yields	Upward	3	3	0.58	0.58	1.73	0.74	0.71	0.65	100	43	92	
Railroad bond yields*	Downward	8	8	0.39	0.49	0.50	0.35	0.46	0.38	126	70	83	
Railroad bond yields	Oscillatory	16	16	0.56	0.62	0.94	0.65	0.66	0.60	111	69	91	
ALL CYCLES													
Deflated clearings	Upward	15	15	0.83	0.80	1.92	1.77	0.94	0.79	96	92	84	
Frickey's clearings	Upward	11	11	1.02	0.98	1.65	1.59	1.15	1.01	96	96	88	
Railroad bond yields	Upward	5	7	0.45	0.57	1.16	0.44	0.53	0.45	127	38	85	
Railroad bond yields	Oscillatory	20	21	0.57	0.64	0.84	0.56	0.64	0.55	112	67	86	

The per month averages are unweighted. 'Un' stands for unadjusted, 'Ad' for trend-adjusted data. The amplitudes of the adjusted data were computed by our standard technique from trend relatives. See Table 85 for the periods covered.

.

\* All cycles correspond in the adjusted and unadjusted data.

leave their impress on the averages. In our sample the effect of trend adjustments is generally greater on the amplitudes and smaller on the durations, relatively to the size of the figures, when the cyclical movement is in the same direction as the trend than when it opposes the trend.<sup>25</sup> The tendency of trend adjustments to reduce the per month amplitudes in the different circumstances represented in Table 96 reflects this fact, although it does not follow inevitably from it.

		_		neric	an Sei	ries							
			Average in specific-cycle relatives at stage										
S	Direc-	No. of spe- cific	I	п	ш	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX		
form of data	of		Initial	F	Expansio	'n	Peak	Contraction			Ter-		
	trend	cycles	trough (3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	(3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	trough (3 mos.)		
DEFLATED CLEARINGS													
Unadjusted Adjusted	Up 	15 15	85.7 92.7	90.5 96.6	99.2 100.8	106.7 104.7	112.6 108.3	108.7 103.7	106.0 100.0	101.9 94.1	99.2 90.9		
FRICKEY'S CLEARINGS Unadjusted Adjusted	Up	11 11	84.2 89.4	88.2 95.1	98.3 99.2	106.6 104.9	115.4 109.1	113.5 105.0	111.1 101.5	105.8 96.3	101.7 90.7		
A.T.&T. INDEX Unadjusted Adjusted	Up	9 9	84.7 89.7	90.4 94.6	101.4 103.1	109.6 109.4	115.1 113.7	111.0 108.8	104.5 100.9	94.0 88.7	89.1 84.0		
PIG IRON PRODUCTION Unadjusted Adjusted	Up 	15 15	67.3 73.5	82.5 86.6	103.7 106.9	116.5 115.3	129.3 125.7	122.6 118.0	108.2 101.5	88.4 84.2	74.6 67.9		
ELECTRICITY OUTPUT Unadjusted Adjusted	Up 	2 2	74.0 92.0	81.0 94.8	96.6 99.9	111.0 106.6	118.2 110.0	116.2 106.2	113.3	107.1 93.2	104.3 87.8		
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS Unadjusted Adjusted	Up 	5 7	93.4 97.0	95.7 97.6	99.3 99.9	102.8 101.9	106.7 103.8	104.3 101.7	103.4 100.3	102.0 98.3	100. <b>5</b> 96.7		
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS Unadjusted Adjusted	Down	8 8	100.4 96.3	101.8 98.1	102.8 100.0	104.2 101.8	106.7 104.8	102.8 101.8	99.0 100.1	94.9 98.1	92.1 96.5		
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS Unadjusted Adjusted	Oscil.	20 21	96.1 95.2	98.4 97.4	101.5 100.5	104.0 102.7	106.9 105.1	103.7 102.1	100.6 100.0	96.9 97.1	94.3 95.1		

TABLE 98	
Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Da	ta
Six American Series	

The patterns of the adjusted data were computed by our standard technique from trend relatives. See Chart 37 for the periods covered.

Chart 37 and Table 98 compare the patterns of the specific cycles of the adjusted and unadjusted data, traced out by the average standings in successive stages of the cycles. In the main the chart recapitulates the differences in specific-cycle behavior shown by preceding tables. The largest difference between any two patterns is in electric power production, as is to be expected. The two patterns of bond yields differ notably in periods

25 See Tables 88 and 95.

# AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

### CHART 37 Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data Six American Series



over which the trend moves in a single direction, but are fairly similar when the period includes opposing trends. It is worth observing that the patterns of the adjusted data of our sample look no more like sine curves than do the patterns of the unadjusted data.

# V Reference-cycle Measures

When we break series on the basis of the turning points in general business activity instead of the turning points peculiar to each series, the shift has scarcely any effect on the trend component. On the other hand, the amplitudes of the cycles are reduced in varying degree, and leads or lags emerge. As a result the trend component of the unadjusted data appears more prominent in the reference-cycle patterns of Chart 38 than in the specific-cycle patterns of Chart 37. The trend obscures the response of bond yields to business cycles if we take periods of rising and falling trends separately, and we must look closely at the figures in Table 99 to detect it.

TABLE 99
Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data
Six American Series

			Average in reference-cycle relatives at stage										
Series and form of data	Direc-	No. of refer- ence	I	11	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX		
	of		Initial	E	Expansio	n	Peak	C	Ter-				
	trend	cycles	trough (3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	(3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	trough (3 mos.)		
DEFLATED CLEARINGS													
Unadjusted	Up	15	88.1	94.0	98.4	105.2	107.5	106.7	102.3	99.5	100.6		
Adjusted		15	95.6	100.4	102.2	106.2	106.7	104.5	97.9	93.0	92.9		
FRICKEY'S CLEARINGS									ł				
Unadjusted	Up	10	83.5	90.7	96.1	104.9	108.1	108.2	102.7	99.7	101.1		
Adjusted		10	91.6	97.6	100.2	106.0	107.0	105.6	97.9	92.5	92.2		
A.T.&T. INDEX					'				1				
Unadjusted	Up	9	86.8	94.1	102.7	109.1	113.2	108.8	99.8	91.1	90.8		
Adjusted		9	92.1	98.5	105.5	109.8	112.7	107.3	96.7	86.8	85.7		
PIG IRON PRODUCTION													
Unadjusted	Up	15	73.3	90.0	103.5	112.5	122.2	117.6	100.4	84.8	81.1		
Adjusted		15	80.0	96.7	107.6	113.3	121.0	114.8	95.4	78.4	73.7		
ELECTRICITY OUTPUT	ł				1	1	1	ł	1		ł		
Unadjusted	Up	4	85.7	89.5	95.3	101.8	105.9	107.3	107.0	103.4	103.4		
Adjusted		4	98.2	100.0	102.5	105.3	107.2	105.9	101.0	93.6	91.5		
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS							i i						
Unadjusted	Up	5	97.0	96.3	96.1	99.7	102.0	103.9	104.3	104.2	104.7		
Adjusted		5	100.8	99.4	97.8	99.5	100.4	101.7	101.3	100.2	100.1		
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS	Į			ļ	l		i i	Į	1		ł		
Unadjusted	Down	8	105.4	103.7	100.9	99.7	100.6	100.2	100.1	97.9	96.7		
Adjusted		8	100.6	99.8	98.4	98.7	100.2	100.7	102.1	101.3	100.8		
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS			]]										
Unadjusted	Oscil.	19	102.0	100.5	98.3	98.9	101.0	102.0	101.5	101.1	100.2		
Adjusted		19	100.3	99.3	97.9	98.8	100.8	101.9	101.4	101.4	100.8		

The patterns of the adjusted data were computed by our standard technique from trend relatives. See Chart 38 for the periods covered.

#### CHART 38

Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data Six American Series



However, when the periods of rising and falling trends in bond yields are combined, the response is as clear in the unadjusted as in the adjusted data.<sup>28</sup>

26 In several series the standing of the cyclical patterns of the adjusted data is lower in stage IX than in stage I. This can be explained partly by the tendency of the trend lines to exaggerate the contraction of 1929-33. But the drift of the cyclical patterns is only a rough guide to the average intra-cycle trend. If, for example, the average value of a series is the same in successive cycles, the average standings in stages I and IX will still differ, except when the standing at the terminal trough of the last cycle is the same as the standing at the initial trough of the first cycle.

### TABLE 100

Conformity to Business	Cycles of Unadjusted and	Trend-adjusted Data
	Six American Series	

	Direc-	No. of	Stages matched	Av. ch in re relative matche	ange pe eference es durin ed with i	er month -cycle ng stages reference	Index of conformity to reference				
Series and	tion	refer-	with		[			[	Cycles taken		
form of data	trend	cycles	expan- sion <sup>b</sup>	Ex- pan- sions	Con- trac- tions	Cyclesº	Ex- pan- sions	Con- trac- tions	From trough to trough	From peak to peak	Both ways <sup>d</sup>
DEFLATED CLEARINGS Unadjusted Adjusted	Up	15 15	VIII-V VIII-V	+0.78 +0.43	-0.50 -0.85	-1.28 -1.29	+100 +100	+73 +87	+87 +87	+86 +86	+86 +86
FRICKEY'S CLEARINGS Unadjusted Adjusted	Up 	10 10	VIII-V VIII-V	+0.94 +0.55	-0.63 -1.01	-1.57 -1.56	+100 +100	+60 +100	+100 +100	+100 +100	+100 +100
A.T.&T. INDEX Unadjusted Adjusted	Up 	9* 9*	I-V I-V	+1.33	-1.17 -1.39	-2.50 -2.47	+100 +100	+80 +100	+100 +100	+100 +100	+100 +100
PIG IRON PRODUCTION Unadjusted Adjusted	Up	15 15	I-V . I-V	+2.26 +1.93	-2.27 -2.57	-4.53 -4.50	+100 +100	+100 +100	+100 +100	+100 +100	+100 +100
ELECTRICITY OUTPUT Unadjusted Adjusted	Up 	4	I-VI I-VI	+0.98	0.00 -0.62	-0.98 -0.93	+100 +100	0 +50	+100 +100	+100 +100	+100 +100
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS Unadjusted Adjusted	Up	5 5	III-VI III-VI	+0.45	+0.03 -0.17	-0.42 -0.41	+100 +100	-40 +100	+100 +100	+100 +100	+100 +100
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS Unadjusted Adjusted	Down	6 6	III-VI III-VI	0.00 +0.19	-0.25 -0.07	-0.24 -0.26	0 +100	+100 +67	+100 +100	+50 +100	+80 +100
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS Unadjusted Adjusted	Oscil.	19* 19*	III-VI III-VI	+0.24 +0.26	-0.17 -0.14	-0.41 -0.40	+47 +74	+30 +70	+79 +79	+58 +68	+68 +74

<sup>a</sup>An asterisk means that an additional reference contraction at the beginning of the series is covered by the contraction and full-cycle indexes. For reasons stated in note 29, only 6 cycles are covered in the period of secular decline of bond yields, whereas 8 cycles are covered in Chart 38. Subject to these exceptions, the periods covered by this table are shown in Chart 38.

<sup>b</sup>See note 31.

<sup>o</sup> Difference between reference contraction and reference expansion (see Table 47, col. 8).

<sup>d</sup> Described in the text as the 'final full-cycle index'.

As explained in Chapter 5, we measure the conformity of each time series to reference expansions, to reference contractions, and to full cycles. The 'expansion' measures report merely the rate at which, or the regularity with which, a series rose or fell during reference expansions, or during the reference-cycle stages matched with reference expansions. The 'contraction' measures provide similar information for reference contractions. It is obvious from their nature that the removal of trend must modify the rates of change during reference expansions and contractions. and that it is likely to change also the conformity indexes for these phases. But the measures of full-cycle conformity contain an automatic adjustment for secular trends, since a decline in the rate of increase from reference expansion to reference contraction is treated the same way as a rise during reference expansion followed by an actual decline during reference contraction. We should find, therefore, that formal removal of secular trends from the original data has slight influence on the measures of conformity to full business cycles.

Imagine a series built up by adding ordinates of a linear trend to a series of monthly cyclical values. This trend must increase the rate of change, in the original units, both during the stages matched with reference expansions and during the stages matched with reference contractions. Further, the rate for 'expansion' segments must be increased by exactly the same amount as the rate for 'contraction' segments, since the slope of the trend is assumed to be constant. If the trend is downward instead of upward, the two rates must be reduced the same amount. It follows that the influence of the trend can be wiped out by striking a difference between the two rates. We record this difference, expressed in reference-cycle relatives, in column (8) of our standard Tables R3 and R4, and treat it as an indicator of conformity to full reference cycles.27 Of course, if the trend is nonlinear this indicator is not completely free from the influence of trend. But since the average slope of the secular trend of the original data is unlikely to differ appreciably during the two segments into which reference cycles are broken, the differential between the two rates of change should be substantially, if not entirely, free from trend.

Table 100 shows the influence of secular trends on average rates of change during the reference cycles covered by our test series. The adjusted data are analyzed in the form of trend relatives, and therefore do not correspond precisely to the theoretical model in the preceding paragraph. Nevertheless, in every comparison an upward trend increases the average rise per month during the stages matched with reference expansions to about the same degree as it reduces the fall per month during the stages matched with reference contractions.<sup>28</sup> A declining trend has similar effects in the opposite direction.<sup>29</sup> Hence the influence of the secular trend tends to cancel out in the average change per month referring

#### 27 See Ch. 5, Sec. IX-X.

28 If a series bears an inverted relation to business cycles, an upward trend will reduce the average fall per month during the stages matched with reference expansions to about the same degree as it increases the rise per month during the stages matched with reference contractions.

29 Only 6 cycles are included in the period of secular decline of bond yields, whereas 8 cycles are covered in Table 99 and Chart 38. The reason for the difference is that Macaulay's trend line is somewhat undulatory even within this period. The rise of the trend line from 1888 to 1892 and the resumption of the rise early in 1900 have a negligible influence on the cyclical measures previously analyzed, but they confuse the conformity analysis. Hence we limit the conformity measures to cycles during which the trend declined unequivocally, that is, the four cycles from 1867 to 1888 and the two from 1891 to 1897. Since stages III-VI are matched with reference expansions, the periods actually analyzed are shifted half a phase forward from the standard reference cycles.
to full cycles, whether the trend rises, falls, or changes direction within the period covered by a series.

In making the index of conformity to full reference cycles, we take severer precautions to control the influence of secular trends. The method is fully described in Sections IX and X of Chapter 5, but a few additional remarks may help to clarify the exact mathematical nature of this index. Assume that absolute deviations from trend show zero conformity to one or more business cycles; that is, that the average change per month is some constant c during both reference expansion and contraction. Then the addition of a linear trend must leave the conformity zero, whether the reference cycles are taken from trough to trough or from peak to peak; for if the slope of the trend is m, the change per month becomes c + mduring both expansion and contraction. A concave trend in relation to the axis of time will make the conformity of the trend-cycle composite positive if reference cycles are marked off by troughs, and inverted if the cycles are marked off by peaks; for the change per month during successive reference phases is now  $c + d_1$ ,  $c + d_2$ ,  $c + d_3$ , etc., where the d's are successively smaller algebraically. Similarly, a convex trend will make the conformity inverted for reference cycles marked off by troughs, and positive for cycles marked off by peaks. But these opposite 'biases' tend to offset one another in the final full-cycle index, since we take the cycles both from trough to trough and from peak to peak in making this index.

The result is similar when the cyclical and trend components are combined by multiplication, instead of addition. If the standings at the three stages from which conformity is measured fall on a straight line, with the equation  $a_1 + b_1 x$ , the insertion of a linear trend, with the equation  $a_2 + b_2 x$ , will make the conformity of the trend-cycle composite positive or inverted for cycles marked off by troughs, and inverted or positive for cycles marked off by peaks, according as  $b_1b_2$  is minus or plus. The insertion of convex or concave trends will now produce one result, now another. But in these instances as when the trend is linear, excepting occasional shifts from concavity to convexity or vice versa in the trendcycle composite,<sup>30</sup> the 'bias' for reference cycles marked off by troughs must oppose the 'bias' for reference cycles marked off by peaks. Hence the final full-cycle index of unadjusted data should be practically independent of the trend.

30 That is one reason why the index for cycles taken by troughs and the index for cycles by peaks may differ in practice. But a difference might arise merely from rounding numbers, when the indexes are computed from reference-cycle relatives instead of the original data; or from the fact that the index for reference cycles taken by troughs cannot cover exactly the same period as the index for cycles by peaks.

Still another factor may be illustrated by a hypothetical example. Assume that a series has a horizontal 'secular trend'; that each of its specific cycles starts at a reference trough, rises throughout one reference cycle, and falls throughout the next reference cycle; and that the second differences of the monthly values of each specific cycle, considered as a discrete unit, are uniformly minus. In this case the conformity to reference cycles taken by troughs will be invariably positive, while the

In our test series the final full-cycle index is actually the same or almost the same in the unadjusted as in the adjusted data (Table 100). On the other hand, the indexes of conformity to reference expansions and contractions bear clearly the stamp of secular trends. In the one sample of a declining trend the expansion index is lower and the contraction index higher for unadjusted than for adjusted data. In the six samples of a rising trend the contraction index made from unadjusted data is lower than the index made from adjusted data in five series and the same in one. Since the expansion indexes of our several samples of a rising trend are all +100 in the adjusted data, they cannot be higher in the unadjusted data. Barring such limiting cases, secular trends must impart opposite biases to the expansion and contraction indexes. A rising trend tends to increase positive conformity to reference expansions and to diminish positive conformity to reference contractions. A declining trend tends to have opposite effects.<sup>31</sup>

# **VI** Variability of Cyclical Measures

A striking feature of Charts 37-38 is that the cyclical patterns of different series are more alike when made from adjusted data than when made from unadjusted data. The same is true of the separate segments of bond yields, our one series subject to different trends. Thus, in the adjusted data, the reference-cycle pattern of deflated clearings does not differ much from that of electric power production. But the unadjusted data indicate that, in the periods represented, power production rose more vigorously on the average during reference expansions than the volume of clearings;

As we have seen in Sec. III, the shifts in cyclical timing produced by secular trends are, usually, not very large in our sample. We should expect therefore the division of reference cycles in our standard Table R4 to be similar for the adjusted and unadjusted data. In fact, a difference arises only in Frickey's clearings and electricity output. In Frickey's clearings the expansion stages of the adjusted data are I-V; the average rates of change on this basis are +0.65, -0.83, and -1.48, and the conformity indexes are all +100. In electricity the expansion stages of the adjusted data are also I-V; the average rates of change are +0.44, -0.56, -1.00; the conformity indexes are +100except the contraction index, which is +50.

conformity to cycles taken by peaks will be alternately inverted and positive. The difference between the two conformity indexes cannot be ascribed to the secular trend, since the trend is assumed to be horizontal. Of course, a change of assumptions will change the conclusion. Thus if we regard the long specific cycles as the 'secular trend' and assume that the 'short-run' cyclical component is zero, we must say that the 'trend' is solely responsible for the difference between the two indexes; also, that the 'bias' of the index on a peak basis opposes only in part the 'bias' of the index on a trough basis, the reason being that the timing of the oscillatory 'trend' is correlated with the timing of business cycles.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> The comparisons between conformity measures of adjusted and unadjusted data in Table 100 are based on the division of reference cycles that seemed most appropriate for the unadjusted data of each series. Consequently, the comparisons reflect the influence of the trend factor alone. But they do not necessarily reflect the *full* influence of the trend, since the trend may modify the stages characteristic of expansion and contraction. If the conformity measures of the adjusted data were made on that division of reference cycles which seemed best for these data, the comparison would reflect the full influence of the trend; but it would reflect also nonsecular factors whenever the division of the reference cycles of adjusted data differed from that of unadjusted data.

also, that its declines during reference contractions were milder. Again, the reference-cycle pattern of the adjusted data on bond yields when the trend is upward is a rough duplicate of the pattern when the trend is downward; but in the unadjusted data the former pattern shows virtually no decline during the stages matched with reference contractions, while the latter shows virtually no rise during the stages matched with reference expansions.

The vertical lines on the charts representing average deviations of the cyclical patterns are in some instances longer in the unadjusted data, in other instances shorter. But when averages are struck, it appears that the elimination of secular trends usually reduces the differences among the successive cycles. In eight out of ten comparisons the average deviations of the patterns of the adjusted data are smaller than those of the unadjusted data (Table 101). Also, the removal of trends reduces the differences among the durations of specific cycles in every series covered by our tests, and among the amplitudes in every series except one.

It seems, therefore, that if we removed secular trends completely from the original data at the start of the analysis we would find that the variability of cyclical measures within a series is usually reduced. And this is likely to mean that the scope and frequency of secular changes in cyclical measures would also be reduced. Table 102 illustrates the point for bond yields. For the present purpose we may consider a shift in average cyclical

	Num	ber of	Average of	deviation	Average of average deviations from the nine average standings of		
Series and form of data	Specific cycles	Reference cycles	Duration of specific cycles	Rise & fall of specific cycles	Specific- cycle patterns	Reference- cycle patterns	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS			· ·				
Unadjusted	15	15	11.6	13.8	5.7	5.2	
Adjusted	15	15	10.2	7.9	4.7	4.9	
FRICKEY'S CLEARINGS							
Unadjusted	11	10	6.1	10.0	6.3	5.2	
Adjusted	11	10	5.9	8.6	4.1	4.6	
A.T.&T. INDEX					1		
Unadjusted	9	9	7.6	15.4	6.6	7.1	
Adjusted	9	9	7.4	14.9	6.8	7.2	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION					Į.		
Unadjusted	15	15	9.9	26.8	11.9	12.9	
Adjusted	15	15	9.1	29.5	11.3	12.4	
RAILROAD BOND YTELDS							
Unadjusted	20	19	12.6	7.2	3.2	3.6	
Adjusted	21	19	9.7	6.7	1.6	2.0	

 TABLE 101

 Average Deviations from Average Measures of Cyclical Behavior

 Five American Series, Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted

The average deviations of the durations are expressed in months; the others in cycle relatives. See Table 85 for the periods covered by the specific cycles, Chart 38 by the reference cycles. Electricity output is omitted because of its brief statistical record.

	Downwa 1868-	ird trend -1899	Upwar 1899-	d trend -1918	Excess of (5) over (3)	
Measure and form of data	Number of specific	Average	Number of specific	Average		
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
DURATION OF EXPANSIONS						
Unadjusted	8	16.8 20.6	5	35.4 13.7	+18.6	
DURATION OF CONTRACTIONS						
Unadjusted	8	29.6	5	11.2	-18.4	
Adjusted	8	25.8	7	19.7	-6.1	
AMPLITUDE OF RISE						
Unadjusted	8	6.3	5	13.3	+7.0	
Adjusted	8	8.6	7	6.7	-1.9	
AMPLITUDE OF FALL					· ·	
Unadjusted	8	14.6	5	6.3	-8.3	
Adjusted	8	8.4	7	7.1	-1.3	
LAG AT REFERENCE PEAKS	_			7.6		
Unadjusted		8.0		1.5	-1.1	
Adjusted	/	9.7	0	4.5	-5.2	
LAG AT REFERENCE TROUGHS						
Unadjusted	7	15.6	4	0.8	-14.8	
Adjusted	7	15.6	6	6.7	-8.9	

#### TABLE 102

Average Measures of Specific Cycles in Railroad Bond Yields, United States Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, 1868-1899 and 1899-1918

The lags and durations are expressed in months, the amplitudes in specific-cycle relatives. The entries for timing in col. (2) and (4) show the number of observations included in the averages. These are not consistent with the timing averages in Table 87. The averages in Table 87 are based on turns that correspond in the unadjusted and adjusted data, whether or not they correspond to the reference dates; the averages in this table include turns that correspond to the reference dates, whether or not they correspond in the unadjusted and adjusted data; also, the timing of the specific-cycle trough of June 1899 (both unadjusted and adjusted data) is included in the averages of both periods in Table 87, but excluded from both in this table.

behavior from 1868–99, when the trend of bond yields was downward, to 1899–1918, when the trend was upward, as indicating a secular change in cyclical behavior. The table shows that the differences between average cyclical measures of the two periods run smaller in the adjusted than in the unadjusted data; in other words, secular changes in the cyclical measures are less pronounced in the trend-adjusted data.<sup>32</sup> But the measures of timing at reference peaks convey a warning that the elimination of secular trends from the original data will not always make the cyclical measures for different periods more alike.

This warning is important. A fitted trend line may segregate the secular from the cyclical component in such fashion that cyclical measures made from the trend-adjusted data are virtually free from secular change. When this happens, as in the amplitudes of Table 102, we may say that the secular changes which appear in the cyclical measures made from the unadjusted data are due to the trend. But the trend line that effects this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Of course, the secular changes may or may not be 'statistically significant'; cf. Ch. 10. Further, they may be interpreted as indicating what happens upon passing from a contraction phase to an expansion phase of a long cycle; on this, see Ch. 11, especially Sec. III.

segregation with respect to some features of cyclical-secular change may be less successful with respect to other features. That is, a secular change may still appear in certain cyclical measures of the trend-adjusted data, and it may be smaller or larger than in the corresponding measures of the unadjusted data. For example, there is a decline from the first to the second period in the duration of contractions in the adjusted data; the declining trend of the unadjusted data during the first period tends to lengthen, and the rising trend during the second period tends to shorten, the contractions; hence the decline in the duration of contractions is larger in the unadjusted than in the adjusted data. A rather different result appears in the measures of timing at reference peaks. According to the adjusted data, the average lag at peaks declines from 9.7 months in the first period to 4.5 in the second; this change is counteracted by the tendency of the declining trend in the unadjusted data during the first period to reduce lags (or increase leads) and of the rising trend during the second period to increase lags (or reduce leads); the net result is that the timing of the unadjusted data is nearly the same in the second period as in the first.

## VII The Time Unit and Trend Adjustments

In the preceding chapter we have shown how cyclical measures depend upon the time unit in which the observations are given. In this chapter we have shown how cyclical measures depend upon the retention or elimination of secular trends. These influences cross one another. Other things being equal, the steeper the trend the greater are the changes in cyclical measures induced by a shift from monthly to annual data. And the coarser the time unit the greater are the changes in cyclical measures induced by the elimination of a given trend. If we had carried through the analysis of the preceding chapter on the basis of trend-adjusted data, we would have found less startling differences between cyclical measures made from monthly and annual data. On the other hand, if the analysis of this chapter had been based on annual data, we would have established larger effects of secular trends.

Assume that the secular trend is removed from a monthly time series characterized by a rising trend. This operation is not likely to alter the number of specific cycles appreciably, since the amplitude of the 'cyclical component' is usually large compared with the amplitude of the 'trend component'. True, a retardation of increase in the original data is now and then converted into an actual decline that we must count as a cyclical movement, but this tendency is offset by the conversion under certain circumstances of a cyclical rise in the original data into a retarded decline in the adjusted data.<sup>38</sup> If, now, the original and trend-adjusted monthly series are put into annual form, some specific cycles are likely to be lost

<sup>38</sup> See above, pp. 273-5-

by each. But since the process of trend adjustment tends to lengthen and intensify cyclical contractions, fewer cycles are likely to be lost in the annual summations of the trend-adjusted data than in the annual summations of the original data. The brief and mild contractions that cannot survive in annual summations of the original data stand a good chance of survival in annual summations of the trend-adjusted data.

The dependence of the number of specific cycles upon the form of a time series may be explained in another way. A shift from monthly to annual data has no effect on the 'secular component' of a time series, but it dampens the 'cyclical component', so that a considerable fraction of the cyclical movements are converted into mere retardations of growth if the trend is upward or into mere retardations of decline if the trend is downward. These hidden cycles stand an excellent chance of coming to the surface again when secular trends are removed. For example, three cyclical contractions in pig iron production disappear when monthly figures unadjusted for trend are converted into calendar-year sums, but two of the three contractions are recovered when the trend is removed

	Number of specific cycles								
Series	Monthl	y data	Annual data						
	Unadjusted	Adjusted	Unadjusted	Adjusted					
Deflated clearings	15	15	10	13					
Frickey's clearings	11	11	7	10					
A.T.&T. index	9	9	9	9					
Pig iron production	15	15	12	14					
Electricity output	2	2	1	2					
Railroad bond yields	20	21	14	19					
Total	72	73	53	67					

TABLE 103

Number of Specific Cycles in Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data Six American Series, Monthly and Annual

The numbers represent the full cycles within the periods covered by the monthly data, as shown in Table 85. In pig iron production there is no trough in either annual series corresponding to the monthly trough in 1879; hence the count of annual cycles starts in 1884 and ends in 1932.

from the annual sums. Similar results are obtained in other series (Table 103). The number of specific cycles in the unadjusted forms of the test series used in this chapter is 72 in monthly but only 53 in annual data, while the corresponding numbers in the trend-adjusted data are 73 and 67.<sup>34</sup>

84 The trends removed from the annual (calendar-year) and from the monthly data are, of course, the same.

The proper way to obtain annual trend-adjusted figures is to remove the trend from annual data; or to convert monthly figures adjusted for trend, but not for seasonal, into annual sums or averages. (The last statement implies a 'relative' seasonal, the type we have used.) We followed the latter practice in iron production, deflated clearings, and bond yields. In the other series we took annual sums of monthly figures adjusted for both trend and seasonal; but it is practically certain that this change in method has no influence on the count of their specific cycles.

, , ,									
	I	Deflated	clearing	zs	Pig iron production				
Measure	Mo	nthly	Annual		Monthly		Annual		
	Unadj.	Adj.	Unadj.	Adj.	Unadj.	Adj.	Unadj.	Adj.	
NO. OF CYCLES									
Specific	15	15	10	13	15	15	12	14	
Reference	15	15	15	15	15	15	15	15	
AV. DURATION OF SPECIFIC CYCLES <sup>8</sup>									
Expansion	32.6	25.6	49.2	25.8	28.8	25.1	31.0	22.3	
Contraction	11.4	17.9	16.8	24.9	14.5	18.1	17.0	18.0	
Full cycle	44.0	43.5	66.0	50.8	43.3	43.2	48.0	40.3	
AV. AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CYCLES <sup>b</sup>							1	1	
Rise	26.9	15.6	29.7	11.4	62.1	52.2	41.1	27.2	
Fall	13.4	17.4	9.8	13.8	54.8	57.7	32.4	32.8	
Rise & fall	40.2	33.0	39.5	25.1	116.8	109.9	73.5	60.0	
Rise per month <sup>o</sup>	0.8	0.8	0.7	0.5	2.4	2.5	1.5	1.2	
Fall per month <sup>e</sup>	1.9	1.8	0.4	0.5	4.7	4.0	2.0	1.8	
Rise & fall per month <sup>o</sup>	0.9	0.8	0.6	0.5	2.9	2.7	1.7	1.6	
AV. LEAD (-) OR LAG $(+)^{s}$									
At reference peaks	+3.2	-1.7	+1.8	-5.1	+1.9	-1.3	+0.3	-2.4	
At reference troughs	-5.8	-3.4	-3.8	-1.9	-3.4	-2.9	-3.7	-3.1	
CONFORMITY TO BUSINESS CYCLES									
Expansion stages <sup>d</sup>	VIII-V	VIII-V	I-V	I-V	I-V	I-V	I-V	I-V	
Av. change per month <sup>e</sup> during stages matched with reference									
Expansions	+0.78	+0.43	+0.65	+0.29	+2.26	+1.93	+1.46	+1.08	
Contractions	-0.50	-0.85	-0.17	-0.53	-2.27	-2.57	-1.65	-1.99	
Index of conformity to reference									
Expansions	+100	+100	+100	+73	+100	+100	+100	+100	
Contractions	+73	+87	+7	+73	+100	+100	+73	+100	
Cycles	+86	+86	+86	+93	+100	+100	+100	+100	

## TABLE 104 Cyclical Measures of Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data Two American Series, Monthly and Annual

For the periods covered, see Charts 39-42. The average timing measures in this table include turns corresponding to reference dates; hence the apparent inconsistency with the averages in Table 87.

\* In months

<sup>b</sup> In specific-cycle relatives.

<sup>d</sup> Matched in every instance with reference expansion. • In reference-cycle relatives.

<sup>o</sup>Unweighted average.

In Table 104 and Charts 39-42 we compare the cyclical measures of different forms of the data on deflated clearings and iron production. Although these series are subject to peculiarities that blur some theoretically interesting effects, they help to round out the preceding argument. Whether a series is monthly or annual, the removal of trends has similar effects on the timing of specific cycles, the duration of expansions and contractions, their amplitudes, and the conformity to reference expansions and contractions. But since trend adjustments influence the number of specific cycles in annual data much more than the number in monthly data, the effects of trend adjustments are likely to be greater on annual than on monthly cyclical measures, especially on the average duration of specific cycles and the indexes of conformity to reference expansions and contractions. In general, the removal of trends will tend

#### Average Specific-cycle Patterns Bank Clearings outside New York City, Deflated Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Monthly and Annual



For explanation of chart, see Ch. 5, Sec. VI.

to alter these measures of annual data in the direction of the measures of monthly data unadjusted for trend. Consequently, an investigator restricted to annual data is likely to make better estimates of the number of specific cycles in the underlying monthly data, and of their conformity to reference expansions or contractions,<sup>35</sup> by adjusting the annual figures for trend than by using them as they come. Further, an investigator is likely to have somewhat better success in estimating cyclical measures of monthly trend-adjusted data from annual trend-adjusted data than in estimating cyclical measures of monthly unadjusted data from annual unadjusted data. But no device on this plane can counteract the coarseness of annual figures in measuring cyclical timing, their dampening effect on cyclical amplitudes, or their obfuscation of cyclical patterns.

 $^{25}$  To reference expansions if the trend is downward, to reference contractions if the trend is upward.

Average Specific-cycle Patterns Pig Iron Production, United States Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Monthly and Annual









#### Average Reference-cycle Patterns Bank Clearings outside New York City, Deflated Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Monthly and Annual



# VIII Conclusions

We have seen that cyclical measures of different series, as well as cyclical measures of the same series, tend to be more alike when made from trendadjusted data than when made from unadjusted data. To us that is a disadvantage of trend adjustments. The variations of cyclical behavior among and within series count in the interplay of forces that produce the business cycles of experience, and we therefore wish to preserve them. An investigator who seeks to gauge the role played by railroad construction, government spending, installment credit, or agricultural production in past business cycles and their probable role in future business cycles cannot remove secular trends without sacrificing the main part of his problem. It may be legitimate for students concerned with secular trends to put cyclical fluctuations out of sight, but students of cyclical behavior cannot take similar liberty with secular trends. If the trends characteristic of different business activities are set aside, inquiry is apt to be limited to the tendency of economic processes to fluctuate in unison. Our aims, as indicated in Chapter 1, are more ambitious.86

88 See also Ch. 3, Sec. I-III, and Ch. 10, Sec. VIII.

## Average Reference-cycle Patterns Pig Iron Production, United States Unadjusted and Trend-adjusted Data, Monthly and Annual

P

1

0

P

ĩ

.

١

٤.



Horizontal scale, in months 1 24 36 44

e

At the same time, as we have argued in Chapter 3, the retention of intra-cycle trends is a disadvantage when the task is chiefly to describe how business cycles manifest themselves in different activities. But this chapter has demonstrated that the disadvantage is less serious than might be supposed. Since secular trends exercise a systematic influence on nearly all of our cyclical measures. we can take rough account of their influence whenever desirable. Sometimes, as in indexes of conformity to full business cycles, no qualification is necessary. In most measures, the nature of the allowance depends on the direction of the trend; while the magnitude of the allowance depends partly upon the steepness of the trend, partly on other factors which may be of equal or greater importance. For instance. in judging the influence of trends on average measures of timing or duration of expansions and contractions, it is necessary to note the shapes of the specific cycles in the neighborhood of turning points. Again, in judging the influence of trends on amplitude measures, note must be taken of the curvature of the trend, as well as its direction and steepness: also the duration of expansions relatively to contractions, and several other factors. The main considerations that are relevant to each cyclical measure have been set out in the body of this chapter. Of course, judgments of the influence of trends are bound to be rough. But they would not be highly precise even if trend lines were fitted and removed by formal methods. As every statistician knows, secular trends of time series are rarely, if ever, susceptible of precise and objective determination. There is an arbitrary element not only in the choice of the trend line, but in every other step of trend adjustment: the period used in fitting the trend, the time unit in which the data are expressed for this purpose, the method used to fit the selected trend, and the method used to remove the trend.

Our standard Table S3 supplies the essential facts concerning the secular movements of each series. By studying this table in conjunction with other measures, we can usually judge roughly what contribution secular trends make to our measures, and thus allow for the deficiencies of our method in describing the scope of cyclical fluctuations. In annual series this check is less effective than in monthly. But annual data at best are very crude approximations for our purposes. Hence the reasons for trend adjustment, although stronger in annual than in monthly data, do not seem to us sufficient to justify the additional cost. We repeat, however, that if the resources at our disposal permitted it, we would analyze all series presented in the following monographs, or at least the more important ones, in both unadjusted and trend-adjusted forms. And we would feel still better equipped for the work ahead if we could supplement analyses of data adjusted and unadjusted for trend by analyses of data freed from erratic flutterings. That we cannot do. As a substitute we present in the following chapter sample measurements of the effects that 'erratic' movements exercise on our averages.

# CHAPTER 8

# Effects of Smoothing on Cyclical Measures

**C** s EXPLAINED in Chapter 3, we make cyclical measures directly from the raw data adjusted only for seasonal variations. But since most of our measures cover three or more months, an element of smoothing is inherent in our technique. We use, moreover, simple moving averages to help identify and date the specific cycles of very choppy series, though the cyclical measures proper are invariably computed from the raw data. To some students it might seem that our results would be more trustworthy if the data were first smoothed methodically, and the cyclical measures made from the smoothed figures. It may be argued, for example, that by eliminating 'erratic movements', smoothing exposes unequivocally the underlying form of the cyclical fluctuations; hence that more precise measures of cyclical behavior could be derived from smoothed than from raw data. Or a bolder claim may be staked out: namely, that a cyclical graduation, if carried through properly, will show results of 'systematic' forces alone, all effects of 'random perturbations' being wiped out. To come to grips with the questions thus raised, we have studied the manner in which smoothing-that is, the substitution of smoothed monthly figures for the raw-affects cyclical measures. This chapter presents the main results of our experiments.

## I Range of the Tests

Some effects of smoothing time series have already been traced in Chapter 6. Converting monthly data into quarterly form is equivalent to taking every third term of a three-month moving average or total. A quarterly series may therefore be regarded as a smoothed variant of monthly data, but one that contains gaps. Likewise an annual series may be regarded as a smoothed variant of monthly data in which the gaps are wider.

- 310 -

tions. We ha data are usu obvious that margins still with twelvethe main, to time series a cyclical mov asymmetrica tions of symp into cyclical being that cy torted. To evalu ures, we mu conditions. I out effective direction ev contractions accordance to insure a sr this is neces and well do formulas wil sity have to formula, the graduation' this choice series we ha take over hi Macaulay's our purpose Macaula terms of the well down eliminates posed to d ponents. W had smooth flated bank money rates \*echnique \*

;

We might be ures when th

## RANGE OF TESTS

We might begin our analysis by showing what happens to cyclical measures when the gaps are filled. But little can be learned from such calculations. We have seen that the cyclical measures derived from quarterly data are usually very close to those yielded by monthly data, and it is obvious that the use of three-month moving averages would make the margins still narrower. There is more to be learned from experimenting with twelve-month moving averages, but such experiments are bound, in the main, to prove unfavorable to smoothing. Everyone experienced in time series analysis knows that a twelve-month moving average distorts cyclical movements when the phases of expansion and contraction are asymmetrical in the vicinity of cyclical turns, and that even under conditions of symmetry a twelve-month average does not reach far enough up into cyclical peaks or far enough down into cyclical troughs; the result being that cyclical amplitudes are damped and the cyclical patterns distorted.

To evaluate fairly the power of smoothing to improve cyclical measures, we must choose a smoothing 'formula' that meets at least three conditions. First, the formula should cover a period long enough to iron out effectively the seemingly erratic movements which, by changing direction every few months, blur the course of cyclical expansions and contractions. Second, the formula should weight successive months in accordance with a 'smooth' weight diagram; this condition is desirable to insure a smooth result. Third, some of the weights should be negative; this is necessary if the graduation is to reach well up into cyclical peaks and well down into cyclical troughs. Since an indefinite number of formulas will meet these minimum conditions, our experiments of necessity have to be restricted. We have based the experiments largely on one formula, the "43-term summation approximately fifth-degree parabolic graduation" devised by Fredèrick R. Macaulay. The practical reason for this choice is that Macaulay applied his smoothing formula to several series we have analyzed by our standard technique, and we were able to take over his results. This consideration was reinforced by the fact that Macaulay's method of graduating cyclical data gives results as good for our purpose as any we have yet encountered.

Macaulay's formula is a complicated moving average covering 43 terms of the data. It is alleged to reach well up into cyclical peaks and well down into cyclical troughs. When applied to monthly data, it eliminates seasonal and erratic movements, leaving a curve that is supposed to describe adequately the remaining cyclical and trend components. We selected four American series from the group that Macaulay had smoothed by applying his graduation to logarithms of the data—deflated bank clearings, railroad stock prices, pig iron production, and call money rates. We then compared the measures obtained by applying our technique to each of the four series, first in what we shall call the 'raw'

res

ectly from bost of our hing is inverages to es, though raw data. ore trusthe cyclical example, unequivothat more smoothed ely, that a results of ing wiped udied the smoothed s chapter

in Chapvalent to . A quarmonthly ay be rere wider. form and second in the 'smoothed' form.<sup>1</sup> The 'raw' data are, of course, adjusted for seasonal variations.

These series form a fair sample for judging the influence of erratic fluctuations on measures of cyclical behavior. One series reports payments aggregating billions of dollars, the second prices, the third production in physical units, and the fourth shows percentages. The erratic movements are pronounced relatively to the cyclical movements in call money rates, but only mild or moderate in the other series. The erratic movements seem to differ in type as well as in size. Bank clearings show a 'saw-tooth' movement with a reversal of direction every month or two. In railroad stock prices such reversals occur at longer intervals. Iron production often rises or falls without interruption for months at a time, but occasionally has sharp 'saw-tooth' movements. In call money rates there are numerous high, narrow peaks, often standing in impressive isolation, but there are few deep, narrow troughs.

Macaulay's formula completely eliminates erratic fluctuations, in the sense that it replaces a 'saw-tooth' movement by a smooth curve, and turns angles, however acute, into gradual curvatures. But it does not necessarily eliminate protracted random movements, such as may last several years. Moreover, smoothing—no matter how skillfully done—may at times distort cyclical movements, besides eliminating erratic fluctuations. We must therefore pay careful attention in this chapter to possible limitations of smoothing, no less than to the presence of erratic components in our cyclical measures. As an aid to the reader, two samples of Macaulay's graduation are shown in Chart 43.

Iron Production and Call Money Rates, United States, 1877–1933

CHART 43

Data and Macaulay's Graduation

Raw

Ē

# II The Number of Specific Cycles

In Chapter 4 we dwelt at some length, though probably not sufficiently, on the uncertainties connected with the identification of specific cycles. These uncertainties cannot be eliminated by smoothing. For there will always be movements, whether time series are smoothed or not, that seem too small or too brief to qualify as specific cycles. Some uncertainty is therefore bound to surround the results, so long as the attempt is made to distinguish specific cycles, and to fix in time the limits of their expansions and contractions. For example, Table 105 lists every movement of rise and fall in the smoothed figures of pig iron production, irrespective of its length or intensity. If all these movements were treated as specific cycles,

There is no difference between data called 'raw' in this chapter and 'unadjusted' in the preceding chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The sources of the raw data are cited in Ch. 6, note 7. The smoothed series come from Frederick R. Macaulay, *Interest Rates, Bond Yields and Stock Prices, Appendix A, Tables 17, 21, 30, 31, col. 2.* The figures are expressed in logarithms, which we converted to natural numbers before analyzing. Macaulay describes his 'cyclical graduation' briefly in the above source, Appendix D, p. A 331, and more fully in *The Smoothing of Time Series* (National Bureau of Economic Research, 1931), pp. 24-6 and 73-5.



### TABLE 105

## Full List of Rises and Declines in Monthly Smoothed Data Pig Iron Production, United States, 1878–1932

Dat	te of	Average dail (thous. l during r	y production ong tons) nonth of	Duration in months from		
Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough	Trough on preceding line to peak	Peak to trough	
*May 1878	*Dec. 1878	5.7	5.3		7	
May 1880	Oct. 1880	9.3	9.2	17	5	
*Mar. 1883	*Apr. 1885	11.6	9.5	29	25	
Oct. 1886	Mar. 1887	15.7	15.5	18	5	
Sep. 1887	Feb. 1888	15.9	15.8	6	5	
•May 1890	*Mar. 1891	24.6	18.6	27	10	
*Jan. 1892	July 1892	25.6	23.3	10	6	
Nov. 1892	*Jan. 1894	24.0	12.7	4	14	
*Dec. 1895	*Nov. 1896	28.7	19.6	23	11	
May 1898	Sep. 1898	31.5	31.3	18	. 4	
*Dec. 1899	*Oct. 1900	41.3	34.5	15	10	
*Feb. 1903	*Mar. 1904	52.0	38.9	28	13	
*Apr. 1907	*May 1908	77.1	38.4	37	13	
*Jan. 1910	*Apr. 1911	84.0	61.3	20	15	
*Feb. 1913	*Nov. 1914	90.7	57.0	22	21	
*Apr. 1916	Oct. 1916	108.2	105.5	17	6	
Mar. 1917	*Dec. 1917	106.8	98.0	5	9	
*Sep. 1918	*Aug. 1919	112.8	76.9	9	11	
*July 1920	*Aug. 1921	109.8	36.3	11	13	
*July 1923	*July 1924	117.7	78.1	23	12	
July 1925	Oct. 1925	100.0	99.1	12	. 3	
*July 1926	*Dec. 1927	108.7	94.3	9	17	
*May 1929	*Oct. 1932	119.2	18.1	II 17	41	

\*Indicates specific-cycle turns recognized in the smoothed data. Concerning the discrepancies between the specific cycles in the raw and smoothed data, see text.

we should be putting into the same class minor ripples whose very existence is unknown to history, with substantial waves for which there is clear historical evidence. To keep to the aims of this investigation, it is necessary to apply the criteria for identifying specific cycles, described in Chapter 4, to the smoothed data just as to the raw data.

The lists of cycles drawn up on this plan for the two sets of data show occasional discrepancies. In railroad stock prices the two lists agree perfectly. In pig iron production the decline in the raw data from October 1887 to March 1888, which we consider a cyclical movement, is virtually ironed out in the smoothed data. The like is true of the decline from August to December 1918 in both bank clearings and call money rates. On the other hand, the sharp drop in pig iron production in the winter of 1917–18, resulting from the extreme cold of that season and best considered as a random movement, is converted by Macaulay's formula into a wave-like fluctuation which we must treat as a specific cycle. In call money rates three 'extra' cycles turn up in the smoothed data, and at least two of them are spurious (Chart 43). The sharp rise in call money rates from July to August 1914, induced by financial panic upon the outbreak of war, and the by Macaulay Again, the sh from April data. The in months in th correspondir From the solution of Sometimes 'r raw data, an cyclical. Som dom trough, as a specific o movements, should be no ironed out b data, and mig tice to relax series.

Furthern data is biase cycles in the moving aver specific cycle without refe able to demo relied on ex smoothing t erratic fluct disregard in specific cycle analyzed apa This proced data be iden movements correspond 'cycles' in th production materials a:

2 The interval b on call money r 3 For a full list Table B1. war, and the prompt decline to a level below that of July, are converted by Macaulay's formula into a substantial wave lasting twenty-one months. Again, the sharp isolated peak in 1884, the base of which extends merely from April to July, becomes a seventeen-month wave in the smoothed data. The interval between the peaks in 1906 and 1907 is exactly fifteen months in the smoothed data, and we have marked it as a specific cycle; the corresponding movement in the raw data is too short to qualify as a cycle.<sup>2</sup>

onths from

Peak to

trough

7

5 25

5 5

10 6 14

11 4

10

13 13 15

21

6 9

11

13 12

3

17 41

a between the

very exish there is

ation, it is

scribed in

data show

agree per-

n October

s virtually

line from

ney rates.

he winter

best con-

iula into a

all money

least two

rates from

tbreak of

From this summary it is plain that smoothing by no means offers a solution of the difficulties encountered in identifying specific cycles. Sometimes 'marginal' movements appear in smoothed data just as in the raw data, and one is forced to ponder whether to recognize them as cyclical. Sometimes smoothing spreads a high random peak or deep random trough, with a narrow time base, into a wave broad enough to qualify as a specific cycle under our rules. Sometimes, besides eliminating erratic movements, smoothing obliterates a genuine cyclical movement. It should be noted, however, that the three cyclical movements virtually ironed out by smoothing in our sample series are mild even in the raw data, and might not have been recognized as cyclical, were it not our practice to relax rules in treating dubious movements of closely conforming series.

Furthermore, the comparison of cycle lists in the raw and smoothed data is biased in one important respect against smoothing. The specific cycles in the raw data were originally selected with the aid of simple moving averages passed through doubtful portions of the series. The specific cycles in the smoothed data, on the other hand, were selected without reference to the movements of the raw data. As a result, we are able to demonstrate some significant shortcomings of smoothed data when relied on exclusively, but we are not in a position to show the power of smoothing to expose cyclical movements that are hidden from view by erratic fluctuations. To avoid embarrassment arising from this bias, we disregard in the following sections the effects of smoothing on the lists of specific cycles; that is, the effects of smoothing on cyclical measures are analyzed apart from their effects on the determination of specific cycles. This procedure requires that the lists of cycles in the raw and smoothed data be identical.<sup>3</sup> The simplest plan is to treat as 'cyclical' the three faint movements in iron production, bank clearings, and call money rates that correspond in time to cyclical declines in the raw data, and to drop the 'cycles' in the smoothed data, three in call money rates and one in iron production, that have no counterpart in the raw data. Thus put, the materials are in shape for isolating one set of effects of smoothing on

<sup>2</sup> The interval between the peaks in 1901 and 1902 is less than fifteen months in the smoothed data on call money rates; likewise the interval between the troughs in 1897 and 1898.

<sup>3</sup> For a full list of the specific cycles in the raw data and cycle-by-cycle measures. see Appendix Table B1.

cyclical measures. In Section X we shall return briefly to the effects of smoothing via changes in the lists of specific cycles.

that the turni

by erratic mo times follows

erratic factor however, tha

fluctuation, a

turns by mars

Original data

Formula No. 2

Formula No. 11

Formula No. 12

Formula No 1

Formula No. 2

Formula No. 2

Fermula No.

# III Timing and Duration of Specific Cycles

In the preceding chapter we found that the removal of trends shifted less than one-third of the turning points of specific cycles. Table 106 shows that smoothing shifts over four-fifths of the turning points. Except in call money rates, the smoothed data show some tendency to lead at the peaks and to lag at the troughs of the raw data.<sup>4</sup> But most of the shifts are small. Nearly half the turns in the smoothed data come within one month of the turns in the raw data. The discrepancy exceeds four months in only 9, and seven months in only 2, out of 149 instances.

					TABL	.E 10	)6				
Shifts	in	the	Timing	of	Specific	Cycl	es	Produced	by	Smoothi	ing
				The second		• .	~				

Four American Series

Lead (-) or	Number of leads or lags in												
lag (+) of smoothed data at turn of raw	Deflated clearings (1878–1933)		Pig prod (1878	Pig iron production (1878-1933)		ilroad : prices '-1932)	Call 1857	money ates 7–1932)	Four series				
(mos.)	Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough			
Below -7 -7 to -5 -4 to -2 -1 to +1 +2 to +4 +5 to +7 Over +7 Total	1 3 8 2  1 <sup>b</sup> 15	 4 6 5 1  16	··· 4 10 2 ··· 16	 1  9 6   16	1 4 8 3 2  18	 3 5 11  19	1*  8 10 6  25	 1 6 14 3   24	1• 2 19 36 13 2 1 <sup>b</sup> 74	 2 13 34 25 1  75			
Leads Coincidences Lags Total Av. lead (-) or lag (+)	8 4 3 15	5 11 16	6 5 5 16	5 · 2 9 16	7 5 6 18	4 1 14 19	14 4 7 25	13 6 5 24	35 18 21 74	27 9 39 75			
in months.	-0.2	+1.1	-0.4	+0.9	+0.1	+1.2	-1.2	-0.7	-0.5	+0.5			

The entries in this table run from the first to the last corresponding turn in the raw and smoothed data, whether peak or trough. In a few instances they cover a longer period than the measures in Table 112. <sup>a</sup>This value is -17 months. <sup>b</sup>This value is +9 months.

How are the differences in cyclical timing between the raw and smoothed data to be explained? The simplest explanation is that the smoothed curve represents fairly the cyclical movements, and that the discrepancies between the cyclical turns of the raw and smoothed data are therefore due mainly, if not entirely, to erratic movements in the raw data. This explanation, doubtless, is valid in some instances. We know

4 This feature of the results is explained later: see Tables 110-112, and pp. 324-6.

## TIMING AND DURATION

# he effects of

## les

shifted less 106 shows cept in call at the peaks is are small. onth of the only 9, and

Ing

I		
	F	our ries
l	Peak	Trough
	1* 2 19 36 13 2 1 <sup>b</sup>	2 13 34 25 1
ł	74	75
	35 18 21	27 9 39
	74	75
L	-0.5	+0.5
	mooth Table 1	ed data, 12.

e raw and s that the d that the ed data are n the raw We know that the turning points of specific cycles in the raw data are often blurred by erratic movements and that the process of dating cyclical turns sometimes follows a vacillating course. We therefore suspect an appreciable erratic factor in the turning points that we finally select. It is possible, however, that smoothing frequently distorts the underlying cyclical fluctuation, and that turns in the smoothed data miss the 'true' cyclical turns by margins as wide or wider than do the turns in the raw data. For,





See Table 107, especially the notes; also Table 118,

strictly speaking, smoothing does not eliminate erratic movements; it merely redistributes the values of the original data in a manner predetermined by the particular formula used. If this formula is poorly suited to some or all of the cycles in a series, smoothing may misrepresent the cyclical movements. Just as there is uncertainty in dating cyclical turns from raw data, so there is uncertainty in choosing the method of smoothing. Chart 44 and Table 107 illustrate, for a small range of smoothing formulas, the dependence of turning points on the particular formula selected. Formula No. 24 is Macaulay's 43-term graduation.<sup>5</sup>

The pitfalls of smoothing can be seen most clearly in artificially designed series. The results of an experiment with such data are presented in Chart 45 and Table 108. To gauge the effects of smoothing exactly, we assumed independent knowledge of the true cyclical curve. The second column of the table shows the dates assigned to the peaks and troughs of the pure cycles. The succeeding columns set against this standard the timing of artificial series consisting of an assumed random component besides the assumed cycles. Series S' is a sine curve with a period of 44 months, to which a series of random numbers (drawn from a distribution with a mean of zero) has been added. Series S" is the same as S', except that the random numbers were doubled before being added. Series C' and C" are like S' and S", respectively, except that they are based on a cusp-shaped cyclical curve instead of a sine curve. The like applies to series T' and T", whose underlying cyclical component is triangular. The cusp-shaped curve (series C), the triangular curve (series T), and the sine curve (series S) reach peaks and troughs on exactly the same dates; so that the dates in the second column of Table 108 apply to all three sets of pure cycles.6

Several results stand out in the table. As is to be expected, the larger the amplitude of the random component relatively to the pure cycles, the more does the timing of the series tend to deviate from that of the pure cycles. This result is characteristic not only of the raw data, but also of the data smoothed by Macaulay's formula. Smoothing tends to improve the timing of the two series built up from a sine curve, and of one series built up from triangular cycles. But it fails to improve, indeed it worsens, the dating of the cyclical turns in the three remaining series—one built up from a triangular and two from a cusp-shaped cyclical curve.

5 The period covered by this experiment seems to be one in which the different methods are especially likely to harmonize. See Chart 43.

The shape of a graduation depends not only on the formula used, but also on the form of the data to which the formula is applied. If the original figures, instead of the logarithms, were smoothed, the results would be very different in a series like call money rates.

6 Series S, T and C have different cyclical shapes, but their period and amplitude are exactly the same. The period is 44 months. The range is from a maximum of 1200 to a minimum of 800. For the derivation of the series, see the notes on Chart 45 in Appendix C.

E	ffects of 1
Raw <sup>®</sup> Smooth No No No	ed by form 2 11 12 14
No No No No	0. 18         0. 19         0. 20         0. 21         0. 22
No No No	b. 23         b. 24         b. 25         b. 27
As usu b The su graduat are iden (No. 25 45 term	al, adjusted moothing fo ions are all atified. The , 27). But s 13.
	Т
Line	Turning d of pun cyclical c
1	Dec. 18 Oct. 18
3	Aug. 18 June 18
5	Apr. 19 Feb. 19
7	Dec. 1 Oct. 1
9 10	Aug. 1 June 1
11	Apr. 1 Feb. 1
13	Dec. 1
Aver Li Li	age, signs nes 1–13. nes 2–12. age, signs

Lines 2-12.

Smoothing by

smoothed entri

T stands for th

# TIMING AND DURATION

## TABLE 107

Effects of Fourteen Smoothing Formulas on the Timing of Specific Cycles Call Money Rates on New York Stock Exchange, 1887–1893

Form of data	Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough	Peak	
Raw <sup>•</sup>	June 1887	Aug. 1888	Aug. 1890	May 1892	June 1893	
No. 2	Feb. 1887	Sep. 1888	Mar. 1890	Mar. 1892	Mar. 1893	
No. 11	Jan. 1887	July 1888	Dec. 1889	May 1892	May 1893	
No. 12	Mar. 1887	July 1888	Apr. 1890	Apr. 1892	Mar. 1893	
No. 13	Apr. 1887	Aug. 1888	Apr. 1890	Apr. 1892	Mar. 1893	
No. 14	Apr. 1887	Aug. 1888	Apr. 1890	Mar. 1892	Mar. 1893	
No. 18	Apr. 1887	July 1888	Apr. 1890	Apr. 1892	Mar. 1893	
No. 19	Apr. 1887	Aug. 1888	Apr. 1890	Apr. 1892	Mar. 1893	
No. 20	Apr. 1887	Aug. 1888	Apr. 1890	Apr. 1892	Mar. 1893	
No. 21	Apr. 1887	Aug. 1888	Apr. 1890	Apr. 1892	Mar. 1893	
No. 22	Apr. 1887	Aug. 1888	Apr. 1890	Apr. 1892	Mar. 1893	
No. 23	Apr. 1887	July 1888	Apr. 1890	Apr. 1892	Mar. 1893	
No. 24	Apr. 1887	Aug. 1888	Apr. 1890	Apr. 1892	Mar. 1893	
No. 25	May 1887	July 1888	Dec. 1889	May 1892	May 1893	
No. 27	Mar. 1887	Aug. 1888	Apr. 1890	Mar. 1892	Apr. 1893	

\*As usual, adjusted for seasonal variations. Chart 44 shows the data before seasonal adjustment.

The studi, a gluster to seasonal variations. Chart 4 shows the data before seasonal augustication of the particular were applied to the logarithms of the original data, unadjusted for seasonal. The graduations are all taken from Appendix VIII of Macaulay's *Smoothing of Time Series*, where the different formulas are identified. The number of terms covered by the formulas ranges from 13 (No. 2) to the entire body of data (No. 25, 27). But seven of the fourteen (No. 18 through No. 24) are fifth-degree parabolics, covering from 35 to 45 terms.

## TABLE 108

Timing of Raw and Smoothed Data of Six Artificial Series Compared with Timing of the Underlying Pure Cycles

	[		Lead (-) or lag (+) at turn of pure cyclical curve (mos.)											
Line	Turning dates of pure	Nature of	Serie	es S'	Seri	es S″	Serie	es T'	Serie	s T″	Seri	es C'	Serie	es C"
	cyclical curve	turnª	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm
1 2	Dec. 1892 Oct. 1894	T P	0 +3	÷į	0 +3	÷: +2	0 +3	÷i	0 +3	+i	0 +3	÷i	0 +3	÷2
3 4	Aug. 1896 June 1898	T P	-1 +1	0	-1 +5	-1 +1	-1 +1	0 0	-1 +1	-1 +1	0	0	0	-1 +1
5 6	Apr. 1900 Feb. 1902	T P	0	0 0	+2 0	0 -1	0 0	0	0	0 -1	0	0	0	0 -1
7 8	Dec. 1903 Oct. 1905	T P	+1 -1	-1 +1	+1 -1	-3 +2	+1 -1	-1 +1	+1 -1	-3 +2	+1 0	-2 +1	+1 -1	-3 +2
9 10	Aug. 1907 June 1909	T P	+3 -1	-1 -2	+3 -3	-2 -4	-1 -1	-1 -2	+3 -1	-2 -4	-1 -1	-2 -2	+3 -1	-3 -5
11 12	Apr. 1911 Feb. 1913	T P	+3 0	+1 -1	+3 +4	+1 -3	+3	+1 0	+3	+1 -3	0 0	+1 0	+3 0	+1 -5
13	Dec. 1914	T	+1		+1		+1	•••	+1		+1		+1	
Avera Lir Lir	age, signs ignore les 1–13 les 2–12	d	1.2 1.3	 0.7	2.1 2.4	 1.8	1.0 1.1	 0.6	1.2 1.3	 1.7	0.5 0.5	 0.8	1.0 1.1	 2.2
Avera Lir Lir	age, signs respectives 1–13	ted	+0.7	 -0.2	+1.3 +1.5	 -0.7	+0.4 +0.4	 ~0.1	+0.7 +0.7	 -0.8	+0.2 +0.2	 -0.3	+0.7 +0.7	 -1.1

Smoothing by Macaulay's 43-term graduation involves the loss of 21 terms at each end; hence there are no smoothed entries in lines 1 and 13, and their average is confined to lines 2-12. See Chart 45. • T stands for the trough of specific cycles, P for the peak.

movements; it manner predes poorly suited isrepresent the cyclical turns hod of smoothof smoothing cular formula n.<sup>5</sup>

artificially deare presented ng exactly, we . The second nd troughs of standard the n component period of 44 distribution as S', except ed. Series C' based on a e applies to ingular. The and the sine ates; so that sets of pure

t, the larger pure cycles, that of the ta, but also to improve f one series it worsens, ne built up

methods are

the form of arithms, were

e exactly the m of 800. For

It is plain from Chart 45 that besides wiping out the erratic movements, smoothing twists in some measure the cyclical movements. The degree of twist depends partly on the size of the erratic movements, partly on the shape of the cyclical movements. Since Macaulay's graduation is designed to follow the outlines of a sine curve or any other with more or less rounded tops and bottoms, it is most satisfactory in the series derived from a sine curve.7 But it does not cope adequately with sharp cusps<sup>8</sup> such as characterize series C' and C". In both, the graduation is much too low in the immediate vicinity of the true peaks and, usually, much too high in adjacent months. It is likewise too high in the immediate vicinity of the true troughs and too low in adjacent months. Since the tops and bottoms become gently rounded in the graduation, the turning dates can easily deviate from the turns of the underlying cusp cycles. In the raw data, on the other hand, the random component is likely to be especially small relatively to the cusped cyclical component precisely on the dates when the latter reaches a maximum or minimum; hence the timing of the raw data tends to match closely the timing of the pure cycles. Of course, this result will tend to be blurred as the amplitude of the random component is increased relatively to the cusped component. But there can be no escape from the conclusion that a cyclical graduation may seem excellent to the eye, perhaps even satisfy formal tests applied to deviations of the raw data from it, and yet seriously misrepresent the true cyclical movements.

While these experiments demonstrate that the results of smoothing may be surrounded by wide margins of error, they do not argue against smoothing as such. Given the assumptions underlying the artificial series, smoothing is valid in principle, though the right formula may be hard to discover and may need to be varied from series to series. And so it would be also in the case of historical series, if we could assume that they correspond to our experimental model; that is, that they record cyclical effects, or combined secular and cyclical effects, on which random effects are superposed. There is rarely any warrant for such an assumption. In the experimental model cyclical and random forces are distinct; their individual effects can be distinguished precisely, month by month, phase by phase, cycle by cycle. In historical series the effects of cyclical and random forces cannot be separated even over the course of a full cycle. Random factors constantly play on business at large and on each of its many branches, and their effects register in different ways under different circumstances. Some series on prices and central-bank discount rates show step movements of extended duration, free of short-term oscillations. Broad series on employment frequently move in the same direction for many months. Call money rates, on the other hand, show frequent re-

7 See below, p. 330, and note 24.

8 This difficulty is by no means peculiar to Macaulay's graduation. See below, especially Sec. IV and VI.

atic moveents. The nts, partly raduation with more the series with sharp Huation is l, usually, e immediths. Since the turnsp cycles. kely to be ecisely on hence the ire cycles. f the ranhent. But tion may pplied to the true noothing e against al series, hard to it would ey correl effects, fects are h. In the individhase by random Random s many ent cires show lations. ion for ient re-

y Sec. IV



versals of direction which may be mainly the effects of random happenings; though we know, historically, that most of the high narrow peaks in this series mark cyclical, not random, effects. Series like bank clearings and iron production may seem to approximate our experimental model more closely. Yet we may be sure that random factors have played an important part in shaping their specific cycles-now prolonging an expansion, now intensifying as well as prolonging it, now abbreviating a contraction, and so on, in endless variety. 'Erratic movements' therefore cannot be identified with 'effects of random forces' as in our experimental model. The 'erratic movements' that stand out clearly in time series and are obliterated by smoothing are simply the short-term oscillations, other than seasonal variations, that play, so to speak, on the back of specific cycles.9 Not clearly revealed by the data and not smoothed out by the usual formulas are other effects of random forces. Indeed, the general contours of cyclical movements themselves may have been shaped, in part, by the same forces that produced the short-term oscillations.

These observations instill caution in the use of smoothing devices. If the turning zone of the specific cycles in a series is crisscrossed by erratic movements, it is likely that the historical limits of the expansions and contractions of the specific cycles will be approximated better from smoothed than from raw data. On the other hand, if the cyclical turns in the raw data are naturally 'smooth'—that is, if erratic movements seem absent in the vicinity of cyclical turns <sup>10</sup>—smoothing is an indulgence, the price of which may be distortion of historical cycles. Table 109 presents several illustrations.<sup>11</sup> Even if erratic movements make their influence felt in the vicinity of cyclical turns, smoothing is of doubtful advantage so long as expansion culminates in a clearly defined peak and contraction in a clearly defined trough. For when a cyclical phase happens to be brief but large, smoothing is likely to spread it out, predating the peak and postdating the trough in the case of contractions, predating the trough and postdating the peak in the case of expansions.<sup>12</sup> The strength

9 See pp. 57-8, 87-90, concerning difficulties sometimes encountered in distinguishing these short-term variations, here lumped together as 'erratic movements', from specific or business cycles. The interrelations of the short-term fluctuations, other than seasonal variations or specific cycles, in different economic activities are now being investigated by one of our colleagues, Ruth P. Mack. 10 Here we include curves having cusps, which some readers may not consider as being 'smooth'.

<sup>11</sup> To obtain the list of 'smooth turns' in Table 109, we first recorded every trough (peak) that is preceded by at least a five-month decline (rise) and followed by at least a five-month rise (decline). Of course, this criterion of a 'smooth' turn sometimes proves inadequate. For example, if a specific-cycle peak is preceded by a six-month rise and followed by a six-month decline, which in turn is followed by a two-month rise culminating in a value not much lower than the peak, we can hardly say that the cyclical turn is 'smooth'. For reasons of this nature, five instances conforming to the five-month rule are omitted in Table 109. In view of the precautions taken to omit 'double' tops or bottoms, the five-month rule is severe; that is, the table understates the number of 'smooth turns'. 12 If a cyclical phase is brief and mild, smoothing may spread it so much that it disappears—virtually if not entirely. But a movement that is both very brief and very small is not likely to be recognized as cyclical. As a rule, therefore, brief cyclical phases have longer counterparts in smoothed data; although brief phases of small amplitude may have shorter counterparts.

#### Effect of

Series and 'smo specific-cycle tu in raw data

PIG IRON PRODUCT Apr. 1891.... Nov. 1895.... Oct. 1896.... Jan. 1910.... July 1921.... May 1923.... RAILROAD STOCK

Oct. 1857.... CALL MONEY RATE Sep. 1924....

Based on our four se 'smooth' turns occu "T stands for the tr

of these ten Table 110. An histo difficulties th 1907-08 was recent mem prices began New York tu until May 19 occurred du bank closur rapidly to th in industry a traction, as tests of this d applied his easily in the tion makes t October wh

18 See Wesley C Their Causes, p 14 A still higher comparisons of both peaks in or correspondence sponds to the hi the raw series, See Chart 43.

## TIMING AND DURATION

# lom happenarrow peaks nk clearings ental model e played an nging an exbreviating a ts' therefore perimental e series and tions, other of specific out by the the general shaped, in ons. devices. If by erratic

nsions and etter from al turns in hents seem hdulgence, Table 109 e their indoubtful peak and e happens lating the lating the strength

## these shortcycles. The fic cycles, in P. Mack. 'smooth'.

eak) that is e (decline). if a specifich in turn is can hardly ning to the ouble' tops ouble turns'. S-virtually recognized thed data;

## TABLE 109 Effect of Smoothing on Cyclical Turns That Are 'Smooth' in Raw Data

Series and 'smooth' specific-cycle turn in raw data	Nature	No. of mont move conti same di	hs raw data nuously in rection	Date of corresponding	Lead (-) or lag (+) of smoothed data
	turn*	Before turn	After turn	turn in smoothed data	at turn of raw (mos.)
PIG IRON PRODUCTION					
Apr. 1891	Т	7	6	Mar. 1891	-1
Nov. 1895	Р	7	5	Dec. 1895	+1
Oct. 1896	Т	5	5	Nov. 1896	+1
Jan. 1910	P	9	11	Jan. 1910	0
July 1921	Т	10	11	Aug. 1921	+1
May 1923	Р	9	8	July 1923	+2
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES					
Oct. 1857	Т	10	5	Jan. 1858	+3
CALL MONEY RATES		1			
Sep. 1924	Т	5	6	Sep. 1924	0

Three American Series

Based on our four series for the periods shown in Table 112. There are no entries for deflated clearings, since no 'smooth' turns occur in this series in the sense of our rules in note 11. <sup>a</sup>T stands for the trough of specific cycles, P for the peak,

of these tendencies when Macaulay's formula is used is displayed in Table 110.

An historical illustration may help the reader see more vividly the difficulties that are sometimes caused by smoothing. The contraction of 1907-08 was short but steep, like the contraction of 1937-38 of more recent memory. Signs of recession appeared late in 1906, when stock prices began to sag, trading in securities fell off, and bank clearings in New York turned down. General business continued to expand, however, until May 1907 according to our reference chronology. Whatever decline occurred during the summer was small. But in October a succession of bank closures in New York precipitated a financial panic that spread rapidly to the interior.<sup>13</sup> For several months following, acute depression in industry and trade was general. Table 111 shows the timing of the contraction, as manifested in ten series-the four on which the bulk of the tests of this chapter are based, and six additional series to which Macaulay applied his smoothing formula. The course of the crisis can be followed easily in the raw data, but not in the smoothed data. Macaulay's graduation makes the peak in call money rates come in August 1907,14 instead of October when panic broke out in the New York financial district. The

<sup>18</sup> See Wesley C. Mitchell, Business Cycles (1918), pp. 514-38; or the reprint Business Cycles and Their Causes, pp. 74-107.

14 A still higher peak occurs in May 1906. In Table 111 this peak is ignored, whereas in other comparisons of this chapter the 'minor' peak of Aug. 1907 is ignored. We might have recognized both peaks in our standard analysis; but that course was ruled out by the convention of one-to-one correspondence laid down in Sec. II. The high point in the raw data in Sept. 1906, which corresponds to the high of May 1906 in the smoothed data, could not be recognized as a cyclical peak in the raw series, because it is only thirteen months removed from the higher peak in Oct. 1907. See Chart 43.

#### Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed Number of months Duration of lead (-) or lag (+) phase in Series and specific-Nature of smoothed data at . months cycle phase of Initial Terminal in raw data\* phaseb Raw Smoothed turn of turn of data data raw data raw data DEFLATED CLEARINGS June 1881 - Jan. 1882 С +29 +4 7 June 1887 - Mar.1888 С 0 -1 9 8 Sep. 1890 - Mar.1891 С -1 $\pm 1$ 6 8 Feb. 1893 - Aug. 1893 С -3 +46 13 Oct. 1907 - Dec. 1907 С -6 +42 12 Mar.1910 - Oct. 1910 С -1 +17 9 Aug. 1918 - Dec. 1918 С 3 -1 -2 4 May 1923 - Sep. 1923 С ۵ +5 9 4 PIG IRON PRODUCTION Oct. 1887 - Mar.1888 С 5 -- 1 -1 5 June 1903 - Dec. 1903 С -4 +36 13 July 1907 - Jan. 1908 С -3 +4 6 13 Sep. 1918 - May 1919 С 0 +3 8 11 RAILROAD STOCK PRICES Oct. 1857 - Mar.1858 E +3 $\pm 5$ 5 7 Sep. 1860 - May 1861 С 0 +311 8 May 1890 - Dec. 1890 С -2 +37 12 Mar. 1895 - Sep. 1895 E -4 0 6 10 С Apr. 1900 - Sep. 1900 ~7 5 8 CALL MONEY RATES Jan, 1876 - Sep. 1876 С -1 +312 8 Jan. 1878 - Sep. 1878 С 0 +28 10 Oct. 1880 - Feb. 1881 E -3 +34 10 May 1882 - Sep. 1882 E -3 +34 10 Aug. 1918 - Dec. 1918 C 0 +1 5 4

## TABLE 110 Timing and Duration of 'Brief' Specific-cycle Phases Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed

<sup>a</sup> Includes every expansion or contraction lasting 8 months or less in either the raw or smoothed data during the periods listed in Table 112.

<sup>b</sup>C stands for contraction, E for expansion.

raw data on clearings outside New York show a peak in October and a trough in December 1907; Macaulay's graduation shifts the peak back six months and the trough forward four months. But the raw data tell the tale that is cyclically significant: outside clearings slumped sharply as banks generally suspended or limited cash payments, and rose promptly at the end of the year when normal banking operations were resumed.

When we leave single cycles, where smoothing sometimes improves and sometimes worsens the dating of cyclical turns, and examine averages, it appears that the net effect of smoothing is negligible. Table 106 shows that in four instances the smoothed data lag on the average behind the raw data; in another four instances the smoothed data lead. The maximum average difference at peaks or troughs is only 1.2 months. It thus appears that smoothing influences the average timing of specific cycles less than the removal of secular trends, despite the fact that the former affects single cycles more frequently than the latter. Of course the reason is that the effect trend changes of canceling. But there is the smoothed d Table 112 sho average duration

Chronolo

## Series

Bank clearings, N.Y. Railroad stock price Pig iron production. Call money rates, N Bank clearings, outs Deflated clearings, outs Wholesale prices... 90-day money rates Railroad bond yield Commercial paper

The smoothed data as sources of the original seasonally adjusted fig stock prices, wholesal Macaulay's smootd cyclical turns in 1907 series that we have u \*See note 14.

Avera

Series and form of data

DEFLATED CLEAR Raw..... Smoothed... PIG IRON PRODUC

Raw..... Smoothed....

RAILROAD STOCK

Raw..... Smoothed....

CALL MONEY RAT

Smoothed...

• Unlike Table 10( • See Sec. II. is that the effects of removing trends are cumulative (except when the trend changes direction), while the effects of smoothing are largely self-canceling.

Juration of

phase in

months

Smoothed

data

g

8

12

10

10 10

5

ed data during the

ctober and a e peak back data tell the d sharply as se promptly resumed. es improves ne averages, e 106 shows behind the The maxiths. It thus ecific cycles the former the reason But there is a slight twist to the cancellation. As Table 106 indicates, the smoothed data have some tendency to lead at peaks and lag at troughs. Table 112 shows that in each series smoothing reduces somewhat the average duration of expansions and increases the average duration of con-

 TABLE 111

 Chronology of Specific-cycle Turns in the Contraction of 1907–1908

 Ten American Series, Raw and Smoothed

Series	Specific-c in ray	ycle turns v data	Specific-c in smoot	ycle turns hed data	Lead (-) or lag (+) of smoothed data at turn of raw (mos.)	
	Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough	Peak	Trough
Bank clearings, N.Y.C	Aug.1906	Dec. 1907	July 1906	Feb. 1908	-1	+2
Railroad stock prices	Sep. 1906	Nov.1907	Aug.1906	Dec. 1907	-1	+1
Pig iron production	July 1907	Jan. 1908	Apr. 1907	May 1908	-3	+4
Call money rates, N.Y. Stock Ex	Oct. 1907	Nov.1908	Aug.1907	Oct. 1908	-2	-1
Bank clearings, outside N.Y.C	Oct. 1907	Dec. 1907	Apr. 1907	Apr. 1908	-6	+4
Deflated clearings, outside N.Y.C.	Oct. 1907	Dec. 1907	Apr. 1907	Apr. 1908	-6	+4
Wholesale prices	Oct. 1907	Feb. 1908	June1907	June 1908	-4	+4
90-day money rates, stock ex. loans	Nov.1907	Sep. 1908	Aug.1907	Nov.1908	-3	+2
Railroad bond yields	Nov.1907	Feb. 1909	Dec. 1907	Mar.1909	+1	+1
Commercial paper rates, N.Y.C.	Dec.1907	July 1909	Aug.1907	Jan. 1909	-4	-6

The smoothed data are all given in Appendix A of Macaulay's Interest Rates, Bond Tields, and Stock Prices. For the sources of the original data, see our Appendix C (Table 21). The specific cycles of the 'raw data' are dated from seasonally adjusted figures, except when there seemed to be no seasonal movement (railroad bond yields, railroad stock prices, wholesale prices).

Macaulay's smoothed series on bank clearings outside N.Y.City does not correspond to ours. However, the cyclical turns in 1907 in the 'raw' series underlying Macaulay's smoothed series agree with the turns in the 'raw' series that we have used. Scenote 14.

#### TABLE 112

### Average Duration of Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data Four American Series

Series and form of data	Period No. of specific	Av	erage dura in months	Average per cent of duration of specific cycles			
	covered*	cycles <sup>b</sup>	Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Full cycle	Expan- sion	Contrac- tion
DEFLATED CLEARINGS					-		
Raw	1878-1933	15	32.6	11.4	44.0	75	25
Smoothed	1878-1932	15	31.0	12.5	43.5	71	29
PIG IRON PRODUCTION						ļ	
Raw	1879-1933	15	28.8	14.5	43.3	67	33
Smoothed	1878-1932	15	27.0	16.1	43.1	62	38
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES							
Raw	1857-1932	18	28.8	21.0	49.8	56	44
Smoothed	1858-1932	18	27.7	22.0	49.7	54	46
CALL MONEY RATES		[					
Raw	1858-1931	23	19.9	18.0	37.9	52	48
Smoothed	1858-1931	23	19.2	18.7	37.9	51	49

<sup>a</sup>Unlike Table 106, the periods covered by this table start and end with a trough. <sup>b</sup>See Sec. II.

tractions. The differences between the average durations are small, as they must be in view of the small effects of smoothing on average timing. Nevertheless, they are of theoretical interest. As we have seen, when a cyclical expansion or contraction is brief, smoothing tends to spread it over a longer period. In three of our series brief contractions are more numerous than brief expansions.<sup>15</sup> On the average, therefore, smoothing tends to lengthen the contractions and to shorten the expansions. In call money rates, where the number of brief expansions and contractions is practically the same, it also happens that smoothing has the smallest influence on the average duration of cyclical phases.

The average duration of full specific cycles is virtually the same in the raw and smoothed data we are using. The result could not be otherwise; for in railroad stock prices the number of specific cycles is the same in the two records, while in the other three series we have forced the two sets of cycles into correspondence.<sup>16</sup>

# IV Amplitude of Specific Cycles

If we had a method of dating accurately the crest of a cyclical upswing, we could claim that whatever erratic thrust occurs on that date is as likely to lower the crest as to raise it. But when we select the highest point of data that are composites of both cyclical and erratic movements, that point is more likely to be above than below the cyclical crest. *Mutatis mutandis*, these remarks apply also to the lowest points of cyclical downswings. Since we seek to mark off specific cycles by selecting the highest and lowest months, there is danger that the amplitudes of the cyclical fluctuations would be exaggerated if we measured them by the differences between specific-cycle relatives at the peaks and troughs. To guard against this danger we measure amplitudes, not from the cycle relatives of the highest and lowest months, but from averages covering three months centered on the peaks and troughs.

This protective device is obviously rough. The relations in size among the raw figures in the vicinity of a cyclical turn differ from case to case, and we therefore cannot expect that the use of three-month averages to represent cyclical peaks and troughs will yield a good measure of the cyclical amplitude in every instance. The most that we can expect is that it will do so on the average, and then only if used with circumspection. The method breaks down (1) if a cyclical expansion or contraction is very short, (2) if the top or bottom of a cycle is horizontal, (3) if the month selected as the peak is preceded or followed by an extremely low value, or if the month of trough is preceded or followed by an extremely high value. In these

15 For partial evidence, see Tables 110 and 117. 16 See Sec. X.

**326** 

# \_\_\_\_

Ave

Series and form of dat

Raw.... Smoothed....

RAILROAD STOCK

Raw..... Smoothed.... CALL MONEY RAT

> Raw..... Raw.....

DEFLATED CLEARI Raw..... Smoothed....

PIG IRON PRODUC Raw..... Smoothed...

RAILROAD STOCK Raw..... Smoothed....

> CALL MONEY RAT Raw..... Smoothed....

See Table 112 for t \*See Sec. II. <sup>b</sup> In this series ther

three types of the exception themselves three-month All these tuations hav tudes can be cycles. Mea plicity and The use volves, of c

stantial, as

17 See p. 132.

## AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

## TABLE 113

## Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data Four American Series

Series and form of data	No. of months		No. of Average standing in specific-cycle relatives a			Average amplitude in specific-cycle relatives			
form of data	cycles*	standing at turns	Initial trough	Peak	Terminal trough	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS		_					i		
Raw	15	1	83.4	116.0	96.2	32.6	19.8	52.4	
Raw	15	36	85.7	112.6	99.2	26.9	13.4	40.2	
Smoothed	15	1	86.8	110.8	100.2	24.0	10.6	34.6	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION									
Raw	15	1	64.0	131.4	70.7	67.3	60.6	128.0	
Raw	15	3	67.3	129.3	74.6	62.1	54.8	116.8	
Smoothed	15	1	73.0	126.5	81.6	53.4	44.8	98.3	
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES			1						
Raw	18	1	80.7	120.1	84.8	39.4	35.3	74.7	
Raw	18	3	82.8	118.3	86.6	35.6	31.8	67.3	
Smoothed	18	1	84.5	116.0	88.0	31.6	28.0	59.6	
CALL MONEY RATES						[			
Raw	23	1	54.6	254.5	54.5	199.8	200.0	399.8	
Raw	23	3	62.1	178.0	61.9	115.9	116.1	232.0	
Smoothed	23	1	68.2	146.8	68.1	78.6	78.7	157.2	
				F	Relatives of	f average	8		
			ba	sed on 3	-month sta	andings o	f raw da	ta	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS							· · · ·		
Raw	15	1	97	103	97	121	148	130	
Smoothed	15	1	101	98	101	89	79	86	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION									
Raw	15	1	95	102	95	108	111	110	
Smoothed	15	1	108	98	109	86	82	84	
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES						]	1		
Raw	18	1	97	102	98	111	111	111	
Smoothed	18	1	102	98	102	89	88	89	
CALL MONEY RATES									
Raw	23	1	88	143	88	172	172	172	
Smoothed	23	1	110	82	110	68	68	68	

See Table 112 for the periods covered.

\*See Sec. II. <sup>b</sup> In this series there are several exceptions to the 3-month rule; see Appendix Table B1.

three types of cases we make exceptions from the three-month rule.<sup>17</sup> Yet the exceptions cover only the most glaring defects of the method, and are themselves handled in ways that may raise as many doubts as does the three-month rule.

All these difficulties are swept away by smoothing. Since erratic fluctuations have already been removed in the process of smoothing, amplitudes can be measured directly from the highest and lowest points of the cycles. Measures of cyclical amplitude derived in this way have a simplicity and elegance to which our standard measures can lay no claim.

The use of three-month averages to represent peaks and troughs involves, of course, a form of smoothing. The smoothing effect is substantial, as Table 113 demonstrates. Yet it is smaller on the average than <sup>17</sup> See p. 132.

re small, as age timing. en, when a o spread it s are more smoothing ons. In call tractions is he smallest

he same in t be otheris the same ed the two

pswing, we as likely to int of data at point is *mutandis*, wnswings. and lowest actuations s between gainst this he highest s centered

ize among case, and to reprete cyclical it will do e method ort, (2) if ted as the he month In these

the effect produced by Macaulay's formula. The differences between average amplitudes based on three-month standings of the raw data and onemonth standings of the smoothed data are sometimes uncomfortably large, especially in call money rates. And since smoothing has a marked effect on average results, it is bound at times to produce still larger effects in single cycles. Table 114 shows the cycle-by-cycle measures for pig iron production. It is plain that smoothing not only tends to reduce the measures of amplitude, but that it does this rather unevenly. Table 115 demonstrates that the uneven effects of smoothing do not disappear completely even when the amplitudes are ranked.

					-	_	_	_		
Form	Dates of specific cycles	Standing in specific-cycle relatives at			Amplitude in specific-cycle relatives			Amplitude of smoothed data as relative of raw amplitude		
data	Trough – Peak – Trough	Initial trough	Peak	Terminal trough	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall
Raw Sm.	Jan. 79 – Feb. 83 – Jan. 85 Dec. 78 – Mar.83 – Apr. 85	55.7 55.3	119.7 120.5	95.1 99.5	64.0 65.2	24.6 21.0	88.6 86.2	102	85	97
Raw Sm.	Jan. 85 – Oct. 87 – Mar.88 Apr. 85 – Sep. 87 – Feb. 88	67.0 68.6	131.8 114.1	106.3 113.2	64.8 45.5	25.5 0.9	90.3 46.4	70	4	51
Raw Sm.	Mar.88 – May 90 – Apr. 91 Feb. 88 – May 90 – Mar.91	74.0 80.4	124.2 125.2	76.8 94.7	50.2 44.8	47.4 30.5	97.6 75.3	89	64	77
Raw Sm.	Apr. 91 - Feb. 92 - Oct. 93 Mar.91 - Jan. 92 - Jan. 94	67.5 87.9	112.9 121.0	49.2 60.0	45.4 33.1	63.7 61.0	109.1 94.1	73	96	86
Raw Sm.	Oct. 93 – Nov. 95 – Oct. 96 Jan. 94 – Dec. 95 – Nov. 96	51.5 57.9	138.7 130.8	77.9 89.4	87.2 72.9	60.8 41.4	148.0 114.3	84	68	77
Raw Sm.	Oct. 96 - Dec. 99 - Oct. 00 Nov. 96 - Dec. 99 - Oct. 00	52.3 61.1	128.3 128.7	97.8 107.5	76.0 67.6	30.5 21.2	106.5 88.8	89	70	83
Raw Sm.	Oct. 00 - June 03 - Dec. 03 Oct. 00 - Feb. 03 - Mar.04	69.0 77.2	118.0 116.4	68.0 87.1	49.0 39.2	50.0 29.3	99.0 68.5	80	59	69
Raw Sm.	Dec. 03 – July 07 – Jan. 08 Mar.04 – Apr. 07 – May 08	51.1 65.5	124.7 129.8	62.0 64.6	73.6 64.3	62.7 65.2	136.3 129.5	87	104	95
Raw Sm.	Jan. 08 – Jan. 10 – Dec. 10 May 08 – Jan. 10 – Apr. 11	59.8 59.0	138.4 129.1	96.7 94.2	78.6 70.1	41.7 34.9	120.3 105.0	89	84	87
Raw Sm.	Dec. 10 – Jan. 13 – Dec. 14 Apr. 11 – Feb. 13 – Nov. 14	82.7 82.6	127.7 122.3	70.9 76.8	45.0 39.7	56.8 45.5	101.8 85.2	88	80	84
Raw Sm.	Dec. 14 - Sep. 18 - May 19 Nov. 14 - Sep. 18 - Aug. 19	52.5 59.1	114.4 117.0	74.1 79.8	61.9 57.9	40.3 37.2	102.2 95.1	94	92	93
Raw Sm.	May 19 – Sep. 20 – July 21 Aug. 19 – July 20 – Aug. 21	90. <b>2</b> 97.6	130.9 139.3	39.8 46.1	40.7 41.7	91.1 93.2	131.8 134.9	102	102	102
Raw Sm.	July 21 – May 23 – July 24 Aug. 21 – July 23 – July 24	38.9 43.1	147.2 139.8	88.6 92.8	108.3 96.7	58.6 47.0	166.9 143.7	89	80	86
Raw Sm.	July 24 – July 26 – Nov. 27 July 24 – July 26 – Dec. 27	73.5 79.0	110.0 110.0	91.3 95.4	36.5 31.0	18.7 14.6	55.2 45.6	85	78	83
Raw Sm.	Nov. 27 – July 29 – Mar. 33 Dec. 27 – May 29 – Oct. 32	123.3 121.0	173.3	24.4 23.2	50.0 31.9	148.9 129.7	198.9 161.6	64	87	81

# TABLE 114 Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data Pig Iron Production, United States, 1878–1933

The amplitudes of the raw data are derived from 3-month averages of specific-cycle relatives centered on the trough and peak dates. The amplitudes of the smoothed data are derived from the specific-cycle relatives at the trough and peak dates.

On a period of the second seco

of

Seri

Deflated clearin Pig iron produc Railroad stock J

Call money rate The periods cover • See Sec. II. • Expressed in spo

Average P

Series form of

DEFLATED CLEA Raw..... Smoothed..

PIG IRON PRODU Raw.....

Smoothed...

Raw.....

CALL MONEY RA

Raw..... Smoothed...

\* See Sec. II. • Becomes 1.2 wh

## AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

On a per month basis also the amplitudes are larger on the average in the raw than in the smoothed data (Table 116). But whereas, in proportion to the size of the figures, smoothing affects the fall only slightly more than the rise, it affects the *rate* of fall considerably more than the *rate* of rise. Further, as Table 115 shows, smoothing affects the ranking of the per month amplitudes within a series more than the ranking of the amplitudes proper. These differences are connected with the tendency of smoothing to stretch out and dampen brief cyclical phases; also with the fact that brief contractions are more numerous in our sample than brief expansions. By reducing more often than it prolongs the duration of ex-

## TABLE 115

#### Coefficients of Rank Correlation between Amplitudes of Corresponding Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data Four American Series

Series	No. of		Coefficien measure	nt of rank of raw a	correlation nd smooth	between ed data	
	specific cycles <sup>a</sup>	Total amplitude <sup>b</sup>			Per month amplitude <sup>b</sup>		
		Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall
Deflated clearings	15	+.95	+.95	+.95	+.94	+.44	+.85
Pig iron production	15	+.91	+.94	+.94	+.92	+.64	+.93
ailroad stock prices	18	+.97	+.97	+.98	+.61	+.79	+.78
Call money rates	23	+.90	+.91	+.88	+.54	+.69	+.82

The periods covered are shown in Table 112.

• See Sec. II.

See Sec. II.

<sup>b</sup>Expressed in specific-cycle relatives. See note to Table 114.

#### TABLE 116

## Average Per Month Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data Four American Series

_		Per month amplitude in specific-cycle relatives							
Series and	No. of specific cycles <sup>6</sup>	Unwe	eighted av	erage	Weighted average				
		Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Ris <del>c</del>	Fall	Rise & fall		
DEFLATED CLEARINGS									
Raw	15	0.8	1.95	0.9	0.8	1.2	0.9		
Smoothed	15	0.8	0.7	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8		
PIG IRON PRODUCTION			ļ						
Raw	15	2.4	4.7	2.9	2.2	3.8	2.7		
Smoothed	15	2.3	2.9	2.5	2.0	2.8	2.3		
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES			1	1					
Raw	18	1.4	1.7	1.4	1.2	1.5	1.4		
Smoothed	18	1.1	1.2	1.2	1.1	1.3	1.2		
CALL MONEY RATES			1						
Raw	23	6.9	7.6	6.3	5.8	6.4	6.1		
Smoothed	23	4.3	4.6	4.3	4.1	4.2	4.2		

<sup>b</sup>Becomes 1.2 when the contraction of 1907 is excluded; this contraction was severe but lasted only two months.

The periods covered are shown in Table 112. See note to Table 114; also Table 113, note 'b'.

:

between aver-

data and one-

Incomfortably

has a marked l larger effects

es for pig iron

o reduce the

ly. Table 115

isappear com-

Amplitude of

smoothed data as relative of raw amplitude Rise Fall Rise & fall

64 77

86

77

95

hta

102 85 97

70 4 51

89

73 96

84 68

89 70 83

80 59 69

87 104

89 84 87

88 80 84

94 92 93

102 102 102

89 80 86

85 78 83

64 87 81

centered on the

le relatives at the

pansions, smoothing tends to raise the average rate of rise, offsetting part of the decline it effects in the amount of rise. By prolonging more often than it reduces the duration of contractions, smoothing tends to reduce the average rate of decline, thus reinforcing its effect on the amount of decline. Since the mean duration of full specific cycles is practically the same in the raw and smoothed data, smoothing affects the average per month amplitude of full cycles in approximately the same ratio as the average amplitude proper.<sup>18</sup>

The gap between the raw and smoothed figures in Table 116 is narrower in the weighted than in the unweighted average rates of change for expansions and contractions. Weighting has slight influence on the average per month amplitudes of the smoothed data, but reduces materially the averages of the raw data. The reason for the marked effects of weighting on the raw averages is that short specific-cycle phases tend to have larger per month amplitudes than long phases. The inverse correlation between the per month amplitude and the duration of cyclical phases tends to disappear when the data are smoothed, mainly because smoothing tends to increase the duration and decrease the amplitude of brief cyclical phases.

So much for the differences between the raw and smoothed results. The outstanding fact is that our standard method yields higher measures of amplitude than are derived from smoothed data. We cannot say with certainty which method commonly gives the more valid cyclical measures. It is clear, however, that smoothing by Macaulay's formula often cuts off a part of the 'true' cyclical fluctuations in the process of erasing erratic movements. That result is likely whenever the specific cycles of raw data have high and narrow peaks, or deep and narrow troughs; also when the phases of specific cycles are very brief. Macaulay's formula will preserve almost perfectly the amplitude of a sine curve with a period of 30 months or longer.<sup>19</sup> When the period drops below two years, or when the underlying cyclical curve, whatever its period, is not of sine shape, but has cusped peaks or troughs, Macaulay's formula is sure to understate the cyclical amplitude. Since brief phases are fairly numerous in our test series, and since the cyclical patterns of these series are, as a rule, decidedly more angular than sine curves, we should expect smoothing to yield measures of amplitude that, in the first place, are usually below our standard measures and that, in the second place, are sometimes almost as large

19 The percentage of the amplitude preserved is 99.39 for a sine-curve period of 30 months, 100.36 for a period of 36 months, 100.44 for 40 months, 100.33 for 48 months, 100.18 for 60 months; but the percentage is only 94.17 for 24 months, 82.05 for 20 months, 69.76 for 18 months (*The Smoothing of Time Series*, p. 159).

# and at othe --precisely In the brief cyclic phase tends the amplitu our standar less, smoot per cent.<sup>20</sup> to widen as any flaw in biased mea in the sam

#### Gap betw

Duration of phase in raw data (mos.)	-
Under 7 7 - 12 13 - 18 19 - 24 25 - 36 37 - 48 Over 48	
Based on spec shown in Tab	if
The	r
well as ir	ı
the chief	r
from rav	v
20 Of course duration of	

lasting 6 mo

21 Except in very rare.

22 Compare

amplitude 0

113) with t

23 The aver

table are as

the number

call money i

<sup>18</sup> This result is mathematically necessary only in the weighted average per month amplitude. But in our sample, weighting (by duration) makes little difference in the average per month amplitude of the joint rise and fall; hence the relation governing the weighted per month average applies also to the unweighted average.

setting part more often s to reduce amount of ctically the average per ratio as the

116 is narchange for n the avermaterially s of weightnd to have correlation ical phases se smoothde of brief

ed results. r measures bt say with l measures. en cuts off ing erratic f raw data when the ll preserve 80 months the undere, but has rstate the h our test decidedly to yield our standst as large

plitude, But th amplitude applies also

onths, 100.86 months: but e Smoothing and at other times only a tenth or a fifth as large as our standard measures -precisely the results we have found.

In the preceding section we saw how smoothing tends to draw out brief cyclical phases. When that happens the amplitude of the cyclical phase tends to be reduced. In a cyclical phase that lasts more than a year the amplitude of smoothed data is, typically, only 5 to 15 per cent below our standard measure (Table 117). But when a phase lasts a half year or less, smoothing on the average reduces our standard measure about 50 per cent.<sup>20</sup> The tendency of the margin between the two sets of measures to widen as the duration of cyclical phases becomes shorter is not due to any flaw in our standard method; for, so far as our technique may yield biased measures of amplitude for short phases, that bias is likely<sup>21</sup> to work in the same direction as the bias produced by smoothing.<sup>22</sup>

Duration of phase in raw data	N	umber of instan	ices	Average ratio of amplitude of smoothed data to corresponding amplitude of raw data			
(mos.)	Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Both phases	Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Both phases	
Under 7	2	9	11	.43	.57	.55	
7 - 12	1	17	18	.73	.77	.76	
13 - 18	8	9	17	.84	.85	.85	
19 - 24	10	6	16	.89	.84	.87	
25 - 36	14	3	17	.85	.95	.87	
37 - 48	9	3	12	.92	.93	.92	
Over 48	4	1	5	.94	.91	.94	

TABLE 117 Influence of the Duration of Cyclical Phases on the

Based on specific cycles in deflated clearings, pig iron production, and railroad stock prices during the periods shown in Table 112. See Sec. II and note to Table 114.

The relations exhibited by Table 117 appear in call money rates, as well as in the three series covered by the table.<sup>23</sup> But in call money rates the chief reason for the wide gap between the amplitude measures derived from raw and smoothed data is the large number of high and narrow

20 Of course, the gap between the two measures for a phase depends (among other factors) on the duration of adjacent phases as well as on its own duration. This consideration is important in long phases. The average ratio of the smoothed to the raw amplitude is .90 for the 34 phases that lasted more than two years. Of these 34 phases, 12 were preceded or/and followed by a phase lasting 6 months or less; the average ratio is .86 for these cases and .92 for the rest.

21 Except in phases lasting less than 4 months (see p. 132); but such extremely short phases are very rare.

22 Compare the effects of the shift from one-month to three-month standings on the average amplitude of expansions and contractions in the raw data on clearings and iron production (Table 113) with the average duration of these phases (Table 112).

23 The averages for call money rates corresponding to the first six lines in the last column in the table are as follows: .36(3), .71(7), .71(15), .71(9). .76(11), .57(1). The figures in parentheses show the number of observations included in the averages. No phase lasting over 48 months occurs in call money rates.

cyclical peaks. Given the organization of the New York money market, particularly as it stood before the adoption of the Federal Reserve system, and the character of the demand for call loans, cyclical forces themselves have tended under certain circumstances to produce high and narrow peaks, and at other times broad and low troughs. Macaulay's formula turns the high, narrow peaks into broad, low hills, and thus misrepresents the cyclical behavior that is characteristic of the call loan market.<sup>24</sup> Nor is Macaulay's formula by any means peculiar in this respect, as Table 118 demonstrates.<sup>25</sup> It seems not unlikely that even our three-month averages understate the 'true' cyclical amplitudes of this series.

T.	A	B	L	E	1	1	8	
----	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	--

Effects of Fourteen Smoothing Formulas on Amplitude of Specific Cycles Call Money Rates on New York Stock Exchange, 1887–1893

Form	Per cent change from								
of data	Peak in 1887 to trough in 1888	Trough in 1888 to peak in 1890	Peak in 1890 to trough in 1892	Trough in 1892 to peak in 1893					
Raw Smoothed by formula	-73	+304	-76	+256					
No. 2	-57	+154	-60	+121					
No. 11	-66	+234	-71	+229					
No. 12	-62	+183	-64	+177					
No. 13	-62	+182	-63	+160					
No. 14	-63	+192	65	+180					
No. 18	-63	+193	-65	+199					
No. 19	-64	+191	-65	+186					
No. 20	-64	+190	-65	+182					
No. 21	-64	+190	-65	+180					
No. 22	-64	+188	-64	+170					
No. 23	-64	+196	-66	+204					
No. 24	-64	+196	-66	+198					
No. 25	-65	+203	-67	+219					
No. 27	-63	+177	-63	+168					

In contrast to our standard method, the measures in this table express the change between dates of cyclical turn as a percentage of the standing at the earlier turn. One-month standings are used in the smoothed data, 3-month standings in the raw data. The months of cyclical turn in the raw and smoothed data are given in Table 107. For supplementary information, see Chart 44 and the notes to Table 107.

If the differences between the peaks of the raw data and of Macaulay's graduation were due mainly to erratic movements, we should not expect these differences to differ significantly from one period of call money rates to another. In fact, as Table 119 shows, the average difference between one-month standings at peaks of raw and smoothed data drops from 133

24 One of the criteria for satisfactory smoothing set up by Macaulay is that "if applied to successive points on a sine curve..., the graduation should fall as close as possible to the points on the sine curve". His 43-term graduation meets this test satisfactorily for sine curves with a period of 80 months or longer (see note 19). Macaulay recognizes that "if the underlying curve have cusps or be discontinuous", any continuous smoothing, whether by his 43-term or some other formula, will "somewhat obscure such characteristics"; and he cites the behavior of call money rates "during and after a financial panic" as an example. See *The Smoothing of Time Series*, pp. 21-2, 104-5.

 $^{25}$  Macaulay's formula is No. 24. In view of the wide use of a twelve-month moving average to represent the combined trend and cyclical fluctuations of a series, it is worth noting that formula No. 2 is a two-month moving average of a twelve-month moving average.

points in 1 tween one to 13; the : and one-m for the dro serve syste disappeare the cyclica not be just 1915 as eve

> Period and form of data

1858-1915 Raw Raw. Smoothed 1915-1931 Raw... Raw. Smoothed • See Sec. II. In iro troughs, rates are l fairly nar raises the troughs a ments (C

list of 'sm

graduatio

eiminate

standard

ingly obj

to see wl

cyclical s

are recor

From standard

## AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CYCLES

points in 1858–1915 to 18 points in 1915–31; the average difference between one-month and three-month standings of raw data drops from 94 to 13; the average difference between three-month standings of raw data and one-month standings of smoothed data drops from 38 to 5. The reason for the drop is, of course, that after the introduction of the Federal Reserve system, the high and narrow peaks in call money rates practically disappeared. There can be little doubt that this represents a change in the cyclical behavior of the New York money market, and that we would not be justified in treating the smoothed figures of call money rates before 1915 as even approximate measures of cyclical fluctuations.<sup>26</sup>

#### TABLE 119

## Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles Call Money Rates on New York Stock Exchange Before and after Inauguration of Federal Reserve System

Period and	No. of	No. of months in	Aver specific	age standi -cycle rela	ng in tives at	Difference from average on preceding line		
form of data	form of data specific cycles <sup>a</sup>		Initial trough	Peak	Terminal trough	Initial trough	Peak	Terminal trough
1858-1915								
Raw	18	1	52.1	281.8	50.6			
Raw	18	3	60.8	187.6	59.1	+8.7	-94.2	+8.5
Smoothed	18	1	67.0	149.1	65.0	+6.2	-38.5	+5.9
1915-1931								1
Raw	5	1	63.7	156.0	68.6			
Raw	5	3	66.8	143.3	72.2	+3.1	-12.7	+3.6
Smoothed	5	1	72.6	138.2	79.1	+5.8	-5.1	+6.9

\*See Sec. II.

In iron production there are numerous instances of deep and narrow troughs, though they are not nearly so deep as the peaks of call money rates are high. In 1891, 1896, 1900, 1914 and 1921, when the troughs are fairly narrow but seemingly free from erratic movements, smoothing raises the troughs by larger amounts than in 1910 and 1927, when the troughs are relatively broad but marked by conspicuous erratic movements (Chart 43). The troughs in 1900 and 1914 are not included in the list of 'smooth' turns in Table 109, but that list is unduly conservative.

From this evidence we judge that the differences between our standard measures of amplitude and those derived from Macaulay's graduations result in considerable part from a tendency of smoothing to e'iminate a part of the cyclical movements. But can we be sure that our standard method is free from bias? As in the problem of timing, one seemingly objective way of judging the relative merits of the two methods is to see what happens when each is applied to series whose underlying cyclical shapes are known *a priori*. The results for several artificial series are recorded in Chart 45 and Table 120. It is evident, in the first place, that smoothing gives only rough approximations, sometimes very poor

26 See below, Chart 50 and pp. 352, 356.

ney market, erve system, s themselves and narrow y's formula isrepresents arket.<sup>24</sup> Nor s Table 118 th averages

Cycles

3

ough in 1892 to eak in 1893 +256+121 +229+177+160+180+199 +186+182+180+170+204 +198+219 +168of cyclical turn data, 3-month in Table 107. acaulay's ot expect bney rates between from 133 to successive oints on the th a period

ates "during 104-5. 8 average to hat formula

e have cusps her formula,
approximations. The relative merits of the two methods are more difficult to judge, partly because the sample covered by the experiments is small. Taking the figures in Table 120 as they come, it seems that when the underlying cyclical movement is a sine curve, smoothing yields somewhat better approximations of the true amplitude than does our standard method. Results of this character may be generally expected, inasmuch as Macaulay's 43-term graduation is designed to fit sine curves closely. On the other hand, when the underlying cycles are cusp-shaped, smoothing yields decidedly poorer approximations than our method. This result, too may be generally expected, except perhaps when the amplitude of the random component is especially violent. When the underlying cycles are triangular, the merits of the two methods depend more closely on the size of the random movements; our method is likely to give better results when the random movements are 'mild', but poorer results when the random movements are 'pronounced'. On the whole, our method surely fares no worse than smoothing in the circumstances envisaged by the experiment.27

We must recall, moreover, that the theoretical model underlying the artificial series is not strictly applicable to actual time series. So far as the specific cycles of actual series are affected by cumulations of random movements, we do not want to ignore the random movements. Our aim in measuring the amplitude of a specific cycle is to allow for the random movements that blur its contours, not for the part played by random forces in the observed fluctuation—as is the case with the artificial series.<sup>28</sup> The practice of representing peaks and troughs by three-month standings promotes this objective unevenly, but so too would smoothing. In brief phases, three-month standings may well tend to understate cyclical amplitudes; the use of one-month or two-month standings might be better.<sup>29</sup> In very choppy series, five or seven months may not suffice to get rid of the erratic component at the turns.<sup>30</sup> On the other hand, in a series like call money rates, which is choppy but has sharply cusped cyclical peaks.

27 It may be of interest to note that the use of one-month standings at cyclical turns of the raw data, instead of three-month standings, would exaggerate the 'true' amplitude of full cycles in every series. The averages based on one-month standings are as follows:

ries	5 S'	104.7	Series T"	124.8	
	S″	132.6	" C'	86.9	
,,	Т'	98.2	" C"	109.6	

The total rise and fall of the pure cyclical component is 80, in units of specific-cycle relatives. 28 See above, pp. 320-2.

Se

29 Note the discontinuity in our rules (p. 132) for handling phases less than four months, and those four months or longer.

<sup>30</sup> Imagine a strong case: a random series in which specific cycles are somehow chosen by a cycleconscious investigator. Then the three-month standing at the peak is sure to be above the threemonth standings at the adjacent troughs; if it were otherwise, these turns would not have been recognized in the first place. The case is not very different if we imagine, next, a series having a cyclical component of very small amplitude but large erratic movements; here too the use of threemonth standings is likely to overstate the cyclical amplitude and produce cusped patterns.

Nat Phase pha 2 3 4 5 6 C F C E 10 C 11 E. 12 C Av., signs ignor Phases 1-12 Phases 2-11 Av., signs resp Phases 1-12 Phases 2-11 For explanations positively. The tudes of the smo expansion or con is 40.3; hence th the series, there • E stands for sp even three tudes. Idea on the cha perfection rough met more trust tions or si

Amplitude

Since Ma which cyc ence in av successive successive the torme samples, t sometime ages.

# SECULAR COMPONENT

## TABLE 120

Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Raw and Smoothed Data of Six Artificial Series Compared with Amplitude of the Underlying Pure Cycles

Nature Excess over amplitude of p								of pure cyclical curve (in specific-cycle relatives)						
Phase	of	Seri	es S'	Serie	Series S"		es T'	Serie	es T″	Seri	es C'	Serie	es C″	
phase*		Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	
1 2	E C	+0.3 -1.5	 -4.1	+3.0 -0.4	 -8.2	-4.3 -6.5	 -10.5	-1.6 -5.4	 -14.7	-14.1 -16.9	 -23.1	-11.6 -17.1	 -27.3	
3 4	E C	+1.8 +8.8	0.0 +4,5	+0.7 +6.9	+0.3 +9.1	-1.2 +6.2	-6.3 -1.8	+1.0 +15.2	-6.1 +2.8	-8.1 -0.2	-18.8 -14.3	-7.8 +8.0	-18.8 -9.8	
5 6	E C	+11.9 +6.4	+5.3 +2.3	+15.3 +12.2	+10.3 +5.6	+9.7 +3.8	-0.9 -4.0	+21.6 +10.4	+4.2 -0.6	+3.6 -3.0	-13.4 -16.3	+15.3 +3.6	-7.9 -12.5	
7 8	E C	+2.9 +3.8	+1.0 +2.9	+6.2 +9.5	+4.1 +7.4	-0.6 +0.2	-5.2 -3.3	+3.2 +4.5	-2.6 +0.9	-5.0 -4.1	-17.5 -15.7	-4.3 -6.3	-14.7 -11.3	
9 10	E C	+0.9 -2.2	+0.6 -2.0	+7.1 +0.9	+3.4 -2.5	-1.5 -6.7	-5.9 -8.5	-0.8 -7.0	-3.0 -8.9	-9.3 -13.1	-18.2 -20.8	-11.3 -17.5	-14.8 -20.8	
11 12	E C	-6.0 -1.8	-4.3 	-2.6 +4.4	-7.7	-10.6 -4.2	-10.7 	-14.2 -5.3	-14.2	-15.7 -10.7	-23.1	-24.2 -12.0	-26.0	
Av., signs ignored Phases 1-12 Phases 2-11		4.0 4.6	 2.7	5.8 6.2	 5.9	4.6 4.7	 5.7	7.5 8.3	 5.8	8.6 7.9	 18.1	11.6 11.5	 16.4	
Av., signs respected Phases 1-12 Phases 2-11		+2.1 +2.7	 +0.6	+5.3 +5.6	 +2.2	-1.3 -0.7		+1.8 +2.8	 -4.2	-8.0 -7.2	-18.1	-7.1 -6.2	-16.4	

For explanations of the artificial series, see p. 318 and Appendix C (Chart 45). The specific cycles are treated positively. The amplitudes of the raw data are measured from 3-month standings at cyclical turns; the amplitudes of the smoothed data and of the pure cycles are measured from 1-month standings. The amplitude of the expansion or contraction of the pure cycles is invariably 40. The amplitude of phase 1 in the raw data of Series S' is 40.3; hence the entry  $\pm 0.3$  in the table, and so on. Since smoothing involves the loss of a phase at each end of the series, there are no entries for phases 1 and 12 in the smoothed data, nor averages based on phases 1-12.

even three-month standings at peaks may understate the cyclical amplitudes. Ideally, the method should be varied from case to case depending on the character of the cyclical and erratic movements; but this counsel of perfection applies with equal force to smoothing. We believe that our rough method yields amplitude measures that are simpler to interpret and more trustworthy, on the whole, than those yielded by Macaulay's graduations or similar devices.

# V The Secular Component of Specific Cycles

Since Macaulay's graduation cannot influence much the level about which cyclical fluctuations play, smoothing makes practically no difference in average measures of the percentage change between the levels of successive cycles (Table 121). It affects the percentage changes between successive cycles chiefly by shifting the dates of cyclical troughs or peaks: the former if a series is analyzed on a positive basis, as are our present samples, the latter in inverted series. Though the effects of these shifts are sometimes large in cycle-by-cycle measures, they cancel out in the averages.

re difficult ts is small. when the somewhat standard inasmuch es closely. l. smoothhis result. blitude of ing cycles ely on the er results when the od surely ed by the lying the

far as the f random Our aim e random al series.<sup>28</sup> standings In brief al amplibetter.<sup>29</sup> get rid of eries like

of the raw

al peaks,

#### tives.

nonths, and

by a cyclethe threehave been es having a ise of threerns.

## TABLE 121

Average Measures of Secular Movements of Raw and Smoothed Data Four American Series

				Average	per cen	t chang	e from			
	No. of	Precedin	g phase	Preceding cycle on base of						
Series and form of data	spe- cific cycles*	Contrac-	Expan-	Prec cy	eding cle	Average of given and preceding cycle				
		expan-	contrac-	-	Per		Per month           Unweighted         Weighted           +0.36         +0.37           +0.37         +0.37			
		sion	tion	Total	month	Total	Unweighted	Weighted		
DEFLATED CLEARINGS										
Raw	15	+8.9	+7.3	+16.9	+0.40	+15.2	+0.36	+0.37		
Smoothed	15	+8.8	+6.9	+16.8	+0.40	+15.1	+0.37	+0.37		
PIG IRON PRODUCTION										
Raw	15	+9.5	+7.1	+18.2	+0.43	+14.5	+0.34	+0.35		
Smoothed	15	+13.8	+3.3	+18.2	+0.44	+15.0	+0.36	+0.36		
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES										
Raw	18	+7.4	+4.7	+13.4	+0.26	+10.4	+0.20	+0.21		
Smoothed	18	+9.1	+2.8	+13.3	+0.27	+10.2	+0.20	+0.21		
CALL MONEY RATES										
Raw	23	+9.8	-4.9	+4.1	+0.09	-0.1	-0.02	0.00		
Smoothed	23	+1.5	+2.7	+4.2	+0.10	-0.1	-0.03	0.00		

See Table 112 for the periods covered. Except for the last three columns, the average percentages are subject to an upward bias, explained in Ch. 5, Sec. V. This bias is immaterial in a comparison of raw and smoothed data. \*See Sec. II.

The effects of smoothing are more prominent in the phase-to-phase changes than in the cycle-to-cycle changes. The former are affected by shifts of both troughs and peaks. Since the number of months shared by corresponding phases in raw and smoothed data is sometimes a small fraction of the full phase in either body of data, large differences can easily arise. Furthermore, smoothing influences the phase-to-phase changes by altering the form of the cyclical pattern as well as the timing of cyclical turns.

# VI Specific-cycle Patterns

Our practice of replacing the full set of monthly values in each specific cycle by nine average standings facilitates comparisons among cycles of different durations, and at the same time is a powerful device for reducing erratic fluctuations. Whereas the monthly figures of time series usually have extremely rough contours, the nine-stage patterns tend to rise continuously to the peak and decline continuously to the trough. A further reduction of erratic movements is effected when the standings in each stage are averaged for all the cycles covered by a series.

Our method, however, is far from perfect. In deflated clearings, for example, only 3 out of 15 cycles rise continuously from stage I to V, and decline continuously from stage V to IX. Corresponding numbers in call

Smoothed. PIG IRON PROL Raw... Smoothed RAILROAD STO Raw ..... Smoothed CALL MONEY Raw .... Smoothed Deflated clear Pig iron produ Railroad stoc Call money r The standings Table 113, not \*See Sec. II. money ra productio without in from stage

Series a form of o

Raw.....

from stag cyclical pa and even i pattern of direction movemen whatever duce reve expected phases, ar sharp err stages (I, framewor

31 See the cy 32 Some reve regularly ret few reversal:

# SPECIFIC-CYCLE PATTERNS

## TABLE 122

## Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data Four American Series

	1	Average in specific-cycle relatives at stage										
Carles and	No. of	I	II	ш	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX		
form of data	cific	Initial	Ī	Expansio	n	Peak	C	ontractio	n	Terminal		
	cycles*	trough	First third	Middle third	Last third		First third	Middle third	Last third	trough		
DEFLATED CLEARINGS												
Raw	15	85.7	90.5	99.2	106.7	112.6	108.7	106.0	101.9	99.2		
Smoothed	15	86.8	90.6	99.0	106.6	110.8	109.4	105.5	101.4	100.2		
PIG IRON PRODUCTION												
Raw	15	67.3	82.5	103.7	116.5	129.3	122.6	108.2	88.4	74.6		
Smoothed	15	73.0	82.9	103.5	118.1	126.5	120.7	102.8	86.2	81.6		
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES												
Raw	18	82.8	88.0	98.8	110.8	118.3	112.4	103.2	94.0	86.6		
Smoothed	18	84.5	88.4	100.1	111.2	116.0	112.2	102.2	91.7	88.0		
CALL MONEY RATES	ļļ						ļ					
Raw	23	62.1	80.3	104.7	123.2	178.0	120.4	89.9	71.8	61.9		
Smoothed	23	68.2	76.0	98.5	130.4	146.8	130.4	99.0	76.4	68.1		
Excess of the raw average over the smoothed												
Deflated clearings	15	-1.1	-0.1	+0.2	+0.1	+1.8	-0.7	+0.5	+0.5	-1.0		
Pig iron production	15	-5.7	-0.4	+0.2	-1.6	+2.8	+1.9	+5.4	+2.2	-7.0		
Railroad stock prices.	18	-1.7	-0.4	-1.3	-0.4	+2.3	+0.2	+1.0	+2.3	-1.4		
Call money rates	23	-6.1	+4.3	+6.2	-7.2	+31.2	-10.0	-9.1	-4.6	-6.2		

The standings in stages I, V and IX cover 3 months in the raw data, 1 month in the smoothed data; but see Table 113, note 'b'. For the periods covered, see Table 112. \*See Sec. II.

money rates are 10 out of 23, railroad stock prices 13 out of 18, pig iron production 11 out of 15.<sup>31</sup> In these four series the average pattern rises without interruption from stage I to V and declines without interruption from stage V to IX (Table 122 and Chart 46). Our efforts to measure cyclical patterns are not always attended with such conspicuous success, and even in these instances success is partly an illusion. The fact that the pattern of a single cycle, or the average pattern, is free from reversals of direction within the expansion or contraction may mean that erratic movements have disappeared; but it is much more likely to mean that whatever erratic component remains is merely not large enough to produce reversals of direction.<sup>32</sup> Substantial erratic components may be expected to remain in the patterns of individual cycles during brief phases, and even in the average patterns of short series characterized by sharp erratic fluctuations. The difficulty is most acute at the turning stages (I, V and IX), since the three-month standings may yield a biased framework of the patterns.

31 See the cycle-by-cycle measures in Appendix Table B1.

<sup>32</sup> Some reversals of direction may even be cyclical phenomena, as when the rise of a series is regularly retarded, sometimes interrupted by an actual dip, near the center of expansion. However, few reversals of direction in cyclical patterns can be confidently put in this class.

Data

se of given and g cycle r month ted Weighted +0.37 +0.37 +0.35 +0.36 +0.21 +0.21 0.00 0.00

e-to-phase ffected by shared by

ages are subject smoothed data.

small fraccan easily hanges by of cyclical

ch specific cycles of reducing es usually rise con-A further s in each

rings, for to V, and ers in call



Horizontal scale, in months 0 12 24 36 48 60 See Table 122. The patterns are spaced so as to show average leads or lags between the raw and smoothed data. For other explanations of chart, see Ch. 5, Sec. VI.

So far as an erratic component remains in the standings of the raw data at individual stages of the cycles, it is bound to count more heavily in the rates of change between successive standings than in the standings themselves. Moreover, we should expect the erratic factor to vary inversely with the length of the interval between the cycle stages. Of the eight intervals, those during contraction tend to run shorter, and therefore are more susceptible to erratic movements, than those during expansion. The shortest intervals are usually from the peak to the first third of contract (VIII-IX). sion (I-II) short relat The measu reliability far measu smoothing assumes co The d of change larger in p ferences b difference and smoo during ex during th IV-V, V-V be larger VIII-IX) IV-V). In to behave patterns, standard But t ments an should in turning i likely that from seri the first a and last course, t than the that smo sample i even larg smoothe ference interpre during Section contract 33 The int

of contraction (V-VI) and from the last third of contraction to the trough (VIII-IX). Also the intervals from the trough to the first third of expansion (I-II) and from the last third of expansion to the peak (IV-V) are short relatively to the other intervals into which we divide expansions.<sup>33</sup> The measures in our standard Table S5 therefore have uneven degrees of reliability as representatives of cyclical behavior, and the question how far measures of cyclical patterns could be improved by preliminary smoothing of the data by Macaulay's formula, or some similar device, assumes considerable importance.

The differences between the raw and smoothed figures showing rates of change from stage to stage of the specific cycles (Table 123) are much larger in proportion to the items compared than the corresponding differences between the standings in successive stages (Table 122). The differences between the rates of change (signs disregarded) in the raw and smoothed data are on the average larger during contractions than during expansions, except in call money rates. They average larger also during the turning intervals of the cycles (that is, during stages I-II, IV-V, V-VI and VIII-IX) than during other intervals. Again, they tend to be larger during the turning intervals within contractions (V-VI and VIII-IX) than during the turning intervals within expansions (I-II and IV-V). In all these respects the figures behave as we should expect them to behave if the smoothed data yielded faithful representations of cyclical patterns, while an appreciable erratic component remained in our standard averages.

But there are serious obstacles to this interpretation. If erratic movements and nothing else stood between the raw and smoothed figures, we should indeed find larger differences between their rates of change in the turning intervals of the cycles than in other intervals, but it would be unlikely that the signs of the differences in the turning intervals would agree from series to series. Table 123 shows a plus difference in every series for the first and last intervals of expansion, and a minus difference for the first and last intervals of contraction. This uniformity of signs reflects, of course, the tendency of smoothing to make cyclical amplitudes smaller than the amplitudes yielded by our standard method. If our judgment that smoothing tends to understate the 'true' cyclical amplitudes in our sample is sound, erratic movements cannot account wholly, perhaps not even largely, for the differences between the rates of change in the raw and smoothed data in the turning intervals of the cycles, or for the larger difference in these intervals than in others. There is a similar difficulty in interpreting the larger differences between the raw and smoothed rates during the contraction than during the expansion stages. As shown in Section IV, smoothing influences the average rates of change more during contractions than during expansions of specific cycles-a difference con-

33 The intervals for our four series are shown at the bottom of Table 122.

f the raw re heavily standings vary ins. Of the ind thereng expanfirst third

nected with the tendency of smoothing to reduce cyclical amplitudes and to change the relative duration of expansions and contractions. These distortions of the cyclical movements are inevitably reflected in larger differences, generally, between the raw and smoothed rates in the contraction than in the expansion intervals of the cycles.

Table 123 thus confirms what we have said about the distortions produced by smoothing; it also focuses attention upon a feature of smoothing which, although correlated with the tendency to reduce peaks

		1	Average	change p	er mont betwee	h in spec n stages	ific-cycle	relatives		
	No. of	I-II	II-III	III-IV	IV-V	V-VI	VI-VII	VII-VIII	VIII-IX	
Series and	spe-	-	Ехра	nsion		Contraction				
	cycles	Trough to first third	First to middle third	Middle to last third	Last third to peak	Peak to first third	First to middle third	Middle to last third	Last third to trough	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS Raw Smoothed	15 15	+0.8 +0.7	+0.9 +0.9	+0.7 +0.8	+1.0 +0.7	-2.6 -0.4	-2.1 -0.9	-1.7 -0.9	-1.5 -0.4	
RawSmoothed	15 15	+3.2 +1.9	+2.7 +2.7	+1.5 +2.3	+2.7 +1.9	-2.3 -1.9	-3.0 -3.8	-7.2 -3.4	-6.2 -1.4	
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES Raw Smoothed	18 18	+1.3 +0.8	+1.4 +1.4	+1.6 +1.3	+1.4 +0.8	-1.7 -0.9	-1.6 -1.5	-1.5 -1.4	-2.2 -0.7	
CALL MONEY RATES Raw Smoothed	23 23	+6.6 +2.1	+5.8 +4.1	+1.0 `+5.7	+16.9 +4.4	-20.2 -4.7	-6.2 -6.3	-4.5 -4.4	-2.3 -2.2	
			Exces	s of the	raw aver	age over	the smo	othed		
Deflated clearings Pig iron production Railroad stock prices Call money rates	15 15 18 23	+0.1 +1.3 +0.5 +4.5	0.0 0.0 0.0 +1.7	-0.1 -0.8 +0.3 -4.7	+0.3 +0.8 +0.6 +12.5	-2.2 -0.4 -0.8 -15.5	-1.2 +0.8 -0.1 +0.1	-0.8 -3.8 -0.1 -0.1	1.1 -4.8 -1.5 -0.1	
		Av	erage in	terval in	months	between	midpoin	ts of stag	es	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS Raw Smoothed	15 15	5.8 5.5	10.5 10.0	10.5 10.0	5.8 5.5	2.3 2.4	3.4 3.8	3.4 3.8	2.3 2.4	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION Raw	15 15	5.1 4.8	9.3 8.7	9.3 8.7	5.1 4.8	2.7 3.0	4.6 5.0	4.6 5.0	2.7 3.0	
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES Raw Smoothed	18 18	5.1 5.0	9.2 8.9	9.2 8.9	5.1 5.0	3.8 3.9	6.7 7.1	6.7 7.1	3.8 3.9	
ALL MONEY RATES Raw	23 23	3.7 3.5	6.3 6.1	6.3 6.1	3.7 3.5	3.3 3.5	5.7 5.8	5.7 5.8	3.3 3.5	

TABLE 123								
Average Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Specific Cycles								
Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed								

The average rates of change are unweighted; weighted averages are given in Table 125. See notes to Table 122.

and raise tr series covere from stage I VI to VII or and the fall age rate of c tervals of the within a tun curve with g from this te istics. The the middle i in one of the traction as s

Position

Series and form of dat

DEFLATED CLEAR Raw..... Smoothed...

PIG IRON PRODUC Raw..... Smoothed...

RAILROAD STOCK

Raw..... Smoothed..

CALL MONEY RA

Smoothed

DEFLATED CLEAR Raw...... Smoothed... FIG IRON PRODUC Raw..... Smoothed... RAILROAD STOCE

Raw.....

Smoothed...

Raw..... Smoothed...

To minimize the

hence the fraction

# SPECIFIC-CYCLE PATTERNS

341

and raise troughs, becomes evident only in the full patterns. In every series covered by our sample the smoothed data rise fastest on the average from stage II to III or III to IV and fall fastest on the average from VI to VII or VII to VIII; that is, the rise is fastest around mid-expansion and the fall is fastest around mid-contraction. In no series does the average rate of change reach a numerical maximum within the turning intervals of the cycles. Numerical minima, on the contrary, come invariably within a turning interval. That is exactly what we should expect of a curve with gently rounded tops and bottoms. The raw patterns are free from this technical compulsion, and have notably different characteristics. The maximum rates of change are no longer concentrated in the middle range of expansions and contractions; they frequently come in one of the turning intervals. Nor are the phases of expansion and contraction as symmetrical as in the smoothed data. These differences be-

#### TABLE 124

Position of	Fastest	and	Slowest	Rates	of	Change	in	Specific-cycle	Patterns
	Fou	ar Ai	merican	Series	, R	aw and	Sn	noothed	

	No. of		Distri	bution o	f rates of	f change	between	stages		
Series and	spe-	I-11	II-III	III-IV	IV-V	V-VI	VI-VII	VII-VIII	VIII-IX	
form of data	cific cycles	No.	of expan: rise is	sions in v fastest	which	No. of contractions in which fall is fastest				
DEFLATED CLEARINGS Raw	15	5	1	2	7	6.5	4.5	3	1	
Smoothed	15	1.5	5	5	3.5	0.25	7.25	7.25	0.25	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION										
Raw	15	7	1	2	5	1	2	4	8	
Smoothed	15	4	4	5	2	1	10.5	3.5		
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES										
Raw	18	2	- 4	4	8	5	2	4	7	
Smoothed	18		9.5	5.5	3	• • • •	11	6	1	
CALL MONEY RATES			[							
Raw	23	2	1	3	17	16	2	3	2	
Smoothed	23	1	3	14	5	2	13	5	3	
		No.	of expan rise is	sions in v slowest	which	No. c	of contra fall is	ctions in slowest	which	
Raw	15	6	4	3	2		7	55	25	
Smoothed	15	7	1	2	5	5.25	0.25	0.25	9.25	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION										
Raw	15	3	1	11		5.5	4.5	2	3	
Smoothed	15	6		5	4	4	1	1	9	
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES						1				
Raw	18	6	2	6	4	5	4	8	1	
Smoothed	18	8.5	1		8.5	4	2	1	11	
CALL MONEY RATES										
Raw	23	3	7	12	1	1	8	4	10	
Smoothed	23	15	3	2	3	2	4	4	13	

To minimize the number of ties the rates of change were computed to extra decimals. But some ties remained; hence the fractions. Cf. Table 76, and see notes to Table 122.

olitudes and ions. These d in larger in the con-

distortions feature of duce peaks

les

elatives

fiddle

to

last

third

-1.7

-0.9

-7.2

-3.4

1.5

-1.4

4.5

4.4

ed -0.8

-3.8

-0.1

-0.1

.4

.8

.0

.7

.1

7

8

f stages

II-VIII VIII-IX

Last

third

to

trough

-1.5

-0.4

-6.2

-1.4

-2.2

-0.7

-2.3

-2.2

-1.1

-4.8

-1.5

-0.1

2.3

2.4 2.7

3.0

3.8

3.9

3.3

3.5

to Table 122.

### TABLE 125

Weighted Average Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Specific Cycles Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed

Series and form of data	No. of spe-	of Weighted average change per month in specific-cycle relatives between stages										
	cycles	1-11	11-111	III-IV	IV-V	V-V1	<b>VI-VII</b>	V11-V111	V111-IX			
DEFLATED CLEARINGS												
Raw	15	+0.8	+0.8	+0.7	+1.0	-1.7	-0.8	-1.2	-1.2			
Smoothed	15	+0.7	+0.8	+0.8	+0.8	-0.6	-1.0	-1.1	-0.5			
PIG IRON PRODUCTION								ļ				
Raw	15	+3.0	+2.3	+1.4	+2.5	-2.5	-3.1	-4.3	-5.2			
Smoothed	15	+2.1	+2.4	+1.7	+1.7	-1.9	-3.6	-3.3	-1.5			
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES												
Raw	18	+1.0	+1.2	+1.3	+1.5	-1.6	-1.4	-1.4	-2.0			
Smoothed	18	+0.8	+1.3	+1.3	+1.0	-1.0	-1.4	-1.5	-0.9			
CALL MONEY RATES						1						
Raw	23	+5.0	+3.9	+2.9	+15.0	-17.4	-5.4	-3.2	-3.0			
Smoothed	23	+2.3	+3.7	+5.2	+4.7	-4.7	-5.4	-3.9	-2.4			
			Excess	of the ra	w averag	e over th	ne smoot	hed				
Deflated clearings	15	+0.1	0.0	-0.1	+0.2	-1.1	+0.2	-0.1	-0.7			
Pig iron production	15	+0.9	-0.1	-0.3	+0.8	-0.6	+0.5	-1.0	-3.7			
Railroad stock prices	18	+0.2	-0.1	0.0	+0.5	-0.6	0.0	+0.1	-1.1			
Call money rates	23	+2.7	+0.2	-2.3	+10.3	-12.7	0.0	+0.7	-0.6			

See notes to Table 122.

tween the raw and smoothed averages in Table 123 are broadly confirmed by the summary of individual cycles in Table 124.<sup>84</sup> They are again confirmed by Table 125, in which weighted average rates of change replace the unweighted averages of Table 123.<sup>85</sup>

An independent check on the preceding analysis is provided by Table 126 and Chart 47, which present cyclical patterns of several artificial

34 Although the slowest rates of change in the smoothed data are concentrated in the turning zones, the concentration is heavier in stages I-II and VIII-IX than in stages IV-V and V-VI. This result is partly due to the fact that Macaulay converted the data to logarithms before smoothing. We converted his smoothed logarithms to natural numbers before making cyclical measures.

<sup>35</sup> The averages in Table 125 correspond precisely to the slopes of the patterns in Chart 46 (see p. 151). They are significant for that reason, and also because they reduce erratic movements more effectively than do the unweighted averages.

The differences (signs ignored) between the raw and smoothed averages in Table 125 are smaller in most instances than the corresponding differences in Table 123. The reduction of the gaps is due chiefly to the effects of weighting on the raw averages. Extreme figures come, as a rule, in very short phases, precisely the instances in which our method handles erratic movements least effectively. For example, in the raw data on call money rates the unweighted average change from stage III to IV is  $\pm 1.0$  points per month; the weighted average is  $\pm 2.9$ . The discrepancy is mainly attributable to the expansion from Oct. 1880 to Feb. 1881. Since this expansion lasted only four months, the standing in stage III covers Dec. 1880 and the standing in stage IV Jan. 1881. Between the two months there was a sharp erratic decline in interest rates, which is indicated by a rate of change of -81.5 points from stage III to IV of the cycle. In the unweighted average of Table 123, this figure gets the same weight as any other. But in Table 125 its influence on the average is reduced; for the rates of change in individual cycles are weighted by the interstage intervals. In this instance and several others, the weighted average exceeds numerically the unweighted average. But the opposite relation is the rule, since the rate of change and the length of the interstage interval tend to be correlated inversely.

series, before conjunction smoothing in their true c assumption phrase not th that their ra and taper off in contractio tensive use of curve to obs have all cont image create of smoothin sorts to smo averages. So movingaver weights nega Series. In eit The 'sine sl cycles of ec technical cre The jer left as they the other ha tically inev emerge the phases. One altogether, patterns. Al of the actu vicinity of vary the sm formula be ment.38 But is triangula 86 See the illus

87 In this conn cycles. For exan pattern of the of found little evid 88 Appropriate Smoothing of 1 1934). Appendi sine series of d

# SPECIFIC-CYCLE PATTERNS

series, before and after smoothing. These exhibits should be studied in conjunction with Chart 45. The reader should note, especially, how smoothing imposes a 'sine shape' on cyclical fluctuations, regardless of their true characteristics. Many theorists are prone to reason on the assumption that economic cycles are of 'sine shape'; meaning by this phrase not that economic activities fluctuate precisely like sine curves, but that their rates of rise increase in the early stages of a cyclical expansion and taper off towards its close, and that the rates of fall behave similarly in contraction. This belief has deep roots in intellectual history: the extensive use of sine curves in the physical sciences, the ease of fitting a sine curve to observational data, the vogue of the 'principle of continuity', have all contributed to it. But perhaps the most important reason is the image created in the minds of men over several generations by the practice of smoothing. The statistician faced with jerky figures commonly resorts to smoothing. As a rule he relies on simple, unweighted moving averages. Sometimes he uses more sophisticated devices; for example, moving averages having a more or less smooth weight diagram, with some weights negative, such as are described in Macaulay's Smoothing of Time Series. In either case he obtains a curve with rounded tops and bottoms.<sup>36</sup> The 'sine shapes' are sometimes faithful representatives of the specific cycles of economic time series. Perhaps more often, they are merely technical creatures of the smoothing process.<sup>37</sup>

The jerky contours of time series present a dilemma. If the data are left as they come, the shapes of cyclical patterns cannot be measured. On the other hand, if smoothing of the ordinary type is employed, it is practically inevitable that the patterns will be 'sine shaped'; for 'sine shapes' emerge the moment the terms included in a moving average cross cyclical phases. One way of escaping from the dilemma is to avoid moving averages altogether, and that is the route we have followed in measuring cyclical patterns. Another way is to use hypothetical values, based on projections of the actual data, in getting moving averages for the months in the vicinity of a cyclical turn. Still another possibility, theoretically, is to vary the smoothing formula from one stretch of the data to the next, the formula being always properly adjusted to the underlying cyclical movement.<sup>38</sup> But this method breaks down when the underlying cyclical curve is triangular or cusp shaped: there is no set of weights which, if applied

36 See the illustrations of this effect in Charts 44, 45 and 47.

87 In this connection it is important to bear in mind the distinction between specific and business cycles. For example, the patterns of the specific cycles in most activities might be triangular, yet the pattern of the cycles in aggregate business activity might be 'sine shaped'; though, in fact, we have found little evidence of the latter.

<sup>38</sup> Appropriate devices for parabolic curves of different orders are described by Macaulay in *The Smoothing of Time Series*, and by Max Sasuly, *Trend Analysis of Statistics* (Brookings Institution. 1934). Appendix VII of Macaulay's book shows the closeness with which 19 graduation formulas fit sine series of different periods.

fic Cycles

cycle relatives VII-VIII VIII-IX -1.2 -1.2 -1.1 -0.5-4.3 -5.2-3.3 -1.5 -14 -20 -1.5 -0.9 -3.2 -3.0 -3.9 -2.4 ۰d -0.1 -0.7 -1.0-3.7 +0.1 -1.1 +0.7-0.6

y confirmed e again connge replace

ed by Table al artificial

e turning zones, -VI. This result othing. We con-

n Chart 46 (see tic movements

Table 125 are duction of the come, as a rule, tic movements average change he discrepancy ion lasted only IV Jan. 1881. is indicated by ted average of fluence on the che interstage rically the un-

Sine Curve (Solid line)

120

90

120

110

90

120

110

100

---- Series S' (sine random numbers), Raw

---- Series S' (sine ci random numbers), Smooth

---- Series ST (sine twice random numbers).

---- Series S" (sin twice random numbers)

Horizontal scale, in month Patterns of raw data are The patterns are spaced data and the pure cyclic

# TABLE 126

Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data of Six Artificial Series Compared with Patterns of the Underlying Pure Cycles

Series and	No. of spe-	No. of mos. in stage I, V & IX		A	verage	in specif	fic-cycle	relative	s at sta	ge	
form of data	cific cycles		I	11	111	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	іх
(S) Sine curve		1	80.0	83.9	100.0	116.1	120.0	116.1	100.0	83.9	80.0
(S') Sine curve + random Raw Raw	6	3	78.7	87.8 87.6	102.3	116.0	120.7	114.4	97.5 97.6	82.6 82.2	78.4
Smoothed	4	1	79.1	83.9	100.0	116.4	120.8	116.8	100.1	82.7	78.9
(S") Sine curve + 2 random Raw Raw Smoothed	6 4 4	3 3 1	77.9 77.1 77.6	91.2 91.4 82.9	104.1 102.4 99.2	115.7 117.6 116.8	122.9 124.4 122.2	111.1 112.6 117.5	95.3 95.9 100.9	81.3 80.2 82.3	77. <b>3</b> 77.0 77.2
(T) Triangular curve		1	80.0	87.3	100.0	112.7	120.0	112.7	100.0	87.3	80.0
(T') Triang. curve + random Raw Raw Smoothed	6 4 4	3 3 1	80.4 79.4 82.2	89.7 88.7 87.0	101.1 100.1 100.2	112.7 113.2 113.3	119.0 121.0 117.6	111.0 112.6 113.7	98.9 99.4 99.9	86.2 86.0 85.8	80.2 80.2 82.0
(T <sup>''</sup> ) Triang. curve + 2 random Raw Raw Smoothed	6 4 4	3 3 1	78.6 77.0 80.8	93.4 93.2 86.0	102.1 101.0 99.8	112.0 113.3 113.9	120.2 123.3 119.0	110.0 112.2 114.4	97.6 97.3 100.4	85.4 84.6 85.2	78.1 77.5 80.4
(C) Cusp curve		1	80.0	93.4	100.0	106.6	120.0	106.6	100.0	93.4	80.0
(C') Cusp curve + random Raw Raw Smoothed	6 4 4	3 3 1	83.7 82.6 88.4	94.9 94.6 92.0	100.8 100.2 100.4	106.8 106.8 107.9	115.6 117.9 111.4	105.4 106.6 108.2	99.6 99.3 100.0	92.1 92.3 91.6	83.6 83.0 88.2
(C") Cusp curve + 2 random Raw Raw Smoothed	6 4 4	3 3 1	83.4 81.5 86.9	99.4 99.2 91.2	101.3 100.5 100.4	105.6 106.4 108.6	116.1 119.5 112.8	104.8 106.9 109.2	98.8 98.1 99.8	90.4 90.0 90.4	83.0 82.5 86.4

Smoothing involves the loss of 2 positive cycles, as explained in Appendix C (Chart 45). The averages for 4 cycles include corresponding cycles in the raw and smoothed data.

to successive terms in a moving average, will reproduce triangular or cusped cycles.<sup>39</sup>

Granted that our method of measuring cyclical patterns avoids the rounding bias characteristic of smoothing, may it not be subject to other types of bias? Surely, the patterns of the raw artificial series deviate materially from the patterns of the underlying pure cycles. The former tend to have higher standings in expansion and lower standings in contraction; the excess in successive thirds of expansion and the deficiency in successive thirds of contraction tends to shrink; hence the rate of rise during stages II-III and III-IV is moderated, and likewise the rate of fall during VI-VII and VII-VIII. Furthermore, the pattern of the artificial series is asymmetrical in the turning zones: the rate of change from stage V to VI exceeds numerically the rate from IV to V, and the rate from I to

**39** We disregard 'fitting' by drawing on many terms of a parabolic expansion, or by means of harmonic analysis. There is nothing to be said in favor of expending much labor on reproducing, approximately, the original data, unless the process yields a truly helpful classification of different types of fluctuation.

CHART 47 Average Specific-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data of Six Artificial Series Compared with Patterns of the Underlying Pure Cycles



t vm

83.9

82.6 82.2 82.7

81.3 80.2 82.3

87.3

86.2 86.0 85.8

85.4 84.6 85.2

93.4

92.1 92.3 91.6

90.4 90.0 90.4

.

Sine curve





Horizontal scale, in months 0 12 24 38 48 60 Patterns of raw data are based on six cycles, patterns of smoothed data on four cycles. The patterns repaced as as to show everge leads or legt bateen the raw or smoothed data and the pure cyclical component. See Chart 45 and Teble 126.

- 345 -

II exceeds numerically the rate from VIII to IX. All these departures from the true cyclical pattern *could* arise from our practice of dating cyclical turns towards the close of the period of transition from one phase to the next, as when a trough is 'flat' or 'double-bottomed', or a peak is 'flat' or 'double-topped'.

But they could arise also from the peculiarities of the particular set of random numbers that enters into all six artificial series.<sup>40</sup> The latter, in fact, is largely responsible for the asymmetry.<sup>41</sup> Our rule regarding transitions is used sparingly in dating cyclical turns. It serves only as a last resort, when other rules fail to yield a decision. In the great majority of series the rule is of slight importance. If the rule were reversed, one or two turns, at most, would be shifted in our present sample of four series. The rule has serious consequences, however, in series with perfectly flat tops or bottoms, and it may have a telling effect whenever erratic movements are exceptionally pronounced in the vicinity of cyclical turns.<sup>42</sup>

Not a few of the cyclical patterns yielded by our method of analysis seem 'cusp shaped', in the sense that they show maximum rates of change in the turning zones. This feature may lead some readers to inquire whether our method imparts a bias to cyclical patterns opposite to the bias imparted by smoothing: that is, if smoothing tends to create 'sine shapes', may not our method create 'cusp shapes'? As far as we can judge, there is nothing in our method to produce such a bias in series free from pronounced erratic movements. True, three-month standings at cyclical turns may be poorly suited to the underlying cyclical movements. But if this factor introduces a bias towards cusp shapes in some series, it introduces a bias towards sine shapes in others.43 In very choppy series, on the other hand, our method does promote cusps. In such series there is danger of recognizing spurious cycles. When that happens, a cusp-shaped 'cycle' is likely to emerge.<sup>44</sup> A similar result may arise if a genuine cyclical rise or decline is overlooked, for the skipped movement will then depress the rate of change in one or more intervals outside the turning zones of the cycles that are recognized. Even if specific cycles are marked off properly, the use of three-month standings at peaks and troughs is likely to exaggerate the amplitude of very choppy series, and thereby tend to produce cusp-

40 We have six series, not six independent tests. See p. 318 and Appendix C.

41 The evidence for this statement is partly indirect, partly direct. Table 108 shows that the artificial series, before smoothing, tend to lag at both peaks and troughs of the pure cycles. That is what we should expect, if the rule concerning transitions made an appreciable difference. In that event, however, a reversal of the rule should produce leads. Actually, an experiment with reversing the rule left the turns practically unchanged.

This indirect evidence was checked by constructing 'cyclical' patterns of the random numbers entering into the artificial series, the dates of the pure cycles serving as a framework for the patterns. The patterns clearly indicated that the particular random numbers that we have used produce the asymmetry.

42 See p. 148 for a method of handling such cases. 43 See above, pp. 333-5.

44 See above, note 30.

346

shaped be safe nounce from se nounce are gen of mode

Stag

1 (Troug

3

9

11.

13

14....

16 . . . .

17....

19 (Troug

Based on

observa

especia

detail i

prevale

cyclical

in their

tween

time sp

ing effe

peaks a

iron pr

45 A parti

cussed in

I.II and V and IV.V.

Αd

10 (Peak)

# SPECIFIC-CYCLE PATTERNS

shaped patterns.<sup>45</sup> But the existence of a bias towards cusp shapes cannot be safely inferred from the mere fact that erratic movements are pronounced, for the combination of cyclical and erratic movements varies from series to series. Call money rates, for example, are subject to pronounced erratic movements. Yet the cusped cyclical peaks of this series are genuine; so far as our method errs, it probably does so in the direction of moderating the cusps.

TABLE 127
'Special' Cyclical Patterns
Pig Iron Production, United States, 1879-1933

	Average specifi	c-cycle pattern	Average reference-cycle pattern				
Stage	Cumulative no. of months to stage	Standing in cycle relatives at stage	Cumulative no. of months to stage	Standing in cycle relatives at stage			
i (Trough) 2 3 5 6 7 9 9	0.0 3.2 6.4 9.6 12.8 16.0 19.2 22.4 25.6	65.3 77.3 85.7 94.2 101.2 106.1 109.0 113.5 120.4	0.0 2.6 5.2 7.8 10.4 13.0 15.5 18.1 20.7	74.0 83.5 93.9 99.6 102.0 103.6 106.9 111.3 116.4			
11         12         13         14         15         16         17         18         19 (Trough)	28.8 30.4 32.0 33.7 35.3 36.9 38.5 40.1 41.8 43.4	125.2 121.2 114.9 108.2 103.1 98.2 90.7 81.0 72.2	25.5 27.7 29.9 32.1 34.4 36.6 38.8 41.0 43.2	122.1 119.2 116.7 112.0 103.8 95.3 88.7 86.3 80.7 81.7			

Based on 15 specific and reference cycles. See the explanations in the text.

A difficulty of another sort is that our technique yields only nine observations on cyclical patterns. Additional detail would be desirable, especially in the neighborhood of cyclical turns. But to provide much detail is not feasible, in view of the brevity of many cyclical phases and the prevalence of erratic movements. There are no such limitations on cyclical patterns made from data smoothed by Macaulay's formula, but in their case fine detail would often be spurious. One way of steering between these difficulties is to use a smoothing formula of much shorter time span than Macaulay's, and to protect the patterns against the 'rounding effect' of smoothing by special treatment of the data in the vicinity of peaks and troughs. The results of an experiment along these lines on pig iron production are presented in Table 127 and Chart 48. The 'special'

45 A partial tendency towards cusped patterns is also imparted by the rule on cyclical dating, discussed in the preceding paragraph, which tends to exaggerate the rates of change during stages I-II and V-VI: but this rule imparts an opposite bias to the rates of change during stages VIII-IX and IV-V.

ese departures ctice of dating rom one phase 1', or a peak is

particular set .40 The latter. rule regarding erves only as a great majority versed, one or of four series. h perfectly flat erratic moveical turns.42 od of analysis ates of change ers to inquire pposite to the to create 'sine we can judge, ries free from ngs at cyclical ments. But if eries. it introseries, on the here is danger shaped 'cycle' e cyclical rise n depress the zones of the off properly, ly to exaggerproduce cusp-

that the artificial les. That is what ice. In that event, with reversing the

random numbers work for the patat we have used specific-cycle pattern consists of nineteen standings, in contrast to the 'standard' pattern of nine standings.<sup>46</sup>

The 'special' specific-cycle pattern was derived in the following steps. (1) A five-month centered moving average was taken of the raw data. (2) Since a 'rounding effect' emerges when the span of a moving average laps over two phases, hypothetical values were used to get the moving average for each month of cyclical turn and for the month just preceding and following the turn. The hypothetical values were obtained by projecting the actual movements of the data 47 in the vicinity of the turns. (3) The interval from the middle of the trough to the middle of the peak month in each specific cycle was divided into nine equal segments, and the standing at the end of each segment was computed by linear interpolation of the moving averages. (4) The contraction was divided likewise into nine segments, and the standing at the end of each segment computed. (5) The nineteen standings for the cycle were then expressed as relatives of the cycle base, computed from the raw monthly values on our standard plan. (6) Next, the cycle relatives at the end of each segment were averaged for all cycles. (7) Likewise the intervals between successive standings were averaged for all cycles. (8) Finally, the successive average standings of the cycle relatives were plotted on Chart 48 against the cumulatives of the average intervals.

The detailed 'special' pattern derived by this method is surprisingly similar to our standard pattern. The principal difference is the slightly

48 The 'special' reference-cycle pattern is considered at the close of Sec. VII.

<sup>17</sup> Let  $a_{13}, a_{14}, a_{15}, a_{15}, a_{16}$ , etc. be the actual values for a run of months, where the subscript identifies the month. Let  $a_{15}$  be the value in the peak (or trough) month. Then the hypothetical value  $(a'_{13})$ substituted for  $a_{13}$  is  $(a_{15} + a_{14} - a_{15})$ ; and the hypothetical value  $(a'_{17})$  substituted for  $a_{13}$  is  $(a'_{16} + a_{15} - a_{14})$ , or  $(2a_{15} - a_{16})$ . The five-month moving average is therefore  $\frac{a_{13} + 2a_{14} + 2a_{12}}{5}$  for month 14, and  $\frac{-a_{13} + 2a_{14} + 4a_{18}}{5}$  for month 15. The movement following the peak (or trough) is projected backward in a similar manner, which results in a five-month moving average of  $\frac{2a_{16} + 2a_{16} + a_{16}}{5}$ for month 16, and  $\frac{4a_{14} + 2a_{16} - a_{17}}{5}$  for month 15. Since two values for the peak (or trough) month are obtained by this process, we take their average:  $\frac{-a_{15} + 2a_{14} + 8a_{16} + 2a_{16} - a_{17}}{10}$ . This value is not likely to differ much from the actual value at the peak or trough. It may even exceed the former and fall short of the latter. For example, it will exceed the actual value at the peak if  $a_{16} - a_{15} > a_{15} - a_{14}$  and  $a_{20} - a_{17} > a_{15} - a_{25}$ . In such cases we have used the formula  $\frac{2a_{14} + 8a_{18} + 2a_{16}}{12}$ . Obviously a makeshift, it emphasizes the difficulty of making sensible projections.

An alternative method is to project forward a straight line connecting  $\frac{a_{10} + a_{11} + a_{12}}{3}$  and  $\frac{a_{10} + a_{14} + a_{10}}{3}$  to obtain hypothetical values for months 16 and 17, and to project backward a straight line connecting  $\frac{a_{15} + a_{15} + a_{15}}{3}$  and  $\frac{a_{13} + a_{15} + a_{20}}{3}$  to obtain hypothetical values for months 18 and 14. This method raises slightly the standing at the peak of the pattern of iron production, and reduces slightly the standing at the terminal trough.

In the court measuring fectly, and original dat making cyc cyclical flud defects of b

48 The reason f the peak (troug pattern the act months.

## SPECIFIC-CYCLE PATTERNS

## CHART 48 Special and Standard Average Cyclical Patterns Pig Iron Production, United States



larger amplitude of the special pattern.<sup>48</sup> Since both patterns are based on turning points dated from the raw data, they share the defect of a chronological framework that is somewhat warped by erratic fluctuations. To reduce this difficulty, the method could be modified so that cyclical turns marred by erratic fluctuations would be dated from, say, a five-month moving average.

The 'special' pattern represents one of many experiments that might well be undertaken to improve the measurements of cyclical patterns we are now making. Further work in this direction is desirable in view of the importance of economic thinking in terms of the rate of change of different variables from stage to stage of business cycles.

# VII Reference-cycle Patterns

In the course of the preceding analysis we have seen that our method of measuring specific-cycle patterns eliminates erratic movements imperfectly, and occasionally imparts a systematic twist to the patterns. If the original data were subjected to smoothing by Macaulay's formula before making cyclical patterns, erratic movements would be wiped out, but the cyclical fluctuations would be distorted with intolerable frequency. The defects of both methods count for less in reference-cycle than in specific-

48 The reason for this difference is apparent from note 47. In the special pattern the standing at the peak (trough) stage is dominated by the actual value at the peak (trough). In the standard pattern the actual value at the peak (trough) gets a weight no larger than that of the two adjacent months.

## ntrast to the

lowing steps. raw data. (2) average laps ving average ding and folby projecting irns. (3) The eak month in nd the standrpolation of ise into nine ted. (5) The atives of the andard plan. averaged for ndings were ndings of the atives of the

surprisingly the slightly

the second seco

hugh) is projected  $2a_{15} + 2a_{16} + a_{16}$ 

r trough) month

This value is not

even exceed the e at the peak if  $\frac{2a_{14}+8a_{15}+2a_{16}}{12}$ .

 $a_{10} + a_{11} + a_{12}$  and

ject backward a

iron production,

#### TABLE 128

#### Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data Four American Series

			Average in reference-cycle relatives at stage										
	No. of	I	II	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX			
Series and form of data	refer-	Initial trough	I	Expansio	n		С	Ter-					
	cycles		First third	Middle third	Last third	Peak	First third	Middle third	Last third	minal trough			
DEFLATED CLEARINGS													
Raw	15	88.1	94.0	98.4	105.2	107.5	106.7	102.3	99.5	100.6			
Smoothed	15	88.6	93.1	98.9	105.2	107.5	106.2	102.8	100.1	101.5			
PIG IRON PRODUCTION													
Raw	15	73.3	90.0	103.5	112.5	122.2	117.6	100.4	84.8	81.1			
Smoothed	15	77.8	88.6	103.8	113.8	119.8	117.1	99.3	85.0	86.7			
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES													
Raw	19	91.0	96.9	104.0	109.4	106.9	104.3	97.7	92.5	94.7			
Smoothed	19	91.7	96.4	104.7	109.3	107.5	104.6	97.8	93.0	95.7			
CALL MONEY RATES													
Raw	19	77.5	82.4	98.4	128.2	159.5	128.5	103.9	81.1	76.2			
Smoothed	19	78.4	82.8	101.0	127.2	138.6	128.7	99.7	82.5	76.6			
	•	Excess of the raw average over the smoothed											
Deflated clearings	15	-0.5	+0.9	-0.5	0.0	0.0	+0.5	-0.5	-0.6	-0.9			
Pig iron production	15	-4.5	+1.4	-0.3	-1.3	+2.4	+0.5	+1.1	-0.2	-5.6			
Railroad stock prices.	19	-0.7	+0.5	-0.7	+0.1	-0.6	-0.3	-0.1	-0.5	-1.0			

See Chart 49 for the periods covered. Three-month standings are used in stages I, V and IX of both the raw and smoothed patterns. The use of 1-month standings in the smoothed specific-cycle patterns was necessary to obtain a valid measure of amplitude, a reason that has no force in the case of reference cycles.

-2.6

+1.0

+20.9

19

Call money rates. . .

-0.9

-0.4

-1.4

-0.4

+4.2

-0.2

cycle patterns. In the first place, since the months entering into each reference-cycle stage are the same in the raw and smoothed analyses, there can be no differences in duration, whether due to erratic movements or the perversity of smoothing, such as occur in the specific cycles.<sup>49</sup> In the second place, each distortion of the tempo of cyclical movements by smoothing, instead of being concentrated in the same stage of different specific cycles, is dispersed over several stages of the reference cycles—the dispersion being large or small according as the differences in time between the specific and reference cycles are considerable or slight. The like is true of any systematic distortions of cyclical movements that may be produced by our standard method.

The average reference-cycle patterns of the raw and smoothed data of our four series are shown in Tables 128-129 and Chart 49. As expected, the differences between the standings of the two sets of patterns are, on the whole, considerably smaller than the corresponding differences be-

49 Of course, reference dates determined from smoothed data would not match exactly our present reference dates. But it is neither feasible nor (if the analysis of Sec. III is sound) desirable to investigate the influence of smoothing on cyclical measures *via* its influence on reference dates. The practical question is how smoothed data behave relatively to raw data within the periods of reference cycles, as now marked off. tween the spe to stage of th the figures th differ less that no longer fin in the raw a during expan differ more in

# REFERENCE-CYCLE PATTERNS

## CHART 49 Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data Four American Series

ł



Morizontal scale, in months See Table 128. For explanation of chart, see Ch. 5, Sec. VII. à

tween the specific-cycle patterns. Of course, the rates of change from stage to stage of the reference cycles differ more in proportion to the size of the figures than do the corresponding standings of the patterns, but they differ less than the rates of change from stage to stage of specific cycles. We no longer find a tendency for the differences between the rates of change in the raw and smoothed data to be larger during contractions than during expansions. There is still a tendency for the rates of change to differ more in the turning intervals than in the others, but it is not as

2

Data

stage VIII IX h tion Terminal lle Last trough Ы third 38 100.6 99.5 100.1 101.5 84.8 81.1 Ь 85.0 86.7 Þ 92.5 94.7 93.0 95.7 81.1 76.2 82.5 76.6 thed -0.6 -0.9 -0.2 -5.6 -0.5 -1.0-0.4 -1.4 f both the raw and ssary to obtain

g into each alyses, there pvements or les.<sup>49</sup> In the vements by of different cycles — the in time beht. The like hat may be

othed data s expected, rns are, on erences be-

tly our present d) desirable to nce dates. The eriods of refer-

## TABLE 129

## Average Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Reference Cycles Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed

Ranks of Av

Series and form of data DEFLATED CLEARIN Raw .... Smoothed .... PIG IRON PRODUCTIO Raw. Smoothed . . . RAILROAD STOCK PE Raw..... Smoothed... CALL MONEY RATES Raw ..... Smoothed.... Derived from weight highest figure, a ran to an additional plac

		Change per month in reference-cycle relatives between stages								
	No. of	[-I]	II-III	III-IV	IV-V	V-VI	VI-VII	VII-VIII	VIII-IX	
Series and	refer-		Expa	nsion		Contraction				
form of data	ence cycles	Trough to first third	First to middle third	Middle to last third	Last third to peak	Peak to first third	First to midwle third	Middle to last third	Last third to trough	
				U	nweight	ed avera	ges			
DEFLATED CLEARINGS Raw Smoothed	15 15	+1.4 +1.0	+0.5 +0.8	+0.9 +0.8	+0.6 +0.5	0.2 0.3	-0.9 -0.6	-0.3 -0.3	+0.5 +0.5	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION Raw Smoothed	15 15	+3.7 +2.2	+2.2 +2.1	+1.1 +1.6	+2.9 +1.6	-1.2 -0.7	-2.7 -3.0	-3.0 -2.4	-1.5 +0.3	
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES Raw Smoothed	19 19	+1.3 +1.0	+0.7 +0.9	+0.7 +0.6	-0.4 -0.3	-1.0 -0.8	-0.7 -0.8	-0.5 -0.3	+0.6 +0.6	
CALL MONEY RATES Raw Smoothed	19 19	+1.4 +1.2	+2.0 +2.7	+4.8 +3.8	+6.8 +3.1	-3.2 -1.0	-4.2 -4.5	-5.1 -3.7	-0.8 -1.7	
				1	Weighted	i average	25			
DEFLATED CLEARINGS Raw Smoothed	15 15	+1.4 +1.0	+0.6 +0.8	+0.9 +0.8	+0.5 +0.5	-0.2 -0.4	-0.7 -0.5	-0.4 -0.4	+0.3 +0.4	
Raw Smoothed	15 15	+3.9 +2.5	+1.8 +2.1	+1.2 +1.4	+2.3 +1.4	-1.3 -0.7	-2.7 -2.8	-2.5 -2.3	-1.0 +0.5	
Railkoad stock prices Raw Smoothed	19 19	+1.3 +1.0	+0.9 +1.1	+0.7 <b>∔0.6</b>	-0.6 -0.4	-0.6 -0.7	-0.9 -1.0	-0.7 -0.7	+0.5 +0.7	
CALL MONEY RATES Raw Smoothed	19 19	+1.1 +1.0	+2.0 +2.3	+3.8 +3.3	+6.9 +2.5	-7.8 -2.5	-3.5 -4.1	-3.2 -2.4	-1.2 -1.5	

See note to Table 128.

pronounced as in the specific cycles. Moreover, as Table 130 demonstrates, the ranking of the rates of change from stage to stage of the reference cycles in the smoothed data is very similar to the ranking of the rates of change in the raw data—a condition not found in the specific cycles.

It would not be unreasonable to infer from the similarity between the patterns of the raw and smoothed data that erratic movements play a relatively minor role in reference-cycle patterns made by our standard method. But there is stronger evidence to support this conclusion. If the month-by-month differences between the raw data and Macaulay's graduation were akin to a series of random numbers, we would expect the differences to be uncorrelated with business cycles. This expectation may

## REFERENCE-CYCLE PATTERNS

# TABLE 130

## Ranks of Average Rates of Change from Stage to Stage of Reference Cycles Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed

Series and	No. of	Rank of average change per month between reference-c							
form of data	cycles	I-11	11-111	III-IV	IV-V	V-VI	VI-VII	VII-VIII	VIII-IX
DEFLATED CLEARINGS									
Raw	15	1	3	2	4	6	8	7	5
Smoothed	15	1	3	2	4	6	8	7	5
PIG IRON PRODUCTION				1		ļ			1
Raw	15	1	3	4	2	6	8	7	5
Smoothed	15	1	2	4	3	6	8	7	5
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES								1	
Raw	19	1	2	3	5	6	8	7	4
Smoothed	19	2	1	4	5	7	8	6	3
CALL MONEY RATES									
Raw	19	4	3	2	1	8	7	6	5
Smoothed	19	4	3	1	2	7	8	6	5

Derived from weighted average rates, given in the lower section of Table 129. A rank of 1 is assigned to the highest figure, a rank of 8 to the lowest (taken algebraically). In case of a tie the computations were carried to an additional place before ranking.

#### CHART 50 Differences between Average Reference-cycle Patterns of Raw and Smoothed Data Four American Series





Cycles

F	s between stages							
II								
<b>h</b>	action							
	Middl	e Last						
le	last	to						
	third	trough						
	-0.3	+0.5						
	-0.3	+0.5						
	-3.0	-1.5						
	-2.4	+0.3						
	-05	+0.6						
	-0.3	+0.6						
		1						
	-5.1	-0.8						
1	-5.7							
Т		<u> </u>						
	-0.4	+02						
	~0.4	+0.3						
	~2.5	-1.0						
	-2.3	+0.5						
	-0.7	+0.5						
	-0.7	+0.7						
	-3.2 -2.4	-1.2 -1.5						
L								

130 demon-

of the referpking of the

the specific

ity between

ments play a

ur standard usion. If the ulay's grad-

expect the

ctation may

# TABLE 131

Average Patterns of Small Groups of Reference Cycles Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed

Series, period	No. of refer-		Average in reference-cycle relatives at stage										
	cycles	1	II	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX			
DEFLATED CLEARINGS 1879–1897													
Raw Smoothed	5 5	85.) 85.4	91.4 90.6	96.6 97.1	105.8 106.1	108.6 108.3	108.6 106.9	102.4 103.2	100.3 100.8	102.0 103.1			
1897–1914 Raw Smooth <del>e</del> d	5 5	87.8 87.9	93.7 92.7	96.9 97.6	102.8 102.7	105.3 105.3	104.6 104.4	101.7 102.0	100.0 100.5	102.2 102.3			
1914–1933 Raw Smoothed	5 5	91.6 92.6	97.0 9 <b>5.</b> 9	101.8 102.2	106.9 106.7	108.5 108.8	106.9 107.2	102.9 103.1	98.3 99.0	97.7 99.2			
PIG IRON PRODUCTION 1879-1897		ļ											
Raw Smoothed	5 5	67.9 73.7	89.1 86.1	99.8 101.9	110.8 112.1	117.3 115.9	113.1 110.9	97.8 96.6	91.9 93.4	92.0 98.8			
1897–1914 Raw Smoothed	5 5	72.5 75.4	88.3 86.6	99.4 100.7	109.7 110.2	117.5 117.0	115.8 114.9	100.0 98.8	86.7 87.1	85.4 90.1			
1914–1933 Raw Smoothed	5	79. <b>5</b> 84.3	92.7 93.2	111.2	117.0 119.0	131.9 126.3	124.0 125.5	103.4 102.5	75.9 74.5	66.0 71.2			
Railroad Stock Prices 1858–1888													
Raw Smoothed	6 6	82.8 83.8	89.0 88.7	101.5 101.9	112.0 111.5	106.2 107.8	105.6 106.7	102.8 102.3	95.3 95.8	96.5 98.0			
1888–1908 Raw Smoothed	6 6	89.5 90.4	96. <b>8</b> 96.0	101.5 102.3,	107.7 107.4	105.8 105.8	102.3 101.3	92.5 93.5	93.7 94.2	98.7 99.3			
1908–1933 Raw Smoothed	7 7	99.3 99. <b>5</b>	103.7 103.3	108.4 109.1	108.5 - 109.0	108.4 108.8	105.0 105.6	97.8 97.6	89.1 89.6	89.6 90.8			
Call Money Rates 1858–1888													
Raw Smoothed	6 6	80.4 81.7	90.6 92.2	106.4 106.1	139.3 135.4	193.7 133.7	116.5 113.3	80.0 88.7	83.8 81.6	76.3 75.8			
1888–1908 Raw Smoothed	6 6	67.3 63.6	71.1 70.8	88.4 89.4	107.8 114.0	145.1 142.5	151.4 152.8	137.4 113.0	58.8 69.1	63.2 61.2			
1908–1933 Raw Smoothed	7 7	83.8 88.2	85.1 85.1	100.2 106.6	136.3 131.5	142.5 139.5	119.3 121.2	95.7 97.8	98.0 94.7	87.3 90.4			

The periods mark off successive thirds of the reference cycles covered by a series. Where the full number is not exactly divisible by 3, the odd item is placed in the last period. Three-month standings are used in stages I, V and IX of both the raw and smoothed patterns.

.







 $\mathbf{h}$ IX

.3 .8 102.0 103.1

.0 .5 102.2 102.3

3 .0 99.**2** 

.9

.4 98.8

.9 66.0

.5 71.2

5.3 96.5

.8 98.0

.1

.6 75.8

8.8 63.2

5.1 61.**2** 87.3 3.0

97.7

9**2.0** 

85.4 .7 .1 90.1

98.7 **i**.7 1.2 99.3

89.6

90.8 0.6

76.3 .8

90.4 .7

amber is not stages I, V

.

,

. — 355 —

be tested by constructing reference-cycle patterns of the differences between the raw and smoothed data, as we do in Chart 50.50 The patterns are irregular in the expansion and contraction stages, as they should be on the hypothesis of randomness; but in each series the standing of the differences is higher at the reference peak than at the reference troughs. The margin is slight in railroad stock prices, considerable in the other series. This striking feature appears in the reference cycles taken singly, not only in the averages, as indexes of full-cycle conformity for the differences demonstrate:<sup>51</sup> deflated clearings +38, iron production +93, railroad stock prices +32, call money rates +53. The marked conformity of the raw-smoothed differences to business cycles confirms a judgment voiced repeatedly in preceding pages: namely, that smoothing by Macaulay's formula or by similar devices, besides eliminating erratic movements, tends to distort cyclical fluctuations. It seems reasonable to infer that whatever erratic components remain in the raw reference-cycle patterns are smaller than the differences between the raw and smoothed patterns.

Of course, the conclusion that erratic movements play a relatively minor role in the reference-cycle patterns must be interpreted with care. It is more likely to be true of our standard Table R1 than of Table R2. The conclusion does not apply to patterns of single reference cycles, and may not apply to average patterns that are based on few cycles, especially if the erratic movements of a series are pronounced. Our comparisons between raw and smoothed patterns have been made from series that cover from 15 to 19 reference cycles. But as Chapter 1 shows, relatively few of our time series are so long; a large fraction cover no more than five cycles and many cover a smaller number. The degree of mutual canceling of erratic movements is likely to be smaller in reference-cycle patterns based on a half-dozen observations than in patterns based on three times that number. To throw some light on this matter, Table 131 and Chart 51 present raw and smoothed patterns for successive thirds of the reference cycles in our four long test series. In a few instances the differences between the raw and smoothed patterns run much larger than any encountered in the patterns for all cycles. There are, moreover, some irregularities in the subgroup patterns of raw data, whereas none occur in the patterns based on all cycles.<sup>52</sup> On the whole, however, the reduction in the

50 Strictly speaking, the chart shows the differences between the reference-cycle patterns of the raw and smoothed data (see the bottom section of Table 128). This is not a mathematical equivalent of reference-cycle patterns of the differences between the raw and smoothed data. However, the shapes of the patterns yielded by the two methods are very similar. The method used in the chart avoids the need to express the results for different series in the original units.

<sup>51</sup> The indexes of conformity were computed, on the plan of Table R3, from the differences between the raw and smoothed data, with the former as minuend.

52 A reference-cycle pattern may be considered 'irregular' if it contains more than one peak and trough. A stricter definition would be that the pattern is irregular if any movement runs counter

In view cycle patt of confor by Macau change d reference smaller in pansions Of the 2 and low prove the for example to the vir genuine o expansior movemen boundari to the divisio

cycle pattern note 35 of Ch reasons: (1) en to business cy 58 The count iron productiv

e differences be-<sup>50</sup> The patterns they should be standing of the ference troughs. ble in the other les taken singly, hity for the difoduction +93, ked conformity ms a judgment hing by Macauerratic moveonable to infer ence-cycle patand smoothed

ay a relatively eted with care. of Table R2. hce cycles, and cles, especially r comparisons m series that bws, relatively nore than five ual canceling cycle patterns n three times and Chart 51 the reference ifferences beany encounpe irregularioccur in the uction in the

tterns of the raw cal equivalent of wever, the shapes the chart avoids

ferences between

n one peak and nt runs counter number of cycles included in the patterns makes less difference than might have been expected.

As in the case of specific cycles, our standard method yields only ninepoint patterns for reference cycles. The lack of greater detail would be a source of some embarrassment in tracing the sequence of revivals and recessions in different activities, were it not for the monthly timing measures in Table S1. Even so, greater refinement in the reference-cycle patterns would be an advantage if the additional detail were trustworthy. Table 127 and Chart 48 present the results of an experiment with a nineteen-point pattern. The 'special' pattern for reference cycles was made on exactly the same principle as the special pattern for specific cycles, described towards the end of Section VI. The special reference-cycle pattern is somewhat less regular than the standard pattern. It suggests, however, a slight lead (2.2 months) of pig iron production at the reference trough, which is confirmed by the measure of average timing in our Table S1 (3.4 months).

# VIII Measures of Conformity to Business Cycles

In view of the comparatively small differences between the referencecycle patterns of raw and smoothed data, we should expect their measures of conformity to be similar. Table 132 shows that in each series smoothing by Macaulay's formula tends to reduce (numerically) the average rates of change during the stages matched with reference expansions and with reference contractions. But the differences made by smoothing run smaller in these measures than in the average rates of change during expansions and contractions of specific cycles.

Of the 12 indexes of conformity, smoothing leaves 7 unchanged, raises 2 and lowers 3.<sup>53</sup> None of the changes are of much consequence. Some improve the measure of conformity slightly, others worsen it. In clearings, for example, the smaller contraction index of the smoothed data is due to the virtual disappearance of the decline in 1918, which we consider a genuine cyclical contraction. In call money rates, on the other hand, the expansion index is higher in the smoothed data, in part because erratic movements in the raw data are very prominent in the vicinity of the boundaries of the reference expansion of 1891–93.

to the division of stages in our standard Table R4. Note that while irregular movements in specificcycle patterns are always indicative of erratic movements, subject only to the qualifications in note 35 of Ch. 5 and note 32 of this chapter, a reference-cycle pattern may be irregular for two reasons: (1) erratic movements in the raw data, (2) erratic behavior of specific cycles with respect to business cycles.

<sup>58</sup> The count is 6, 2 and 4, if indexes based on stages VIII-V are used for the smoothed data on iron production.

# TABLE 132 Conformity to Business Cycles of Raw and Smoothed Data Four American Series

S <del>cries</del> and form of data	No. of refer- ence cycles <sup>a</sup>	Stages matched with reference	Average per n in referen relatives stages n with re	change nonth nce-cycle during natched ference	Index of conformity to reference			
	ex		Expan- sions	Contrac- tions	Expan- sions	Contrac- tions	Cycles	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS Raw Smoothed PIG IRON PRODUCTION <sup>b</sup>	15 15	VIII-V VIII-V	+0.78 +0.75	-0.50 -0.39	+100 +100	+73 +60	+86 +93	
Raw. Smoothed Smoothed	15 15 15	I-V I-V VIII-V	+2.26 +1.87 +1.61	-2.27 -1.79 -2.26	+100 +100 +87	+100 +87 +87	+100 +100 +100	
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES Raw Smoothed	19* 19*	VIII-IV VIII-IV	+0.77 +0.73	-0.61 -0.57	+79 +79	+60 +60	+74 +74	
CALL MONEY RATES Raw Smoothed	19* 19*	I-V I-V	+3.62 +2.83	-3.57 -3.07	+68 +89	+100 +80	+100 +100	

•See Chart 49 for the periods covered; but note that where an asterisk appears, the contraction and full-cycle indexes cover an additional reference contraction (1857-58) at the beginning of the series. • The conformity measures for the smoothed data are shown for two sets of intervals because there is little to choose between them. See pp. 195-6.

In Table 133 we show separate indexes of conformity for each of the eight intervals into which Table R2 divides reference cycles. These indexes are computed in the same way as our standard measures. In the group of stages matched with reference expansions, the conformity index for a given interval (for example, stage I to II in call money rates, or stage VIII to IX in clearings) is the excess of the number of rises over the number of falls, expressed as a percentage of the number of cycles. In the group of stages matched with reference contractions, a fall signifies positive conformity and a rise inverted conformity; hence the excess of the number of falls over the number of rises for a given interval is expressed as a percentage of the number of cycles. Of course this method of computation reduces the indexes; for a movement opposed to the cyclical tide in any one of the three to five stages that are grouped together as 'expansions' or 'contractions' will affect the entries in the present table, whereas in the broader averages of Table 132 that movement is often more than offset by conforming changes in the preceding or following stage. In these stage-by-stage indexes, the smoothed figures stand higher than the raw figures in 17 cases, the same in 7 cases and lower in 8. This drift in the results is to be expected; for smoothing tends to eliminate erratic movements counter to the cyclical tide, which reduce the raw indexes.

Series and form of data DEFLATED CLEARING Raw. Smoothed PIG IRON PRODUCTS Raw. Smoothed Smoothed . . . RAILROAD STOCK PR Raw. Smoothed CALL MONEY RATES Raw Smoothed .... See Chart 49 for the See Table 132, not b Here treated as tw

of conformity for the

The addi formity of a turning zones of the present tion, but call reference tro ence expansi in the other starred, and a indexes outs and the smo than the aver We attrib in the timing prompter or general busir That is true our plan of ( reference cyc other fixed st turns charac dexes in Tal indexes of T crease the st systematic in

# CONFORMITY TO BUSINESS CYCLES

# TABLE 133

## Stage-by-stage Indexes of Conformity to Business Cycles Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed

	No. of	Stages matched	Ir	Index of conformity of changes between reference-cycle stages									Average index of conformity		
form of data	ence cycles	with reference expansion	I- 11	11- 111	III- IV	IV- V	v. vi	VI- VII	V11- VI11	VIII- IX	Turn- ing zones <sup>b</sup>	Other inter- vals	All inter- vals		
EFLATED CLEARINOS															
Raw	15	VIII-V	+100	+80	+87	+47*	+33*	+33	+13 •	+73*	+42	+75	+58		
Smoothed	15	VIII-V	+100	+100	+100	+73*	+33*	+47	+ 20 *	+87*	+53	+87	+70		
IG IRON PRODUCTION®								ĺ				[			
Raw	15	I-V	+87 •	+100	+60	+100*	+20*	+73	+73	+47*	+63	+77	+70		
Smoothed	15	I-V	+87*	+87	+73	+73*	+7*	+73	+73	-7*	+40	+77	+58		
Smoothed	15	VIII-V	+87	+87	+73	+73*	+7•	+73	+73*	+7*	+40	+80	+60		
AILROAD STOCK PRICES										]		1			
Raw	19	VIII-IV	+89	+68	+37 *	+16*	+26	+16	+16*	+16*	+21	+50	+36		
Smoothed	19	VIII-IV	+58	+79	+47*	+26*	+53	+63	+5*	+5•	+21	+63	+42		
ALL MONEY RATES							1	}	1		1	1			
Raw	19	I-V	+16*	+47	+58	+58*	+26*	+79	+16	+26*	+32	+50	+41		
Smoothed	19	I-V	+16*	+68	+79	+47•	+26*	+89	+47	+47*	+34	+71	+53		

See Chart 49 for the periods covered.

•See Table 132, note 'b'.

<sup>b</sup> Here treated as two-interval overlaps on the selected expansion and contraction segments of the series. Indexes of conformity for these intervals are marked by an asterisk (\*) in the preceding columns.

The addition that Table 133 makes to our knowledge is that the conformity of a series to business cycles is higher outside than within its turning zones. Of course the turning zones vary from series to series. Two of the present four usually turn up in the last third of reference contraction, but call money rates and iron production defer the upturn until the reference trough. The downturn usually occurs in the last third of reference expansion in railroad stock prices, but not until the reference peak in the other series. In Table 133 the indexes for the turning zones are starred, and averages are shown of these four indexes and also of the four indexes outside the turning zones. Without exception, in both the raw and the smoothed data, the average for the turning zones is lower than the average for the other intervals.

We attribute the low conformity in the turning zones to irregularities in the timing of specific-cycle revivals and recessions. If a series is a little prompter or a little slower than usual in responding to a cyclical turn in general business, its turn may not come in the usual reference-cycle stage. That is true whether a series is analyzed in raw or smoothed form. Since our plan of computing indexes of conformity assigns the same stages of reference cycles to expansion in all the cycles covered by a series, and other fixed stages to contraction, any departure from the timing of cyclical turns characteristic of the series as a whole may affect our standard indexes in Table 132, and is much more likely to affect the stage-by-stage indexes of Table 133 that cover briefer periods. Smoothing tends to increase the stage-by-stage indexes outside the turning zones, but has no systematic influence on the indexes within the turning zones.

f conformity

ntrac- ions	Cycles
+73	+86
+60	+93
+100	+100
+87	+100
+87	+100
+60	+74
+60	+74
+100	+100
+80	+100

# tion and full-cycle

e is little to choose

each of the . These inares. In the mity index tes, or stage er the numcles. In the mifies posicess of the s expressed od of comyclical tide as 'expanle, whereas more than e. In these an the raw frift in the atic movexes.

# TABLE 134

# Average Deviations from Average Cyclical Measures Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed

Measure		Defla clear	ated ings	Pig produ	Pig iron production		road prices	Call money rates	
		Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.
(1) DURATION OF SPECIFIC CYC Expansion Contraction Full cycle Expansion as % of cycle	LES	9.9 6.5 11.6 11	9.3 4.6 10.6 9	9.0 7.1 9.9 13	8.8 6.4 9.7 14	16.0 12.1 22.6 13	15.1 10.4 21.3 11	7.6 6.4 8.6 14	6.4 6.7 8.0 11
(II) AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CY Rise Fall Rise & fall	CLES	10.6 8.7 13.8	9.9 8.0 13.1	15.7 21.2 26.8	16.1 23.0 26.6	20.5 17.0 35.9	20.5 15.9 34.6	52.0 56.7 105.9	33.2 40.7 67.2
Rise per month Fall per month Rise & fall per month		0.2 1.7 0.2	0.2 0.3 0.2	0.9 2.1 0.9	0.9 1.3 0.9	0.6 0.8 0.4	0.4 0.5 0.4	3.3 4.0 2.4	1.5 2.3 1.7
(III) SECULAR MOVEMENTS Change from Contraction to expansio Expansion to contractio Cycle to cycle, total Cycle to cycle, per mon	on on	6.4 8.2 6.2 0.15	5.6 7.3 5.8 0.13	12.6 15.0 17.4 0.40	11.2 13.4 15.1 0.33	14.0 10.4 16.7 0.36	14.6 9.4 16.7 0.36	15.8 17.3 23.8 0.68	16.8 16.8 23.6 0.68
(IV) SPECIFIC-CYCLE PATTERN Standing									
I		5.5 4.2 2.0 2.8 5.9 5.2 6.6 8.8 10.6 0.5	5.3 4.2 2.1 2.3 4.9 4.4 5.6 8.3 9.1 0.2	14.6 12.1 9.5 7.5 11.2 7.9 11.9 14.6 17.8 1.6	15.3 10.7 7.4 8.3 8.7 6.7 8.5 15.9 18.6 0.7	11.6 9.6 5.3 5.4 9.5 8.4 7.3 9.4 12.3 0.8	12.3 9.9 4.4 5.1 8.6 7.3 5.8 9.2 11.5 0.3	13.7 12.3 16.3 16.8 41.8 18.1 20.7 18.9 19.5 4.1	16.6 14.5 10.7 13.1 22.7 16.1 12.8 18.6 21.2 0.8
II-III III-IV IV-V. V-VI VI-VII VII-VII VIII-IX		0.4 0.3 0.4 2.6 3.3 2.0 1.3	0.3 0.3 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.2	1.2 1.1 1.4 1.3 2.4 5.2 3.9	1.1 1.5 0.7 0.9 2.1 1.5 0.6	0.8 1.1 0.8 1.1 0.9 1.2 1.4	0.6 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.7 0.8 0.4	6.2 7.9 11.7 14.6 5.4 3.7 2.7	1.7 2.6 2.6 2.7 4.2 2.7 0.8
(V) REFERENCE-CYCLE PATTER Standing I	N 	6.6	6.8	15.5	16.1	13.8	14.1	22.3	20.3
II         IV.         V.         VI.         VII.         VIII.	· · · · · · · · ·	3.7 3.2 4.0 4.5 4.8 6.6	3.2 3.8 3.2 4.2 3.5 4.8 6.9	11.4 10.9 9.4 10.7 7.3 13.9 18.2	9.7 9.0 10.1 7.2 11.3 17.2	7.7 7.0 7.0 7.4 7.9 11.5	7.5 7.4 6.7 7.2 6.9 11.8	22.0 18.2 26.9 56.9 27.6 28.3 22.4	21.5 19.4 20.3 24.6 21.1 20.6 20.5
IX		7.6	7.8	19.0	17.9	12.2	12.3	26.0	25.8

Mea (V) REFERENCE-CY Rate of chang I-II.... II-III.. III-IV. IV-V ... V-VI VI-VII.. VII-VIII. VIII-IX. (VI) CONFORMITY Rateofchange Expansions Contraction The entries in group expressed in specificcorrespond to the pla and numbers of cycle cycle measures. •That is, during the •Based on the assum Table 134 sh the average d and Table 13 average devia cent, except i is usually gro erratic distur The large among the m reason for the erratic move eliminate rat smoothing m the degree to the extent of formula used of two or the come conver amplitude la are random

for example.

## VARIABILITY OF MEASURES

## TABLE 134-Continued Average Deviations from Average Cyclical Measures Four American Series, Raw and Smoothed

Call money rates Raw

7.6

6.4

8.6

14

52.0

56.7

105.9

3.3

4.0

2.4

15.8

17.3

23.8

13.7

12.3

16 3

16.8

41.8

18.1

20.7

18.9

19.5

4.1

6.2

7.9

11.7

14.6

5.4

3.7

2.7

22.3

22.8

18.2

26.9

56.9

27.6

28.3

22.4

26.0

0.68

Sm.

6.4

6.7

8.0

11

33.2

40.7

67.2

1.5

2.3

1.7

16.8

16.8

23.6

16.6

14.5

10.7

13.1

22.7

16.1

12.8

18.6

21.2

0.8

1.7

2.6

2.6

2.7

4.2

2.7

0.8

20.3

21.3

19.4

20.3

24.6

21.1

20.6

20.5

25.8

0.68

Measure	Deflated clearings		Pig iron production		Raili stock	road prices	Call money rates	
	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.	Raw	Sm.
v) REFERENCE-CYCLE PATTERN-Cont. Rate of change								
I-II	0.5	0.3	2.2	1.3	0.8	0.9	4.8	3.2
II-III	0.3	0.2	1.3	1.1	0.8	0.7	2.7	2.6
III-IV	0.4	0.3	1.9	1.3	0.9	0.8	4.3	2.2
IV-V	0.6	0.4	2.1	1.0	1.4	1.1	9.2	3.8
V-VI	0.7	0.6	2.1	2.4	1.5	0.9	10.5	4.4
VI-VII	1.0	0.6	2.8	1.7	1.4	1.0	6.7	3.1
VII-VIII	0.5	0.5	2.7	1.9	1.1	0.9	7.4	4.2
VIII-IX	0.6	0.5	2.6	1.7	1.2	0.9	4.1	2.7
VI) CONFORMITY								
Rate of change <sup>*</sup> during reference								
Expansions.	0.18	0.16	0.87	0.796	0.57	0.60	2.37	1.38
Contractions	0.44	0.45	1.35	1.22 <sup>b</sup>	0.58	0.61	2.08	2.09

The entries in group (I) are expressed in months, except on the last line. The entries in groups (II) and (IV) are expressed in specific-cycle relatives, and in groups (V)-(VD in reference-cycle relatives. The entries in group (III) correspond to the plan of computation in col. 5, 6, 9 and 10 of our standard Table S3 (see Table 33). The periods and numbers of cycles covered are given in Table 112 for the specific-cycle measures, in Chart 49 for the referencecycle measures.

\*That is, during the stages matched with reference expansion and contraction, shown in Table 132. <sup>b</sup>Based on the assumption that stages I-V are characteristic of expansion. See Table 132, note 'b'.

# **IX** Variability of Cyclical Measures

Table 134 shows in detail how smoothing by Macaulay's formula affects the average deviations about the averages given in the preceding tables, and Table 135 summarizes these effects. Smoothing as a rule reduces the average deviations. The reduction is, typically, some ten or twenty per cent, except in the measures of stage-to-stage changes, where the reduction is usually greater because these measures are especially susceptible to erratic disturbances.

The large average deviations that remain in the smoothed figures are among the more significant results established by this series of tests. One reason for the large average deviations is that while smoothing eliminates erratic movements that change direction every few months, it does not eliminate random movements that spread over years. Strictly speaking, smoothing merely redistributes the original values. In this redistribution the degree to which a movement in the raw data is changed depends upon the extent of its departure from the general level, its duration, and the formula used. As said above, high peaks or low troughs with a time base of two or three months may disappear in Macaulay's graduation or become converted into rather gentle undulations; movements of equal amplitude lasting two or three years are changed much less. Now there are random factors that continue in force for periods reckoned in years; for example, a great war. There are also random events that sometimes

## TABLE 135

Measure		Number	Nur in v	nber of inst vhich smoo	Average ratio of	
		of obser- vations	Reduces average deviation	Increases average deviation	Leaves average deviation unchanged	of smoothed data to average deviation of raw <sup>4</sup>
I	Duration of specific cycles	16	14	2		.91
II	Amplitude of specific cycles	24	16	2	6	.82
ш	Secular movements	16	11	2	3	.94
IV	Specific-cycle pattern					
	Standing	36	25	10	1	.91
	Rate of change	32	29	1	2	.50
v	Reference-cycle pattern					
	Standing	36	21	13	2	.94
	Rate of change	32	29	2	1	.72
VI	Conformity	8	4	4		.92
Tota	d	200	149	36	15	.81

Effect of Smoothing on Average Deviations from Average Cyclical Measures

Derived from Table 134.

\*The ratio of the average deviation of smoothed data to the average deviation of raw data was computed separately for each measure in each series. The ratios were then averaged for all measures assigned to a group.

recur in two or more successive years; for example, harvest failures. Smoothing by Macaulay's method will not remove the great bulges in American price and value series in 1862–67 and in 1915–21. It will moderate the effects of two bad harvests upon agricultural prices less than it will moderate the effects of speculative maneuvers associated with monthly crop reports, or even the effects of two bad seasons separated by a good season. Random effects of considerable size thus remain in the smoothed forms of the series we have used in our tests, and contribute toward making the average deviations nearly as large in the results<sup>54</sup> obtained from the smoothed as in those obtained from the raw data.

All that Macaulay claims for smoothing is that it eliminates erratic movements. But some students of this problem have made much bolder claims. Anderson, for example, believes that his method of smoothing, which is based upon analysis of the variances of successive differences, makes possible the separation of the 'casual' from the 'essential' components of a time series.<sup>56</sup> But since Anderson's method proceeds on the assumption that 'casual' forces operate independently on each value of a time series, it does not cope with random perturbations that shape the general features of a time series over many months.<sup>56</sup>

54 Except in the measures of stage-to-stage changes in cyclical patterns.

<sup>55</sup> See Oskar Anderson, Die Korrelationsrechnung in der Konjunkturforschung (Veröffentlichungen der Frankfurter Gesellschaft für Konjunkturforschung, Heft 4, 1929), particularly pp. 72-80.

<sup>56</sup> In *Prices in the Trade Cycle* (J. Springer, Vienna, 1935), Gerhard Tintner describes the Anderson method in nontechnical language and applies it to numerous price series. His own work, as he recognizes, is based upon approximations that do not make the fullest use of the Anderson criteria of graduation. Tintner merely uses an unweighted moving average containing from three to eleven monthly items, the period of the moving average being fixed for any one series. For a further development of Anderson's method, see Tintner's recent book, *The Variate Difference Method* (Principia Press, 1940).

# X Our analysis Macaulay's g assumption i in smoothed raw data, the neither nece Whether an from smooth cycles identi selected with portions of t be no less he

make cyclica

spondence for

data is more

analysis run,

the selection

interest is he

either to rec

simplest way

one set being

modification

contraction

of 1887-88

movements

to which err

fying specifi

duration an

averages in v

production,

money rate

'Raw I', tho

ages mistak

and brief, a

the extra cy

sum of the

increased. I

since their 1

To ratio

But 'real

# UNCERTAINTIES IN IDENTIFYING CYCLES

# X Uncertainties in Identifying Specific Cycles

Our analysis of specific cycles has been restricted by the assumption that Macaulay's graduation leaves the lists of specific cycles unchanged. This assumption is in a sense invalid. As Section II shows, if the specific cycles in smoothed data are marked off independently of the specific cycles in the raw data, the lists of cycles disagree in three of our four series. But it is neither necessary nor wise to follow so artificial a plan in practice. Whether an investigator prefers to make cyclical measures from raw or from smoothed data, he must try to pick 'real' specific cycles. The specific cycles identified in the raw data of the present sample were originally selected with the aid of simple moving averages passed through doubtful portions of the series, as is our usual practice. Study of the raw data can be no less helpful in this regard to other investigators who may prefer to make cyclical measures from smoothed data. Thus viewed, the correspondence forced in Section II between the cycles in raw and smoothed data is more than an analytic convenience; it is a device for making the analysis run, as we best can, in terms of 'real' cycles.

But 'real' cycles can be very elusive. Since some uncertainty surrounds the selection of specific cycles in many series, the question of practical interest is how erratic movements affect cyclical averages, by leading us either to recognize a spurious cycle or to ignore a genuine cycle. The simplest way to illustrate these effects is to compare two sets of averages, one set being based on the cycles we actually recognize, the other on some modification of that list. In line with this plan, we may treat the mild contraction of 1918 in deflated clearings and in call money rates and that of 1887-88 in iron production, which are the least certain of the cyclical movements we recognize in the raw data, as samples of the uncertainties to which erratic movements frequently give rise in the process of identifying specific cycles. Table 136 compares our standard averages of cyclical duration and amplitude both for all cycles and small groups of cycles with averages in which one cycle instead of two is taken during 1885–91 in iron production, during 1914-21 in clearings, and during 1915-22 in call money rates. The standard averages are entered on the lines marked 'Raw I', those omitting a cycle on lines 'Raw II'.

To rationalize the influence of a dubious 'extra' cycle, let us assume, for simplicity, that the 'Raw II' averages are 'true', that the 'Raw I' averages mistakenly include an extra cycle, that the extra movement is mild and brief, and that it comes during a true expansion. It is obvious that the extra cycle must reduce the average duration of expansions; for the sum of the lengths of the expansions is reduced while their number is increased. It must likewise reduce the average duration of full cycles, since their number is larger while the sum of their lengths is unchanged.

#### ical Measures

Average ratio of average deviation of smoothed data to average deviation of raw
.91
.82
.94
.91
.50
.94
.72
.92
.81
was computed sepa-
ned to a group.
vest failures.
eat bulges in

**5**–21. It will ices less than ociated with ns separated emain in the d contribute the results<sup>54</sup> aw data. nates erratic nuch bolder smoothing, differences. ential' comceeds on the h value of a t shape the

offentlichungen op. 72-80. ibes the Anderown work, as he nderson criteria three to eleven For a further erence Method

# TABLE 136

Effect of a 'Dubious' Cycle on Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles Three American Series

Series, period, and form of analysis	No. of specific cycles	Average duration in months			Average in specific-cycle relatives						
					Amplitude of			Per month amplitude of			
		Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Full cycle	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS 1878-1933											
Raw I	15	32.6	11.4	44.0	26.9	13.4	40.2	0.8	1.9	0.9	
Raw II	14	35.2	11.9	47.1	28.4	14.1	42.4	0.8	2.0	0.9	
1910-1933											
Raw I	5	36.8	17.0	53.8	23.7	17.6	41.3	0.7	1.1	0.8	
Raw II	4	47.0	20.2	67.2	28.2	21.1	49.3	0.6	1.0	0.7	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION 1879-1933		r I									
Raw I	15	28.8	14.5	43.3	62.1	54.8	116.8	2.4	4.7	2.9	
Raw II	14	31.2	15.2	46.4	64.8	57.5	122.3	2.4	4.7	2.9	
1879-1896											
Raw I	5	28.6	14.0	42.6	62.3	44.4	106.7	2.6	3.8	2.8	
Raw II	4	37.0	16.2	53.2	72.1	51.3	123.4	2.7	3.7	2.7	
Call Money Rates 1858–1931											
Raw I	23	19.9	18.0	37.9	115.9	116.1	232.0	6.9	7.6	6.3	
Raw II	22	21.0	18.6	39.6	119.3	120.8	240.2	6.9	7.6	6.4	
1904-1931											
Raw I	8	20.4	19.9	40.2	95.6	91.2	186.8	4.7	5.7	4.5	
Raw II	7	23.9	<b>22</b> .1	46.0	103.4	102.5	205.9	4.5	5.5	4.5	

'Raw I' stands for the raw data as treated in preceding tables; 'Raw II' for the raw data treated in the manner explained in the text.

The average duration of contractions, on the other hand, may or may not be modified; but it is likely to be lower, since the addition made by the extra cycle to the sum of contractions is likely to be below the 'true' average of this measure. For a similar reason, the average amplitudes of rise, fall, and combined rise and fall are likely to be lowered.<sup>57</sup> The per month amplitudes are affected differently. Consider, first, the fall per month. This average is as likely to be raised as lowered, since there is no more reason for supposing that the fall per month of the 'extra' cycle is below than for supposing that it is above the 'true' average. It may seem that the average rise per month, on the other hand, is more likely to be raised than lowered, for the average rate of rise during the two expansions carved out of one 'true' expansion is practically sure to exceed the rate of rise during the true expansion. But in order that the average rise per month for all cycles actually increase, the sum of the two rates during the true expansion must exceed the rate during this expansion by more than

57 This and the following remarks concerning amplitudes ignore the complicating influence of specific-cycle bases.

Series, peri and form of a

58 Given the a extra cycle will per month. bu

they come

# UNCERTAINTIES IN IDENTIFYING CYCLES

# TABLE 137 Effect of a 'Dubious' Cycle on Average Specific-cycle Patterns Three American Series

Series, period, and form of analysis	No. of specific cycles	Average in specific-cycle relatives at stage									
		I	11	111	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS 1878-1933											
Raw I	15	85.7	90.5	99.2	106.7	112.6	108.7	106.0	101.9	99.2	
Raw II	14	84.8	90.0	98.7	107.0	113.2	109.2	106.1	101.9	99.1	
1910-1933				Ì	t.						
Raw I	5	88.3	92.1	100.8	107.4	112.0	107.2	104.1	97.6	94.4	
Raw II	4	85.7	90.8	99.6	108.5	113.8	108.7	103.9	96.8	92.7	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION 1879-1933											
Raw I	15	67.3	82.5	103.7	116.5	129.3	122.6	108.2	88.4	74.6	
Raw II	14	65.9	82.3	103.6	117.3	130.8	123.7	108.8	88.3	73.3	
1879-1896											
Raw I	5	63.1	78.7	101.5	112.7	125.5	121.4	112.9	96.6	81.1	
Raw JI	4	57.4	77.1	100.7	114.5	129.5	124.8	116.2	98.4	78.2	
Call Money Rates 1858–1931											
Raw I	23	62.1	80.3	104.7	123.2	178.0	120.4	89.9	71.8	61.9	
Raw II	22	60.9	79.4	105.2	123.5	180.2	120.4	88.6	69.9	59.4	
1904-1931											
Raw I	8	60.9	76.2	107.1	123.3	156.5	123.5	97.4	76.2	65.3	
Raw II	7	57.0	73.1	108.8	124.1	160.4	123.8	94.2	70.8	57.8	

See note to Table 136.

the true average rate. The average joint rise and fall per month is affected in much the same way as the average rise per month.<sup>58</sup>

These expectations could be worked out in greater detail and on altered assumptions, but that is not necessary. The significant results are indicated in Table 136. A single doubtful cycle affects average durations more than average amplitudes, and average total amplitudes much more than average per month amplitudes. When the number of cycles is rather large, the effect on all averages in the table is small. When the number of cycles is only about a half dozen, a single doubtful cycle naturally has larger effects. Even so, really prominent effects are confined to several measures of duration and total amplitude; the per month amplitudes are remarkably stable. Results of this character are fairly typical measures of the influence that doubtful decisions concerning specific cycles exercise on our averages. Of course, when erratic fluctuations are so violent that many cycles are obscured, the effects may be much greater than any in the table. Although such instances are relatively rare, they require cautious handling, and in later monographs we strive to call attention to them as they come up.

58 Given the assumptions in the text, if the per month amplitudes are weighted by durations, the extra cycle will necessarily increase the average rise per month, and the average joint rise and fall per month, but not the average fall per month.

Specific Cycles

Ľ	_							
-cycle	relati	ves						
P	Per month							
amplitude of								
Rise	Fall	Rise & fall						
0.8	1.9	0.9						
0.8	2.0	0.9						
0.7	1.1	0.8						
0.6	1.0	0.7						
2.4	4.7	2.9						
2.4	4.7	2.9						
2.6	3.8	2.8						
2.7	3.7	2.7						
6.9	7.6	6.3						
6.9	7.6	6.4						
4.7	5.7	4.5						
4.5	4.5							
ated i	n the m	nanner						
ŀ								
v or	V or may not							
made by the								
w the 'true'								
mplitudes of								
d.57 The per								
the fall per								
e there is no								
ktra' cycle is								
It may seem								

ing influence of

likely to be

**b** expansions

d the rate of

age rise per

s during the

y more than



# UNCERTAINTIES IN IDENTIFYING CYCLES

# TABLE 138

## Effect of a 'Dubious' Cycle on Average Rate of Change from Stage to Stage of Specific Cycles Three American Series

Series, period, and form of analysis	No. of spe-	Change per month in specific-cycle relatives between stages								
	cinc	1-II	11-111	III-IV	IV-V	V-VI	VI-VII	VII-VIII	v111-1 <b>X</b>	
			-	Ŭ	Inweight	ed avera	zes			
DEPLATED CLEARINGS 1910-1933										
Raw I	5 4	+0.5 +0.6	+0.9 +0.6	+0.6 +0.6	+0.7 +0.7	-1.4 -0.9	-0.6 -1.6	-1.3 -0.6	-1.0 -1.2	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION 1879-1896										
Raw I	5 4	+4.3 +4.9	+3.2 +3.2	+1.1	+2.5 +2.2	-1.8 -1.9	-2.6	-5.6 -4.8	-5.4 -7.2	
Call Money Rates 1904–1931										
Raw I	8 7	+4.1 +4.1	+4.8 +5.1	+3.1 +2.9	+8.1 +6.7	-11.1 -11.2	-5.5 -5.4	-4.5 -3.4	-2.8 -3.3	
		Weighted averages								
DEFLATED CLEARINGS 1910-1933										
Raw I	5 4	+0.6 +0.6	+0.7 +0.6	+0.6 +0.6	+0.7 +0.7	-1.5 -1.4	-0.6 -0.8	-1.2 -1.1	-1.0 -1.1	
PIG IRON PRODUCTION 1879-1896										
Raw I Raw II	5 4	+3.1 +3.0	+2.5 +2.0	+1.2 +1.2	+2.5 +2.3	-1.6 -1.7	-1.9 -1.6	-3.6 -3.4	-6.2 -7.0	
Call Money Rates 1904–1931										
Raw I Raw II	8 7	+4.1 +3.7	+4.8 +4.7	+2.5 +2.0	+8.9 +8.3	-9.1 -9.2	-4.1 -4.2	-3.4 -3.3	-3.0 -3.2	

See note to Table 136.

-1896

T -1931

> Tables 137-138 and Chart 52 supply comparisons of specific-cycle patterns on the plan of Table 136. The 'Raw I' pattern lies inside the 'Raw II' pattern, which merely means that its average duration and amplitude are both smaller. An 'extra' cycle sometimes makes a very considerable difference in the unweighted average rates of change from stage to stage of the specific cycles, but the weighted average rates are tolerably stable even when the number of cycles in the sample is only about half a dozen.

# **XI** Conclusions

The reader who has gotten so far in this book must be sufficiently aware of the difficulties that surround our efforts to provide an authentic description of cyclical behavior. The 'facts' of cyclical experience do not tell their own story. They must be wrung from data by tools of observation. If the tools are coarse and the investigator is blind to their defects, his vision of cyclical fluctuations may be distorted. A serious investigator does not save time in the long run by neglecting to understand his tools or to improve upon them.

tic of expansi

ures in which

duration and

factors in the

cancel out. In

some measur

tinguishable

other measur

cisely the case

least successful

do not obscu

affected by er

our judgmen

cycles as well

averages in T

especially pro

serious matte

cycles that sta

some series ar

not exaggera

inal data in

adjustments,

marked varia

uncertainties

rule it is pro

out clearly in

crepancies be

tween avera

methods, wh

the period c

behavior is b

The remain

The tend

When ave

In this chapter we have examined the influence of erratic movements on our measures of cyclical behavior, and investigated the possibility of refining the measures through preliminary smoothing of the raw data by Macaulay's formula or some similar device. We have found that smoothing does indeed refine cyclical measures, in the sense of freeing them from the influence of erratic, saw-tooth movements of brief duration. But smoothing does not eliminate random movements that extend over years, and it frequently misrepresents cyclical fluctuations.

We do not claim that smoothing by so sensitive a graduation formula as Macaulay's would be valueless in our studies. On the contrary, we believe that it could be a material aid in identifying and, to a lesser extent, in dating specific cycles. Nor do we claim that cyclical measures made from smoothed data are necessarily less trustworthy than those yielded by our rough method. Theoretically, the results may be better. But if that end is to be attained, the investigator will usually need to vary the smoothing formula not only from series to series, but also from part to part of a given series. Furthermore, he will have to devise methods that avoid spurious rounding of cyclical tops and bottoms. Experimentation along these lines is highly desirable. But if we attempted it on any scale, we would be forced to confine our statistical analysis to a small fraction of the time series we can cover by our present methods. Experience has convinced us that knowledge of cyclical fluctuations based upon a small sample of time series is untrustworthy, and that as the range of activities analyzed becomes broader, the need for highly refined measurements is much reduced.59

Although our measures for individual cycles are marred by erratic fluctuations, it is important to observe that our technique involves a certain element of smoothing. In most measures made from monthly data, we use, not the entries for single months, but averages covering three or more months. For example, in making Tables S4 and R1, we determine the standing of the series at the initial trough, peak, and terminal trough of each cycle by averaging the cycle relatives for the three months centered on each of these dates. Also the standings during successive thirds of expansion and of contraction are averages for whatever months are included in these stages. Averaging of a similar sort is used in Table S2 which gives the amplitudes of specific cycles, in Table S3 which measures secular movements, in Tables S5 and R2 which show rates of change from stage to stage of specific and reference cycles, in Table R3 which shows rates of change during reference expansions and contractions, and in Table R4 which shows rates of change during the reference-cycle stages characteris-

59 Cf. Ch. 3, Sec. III, and Ch. 12, Sec. V.

# CONCLUSIONS

investigator and his tools

movements possibility of raw data by that smoothg them from iration. But d over years,

ion formula rary, we beer extent, in made from lded by our if that end is e smoothing rt of a given bid spurious g these lines ld be forced ne series we ced us that ple of time nalyzed beis much re-

l by erratic volves a cerpathly data, ing three or determine inal trough his centered hirds of exre included which gives res secular om stage to ws rates of Table R4 characteristic of expansions and contractions in each series. Indeed the only measures in which such averaging is not used are the measures of cyclical duration and of leads and lags in Table S1.

When averages are struck for all cycles covered by a series, the erratic factors in the measures for single cycles have an additional opportunity to cancel out. In the course of the tests in this chapter we have found that in some measures the averages made from raw data are practically indistinguishable from the averages made from Macaulay's graduations. In other measures the differences are very large; but these seem to be precisely the cases where Macaulay's formula represents cyclical movements least successfully. We believe, therefore, that so far as erratic movements do not obscure specific cycles, our averages, as a rule, are not gravely affected by erratic movements in the data from which they are made. In our judgment this statement holds for averages based on only half a dozen cycles as well as for averages based on many cycles, except perhaps the averages in Tables S5 and R2, so long as the erratic movements are not especially pronounced.

The tendency of erratic movements to obscure specific cycles is a more serious matter than their influence on the timing and outlines of the cycles that stand out clearly in the data. This factor is very troublesome in some series and its importance should not be minimized. But we also must not exaggerate this difficulty relatively to others-the defects of the original data in most economic time series, the roughness of many seasonal adjustments, the relatively short time span covered by most series, the marked variability of cyclical behavior. The effect upon our averages of uncertainties in identifying specific cycles is certainly no greater-as a rule it is probably smaller-than the effect of 'extreme' cycles that stand out clearly in the records, as the reader may judge by comparing the discrepancies between the averages in Table 136 with the discrepancies between averages based upon different periods or made by different methods, which appear in Tables 180, 186, 187 and 190. The influence of the period covered by a time series on average measures of its cyclical behavior is by far the most important question raised by our technique. The remaining four chapters are devoted to this intricate problem.
## CHAPTER 9

# Role of Averages in the Analysis

HE SUCCESSIVE volumes in the Bureau's Studies in Business Cycles stress average cyclical behavior. In passing from one economic process to another, we note briefly the scope and representative character of the original data, describe any departures from the usual mode of analysis, and call attention to doubtful features of the results. Although the behavior of a series during individual cycles is frequently described, the chief purpose is to point out what features of cyclical behavior are broadly characteristic of the economic activities we treat, to compare and contrast the behavior of the series representing different activities, and to suggest problems that will be encountered in constructing a theory of business cycles. The reader who does not go back to the cycle-by-cycle measures must judge the results mainly from averages, average deviations, and the number of cycles covered. To develop the meaning of the averages and average deviations is the principal task of this and the succeeding chapters.

# I Variability of Cyclical Behavior

Like all scientific inquiries, our study of business cycles presupposes the 'uniformity of nature'. Of course, to allow generalization this uniformity need not be perfect. Physiologists are not debarred from making general statements by the differences among human bodies; for certain purposes they can even disregard differences between men and guinea pigs. Statistical methods such as we use are peculiarly adapted to treating phenomena that have a considerable range of variation. Yet we must face the difficulty that results are apt to become less trustworthy as the range of variation becomes larger and the number of observations fewer. This difficulty is especially acute in handling temporal sequences subject to cumulative changes. Relatively few of our time series cover as many as fifteen cycles, most series show great variation from cycle to cycle, and some appear to have experienced secular or cyclical changes in businesscycle behavior.

Table 139 shows how variable the durations of business cycles have been according to our reference dates. At the close of World War I we

Country	Refer-		No. of		Duration	in month	3	Coeffi-
and measure*	ence dates used <sup>b</sup>	Period covered	obser- vations	Average	Average devia- tion	Standard devia- tion	Range	of varia- tion <sup>o</sup>
UNITED STATES Expansion Contraction Full cycle	M M	1854–1929 1857–1933	20 20	25 22	8 10	9 14	9- 46 8- 65	38 61
T-T	M	1854–1933	20	47	13	18	29- 99	38
P-P	M	1857–1929	19	45	13	17	17-101	38
T-T	A	1834–1888	12	54	21	23	24– 96	43
P-P	A	1836–1890	12	54	17	22	24–108	40
T-T	A	1888–1932	13	41	9	11	24- 60	27
P-P	A	1890–1929	12	39	8	10	24- 60	25
T-T	A	1834–1932	25	47	15	19	24– 96	41
P-P	A	1836–1929	24	46	14	18	24–108	40
GREAT BRITAIN Expansion Contraction Full cycle	M M	1854–1929 1857–1932	15 15	36 27	14 14	17 19	8- 64 6- 81	47 72
T-T	M	1854–1932	15	62	22	28	26-135	46
P-P	M	1857–1929	14	62	26	32	17-123	51
T-T	A	1793–1858	14	56	15	17	36- 84	31
P-P	A	1792–1857	14	56	17	21	36-108	38
T-T	A	1858–1932	14	63	23	28	24–132	45
P-P	A	1857–1929	14	62	26	30	24–120	49
T-T	A	1793–1932	28	60	18	24	24–132	40
P-P	A	1792–1929	28	59	22	26	24–120	44
FRANCE Expansion Contraction Full cycle	M M	1865–1930 1867–1932	15 15	31 23	12 13	15 16	8- 62 8- 68	48 72
T-T	M	1865–1932	15	53	19	23	24 95	43
P-P	M	1867–1930	14	53	20	26	24110	49
Т-Т	A	1840–1932	19	58	21	25	24–108	43
Р-Р	A	1847–1930	18	55	19	24	24–120	44
GERMANY Expansion Contraction	M M	1879–1929 1882–1932	10 10	37 27	10 15	13 17	16- 61 12- 61	37 63
T-T	M	1879–1932	10	64	20	23	28–102	36
P-P	M	1882–1929	9	63	22	27	34–122	43
T-T	A	1866–1932	12	66	22	25	24 96	37
P-P	A	1869–1929	11	65	27	31	36120	47

TABLE 139
Average Duration of Business Cycles and Their Variability
Four Countries

•T-T means that the durations are measured from trough to trough; P-P means that they are measured from peak to peak.

<sup>b</sup>M stands for monthly reference dates, A for calendar-year reference dates. See Table 16.

<sup>o</sup> Standard deviation expressed as a percentage of the mean, each carried to one more place than shown in the table. In computing the standard deviation, we divided the sum of squared deviations from the mean by the number of observations, not the number of 'degrees of freedom'.

find one business cycle in the United States lasting 17 months when measured from peak to peak, and a roughly contemporaneous cycle of the same duration in Great Britain. At the other extreme is a British cycle in 1868-79 which lasted 135 months from trough to trough. Here is an eightfold difference in duration. Among our annual measures the extremes are 2 and 11 years.<sup>1</sup> Even the average duration of business cycles varies appreciably from country to country, and from period to period in the same country. The average ranges from 45 months in the United States to 64 months in Germany according to the monthly reference dates, from 46 to 66 months according to the annual reference dates. If we group the measures made from annual reference troughs into two equal parts, we find in the United States a decline from an average of 54 months in 1834-88 to an average of 41 months in 1888-1932, and in Great Britain an increase from 56 months in 1793-1858 to 63 months in 1858-1932. The coefficients of variation of full-cycle durations range in Table 139 from 25 to 51 per cent. In each country they are about the same for expansions as for full cycles, but they are much higher for contractions than for expansions.

In view of the irregular duration of business cycles, we should expect great variability in the cyclical behavior of most time series. The seven series in Chart 53 illustrate the variability characteristic of single branches of activity in the United States.<sup>2</sup> They cover a considerable stretch of time, from fifty-odd to nearly eighty years. Two represent the production of durable goods, two the money market, two the stock market, and one the volume of payments. More specifically, the series show the number of tons of pig iron produced by months since 1877 and the number of freight cars ordered by railroads of the United States each quarter since 1870; yields of high-grade railroad bonds and call money rates on the New York Stock Exchange by months since 1857; railroad stock prices by months since 1857 and the number of shares traded in round lots on the New York Stock Exchange by months since 1875; bank clearings outside New York City by months from 1875 through 1918, continued by bank debits after 1918, and 'deflated' throughout by Snyder's index of the 'general price level'.

Tables 140-143 and Chart 54 show cyclical measures for these series, from the time they start until about 1933.<sup>3</sup> Only two series, pig iron pro-

#### 1 Sec p. 113.

<sup>2</sup> The series on freight car orders comes from John E. Partington, Railroad Purchasing and the Business Cycle (Brookings Institution. 1929), pp. 219-26 for 1870-1926; overlapped since 1924 by figures from the Iron Trade Review. Partington's series represents orders by domestic railroads; the Iron Trade Review data include also orders by foreign railroads and by noncarriers. In Chart 53 Partington's series is plotted through 1924, the Iron Trade Review data thereafter. The data are not adjusted for seasonal variations after 1930.

For the sources of the other series in Chart 53, see p. 210, note 7.

<sup>8</sup> The analysis is confined to periods starting and ending with a trough.











4

•



-----

.



•

٦

•



<u>.</u>...

1

_
140
ы
BL
N.
H

Contraction of the second

1.4

ACCULT STREET STREET

,

•

:

ł

Averages and Ranges of Selected Cyclical Measures of Seven American Series

	5	,	•				
Mcasure	Deflated clearings	Pig iron production	Freight car orders	Railroad stock prices	Shares traded	Call money rates	Railroad bond yiclds
PERIOD COVERED Specific cycles	Mar. 78 - Mar. 33 Mar. 79 - Mar. 33	Jan. 79 - Mar. 33 Mar. 79 - Mar. 33	4Q 70 - 1Q 33 4Q 70 - 1Q 33	Oct. 57 – June 32 Dec. 58 – Mar. 33 <sup>h</sup>	Feb. 78 – Mar. 33 Mar. 79 – Mar. 33	Oct. 58 – May 31 Dec. 58 – Mar. 33 <sup>b</sup>	Aug. 60 - May 31 Dec. 58 - Mar. 33 <sup>b</sup>
NUMBER OF CYCLES Specific	15 15	15 15	19 16	18 19	15	83	20 19
DURATION OF SPECIFIC CYCLES <sup>®</sup> Expansion Contraction Full cycle	33(13, 74) 11 (2, 40) 44(28,114)	29(10,49) 15 (5,44) 43(26,72)	18 (3,42) 21 (6,42) 39(18,84)	29 (5, 84) 21 (5, 62) 50(17,146)	18 (4,41) 26 (6,47) 44(24,86)	20 (4,39) 18 (4,35) 38(19,53)	21 (8,58) 21 (2,50) 42(17,68)
AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CYCLES <sup>D</sup> Rice Fall Rise & fall	27 (6,60) 13 (3,55) 40(18,91)	62 (36,108) 55 (19,149) 117 (55,199)	213(106, 585) 212 (67, 591) 425(209,1176)	36 (6, 90) 32 (5,142) 67(23,232)	98(45,182) 92(38,176) 190(89,359)	116(33,316) 116(27,337) 232(83,653)	11 (2,36) 13 (2,33) 23 (6,44)
Rise per month <sup>6</sup> Fall per month <sup>6</sup> Rise & fall per month <sup>6</sup>	0.8(0.4, 1.5) 1.9(0.5,12.5) 0.9(0.5, 1.5)	2.4(1.3, 4.9) 4.7(1.1,10.4) 2.9(1.2, 5.1)	22.6(3.6,195.0) 11.7(5.0, 39.4) 13.2(4.1, 65.3)	1.4(0.3,3.6) 1.7(0.7,4.3) 1.4(0.6,2.5)	7.6(2.4,20.3) 4.1(1.3, 9.6) 4.6(1.9, 8.0)	6.9(2.0,24.5) 7.6(1.3,21.1) 6.3(1.7,14.2)	0.6(0.2,1.8) 0.9(0.2,4.1) 0.6(0.2,1.5)
ECULAR MOVEMENTS % change from cycle to cycle Total <sup>4</sup> Per month <sup>6</sup>	+15(-6,+26) +0.37(-0.18,+0.66)	+14(-30,+39) +0.35(-0.58,+0.96)	+9(-59,+136) +0.23(-3.03,+4.80)	+10(-21,+49) +0.21(-0.55,+1.35)	+14(-51,+77) +0.34(-1.20,+2.30)	0(-83,+55) 0.00(-2.52,+1.39)	-2(-20,+21) -0.04(-0.85,+0.93)
conrormty Expansion stages <sup>f</sup>	<b>V-111V</b>	<b>V-I</b>	ΛΙ-ΙΙΙΛ	ΛΙ-ΙΙΙΛ	VI-IIIV	I-V	17-111
Expansions	+0.8(+0.4,+1.1) -0.5(-1.5,+0.7)	+2.3(+1.4,+5.0) -2.3(-4.4,-0.3)	+3.8(+0.4,+9.3) -3.9(-8.0,+1.4)	+0.8(-0.6,+1.9) -0.6(-2.9,+1.6)	+2.0(-0.6,+4.8) -1.7(-3.9,+2.2)	+3.6(-0.6,+11.9) -3.6(-8.7,-0.2)	+0.2(-0.3,+1.1) -0.2(-0.8,+0.2)
Index of contornuty to reserve Expansions Contractions Cycles	+100 +73 +86	+100 +100	+100 +62 +100	+79 +60 +74	+87 +73 +93	+68 +100 +100	+47 +30 +68
The ranges are shown in parentheses; the	c lowest figure is to th	e left of the comma, t	he highest ° Weigh	ted average. Corresp	onds to col. 10 of our	Table S3; see sample	in Table 33.

f Matched in every series with reference expansion. figure to the right. Averages are outside the parentheses. For several measures in this table, cycle-by-cycle figures are given in Appendix Table B1.

In months.

.

b In specific-cycle relatives.
Unweighted average.
Corresponds to col. 9 of our Table S3; see sample in Table 33.

<sup>6</sup> That is, average change per month in reference-cycle relatives during stages matched with reference expansion and contraction.

<sup>b</sup> The index of conformity to reference contractions and full cycles covers an extra phase at the beginning; that is, the period covered is June 1857–March 1933.

# VARIABILITY OF BEHAVIOR

	Num cy	ber of cles	Lea	id (-) or in mont	lag (+) hs	Nu	umber tu	of spec	cific-cycle at
Series	Spe- cific	Refer- ence	Average	Average deviation	Range	Lead	Lag	Coin- cide	Lead or lag 3 mos. or less
					Timing at re	ference	peaks	3	
Deflated clearings	15	15	+3.2	3.2	-2 to +15	1	10	3	10
Pig iron production	15	15	+1.9	4.2	-11 to +11	4	8	3	9
Freight car orders	19	16	-5.8	6.8	-23 to +11	12	4	0	3
Railroad stock prices.	18	19	-5.6	5.8	-22 to +10	13	3	1	6
Shares traded	15	15	-10.4	5.2	-23 to +4	14	1	0	1
Call money rates	23	19	-0.1	3.8	-13 to +10	8	8	3	11
Railroad bond yields.	20	19	+7.8	3.8	+1 to +18	0	16	0	3
				Г	iming at ref	erence	trough	15	
Deflated clearings	15	15	-5.8	3.8	-15 to 0	14	0	1	6
Pig iron production.	15	15	-3.4	3.2	-13 to +1	12	1	3	10
Freight car orders	19	16	-3.0	5.8	-17 to +10	12	5	0	5
Railroad stock prices.	18	19	-7.4	8.0	-32 to +12	14	· 4	0	5
Shares traded	15	15	-4.6	5.2	-19 to +7	12	2	2	8
Call money rates	23	19	+1.5	5.6	-14 to +16	9	10	0	8
Railroad bond yields.	20	19	+11.8	7.6	-6 to +27	2	13	1	1

#### TABLE 141 Average Timing of Specific-cycle Turns and Their Variability Seven American Series

See Table 140 for the periods covered, and Appendix Table B3 for the timing of the individual specific-cycle turns at corresponding reference turns.

duction and share trading, have specific cycles that bear a one-to-one correspondence to business cycles.4 None of the seven series leads or lags consistently at reference troughs. Railroad bond yields lag at every reference peak to which a specific-cycle peak corresponds, but we lack observations on the timing of this series at several peaks. The timing of the specific-cycle turns at reference troughs ranges from -13 to +1 months in iron production and from -32 to +12 months in railroad stock prices; the range at peaks runs from +1 to +18 months in railroad bond yields, from -2 to +15 in deflated clearings, from -23 to +11 in freight car orders. Iron production, deflated clearings, and freight car orders rose in every cycle during the stages matched with reference expansion; the other series show at least one decline during these stages. Iron production and call money rates declined invariably during the stages matched with reference contraction; every other series exhibits two or more lapses from conformity. In the peak stage of one reference cycle there were no freight car orders, in another they ran 133 per cent above the average for the cycle. At one reference-cycle peak call money rates were 35 per cent below the cycle average, at another 425 per cent above. One expansion in stock prices lasted 84 months, another only 5 months. The shortest contraction in bond yields is 2 months, the longest 50 months. The range of the full

4 Even iron production is an exception if the record is pushed back of 1879, as is evident from the 'extra' contraction from March 1878 to Jan. 1879.

#### CHART 54 Average Cyclical Patterns of Seven American Series





ł

80 7

ρ



p

Horizontal scale, in months 5 24 30 40 40 km series whose specific-cycle turns bear one-to-one correspondence to reference turns,  $\rightarrow$  indicates the d at reference peaks, or trought; and  $\rightarrow$  indicates lag at reference peaks. For sources of data, see test, note 2; for explanation of chart, Ch. 5, Sec. VIII; for average patterns, Tables 142 and 143.

# TABLE 142

Average Specific-cycle Patterns and Their Variability Seven American Series

	]	St	anding	in spec	ific-cycle	relativ	es at sta	age	
S	I	II	111	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
and measure	Initial	E	xpansio	n	Peak	С	ontractio	on –	Terminal
	trough (3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	(3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	trough (3 mos.)
DEFLATED CLEARINGS (15)	1								
Average	85.7	90.5	99.2	106.7	112.6	108.7	106.0	101.9	99.2
Lowest value	72.2	78.2	95.5	101.3	104.3	96.8	90.0	74.8	68.4
Highest value	98.0	97.0	103.8	116.2	131.7	126.9	130.2	124.6	121.5
Range	25.8 5.5	4.2	8.3 2.0	14.9 2.8	27.4 5.9	30.1 5.2	40.2	49.8 8.8	53.1 10.6
PIG IRON PRODUCTION (15)					}				
Average	67.3	82.5	103.7	116.5	129.3	122.6	108.2	88.4	74.6
Lowest value	38.9	54.6	84.9	103.8	110.0	106.0	71.1	31.0	24.4
Highest value	123.3	74.6	147.6	154./	173.3	137.9	125.1	109.1	106.3
Range	84.4	12.1	02.7	50.9	63.3	7.0	11 0	14.6	170
Average deviation	14.0	12.1	9.5	1.5	11.2	7.9	11.9	14.0	17.0
FREIGHT CAR ORDERS (19)	20.5	66 3	104 5	136.8	242 5	112.6	100.2	72.2	30.0
Lowest value	0.0	19.3	37.4	11.7	141.0	0.0	3.0	0.0	0.0
Highest value	91.3	152.3	298.6	444.8	591.0	180.2	185.6	166.0	86.9
Range	91.3	133.0	261.2	433.1	450.0	180.2	182.6	166.0	86.9
Average deviation	21.5	27.7	37.0	55.3	75.3	28.9	33.4	35.8	20.3
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES (18)									l
Average	82.8	88.0	98.8	110.8	118.3	112.4	103.2	94.0	86.6
Lowest value	56.1	60.6	82.8	101.3	104.8	101.0	91.9	41.8	16.0
Highest value	101.9	104.5	106.3	132.2	157.8	140.4	129.4	120.9	115.9
Range	45.8	43.9	23.5	30.9	53.0	39.4	37.5	79.1	99.9
Average deviation	11.6	9.6	5.3	5.4	9.5	8.4	7.3	9.4	12.3
SHARES TRADED (15)		70.7	104 5		152.4	110 7	100 4	01 6	(1.0
Average	55.4	/9./	106.5	119.0	155.4	119.7	100.4	81.0	01.0
Lowest value	23.3	31.4 112 7	145.6	101 0	2177	142.3	117.2	1120	05.6
Pange	58.2	61 3	74.8	02.8	07 3	42.5	36.3	54.1	65.4
Average deviation	17.7	14.2	12.6	20.8	20.8	10.9	8.3	11.6	14.0
CALL MONEY RATES (23)									
Average	62.1	80.3	104.7	123.2	178.0	120.4	89.9	71.8	61.9
Lowest value.	31.6	43.2	68.5	73.0	116.2	87.4	39.2	33.5	30.1
Highest value	105.5	132.3	154.5	162.1	369.6	163.3	146.3	132.9	132.8
Range	73.9	89.1	86.0	89.1	253.4	75.9	107.1	99.4	102.7
Average deviation	13.7	12.3	16.3	16.8	41.8	18.1	20.7	18.9	19.5
RAILROAD BOND YTELDS (20)									
Average	96.1	98.4	101.5	104.0	106.9	103.7	100.6	96.9	94.3
Lowest value	75.3	83.8	96.1	100.3	101.4	99.2	95.2	84.5	76.9
Highest value	106.1	107.3	106.7	108.4	111.7	109.6	106.7	105.0	104./
Kange	30.8	23.5	10.6	0.1	10.3	10.4	24	20.5	52
Average deviation	4.0	3.0	- 2.1	1.7	2.4	L 7.1	2.0	4.0	5.2

The number of cycles covered is shown in parentheses after the title of the series. See Table 140 for the periods covered, and Appendix Table B1 for the cycle-by-cycle patterns.

11

#### VARIABILITY OF BEHAVIOR

#### TABLE 143

#### Average Reference-cycle Patterns and Their Variability Seven American Series

		Si	tanding	i <b>n r</b> cfer	ence-cycl	e relati	ves at sta	age	
~ .	I	п	ш	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
Series and measure	Initial	E	xpansio	n	Peak	С	ontractio	on	Terminal
	trough (3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	(3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	trough (3 mos.)
DEFLATED CLEARINGS (15)									
Average	88.1	94.0	98.4	105.2	107.5	106.7	102.3	99.5	100.6
Lowest value	71.1	82.5	90.8	100.8	99.5	100.5	87.0	75.5	67.5
Highest value	107.6	112.4	109.6	118.4	115.5	113.7	110.6	110.6	112.2
Range	36.5	29.9	18.8	17.6	16.0	13.2	23.6	35.1	44.7
Average deviation	6.6	5.7	3.7	3.2	4.0	4.5	4.8	6.6	7.6
PIG IRON PRODUCTION (15)									
Average	73.3	90.0	103.5	112.5	122.2	117.6	100.4	84.8	81.1
Lowest value	41.1	61.5	85.1	96.6	106.1	101.5	66.3	32.1	24.5
Paras	124.6	132.2	148.4	153.1	62.2	139.8	57.0	108.7	100.1 91.4
Range	83.5	11.4	10.0	50.5	10.7	38.3	12.0	10.0	10.0
Average deviation	15.5	11.4	10.9	9.4	10.7	1.3	13.9	10.2	19.0
FREIGHT CAR ORDERS (16)	74.0	02.1	112.0	126.0	122.2	02.0	(20		80.2
	/6.0	02.1	17.4	130.8	122.3	93.0	02.0	04.1	69.2
	0.0	142.0	164.2	200.2		220 5	2.4	3.9	250.5
	292.4	142.9	104.2	200.3	232.0	229.5	117.0	1/3.0	350.5
Average deviation	53.0	29.0	29.1	140.5	54.6	40.2	24.1	33.8	61.6
BALL BOAD STOCK BRICES (14)	0510			5515					
Average	91.0	96.9	104.0	109.4	106.9	104 3	977	925	947
Lowest value	52.8	60.1	87.0	89.5	88.6	91.5	80.9	27.8	27.3
Highest value	129.4	131.4	133.4	143.8	153.0	144.2	118.3	125.4	126.1
Range	76.6	71.3	46.4	54.3	64.4	52.7	37.4	97.6	98.8
Average deviation	13.8	10.7	7.7	7.0	7.0	7.4	7.9	11.5	12.2
SHARES TRADED (15)			}						
Average	83.8	111.2	110.9	114.0	110.6	96.8	90.5	79.5	97.5
Lowest value	24.0	78.0	84.3	89.5	61.9	67.0	63.7	54.9	44.0
Highest value	137.9	180.1	139.6	141.9	161.0	133.3	115.6	133.0	194.6
Range	113.9	102.1	55.3	52.4	99.1	66.3	51.9	78.1	150.6
Average deviation	24.7	26.5	11.9	13.2	20.0	11.4	14.2	14.6	37.7
CALL MONEY RATES (19)									
Average	77.5	82.4	98.4	128.2	159.5	128.5	103.9	81.1	76.2
Lowest value	29.8	40.0	66.1	61.4	65.0	64.8	43.8	36.6	32.6
Highest value	130.7	135.6	167.3	268.5	524.9	195.2	212.3	151.0	157.2
Range	100.9	95.6	101.2	207.1	459.9	130.4	168.5	114.4	124.6
Average deviation	22.3	22.8	18.2	26.9	56.9	27.6	28.3	22.4	26.0
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS (19)									
Average	102.0	100.5	98.3	98.9	101.0	102.0	101.5	101.1	100.2
Lowest value	92.4	92.4	84.4	87.6	96.0	97.8	92.0	89.8	85.3
Highest value	113.4	111.7	109.0	108.6	112.4	110.5	111.2	111.0	111.9
Range	21.0	19.3	24.6	21.0	16.4	12.7	19.2	21.2	26.6
Average deviation	5.1	4.0	3.3	2.6	3.1	2.5	3.2	3.8	4.7

The number of cycles covered is shown in parentheses after the title of the series. See Table 140 for the periods covered, and Appendix Table B3 for the cycle-by-cycle patterns.

.

amplitudes of the 125 specific cycles in the seven series runs from 6 to 1,176 points. In pig iron production the most violent cycle has three to four times the amplitude of the mildest cycle. In railroad stock prices the most violent cycle has ten times the amplitude of the mildest. In one specific cycle the standing of freight car orders at the peak was about 40 per cent above the cycle average, in another almost 500 per cent above.<sup>5</sup> Even the percentage change from the level of one specific cycle to the next is unsteady within each series. In deflated clearings the percentage change from cycle to cycle varies from -6 to +26, in call money rates from -83 to +55, in freight car orders from -59 to +136.<sup>6</sup>

# II Function of Averages and Average Deviations

To extract order from such highly variable observations on the specific and reference cycles of economic activities, we use devices that vary from one group of series to another according to the problems we encounter. But one device is common to our analysis as a whole and distinguishes it from the techniques usually employed by business-cycle statisticians: for virtually every series we strike averages that include all or most of its specific and reference cycles. In this way we attempt to expose the typical characteristics of the cyclical behavior of different activities and of business as a whole, and to establish a base from which the wide variations in cyclical behavior observable in actual life may be readily explored.

The averages of our sample series suggest that stock prices, share trading and freight car orders tend to lead in business-cycle revivals and recessions, that bond yields tend to lag, that call money rates tend to move coincidently, while deflated clearings and iron production tend to lead in revivals and lag in recessions. The amplitudes of the specific cycles of pig iron production are enormous in comparison with bond yields, but seem moderate in comparison with freight car orders. Expansions average three times as long as contractions in deflated clearings but only twothirds as long in share trading. Contraction is a briefer and more violent phase than expansion in most series; in freight car orders and share trading expansion is briefer and more violent. The specific cycles of call money rates and freight car orders have sharply pointed, narrow tops; the cyclical top of stock prices seems rounded by comparison. Railroad stock prices conform better to business cycles than railroad bond yields, call

<sup>5</sup> The average deviations of the specific-cycle patterns tend to be at a maximum in stages I, V and IX, and at a minimum at or near stages III and VII. In large part this is a technical result of the use of the average standing during a cycle as the base for the relatives. A contributory factor is the brevity of stages I, V and IX. in comparison with the other stages. The latter factor leaves its impress also on the average deviations of the reference-cycle patterns, and it is reinforced by the first factor if the timing of a series matches fairly closely the reference dates.

6 These percentage changes are computed on the base of the average value of the two cycles being compared. If the preceding cycle is used as the base, the range is still wider; in freight car orders it becomes -46 to +426.

money rates conform better than share trading, and iron production conforms better than freight car orders. Observations of this character for numerous series and several countries enable us to judge what cyclical behavior is characteristic of different activities, and lay the groundwork for a simple and systematic description of business cycles.

When averages are struck for groups of cycles, features peculiar to single cycles tend to fade away, while features common to most cycles tend to stand out clearly. The larger the number of cycles the greater the confidence we usually feel in the representative value of an average. At times, however, the representative quality of an average is improved by reducing the number of cycles. When we find secular changes in cyclical behavior, our usual practice is to break the series into segments that are roughly homogeneous and to compute separate averages for the cycles in each segment. More often we exclude from the averages such cycles as we believe are dominated by random influences. Most exclusions are cycles in price and value series affected by violent changes in monetary conditions. Occasionally, cycles in physical quantity series are excluded; for example, the cycles in vessel construction during World War I, and several cycles in anthracite coal mining distorted by strikes. Sometimes we exclude a cycle in averaging certain measures but include it in averaging others. Thus in price series the final stage of the reference cycle ending in 1914 is often seriously distorted by the outbreak of war; hence this stage is excluded in computing the average reference-cycle pattern but other stages of the cycle are included. All exclusions from our averages, and the reasons for them, will be noted in the succeeding monographs. The averages are as a rule unweighted arithmetic means, though we supplement them by weighted means in some of our measures, and occasionally use medians or other averages.<sup>7</sup>

To keep the varying character of the arrays from which the averages are drawn clearly in mind, we compute also a simple measure of dispersion—the average deviation from the arithmetic mean. Sometimes we find it desirable to use standard deviations, variances, or coefficients of variation; but for most of our work the average deviations seem sufficient. The average deviations are more than safeguards. They have a positive value, for they bring out what we consider one of the most important aspects of cyclical behavior. Some economic processes are fairly uniform in their movements from cycle to cycle, and so have relatively small average deviations; most factors show wide diversity of movement, and so have large average deviations. To know what processes can be counted upon with some assurance to behave in a standard fashion, and what processes vary in an unpredictable fashion from one cycle to the next, is important both theoretically and practically.

<sup>7</sup> To reduce the influence of extreme 'per month' figures, which usually occur during brief phases, we present weighted as well as unweighted averages in our standard Tables S2, S5 and R2. See pp. 134, 330, 342.

# **III** Problems Raised by Averages

But are we justified in assuming that averages of cyclical movements are proper starting points for theoretical inquiries? An average covering a dozen cycles in a series takes no account of the historical sequence in which they occurred. Given a set of measures for individual cycles, the average will be the same whether the cycles show a progressive rise or a progressive decline in amplitude, whether the amplitudes vary haphazardly or depend upon the position of the cycles within 'long waves'. If secular, discontinuous, or cyclical changes of formidable scope occur in specific or business cycles, the repetition that justifies the use of averages becomes a repetition in name only. Under such conditions averages that cover decades hide significant traits of cyclical behavior; their historical value may be slight and their value as bases of future expectations slighter still.

The conclusions reached by some earlier investigators warn us not to dismiss this possibility lightly. Certain economists have held that 'commercial crises' tend to become progressively more severe; others have held the diametrically opposite view. Best known among suggestions of this character is Karl Marx's thesis that the commercial crises characteristic of capitalism tend to become increasingly severe. A generation or two later, Thorstein Veblen argued that the alternation of lively expansions and contractions is giving place to a chronic state of mild depression, from which business revives only when stimulated by favorable random factors.8 Many American observers in the 1920's were persuaded that business cycles were being 'ironed out'. At the same time many of their foreign contemporaries believed that a structural change had taken place in world economy, and that business cycles shifted as a consequence from the characteristic pattern of pre-War times to a pattern marked by persistent underemployment and intensified fluctuations. Similar remarks have been echoed and re-echoed the world over since the crash of 1929-30.

Besides these contentions that there are secular and discontinuous changes in cyclical behavior, we must note the hypothesis that business cycles are minor subdivisions of 'major' or 'long' cycles. Several investigators have found long cycles by analyzing statistical records. Thus Kondratieff finds 'long waves' lasting about 50 to 60 years; Kuznets finds 'secondary secular movements' averaging 22 years in production and 23 years in price series; Burns finds 'trend cycles' of about 15 to 20 years in production and other business activities; Wardwell finds 'major cycles' that average about 15 years in the United States and 9.5 in Germany; Kitchin finds 'major cycles' lasting usually about 7 years, sometimes 10

8 For fuller statements of the views of Marx and Veblen and references, see Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, pp. 8-9, 42-4, 232, 255.

years.<sup>9</sup> If business cycles really succeed one another in cyclical fashion, then the position that an individual business cycle occupies in a 'long cycle' determines whether it is a mild movement of slight consequence or a convulsive fluctuation, whether the revival with which it begins is vigorous or mild, whether its expansion develops into a 'boom', whether its recession becomes a 'crisis', and whether its contraction turns into a drastic 'depression'.

The hypotheses we have noted are of the greatest importance. If any one of them is valid, we should be missing our opportunities if we did not take full account of it. As stated in Chapter 1, our aim is to determine as thoroughly as we can what business cycles are, which means that we must try to determine whether the variations of successive business and specific cycles are haphazard or follow some regular pattern. This objective is always before us in later monographs, where we prepare materials as well as we can in advance for a systematic attack in the theoretical volume. But we believe that an intelligible notion of what business cycles are can best be reached from available statistical records by a process of successive approximations. The primary objective of our monographs on cyclical behavior is to describe in a preliminary way the typical features of business cycles. Whether our averages yield a useful first approximation to a description of cyclical behavior turns on the question whether such secular, discontinuous, or cyclical changes as may have occurred in business and specific cycles may for a time be slighted, not on the question whether such changes have actually occurred.

All we need to determine at this stage, therefore, is whether secular, discontinuous, or cyclical changes in cyclical behavior have been so pronounced that they discredit the use of averages. For this purpose sample studies should suffice. In Chapter 10 we investigate secular and discontinuous changes in relation to our averages of cyclical behavior; in Chapter 11 we investigate cyclical changes. Finally, in Chapter 12 we consider whether 'random' differences among business cycles are so great as to make averages futile constructions. These studies put us in a fair position to judge to what extent averages of the sort used in our standard tables are open to serious criticism. At the same time they give us an opportunity to explain more fully the flexible features of our technique; in particular, how we modify our procedures when the materials at hand seem to require it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The different periods found by these investigators are not necessarily contradictory since several cycles may coexist. Schumpeter, for example, works with a three-cycle schema. See the references cited in Ch. 11.

### CHAPTER 10

# Secular and Discontinuous Changes in Cyclical Behavior

OUR FIRST problem is to determine whether substantial secular changes can be detected in cyclical behavior as we measure it. Towards this end we have tested in detail the seven American series presented in the preceding chapter. These series cover processes that rank high among the activities stressed in theoretical studies of business cycles. Partly for this reason, partly because of the comparatively long stretch of time covered by these records, we regard our small sample as fairly satisfactory for the present purpose. We analyze also durations of business cycles, the one tolerably reliable set of measures that we have of business cycles as wholes.<sup>1</sup>

# I Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles

To investigate secular changes in our sample, we have fitted straight lines by the method of least squares to the durations and amplitudes of successive specific cycles in each series.<sup>2</sup> Table 144 and Chart 55 present the results. As the chart shows, the trend lines sometimes fit the cyclical observations badly. Hence we supplement them in Table 145 by subgroup means, each set of cyclical measures being divided into three parts as nearly equal as possible.<sup>3</sup>

3 The bulk of the statistical analysis in Ch. 9-12 was completed before measurements for the business cycle of 1933-38 were ready; hence, with minor exceptions, our analysis stops around 1933. The addition of another cycle, while obviously desirable, would not modify the main results.

- 384 -

<sup>1</sup> We are under heavy obligations to Milton Friedman for assistance in handling the technical problems encountered in this and the next two chapters.

<sup>2</sup> Measures for the individual specific and reference cycles in the seven series are shown in Appendix B.

# TABLE 144

#### Extreme Ordinates of Straight-line Trends Fitted to Durations and Amplitudes of Successive Specific Cycles Seven American Series

			Dura	ntion	Amplitude in specific-cycle relatives					
Series	Period covered	No. of specific	in mo	onths	Rise	& fall	Rise per n	& fall nonth		
		cycles	First trend value	Last trend value	First trend value	Last trend value	First trend value	Last trend value		
Deflated clearings	1878-1933	15	32	56	38	42	1.1	0.8		
Pig iron production	1879-1933	15	44	43	95	139	2.4	3.3		
Freight car orders	1870-1933	19	48	31	405	444	8.8	17.6		
Railroad stock prices	1857-1932	18	51	49	55	80	1.5	1.4		
Shares traded	1878-1933	15	46	42	164	217	3.9	5.2		
Call money rates	1858-1931	23	37	38	254	210	7.2	5.4		
Railroad bond yields	1860-1931	20	34	51	25	21	0.9	0.4		

See Chart 55.

1

#### TABLE 145

#### Average Duration and Amplitude of Three Successive Groups of Specific Cycles Seven American Series

Series and	Number of	Average	Average amplitude in specific-cycle relatives				
period covered	cycles	in months	Rise & fall	Rise & fall per month <sup>a</sup>			
Deflated clearings							
1878–1893	5	37	42	1.1			
1893–1910	5	41	37	0.9			
1910–1933	5	54	41	0.8			
Pig iron production							
1879–1896	5	43	107	2.8			
1896–1914	· 5	44	113	2.6			
1914–1933	5	44	131	3.2			
Freight car orders							
1870-1894	6	48	421	9.7			
1894–1914	6	40	319	8.3			
1914–1933	7	32	518	20.4			
Railroad stock prices							
1857–1889	6	63	76	1.5			
1889–1907	6	37	52	1.4			
1907–1932	6	49	74	1.4			
Shares traded							
1878-1897	5	46	148	3.6			
1897–1914	5	42	220	5.2			
1914–1933	5	44	204	4.9			
Call money rates		1					
1858–1880	7	38	218	5.9			
1880–1904	8	36	289	8.4			
1904–1931	8	40	187	4.5			
Railroad bond yields				l			
1860-1876	6	32	27	0.9			
1876–1905	7	49	20	0.4			
1905–1931	7	45	24	0.6			

Where the number of cycles is not exactly divisible by 3, an additional cycle is placed in the last group or in both the second and last.

•

•Unweighted average.

#### CHART 55

Secular Changes in the Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles. Seven American Series

Duration of Full Specific Cycles\*

----- Straight line fitted by 'least squares'



See Table 144 and Appendix Table B1.

-

The horizontal scale shows serial numbers of successive specific cycles; the vertical scale represents months

- 386 -





~

 $^{\rm b}$  The horizontal scale shows serial numbers of successive specific cycles; the vertical scale represents specific-cycle relatives.

-

÷

÷

i

Ş

- 387 -

CHART 55 (CONT.) Per Month Amplitude of Full Specific Cycles<sup>6</sup>

la series

----- Straight line fitted by 'least squares'



- 388 -

<sup>C</sup> The horizontal scale shows serial numbers of successive specific cycles; the vertical scale represents specific-cycle, relatives.

See Table 144 and Appendix Table B1.

#### DURATION AND AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CYCLES 389

A casual glance at these records might suggest that secular change is a general characteristic of cyclical fluctuations. But the mere fact that the trend lines are not horizontal, or that the subgroup averages differ within each series, does not demonstrate that secular changes have been marked or even that there have been any. Similar results could easily be obtained by fitting trend lines or computing subgroup means for random series; for example, successive values obtained from dice throws or the last places of a table of logarithms. The odds are heavy that a mathematically fitted trend will not be horizontal and that subgroup averages will not be constant. What we have to determine, therefore, is whether the slopes of our trend lines or the variations in the subgroup averages are 'substantial'; and if that does seem to be the case, whether they reflect persistent or haphazard changes. Should we find that secular changes in cyclical measures have as a rule been both 'substantial' and 'statistically significant', we would be forced to regard our notion that long-run averages of cyclical behavior give a useful first approximation of business-cycle behavior as discredited.4

A partial answer to our problem is given by measures of correlation between cyclical behavior and time (Table 146). We use two measures of correlation: the square of the coefficient of correlation and the square of the correlation ratio. The former shows the fraction of the total variation of the cyclical measures for each series that is attributable to the linear trend. The latter shows the fraction of the total variation that is attributable to the subgroup averages considered as a step-line of trend.<sup>5</sup> The outstanding feature of the correlation measures is their extremely low level. The square of the coefficient of correlation between cyclical durations and time varies in different series from 0 to .14; the square of the coefficient of correlation between cyclical amplitudes and time varies from 0 to .16 in the total amplitudes and from 0 to .13 in the per month amplitudes. Of course, the correlation ratios squared are higher in most

<sup>4</sup> It is important to distinguish between 'substantial' and 'significant' secular changes. If accounting records show that Mr. X received \$1,000.00 during the first year of teaching, \$1,000.01 the second year, \$1,000.02 the third, and so in regular increments until the fiftieth year when he retired after enjoying a stipend of \$1,000.49; then, there has been a definite trend in the teacher's annual earnings. This trend is 'statistically significant', but just as surely it is trifling and of no practical consequence.

Of course, what secular changes are 'substantial' and what 'slight' is a matter of judgment, which is bound to shift from problem to problem.

<sup>5</sup> In each computation the total variation is measured by the sum of the squares of the deviations of individual observations from their mean. Let Y be any observation on (say) durations of successive specific cycles. Y, successive ordinates of a straight line fitted by least squares.  $\overline{Y}$  the mean of all observations,  $\overline{Y}_i$  the mean of the *i*<sup>th</sup> subgroup, N the total number of observations, and  $N_i$  the number of observations in the *i*<sup>th</sup> subgroup. Then the square of the coefficient of correlation is  $\frac{\Sigma(Y_i - \overline{Y})^s}{\Sigma(Y - \overline{Y})^s}$ . The square of the correlation ratio is  $\frac{\Sigma(Y_i - \overline{Y})^s}{\Sigma(Y - \overline{Y})^s}$ . If the number of observations

is the same in each subgroup, the latter becomes  $\frac{N_1 \sum (\overline{Y}_1 - \overline{Y})^2}{\sum (Y - \overline{Y})^2}$ .

#### Seven American Series Coefficient of correlation Correlation ratio Number of souared squared Per Per Ampli-Period **D**игаmonth Dura-Amplimonth Series tude of tion of covered Spe Subtion of amplitude of amplicific full full full tude of 6.11 tude of groups cvcles cycles 6.0 cvcles cycles cycles full and time and time cycles and time and time cycles and time and time Deflated clearings... 1878-1933 15 3 .14 .00 .13 .13 .01 .23 Pig iron production. 1879-1933 15 3 .00 .16 .06 .00 .09 .05 Freight car orders... 1870-1933 19 3 .10 .00 .04 .18 .13 .18 3 .00 .05 Railroad stock prices 1857-1932 18 00 02 .10 .01 3 Shares traded . . . . . 1878-1933 15 .01 .05 .07 .01 .20 .22 3 .00 .01 .03 .04 Call money rates... 1858-1931 23 .11 .29

TABLE 146 Correlation between Specific-cycle Measures and Their Order in Time

.13 The specific-cycle measures (durations in months, amplitudes in specific-cycle relatives) are correlated with serial numbers of the successive specific cycles.

.02

.13

.22

.07

.24

• See Table 145 for the number of cycles and periods covered by successive subgroups.

3

20

Railroad bond yields 1860-1931

instances than the coefficients of correlation squared, but they are just as unimpressive.8

These results are what we should expect from a careful study of Chart 55 and Table 145, apart from formal measures of correlation. Not only do secular changes appear small in comparison with the variability of individual cycles, but there is slight uniformity among the series with regard to the trend of any attribute of cyclical behavior. If we look merely at the trend lines of the full-cycle amplitudes, it seems that cyclical fluctuations have become narrower in the series on interest rates and wider in the series on industrial and speculative activity. But this suggestion is not borne out uniformly by the subgroup averages of the amplitudes or even by the trend lines of the per month amplitudes. The indications of different series concerning secular trends in cyclical duration are likewise contradictory and inconclusive. The dominating impression conveyed by Chart 55 is that the durations and amplitudes of successive cycles have varied in a highly irregular fashion, and that substantial secular changes have not taken place.

On the basis of the evidence presented so far, the most that may be said is that secular changes account for a small part of the variation in the durations and amplitudes of the specific cycles in our sample series. But have we any warrant for believing that secular changes account for any part of the variation? This question cannot be answered by measures of correlation alone. Even if measures of correlation were computed from

6 The cycle measures are grouped by periods in computing correlation ratios, but the correlation coefficients are computed from ungrouped data. In these circumstances the correlation ratio may be smaller than the correlation coefficient. See Jan K. Wiśniewski, Pitfalls in the Computation of the Correlation Ratio, Journal of the American Statistical Association, Dec. 1934, pp. 416-7.

390

purely random series, it is almost certain that they would not be exactly zero. Further, no matter what the nature of the series may be, the size of correlation measures is not independent of the complexity of the regression lines that are fitted, or the number of subgroups into which the data are broken, or the number of observations that are used. To determine whether there is any warrant for believing that the trend lines or subgroup averages truly 'account' for any part of the variability of the cyclical measures in our samples, we should establish whether the correlation measures are larger than might reasonably be expected to arise from chance alone. Such a test is provided by 'variance analysis', a statistical tool devised by R. A. Fisher.

The principles on which the technique of 'variance analysis' rests can be explained most simply in terms of our subgroup analysis. Let us start, for example, with the hypothesis that the durations of successive specific cycles in pig iron production are free from secular change. To determine whether our data are consistent with this hypothesis, we first group the durations of the cycles by periods. Then, as in computing correlation ratios, we divide the total variation in the data-that is, the sum of the squares of the deviations of the individual cyclical measures from their mean-into two parts: the variation among and within the periods. On the hypothesis of no secular change both parts arise from the same source, namely, random variation. Each part can therefore be used to estimate the variability of the universe of cycles from which the original observations are considered to be a sample. The estimates are obtained by dividing each component of the total sum of squares by the number of 'degrees of freedom' on which it is based, that is, by the number of independent comparisons among the relevant observations. For example, if fifteen cycles are grouped into three periods, the estimate of variance derived from the differences among periods is based on two degrees of freedom, while the estimate of variance derived from the differences within periods is based on twelve degrees of freedom. The ratio of the first estimate to the second yields a measure designated F, which furnishes an objective test of the hypothesis that secular changes have not taken place.7

We should expect the two estimates of variance, or the two variances for short, to be approximately equal if the hypothesis that no secular

7 If we use the symbols in note 5, the variance estimated from the variation among subgroups (periods) is  $\frac{\sum N_i(\overline{Y}_i - \overline{Y})^a}{K-1}$ , where K is the number of subgroups; that is, i = 1, 2, ..., K. The variance estimated from the variation within subgroups is  $\frac{\sum S(Y - \overline{Y}_i)^a}{N-K}$ , where S represents the summation within a subgroup. Hence  $F = \frac{(N-K) \sum N_i(\overline{Y}_i - \overline{Y})^a}{(K-1) \sum S(Y - \overline{Y}_i)^a}$ .

In the straight-line trend analysis, the variance estimated from the variation of the ordinates of trend is  $\Sigma(Y_i - \overline{Y})^2$ ; the variance estimated from the variation about the line of trend is  $\frac{\Sigma(Y - Y_i)^2}{N-2}$ . Hence  $F = \frac{(N-2)\Sigma(Y_i - \overline{Y})^2}{\Sigma(Y - Y_i)^2}$ .

change has occurred in cyclical durations is valid. On the other hand, if a secular change has taken place, the variance among periods should be larger than the variance within periods, and F should exceed unity. But Fmay exceed unity, even if calculated from random series. Therefore, to judge any F, we must determine the probability of obtaining a greater value of F from a random sample grouped at random. If the probability is small, the presumption is that the differences among periods are *significantly* greater than the differences within periods. In other words, we may conclude provisionally that a secular change has occurred in cyclical behavior. How 'small' the probability need be is a matter of choice and of the objectives in view; but it has become customary to consider a probability of .05 (one chance in twenty) or smaller as indicating 'significance', and that is the standard to which we shall adhere.<sup>8</sup>

The probability tables used to test variance ratios (F's) are derived from a theoretical population distributed according to the 'normal curve'. Since definite evidence exists that the frequency distributions of our cyclical measures are frequently skewed.<sup>9</sup> the tests we make are in some degree inexact. Further, the probability tables are based on the assumption that the observations entering the sample are independent. It seems reasonably certain that cyclical measures do not fulfill this condition, although they come closer to doing so than the original data of time series. This too means that our tests are inexact, in the sense that the probability tables are not perfectly applicable to our data. But these technical difficulties do not seriously affect the analysis of this chapter. Our main problem is whether secular changes in cyclical behavior have been substantial, and that question we can usually answer sufficiently well from ordinary data charts and tables. It is helpful, however, to check judgments reached in this fashion by determining which of our cyclical measures are and which are not reasonably consistent with the hypothesis of no secular change. Even rough tests of statistical significance used with reserve and discrimination will serve this limited purpose.

Thus Table 147 shows the variance ratios (F's) derived for the durations and amplitudes of full specific cycles in our seven series. The hypothesis of no secular change is tested in two ways: by dividing the data into subgroups, and by computing linear trends. The trend lines and subgroups that we use are indicated in Chart 55 and Table 145. On the whole the variance tests seem to corroborate the hypothesis that the

**8 R.** A. Fisher and F. Yates have published a table showing what values of F correspond to the .20, .05, .01, and .001 levels of significance (that is, the values of F that will be exceeded in the stated proportion of cases by chance) for specified degrees of freedom among and within groups. See their Statistical Tables for Biological, Agricultural and Medical Research (Oliver and Boyd, London, 1938), pp. 29-35. A more detailed table of the values of F, but limited to the .05 and .01 levels, is given by George W. Snedecor in his Statistical Methods (Collegiate Press, Ames, Iowa, 1938 rev. ed.), pp. 184-7. Both tables show directly values of F greater than 1; values between 0 and 1 can be obtained by using reciprocals.

See Ch. 12, Sec. III.

	Numl	ber of	Ratio subgi wi	of variance roups to var thin subgro	among riance ups	Ratio of of stra varian	variance of hight-line tr ce about th	ordinates end to e trend
Series	Spe- cific cycles	Sub- groups	Duration of full cycles	Amplitude of.full cycles	Per month amplitude of full cycles	Duration of full cycl <del>es</del>	Amplitude of full cycles	Per month amplitude of full cycles
Deflated clearings	15	3	0.87	0.07	1.78	2.12	0.05	2.00
Pig iron production	15	3	0.01 †	0.61	0.35	0.01	2.41	0.84
Freight car orders	19	3	1.74	1.18	1.75	1.95	0.05	0.74
Railroad stock prices	18	3	0.87	0.39	0.08	0.01	0.38	0.06
Shares traded	15	3	0.06	1.46	1.64	0.08	0.73	0.91
Call money rates	23	3	0.39	1.23	4.031	0.01	0.22	0.63
Railroad bond yields	20	3	2.44	0.67	2.70	2.66	0.33	2.60

#### TABLE 147

#### Tests of Secular Change in Durations and Amplitudes of Specific Cycles Seven American Series

See note 7 concerning the variance ratios, Table 145 for the number of cycles and periods covered by the successive subgroups, and Chart 55 for the straight-line trends.

J Indicates that the ratio is 'significantly large', i.e., larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance. For the analysis by subgroups this value is 3.88 for deflated clearings, iron production and shares traded, 3.68 for railroad stock prices, 3.63 for freight car orders, 3.59 for railroad bond yields, and 3.49 for call money rates. For the straight-line trend analysis, the corresponding values are 4.67, 4.49, 4.45, 4.41, and 4.32. The differences among these values result from differences in the number of degrees of freedom on which the estimates of variance are based.

†Indicates that the ratio is 'significantly small', i.e., smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in twenty times by chance. For the subgroup analysis this value is .05 for all series. For the straight-line trend analysis, it is .004 for all series.

durations and amplitudes of the specific cycles in our test series have not been subject to secular changes. Surely, they do not contradict the conclusion already reached: namely, that if secular changes have taken place in these cyclical characteristics, they have in general been slight. In the portion of the table relating to the subgroup analysis, one out of twentyone variance ratios is greater than the value that would be exceeded by chance once in twenty times, and one is less than the value that would be fallen short of by chance once in twenty times.<sup>10</sup> No value of F in the straight-line trend analysis falls outside either limit. Our data seem to behave the way we should expect data derived from the same universe and grouped at random to behave. Yet we believe that the amplitudes of call money rates have undergone a real change. By facilitating increases of bank reserves in times of pressure and by reducing the dependence of interior banks upon New York, the Federal Reserve system has undoubtedly tended to mitigate the spasmodic fluctuations of call money rates.

# **II** Reference-cycle Patterns

We pass from these tests of specific cycles to tests of reference cycles. The question now is whether the behavior of our sample series has changed materially during the business cycles marked off by our reference dates.

<sup>10</sup> These values are identified in Table 147. Of course, only the values of F that are greater than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty trials by chance can create a presumption of a secular change in cyclical behavior.

CHART 38 Average Patterns of Three Successive Groups of Reference Cycles Seven American Series



Storizontal acale, in months 1 2 24 38 49 00 To simplify comparisons, everage deviations are omitted size, each pattern is drawn to the schedule in intervale sepropriate to the full mumber of cycles covered by the series, instaged of the true Intervals for each group of cycles (of Appendia A). See Jable J48.

#### TABLE 148

#### Average Patterns of Three Successive Groups of Reference Cycles Seven American Series

		1		Average	in refere	ence-cycl	e relative	at stag	c	
Sector and	No. of	I	II	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
period covered	ence	Initial	I	Expansio	n	Peak	C	ontractic	'n	Terminal
	cycles	trough (3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	(3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	trough (3 mos.)
Deflated clearings 1879–1897 1897–1914	5 5	85.0 87.8	91.4 93.7	96.6 96.9	105.8 102.8	108.6 105.3	108.6 104.6	102.4 101.7	100.3 100.0	102.0 102.2
1914–1933	5	91.6	97.0	101.8	106.9	108.5	106.9	102.9	98.3	97.7
Pig iron production       1879–1897       1897–1914       1914–1933	5 5 5	67.9 72.5 79.5	89.1 88.3 92.7	99.8 99.4 111.2	110.8 109.7 117.0	117.3 117.5 131.9	113.1 115.8 124.0	97.8 100.0 103.4	91.9 86.7 75.9	92.0 85.4 66.0
Freight car orders 1870–1894 1894–1911 1911–1933	5 5 6	62.7 58.3 101.7	87.4 75.2 83.5	118.6 113.0 108.1	124.3 160.0 127.9	114.1 136.6 117.2	81.0 91.8 106.1	70.9 49.1 65.3	87.2 63.8 45.0	128.0 96.3 51.0
Railroad stock prices 1858–1888 1888–1908 1908–1933	6 6 7	82.8 89.5 99.3	89.0 96.8 103.7	101.5 101.5 108.4	112.0 107.7 108.5	106.2 105.8 108.4	105.6 102.3 105.0	102.8 92.5 97.8	95.3 93.7 89.1	96.5 98.7 89.6
Shares traded 1879–1897 1897–1914 1914–1933	5 5 5	80.8 98.2 72.4	94.7 130.2 108.7	109.3 101.0 122.4	109.9 119.7 112.3	118.2 110.9 102.7	101.9 89.1 99.3	100.4 79.5 91.7	73.7 74.4 90.5	87.8 96.0 108.8
Call money rates 1858–1888 1888–1908 1908–1933	6 6 7	80.4 67.3 83.8	90.6 71.1 85.1	106.4 88.4 100.2	139.3 107.8 136.3	193.7 145.1 142.5	116.5 151.4 119.3	80.0 137.4 95.7	83.8 58.8 98.0	76.3 63.2 87.3
Railroad bond yields       1858–1888       1888–1908       1908–1933	6 6 7	107.3 100.4 98.9	104.6 99.6 97.6	98.8 98.8 97.4	98.1 98.3 100.0	101.8 99.3 101.8	102.4 100.8 102.7	100.5 103.9 100.2	99.9 101.4 101.8	99.0 100.6 100.8

Where the number of cycles is not exactly divisible by 3, an additional cycle is placed in the last group.

#### TABLE 149

#### Square of Correlation Ratio between Reference-cycle Standings and Time Seven American Series

		Numb	er of	Square of correlation ratio between time and standings <sup>a</sup> in									
Series	covered	Refer-	Sub-			R	eferen	ce-cy	cle sta	ge			Pattern
		cycles	groups	I	II	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	1X	whole <sup>b</sup>
Deflated clearings	1879-1933	15	3	.10	.10	.25	.16	.10	.11	.01	.01	.04	.07
Pig iron production.	1879-1933	15	3	.05	.01	.13	.06	.19	.23	.02	.09	.23	.11
Freight car orders	1870-1933	16	3	.08	.02	.01	.16	.02	.04	.09	.15	.15	.09
Railroad stock prices	1858-1933	19	3	.16	.17	.11	.03	.01	.02	.18	.02	.04	.08
Shares traded	1879-1933	15	3	.13	.20	.37	.08	.06	.13	.28	.14	.04	.12
Call money rates	1858-1933	19	3	.07	.09	.09	.10	.06	.22	.30	.33	.10	.12
Railroad bond yields	1858-1933	19	3	.33	.36	.02	.05	.08	.06	.15	.03	.02	.14

See Table 148 for the number of cycles and periods covered by the successive subgroups.

\*That is, between standings in reference-cycle relatives and serial numbers of successive reference cycles. <sup>b</sup>See note 11.

-

. . . . .

	IAB		0	
Tests of Secular	Change	in Refe	erence-cycle	Patterns

....

Seven American Series

	Number of		Ratio of variance among subgroups to variance within subgroups for									
Series	Refer- ence cycles	Sub-		Standings in reference-cycle stage								Pattern
		groups	I	II	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX	X whole
Deflated clearings	15	3	0.65	0.69	1.97	1.13	0.70	0.73	0.03†	0.06	0.23	0.46†
Pig iron production	15	3	0.33	0.08	0.93	0.37	1.43	1.78	0.12	0.62	1.74	0.75
Freight car orders	16	3	0.55	0.12	0.09	1.24	0.15	0.24	0.65	1.16	1.11	0.62
Railroad stock prices.	19	3	1.57	1.70	0.96	0.24	0.08	0.13	1.75	0.17	0.32	0.67
Shares traded	15	3	0.94	1.47	3.53	0.49	0.38	0.86	2.39	0.99	0.23	0.80
Call money rates	19	3	0.56	0.75	0.84	0.94	0.52	2.23	3.50	3.88J	0.90	1.07
Railroad bond yields.	19	3	4.00	4.52J	0.16	0.42	0.66	0.51	1.36	0.25	0.14	1.30

See notes 7 and 11 concerning the variance ratios, and Table 148 for the number of cycles and periods covered by the successive subgroups.

J Indicates that the ratio is 'significantly large', i.e., larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance. For the pattern as a whole this value is 1.68 for railroad bond yields, railroad stock prices, and call money rates; 1.70 for deflated clearings, iron production, and shares traded; 1.69 for freight car orders. For the single stages it is 3.63 for railroad bond yields, railroad stock prices, and call money rates; 3.88 for deflated clearings, iron production, and shares traded; 3.80 for freight car orders.

† Indicates that the ratio is 'significantly small', i.e., smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in twenty times by chance. In all series this value is .51 for the pattern as a whole, and .05 for the single stages.

To answer this question we proceed as before, except that we engage in no curve fitting. The first step is to divide into thirds the full number of cycles covered by each series and compute means of the reference-cycle patterns in each subgroup. Next we compute for each series squares of correlation ratios between (a) time and (b) the standings in individual cycle stages and all stages combined. Finally, we show the statistical significance of the correlation ratios by using variance analysis.<sup>11</sup> The results of these operations are presented in Chart 56 and Tables 148-150.

The new experiments yield results similar to those for specific cycles. The squares of the correlation ratios for whole reference-cycle patterns range from .07 to .14 in different series. Of the sixty-three correlation measures for single stages, only six are above .25; the largest is .37. None of the correlation measures for whole patterns and only three for single stages are 'significantly large'. It might seem that in these instances the hypothesis of absence of secular change is contradicted. That inference is inadmissible without additional evidence; for if sixty-three variance ratios were computed from random samples, approximately three such instances would be expected. Nor is it surprising that two of the F's are

<sup>11</sup> In computing the correlation ratio (squared) for the reference-cycle pattern as a whole, the numerator is the sum of the numerators for the nine separate stages and the denominator is the sum of the corresponding denominators. See above, note 5. Consequently, the correlation ratio (squared) for the whole pattern of a series is a weighted arithmetic mean of the correlation ratios (squared) for the nine stages, the weight being the sum of squared deviations about the mean of the stage. This measure takes no account of the actual sequence of the stages.

In making the variance analysis for the whole pattern, the number of degrees of freedom is 9(K - 1) among subgroups and 9(N - K) within subgroups, where N is the number of cycles and K the number of subgroups.

less than the values that would be fallen short of once in twenty times by chance, since approximatel/ one such case is to be expected in twenty random samples.

The preceding statements cannot be accepted literally, as statistical experts will be quick to recognize, for our data fail to satisfy fully the

Ū		Seven Ai	nerican S	Series	e eyeics				
Series and period covered	Number of specific cycles	Average in m	duration onths	Average amplitude in specific-cycle relatives					
		Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Rise	Fall	Rise per month <sup>•</sup>	Fall per month		
Deflated clearings									
1878-1893	5	28	9	30	13	1.0	1.7		
1893–1910	5	33	8	27	10	0.8	3.0		
1910-1933	5	37	17	24	18	0.7	1.1		
Pig iron production									
1879-1896	5	29	14	62	44	2.6	3.8		
1896-1914	5	32	11	64	48	2.1	5.6		
1914-1933	5	25	18	59	72	2.6	4.6		
Freight car orders									
1870-1894	6	22	26	215	206	13.9	8.3		
1894-1914	6	22	18	163	156	9.4	10.4		
1914-1933	7	12	19	254	264	41.3	15.9		
Railroad stock prices									
1857-1889	6	35	28	46	31	1.8	1.5		
1889-1907	6	23	14	29	23	1.4	1.8		
1907-1932	6	28	21	32	42	1.1	1.8		
Shaves traded							-		
1878-1897	5	15	31	74	73	77	25		
1807_1014	5	15	28	108	112	0.8	4.5		
1014-1033	5	24	20	112	03	53	5.6		
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	-				5.5	5.0		
Call money rates	-	1	17	110	100	5.2	7 2		
1858-1880		21	17	140	108	5.2	/.5		
1004 1031	0	20		142	140	10.5	9.0		
1904-1951	•	20	20	90	91	4./	5.7		
Railroad bond yields									
1860-18/6	6	15	17	12	14	0.8	1.1		
18/6-1905		22	27		13	0.4	0.5		
1905-1951		25		15	11	0.0	1.0		
	Number of	Ratio of variance among							
	subgroups	subgroups to variance within subgroups							
Deflated clearings	3	0.43	1 38	0.21	0.39	0.90	0 49		
Pig iron production	3	0.46	0.62	0.07	1.04	0.35	0.49		
Freight car orders	3	1.65	1.16	1.03	1.26	1.11	1.61		
Railroad stock prices	3	0.47	1.17	0.69	0.59	1.14	0.18		
Shares traded	3	1.05	1.11	1.45	1.31	0.86	4.871		
Call money rates	3	0.13	0.32	0.99	1.32	4.351	1.22		
Railroad bond yields	3	1.03	0.97	1.10	0.30	1.88	0.93		

т	А	B	τ.	E	1	5	1
		~	~	-		•	•

# Average Duration and Amplitude of Expansions and Contractions of Three Successive Groups of Specific Cycles

See note to Table 145.

<sup>4</sup> Unweighted average. JLarger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance. This value is specified in a note to Table 147.

# 398 SECULAR CHANGES IN CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

assumptions underlying variance analysis. In particular, we cannot justifiably regard our several series or the standings within a given series in successive cycle stages as being independent of one another; we know that their movements are intercorrelated. But technical difficulties do not cloud the essential point, which is sufficiently plain without probability calculations. If secular changes have taken place in reference-cycle behavior, they have not left a prominent imprint on our sample series. The outstanding feature of Chart 56 is that the average cyclical patterns are roughly similar from period to period within the same series but differ widely among series. This demonstration suffices for our present purpose.

# **III** Other Cyclical Measures

The results of the preceding tests are confirmed when the range of the tests is extended. Table 151 supplements Tables 145 and 147, by analyzing separately the expansion and contraction phases of the specific cycles. We find that the variance among subgroups is larger than the variance within subgroups in half of the forty-two instances covered by the new table. But in only two of the twenty-one instances does the variance ratio exceed unity to a degree that is significant according to probability calculations: the rate of cyclical rise in call money rates and the rate of cyclical fall in share trading. The latter result is perhaps unexpected. The former is confirmed by independent knowledge, as already stated. No other result in the table is even in the vicinity of the 'level of significance'. As a whole the evidence in Table 151 gives no support to the view that real secular changes of substantial scope have been a common feature of the cyclical behavior of economic activities. This remark applies also to the measures of timing and conformity in Table 152, although the timing of some series seems to have undergone a clear-cut secular change.

In Table 153 we summarize the variance tests thus far presented. We show merely the number of 'significantly large' variance ratios relatively to the number computed, without allowing for the duplication that automatically results when closely related measures are analyzed or when certain of these measures are treated on more than one plan. Of the 189 variance ratios, only nine are 'significantly large'. It is interesting that none of the 'significant' ratios is among the measures of cyclical duration and that seven occur in the two series on interest rates. These results may mean that the duration of specific cycles is one of their most stable features in the long run, and that money markets are more susceptible to secular changes in cyclical behavior than are industrial or security markets. Although the evidence at hand is slender and indefinite, it is noteworthy that the series on deflated clearings outside New York, which comes closer to representing economic activity at large than any other in our sample.

#### TABLE 152

### Average Timing of Specific Cycles and Rates of Change during Three Successive Groups of Reference Cycles Seven American Series

Troughs	Expan-	0	Average change per month in reference-cycle relatives during stages <sup>b</sup> matched with reference			
	sions	tions	Cycles			
-6.2	+0.9	-0.7	-1.5			
-7.4	+0.8	-0.4	-1.2			
-3.8	+0.7	-0.4	-1.1			
-3.2	+2.1	-1.7	-3.9			
-7.2	+2.2	-1.8	-4.0			
-0.3	+2.4	-3.3	-5.7			
-3.2	+2.4	-2.5	-4.9			
-5.0	+5.2	-5.2	-10.5			
-1.4	+3.8	-3.9	-7.8			
-13.4	+0.9	-0.6	-1.5			
-1.2	+0.9	-0.8	-1.7			
-8.6	+0.5	-0.5	-1.0			
-2.2	+1.4	-2.2	-3.5			
-4.8	+1.8	-2.2	-4.1			
-6.5	+2.7	-0.6	-3.3			
-1.2	+4.2	-3.5	-7.7			
+3.0	+3.4	-5.0	-8.4			
+2.6	+3.3	-2.4	-5.7			
+17.8	+0.2	-0.3	-0.5			
+14.4	+0.1	-0.1	-0.2			
+1.8	+0.4	-0.1	-0.5			
Ratio of variance among subgroups to variance within subgroups						
0.78	0.57	0.26	0.51			
7.83J	0.09	1.99	1.55			
0.31	1.29	0.92	2.05			
2.11	0.58	0.18	0.56			
0.57	1.23	1.61	0.14			
0.59	0.16	1.86	0.49			
	-3.2 -7.2 -0.3 -3.2 -5.0 -1.4 -13.4 -1.2 -8.6 -2.2 -4.8 -6.5 -1.2 +3.0 +2.6 +17.8 +14.4 +1.8 +14.4 +1.8 Ratio subgroups to 0.78 7.83 J 0.31 2.11 0.57 0.59 7.61 J	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			

See note to Table 148.

• The number of timing observations is not defined exactly by the number of reference cycles; see Tables 62 and 141. To avoid duplication, the timing at the last reference trough of the first period is excluded from the average for that period but included in the average for the timing at the last reference trough of the second, and the timing at the last reference trough of the second period is excluded from the average for that period but included in the average for that period but included in the average for the second period is excluded from the average for that period but included in the average for the third.

<sup>b</sup>These stages are indicated in Table 140.

<sup>e</sup> Difference between contraction and expansion (see Table 47, col. 8).

Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance.

Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in a hundred times by chance.
Measure	Nam varianc comp	ber of ce ratios puted		Nui	nber of 'si	ignificantly	large' va	riance ra	tios	
	Per series	For all series	Deflated clearings	Pig iron produc- tion	Freight car orders	Railroad stock prices	Shares traded	Call money rates	Railroad bond yields	All series
Duration <sup>*</sup>	4	28								
Amplitude*	8	56					1	2		3
Timing <sup>b</sup>	2	14		1				1	1	3
Patternº	10	70					• • •	1	2	3
Conformity <sup>b</sup> .	3	21								
Total	27	189		1			1	4	3	9

		ТАВ	LE	153		
Summarv	of	Variance	Test	s in	Preceding	Tables

This summary omits 'significantly small' ratios, of which there are two in clearings and one in iron production. \* Derived from Tables 147 and 151.

<sup>b</sup>Derived from Tables 147 and <sup>b</sup>Derived from Table 152.

<sup>o</sup>Derived from Table 152.

has very few ratios exceeding unity, in no instance turns up a 'significantly large' ratio, but does turn up two that are 'significantly small'.

It is no part of our aim to discuss the results for individual series in any detail at present. Nor, to repeat, are 'significant' but 'slight' secular changes of more than incidental interest. It is well to note, nevertheless, that apart from their technical limitations, our probability calculations cannot be taken at face value. Economic analysis and historical knowledge inust play a part in whatever judgment is finally reached concerning the presence or absence of secular change in cyclical behavior. For example, our observations suggest that the tendency of pig iron production to lead at general revivals has practically disappeared; the variance test indicates that so large a difference as we find between the timing of recent and earlier cycles could arise from chance causes less frequently than one time out of twenty; which creates some presumption that a secular change in timing has actually occurred. This presumption is materially strengthened by knowledge that the secular trend of iron output has flattened out, for we have independent reasons for believing that a change in cyclical timing tends to be associated with retardation of growth. But retardation in the railroad equipment industry has been even more pronounced than in the iron industry; the mean timing of freight car orders at businesscycle troughs has shifted in the same direction as the timing of pig iron production; the original data on orders leave much to be desired and an erratic factor is bound to enter the placing of orders; hence we are inclined to judge that a secular change may well have occurred also in the timing of freight car orders, in spite of the low variance ratio.<sup>12</sup> Of course,

<sup>12</sup> Freight car orders led the reference trough in 1911 by 17 months. This long lead is placed in the third period in Table 152, by force of the convention adopted in constructing the table. If it were placed instead in the second period, the average timing in the three successive periods would run - 3.2, - 7.0 and + 1.2, and the variance ratio would be 2.02 (the .05 value is 3.74). See below, Sec. VIII.

what we do in such instances is to combine intuitively the knowledge given by probability tests with other knowledge concerning the phenomenon under observation.

# IV Duration and Amplitude of Business Cycles

A vital check on some of the preceding results may be obtained by analyzing the business-cycle durations yielded by our reference dates. If there is little or no presumption that the durations of specific cycles have undergone noteworthy secular changes, the same should be true of the durations of business cycles. And since our business-cycle measures cover three countries besides the United States, we are also in a position to determine whether the experience of other countries has been similar to that of the United States.

We therefore group the durations of successive business cycles and their phases of expansion and contraction into three approximately equal classes in each country, and compare the variance among subgroups in each with the variance within subgroups. The subgroup means and the results of the variance analysis are set out in Table 154. There is a rough

Country and period	Number of	Average duration in months					
covered	cycles	Expansion	Contraction	Full cycle			
United States							
1854–1885	6	31	30	61			
1885-1908	7	24	16	40			
1908–1933	7	21	21	42			
Great Britain			l				
1854–1886	5	40	36	76			
1886-1914	5	43	25	68			
1914–1932	5	24	19	43			
France			1				
1865–1887	5	22	30	52			
1887–1914	5	39	26	65			
1914–1932	5	30	13	43			
Germany			1				
1879-1902	3	46	47	92			
1902-1914	3	33	17	50			
1914–1932	4	34	20	54			
-	Number of	Rat	tio of variance an	long			
	subgroups	subgroups	to variance within	n subgroups			
United States.	3	1.89	1.75	3.11			
Great Britain.	3	2.09	0.93	1.88			
France	3	1.77	1.47	1.07			
Germany	3	0.78	4.31	6.18J			
			•				

		T.	ABLE 154	ł		
Average	Duration	of Three	Successive	Groups	of Business	Cycles
		For	ur Countrie	es		

Derived from the monthly reference dates in Table 16. See note to Table 145.

Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance.

## 402 SECULAR CHANGES IN CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

suggestion that business cycles may have become shorter with the passage of time. But this suggestion is only partly borne out by the annual measures in Table 139, which cover a longer period. Our present data yield a 'significant' variance ratio only in one instance, the duration of full cycles in Germany. True, the variance ratio for durations of full cycles exceeds unity in all four countries. But Table 155 suggests that at least the American result is fortuitous, and we know that the timing of business cycles in each of our countries is correlated with that of business cycles in the others.

Test	of	Variance ratio				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(F) <sup>b</sup>
20 cycles divided into						
Two equal groups	51	43		••		0.99
Three equal groups <sup>a</sup>	61	40	42			3.11
Four equal groups	58	44	42	44		0.84
Five equal groups	48	61	40	44	42	0.86
Straight line fitted by 'least squares'	54ª		••	••	40 <b>°</b>	1.19

TABLE 155	
Tests of Secular Change in Durations of Business	Cycles
United States, 1854–1933	

**TADT** 

Derived from the monthly reference troughs in Table 16.

\*The successive groups include 6, 7 and 7 cycles.

<sup>b</sup>None of these ratios is statistically significant.

• The x values are the serial numbers of the successive reference cycles.

<sup>d</sup> First trend value (x = 1).

• Last trend value (x = 20).

Unfortunately, we lack at present reliable measures of the amplitude of successive business cycles. In the absence of anything better, the ratings in Table 156, based on several familiar indexes of American business activity, may perhaps serve as a provisional check on our sample series.<sup>13</sup> These ratings fail to disclose any very clear trend in the intensity of successive business-cycle expansions or contractions, and thus corroborate the broad evidence of our sample.<sup>14</sup> The coefficient of correlation between the graded intensities of expansions and their order in time <sup>15</sup> is -.01, or virtually zero; the coefficient for contractions is +.18. On the basis of these results, we can say at most that secular change accounts for a small part of the variation in the amplitudes of business-cycle declines. But even this statement is problematical, since the coefficient of correlation for contractions is not statistically significant.<sup>16</sup>

13 Note, however, the difficulty that at least in the early years these indexes lean heavily on two of our series, clearings and iron production.

14 See also Sec. VI, and Ch. 11, Sec. VI.

15 That is, between the ranks of the average ranks in Table 156 and the serial numbers of the successive cycles.

16 The standard error of a coefficient of rank correlation based on 15 observations is .27; which means that the coefficient would have to be (approximately) .54 in order to satisfy the .05 level of significance.

### TABLE 156

Ranks of Amplitudes of Cyclical Expansions and Contractions Three Indexes of American Business Activity, 1879–1933

	Am	plitude of	f expan	sions rank	red	Reference	Amplitude of contractions ranked				
Reference expansion*	A.T.&T. index	&T. Persons Ayres Average Rank of contrac- index index ranks ranks ranks	contrac- tion <sup>a</sup>	A.T.&T. index	Persons index	Ayres index	Average of three ranks	Rank o average ranks			
1879-82	11	14	10	11.7	12	1882-85	11	12	9	10.7	11
1885-87	9	10	9	9.3	9	188788	1	4	1	2.0	1
1888-90	4	8	2	4.7	5	1890-91	6	6	5	5.7	6
1891-93	3	5	4	4.0	3	1893-94	12	14	13	13.0	13
1894-95	7	12	11	10.0	10	1895-97	7	11	10	9.3	10
1897-99	13	11	14	12.7	13	1899-00	2	5	4	3.7	5
190002	1	3	1	1.7	1	1902-04	4	3	3	3.3	3.5
1904-07	10	4	8	7.3	7.5	1907-08	13	10	12	11.7	12
1908-10	12	9	12	11.0	11	1910-12	3	1	6	3.3	3.5
1912-13	2	1	3	2.0	2	1913-14	10	8.5	8	8.8	8
1914-18	14	13	13	13.3	14	1918-19	8	8.5	7	7.8	7
1919-20	6	6	5	5.7	6	1920-21	14	13	14	13.7	14
1921-23	15	15	15	15.0	15	1923-24	9	7	11	9.0	9
1924-26	8	7	7	7.3	7.5	1926-27	5	2	2	3.0	2
1927-29	5	2	6	4.3	4	1929-33	15	15	15	15.0	15

The mildest contraction or expansion is assigned a rank of 1, the next a rank of 2, and so on. The ranks were determined from our standard measures of specific-cycle amplitude, the analysis being positive. Each of the three indexes is trend-adjusted. For this reason, if for no other, the ranks of the successive cycles are very rough approximations.

The A.T.&T. index is available without trend adjustment since 1900. The ranks of the cyclical movements in the unadjusted and trend-adjusted indexes differ considerably at times. The ranks of the two forms of the index (the ranks of the trend-adjusted index are shown in parentheses) for the nine successive expansions since 1900 are 5(1), 8(6), 6(7), 1(2), 7(8), 2(4), 9(9), 4(5), 3(3); and 3(2), 7(7), 1(1), 4.5(6), 4.5(4), 8(8), 6(5), 2(3), 9(9) for the nine successive contractions since 1902.

For sources, see Appendix C, notes on series (1), (2) and (4) of Table 21. (The notes in the Appendix are phrased for reference cycles; they apply only approximately to specific cycles when overlapping segments of the same series have been used, as in the A.T.&T. and Persons indexes.)

\*Years of turning points in our monthly reference chronology (Table 16).

## V Business Cycles and Economic Stages

It is possible, of course, that so few noteworthy secular or discontinuous changes in cyclical behavior have emerged in our tests because they have been made by mechanical rule. The trend lines and subgroups we have used involve arbitrary arrangements in every instance; they do not follow hints derived from general economic history or the history of business cycles. We have used mechanical schemes not because we prefer them, but because no other method seemed possible in view of the looseness with which hypotheses concerning secular changes in cyclical behavior have usually been formulated. But there are two notable exceptions to this statement, and they warrant careful investigation.

The first is Frederick C. Mills' suggestion that the duration of business cycles is a function of the stage of industrial development.<sup>17</sup> Mills developed his hypothesis to account for the differences in the durations of business cycles shown by Thorp's *Business Annals*. In its author's words:

17 An Hypothesis Concerning the Duration of Business Cycles, Journal of the American Statistical Association, Dec. 1926, pp. 447-57.

## 404 SECULAR CHANGES IN CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

When the modern type of economic organization is in the initial stages of development, the average duration of cycles is relatively long. During the stage of rapid growth, when modern types of business enterprise and modern forms of industrial organization are being applied extensively, business cycles are of relatively short average duration. With the decline in the rate of economic change and the attainment of comparative stability, business cycles increase again in length.

Though he had "no objective criterion for distinguishing the stages in a country's industrial development, or for classifying countries according to their present state of development", Mills attempted a "quite experimental and tentative" classification, which applied as follows to the four countries treated in this study:

- A. Early stage of industrialization United States: to 1822 (Annals begin in 1796) Germany: to 1866 (Annals begin in 1848)
  B. Stage of rapid transition
- England: to 1831 (Annals begin in 1793) France: to 1876 (Annals begin in 1838) United States: 1822 to date Germany: 1866 to date
- C. Stage of economic stability England: 1831 to date France: 1876 to date

Making similar tentative judgments about the stage of industrialization prevailing at different periods in all of the seventeen countries covered by Thorp's annals, Mills obtained the following results:

		No. of business cycles	Mean duration in years	Standard deviation in years
Α.	Early stage of industrialization	51	5.86	2.41
В.	Stage of rapid transition	· 77	4.09	1.88
C.	Stage of economic stability	38	6.39	2.42

He then showed by a sampling test that differences in average duration so large as he had found were most unlikely to happen by chance. Hence he concluded that, if his classification of countries by stages of industrial development is valid and if the durations shown by *Business Annals* are correct, "there is proof here of a definite secular change in the factors determining the duration of business cycles."

l

In Table 157 we present a detailed test of Mills' hypothesis. On applying variance analysis to the data available to Mills, we confirm his results not only in regard to seventeen countries, but also in regard to the four countries we are using at present. The results are again confirmed if we omit Mills' 'early stage of industrialization', which is not represented in the revised annual reference dates shown in Chapter 4 of this volume; also if we omit the early cycles in the second stage that are not covered by our new chronology. These four samples of durations not only yield averages for the several stages that differ in the direction suggested

### TABLE 157

States and a second sec

Analysis of Durations of Business Cycles Classified According to Mills' Stages of Industrialization

Data and group	ping	No. of business cycles	Avera of mor	ige dur cycles i aths dur stage <sup>a</sup>	ation n ing	Ratio of variance among groups to variance	Probability that larger F would be obtained by chance is		
		covered	A	В	С	within groups (F)	Less than	More than	
(1) Business-cycle duration tries, determined from in Business Annals. three groups. The fication are those used	ons in 17 coun- n annual records Classified into data and classi- d by Mills	166	70.3	49.1	76.7	17.79	.001		
(2) Business-cycle durati tries: United States, Germany and Franc spects the same as (1)	ons in 4 coun- , Great Britain, ce. In other re- )	84	77.1	49.7	80.4	13.79	.001		
(3) The cycles placed by are dropped. In ot same as (2)	Mills in stage A her respects the	77		49.7	80.4	23.72	.001		
(4) A few early cycles no annual reference da are dropped. The features of the analy as in (3)	t covered by the tes in Table 16 data and other sis are the same	70		49.0	80.4	23.80	.001		
(5) The calendar-year re Table 16 are substitu dates taken from Busi periods and other analysis are the same	eference dates of ited for reference iness Annals. The features of the e as in (4)	71		53.4	65.5	3.53	.20	.05	
(6) A few cycles complet Annals was published is, all cycles, from pe ered by annual through 1928-30 are wise the same as (5) Mills' period, we lack classification. Mills cycle he covered in many to stage B. We later cycles (since 19 since 1925 in German	ted since Business are added; that cak to peak, cov- reference dates included. Other Going outside the benefit of his assigned the last U. S. and Ger- arbitrarily assign 223 in U. S. and y) to this stage.	80		52.6	60.0	1.60		.20	
(7) The same as (6) exce of the difficulty just s since 1923 in U. S. a Germany are assigne	ept that, in view stated, the cycles and since 1925 in to stage C	80		53.4	58.2	0.69		.20	
<ul> <li>(8) Differs from (6) only are taken on a trough All cycles covered by ence dates through 1<sup>th</sup></li> </ul>	in that the cycles n-to-trough basis. our annual refer- 932 are included.	84		54.1	60.4	1.34		.20	
(9) The same as (6), e. durations are measur instead of annual ref a consequence, the p shorter than in (6)	xcept that cycle ed from monthly erence dates. As period covered is	56		50.2	59.4	1.69	.20	.05	
(10) The same as (8), exc rations are measure instead of annual ref that in consequence ered is shorter	cept that the du- d from monthly rerence dates and the period cov-	60	<u></u>	51.8	59.4	1.46		.20	

\* Stages A, B and C are identified in the text.

## 406 SECULAR CHANGES IN CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

by Mills' hypothesis, but the differences are 'highly significant' in every instance. However, if we substitute durations derived from the annual reference dates of the present investigation for those derived from Thorp's *Business Annals*, the gap between the averages is reduced sharply and the value of F is no longer statistically significant. If we use the revised annual reference dates and add several business cycles that have run their course since Thorp's work was done, the gap between the averages becomes still narrower and its 'significance' still more doubtful, whether we count durations from peak to peak or from trough to trough. The somewhat smaller sample of durations measured from the monthly reference dates yields similar results.

Since the use of presumably more reliable and certainly more numerous measures reverses the results of variance analysis applied to earlier measurements of business-cycle durations in four countries classified by 'stages of industrialization', we must accept the conclusion that what we take to be the best collection of measures available at present gives slight support to Mills' hypothesis.<sup>18</sup>

## VI Business Cycles before and after 1914

Another challenging hypothesis is the idea voiced repeatedly in recent years that World War I marks a 'break' in the history of business cycles. To test this hypothesis of structural change, we divide the leading cyclical measures for our seven American series and the durations of business cycles in our four countries into two groups; the first of which includes all cycles from the time our monthly records start to 1914, and the second the cycles from 1914 to about 1932. The results are presented in Tables 158-160 and Charts 57-58. To facilitate comparisons, the average reference-cycle patterns before the war are restricted to 1879–1914, the period covered by all seven series.

On the whole these measurements indicate a family likeness between the business cycles that come before and after 1914. As we move from pre-War to later cycles, numerous discrepancies appear within each pair of patterns, but they are overshadowed by the basic similarity that the patterns of the several series bear to one another. The order of magnitude of the cyclical durations, leads or lags, even amplitudes is, broadly speaking, not very different in the two periods. Less than half of the variance ratios in Tables 158-159 exceed unity (42 out of 98); in other words, the differences between the two periods exceed the differences within the periods in less than half of the instances tested. Four variance ratios are 'significantly large', but five are 'significantly small'. Doubtless, changes

18 C. G. W. Schumann finds that the experience of South Africa from 1806 to 1909 does not bear out Mills' hypothesis. See his Structural Changes and Business Cycles in South Africa, 1806–1936 (P. S. King, London, 1938), pp. 118-21.

### TABLE 158

Average in specific-cycle relatives Average duration No. of Per month in months Amplitude of Series and specific amplitude<sup>a</sup> of period covered cycles Expan-Contrac-Full Rise Rise Rise Fall Rise Fall & fall & fall sion tion cycle Deflated clearings 27 38 0.9 2.2 1.0 1878-1914.... 11 30 10 40 11 39 16 55 27 19 46 0.8 1.2 0.8 1914-1933..... 4 Pig iron production 10 46 4.7 2.7 1879-1914..... 30 13 43 63 110 2.4 1914-1933..... 5 25 59 72 131 2.6 18 44 4.6 3.2 Freight car orders 1870-1914..... 12 22 22 44 189 181 370 11.6 9.3 9.0 41.3 7 254 518 15.9 1914-1933..... 12 19 32 264 20.4 Railroad stock prices 14 1857-1915..... 28 21 49 35 26 61 1.5 1.6 1.4 1915-1932..... 31 21 52 36 52 89 1.2 2.2 1.5 Shares traded 10 91 92 29 44 184 8.8 3.3 1878-1914..... 15 4.4 1914-1933..... 5 24 20 44 112 93 204 5.3 5.6 4.9 Call money rates 18 38 129 255 1858-1915..... 20 18 127 7.6 8.5 6.9 1915-1931..... 19 19 37 77 71 148 4.2 5 4.6 3.9 Railroad bond yields 15 23 0.5 1860-1914..... 22 21 43 10 13 0.7 0.6 1914-1931..... 17 23 13 13 25 0.7 1.2 5 41 0.7 No. of Ratio of variance between groups to variance within groups groups Deflated clearings... 2 1.09 1.30 1.60 0.00 1 1.00 0.45 0.19 0.31 0.47 Pig iron production. 2 0.70 1.13 0.01 0.12 2.21 1.23 0.11 0.01 0.70 2 3.50 2.74 1.48 2.10 Freight car orders... 0.33 1.84 2.32 3.16 3.67 2 0.05 0.00§ 0.02 0.01 2.67 0.93 Railroad stock prices. 0.61 1.14 0.02 Shares traded . . . . . 2 2.25 2.15 0.00 0.90 0.00 \$ 0.26 1.42 6.00 J 0.41 2 0.03 2.36 Call money rates... 0.12 0.03 2.63 2.66 1.89 2.14 3.89 0.00 0.24 2 0.11 0.09 0.39 Railroad bond yields. 0.52 0.69 1.18 0.09

## Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles before and after 1914 Seven American Series

" Unweighted average.

I Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance.

† Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in twenty times by chance.

Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in a hundred times by chance. Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in a thousand times by chance.

in cyclical behavior occurred or first became marked around 1914 in some single series. The most prominent change turned up by our sample is in the timing of bond yields. A real change occurred also in the amplitude of call money rates, but it is obscured by lumping together all pre-War cycles. From 1858 to 1885 we find nine specific cycles in call money rates and only five business cycles; from 1885 to 1915 we find another nine cycles in call money rates but each corresponds neatly to a business cycle; thus the pre-War period is apparently not homogeneous. If the cycles in call money rates during 1885–1915 are compared with the cycles during 1915-31, we find a 'significant' decline in amplitude.<sup>19</sup> But as already stated, this change is attributable to the Federal Reserve system, not to the War and its sequelae.

It is worth noting, however, that the average total swing of the specific cycles is larger after 1914 than before in every series except call money rates. True, not one of the differences is statistically significant. But our analysis stops in 1933, and we know that the cycle of 1933-38 was sufficiently violent to make its influence felt on the comparisons we are making. For example, the average amplitudes of pig iron production are +76, -81, 158 for the six cycles from 1914 to 1938, in contrast to +59. -72, 131 for the five cycles from 1914 to 1933. If the 1933-38 cycle is added to the post-War period the variance ratio of the cyclical amplitudes also rises materially, though it still fails to meet the .05 level of significance.<sup>20</sup> Apparently, a tendency toward intensified cyclical fluctuations is impressed on our American samples-though not with any great clarity. It is impressed also on the ratings of business-cycle contractions presented in Table 156, but again not very clearly. If this table were extended in both directions, the severe contraction of 1937-38 would be added at the end, the severer contraction of 1873-79 at the beginning. It may be that no lasting change in the severity of cyclical contractions has taken place. On the other hand, a lasting change may have occurred, but we do not have as yet a sufficient number of cyclical observations to establish this result with confidence.21

If we are to judge from Table 160, the duration of business cycles in each of our four countries has been shorter on the average since 1914 than in pre-War times. However, the difference is small for this country,<sup>22</sup>

	Average in sj relat	Variance	
	1885-1915	1915-1931	ratio
Rise	151	77	10.62
Fall	149	71	8.82
Rise & fall	299	148	11.80
Rise per month	6.8	4.2	4.99
Fall per month	10.0	4.6	4.36
Rise & fall per month	7.5	3.9	7.62

19 The measures in full are:

The .05 and .01 values of the variance ratio are 4.75 and 9.33, respectively. 20 The variance ratio (F) for the rise is .64, the fall 4.19, the joint rise and fall 3.24. The .05 value of F is 4.60.

<sup>21</sup> It is well to observe specifically that since the sample of series analyzed in this chapter leaves us uninformed about the cyclical amplitude of total industrial production or employment, no inference concerning the presence or absence of secular changes in the amplitude of these fundamental magnitudes is possible. Furthermore, if we suppose for a moment that the amplitude of cyclical fluctuations in industrial employment has been constant in the long run, that would not imply constancy in the amplitude of fluctuations in total employment. On the contrary, it would imply that the amplitude of fluctuations in total employment has actually increased; for the number of persons engaged in agricultural work, which is a rather steady branch of employment (though not of output or income) during business cycles, has been a declining fraction of the gainfully occupied population.

22 It is scarcely visible in the specific-cycle durations of the series in Table 158.

and it would virtually disappear if the 1933-38 business cycle were included in the analysis. In foreign countries the difference is substantial, though in no instance statistically significant.

	6	even Amer	ican series	s			
Series and period covered	Number of reference	Average or lag mont refer	lead (-) (+) in ths at ence <sup>a</sup>	Average change per month in reference-cycle relatives during stages <sup>b</sup> matched with reference			
		Peaks	Troughs	Expan- sions	Contrac- tions	Cycles <sup>4</sup>	
Deflated clearings							
1879–1914 1914–1933	10 5	+4.0 +1.2	-6.8 -3.8	+0.8 +0.7	-0.5 -0 <b>.4</b>	-1.4 -1.1	
Pig iron production							
1879–1914 1914–1933	10 5	+2.1 +1.4	-5.2 -0.3	+2.2 +2.4	-1.8 -3.3	-3.9 -5.7	
Freight car orders							
1870–1914 1914–1933	11 5	- 6.8 - 3.4	-5.3 +1.2	+4.2 +3.1	-4.1 -3.5	-8.3 -6.5	
Railroad stock prices				1			
1858–1914 1914–1933	14 5	4.7 8.5	7.6 -7.0	+0.9 +0.4	-0.7 -0.4	-1.6 -0.8	
Shares traded							
1879–1914	10	-11.7	-3.5	+1.6	-2.2	-3.8	
1914–1933	5	-7.8	-6.5	+2.7	-0.6	-3.3	
Call money rates							
1858–1914	14	+0.6	+1.0	+3.8	-3.8	-7.7	
1914-1935	3	-2.0	- <del>-</del> J.U	+3.1	-2.0	-5.9	
Railroad bond yields	14	+93	+15.6	+0.2	-0.2	-0.3	
1914–1933.	5	+3.2	+0.2	+0.4	-0.2	-0.6	
	Number of groups		Ratio groups to	of variance b variance wit	etween hin groups	·	
Deflated clearings	2	1.08	1.49	1.10	0.15	0.55	
Pig iron production	2	0.05	8.461	0.18	4.30	3.34	
Freight car orders	2	0.48	3.29	0.52	0.11	0.45	
Railroad stock prices	2	0.73	0.01	2.27	0.29	2.00	
Shares traded	2	1.15	0.80	2.27	3.47	0.15	
Call money rates	2	0.85	0.2/	0.20	0.65	0.4/	
Kambau bunu yields		1.021	17.34	1.52	0.01	1.00	

### TABLE 159 Average Timing of Specific Cycles and Rates of Change during Reference Cycles before and after 1914 Saven American Series

\*The number of timing observations is not defined exactly by the number of reference cycles; see Table 141. To avoid duplication, the timing observation at the reference trough of 1914 is included in the later period only.

<sup>b</sup>These stages are indicated in Table 140.

Difference between contraction and expansion (see Table 47, col. 8).
 J Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance.
 J Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in a hundred times by chance.

### CHART 57 Average Specific-cycle Patterns before and after 1914 Seven American Series





,







- 410 -

40

24 38 45

See Appendix Table B1. For explanation of chart, see Ch. 5, Sec. 41.

ं भनवेर्त इंडे Average Reference-cycle Patterns before and after 1914 Seven American Series

1



-

Country and	Number of	Average duration in months					
period covered	cycles	Expansion	Contraction	Full cycle			
United States							
1854–1914	15	25	23	48			
1914–1933	5	24	20	44			
Great Britain							
1854–1914	10	41	30	72			
1914–1932	5	24	19	43			
France							
1865-1914	10	31	28	58			
1914–1932	5	30	13	43			
Germany							
1879–1914	6	39	32	71			
1914-1932	4	34	20	54			
	3. Number of groups	Rati groups (	o of variance betw to variance within	ween a groups			
United States		0.13	0.10	0.19			
Great Britain	2	4.35	1.06	3.81			
France	2	0.00 †	2.96	1.44			
Germany	2	0.36	0.93	1.19			

# TABLE 160 Average Duration of Business Cycles before and after 1914 Four Countries

Derived from the monthly reference dates in Table 16.

†Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in twenty times by chance.

# VII Conclusions from Tests

Before attempting to draw conclusions from the tests in this chapter, it is well to note their limitations. All our tests are based on a small sample of series. They are restricted to this country except for measures of the duration of business cycles. They are arranged for the most part according to mechanical criteria. The probability tests we have used are based on assumptions that are not fully met by cyclical measures. More troublesome still, the number of cycles in our test series is small, only twentythree at its largest. These series cover a long stretch relatively to most monthly series in our collection, but not relatively to the history of business economy. Hence our experiments may mean that cyclical behavior in fact has usually been free from 'substantial' and 'significant' secular changes; but they also may mean that the influence of secular changes is too small to be detected reliably by means of the data and techniques employed.

These remarks severely limit the conclusions that we may draw concerning secular changes in cyclical behavior. But the aims of this chapter are also modest. We have not been concerned with the question whether secular or structural changes are characteristic of cyclical behavior, but with the narrower question whether such changes have been so prominent as to discredit the use of averages. We can say with confidence that, on the whole, secular or structural changes have not impressed their influence very strongly on the cyclical behavior of our sample of seven American series or on the durations of business cycles in our four countries. From experience in handling numerous time series, we judge that our sample is tolerably representative in this respect of the great bulk of economic series, except those of very narrow coverage. Hence, we see no serious obstacle, so far as secular changes are concerned, to the use of averages to express in a preliminary way what cyclical behavior has been characteristic of different economic activities in recent decades.

If secular changes usually account for only a small portion of the cyclical variability in our time series, two corollaries follow. First, averages covering all cycles in a series can usually generalize the cyclical behavior of the series, if that is to be done at all, about as well as evolving averages or subperiod averages. Second, it is safe, ordinarily, to use in different connections averages based upon different groups of cycles for the same series, and we may even compare averages for different series based upon different periods.

# VIII Preparation for Later Work

These conclusions, however, cannot be applied casually or mechanically. Our analysis has disclosed what we take to be several genuine instances of secular or structural change in cyclical behavior. It also suggests, however faintly, that the cyclical behavior of money markets has been more sensitive to secular factors than the cyclical behavior of security or industrial markets, that the duration of specific cycles has been influenced less than their timing or amplitude, and that the amplitude of business fluctuations may have increased since 1914. Quite apart from our specific results, it hardly seems possible that the widespread secular changes that have taken place in economic organization-such as the increasing scale of business enterprise, the spread of absentee ownership, the building up of colonial empires, the disappearance of our frontier, the commercialization of agriculture, the declining rate of population growth, the development of installment selling, the increasing role of government in economic affairs, and many others-have not left their mark on business cycles. Hence, we scrutinize closely the cyclical measures for each series in succeeding monographs, note secular changes in cyclical behavior that appear in the light of the surrounding facts to be significant, and thus prepare materials that should prove suggestive in a later attack on the problem of cumulative changes in business cycles.

These steps would be essential even if we knew in advance that business cycles were uniform in the long run. In an expanding economic system, characterized by continual accessions of new industries and an absolute or relative decline of old industries, secular changes might be

## 414 SECULAR CHANGES IN CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

found in the cyclical behavior of each industry and yet be absent in industry as a whole; just as retardation in the growth of individual industries is compatible with a uniform rate of growth or even acceleration of total industrial production. To show how changing practices in industry, commerce, and finance penetrate the world of business and what their cyclical repercussions are, is one of the most important problems to be tackled in the theoretical volume of this series.

Studies of secular movements by several investigators have shown that many industries have similar histories. During the experimental years of a new industry, or the period when an old industry gets its first taste of the Industrial Revolution, the rate of growth is usually moderate. When the methods of production have been stabilized and a wide demand for the product at a profitable price has been assured, the rate of growth is rapid. As technical improvements are added, prices fall relatively to the products of older industries, and markets keep expanding. But after a point, every fresh advance encounters increasingly stiff resistance from older industries and even more from new industries endowed with the freshness and vigor of youth. Finally, a stage of decline may set in, when the product is superseded by some other article that gives more satisfaction in proportion to its cost.<sup>23</sup>

Some of our time series are long enough to show industries passing through two or more of these 'stages', and the secular changes ordinarily affect cyclical behavior as we measure it. The intra-cycle trend and the tilt of the cyclical patterns shift with the rate of growth. The duration of the expansions and contractions of specific cycles, the amplitude of rise relative to the fall, the leads or lags at the reference turns, the indexes of conformity, indeed, nearly all of our measures may be influenced.<sup>24</sup> Sometimes the record is long enough to yield two or three sets of averages, one representing the stage of rapid growth, another the stage of moderate growth; or one representing the high tide, another the stage of comparative stability, and perhaps a third the decline of the industry. In other instances, the best we can do is to exclude from the averages two or three early or late cycles that represent a fragment of life history too short to yield significant averages, but too different from most of the record to be lumped with it.

An instructive illustration of secular change in cyclical behavior is provided by the history of American railroads.<sup>25</sup> Chart 59 shows cyclical

<sup>25</sup> Secular changes in the cyclical behavior of railroad investment will be discussed at length in our monograph on construction work.

<sup>23</sup> See Simon Kuznets, Secular Movements in Production and Prices (Houghton Mifflin, 1930), Ch. I, III, V-VI, and Arthur F. Burns, Production Trends in the United States since 1870, pp. 79-82, 96-173, and 270-81.

<sup>24</sup> See W. C. Mitchell and A. F. Burns, The National Bureau's Measures of Cyclical Behavior (National Bureau of Economic Research, *Bulletin 57*, July 1, 1935), pp. 16-17; also above, Ch. 7, particularly Sec. VI.

## PREPARATION FOR LATER WORK

CHART 59

Average Patterns of Four Successive Groups of Reference Cycles Railroad Traffic and Investment, United States, 1870–1933



Horizontal scale, in months 12 ze 36 es 6 The disturbed cycle 19:4 - 19:5 somited. For sources of data, etc., see Appendis C; for explanation of chart, Ch. 5, Sec. YII. The intervals between successive stages for ton-miles and orders differ slightly, since the former series is monthly and the latter quarterly.

-

415

## 416 SECULAR CHANGES IN CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

patterns of orders for durable railroad goods and of freight ton-miles of traffic during four groups of business cycles since 1870. For a time the opportunities for profits in railroads seemed boundless, and investments in railway plant increased at a vigorous rate. A cyclical depression in general business checked new investment, but the check was comparatively brief; for even during depressions railroads were able to gain new traffic from other transport agencies and to carry that traffic over longer distances. Hence we find railroad construction leading by long intervals and playing an 'active' part in cyclical revivals. But the sharp rate of growth of new railroad lines could not be continued indefinitely. Once the business of rival agencies was fairly well captured and the continent crisscrossed with railroad lines, the addition of new mileage often resulted merely in a duplication of existing facilities. A period of rate wars, maneuvers for control of competing lines, and outright consolidations set in. The incentive to construct new lines diminished, while the need for betterments and additions increased. These changes reinforced one another, so far as their effects on cyclical timing are concerned. The expansion of auxiliary industries to a point where they could meet orders by railroads more quickly than in earlier times worked to the same end. Railroad enterprises tended to become more cautious, to give less weight in making investment decisions to favorable building costs and money market conditions, and to give more weight to the traffic in sight. These tendencies were quickened as new transport agencies-interurban railways, trucks, motor buses, passenger automobiles, pipe lines, airplanes, and revived waterways-emerged and battled the railroads for traffic as mercilessly as the railroads in their youth had battled their rivals. Chart 59 shows the progressive changes in the cyclical timing of fixed railroad investments that resulted from these complex forces. As the trend of railway traffic flattened out and its cyclical fluctuations became intensified, the leads of new investments at business-cycle revivals became irregularly weaker, vanished, and finally were replaced by lags.<sup>26</sup>

In certain activities cyclical behavior is free from secular change, yet is not steady in the long run. For an extended period a series may follow a characteristic pattern, then shift abruptly to another pattern. When we encounter such cases, we strike separate averages for the period preceding and following the discontinuous shift. For example, railroad freight rates in the United States, so far as we may judge from receipts per ton-mile, tended to conform positively to business cycles before about 1890; after that date they usually move invertedly. This shift is due, at least in part, to the regulative activities of the Interstate Commerce Commission established in 1887, which made the adjustment of freight rates to

28 By applying variance analysis to the leads or lags (in cycle-stage units) of the series on orders of durable railroad goods at reference troughs, using the groups shown on the chart, we get a variance ratio of 3.42, which is very close to the .05 point (3.59).

cyclical changes in general business a more deliberate and time-consuming process. Another example is the reduction in the cyclical amplitude of short-term interest rates after the introduction of the Federal Reserve system, on which we commented above. A still neater example is found in the history of silver prices. During the two centuries prior to the 1870's, the price of silver relatively to the price of gold was virtually free from cyclical fluctuations. Since that time, the progressive 'demonetization' of silver has been accompanied by exceptionally violent flucuations in its gold price.<sup>27</sup>

Many of our foreign series seem to support the view that an abrupt change occurred around 1914 in the economic activities of Western Europe. The change is evident in certain series on production, trade and employment. It is reflected most sharply in monetary series, as should be expected from the intermittent existence of the gold standard and the changes in the methods of operating it since 1914. For instance, the metallic reserves of the Bank of France moved invertedly to business cycles without exception from 1872 to 1914, but bear an extremely irregular relation to business cycles since 1914. The ratio of reserves to liabilities in the Bank of England conforms about as well to business cycles after 1914 as before, but the cycles have become more intense. In these and similar instances, as already stated, we strike separate averages for the period before and after the discontinuous shift.

We trust that these illustrations convey a more adequate notion of the manner in which we actually use averages than do the brief statements in preceding chapters. Our primary interest at this stage of our work, to repeat, is in average cyclical behavior. We proceed on the belief that business cycles have been sufficiently stable 'in the long run' to justify the effort to develop a systematic and detailed picture of what happens during an 'average' or 'typical' business cycle. But we conceive of this picture as being merely a first approximation to our ultimate goal, which is to explain the business cycles of actual life. Hence we are also preparing materials as well as we now can on secular and discontinuous changes in cyclical behavior. Once our basic analysis of time series is completed, we plan to collate the results for the longest series, note what regularities they suggest, then scrutinize all our series, those covering only a half-dozen cycles as well as those covering ten or more cycles, in the light of these suggestions. We expect that these studies will help us not only to determine what secular or discontinuous changes have taken place in specific and business cycles, but also to explain how the business cycles of actual life typically have run their course.

27 See George F. Warren and Frank A. Pearson, Prices (John Wiley, 1933), pp. 142-4.

## CHAPTER 11

# Cyclical Changes in Cyclical Behavior

**T**HE HYPOTHESIS that business cycles are minor subdivisions of 'major' or 'long' cycles raises the same fundamental question concerning the use of averages as the hypothesis of secular change in cyclical behavior. If business cycles differed radically from one another according to their position within major cycles, we would not be justified in striking averages on our standard plan. One of our main objectives would then be to bring out this variation, and for that purpose we would require separate averages of the cycles occupying corresponding positions within major cycles. Even in contrasting the cyclical behavior of different activities in the long run it would be necessary to take account of the major cycles; for the averages would be biased unless they covered periods including an integral number of major cycles.

In this chapter we shall examine several outstanding hypotheses concerning major cycles to see if we can find pronounced and repetitive changes in business cycles within the periods suggested by the hypotheses. Our problem is not whether long cycles exist in general economic activity, but whether they are so strongly impressed on economic time series that they should control working plans at this stage of our study. In making this survey we use the seven time series and the measures of business-cycle duration analyzed in the preceding chapter.

## I Long Cycles Marked Off by Long Waves in Building

We begin with a hypothesis suggested by the behavior of the building industry. Our studies indicate that building construction is characterized by long cycles of remarkably regular duration. They run usually from about fifteen to twenty years; they are clear-cut in outline, attain enormous amplitudes, and are paralleled by long cycles in other real estate

	Twen	ty-five	Annua	l Amer	ican Se	ries	0				
	Period covered	No. of long cycles	Average duration			Average in long-cycle relatives					
Series				in months	lion	Am	plitud	le of	Pe amp	r mor olitude	nth ° of
			Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Full cycle	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall
ER CAPITA PERMITS, U.S.											
Unadjusted	1830-1933	6	106	100	206	130	128	259	1.4	1.3	1.4
Unadjusted	1878-1933	3	112	108	220	111	110	221	1.1	1.0	1.1
Adjusted	1830-1933	6	102	104	206	115	120	235	1.2	1.2	1.2
Adjusted	1878-1933	3	112	108	220	107	120	227	1.1	1.2	1.1
DJUSTED PER CAPITA ERMITS BY REGIONS											
New England	1879-1933	3	124	92	216	117	122	239	1.1	2.3	1.3
Middle Atlantic	1878-1933	3	96	124	220	112	126	238	1.3	1.1	1.1
South Atlantic	1879-1933	3	92	124	216	105	121	226	1.2	1.0	1.1
East North Central.	1878-1933	3	128	92	220	118	138	256	1.0	1.5	1.2
West North Central.	1877-1932	3	112	108	220	115	122	238	1.1	1.2	1.1
South Central	1878-1933	3	140	80	220	111	130	241	1.0	1.6	1.2
Western	1878-1932	3	100	116	216	157	161	317	1.7	1.5	1.5
EW BUILDING PERMITS						l			ţ .	l	1
Manhattan	1877-1933	3	140	84	224	148	134	282	1.3	1.5	1.3
Brooklyn	1879-1933	3	96	120	216	159	143	302	1.9	1.2	1.4
Chicago	1862-1933	4	126	87	213	213	187	400	1.8	2.2	1.9
Philadelphia	1900-1933	2	96	102	198	140	154	294	1.6	1.6	1.6
Detroit	1878-1933	2	264	66	330	258	232	490	0.9	3.0	1.4
St. Louis	1878-1932	3	108	108	216	163	152	314	1.7	1.5	1.5

1897--1933

1918-1934

1877-1932

1900-1933

1900-1933

1877-1933

1908-1935

2

1

3

2

2

2

1

5

4

6

144

96

116

96

90

252

204

122

180

112

72

96

104

102

108

84

120

91

51

90

216

192

220

198

198

336

324

214

231

202

193 182 375 1.7 4.8 1.8

159 158 317 1.5 1.6 1.5

176 191 366 2.0 1.9 2.0

202

250 244 494 11.5

238 254 492

323

429

248

158 186

214

325 648

408 837

248 496

344

416 2.3 2.0

1.9

3.0

3.9 3.0

3.5

2.3 11.3

1.6

1.2 2.1 1.5

2.8

2.5

1.8

2.2

1.7

3.6

2.5

# TABLE 161 Average Duration and Amplitude of Long Cycles in Building Construction Twenty-five Annual American Series

The series on 'per capita permits' are index numbers of building permits issued in a sample of American cities. The 'unadjusted' data are corrected for changes in population only; the 'adjusted' data are corrected for changes in population, construction costs, and secular trend. The index numbers were taken from John R. Riggleman, Variation: In Building Activity in United States Cities (unpublished Johns Hopkins dissertation, 1934). See John R. Riggleman and Ira N. Frisbee, Business Statistics (McGraw-Hill, 1938, 2nd ed.), Appendix VI.

The series on building permits in individual cities are expressed in dollars, except residential permits in St. Louis which refer to number of dwelling units.

Except for St. Louis, the series on 'new' building permits exclude alterations and additions. Full descriptions and references will be supplied in our monograph on construction work, which will discuss in detail long cycles in building construction and related activities in the United States and foreign countries.

All measures in this table are subject to revision. Since the preparation of the table, improved data for a few series have become available. Also, the amplitude measures shown here are expressed as relatives of cycle bases which assign the same weight to every year from the initial through the terminal trough -a plan we formerly followed in handling annual data. At present we compute cycle bases by assigning a weight of one-half each to the initial and terminal troughs.

\*Unweighted average.

é

F

1

r

Minneapolis.....

Pittsburgh.....

Manhattan.

Philadelphia.....

Manhattan.....

Philadelphia.....

Chicago..... 1843-1932

Detroit area..... 1841-1918

Pittsburgh area.... 1831-1932

:

1

## 420 CYCLICAL CHANGES IN CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

processes. Table 161 shows the average durations and amplitudes of the long cycles found in twenty-five annual series on American building activity. Table 162 shows how the specific cycles in building vary according as they occur during the upswing or the downswing of the long building cycles.<sup>1</sup> The specific cycles that follow a protracted lull in building tend to have long expansions and short contractions, rapid rises and slow declines; therefore the rises are especially large relatively to the declines. Once the tide of building activity turns, these relations between expansions and contractions are reversed. We may say that the structure of the first group of specific cycles constitutes the upswing of a long cycle, and the structure of the second group of specific cycles constitutes the downswing of the long cycle. Or we may look at these relations from the viewpoint of long cycles and say that, as a rule, during long-cycle expansions the specific-cycle expansions are relatively long and pronounced, while during long-cycle contractions the specific-cycle expansions are relatively brief and mild. Opposite relations characterize specific-cycle contractions.

In view of the magnitude of the building industry and the amplitude of its long waves, it is desirable to see whether the cyclical alternations in the specific cycles of building construction are paralleled by similar alternations in business cycles. Presumably the long cycles in building influence industrial activity at large by producing retardations and accelerations in growth, not actual declines and rises. Perhaps in financial and monetary series we may find actual declines and rises as frequently as retardations and accelerations. But whatever may be the intensity of the reaction of other processes to long building cycles, so long as these reactions are regular and recurrent the durations and amplitudes of the expansions of specific cycles in leading activities should be larger relatively to the durations and amplitudes of full specific cycles when the 'trend' of building is upward than when it is downward. According as the 'trend of building is upward or downward, we may also expect the durations and amplitudes of specific-cycle expansions to be comparatively large or small, and the durations and amplitudes of specific-cycle contractions to be small or large.

To test these expectations we compare averages of the business and specific cycles that come during the upswing of long building cycles with averages of the business and specific cycles that come during the downswing of long building cycles. The first step is to fit business and specific cycles into the periods of long building cycles (Table 163). In distributing business cycles between the upswings and downswings of the successive long cycles, we follow the rule that the period matched with an upswing

<sup>1</sup> By 'long building cycles' or 'long cycles in building construction' we mean long cycles in the construction of buildings, not long cycles in the aggregate volume of construction work. The existence of long cycles in aggregate construction has not been definitely established.

2
6
•
сa)
Ч
<b>m</b>
<
H

ł ; Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Cycles in Building Construction

Twenty-five Annual American Series

		Sp	ecific cycles du	uring upsv	vings of lor	ig cycles		Sp	ecific cycles du	ring down	swings of	long cycle	
	Derical			Averag	te in specifi	ic-cycle re	latives			Averag	ge in speci	fic-cycle n	lative
Serice	covered	Average in m	duration onths	Ampli	tude of	Per m amplitu	onth de <sup>*</sup> of	Average in n	c duration	Ampli	tude of	Per m amplitu	onth ide <sup>*</sup> of
		Expansion	Contraction	Rise	Fall	Rise	Fall	Expansion	Contraction	Rise	Fall	Rise	Fall
PER CAPITA PERMITS, U. S. Mandimend	1830-1933	41	15	70	17	1 8	1 3	15	34	15	62	1.0	1.8
Adjusted	1830-1933	<del>,</del> 4	22	2 39	:=	2.2	0.5	14	8	:=	5	0.8	2.0
ADJUSTED PER CAPITA PERMITS BY REGIONS										1			
New England	1879-1933	28	20	25	55	2.2	1.0	4 2	21	:: :: ::	20	0.9	2.2
Middle Atlantic	001 - 0181 1879 - 1933	0 <b>4</b>	10 28	: 99	3 2	2.8	0.7	: 6	2 F2	14	f <del>8</del>	0.8	2.4
East North Central.	1878-1933	46	22	3.3	23	2.2	1.3	18	48	12	86	0.7	2.4
West North Central	1877 - 1932	23	15	45	17	2.3	1.1	12	28	Ξ	47	0.9	1.7
South Central	1878 - 1933	<b>6</b>	19	58	25	1.4	4	1 12	57	÷	5 3	6.0 1 1	1.8
W CSICERD.	2641-8/81	6	6	N71	ĉ	<b>N</b> -7	:	71	2	2	3	:	
NEW BUILDING PERMITS Manhatian	1877 - 1933	30	17	69	36	2.8	2.4	21	24	77	66	3.3	3.7
Brooklyn	1879-1933	r F	12	19	18	3.1	1.5	14	31	22	59	1.6	1.7
Chicago	1862 - 1933	30	13	82	23	3.0	1.9	18	34	31	85	1.9	3.2
Philadclphia	1900 - 1933	26	20	86	<b>4</b>	4.3	2.1	16	<b>1</b> 2	19	ତ	1.0	2.0
Detroit	1878 - 1933	34	17	6	53	2.5	4.	12	<b>4</b> 0	58	5	2:	2.7
St. Louis	1878 - 1932	5	14	5 2	- -		0.0 0	12	5	2 2	20	22	0.2
Minneapolis	1897 - 1933	<del>6</del>	12	2 ;	= '	0	5.0	<u>e</u> :	17	08			
Pittsburgh.	1918 - 1934	42	12	80	1	1.8	0.0	12	42	80	11	7.C	0.2
RESIDENTIAL PERMITS	CEO1 2201	2	;	00	5	1 6	4 1		28	F	108	4 5	4.0
Philadelphia	261-0061	33		6	3 4	5.2	3.2	96	295	57	134	1.6	2.4
St. Louis	1900-1933	29	12	85	80	3.4	0.7	12	48	32	126	2.7	2.6
COMMERCIAL & INDUSTRIAL PERMITS		1	Ş				ì	•		3			0
Manhaltan	5501 - 1/81   2001 - 1/81	<del>4</del> 2	5	3 2	81	4 F	0.5	•••	2		1	0.0	
Philadelphia	1908 - 1935	24	21	ç	٩			61	87	ŝ	*	<b>D</b> .c	1.0
SUBDIVISION ACTIVITY	LEU: 270;	2	ų	107	1.77	7 8	1 0	;	45	60	210	5	64
Culicago.	2001 - 0401 9101 - 1491	55	1 1	701	10			191	5 5	5	142	4.2	7.8
Pittsburgh area	1831 - 1932	3 4	21	130	; 2	5.2	4.2	16	37	38	123	2.0	3.9
	30/1 1001	5		3		;	!						
See note to Table 161. Each series is bru	oken according	t to the upswi	ngs and down	swings of	and cit	ies synchr	onize fair	ly closely. S	ee Ch. 6 conce	erning bias	ses of cycl	ical measu	ıres made
the long cycles in that series. The results	would not diff	er materially i	if all scrics wer	e broken	from ar	nual data							
according to the long cycles in the nation	nal index, sinc	e the long cy	cles of differen	t regions		ighted av	crage.						

.

## LONG WAVES IN BUILDING

Т	A	B	L	E	1	6	3	

Lon	ng building cyc	les*	Business cycles						
Phase	Nature	Duration of phase	Corresponding	No. of pha this p	uses during period				
		(years)	period	Expansion	Contraction				
1853-1862	D	9	1853 – June 1861	2	3				
1862-1871	U	9	June 1861 - Oct. 1873	3	2				
1871-1878	D	7	Oct. 1873 - Mar.1879	0	1				
1878-1890	U	12	Mar. 1879 - July 1890	3	2				
1890-1900	D	10	July 1890 - Dec. 1900	3	4				
1900-1909	U	9	Dec. 1900 - Jan. 1910	3	2				
1909-1918	D	9	Jan. 1910 - Apr. 1919	2	3				
1918-1925	U	7	Apr. 1919 - Oct. 1926	3	2				
1925-1933	D	8	Oct. 1926 - Mar.1933	1	2				

Relations in	Time	between	Business	Cycles	and	Long	Building	Cycles
		Unite	d States,	1853-1	1933			

•As shown by Riggleman's annual index of building permits per capita in the United States (unadjusted). See note to Table 161.

<sup>b</sup>D stands for downswing (contraction), U for upswing (expansion).

•The italicized dates are cyclical peaks, according to our reference dates in Table 16. The monthly reference dates start in Dec. 1854; hence the peak of 1853 omits the month.

in building must start with a trough and end with a peak and that the period matched with a downswing in building must start with a peak and end with a trough. The specific cycles of our sample series in turn are fitted as closely as possible into the distribution of business cycles.<sup>2</sup> In distributing the expansions and contractions of specific and business cycles we include virtually every cycle covered by our analysis.<sup>8</sup> But in distributing full cycles we omit the cycles that overlap periods of rising and falling building 'trends'.<sup>4</sup>

Chart 60 shows average patterns of the specific cycles of each series that occur during the upswings and during the downswings of long building cycles. Chart 61 shows average reference cycles on the same basis, except that it is restricted to the period since 1879, which is covered by all seven series. The outstanding feature of the charts is the similarity between the two specific-cycle and between the two reference-cycle patterns of each series. There are indeed numerous divergencies; sometimes they are considerable, as in the specific-cycle patterns of railroad stock prices and in the reference-cycle patterns of share trading. But the dominating impression is that the differences among the cyclical patterns of our several series are far greater than the differences between the patterns for

2 In a few instances, especially in railroad bond yields, arbitrary decisions are unavoidable. Appendix Table B5 shows what cycles are placed in each group for the characteristics that we measure. Appendix Tables B1-B4 supply measures for individual cycles, both specific and reference.

<sup>3</sup>Four phases are omitted; in these instances it was impossible to fit the specific-cycle phases into the business-cycle phases without infringing the principle of the classification. See Appendix Table B5.

**4** If specific cycles were marked off by peaks instead of by troughs, the cycles now excluded would have to be included, while the cycles overlapping periods of falling and rising building 'trends' would be excluded. Inverted analysis can thus serve as a check upon positive analysis.

CHART 60

### Average Specific-cycle Patterns during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Cycles in Building Construction Seven American Series



Horizontal scale, in months

4

24 36 48

See Appendix Tables B1 and B5. For explanation of chart, see Ch. 5, Sec. VI.





- 423 --

. ---

4

#### CHART 81

### Average Reference-cycle Patterns during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Cycles in Building Construction, 1879–1933 Seven American Series

- Railroad bond yields
   Deflated clearings
- 3 Railroad stock prices4 Pig iron production
  - 5 Shares traded
- 6 Call money rates
- 7 Freight car orders<sup>a</sup>



See Appendia Table B3. \* See Chart 98, note 's'.

.





- 424 --

425

each series. Chart 60 suggests that any description we might frame of specific cycles would be fundamentally similar whether we looked at the specific cycles that come during the upswings of long building cycles, at those that come during downswings, or ignored this principle of classification and drew our account from the full list of cycles. Chart 61 suggests that there is also little difference between the business cycles that come during the downswings; though we should bear in mind that no small sample of business activities can depict adequately the characteristics of business cycles. On the whole the reference-cycle patterns during periods of declining building 'trends'; the similarity is especially close if we ignore share trading and drop the exceptional cycle of 1927–33 from the averages.

We pass to the question whether the differences in cyclical behavior between periods of rising and falling building 'trends' are statistically significant. The long lines representing average deviations in Chart 60 suggest that many of the differences within each pair of patterns arise from 'random' factors. To judge this point objectively we analyze the cyclical durations and amplitudes in Table 164. Columns (2), (3), (5)-(7), and (9) are designed to show whether there are cyclical alternations in specific and business cycles that parallel the cyclical alternations in the specific cycles of building construction. Of the 45 comparisons in these columns the 30 marked by an asterisk show differences in the direction one expects long building cycles to produce, 11 show differences in the opposite direction and 4 are neutral. But the variance ratios indicate that none of the differences in these columns are 'significantly large'; also, that when the averages differ in the expected direction, the variance between periods of rising and falling building 'trends' is frequently smaller than the variance within these periods. The preponderance of differences in the direction suggested by the hypothesis under test would carry weight if our sample series were independent. But we know that they are more or less closely correlated. Chart 61 shows that if we include observations on all business cycles from 1879 to 1933 business-cycle contractions seem to be longer and more intense during downswings than during upswings of long building cycles; but this showing is nearly reversed when the 1927-33 cycle is excluded from the averages.

The specific cycles in building construction do not lead us to expect any regular differences in the duration or amplitude of full cycles between periods of rising and falling building 'trends'. It is conceivable, nevertheless, that business cycles might be shorter during upswings than during downswings of long building cycles, while the secular trends of individual economic activities rose more swiftly during the upswings than during the downswings. Under these circumstances the rise of the

### TABLE 164

Upswings and Do	wnswing	gs of Lor	ng Cycle	s in Ame	rican B	uilding	Constr	uction
Series and phase	Av. dur business	ation of sp s cycles in	ecific or months	Av. ratio of expan-	Av. specifi	amplitu c-cycle r	de in elatives	Av. ratio of rise
of long cycles in building	Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Full cycle	sion to full cycle	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	to total rise & fall
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
DEFLATED CLEARINGS								
Upswings	28	9	38	.74	27	11	37	.66
Downswings	32	13	42	.75	25	16	37	.66
Difference	-3	-4*	-5	02	+2*	-5*	0	0
PIG IRON PRODUCTION				[ [		ĺ		
Upswings	30	11	43	.75	63	52	119	.57
Downswings	27	17	46	.58	61	57	128	.50
Difference	+3*	-6*	-3	+.17*	+2*	-4*	-9	+.07*
FREIGHT CAR ORDERS							-	
Linswings	19	20	43	51	190	172	354	52
Downswings.	17	22	40	41	245	235	496	50
Difference	+2*	-2*	+2	+ 10*	-55	-63*	-141	+ 02*
RAU BOAD STOCK PRICES		-	. 2					1.02
Linewinge	32	21	40	58	41	20	75	50
Downswings	10	21	36	50	20	34	41	
Difference	+13*		+14		+21 +	-5*	+34	.4/ ± 12*
	115		114	1.00	121		1.54	1.12
In-winge	10	20	44	40	04		200	
Devenue	17	20	40	.40	101	90	209	.54
Difference	1/	25	40	.34	101	0	205	.49
Digerence	- <b>T</b> I	ן ני ן	-1	T.00	-5	ту	тJ	+.05
CALL MONEY RATES			10		110			
Opswings	20	20	39	.40	119	118	225	.46
Downswings.	20	1/	36	.58	111	115	214	.54
Difference	U	+5	+3	12	+8*	+4	+10	08
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS								
Upswings	22	18	41	.56	12	10	23	.52
Downswings.	20	18	39	.56	9	14	24	.47
Difference	+2*	0	+2	+.01*	+2•	-3*	-1	+.05*
BUSINESS CYCLES			-					1
Upswings	26	21	47	.54	• •	••		
Downswings	24	22	43	.56				
Difference	+2*	-1*	+4	02				
	Ra	atio of var	iance bet	ween grouj	ps to vari	ance wit	hin grou	ps
Deflated clearings	0.42	0.63	0.95	0.03	0.05	0.46	0.00§	0.00+
Pig iron production	0.21	1.55	0.17	2.44	0.03	0.06	0.19	0.53
Freight car orders	0.12	0.10	0.06	0.99	1.08	1.16	1.34	0.41
Railroad stock prices	2.00	0.00\$	1.79	0.66	4.32	0.12	6.14J	1.65
Shares traded	0.06	0.19	0.01	0.29	0.05	0.17	0.01	1.36

### Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Seven Series and Average Duration of Business Cycles during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Cycles in American Building Construction

All measures are made from specific or business cycles marked off by troughs. The measures for business cycles are derived from the monthly reference dates in Table 16. The measures for cyclical phases include some cycles not covered by the measures for full cycles; hence the discrepancies between the averages. For a full list of the cycles included in each group, see Appendix Table B5. The entries designated 'difference' are computed from averages carried to one more place than is shown in the table.

0.35

0.10

0.29

1.74

0.00 †

0.04

0.07

0.40

0.01

0.81

.-

0.04

0.02

3.33

0.21

\* Indicates that the difference accords with expectations stated in the text; no definite expectations are advanced for col. (4) and (8).

Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance.

0.00 +

0.06

0.31

Call money rates.....

Railroad bond yields. .

Business cycles . . . . .

†Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in twenty times by chance.

0.80

0.01

0.02

Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in a thousand times by chance.

426

specific cycles in individual activities could be the same during upswings and downswings; likewise the fall, the ratio of the rise to the total rise and fall, and the ratio of the expansion to the duration of full cycles. But column (4) in Table 164 does not suggest any cyclical alternation in the durations of specific or business cycles within the periods of long building cycles. Nor does column (8) suggest a cyclical alternation in the amplitudes of full specific cycles. The average durations and amplitudes of full cycles differ from upswing to downswing in almost every instance; but the differences lack consistency, few are substantial, and only one is 'significantly large'.

It does not follow from the evidence we have presented that long cycles in building construction fail to leave their stamp on economic activity at large. This important industry must make its influence felt in many branches of economic life.5 The fact that most of the differences between the phases of the specific cycles in our series are in the direction that we should expect long building cycles to produce, that this is true without exception of pig iron production, and that several variance ratios for railroad stock prices are moderately high, may well be more than a statistical accident. It is even possible to argue from the evidence as it stands that long building cycles *tend* to give rise to a cyclical rhythm in business cycles, though as already stated we doubt that this argument can carry much conviction. Letting that be as it may, two features of the evidence seem incontestable and they suffice for our present purpose. First, the behavior of specific and business cycles does not differ greatly during periods of rising and falling building 'trends'. Second, the differences between these periods are by no means clear or uniform. We therefore see no compelling reason at the present time, nor even any real justification, for organizing cyclical measures of our time series on the assumption that business cycles undergo cyclical swings within periods of long building cycles.

## II Long Cycles as Deviations from Trends

Hypotheses of long economic cycles are usually more sophisticated than the building hypothesis we have just investigated. Most students writing on this subject in recent years have worked out their hypotheses with the aid of collections of time series representing broad ranges of activities. In handling these records they use mathematical techniques to isolate long cycles, since the cycles they have in mind appear usually as accelerations and retardations in the original data, not as actual rises and declines. Thus

<sup>5</sup> Note again, however, that the construction of buildings is only a part of total construction work. During 1925-38 it accounted for approximately 60 per cent of the total value of construction in the United States.

## 428 CYCLICAL CHANGES IN CYCLICAL BEHAVIOR

by one device or another they fit lines of 'intermediate trend' which arc supposed to free the original data from what we call specific cycles. Next they fit lines of 'primary trend' which are supposed to free the data from intermediate trends as well as specific cycles. Finally, they express the ordinates of intermediate trend as deviations from ordinates of primary trend, and in this way expose what they consider major cycles. The studies of 'major cycles' by Wardwell, 'secondary secular variations' by Kuznets, 'long waves' by Kondratieff, and 'trend cycles' by Burns follow this general plan.

The studies by Kuznets and Burns are the most extensive statistical investigations in this field, but unfortunately they are not suited to our present needs. Burns' investigation of 'trend cycles' covers the period from 1870 to 1930 in the United States. It concludes with a chronology of decades during which production and other economic activities increased at a particularly rapid or moderate pace. This chronology is much too coarse for our needs.<sup>6</sup> We are also forced to pass by Kuznets' investigation which covers a still longer period and several countries besides the United States, because K uznets did not draw up a list of dates showing the peaks and troughs of his 'secondary secular variations'. In attempting to determine such a chronology from his American series, we found their turning points so widely dispersed that we could have little confidence in any list we ourselves might extract.<sup>7</sup>

Wardwell's investigation supplies what the studies by Kuznets and Burns lack-an annual chronology of major economic cycles. This investigation is based upon ten American, three British and four German quarterly series, covering from 37 to 71 years. Wardwell finds 'major cycles' in all his series. Their average duration varies from seven to nineteen years. He believes that the clusters of the peaks and troughs of the American series are so well defined that "it seems safe to conclude that the year 1890 marked the peak of a major cycle common to those series, the year 1895 the trough of this common major cycle, 1906 the next peak, 1914 the succeeding trough, and 1918 the most recent peak." The British materials seem inconclusive, but the German series "indicate, with considerable probability, the existence of a major cycle common to all of them, reaching a peak in 1890, a trough in 1892, a peak in 1898, and a trough in 1903." Wardwell speaks of his major cycles as comprising typically three or four business cycles; the initial trough of the major cycle is supposed to coincide with the trough of a severe business-cycle depression, and the peak of the major cycle is supposed to come at the time of the peak of the second business cycle in the group of three or four.8

8 See A. F. Burns, Production Trends in the United States since 1870, Ch. V.

7 See Simon Kuznets, Secular Movements in Production and Prices, Ch. IV.

8 Charles A. R. Wardwell, An Investigation of Economic Data for Major Cycles (Philadelphia, 1927), especially pp. 83-5, 125-82.

Our reference dates for business cycles do not support Wardwell's chronology of major cycles in Germany. Wardwell finds a major cycle between 1890 and 1898; we find merely one business cycle instead of three or four during a slightly longer period, 1890 to 1900. Our list of American business cycles agrees better with Wardwell's scheme, but again discrepancies turn up. We find three business cycles between 1907 and 1918, but as many as five from 1890 to 1907 and again from 1896 to 1914. The peaks of Wardwell's major cycles come in the third business cycle of the major cycle starting in 1895 and in the first business cycle of the major cycle starting in 1914, instead of in the second business cycle as expected. In view of these discrepancies we must reject Wardwell's suggestion concerning the manner in which business cycles group themselves into major cycles.

Wardwell's findings on major cycles can, of course, be divorced from his suggested grouping of business cycles. But the alleged major cycles cover much too short a period to justify detailed testing. As things stand we can learn merely what happened during a period of less than thirty years, including only two major cycles, one of which is dominated by war. During the upswing from 1895 to 1906 we find two business-cycle contractions, in 1899-1900 and 1903-04. Since they are the only contractions during the upswings dated by Wardwell, we should not regard any difference between them and the contractions during downswings as important evidence for or against the hypothesis that business cycles vary cyclically. The second upswing consists entirely of the war prosperity from 1914 to 1918, which is more properly regarded as a cyclical expansion dominated by 'random forces' than as a member of a sequence of business cycles that regularly generate major cycles. This expansion was exceptionally long; <sup>9</sup> if we include it we are bound to get distorted results, while if we exclude it our observations on expansions during upswings are confined to a single upswing. In view of these facts we do not attempt a detailed analysis of Wardwell's scheme, but merely compare referencecycle patterns.

Chart 62 presents the average patterns of our series for the four business cycles during Wardwell's two downswings and for the two business cycles during one of his upswings.<sup>10</sup> We see that the average patterns differ

<sup>9</sup> Our monthly chronology discloses only three longer expansions: one during the Civil War, another following the great contraction of 1929-33, and the expansion in process since May 1938. Thus three of the four longest expansions since 1854 have been war expansions. See pp. 90-4.

10 The chart omits the business cycles of 1904–08 and 1914–19 which overlap the upswing and downswing of the major cycles; since our rule is that the period matched with an upswing start and end with an expansion and the period matched with a downswing start and end with a contraction. This rule does not cover adequately the business cycle from the trough of June 1894 to the trough of June 1897. Since the annual troughs of this cycle are 1894 and 1896, and Wardwell's major-cycle trough comes in 1895, we have as much warrant for matching the cycle with the upswing as the downswing. By placing it in the downswing we adopt the arrangement that, on the whole, is most favorable to Wardwell's scheme.

#### CHART 62

### Average Reference-cycle Patterns during the Upswings and Downswings of Wardwell's Major Cycles, 1891-1914 Seven American Series

Shares traded



ſ



-

-----

- 430 -

See Appendix Table B 3.

as Wardwell's scheme leads us to expect. The contraction is longer relatively to the expansion during the downswing than during the upswing; it is also deeper in most instances. Consequently the patterns of the reference cycles during the downswing tilt upward slightly or not at all, while most patterns during the upswing have a sharp upward tilt. These differences seem instructive, but we have no good reason for believing that Wardwell's chronology, if extended by his methods, would confirm the traces of a cycle of cycles. We have found it impossible to date from Wardwell's records a representative trough before the peak of 1890, although eight of his ten American series go back to the 1870's or earlier. In any event, apart from the difference in tilt, Chart 62 shows a basic similarity in the relations among our test series—a similarity all the more remarkable because so few cycles are included in the averages.<sup>11</sup>

## III Long Cycles Marked Off by Long Waves in Prices

We pass to Kondratieff's hypothesis, the most celebrated of the long-cycle 'theories'. For many years monetary writers have affirmed the existence of long waves in wholesale prices. The waves are supposed to last fifty to sixty years—a much longer period than is found in building construction, or in general economic activity according to Wardwell, Kuznets or Burns. The long waves in prices have usually been explained by accidental discoveries of gold deposits, improvements in gold refining, wars, and changes in the world's monetary systems. Kondratieff presents the more daring hypothesis that the long waves in wholesale prices are an organic part of a long cycle characteristic of capitalism.<sup>12</sup> Kondratieff's statistical investigations cover the leading industrial countries of the world; they are based mainly on value series, but include also small samples of physical volume series.

Table 165 shows the peaks and troughs of the long waves in wholesale prices in the United States, Great Britain, Germany and France.<sup>13</sup> Most of these dates fall within the turning zones of the long waves in the economic life of capitalist countries, as fixed by Kondratieff. Since 1790 there are only two complete long waves and an undetermined fraction of a third. Few series in our entire collection and none of the present sample go back so far. The longest series in our sample starts in 1857, while the monthly reference dates of business cycles in different countries start between

<sup>11</sup> See below, Sec. VI.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> N. D. Kondratieff, Die Langen Wellen der Konjunktur, Archiv für Sozialwissenschaft und Sozialpolitik, Dec. 1926. An abridged English translation of this article was published in the Review of Economic Statistics, Nov. 1935. See also Joseph A. Schumpeter, Business Cycles, Ch. IV-VII, and especially George Garvy, Kondratieff's Theory of Long Cycles. Review of Economic Statistics, Nov. 1945.

<sup>13</sup> We deliberately follow convention as closely as possible in the dating—a matter to which we return later in this section.

### TABLE 165

Peak and Trough Dates of Kondratieff's Long Waves and the Long Waves in Wholesale Prices of Four Countries

N	Turns in	Turns in long waves of wholesale prices <sup>a</sup>								
of turn	Kondratieff's long waves	United States	United Great States Britain		France					
Trough	Late 1780's or early 1790's	1789	1789	1793 <sup>b</sup>						
Peak	1810–17	1814	. 1813	1808	1820°					
Trough	1844–51	1843	1849	1849	1851					
Peak	1870–75	1864	1873	1873	1872-73					
Trough	1890-96	1896-97	1896	1895	1896					
Peak	1914-20	1920	1920	1923	1926					
Trough		1932ª	1933 <sup>a</sup>	1933ª	1935ª					

<sup>a</sup>See Chart 65. Later in this section we comment on the tendency of this table to oversimplify the facts and to exaggerate similarities among the countries. In dating the peaks and troughs for each country we have relied on annual index numbers based on currency prices.

UNITED STATES: Based on the Warren-Pearson index from 1797 to 1889, and the Bureau of Labor Statistics index since 1890. George F. Warren and Frank A. Pearson, Wholesale Prices in the United States for 135 Years, 1797 to 1932 (Cornell University Agricultural Experiment Station, *Memoir 142*, Part I, Nov. 1932); also U. S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, *Bulletin 572* and later publications. The trough in 1843 is not confirmed by the familiar Aldrich index which shows a trough in 1849, but it is reasonably certain that the trough came in the earlier year. We date a trough in 1789; the trough in prices came that year in Boston, Philadelphia and Charleston, but apparently in 1791 in New York. See the evidence in *Memoir 142*, just cited, and in Arthur H. Cole, *Wholesale Commodity Prices in the United States*, 1700–1861 (Harvard University Press, 1938).

Commonity Prices in the United States, 1700-1801 (Harvard University Press, 1938). CREAT BRITAIN: Based mainly (the exceptions are noted below) on Gayer's index of imported and domestic commodity prices before 1850, and on the Sauerbeck-Statist index since then. The former we owe to an unpublished manuscript by Arthur D. Gayer. For the latter, see Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Vol. 49, p. 648; Vol. 84, p. 260; Vol. 103, p. 348. A peak seems to have come in 1813, although Jevons' index shows a peak in 1810 and Silberling's in 1814 (confirmed by Gayer's index of prices of imported commodities). Some uncertainty surrounds the trough we have dated in 1849. Both Gayer's and Silberling's indexes stop in 1850; the former shows a slight fall and the latter a rise from 1849 to 1850. Sauerbeck's index reached a trough in 1849, Jevons' in 1849–50. See *ibid.*, Vol. 28, pp. 314-5 and Review of Economic Statistics, Oct. 1923, Supplement 2, pp. 232-3, for the indexes by Jevons and Silberling, respectively. The trough in 1789 is dated from these indexes.

CERMANY: Alfred Jacobs and Hans Richter, Die Grosshandelspreise in Deutschland von 1792 bis 1934, Sonderhefte des Instituts für Konjunkturforschung, No. 37, pp. 82-3, and Statistisches Jahrbuch für das Deutsche Reich, 1938, pp. 320-1. PRANCE: Statistique Générale, Annuaire Statistique, 1938, pp. 436\*-7\*.

<sup>b</sup> Uncertain. The index starts in 1792, stands at 79.8 in that year and 79.7 the following year (av. 1913 = 100), <sup>o</sup> Uncertain. The index starts in 1820.

<sup>d</sup> Uncertain. Lowest points as of the time of writing.

1854 and 1879. Under the circumstances it is impossible at present to come to serious grips with the problem whether business cycles tend to move in cycles within Kondratieff's periods.

We may, however, examine a simpler question: namely, whether there is evidence that the business cycles occurring during the upswings of the long waves in commodity prices differ substantially from the business cycles during the downswings in prices. Charts 63 and 64 seem to settle this question fairly conclusively. The thing that stands out above everything else is that the relations among the cyclical patterns of the activities represented in our sample are broadly similar during the periods of upswing and downswing in commodity prices. If we drop the extreme cycle of 1927–33, the reference-cycle patterns of at least three series – deflated clearings, pig iron production, and railroad stock prices are nearly indistinguishable during periods of upswing and downswing in prices. The only series in which the direction of the 'trend' of prices clearly makes a substantial difference is railroad bond yields. That result is not surprising, since it has often been alleged that long-term interest rates are characterized by long waves that roughly parallel the long waves in wholesale prices.<sup>14</sup>

These critical facts suffice for our present purpose. It is of interest, however, to inquire how the cyclical measures of our series differ in detail during periods of opposite price trends. As in the case of the building hypothesis, we may expect (1) that expansions of specific cycles in individual economic activities will tend to be longer and more boisterous, and contractions shorter and milder, when the 'trend' of prices is upward than when it is downward; consequently, (2) that expansions relatively to whole cycles will be longer and the amplitude of rises relatively to fullcycle swings will be larger when the 'trend' of prices is upward than when it is downward. There are also some grounds for believing that ''the depressed phases of business cycles are susceptible of greater prolongation than the prosperous phases." <sup>15</sup> Hence we may expect (3) that full cycles will be longer and their amplitudes perhaps larger during periods of declining than during periods of rising price 'trends'.

Table 166 shows that the first expectation is fulfilled in 17 out of 28 instances, the second in 21 out of 28, the third in 9 out of 14.<sup>16</sup> Clearly the averages in the table differ in most instances in the expected direction. But there are considerable differences both among the series and the cyclical measures. Railroad bond yields conform to expectations more consistently than any other series. Shares traded run counter to expectations almost as frequently as bond yields meet expectations. The amplitudes of specific cycles meet expectations less well than the durations —iron production, freight car orders and share trading being poor conformers. The ratios of expansions to full cycles, which are the most sensitive duration measures, meet expectations best of all. Sixteen of the 26 conforming comparisons for durations, but only 8 of the 21 conforming comparisons for amplitudes, yield variance ratios above unity. However, only 5 variance ratios in the table are 'significantly large' and all but one refer to bond yields.

Taken as a whole this evidence is slightly more favorable than the evidence supporting the building hypothesis. But it does not create a strong presumption that a causal relation exists between business cycles and the direction of price trends. For although the movements that conform to expectations preponderate over those that do not, this fact is neutralized by two others: the intercorrelation of the cyclical measures for

14 For a trenchant analysis of this relation, see F. R. Macaulay, Interest Rates, Bond Yields and Stock Prices, Ch. VI.

15 See Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, pp. 411-2, 421.

<sup>16</sup> The table shows the ratio of expansions to full cycles marked off by peaks as well as by troughs. The extra computation eliminates the influence of the extreme contraction of 1929-33 and also serves as a check on the analysis for positive cycles; see above, note 4. The distribution of specific cycles between periods of rising and falling price 'trends' is shown in Appendix Table B6.

### CHART 63

### Average Specific-cycle Patterns during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Waves in Wholesale Prices Seven American Series









τ

Horizontal scale, in months H Horizontal scale, in months to the test of ρ

ĩ

70 ·

60

50

40

å

### CHART 64

### Average Reference-cycle Patterns during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Waves in Wholesale Prices, 1879-1933 Seven American Series

### Railroad bond yields

2 Deflated clearings

1

- 3 Railroad stock prices 4 Pig iron production
- 5 Shares traded
- 6 Call money rates 7
  - Freight car orders<sup>a</sup>







See Appendix Table 83. .ª See Chart 58, note 'a". -

- 435 -

جر
#### TABLE 166

### Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Waves in Wholesale Prices Seven American Series

Series and phase of long waves in prices	Av. dur cycle	ation of sp es in mont	Av. ratio of expansion to full cycles marked off by		Av. amplitude in specific-cycle relatives			Av. ratio of rise to total rise & fall of cycles marked off by		
	Expan-	Contrac-	Full	Troughs	Peaks	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Troughs	Peaks
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
DEFLATED CLEARINGS	5									
Upswings	32	9	45	.79	.78	25	10	37	.74	.76
Downswings	33	13	45	.75	.75	28	16	45	.64	.68
Difference	-1	-4*	-1-	+.04 -	+.03 -	-3	-6*	-8-	+.10*	+.08-
PIG IRON PRODUCTION	20	11	45	74	74	61	47		57	50
Downswings	26	17	43	.70	62	63	60	119	56	.59
Difference	+6*	-6*	+1	+ 16*	+ 12*	-3	-13*	-8*	+.01*	- 02
		Ŭ								
Unswings	20	17	39	54	50	242	244	487	.50	.48
Downswings	17	24	41	.39	.42	192	193	382	.51	.54
Difference	+3*	-6*	-2*	+.15*	+.07*	+50*	+52	+105	01	06
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES										
Upswings	24	14	38	.61	.64	34	22	52	.55	.56
Downswings	34	27	64	.51	.51	38	39	80	.48	.53
Difference	-10	-13*	-25*	+.10*	+.14*	-4	-17*	-28*	+.07*	+.03*
SHARES TRADED										
Upswings	16	26	42	.38	.35	116	107	218	.50	.52
Downswings	20	26	46	.43	.42	82	83	158	.53	.53
Difference	-4	0	-4*	05	07	+34*	+24	+60	03	01
CALL MONEY RATES										
Upswings	23	18	44	.59	.57	107	106	227	.56	.56
Downswings	18	18	34	.50	.48	122	121	251	.49	.52
Difference	+6-	U	+10	+.09*	+.09*	-15	-15*	-24-	+.08*	+.05*
RAILROAD BOND VIELDS									50	
Upswings	28	14	40	.69	.66	14	12	24	.58	.61
Downswings		-12*	43	.44	.42 + 24 *	9	13		.41	.30 ± 25 *
Digerence	+11	-12		7.20	т.24	- 5		1 12		1.25
		Ratio of v	arianc	e betwee	n grou	ps to va	iriance	within	groups	
Deflated clearings	0.01	0.45	0.00 †	0.44	0.30	0.15	0.84	0.51	0.84	1.03
Pig iron production	1.01	1.55	0.02	3.15	4.44	0.06	0.56	0.17	0.02	0.11
Freight car orders	0.40	1.65	0.09	2.81	0.81	0.89	0.76	0.79	0.07	0.51
Railroad stock prices.	0.99	3.84	2.33	1.48	1.62	0.12	1.42	1.19	0.53	0.08
Shares traded	0.56	0.00‡	0.17	0.20	0.28	3.24	1.47	2.82	0.40	0.01
Call money rates	2.21	0.01	4.691	1.00	2.13	0.28	0.20	0.13	2.43	0.26
Railroad bond yields.	3.79	4.431	0.18	8.08 J	9.773	1.86	0.17	0.22	2.85	6.751

The measures in col. (6) and (11) are made from cycles marked off by peaks; all others from cycles marked off by troughs. The analysis by peaks is confined to cycles within the outer boundaries of the cycles marked off by troughs. The measures for cyclical phases include some cycles not covered by the measures for full cycles; hence the discrepancies between the averages. For a full list of the cycles included in each group, see Appendix Table B6. The entries designated 'difference' are computed from averages carried to one more place than is shown in the table. \*Indicates that the difference accords with expectations stated in the text.

,-

Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance. I Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in a hundred times by chance.

Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in twenty times by chance.

Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in a hundred times by chance.

436

the several series and the unimpressive level of the variance ratios. One point, however, deserves further exploration; namely, there seems to be better evidence of association between price trends and specific cycles in the case of cyclical durations than in the case of amplitudes.

To push analysis of the amplitudes further we would have to enlarge considerably our sample of series—a step we cannot undertake at this time. But in the case of the durations we have at hand a simple and excellent check in the monthly measures of business cycles. In columns (2)-(6) of Table 167 these measures are set out for the United States and also our three foreign countries on the model of Table 166. The average durations of American business cycles meet in every instance the expectations that we set up, but the differences between periods of upswing and downswing

				rour C	ountrie	:5				
	Based on monthly reference dates Based on annual reference dates									ites
Country and phase of long waves	Av. bus in	duration siness cycle n months	of . es	Av. ra expans full c marked	tio of ion to ycles off by	Av. bus in	duration iness cycle n months	of es	Av. ratio of expansion to full cycles marked off by	
in prices	Expan-	Contrac- tion	Full cycle	Troughs	Peaks	Expan- sion	Contrac- tion	Full cycle	Troughs	Peaks
	(2)	(3)		(3)		<u> </u>			(10)	(11)
UNITED STATES									1	
Upswings	26	17	42	.59	.58	30	14	45	.66	.64
Downswings.	24	25	49	.53	.53	24	25	49	.52	.53
Difference	+2*	-8*	-7*	+.07*	+.05*	+6*	-11*	-4*	+.14*	+.11*
GREAT BRITAIN		Í .	Í					1 1		Í
Upswings	38	17	56	.70	.68	42	16	58	.71	.69
Downswings.	30	38	64	.44	.45	34	26	58	.58	.62
Difference	+8*	-21*	-8*	+.26*	+.22*	+8*	-10*	0	+.13*	+.07*
GERMANY										
Upswings	40	18	58	.68	.65	39	15	57	.70	.66
Downswings.	32	42	74	.46	.60	39	43	75	.54	.55
Difference	+8*	-24*	-17*	+.22*	+.06*	0	-28*	-18*	+.16*	+.10*
FRANCE					1					
Upswings	31	15	49	.66	.63	35	15	53	.67	.63
Downswings.	30	34	70	.46	.54	43	31	77	.57	.57
Difference	0	-19*	-22*	+.20*	+.09*	-8	-16*	-24*	+.10*	+.06*
		Ratio	of vari	ance betw	veen gro	oups to va	uriance wi	thin gr	oups	
United States.	0.20	1.86	0.67	0.86	0.53	1.21	4.554	0.28	5.154	2.68
Great Britain.	0.66	5.91	0.45	9.091	9.481	1.32	3.57	0.00 +	5.21	1.42
Comment	0.00	7 (2)	1 15	11 101	0.17	0.008	10 70 4	1 42	6 11 1	0.60

T.	A	B	L	Е	1	6	7
----	---	---	---	---	---	---	---

Average Duration of Business Cycles during the Upswings and Downswings of Long Waves in Wholesale Prices

Derived from Table 16; the annual reference dates are for calendar years. For a full list of the cycles included in each country and group, see Appendix Table B7; for other explanations, see note to Table 166.

5.08 J

0.64

0.50

8.21 J

3.59

1.11

0.26

\*Indicates that the difference accords with expectations stated in the text.

6.06 4

France....

0.00 †

Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance.

Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in a hundred times by chance.

2.51

† Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in twenty times by chance.

Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in a thousand times by chance.

in prices are not statistically significant. Although these results confirm the specific-cycle measures, they appear in a new light when put side by side with other evidence. In practically every instance the foreign monthly measures differ between periods of rising and falling price 'trends' in the expected direction. In each foreign country the durations of business-cycle contractions during periods of rising price trends differ 'significantly' from the durations during periods of falling price trends. Even in the United States the variance ratio for business-cycle contractions, while not 'significantly large', exceeds unity. Further, the analysis based upon annual reference dates, which give coarser measures but cover more business cycles, yields a 'significantly large' variance ratio for business-cycle contractions in the United States, though not in Great Britain. Allowing as best we can for the interrelation of business cycles in our four countries, we judge that the evidence in hand supports the common opinion that there is a real relation between the direction of the trend in wholesale prices and business-cycle contractions: the contractions tend to be long or short according as the trend of prices is falling or rising, and this relation seems to hold for the duration of contractions relatively to full cycles as well as for their absolute duration.<sup>17</sup> At the same time the differences between the variance ratios for business cycles marked off by troughs and by peaks shout warnings that the relation between the direction of price trends and the relative duration of business-cycle phases is heavily overlaid by other factors.

We are unable at this time to undertake a causal analysis of this relation, but it is important to point out that the statistical devices we have used may not be well suited to such an undertaking. Our statistical analysis is built around the abstraction of a 'long-term' price trend, a procedure imposed by the hypothesis we are testing. We say that 'the' trend of prices was upward in the United States from 1897 to 1920, downward from 1920 to 1932, and so on; in other words, the 'trends' that concern us are the movements from trough to peak and from peak to trough of the alleged long waves in wholesale prices. But whether the chain of causation runs from the trend of prices to business cycles, the other way around, or is more complex than either statement implies, it seems plain that the trend of prices that is chiefly relevant to a given business cycle is the 'short-term' trend during that cycle, not the 'long-term' trend. There would be no difficulty if the 'short-term' trend invariably agreed in direction with the 'long-term' trend; but there is no such invariable rule (see Chart 65). For example, we treat 1843-64 and 1897-1920 as periods of rising prices in the United States, but the 'short-term' trend of prices was declining during the business cycles of 1855-58 and 1858-61, and was virtually horizontal during the 1910-13 cycle. We treat 1864-97 and 1920-32 as periods of falling prices, but the 'short-term' trend of prices 17 Cf. Mitchell, ibid., pp. 410-11.

## LONG WAVES IN PRICES



-

снаят вз Indexes of Wholesale Prices, Four Countries, 1790–1940 439

was virtually horizontal during the cycle of 1885–88 and the two cycles from 1921 to 1927. In Great Britain we consider the 'trend' of prices as rising from 1849 to 1873 and from 1896 to 1920, but the 'short-term' trend was not rising in the cycle of 1855–58, or in the cycles of 1862–68 and 1901–04.<sup>18</sup>

One more point may be noted. The chronology of 'long waves' in wholesale prices in Table 165 is an abstraction not only in the sense just indicated, but in the additional sense that back of the 1870's the long waves are partly an optical illusion. Our table shows a trough in Germany in 1849, which confirms the entries for the other countries. But Chart 65 shows that the index of wholesale prices of the Institut für Konjunkturforschung was almost as low in 1824 and 1826 as in 1849-50; the 'trend' during the intervening period, if any, sloped gently upward. In France we list a peak in 1872-73 that matches the peaks in other European countries. But the index of the Statistique Générale was higher in 1854-57 than in 1872-73; from 1854 to 1873 prices were high or falling, definitely not rising. In the United States the long waves in wholesale prices are also to some extent illusory. High rather than rising prices prevailed from 1797 to 1812. Again, if we concentrate on the period from about 1825 to 1860 and disregard the preceding and following years, we might describe prices as moving along a horizontal trend. The long waves are clearest in Great Britain; yet one who did not already know these waves in advance might conclude that the trend of prices was not falling from 1823 to 1841, or rising during 1853-71.

## IV Long Cycles as Triplets of Business Cycles

Schumpeter claims that "industrial history" establishes Kondratieff long waves, that each 'Kondratieff cycle' contains six 'Juglar' cycles "of from nine to ten years' duration" and that "every Juglar so far observed . . . is readily . . . divisible into three cycles of a period of roughly forty months". But he adds that Juglar cycles are "less clearly marked" in time series than Kondratieff cycles; while the forty-month cycle, "as well as the others, is more clearly marked in this country than in any other and notably more marked than in England".<sup>19</sup> For our purposes the new

<sup>18</sup> The periods cited are based on our annual reference dates.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Joseph A. Schumpeter, The Analysis of Economic Change, *Review of Economic Statistics*, May 1935, p. 8. Similar statements appear in his *Business Cycles*, though the fuller exposition is less rigid. For example, Schumpeter warns the reader that "there is no rational justification . . . for assuming that the integral number of Kitchins in a Juglar or of Juglars in a Kondratieff should always be the same". He states that "it is possible to count off, historically as well as statistically, six Juglars to a Kondratieff and three Kitchins to a Juglar—not as an average but in every individual case"; but qualifies this claim with the proviso "barring very few cases in which difficulties arise". The Kitchin cycles, Schumpeter explains, are mostly "somewhat less than 40 months": they are "fluctuations, shorter than those of the Juglar group, but which we nevertheless believe to be of similar nature and which we think to be tolerably represented by a typical duration somewhat exceeding three years". See Vol. I, pp. 161-74, especially pp. 173-4.

			FC	our Count	ries			
Duration	Unite 1854	d States ⊢1933	Great 1854	Britain 1932	Fra 1865	ance -1932	Gerr 1879-	nany -1932
in months	No. of obser- vations	Per cent	No. of obser- vations	Per cent	No. of obser- vations	Per cent	No. of obser- vations	Per cent
16- 22 23- 29	1	2.6 2.6	1 4	3.4 13.8		17.2	 I	5.3
30- 36	11	28.2	2	6.9	2	6.9	2	10.5
37-43	11	28.2	2	6.9	5	17.2	1	5.3
44- 50	4	10.3	3	10.3	4	13.8	4	21.1
51- 57	4	10.3	3	10.3	4	13.8	1	5.3
58- 64	2	5.1	2	6.9	2	6.9	2	10.5
65-71	1	2.6	4	13.8	2	6.9	2	10.5
72- 78	2	5.1	1	3.4		• • • •		5.3
79- 85	•••	••••	2	6.9		• • • •	1	5.3
86- 92			••		2	6.9	1	5.3
93-99	1	2.6	1	3.4	1	3.4	1	5.3
100-106	1	2.6	1	3.4			1	5.3
107-113					2	6.9		
114-120			1	3.4				
121-127			1	3.4			1	5.3
128-134				• • • •				
135-141			1	3.4		••••		
Total <sup>a</sup>	39	100.0	29	100.0	29	100.0	19	100.0

## TABLE 168

## Frequency Distribution of Durations of Business Cycles

Derived from the monthly reference dates in Table 16. Observations include business cycles marked off by both troughs and peaks.

\*The percentages in this line are rounded to 100.0.

TABLE 169

Relations in Time between Business Cycles and Schumpeter's 'Juglar Cycles' United States, 1848–1932

JUGLAR CYC	LES MARKED OFF B	TROUGHS	JUGLAR CYCLES MARKED OFF E					
Dates assigned by Schumpeter®	Corresponding period in our reference chronology <sup>b</sup>	No. of business cycles during this period	Dates assigned by Schumpeter*	Corresponding period in our reference chronology <sup>o</sup>	No. c busine cycle durin this per			
1848-1858	1848-1858	2						
1858-1866	1858-1867	2						
1866-1876	1867-1878	2	1872-1881	1873-1882	1			
1876-1885	18781885	1	1881-1891	1882-1890	2			
1885-1895	1885-1894	3	1891-1900	1890-1899	3			
1895-1904	1894-1904	3	1900-1909	1899-1910	3			
1904-1914	1904-1914	3						
1914-1922	1914-1921	2						
1922-1932	1921-1932	3	1					

<sup>a</sup>Derived from his Business Cycles, Vol. I, pp. 396-7, 426-7, and Vol. II, pp. 786-9, 907. But see note 22. The peaks of several Juglar cycles were not dated by Schumpeter because of the dominance of 'external factors'; hence the smaller number of Juglar cycles marked off by peaks.

We might have matched the period 1885-96 with the Juglar of 1885-95 and 1896-1904 with the Juglar of 1895-1904. But this arrangement is less favorable to Schumpeter's scheme of 3 Kitchins per Juglar, since it assigns 4 business cycles to the Juglar of 1885-95 and 2 to the Juglar of 1895-1904.

<sup>b</sup> Begins and ends with a trough; see the calendar-year dates in Table 16.

\* Begins and ends with a peak; see the calendar-year dates in Table 16.

question raised by this three-cycle scheme is whether business cycles tend to move cyclically during the periods of 'Juglar cycles'.

Our reference dates confirm Schumpeter's statement that the fortymonth cycle is more clearly marked in the United States than in other countries. But even in the United States only about 28 per cent of our measures of business cycles since 1854 fall between 37 and 43 months (Table 168).<sup>20</sup> No arrangement of our monthly measures in groups of three consecutive cycles will produce an approximation to 'Juglar cycles' of from nine to ten years.<sup>21</sup> For example, if we start in 1854 and mark the cycles off by troughs, the durations of the groups of three run, successively, 156, 209, 109, 122, 124, 115 and 166 months; while if we start in 1857 and mark the cycles off by peaks, the durations run 144, 213, 105, 137, 135 and 98 months. Table 169 shows that if we insist upon getting rough groupings approximating nine to ten years, we must disregard a part of the historical record, or take at times three, at times two, and at times only one business cycle as corresponding to a 'Juglar cycle'.<sup>22</sup>

We may, of course, interpret 'Juglar cycles' as triplets of business cycles irrespective of duration. On this interpretation we can examine our cyclical measures to see if triplets of business cycles constitute higher units. Chart 66 shows average patterns of the reference cycles of our seven series grouped according as they come first, second or third in successive triplets of American business cycles from 1879 to 1933. Since fifteen business cycles span this period, the third cycle of the last triplet reaches a terminal trough in March 1933. We find no substantial differences in cyclical behavior on the present classification. The second contraction of the triplets seems on the average to be milder and briefer than either the first or the third, but the measures for single cycles fail to bear out the averages. A grouping of business cycles according to their position within triplets seems to be equivalent to a random grouping.

20 Cf. Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, pp. 339-43, 386-407, 416-24. Note, however, that the duration of the nine American business cycles from 1885 to 1914 ranged from 35 to 46 months (Table 16). It seems that this, in the main, is the core of experience on which the widely held notion of a forty-month cycle rests.

21 Although Juglar called his great work *Des Crises Commerciales et de Leur Retour Périodique*, he did not claim a high degree of regularity for the duration of his cycles. His list of crisis dates during the nineteenth century in France, England and the United States shows crises at widely varying intervals. In England, for example, Juglar listed 14 crises from 1803 to 1882; their successive intervals are 7, 5, 3, 8, 4, 7, 2, 8, 10, 7, 2, 7 and 9 years, and the average interval is about 6 years. See his second edition (Librairie Guillaumin, Paris, 1889), p. 256; also, pp. 162-8, and Part II, History of Crises, *passim*.

<sup>22</sup> It should be noted that the dates of successive Juglars in Table 169, which we attribute to Schumpeter, are not true cyclical units in his sense. In Schumpeter's words: a cycle starts "with the neighborhood of equilibrium preceding prosperity" and ends "with the neighborhood of equilibrium following revival. The count from trough to trough or from peak to peak is ... never theoretically correct. ... Revival is the last and not the first phase of a cycle. If we count from troughs we cut off this phase from the cycle to which it belongs and add it on to a cycle to which it does not belong." (See his *Business Cycles*, Vol. I, p. 156 and Ch. V.)

#### CHART 66

#### Average Patterns of Reference Cycles Occupying First, Second or Third Place within Successive Triplets of Cycles, 1879–1933 Seven American Series

#### Seven American Series

- 1 Railroad bond yields
- 2 Deflated clearings
- 3 Railroad stock prices 4 Pig iron production
- 5 Shares traded
- 6 Call money rates
- 7 Freight car orders\*







See Appendix Table B3. \* See Chart 58, note 'a'.

This experiment, however, does not bear crucially on Schumpeter's theory that 'Juglar cycles' are higher units of cyclical fluctuations. For our business and specific cycles are not strict equivalents of what Schumpeter calls Kitchin cycles. We do not recognize a cycle unless a fluctuation appears in the data, while Schumpeter regards Kitchin and even Juglar cycles as rhythmic tendencies that may or may not be directly observable in the data. There is therefore no contradiction when Schumpeter testifies to three Kitchins within a Juglar and we find only one or two business cycles. But, if 'Juglar cycles' really are higher cyclical units, we should find that the first specific or business cycle within a Juglar differs significantly from the last specific or business cycle; that is, if both the Juglar and the shorter cycles are marked off by troughs, the rise of the first specific or business cycle should be larger and the fall smaller than the corresponding movement of the last cycle, or at least the rise relatively to the fall should be larger in the first cycle than in the last. Similar expectations may be entertained, though with less confidence, in regard to the durations of the cyclical phases. To test these expectations,<sup>23</sup> it is necessary to disregard the few instances where a single specific or business cycle is roughly coterminous with a Juglar cycle, and to group the others according to their place within the alleged Juglars. We have put the cycles at the beginning of the Juglars in one class, the cycles at the end in another class, and then compared the two classes.<sup>24</sup> The results of this experiment are shown in Table 170 and Charts 67-68.

These charts resemble earlier exhibits in demonstrating considerable similarity between the cyclical patterns of different series in the first group and the cyclical patterns in the second group. But now striking differences also appear in the tilts of the two groups of patterns, the duration of their phases of expansion and contraction, and their amplitudes of rise and fall —differences that, on the whole, seem very favorable to the hypothesis that business cycles vary rhythmically within the periods separating Juglar troughs. Table 170 strengthens this impression. Most differences between the cycles with which the Juglars begin and the cycles with which they end are in the direction to be expected on the present hypothesis, many are substantial, and a goodly number are statistically significant. Clearly, the evidence is better that business cycles vary substantially within periods of Juglar cycles than that they do so within the long-cycle periods suggested by the other hypotheses that we have so far reviewed.

28 There are several difficulties in making a statistical test. (1) Schumpeter regards cycles as rhythmic tendencies not necessarily observable in the data. (2) He considers the Juglars, as well as the other cycles, as units bounded by 'neighborhoods of equilibrium', not by their turning points. (3) He assumes that when a Juglar reaches a peak a Kitchin reaches a trough, and that at the time of a Juglar trough the Kitchin is at its peak. Our tests blink (as they virtually must if they are to be made at all) these difficulties. They are also confined to intervals separated by troughs; though a full test would require analysis also by peaks, since theoretical expectations might not be met in the former and yet fully met in the latter.

24 Intervening cycles, if any, were disregarded: see Appendix Table B8.

#### TABLE 170

### Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Seven Series and Average Duration of Busines, Cycles Occupying First or Last Place within Schumpeter's 'Juglar Cycles' in the United States

Series and place of cycles	Av. dur speci busines	ation of fic or s cycl <del>cs</del>	Av. ratio of expansion to full	Av. am in specif relat	plitude fic-cycle tives	Av. ratio of rise to total rise
within Juglars	in mo	onths	cycle			& fall
	Expansion	Contraction		Rise	Fall	
DEFLATED CLEARINGS					3	
First	34	6	.85	34	10	.76
Last	32	18	.62	17	20	.49
Difference	+3*	-12*	+.22*	+17*	-10*	+.28*
PIG IRON PRODUCTION		]			1	
First	34	9	.78	79	50	.62
Last	21	21	.52	46	82	.38
Difference	+13*	-12*	+.26*	+33*	-32*	+.24*
FREIGHT CAR ORDERS		1				
First	20	17	.51	179	160	.55
Last	18	27	.40	196	217	.47
Difference	+2*	-10*	+.10*	-16	-57*	+.08*
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES						
First	17	15	.49	24	22	.52
Last	31	25	.54	43	48	.44
Difference	-14	-10•	05	-19	-26*	+.08*
SHARES TRADED						
First	14	20	.40	86	73	.53
Last	16	36	.28	122	136	.47
Difference	-3	-16*	+.12*	-37	-62*	+.07*
CALL MONEY RATES						
First	26	13	.66	126	110	.54
Last	15	24	.38	89	115	.44
Difference	+12*	-11*	+.28*	+38*	-5*	+.11*
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS	1					
First	16	27	.41	6	12	.37
Last	28	21	.55	14	12	.53
Difference	-12	+6	14	-8	-1*	16
BUSINESS CYCLES						
First	25	13	.65	1		1
Last	24	30	.44			
Difference	+2*	-17*	+.21*		• • •	
	Ratio	o of variance h	between grou	ps to varia	nce within	groups
Deflated clearings	0.09	6.041	11.251	4.94	1.52	10.41 /
Pig iron production	4.76	2.98	5.19	14.61.2	2.78	20.001
Freight car orders	0.15	2.83	1.04	0.19	1.61	379
Railroad stock prices	2.13	4.75	0.24	1.49	1.79	0.70
Shares traded	0.13	14.78	1.03	2.30	20.231	2.76
Call money rates	9.07	7.77 J	14.871	1,79	0.02	4 46
Railroad bond yields	3.12	0.71	1.59	3.67	0.03	1.81
Business cycles	0.07	6.98 J	9.193			
				1	1	

All measures are made from specific or business cycles marked off by troughs. The measures for business cycles are derived from the monthly reference dates in Table 16. For a full list of the cycles included in each group, see Appendix Table B8. The entries designated 'difference' are computed from averages carried to one more place than is shown in the table.

• Indicates that the difference accords with expectations stated in the text. J Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance. J Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in a hundred times by chance.

#### CHART 87

#### Average Patterns of Specific Cycles Occupying First or Last Place within Schumpeter's 'Juglar Cycles' Seven American Series

-- First group (5 cycles)

P

mi

Last group (5 cycles)

1

1 i

T

Shares traded

190







Harizontal scale, in months 12 24 38 48 See Appendia Tables B1 and B8. For explanation of chart, see Ch, 5, Sec. VI.;

ρ

80

70

- 446 --

#### CHART 68

#### Average Patterns of Reference Cycles Occupying First or Last Place within Schumpeter's 'Juglar Cycles' Seven American Series



See Appendix Table B3. <sup>8</sup> See Chart 58, note 'a'.

- 447 --

May we conclude, therefore, that the 'Juglar cycles' listed by Schumpeter are higher cyclical units, that is, genuine cycles of cycles? It is important to notice, first of all, that the trough dates of the Juglar cycles correspond roughly to the trough dates of severe business depressions. The only clear exception, at least since the 1870's, is the Juglar trough in 1904.25 So far as Juglar troughs mark off intervals between severe business depressions, it is only natural that substantial differences should appear between the business or specific cycles occupying opposite ends of the Juglars. If the business cycles characterized by long and violent depressions were singled out explicitly, they would of necessity differ materially from the other and milder cycles. Such a classification would demonstrate that some business cycles are in fact milder than others, not that the periods between the troughs of severe depressions are long cycles. Of course, if some internal regularity characterized the business cycles coming within periods separated by troughs of severe depressions, the hypothesis of a cycle of cycles would have surer footing. But the most striking of the internal regularities suggested by Schumpeter-the presence of three Kitchins within a Juglar and the nine to ten year duration of the Juglars-we are unable to confirm at this time. Table 169 shows one American business cycle that is roughly coterminous with a Juglar cycle. There are several instances of this sort in our foreign countries.26 And the effort to fit our reference dates of business cycles into Schumpeter's chronology of Juglars yields periods that vary from 6.2 to 11.5 years,27 although most Juglar cycles on this artificial basis do come out close to nine or ten years.

In view of these doubts, we cannot accept Schumpeter's chronological scheme as a solid basis for differentiating among specific or business cycles at this stage of our investigation. But we regard Schumpeter's scheme as a valuable suggestion for future research, and in Section VI say a little about the behavior of business cycles classified explicitly according to their position within periods separating severe business depressions.

## V Long Cycles Marked Off by Booms

Kitchin's scheme of economic fluctuations is similar to Schumpeter's. What he calls fundamental movements, major cycles and minor cycles correspond fairly closely to what Schumpeter calls Kondratieff, Juglar

27 March 1879-May 1885 is at one extreme, Sept. 1921-March 1933 at the other.

<sup>25</sup> The business-cycle contraction of 1902–04, at least on the physical side of economic activity, is one of the mildest on record, definitely not a severe contraction. See at this point Schumpeter's remarks on the 1907–08 contraction (*Business Cycles*, Vol. I, pp. 424-8); also Sec. VI, below.

<sup>26</sup> True, the long business cycles may be divisible into so-called Kitchin cycles, but that is a hypothesis of rather uncertain standing. See in this connection the comments on Table 171, below; also Ch. 4, Sec. VI.

and Kitchin cycles. However, Kitchin's 'major cycles' differ sufficiently from Schumpeter's 'Juglar cycles' to warrant separate notice. According to Schumpeter three 'forty-month' cycles constitute a Juglar cycle. According to Kitchin, major cycles ''are merely aggregates, usually of two'' and sometimes of three 'minor cycles' lasting forty months on the average. The 'limit' of each major cycle, he explains, is ''distinguished by a maximum of exceptional height, by a high bank rate, and sometimes by a panic''. He presents his findings for bank clearings, prices of commodities at wholesale, and short-term interest rates by months in Great Britain and the United States; and states that they are supported by a wide range of data, chiefly annual, for other economic factors.<sup>28</sup>

Т	Α	B	L	Е	1	7	1	
---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	--

1	UNITED STATE	s s	0	REAT BRITAL	N
Dates of Kitchin's major cycles <sup>a</sup>	No. of minor cycles found by Kitchin <sup>b</sup>	No. of busi- ness cycles shown by our refer- ence dates <sup>o</sup>	Dates of Kitchin's major cycles <sup>a</sup>	No. of minor cycles found by Kitchin <sup>b</sup>	No. of busi- ness cycles shown by our refer- ence dates
		•••	1848-1858	(3)	2
			1858-1866	(3)	2
	• • •		1866-1874	(2)	1
1873-1883	(3)	1	1874-1882	(3)	1
18831893	(3)	3	1882-1891	(2)	1
1893-1900	2	2	1891-1900	3	1
1900-1908	2	2	1900-1907	2	2
1908-1913	2	2	1907-1913	2	1
1913-1920	2	2	1913-1921	2	2

Number of Minor	or Business	Cycles within	Kitchin's I	Major Cycles
United States,	, 1873–1920	and Great Br	itain, 1848	-1921

<sup>a</sup> From peak to peak. Kitchin expressed his 'maxima' in hundredths of a year; we round them to the nearest year. <sup>b</sup> Kitchin presents a chronology of minor cycles since 1890 only. The numbers in parentheses are inferred from his general scheme; see his paper, *lac. cit.*, especially p. 14. <sup>o</sup> Derived from Table 16.

Table 171 presents Kitchin's chronology of major cycles; it runs solely by peaks since Kitchin found the troughs "often rather indefinite" and therefore did not attempt to date them. We compare in the table the number of business cycles that we find during the period of each major cycle with the number of minor cycles—which term Kitchin uses interchangeably with business cycles—assigned by him to the same periods. There are numerous disagreements: in five instances in Great Britain and one in the United States, the business cycles shown by our reference dates correspond to Kitchin's major cycles, not to his minor cycles. We believe that the wide discrepancies in the two chronologies are due not so much to different senses in which Kitchin and we speak of business cycles, but principally to differences in the materials used to identify business cycles.

28 Joseph Kitchin, Cycles and Trends in Economic Factors, Review of Economic Statistics, Jan. 1923, pp. 10-16.

Our chronology of business cycles is based on an extensive range of economic activities; we believe that Kitchin's is dominated by financial processes. Series such as bank clearings, interest rates, and security prices sometimes experience contraction when most business activities are not shrinking, or expansion when most activities are declining.<sup>29</sup> That happens more often in foreign countries than in the United States, but even in the United States we not infrequently find 'extra' cycles in financial series during long business cycles. If this explanation of the disagreements is valid, we must reject Kitchin's hypothesis concerning the relation of business to major cycles.

We might reformulate Kitchin's hypothesis and say that major cycles are coterminous with business cycles at certain times, and include two, three or perhaps more business cycles at other times. So modified the hypothesis may warrant exploration-but not for our present purpose, since it no longer provides a framework for investigating whether business cycles tend to vary cyclically. Another way out is to restrict Kitchin's hypothesis to the United States, and this seems reasonable in view of the evidence. Although Kitchin's and our lists of business cycles are irreconcilable for Great Britain, they differ for the United States only in the period 1873-83 and it is not impossible that we have overlooked some cyclical movements during these years.<sup>30</sup> On this interpretation it is of interest to see whether American business cycles have varied systematically within Kitchin's major-cycle periods since 1883. Kitchin's major cycle from 1883 to 1893 includes three business cycles; the next four major cycles include two business cycles each. If we disregard the middle business cycle within the major cycle of 1883-93, we have two business cycles for each major cycle, and so can determine whether a substantial difference exists between the business cycles that come first and those that come last within the major cycles. Our sample series can be readily treated on a similar basis, since each except railroad bond yields shows specific cycles that correspond closely to business cycles over the entire period from 1883 to 1920.<sup>31</sup>

We follow this plan in Charts 69-70 and Table 172. These exhibits show cyclical movements on an inverted basis, a procedure forced upon us by the fact that Kitchin dates his major cycles by booms. Apart from this technical shift, the charts are similar to those previously presented and repeat the story told in preceding sections. The thing that stands out is that the relations among the patterns of the several series are basically

81 We omit bond yields in analyzing specific cycles, but not reference cycles. Appendix Table B8 shows how the cycles in each series are classified. Note that the series on freight car orders is troublesome at one or two points.

<sup>29</sup> This statement does not apply to wholesale prices which weigh heavily in Kitchin's analysis; but in this instance, if not also in others, Kitchin seems to have been betrayed by his pattern sense. See the chart on pp. 12-13 of the article just cited.

<sup>80</sup> Cf. Ch. 4, Sec. VI.

#### TABLE 172

### Average Duration and Amplitude of Specific Cycles in Six Series and Average Duration of Business Cycles Occupying First or Last Place within Kitchin's Major Cycles, United States, 1883-1920

Series and place	Av. dura business	ation of sp cycles in	ecific or months	Av. ratio	Av.	amplituc c-cycle re	le in latives	Av. ratio
<sup>i</sup> of cycles within Kitchin's major cycles (1)	Contrac- tion (2)	Expan- sion (3)	Full cycle (4)	sion to full cycle (5)	Fall (6)	Rise (7)	Fall & rise (8)	to total fall & rise (9)
						<u> </u>		<u> </u>
Eimt	12	33	44	76	16	32	47	68
Filst,	7	28	36	70	5	21	27	79
Difference	+4*	+4	+8	03*	+10*	+10	+20	10*
PIG IRON PRODUCTION								
First	16	32	48	.67	44	73	117	.64
Last	9	26	36	.70	41	57	98	.57
Difference	+7*	+5	+12	03*	+3*	+16	+19	+.08
FREIGHT CAR ORDERS								
First	27	23	50	.47	193	158	350	.47
Last <sup>a</sup>	15	20	35	.55	308	184	493	.48
Difference	+12*	+2	+14	09*	-116	-26*	-142	02*
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES								
First	27	19	45	.46	28	29	57	.49
Last	11	27	39	.69	21	26	47	.49
Difference	+15*	-9*	+7	23*	+7*	+3	+9	0
SHARES TRADED								
First	32	12	44	.27	88	104	193	.49
Last	24	14	39	.36	82	127	210	.60
Difference	+8*	-2*	+6	08*	+6*	-23*	-17	11*
CALL MONEY RATES								
First	21	25	46	.57	174	148	322	.48
Last	15	21	35	.58	109	133	242	.58
Difference	+6*	+5	+11	01*	+64*	+15	+79	10*
BUSINESS CYCLES						1		
First	22	25	47	.53				1
Last	17	20	36	.54				1
Difference	+5*	+5	+10	0				
		Ratio of	variance	between gr	oups to v	ariance	within gr	oups
Deflated clearings	1.31	0.48	0.87	0.27	5.29	2.45	6.951	1.71
Pig iron production	3.62	0.54	2.00	0.10	0.11	1.87	1.04	1.69
Freight car orders	3.81	0.12	2.17	0.50	0.41	0.64	0.54	0.02
Railroad stock prices	3.91	1.86	0.53	3.50	0.83	0.06	0.64	0.008

All measures are made from specific or business cycles marked off by peaks. The measures for business cycles are determined from the monthly reference dates in Table 16. For a full list of the cycles included in each group, see Appendix Table B8. The entries designated 'difference' are computed from averages carried to one more place than is shown in the table.

0.57

1.12

1.18

1.02

0.03

0.00 †

0.06

1.71

0.28

0.18

0.12

1.37

0.75

1.29

. . .

• If the highly exceptional cycle from 1918 to 1920 (see Ch. 12, Sec. III) is dropped, the averages of the successive amplitude measures are 131, 175, 306, .56.

\* Indicates that the difference accords with expectations stated in the text; no definite expectations are advanced for col. (4) and (8).

Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance. †Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in twenty times by chance.

0.25

0.64

0.64

1.75

1.07

0.91

Shares traded .....

Call money rates....

Business cycles . . . . .

Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in a thousand times by chance.

#### CHART 69

#### Average Patterns of Specific Cycles Occupying First or Last Place within Kitchin's Major Cycles from 1883 to 1920 Six American Series

(Patterns made on inverted basis)

ρ







۶

.

- 452 -

#### CHART 70

#### Average Patterns of Reference Cycles Occupying First or Last Place within Kitchin's Major Cycles from 1883 to 1920 Seven American Series

#### (Patterns made on inverted basis \*)



- 453 -

E.

the same in each group of cycles.<sup>82</sup> One point that may arrest attention is that the business cycles occupying the first place within the major-cycle periods are longer on the average than the business cycles occupying the last place. But the averages represent their arrays badly: the first business cycle is longer than the last in two and shorter in three of the major-cycle periods.

Table 172 analyzes in detail the present classification. If the 'limit' of each major cycle is "distinguished by a maximum of exceptional height". we should find that the ratio of the rise to the full-cycle amplitude is smaller in the first than in the last specific cycle within the major cycles; also, perhaps, that the rise of the first specific cycle is smaller and the fall larger than the corresponding movement of the last specific cycle. Similar expectations may be advanced for the durations of expansions and contractions of the specific cycles.83 We find that the amplitudes meet expectations in eleven out of eighteen instances; however, in only four of these eleven instances is the variance ratio above unity and in no instance is it statistically significant. Our expectations concerning durations of cyclical phases meet a better fate when we examine specific cycles, but collapse when we turn to business cycles. Nor does the table bring out anything concerning full cycles that warrants particular notice.<sup>34</sup> On the present evidence it seems that there are no substantial differences between business cycles according to their position within Kitchin's major cycles, and that such differences as do exist may well result from chance variations.

As stated before, our principal concern in this chapter is whether business cycles undergo substantial cyclical variations within the periods suggested by certain outstanding hypotheses of long cycles, not whether long cycles are genuine phenomena. We may, however, observe in passing that short-term interest rates, which play a critically important part in Kitchin's scheme, do not fit very closely his chronology of 'major crises' in the United States. In call money rates the supposedly 'minor' peaks of 1887 and 1890 are higher than the 'major' peak of 1893, the 'minor' peak of 1902 is above the 'major' peak of 1899, and the 'minor' peak of 1918 is above the 'major' peak of 1912. In commercial paper rates (a series not included in our sample) the 'minor' peak of 1887 is higher than the 'major' peak of 1883, and the 'major' peak of 1900 is below the 'minor' peaks of 1896, 1898 and 1903. These facts seem to discredit what little support Kitchin's hypothesis derives from the amplitude comparisons of interest rates in the preceding charts and table.

32 For the cycle-by-cycle measures, see Appendix Tables B2 and B4.

<sup>33</sup> Kitchin asserts merely that there is a "tendency for minima to be nearer to the lower of two succeeding maxima". His 'ideal curve' of business cycles is drawn on this plan. Note also that according to this 'ideal curve' the rise of the first cycle is smaller and the fall larger than the corresponding movement of the last cycle. See Kitchin's article, op. cit., pp. 12-13, 15.

84 In every series specific cycles average longer in the first group than in the last. But the differences between the averages are no more dependable for specific cycles than for business cycles.

## VI Long Cycles Marked Off by Severe Depressions

Kitchin's adventure suggests another way of marking off major cycles. The economic development of modern nations has been characterized by a rising secular trend, the peak of each cycle in industrial activity being almost invariably higher than the preceding peak. Cyclical troughs show less uniformity in this respect. In deflated clearings, for example, the trough is lower in November 1884 than January 1882, in August 1893 than March 1891, in November 1914 than October 1910, and in March 1933 than September 1923. But every peak in clearings is higher than its predecessor during the period we analyze, except the peaks of June 1883 and October 1895. Prior to 1920 every cyclical peak in pig iron production tops the preceding peak, but three troughs reach lower than preceding troughs. In view of these facts it should be easier to mark off provisional 'major cycles' by severe depressions 35 in industrial activity than by 'booms'. It is also a more promising method if there is any substance in Schumpeter's scheme of Juglars or in the common opinion that violent depressions are due to the partial character of the liquidations effected during preceding contractions.<sup>36</sup>

American businessmen of today will readily agree that the depressions of 1920–21 and 1929–33 were exceptionally severe; their fathers held the same opinion about the depressions of 1907–08, 1893–94 and 1873–79. On the whole, the leading indexes of business conditions in the United States confirm these ratings.<sup>37</sup> If we judge by Dorothy Thomas' index of business conditions <sup>38</sup> in 1855–1914 and other statistical indicators in later years, the American list of very severe depressions seems to fit also British experience since the 1870's. We dare not carry the list of severe depressions further at present, because we lack confidence in indexes of business for these two countries before 1870 or for other countries before 1914. We regard even the present list as highly tentative.<sup>39</sup>

<sup>35</sup> In general, contraction is a less ambiguous term than depression. But for our present purpose, depression is the better term, since we wish to emphasize the 'low level' of industrial activity reached at the end of contraction, rather than the degree of contraction. In an economy in which each cyclical peak is invariably, or almost invariably, higher than the preceding peak, a severe contraction is almost sure to end in severe depression and a mild contraction in a mild depression. Of course, if a cyclical peak is lower than its predecessor, a mild contraction might easily end in what we should have to describe as a severe depression of industry.

<sup>36</sup> It may be recalled that the troughs of Wardwell's 'major cycles' are also supposed to be coincident with troughs of severe depressions. See above, Sec. II.

<sup>37</sup> We ranked the amplitudes of the cyclical contractions from 1879 to 1933 in the indexes of business conditions compiled by Leonard P. Ayres, Warren M. Persons, and the American Telephone and Telegraph Company, then averaged the ranks, and adjusted the rank of the cyclical contraction in 1873–78 shown by Ayres' index (the only one available for this contraction) to the average ranks after 1878. The highest five average ranks correspond to the severe depressions just named. See Table 156, which however is restricted to 1879–1933; see also note 35.

<sup>38</sup> An Index of British Business Cycles, Journal of the American Statistical Association, March 1923.
<sup>39</sup> See below, pp. 462, 464.

CHART 71











See comment on three harizontal lines in note to Chart 26; for other explanations, Ch. 5, Sec. VI. See also Appendix Tables B1 and B8.

4

CHART 72

Average Patterns of Reference Cycles Occupying First, Middle or Last Place within Periods Marked off by Troughs of Severe Depressions, 1879-1933 Seven American Series

3 Railroad stock prices

- 1 Railroad bond yields
- 2 Deflated clearings
  - 4 Pig iron production 5
- 6 Call money rates 7
  - Freight car orders







See Appendia Table B3. \* See Chart 58, note 'a'. The above depression dates mark off four 'major cycles' between 1879 and 1933. According to our American reference dates, their minima came in March 1879, June 1894, June 1908, September 1921 and March 1933; according to the British reference dates, in June 1879, February 1895, November 1908, June 1921 and August 1932. The durations of the successive periods are approximately 15, 14, 13 and 12 years in the United States and 16, 14, 13 and 11 years in Great Britain. If we mark off the 'major cycles' by peaks preceding the severe depressions, the durations are about 19, 14, 13 and 9 years in the United States and 18, 17, 13 and 9 years in Great Britain. These periods include successively 4, 4, 4 and 3 business cycles in the United States and 2, 3, 3 and 3 business cycles in Great Britain. All this suggests a fair degree of uniformity, and gives point to an inquiry whether business cycles have varied cyclically during periods marked off by severe depressions.

Our first task is to distribute business cycles in the United States according to their position within these periods. Since the number of business cycles in these periods is sometimes three and sometimes four, we are forced to make somewhat arbitrary groupings. The 'first' group includes the business cycles, marked off by troughs, just following each severe depression; the 'last' group includes the business cycles within which the severe depressions fall; the remaining business cycles are thrown together in a 'middle' group. We have fitted the specific cycles into the periods of the major cycles, not into the distribution of business cycles within these periods. Thus we put in the 'first' group the specific cycles just following each severe depression, in the 'last' group the specific cycles that cover the severe depression, and in the 'middle' group all intervening cycles—of which there are usually two, occasionally none, and in one instance as many as four. Full details for each series are presented in Appendix Table B8.

Charts 71 and 72 show average patterns of the specific and reference cycles of our seven series distributed on the above plan. The charts suggest that this classification represents a fundamental line of cleavage. The vigor of the expansions in the 'first' group of cycles and the severity of the contractions in the 'last' group are arresting features. But there are no striking differences in the cyclical durations. Moreover, the relations among the cyclical patterns of our series are so similar from one group of cycles to another that it appears that the differences among the business cycles are merely differences of intensity, not differences of kind.<sup>40</sup>

Table 173 presents measures of the average amplitude of the three groups of specific cycles. In every series the average fall of the specific cycles is largest in the last group, as is also the joint rise and fall. Almost invariably the average ratio of rise to the joint rise and fall, in column (5), is lower in the last group than in the first or middle group of cycles. Well **40** Cf. our Bulletin 61, pp. 19-20.

## **TABLE 173**\*

### Average Amplitude of Specific Cycles Occupying First, Middle or Last Place within Periods Marked Off by Severe Depressions from 1873 to 1933 Seven American Series

Series and order of cycles between severe	Av in spo	verage amplitu ecific-cycle rela	Average ratio of rise to total rise & fall of cycles marked off by		
depressions (1)	Rise (2)	Fall (3)	Rise & fall (4)	Troughs (5)	Peaks (6)
DEFLATED CLEARINGS				-	-
First	33	7	40	.80	.55
Middle	26	8	33	.71	.76
Last	23	29	52	.46	.80
PIG IRON PRODUCTION					
First	85	46	131	.65	.56
Middle	55	38	93	.59	.64
Last	52	92	· 144	.38	.57
FREIGHT CAR ORDERS					
First	185	168	353	.53	.61
Middle	205	201	406	.52	.55
Last	202	231	433	.46	.41
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES					
First	39	23	62	.60	.49
Middle	25	21	46	.50	.50
Last	42	58	100	.42	.58
SHARES TRADED					
First	68	63	132	.51	.30
Middle	104	94	198	.53	.59
Last	118	119	237	.50	.66
CALL MONEY RATES					
First	101	97	198	.49	.24
Middle	116	109	225	.53	.55
Last	134	156	290	.45	.66
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS					
First	7	14	21	.39	.29
Middle	10	8	18	.53	.48
Last	14	15	29	.47	.65
	Ratio o	f variance amo	ng groups to va	ariance within	groups
Deflated clearing	0.54	7 43 1	1 23	5 17	3.96
Pig iron production	6.01	6.56	4.701	7.64	0.75
Freight car orders.	0.041	0.24	0.11	1.11	1.56
Railroad stock prices	0.59	2.01	1.27	0.86	0.18
Shares traded	2.00	2.59	2.73	0.12	4.31
Call money rates.	0.35	1.49	0.91	0.69	11.53
Railroad bond yields	1.47	1.91	3.22	0.44	2.88

The measures in col. (2)-(5) are made from specific cycles marked off by troughs and distributed according to their position within periods separated by the trough dates of severe depressions. The measures in col. (6) are made from cycles marked off by peaks and distributed according to their position within periods separated by the beginning dates of severe depressions. The former cover the period from about 1879 to 1933, the latter from about 1873 (or somewhat later) to 1929. The classification of cycles is shown in full in Appendix Table B8.

Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance.

Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in a hundred times by chance.

Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in a thousand times by chance.

†Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in twenty times by chance.

over half of the variance ratios in columns (2)-(5) exceed unity, and as many as six are statistically significant. Of course, these systematic differences among the amplitudes in our several groups are natural concomitants of the scheme of classification, especially in iron production and clearings, which count heavily in the index numbers we have used to rate business depressions.<sup>41</sup> Column (6), however, stands on a different footing. If specific cycles are taken on an inverted basis and arranged according to their position within periods marked off by the *beginning* dates of severe depressions, there is no longer an inherent tendency for the ratio of the rise to the full-cycle amplitude to vary according to the position of the cycles within these periods. The high variance ratios in this column cannot be regarded as inevitable concomitants of our scheme of classification, and they direct attention to one provocative feature of the evidence.

This feature is that the series representing industrial activity seem to behave in a different way within the provisional long-cycle periods than do the series representing interest rates and speculation. While the average rise is largest in the first and smallest in the last group of specific cycles in both iron production and deflated clearings, it is smallest in the first and largest in the last group in bond yields, call money rates, and shares traded. In the last group of cycles the average rise is nearly the same as the average fall in shares traded and bond yields, not much smaller in call money rates, but considerably smaller in iron production. These differences suggest a hypothesis along the following lines. After a severe depression industrial activity rebounds sharply, but speculation does not. The following contraction in business is mild, which leads people to be less cautious. Consequently, in the next two or three cycles, while the cyclical advances become progressively smaller in industrial activity, they become progressively larger in speculative activity. Finally, the speculative boom collapses and a drastic liquidation follows, which ends this cycle of cycles and brings us back to the starting point. This hypothesis will repay exploration and may turn out to have substance; but what the cycleby-cycle measures in Table 174 show is that the rises and falls of different activities do not follow invariably the above or any other simple pattern.<sup>42</sup> The picture appears to be one of partial cumulation of successive cycles; but the relations are not sufficiently regular in the records before us to justify us in regarding the business cycles separated by severe depressions as subdivisions of long cycles.

41 The 'significant' variance ratios do not necessarily mean that all three groups of cycles are strongly differentiated: in pig iron production the variance ratio for the rise reflects mainly the difference between the first group of cycles and the others, while the variance ratio for the fall reflects mainly the difference between the last group of cycles and the others.

 $^{42}$  The table shows, besides our standard measures of amplitude, the rise expressed as a percentage of the standing at the trough and the decline expressed as a percentage of the standing at the peak. These measures are perhaps simpler to interpret when successive cycles are being compared. They can be derived readily from columns (2)-(4) of our standard Table S2 (see p. 133).

### TABLE 174

### Amplitude of Specific Cycles Occupying Successive Places within Periods Bounded by Troughs of Severe Depressions, 1879–1933 Four American Series

$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Series and period <sup>a</sup> between severe	Fi specific	rst cycle <sup>b</sup>	Sec specifi	ond c cycle	Th specifi	ird c cycle	Last specific cycle®	
Amplitude expressed as percentage of monthly average during the cyclePig iron production64256526504745641894-1908.87617630495074631908-1921.79424557624041911921-1933.108593619501491879-1894.521337628817261879-1894.521337628817261908-1921.313111240512111921-1933.19655Call money rates1991711511291491732112111908-1921.8761841021203161771921-1933.33756627102146Shares traded1036262835138941151894-1908.6268129108182176113851908-1921.457971110129841441351908-1921.457971110129841441351908-1921.115219719683867561879-1894.1035444118 <th>depressions</th> <th>Rise</th> <th>Fall</th> <th>Rise</th> <th>Fall</th> <th>Rise</th> <th>Fall</th> <th>Rise</th> <th>Fall</th>	depressions	Rise	Fall	Rise	Fall	Rise	Fall	Rise	Fall
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Amplitude exp	oressed as	percenta	ige of mo	nthly ave	rage dur	ing the cy	/cle	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Pig iron production				ł	· ·			
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1879–1894	64	25	65	26	50	47	45	64
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1894–1908	87	61	76	30	49	50	74	63
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1908–1921	79	42	45	57	62	40	41	91
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1921-1933	108	59	36	19		• • • •	50	149
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Deflated clearings								
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1879-1894	52	13	37	6	28	8	17	26
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1894–1908	22	10	36	6	21	6	27	25
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1908–1921	31	3	11	12	40	5	12	11
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1921–1933	19	6					• • • •	55
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Call money rates								
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1879–1894	124	166	174	156	142	143	160	192
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1894–1908	199	171	151	129	149	173	211	211
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1908-1921	87	61	84	102	120	31	61	77
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1921–1933	33	75	66	27			102	146
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Shares traded						1		
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1879–1894	103	62	62	83	51	38	94	115
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1894–1908	62	68	129	108	182	176	113	85
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1908–1921	45	79	71	110	129	84	144	135
Amplitude expressed as percentage of standing at beginning of the phasedPig iron production15219719683867561879–189416944145247142144501908–19211313054441183545701921–19332784050174186Deflated clearings1879–1894791146633719241879–189425944525632231908–1921393121152413101921–193321544Call money rates174854497330476256861879–1894174854497330476256861894–1908580732866324883669871908–192117144118662741980561921–193336601322313983Shares traded3244684617431118661894–190885514406851881348591908–19215562897355455251671921–1933<	1921–1933	63	46	102	58		••••	121	141
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Amplitude exp	ressed as	percenta	ge of stan	ding at b	eginning	of the pl	nased	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Pig iron production		•						
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1879-1894	115	21	97	19	68	38	67	56
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1894–1908	169	44	145	24	71	42	144	50
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1908-1921	131	30	54	44	118	35	45	70
Deflated clearings         79         11         46         6         33         7         19         24           1879–1894         25         9         44         5         25         6         32         23           1908–1921         39         3         12         11         52         4         13         10           1921–1933         21         5            44           Call money rates         174         85         449         73         304         76         256         86           1879–1894         174         85         449         73         304         76         256         86           1879–1894         171         44         118         66         274         19         80         56           1921–1933         36         60         132         23          139         83           Shares traded         121         118         66         274         19         80         56           1921–1933         324         46         84         61         74         31         118         <	1921–1933	278	40	50	17			41	86
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Deflated clearings								
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1879–1894	79	11	46	6	33	7	19	24
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1894-1908	25	9	44	5	25	6	32	23
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1908-1921	39	3	12	11	52	4	13	10
Call money rates         174         85         449         73         304         76         256         86           1879–1894         580         73         286         63         248         83         669         87           1908–1921         171         44         118         66         274         19         80         56           1901–1933         36         60         132         23          139         83           Shares traded         1         118         66         274         19         80         56           1879–1894         324         46         84         61         74         31         118         66           1879–1894         324         46         84         61         74         31         118         66           1879–1894         324         46         84         61         74         31         118         66           1879–1894         55         51         440         68         518         81         348         59           1908–1921         55         62         89         73         554         55	1921-1933	21	5						44
1879–1894       174       85       449       73       304       76       256       86         1894–1908       580       73       286       63       248       83       669       87         1908–1921       171       44       118       66       274       19       80       56         1908–1921       36       60       132       23        139       83         Shares traded       324       46       84       61       74       31       118       66         1879–1894       324       46       84       61       74       31       118       66         1879–1894       324       46       84       61       74       31       118       66         1879–1894       55       51       440       68       518       81       348       59         1908–1921       55       62       89       73       554       55       251       67         1921–1933       102       36       196       38        238       82	Call money rates								
1894-1908	1879–1894	174	85	449	73	304	76	256	86
1908-1921         171         44         118         66         274         19         80         56           1921-1933         36         60         132         23          139         83           Shares traded          324         46         84         61         74         31         118         66           1894-1908         324         46         84         61         74         31         118         66           1894-1908         85         51         440         68         518         81         348         59           1908-1921         55         62         89         73         554         55         251         67           1921-1933         102         36         196         38          238         82	1894-1908	580	73	286	63	248	83	669	87
1921–1933	1908–1921	171	44	118	66	274	19	80	56
Shares traded         324         46         84         61         74         31         118         66           1879–1894         324         46         84         61         74         31         118         66           1894–1908         85         51         440         68         518         81         348         59           1908–1921         55         62         89         73         554         55         251         67           1921–1933         102         36         196         38          238         82	1921–1933	36	60	132	23			139	83
1879–1894	Shares traded			ł					
1894–1908         85         51         440         68         518         81         348         59           1908–1921         55         62         89         73         554         55         251         67           1921–1933         102         36         196         38          238         82	1879–1894	324	46	84	61	74	31	118	66
1908-1921         55         62         89         73         554         55         251         67           1921-1933         102         36         196         38          238         82	1894-1908	85	51	440	68	518	81	348	59
1921–1933 102 36 196 38 238 82	1908-1921	55	62	89	73	554	55	251	67
	1921–1933	102	36	196	38			238	82

• The periods refer to groups of business cycles and hence are identical for each series; the corresponding specific-cycle periods differ somewhat.

<sup>b</sup> Two specific cycles in deflated clearings and three in call money rates occupy approximately the same period as the business cycle from 1879 to 1885. To simplify comparisons we ignore here (but not in Tables 173 and 175) the 'extra' cyclical movements; that is, the trough-peak-trough dates in clearings are taken as March 1878, June 1883 and Nov. 1884, and in call money rates Sept. 1878, Feb. 1881 and Jan. 1885.

<sup>o</sup> That is, the fourth cycle in each of the first three periods, but the third cycle in the fourth and last period. During 1921-33 clearings show only two specific cycles; the expansion of the scoond cycle is omitted, since it runs from 1923 to 1929.

<sup>d</sup> The standings include as a rule the 3 months centered on the month of turn, but in a few instances they include 1 or 2 months only. See Appendix Table B1.

----

Table 175 seems to support this judgment. Cyclical durations played no part in dating the periods we are investigating and therefore provide an independent test of the hypothesis that business and specific cycles vary cyclically within these periods. We find that the differences between the first and last groups are, on the whole, in the same direction as those between the first and last groups within 'Juglar cycles', but they are less impressive. Few variance ratios exceed unity, and not one in the table is 'significantly large'. There is a rough suggestion that the durations of British business cycles may have varied according to their position within periods separated by severe depressions, but little or no evidence that the durations of American business cycles have done so.

It is important to bear in mind that our ratings of business depressions are surrounded by uncertainty, and that for this reason, if for no other, it is desirable to suspend judgment concerning the nature of the periods marked off by severe depressions. The indexes of business conditions on which we have relied are made from slender samples in the early years. Another and more vital difficulty is that the cyclical depressions of experience do not group themselves readily into mild and severe types.<sup>43</sup> The contraction of 1882-85 has no place in our list of the severest five depressions in the United States between 1873 and 1933. It would have a place if we included the severest six depressions. It would have a place even in a list of five, replacing the contraction of 1907-08, if we made our selection according to Persons' index of 'production and trade' or according to Eckler's ratings,44 instead of according to the combined indications of the three indexes of business that we have used. But if the contraction of 1882-85 is placed on the list of severe depressions, we get one severe depression succeeding another, and the neat distribution of business cycles that we have been elaborating is disrupted at the start. This would happen automatically if business depressions were rated according to their duration and amplitude, instead of their amplitude alone-as we have done. For when the cyclical contractions from 1879 to 1933 in our three indexes are ranked on the joint criterion,45 all three agree that the contraction from 1882 to 1885 was only less severe than the contraction of 1929-33. And if we look beyond 1933, even the simple amplitude criterion proves embarrassing since the contraction of 1937-38 in the United States was apparently even severer than that of 1920-21; so that

43 Cf. Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, pp. 350-2.

44 See his paper, A Measure of the Severity of Depressions, 1873-1932, Review of Economic Statistics, May 15, 1933.

45 The troughs of Schumpeter's Juglars (since the 1870's and barring the trough in 1904) seem to be troughs of severe depressions on the joint criterion. Note the application of this criterion in Table 53.

But as note 19 in Ch. 6 implies, the joint criterion is inadequate so far as it ignores cyclical patterns. The contraction of 1882 to 1885 was very mild in the early stages; if we allowed for its peculiar pattern, it would not rank as high in a list of severe depressions as it does when the ranks are determined on the basis merely of duration and amplitude.

### TABLE 175

Average Duration of Specific Cycles in Seven American Series and of American and British Business Cycles Occupying First, Middle or Last Place within Periods Marked Off by Severe Depressions from 1873 to 1933

	1			1				
Series and	I I	Average duration	Average ratio of					
order of cycles	of spe	cific or busines	s cycles	expansion to full				
between severe		in months	cycles marked off by					
depressions	Expansion	Contraction	Troughs Peaks					
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)			
DEFLATED CLEARINGS								
First	29	7	36	80	78			
Middle	32	1 11	43	73	73			
I aer	38	16	54	71	82			
BIG IBON PRODUCTION	50	10			.02			
First	30	15	45	67	69			
Middle	32	11	43	.07	.00			
I ant	22	20	42	54	./1			
	22	20	42		.05			
FREIGHT CAR ORDERS	20	21	40	10	20			
	20	21	40	.40	.39			
Milddle	20	10	50	.52	.51			
Last	10	28	44	.30	.40			
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES								
First.	22	21	43	.51	.39			
Middle	25	15	40	.62	.57			
Last	35	27	62	.53	.70			
SHARES TRADED	1		1					
First	20	25	45	.43	.31			
Middle	15	24	39	.40	.37			
Last	22	31	53	.40	.50			
CALL MONEY RATES								
First	16	14	30	.54	.48			
Middle	19	19	38	.49	.52			
Last	20	22	42	.46	.56			
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS								
First	23	35	58	.38	.41			
Middle	26	17	42	.62	.52			
Last	. 21	22	43	.48	.60			
BUSINESS CYCLES, U. S.								
First	23	24	47	.50	49			
Middle	25	16	41	.61	54			
Last	20	24	44	.46	59			
BUSINESS CYCLES. G. B.								
First	49	24	74	67	59			
Middle	26	14	40	58	52			
Last	26	30	56	44	.52			
Ratio of variance between groups to variance within groups								
Deflated clearings	0.36	0.88	0.72	0.44	1 20			
Pig iron production	0.99	0.96	0.04+	1.89	0.30			
Freight car orders	0.20	2.28	0.28	0.94	0.50			
Railroad stock prices	0.55	0.99	0.92	0.69	2 60			
Shares traded	0.55	0.49	0.86	0.04+	0.70			
Call money rates	0.55	1.07	2 25	0.15	0.79			
Railroad bond vialda	0.10	2 3 2	1.20	1 10	0.20			
Business cuoles II S	0.10	1.24	0.20	1.19	0.79			
Business cycles, U. S	0.40	1.24	1.04	1.19	0.72			
Dusiness cycles, G. B	2.32	1.52	1.94	1.32	0.12			

The measures for business cycles are derived from the monthly reference dates in Table 16. For further explanations, see note to Table 173.

†Smaller than the value that would be fallen short of once in twenty times by chance.

once again we get one severe depression following upon another. These difficulties are not necessarily fatal to the chronological scheme we have tested, for it may be better to select severe depressions from small clusters of cycles than from an array covering all cycles. But the difficulties we have recited at least invite caution. It is wiser to wait until the researches now in process yield authentic ratings of business depressions before expending much effort in elaborating the hypothesis that the periods separating severe depressions are genuine cyclical units.

## VII Conclusions and Plans for Later Work

From the tests in this chapter we cannot draw any far-reaching conclusions. In the first place, we have analyzed only a small sample of time series and tested only a few hypotheses. In the second place, our technical methods are rough. We have made no allowance for substantial leads or lags that might possibly characterize cyclical variations in the specific cycles of different activities; our probability tests are approximate at best; and our techniques are insensitive to the possible coexistence of several cyclical swings, each with a different period, in business cycles. In view of these limitations we are in no position to say whether business cycles have or have not varied cyclically.

But that basic problem is also beyond the scope of this chapter. Our analysis was designed to determine whether there is any clear presumption for the belief that business and specific cycles have varied substantially according to their position within the long cycles dated by different investigators, rather than whether business cycles are grouped into genuine higher units. We have not found substantial variations within the alleged long cycles, except in the so-called 'Juglar cycles' and the periods explicitly marked off by dates of severe depressions. Even in these periods the systematic variations between business cycles in the different groups that we distinguished seem less impressive than their common features, the systematic differences found in the averages do not invariably mark each of the alleged long cycles, and their dates are surrounded by uncertainties independent of our results. We therefore conclude that strong reasons do not now exist for organizing cyclical measures on the assumption that business cycles have varied cyclically within the periods suggested by any of the hypotheses of long cycles that we have noted. Both the studies in this chapter and our general knowledge of economic time series suggest that if cyclical changes have occurred in business cycles, they cannot have been so pronounced and dominating as to jeopardize the value of the approximate descriptions of cyclical behavior afforded by our over-all averages.

There is a sharp contrast between chronologies of business cycles and chronologies of long cycles. In Chapter 4, Section VI we found that statistical investigators, even when they have used widely different samples of time series and different techniques of measurement, have drawn up similar chronologies of business cycles. That result would be unlikely if business cycles failed to leave a clear imprint on statistical records of important economic activities. Since statistical investigators of long cycles, as we have seen in this chapter, reach widely divergent results, it seems reasonable to infer that cycles in general business activity of a higher order than business cycles are probably far from being a clear or pronounced feature of economic development.

These preliminary conclusions must suffice for the present. At a later time they will be tested thoroughly. As already stated, one of the main problems to be explored in the concluding volume of this series is whether business cycles have been subject to secular, structural or cyclical changes as well as to the haphazard changes that everyone recognizes. When we undertake that task we shall probably find that we need new cyclical measures as well as additional time series. Such things are learned best in working on a problem intensively, but it is also desirable in the course of current work to assemble materials that seem likely to facilitate later studies. In the preceding chapter we explained how we modify our standard technique to take account of secular changes in cyclical behavior that are prominent in some series. We shall now add a few illustrations of how we provide materials concerning cyclical changes in cyclical behavior.

In passing from one economic factor to another, we make an effort to note long cycles whenever they appear clearly in the raw data of individual series. We mark off these cycles, and measure their duration and amplitude, in the same manner as the specific cycles. We also set out their relation in time to the shorter cycles in which our interest centers, and contrast the behavior of specific cycles during the rise and fall of the long cycles. Tables 161-163 illustrate some of these steps. We have analyzed on this general plan railroad stock prices and number of shares traded, two series in our present sample; also the American series on real estate trading, immigration, and numerous series on building construction. All these activities show specific cycles bunched in long cycles averaging fifteen to twenty years, though the timing of the long cycles differs from series to series. In prices of commodities at wholesale and long-term interest rates we find much longer and seemingly more doubtful major cycles. We have not attempted to measure the major cycles in these series, but have found it instructive to take separate averages of their specific and reference cycles for periods of rising and falling 'trends', as well as averages in which the rising and falling 'trends' are allowed to neutralize each other. Whether or not these materials will put us on the path of true cyclical changes in business cycles, they are sure to help us understand better than we do now why no two business cycles in actual life have ever run exactly the same course.

### CHAPTER 12

# Stable and Irregular Features of Cyclical Behavior

THE TWO preceding chapters suggest that irregular changes in cyclical behavior are far larger in scope than secular or cyclical changes. This tentative finding will not be questioned by students who believe that it is vain to strive after a general theory of crises, or depressions, or business cycles. Their argument is that each of these episodes must be explained by the peculiar combination of conditions prevailing at the time, and that these combinations differ endlessly from one another. Students starting from this theoretical position may see little value in statistical averages of the sort we use to describe cyclical behavior. If the episodic features of historical business cycles are the thing of real importance, averages that conceal the episodic movements are futile if not mischievous constructions—as futile and mischievous as general theories of business cycles. In this chapter we attempt to indicate to what extent averages are justifiably subject to such criticisms.

## I Individual Features of Successive Cycles

Every realistic investigator recognizes that business activity at any time is influenced by countless 'random' factors. Some arise from the processes of nature, some from agreements or quarrels among men, some from changes in governmental policy, some from discoveries or inventions the list of sources is indefinitely long. Some random factors influence directly only a single enterprise; e.g., a new method of keeping accounts, a fire, or the loss of a key employee. Others impinge directly on a whole industry or locality; e.g., unionization of employees, a change in fashion, a new building code, or tariff, or tax on real estate. Still others influence all or most business enterprises of a country, such as a change in the currency system, a war, a general strike. Some 'disturbances' pass quickly,

- 466 -

others linger for several years; some exercise a slight and some a potent influence; some affect agents that 'respond' quickly, others affect agents that 'respond' slowly; some tend to stimulate, others to depress business activity, while many are stimulating in certain directions and depressing in others. A cyclical expansion in general business may be curtailed by 'unfavorable' random factors potent enough to overcome the cyclical forces making for further expansion—such as the respending of incomes that are themselves increasing, the accumulation of stocks necessitated by a growing volume of business, new investments in plant fostered by expanding markets and general optimism. But a cyclical expansion may be curtailed also by 'favorable' random factors that intensify business activity and so accelerate the development of whatever stresses bring on a recession.

Each specific and business cycle is therefore an individual differing in countless ways from every other. But what features of a business or specific cycle are 'peculiar', and the ways in which they are 'peculiar', cannot be determined without reference to some 'norm'. Those who accept an episodic theory of business cycles cannot escape having notions of what is 'usual' and what is 'unusual' about any given cycle. By striking averages

	Number of months lead (-) or lag (+) of specific-cycle turns in			Corresponding specific cycles in iron production									
Dates of reference cycles	• Iron production at reference		Iron prices <sup>a</sup> at reference		Duration in months		Amplitude <sup>b</sup> of			Per month amplitude <sup>b</sup> of			
Upturn-Peak-Trough	P°	T٩	Pe	T۹	Ex- pan- sion	Con- trac- tion	Full cycle	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall	Rise	Fall	Rise & fall
Mar.79		-2											
Apr. 79-Mar.82-May 85	+11	-4			49	23	72	64.0	24.6	88.6	1.3	1.1	1.2
June 85-Mar. 87-Apr. 88	+7	-1			33	5	38	64.8	25.5	90.3	2.0	5.1	2.4
May88-July 90-May 91	-2	-1			26	11	37	50.2	47.4	97.6	1.9	4.3	2.6
June91-Jan. 93-June94	-11	~8		+9	10	20	30	45.4	63.7	109.1	4.5	3.2	3.6
July 94-Dec. 95-June 97	-1	~8	-2	0	25	11	36	87.2	6 <b>0.8</b>	148.0	3.5	5.5	4.1
July 97-June 99-Dec. 00	+6	-2	+6	-2	38	10	48	76.0	30.5	106.5	2.0	3.0	2.2
Jan. 01-Sep. 02-Aug. 04	+9	~8	+2	-1	32	6	38	49.0	50.0	99.0	1.5	8.3	2.6
Sep. 04-May 07-June 08	+2	-5	-4	+11	43	6	49	73.6	62.7	136.3	1.7	10.4	2.8
July 08-Jan. 10-Jan. 12	0	-13	-2	+1	24	11	35	78.6	41.7	120.3	3.3	3.8	3.4
Feb. 12-Jan. 13-Dec. 14	0	0	0	+4	25	23	48	45.0	56.8	101.8	1.8	2.5	2.1
Jan. 15-Aug. 18-Apr. 19	+1	+1	13	+3	45	8	53	61.9	40.3	102.2	1.4	5.0	1.9
May19-Jan. 20-Sep. 21	+8	-2	+8	+6	16	10	26	40.7	91.1	131.8	2.5	9.1	5.1
Oct. 21-May 23-July 24	0	0	-8	+13	22	14	36	108.3	58.6	166.9	4.9	4.2	4.6
Aug.24-Oct. 26-Dec. 27	-3	-1	-7	+7	24	16	40	36.5	18.7	55.2	1.5	1.2	1.4
Jan. 28-June 29-Mar.33	+1	0	0	0	20	44	64	5 <b>0</b> .0	148.9	198.9	2.5	3.4	3.1
Average	+2	-3	-2	+4	29	15	43	62.1	54.8	116.8	2.4 <sup>d</sup>	4.7d	2.9ª

	TABLE 176	
Cyclical	Measures of Pig Iron Production and	Prices
	United States, 1879–1933	

 Weighted average of the prices of four leading grades of pig iron, derived from publications of the Bureau of Labor Statistics (Bulletin through 1931, Wholesale Prices thereafter).

<sup>b</sup> In specific-cycle relatives.

P stands for peaks, T for troughs.

<sup>d</sup> Unweighted average.

of cyclical behavior we make such notions more definite. Averages provide standards for judging individual cycles and thus can be no less useful to the episodic theorist than to students who believe that business cycles have enough common features to admit of a general explanation.

How averages help to identify the peculiarities of successive cycles is simply illustrated by the cyclical measures for the American iron industry in Table 176. The cyclical contraction in iron output during 1907–08 was short but violent, the rate of decline exceeding any other contraction in the period covered. The expansion during the War cycle of 1914–19 was exceptionally long but of average amplitude; hence the rate of rise was well below average. The rise in 1924–26 was unusually small for this volatile activity; it was accompanied by one of the briefest rises in pig iron prices on record, and was followed by a cyclical decline in output much milder than usual but about average in duration. The contraction of 1929–33 was the longest and largest on record, but the rate of decline was below average. The upturn in 1933 coincided with upturns in iron prices and general business, in contrast to past cycles when it usually led the former by substantial and the latter by somewhat shorter intervals.

Chart 73 presents a more elaborate illustration. It shows the reference cycles of the seven series discussed in preceding chapters, cycle by cycle, against a background of averages for the fifteen cycles from 1879 to 1933. The average patterns are so plotted in relation to the patterns for single cycles that the standings of the two at the reference peak are vertically aligned. Of course, the chart contains too few series to convey an adequate notion of the special characteristics of successive business cycles. Nevertheless, it illustrates vividly how averages help to spot idiosyncrasies. For example, we see that the rise of the business cycle of 1879-85 was exceptionally long; apparently it was also of larger amplitude than usual and was marked by irregularly declining interest rates; it culminated in a peak level maintained for some months, was followed by a very long contraction, and experienced a money market panic towards the close of the contraction.<sup>1</sup> By contrast the cycle of 1900-04 seems 'normal', but it too has numerous distinctive features. The stock exchange panic of May 1901, associated with the 'corner' in Northern Pacific stock, is reflected in the patterns of both call money rates and share trading. The amplitude of this cycle was milder than average in series relating to the physical volume of business, but larger than average in call money and share trading. Further, contraction seems to have lasted slightly longer than expansion, whereas the opposite relation is the rule. Dozens of peculiarities of other cycles stand out in the chart: the long expansion of 1914-18,

-

<sup>1</sup> The panic came in May 1884. On the chart it appears merely as a faint rise between stages VII and VIII in call money rates. The standings at these stages are averages based on numerous months, and nearly iron out this violent financial episode. This limitation of the cyclical patterns must be borne in mind; they are an efficient tool for extracting meaning from the raw data, but neither they nor anything else can serve as a substitute for study of the raw data (see Chart 31).

CHART 73

Patterns of Successive Reference Cycles Compared with Their Average Pattern, 1879–1933 Seven American Series

- 1 Railroad bond yields 2 Deflated clearings
- **3** Railroad stock prices 4 Pig iron production

Shares traded

- Call money rates 6 7
- Freight car orders\*



5

---- Average pattern, 15 cycles



12 24 4











- 470 **-**



1

4

ì

.

1

ł

1

۱

١





- 471 -




- 472 --



ł

2





- 473 -

### 474 STABLE AND IRREGULAR FEATURES OF CYCLES

the brief and moderate decline of 1918–19, the long and violent decline of 1929–33, the concerted downturn of different activities in 1929, the widely scattered downturns at the reference peak in 1918, the accentuated decline in the last stage of the 1913–14 contraction, the money market panic in 1914, the insensitivity of security markets to the contraction of 1926–27, and so on. i

We come closer to the continuum of business activity by analyzing reference cycles marked off by peaks as well as by troughs.<sup>2</sup> Chart 74 illustrates the point: it is made like Chart 73 except that the average patterns, which are now based on fourteen cycles instead of fifteen, are plotted so that their standings and those of individual cycle patterns at the reference trough are vertically aligned.<sup>3</sup> By coupling contractions with the following instead of the preceding expansions, the recovery phase of business cycles becomes clearer. Several characteristics of the cyclical movements are also made more prominent. In particular the cycle of 1918–20 appears below average in amplitude, and certainly as the shortest we have recognized. Because the contraction and expansion are so short,<sup>4</sup> share trading and railroad stock prices, which usually and also in this cycle lead in revivals and recessions by substantial intervals, appear as 'positive' movements during this peak-to-peak cycle.<sup>5</sup>

### II Stable Features of Successive Cycles

Averages not only provide benchmarks for judging individual cycles; they also indicate roughly what cyclical behavior is characteristic of different activities, and that is their chief value. Of course, a blind use of averages may lead to worthless conclusions. For example, if two related

<sup>2</sup> As yet our standard measurements include only the latter (see pp. 162-3). But the patterns of the present sample of seven series are shown on both a positive and inverted basis, cycle by cycle, in Appendix Tables B3-B4.

<sup>8</sup> It is well to note the dependence of the reference-cycle standings on the base. The reference-cycle standings of single cycles in Chart 74 differ from corresponding standings in Chart 73 because they are computed on different bases; the average patterns differ for this reason and also because Chart 73 includes one more cycle than Chart 74. Of course, a rise between adjacent standings computed on one base will appear as a rise on any other base, and so will a fall. But a rise between adjacent *average* standings computed on one set of bases may appear as a fall when the average standings are computed on another set of bases. Thus the average pattern of call money rates reaches a peak at the same time as the reference peak in Chart 73 but during the first third of contraction in Chart 74. This difference could arise either from the additional cycle covered by Chart 73 or from the different bases employed in the two charts. The former happens to be responsible; when the additional cycle is eliminated from the averages in Chart 73, the fall from the peak to the first third of contraction is replaced by a rise.

Still another factor affects one discrepancy between the patterns of freight car orders in the two charts. The reference expansion in 1924-26 is based in Chart 73 on figures from the *Iron Trade Review* and in Chart 74 on Partington's compilations. See Ch. 9, note 2.

4 See, however, p. 194.

5 For a case worked out in detail by the methods illustrated in this section, see our *Bulletin 61*, in which fluctuations in the production of numerous industries during the American business cycle of 1927-33 are compared with averages of preceding cycles.

CHART 74

Patterns of Successive Reference Cycles Compared with Their Average Pattern, 1882-1929 Seven American Series

(Patterns made on inverted basis<sup>a</sup>)

Railroad bond yields

Railroad stock prices

Pig iron production

Shares traded

Pattern for cycle

Call money rates

Freight car orders<sup>b</sup>

Ceflated clearings

1

2

з

4

5

6

7



.

ł

۱

ij

9

-



Ŧ

Average, 14 cycles

12 24 36 4 Horizontal scale, in months

<sup>c</sup> 13 cycles in freight car orders; the extreme **re**ference cycle of 1918–20 is omitted.

See Appendix Table B4.

-1

48







- 476 -



t

÷

:

ķ

.

ļ













÷

ł

.

į

¢

ł





activities have identical amplitudes in nineteen business cycles and widely different amplitudes in one business cycle, averages covering all twenty cycles would be misleading, as would also deviations of individual cycles from the averages. Again, an investigator who finds that the average timing of two series is approximately the same might infer that their characteristic cyclical timing is really the same, in disregard of a persistent lag of one series during all but one or two freakish cycles. Clearly, averages alone may cause an investigator to declare at times that a persistent difference exists in cyclical behavior when none exists in fact, and to declare at other times that no difference exists when ones does exist in fact.

These dangers are real and it is important to stress them. But it is even more important to recognize that averages, if used judiciously, enable us to describe what cyclical behavior has been characteristic 'in the long run' of different factors in our business economy. Our studies in Chapters 10 and 11 have yielded little evidence that secular, structural, or cyclical changes have impressed their influence strongly on the cyclical behavior of single activities or business as a whole. On the other hand, a great deal of evidence exists that random factors constantly influence business activities. Now and then we find secular, or discontinuous, or cyclical changes in the cyclical behavior of single series; but when that happens we restrict averages to periods or groups of cycles that seem homogeneous. Hence we provisionally regard our averages as rough representatives of the cyclical movements characteristic of individual activities and the average deviations as rough representatives of the variability of cyclical measures around fairly stationary means. So far as certain features are peculiar to the individual cycles of a series, they tend to fade out in averages; that is, the averages tend to emphasize the effects common to most cycles in the group.

Charts 73 and 74 teach more than that the behavior of each series differs considerably from cycle to cycle. Another and no less important lesson is that despite these variations the reference cycles of the same series bear a family resemblance, while the reference cycles of different series vary in characteristic ways. What happens upon striking averages for groups of specific or reference cycles is indicated simply by the charts in Chapters 10 and 11. The story is almost always the same: the idiosyncrasies of individual cycles tend to vanish, the average patterns of the same series look much alike in different samples of cycles, the patterns of different series become sharply differentiated, and the relations among the series persist with great regularity from one sample of cycles to the next. This tendency of individual series to behave similarly in regard to one another in successive business cycles would not be found if the forces that produce business cycles had slight regularity.

Table 177 shows how stable are the relations among the amplitudes of

Business cycle <sup>a</sup>	Railroad bond yields (III-VI)	Deflated clearings (VIII-V)	Railroad stock prices (VIII-IV)	Shares traded (VIII-IV)	Pig iron production (I-V)	Call money rates (I-V)	Freight car orders (VIII-IV)
_			Rise & fall	in reference	-cycle relative	3	
1879-1885	+7.5	+39.1	+90.6	+86.4	+66.3	+66.8	+247.6
1885-1888	+6.2	+34.4	+29.1	+68.9	+57.4	+180.6	+98.7
1888-1891	+4.5	+33.3	+11.1	+59.3	+81.2	+213.3	+149.7
1891-1894	+6.1	+39.4	+33.5	+50.6	+76.8	+78.0	+71.5
1894-1897	+3.0	+21.9	+19.7	+87.1	+91.5	+157.2	+243.1
1897-1900	-6.3	+33.7	+23.1	+146.3	+41.1	+146.0	+102.6
1900-1904	+1.6	+19.6	+60.5	+75.3	+50.4	+302.7	+172.1
1904-1908	+12.2	+40.4	+58.4	+103.9	+110.4	+60.8	+207.1
1908-1912	+3.0	+19.3	+41.7	+75.1	+98.3	+112.1	+310.8
1912-1914	+4.4	+16.9	+22.5	+47.4	+85.0	+76.6	+245.4
1914-1919	+14.5	+40.6	-18.1	+20.9	+94.5	+98.7	+132.5
1919-1921	+27.9	+22.6	+5.9	+95.4	+94.1	+97.1	+75.5
1921-1924	+8.7	+21.7	+24.4	+65.5	+157.4	+50.8	+223.9
1924-1927	-5.5	+3.9	+0.2	+22.3	+55.8	+79.4	+7.3
1927-1933	+20.4	+48.5	+131.1	+143.0	+189.5	+282.8	+186.5
			R	ank of rise &	k fall		
1879-1885	1	2	6	5	3	4	7
1885-1888	1	3	2	5	4	7	6
1888-1891	1	3	2	4	5	7	6
1891-1894	1	3	2	4	6	7	5
1894-1897	t	3	2	4	5	6	7
1897-1900	1	3	2	7	4	6	5
1900-1904	1	2	4	. 5	3	7	6
1904-1908	1	2	3	5	6	4	7
1908-1912	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1912-1914	1	2	3	4	6	5	7
1914-1919	2	4	1	3	5	6	7
1919-1921	3	2	1	6	5	7	4
1921-1924	1	2	3	5	6	4	7
1924-1927	1	3	2	5	6	7	4
1927-1933	1	2	3	4	6	7	5
Average for							
1879-1933	1.2	. 2.5	2.6	4.7	5.0	6.0	6.0
1885-1914	1.0	2.6	2.6	4.7	4.9	6.1	6.2

#### TABLE 177 Amplitude of Successive Reference Cycles Seven American Series, 1879–1933

Roman numerals after the titles indicate what stages of the reference cycles are matched with reference expansion, the remaining stages being matched with reference contraction. Concerning the meaning of the signs, see note 7. •Years of the initial and terminal troughs of the monthly reference cycles (Table 16).

our seven series during the business cycles from 1879 to 1933. The amplitudes are computed from reference-cycle standings in the terminal stages assigned to expansion and contraction, as given in our standard Table R4.<sup>6</sup> For example, in call money rates we match stages I-V with reference expansions and stages V-IX with reference contractions; hence the amplitude of the joint rise and fall of a given reference cycle is the excess of the standing in stage V over the standing in I plus the excess of the standing in

6 See p. 174 and Table 47.

#### 482 STABLE AND IRREGULAR FEATURES OF CYCLES

stage V over the standing in IX.<sup>7</sup> Once the reference-cycle amplitudes of the several series have been computed, we rank them in each cycle by assigning a value of 1 to the smallest and 7 to the largest. Now, if the rankings were purely fortuitous, the mean ranks of the individual series would tend towards equality; but it is plain that the rankings of the series tend to persist from cycle to cycle. By applying a mathematical test devised by Friedman for ranked two-way distributions, we find that the probability that the mean ranks of our series would differ on account of chance factors by more than the observed amount is less than one in a million.<sup>8</sup>

These results are corroborated by specific-cycle measures. The reference-cycle measures in Table 177 have the advantage that they can be computed for every business cycle covered; but they fail to take account of departures from that timing which we consider usual in the series, and thus understate by varying margins the full amplitudes of the specific cycles. The amplitude measures supplied by our standard Table S2 have opposite advantages and disadvantages: they show the full amplitudes of the specific cycles but these cycles do not correspond invariably to business cycles. The latter disadvantage is minimized in Table 178 which is restricted to 1885-1914, a period when the specific cycles of all series except railroad bond yields bear one-to-one correspondence to business cycles. The rankings of the specific-cycle amplitudes of the several series turn out to be even more stable from one business cycle to another than do the rankings of the reference-cycle amplitudes. It is also notable that the ranks of the two sets of amplitudes match fairly well. The principal discrepancies are the lower rank of iron production and the higher rank of call money rates in the specific-cycle than in the reference-cycle measures.

In Table 179 we contrast cyclical amplitudes and cyclical durations. The table arrays averages based on four samples of specific cycles in each of our seven series. The arrays make it possible to perform an experiment. Our concern is, let us say, with the amplitudes of full specific cycles. We select at random any one of the four averages for bank clearings, then do the same for iron production and the other series. It is plain that no matter what seven averages are drawn, bond yields will occupy the first

7 It will be noticed that a few entries are negative. A negative entry usually means inverse conformity and a plus entry positive conformity to full business cycles, as defined in Ch. 5, Sec. IX-X. But this inference may prove false when the reference-cycle 'rise' and 'fall', as recorded in col. (2) and (5) respectively of our standard Table R4, are both plus or both minus; for while the 'rise & fall' shown in Table 177 is computed directly from the 'rise' and 'fall', our conformity measure is derived from the 'per month' figures.

8 See Milton Friedman, The Use of Ranks to Avoid the Assumption of Normality Implicit in the Analysis of Variance, Journal of the American Statistical Association, Dec. 1937. Friedman's method involves the computation of a statistic that tends to be distributed as 'chi-square' with (p-1) degrees of freedom, where p is the number of ranks. This statistic comes out 68.8 for the ranks in Table 177. For six degrees of freedom the probability of a value of 'chi-square' greater than 68.8 is .000000.

Business cycle <sup>a</sup>	Railroad bond yields	Deflated clearings	Railroad stock prices	Pig iron production	Shares traded	Freight car orders	Call money rates
			Rise & fall	in specific-cycl	e relatives		
1885-1888	14.4	43.1	45.0	90.3	145.0	209.0	329.2
1888-1891	16.3	36.5	23.2	97.6	88.9	228.6	284.9
1891-1894	23.8	42.9	48.0	109.1	209.9	283.7	351.6
1894-1897	21.9	31.7	31.3	148.0	129.3	223.0	369.8
1897-1900	10 75	41.8	50.5	106.5	237.2	295.0	280.1
1900-1904	{10.70	27.1	7 <b>6</b> .6	99.0	358.6	290.8	322.0
1904-1908	24.4	51.8	82.0	136.3	197.4	402.6	421.9
1908-1912	15.00	34.3	53.0	120.3	123.3	334.5	148.7
191 <b>2-19</b> 14	{15.2*	23.0	33.4	101.8	181. <b>2</b>	369.2	185.3
			Ra	nk of rise & fa	Ш		-
1885-1888	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1888-1891	1	3	2	5	4	6	7
1891-1894	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1894-1897	1	3	2	5	4	6	7
1897-1900	1ª	2	3	4	5	7	6
1900-1904	1ª	2	3	4	7	5	6
1904-1908	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1908-1912	1 <sup>d</sup>	2	3	4	5	7	6
1912-1914	1 <sup>d</sup>	2	3	4	5	7	6
Average	1.0	2.2	2.8	4.2	5.0	6.2	6.6

#### TABLE 178 Amplitude of Specific Cycles Corresponding to Successive Business Cycles Seven American Series, 1885-1914

The turning points of the specific cycles are given in Appendix Table B1.

•Years of the initial and terminal troughs of the monthly reference cycles (Table 16).

<sup>b</sup>Amplitude of the cycle from June 1899 to Feb. 1905. <sup>c</sup>Amplitude of the cycle from Feb. 1909 to June 1914.

<sup>d</sup>The amplitude of a specific cycle that corresponds approximately to two business cycles is repeated in deriving ranks.

place, clearings the second place, stock prices the third, iron production the fourth, share trading and call money rates the fifth or sixth, and freight car orders the seventh. Of course, an increase in the number of samples would blur the picture. For example, the average amplitude is larger in call money rates than in freight car orders in the sample of cycles covered by Table 178. Again, the rankings of the per month amplitudes of Table 179 are less stable than the total amplitudes. This tendency of the rankings of different series to shade into one another would become more pronounced if we compared seventy instead of seven series. Hence in dealing with numerous series we must think more often of differences among groups of activities than of differences among single series, and we must think more in terms of orders of magnitude than in terms of exact differentials. Subject to this reservation, average amplitudes are indicators of real differences in the cyclical behavior of economic activities.

Let us now perform a similar experiment on the cyclical durations. Again we select any one of the four averages for bond yields, and do the

r	A	B	Ľ	Е	1	7	9
-		_	_	_		•	

Average duration	AVERAGE AMPLITUDE IN SPECIFIC-CYCLE RELATIVES						
of full cycles in months	Rise & fall	Per month rise & fall*					
Car orders	Bond yields 20	Bond yields 0.4					
Bond yields	Bond yields 23	Bond yields 0.6					
Call rates	I ond yields 24	Bond yields 0.6					
Clearings	Bond yields 27	Clearings 0.8					
Stock prices	Clearings	Bond yields 0.9					
Call rates	Clearings 40	Clearings					
Call rates	Clearings 41	Clearings 0.9					
Car orders	Clearings 42	Clearings 1.1					
Car orders	Stock prices	Stock prices 1.4					
Call rates	Stock prices	Stock prices 1.4					
Clearings	Stock prices	Stock prices 1.4					
Shares traded	Stock prices	Stock prices 1.5					
Bond yields	Iron output	Iron output					
Iron output43	Iron output	Iron output 2.8					
Iron output	Iron output	Iron output					
Iron output	Iron output	Iron output					
Iron output	Shares traded	Shares traded 3.6					
Shares traded	Call rates	Call rates 4.5					
Clearings	Shares traded	Shares traded 4.6					
Shares traded	Shares traded	Shares traded 4.9					
Bond yields	Call rates	Shares traded 5.2					
Shares traded	Shares traded	Call rates 5.9					
Car orders	Call rates	Call rates 6.3					
Bond yields	Call rates	Car orders					
Stock prices	Car orders	Call rates 8.4					
Stock prices	Car orders	Car orders					
Clearings	Car orders	Car orders					
Stock prices	Car orders	Car orders					

Arrays of Average Durations and Amplitudes of Specific Cycles Based on Four Samples from Seven American Series

Derived from Table 140, which gives averages for all cycles in each series, and from Table 145, which gives averages for three subgroups containing an equal or approximately equal number of cycles. The order of the items is based on averages carried to more places than shown here.

Unweighted average.

same for bank clearings and the other series. Suppose that the following averages are drawn: freight car orders 32, railroad bond yields 32, call money rates 36, deflated clearings 37, shares traded 42, pig iron production 43, railroad stock prices 63. From this sample we might conceivably jump to the conclusion that the specific cycles of bond yields and car orders are shorter and the cycles of stock prices longer than those of the other series. But we might have made another drawing of averages: railroad stock prices 37, call money rates 40, pig iron production 43, shares traded 44, deflated clearings 44, railroad bond yields 45, and freight car orders 48. These averages practically reverse the showing of the first set. Careful inspection of Table 179 will demonstrate that by changing the samples we may get almost any result for cyclical durations.

In view of this remarkable contrast between the durations and amplitudes of specific cycles, we make in Tables 180-182 a more comprehensive test of the business-cycle behavior of our seven series. From 1879 to 1933

fifteen business cycles occurred in the United States according to our reference dates. We divide these cycles into groups of five: the first from 1879 to 1897, the second from 1897 to 1914, the third from 1914 to 1933. Table 180 shows averages of the duration, amplitude, and several other characteristics of cyclical behavior for each of these periods, series by series. In no instance are the averages for the three periods identical. But whereas the average durations of full specific cycles of the seven series in one period seem uncorrelated with those in another period, the averages of other cyclical measures tend to repeat the same order. This tendency toward repetition is measured by coefficients of rank correlation in Table 181. The correlation between the ranks of the average durations of specific cycles in the first and second periods is negative; the correlation coefficients between the first and third periods and between the second and third, while positive, are of negligible size and much the smallest in the table. For every other cyclical measure the coefficients are invariably positive. They are remarkably high for specific-cycle amplitudes, also for rates of change during reference cycles and for timing measures at reference peaks. The tendency toward repetition is smaller in other cyclical measures, but it is present also in the timing at reference troughs and even in the durations of expansions and contractions of specific cycles. Variance analysis confirms these results. Whether we include all the cycles in each series or restrict analysis to 1879-1933, which is covered by all seven series, Table 182 shows that the differences among series are 'significantly' larger than the differences within series for every measure except the duration of full specific cycles.<sup>9</sup>

These statistical findings are in harmony with theoretical expectations. The sequence of changes is less uniform in revivals than in recessions, since revivals lack the compulsion that attends business recessions. The durations of expansions and contractions differ significantly among individual activities, since some tend to lead at revivals and lag at recessions, others show opposite relations,<sup>10</sup> while still others usually lead or usually lag at both turns. In general, we should expect that average measures of cyclical timing, amplitude, and rate of movement during reference cycles will differ significantly among major economic processes, while average durations of full specific cycles will not. For the periods of business cycles come to be impressed on the components of the economic

<sup>9</sup> The results are similar when the analysis is confined to briefer periods, that is, 1879–97, 1897–1914, 1914–33; though the picture for the last period is somewhat blurred. This detailed evidence is omitted.

The variance ratios in Table 182 cannot be interpreted unambiguously, not only for the reasons adduced earlier (pp. 392, 397-8, 400-1), but also because the variances of most cyclical measures differ from series to series. It does not seem, however, that the latter factor can seriously limit interpretation; first, because most of the variance ratios are very high, second, because the ratios meet in detail expectations based both on theoretical reasoning and or analysis of the cycle-by-cycle measures.

10 See pig iron prices (Table 176) for an example; none of our seven series behave in this fashion.

ł

### TABLE 180

Average Cyclical Measures Covering Successive Periods of Five Business Cycles and All Fifteen Cycles from 1879 to 1933 Seven American Series

Measure and period <sup>a</sup>	Deflated clearings	Pig iron production	Freight car orders	Railroad stock prices	Shares traded	Call money rates	Railroad bond yields
AVERAGE DURATION							
Europaion							
1879_1897	28	20	22	21	15	15	10
1897-1914	33	32	25	30	15	24	47
1914-1933	39	25	12	31	24	19	17
1879-1933	33	29	19	27	18	19	25
Contraction							
1879-1897	9	14	23	25	31	17	25
1897-1914	10	11	18	15	28	20	13
1914–1933	16	18	19	21	20	19	23
1879-1933	11	15	20	20	26	18	21
Full cycle							
1879–1897	. 37	43	46	46	46	32	43
1897-1914	44	44	43	44	42	44	60
1914-1933	55	44	32	52	44	37	41
1879–1933	44	43	39	47	44	37	46
AVERAGE AMPLITUDE							
OF SPECIFIC CYCLES							
Rise							_
1879–1897	28	62	151	29	74	131	7
1897-1914	25	64	1/1	36	108	136	14
1914-1933	27	59	254	36	112	//	13
18/9-1955	2/	02	199	54	98	117	11
Fall	•						
1879-1897	12	44	144	25	73	137	12
189/→1914 1014.1022	10	40	264	23 52	03	1.35	12
1879-1933	13	55	204	32	92	117	11
Dies & fall		55	200	52			••
1970_1907	40	107	205	54	149	260	10
1897_1914	36	113	338	59	220	209	19
1914-1933	46	131	518	89	204	148	25
1879–1933	40	117	400	66	190	234	22
Rise per month <sup>d</sup>							• •
18/9-189/	0.9	2.6	9.8	1.4	1.1	11.5	0.4
189/-1914	0.8	2.1	/.2	1.5	9.8	5./	0.3
1914-1933	0.8	2.0	22.0	1.2	5.5	4.2	0.7
T II	0.0	2.4	22.0	1.5	7.0	7.0	0.5
rall per month	16	19	65	1 2	25	07	0.5
18/9-189/	20	J.6 5.6	11 3	1.2	4.5	9.2	0.5
1014-1033	12	4.6	15.9	2.2	5.6	4.6	1.2
1879-1933	1.9	4.7	11.8	1.6	4.1	7.6	0.8
Rice & fall ner monthd			• • •				
1879-1897	1.1	2.8	7.1	1.2	3.6	8.6	0.4
1897-1914	0.8	2.6	8.1	1.4	5.2	6.1	0.3
1914-1933	0.8	3.2	20.4	1.5	4.9	3.9	0.7
1879–1933	0.9	2.9	12.9	1.4	4.6	6.5	0.5

-

### STABLE FEATURES OF CYCLES

#### TABLE 180-Continued

Average Cyclical Measures Covering Successive Periods of Five Business Cycles and All Fifteen Cycles from 1879 to 1933 Seven American Series

Deflated clearings	Pig iron production	Freight car orders	Railroad stock prices	Shares traded	Call money rates	Railroad bond yields
+3.8	+0.8	-4.4	-4.4	-11.4	+1.2	+10.6
+4.2	+3.4	-6.0	-1.6	-12.0	+2.4	+9.7
+1.2	+1.4	-3.4	-8.5	-7.8	-2.0	+3.2
+3.2	+1.9	-4.6	-4.6	-10.4	+0.5	+7.9
-6.2	-3.2	-2.0	-0.8	-2.2	+2.2	+16.6
-7.4	-7.2	-9.4	-9.6	-4.8	0.0	+12.7
-3.8	-0.3	+1.2	-7.0	-6.5	+3.0	+0.2
~5.8	-3.4	-3.1	-5.8	-4.6	+1.7	+10.2
+0.9	+2.1	+3.5	+0.7	+1.4	+2.8	<b>0</b> .0
+0.8	+2.2	+5.3	+1.2	+1.8	+3.8	+0.2
+0.7	+2.4	+3.1	+0.4	+2.7	+3.1	+0.4
+0.8	+2.3	+4.0	+0.8	+2.0	+3.2	+0.2
-0.7	-1.7	-4.1	-0.8	-2.2	-5.0	-0.2
-0.4	~1.8	-5.1	-0.7	-2.2	-3.1	0.0
-0.4	-3.3	-3.5	-0.4	-0.6	-2.8	-0.2
-0.5	-2.3	-4.2	-0.6	-1.7	-3.6	-0.1
-1.5	-3.9	-7.6	-1.5	-3.5	-7.8	-0.2
-1.2	-4.0	-10.4	-1.9	-4.1	-6.9	-0.2
-1.1	-5.7	-6.5	-0.8	-3.3	-5.9	-0.6
-1.3	-4.5	-8.2	-1.4	-3.6	-6.9	-0.3
	Deflated clearings +3.8 +4.2 +1.2 +3.2 -6.2 -7.4 -3.8 -5.8 +0.9 +0.8 +0.7 +0.8 +0.7 +0.8 +0.7 +0.8 -0.7 -0.4 -0.4 -0.5 -1.5 -1.2 -1.1 -1.3	$\begin{array}{c c} \text{Deflated} & \text{Pig iron} \\ \text{production} \\ \hline \\ +3.8 & +0.8 \\ +4.2 & +3.4 \\ +1.2 & +1.4 \\ +3.2 & +1.9 \\ \hline \\ -6.2 & -3.2 \\ -7.4 & -7.2 \\ -3.8 & -0.3 \\ -5.8 & -3.4 \\ \hline \\ +0.9 & +2.1 \\ +0.8 & +2.2 \\ +0.7 & +2.4 \\ +0.8 & +2.3 \\ \hline \\ -0.7 & -1.7 \\ -0.4 & -1.8 \\ -0.4 & -3.3 \\ -0.5 & -2.3 \\ \hline \\ -1.5 & -3.9 \\ -1.2 & -4.0 \\ -1.1 & -5.7 \\ -1.3 & -4.5 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c} \mbox{Deflated}\\ \mbox{clearings} & \mbox{Pig iron}\\ \mbox{production} & \mbox{freq} \\ \mbox{car}\\ \mbox{orders} \\ \mbox{array} \\ \mbox{+}3.8 & +0.8 & -4.4 \\ \mbox{+}4.2 & +3.4 & -6.0 \\ \mbox{+}1.2 & +1.4 & -3.4 \\ \mbox{+}3.2 & +1.9 & -4.6 \\ \mbox{-}6.2 & -3.2 & -2.0 \\ \mbox{-}7.4 & -7.2 & -9.4 \\ \mbox{-}3.8 & -0.3 & +1.2 \\ \mbox{-}5.8 & -3.4 & -3.1 \\ \mbox{+}0.9 & +2.1 & +3.5 \\ \mbox{+}0.8 & +2.2 & +5.3 \\ \mbox{+}0.7 & +2.4 & +3.1 \\ \mbox{+}0.8 & +2.2 & +5.3 \\ \mbox{+}0.7 & +2.4 & +3.1 \\ \mbox{+}0.8 & +2.3 & +4.0 \\ \mbox{-}0.7 & -1.7 & -4.1 \\ \mbox{-}0.4 & -3.3 & -3.5 \\ \mbox{-}0.5 & -2.3 & -4.2 \\ \mbox{-}1.5 & -3.9 & -7.6 \\ \mbox{-}1.2 & -4.0 & -10.4 \\ \mbox{-}1.1 & -5.7 & -6.5 \\ \mbox{-}1.3 & -4.5 & -8.2 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

\*The periods refer to business cycles, as marked off by the monthly reference dates in Table 16. The specific cycles are fitted as closely as possible into these periods; for full details, see Appendix Table B9.

<sup>b</sup>In months.

1

i

<sup>a</sup> In specific-cycle relatives. <sup>d</sup> Unweighted average.

\* Excludes timing at reference trough of June 1897.

<sup>f</sup> Excludes timing at reference trough of Dec. 1914.

"That is, during stages matched with reference expansions and contractions (see Table 177), in units of reference-<sup>b</sup>That is, average difference between reference contractions and expansions (see Table 47, col. 8).

.--

ΤА	В	L	Е	1	8	1	
----	---	---	---	---	---	---	--

	Rank correlation	h between averages	of seven series in
Measure*	1879-1897 and 1897-1914	1897–1914 and 1914–1933	1879–1897 and 1914–19 <b>33</b>
DURATION OF SPECIFIC CYCLES			
Expansion	+.56	+.21	+.38
Contraction	+.68	+.39	+.86
Full cycle	32	+.11	+.07
AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CYCLES			
Rise	+1.00	+.96	+.96
Fall	+.96	+.89	+.86
Rise & fall.	+1.00	+.96	+.96
Rise per month.	+.86	+.96	+.89
Fall per month	+.96	+.79	+.71
Rise & fall per month	+.96	+.96	+.89
LEAD OR LAG			
At reference peaks	+.95	+.86	+.83
At reference troughs	+.43	+.46	+.39
CHANGE DURING REFERENCE CYCLES			
Expansion	+.96	+.82	+.89
Contraction	+.96	+.89	+.82
Difference	+.89	+.93	<del>1</del> .96

Coefficients of Rank Correlation between Average Cyclical Me	asures
of Seven American Series in Different Periods	

Based on the averages in Table 180, carried to an additional place.

\*See the fuller stubs in Table 180, and the appended notes.

system, while the very propagation of business cycles seems causally connected with differences in the timing and amplitude of cyclical movements in different parts of the economy. Tables 183-184 present frequency distributions of the timing and amplitude measures of our seven series. It will be noticed that the distributions of the individual series tend to occupy different portions of the scale. In contrast, the durations of specific cycles, as may be seen from Table 185, cluster in about the same intervals as do the durations of business cycles. Of course, if the lower limit of the duration of movements that we recognize as specific cycles were reduced, we might find greater differences among the cyclical durations of our series. But we define specific cycles, as indeed we must, in a manner consistent with our working definition of business cycles, and we deem it a significant fact that our series tend to show cyclical movements that correspond to that definition.

Two conclusions emerge from this analysis. In the first place our tests, so far as they go, bear out the concept of business cycles as units of roughly concurrent fluctuations in many activities.<sup>11</sup> In the second place, they demonstrate that although cyclical measures of individual series usually vary greatly from one cycle to the next, there is a pronounced tendency towards repetition in the relations among the movements of different

<sup>11</sup> For a demonstration based on a larger sample, see Ch. 4, Sec. VI.

#### STABLE FEATURES OF CYCLES

### TABLE 182

Tests of the Statistical Significance of Differences among Averag	e
Cyclical Measures of Seven American Series	

Maarunt	Ratio of variance among seven series to variance within series based on			
191¢asu1€-	All cycles in each series	Cycles from 1879 to 1933		
DURATION OF SPECIFIC CYCLES				
Expansion	3.301	3.035		
Contraction	2.791	2.961		
Full cycle	0.77	0.69		
AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CYCLES		}		
Rise	28.493	23.83 #		
Fall	25.17 3	21.52		
Rise & fall	28.45	24.39		
Rise per month	4.01	2.83 J		
Fall per month	15.49	12.84 \$		
Rise & fall per month	12.22	9.00∦		
LEAD OR LAG				
At reference peaks	14.73♪	12.97		
At reference troughs	12.06 #	8.66‡		
CHANGE DURING REFERENCE CYCLES				
Expansion	11.44	11.353		
Contraction	12.343	13.143		
Difference	18.3 <b>8</b>	21.03		

For periods covered by each series and averages based on all cycles, see Table 140. Averages for 1879–1933 are given in Table 180.

\*See the fuller stubs in Table 180, and the appended notes.

] Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in twenty times by chance. This value ranges from 2.18 to 2.20 for the different measures.

J Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in a hundred times by chance. This value ranges from 2.96 to 3.01 for the different measures.

3 Larger than the value that would be exceeded once in a thousand times by chance. This value ranges from 4.05 to 4.19 for the different measures.

#### TABLE 183

#### Frequency Distribution of Amplitudes of Specific Cycles Seven American Series

D'	Number of cycles in								
Rise & fall in specific-cycle relatives*	Deflated clearings	Pig iron production	Freight car orders	Railroad stock prices	Shares traded	Call money rates	Railroad bond yields		
Under 20.0	1						8		
20.0- 29.9	4			1			9		
30.0- 44.9	7			6			3		
45.0- 67.4	1	1	••	5	•••				
67.5-101.1	2	4		3	1	4			
101.2-151.8	••	8	••	2	4	4			
151.9-227.7	· · ·	2	2		6	5			
227.8-341.6	••		8	1	3	6			
341.7-512.5			4		1	3			
512.6-768.8			3			1	••		
Over 768.8	••		2						
Total	15	15	19	18	15	23	20		

For the cycle-by-cycle measures and periods covered, see Appendix Table B1.

\* Except for the open-end class at the start, the lower limits of successive classes are in geometric progression.

### 490 STABLE AND IRREGULAR FEATURES OF CYCLES

#### TABLE 184

Lead (-) or	Number of specific-cycle turns in										
reference turn (mos.)		Pig iron production	Freight car orders	Railroad stock prices	Shares traded	Call money rates	Railroad bond yields				
			Timin	g at referenc	e peaks						
-24 to -18			2	2	1		l				
-17 to -11		1	3	1	7	1					
-10 to -4			5	7	5	2					
-3 to +3	10	9	3	6	1	11	3				
+4 to +10	3	4	2	1	1	5	7				
+11 to +17	1	1	1	• •			5				
+18 to +24				• •		••	1				
Total	14	15	16	17	15	19	16				
			Timing	at reference	troughs						
-38 to -32				1							
-31 to -25			••			•••	1				
-24 to -18				2	1						
-17 to -11	2	1	2	2	2	1					
-10 to -4	7	5	6	6	4	3	2				
-3 to +3	6	10	5	5	8	8	1				
+4 to +10			4	1	1	4	3				
+11 to +17			••	1		3	5				
+18 to +24					••		4				
+25 to +31			•••				1				
Total	15	16	17	18	16	19	16				

## Frequency Distribution of Leads or Lags of Specific Cycles Seven American Series

For the cycle-by-cycle measures and periods covered, see Appendix Table B3.

#### TABLE 185

### Frequency Distribution of Durations of American Business Cycles and Specific Cycles in Seven Series

		Number of cycles in									
of cycles (mos.)	General business activity	Deflated clearings	Pig iron pro- duction	Freight car orders	Railroad stock prices	Shares traded	Call money rates	Railroad bond yields			
11 - 20				1	3		2	2			
21 - 30	2	3	2	6	2	2	4	3			
31 - 40	7	5	7	4	3	5	6	4			
41 - 50	6	6	3	3	5	6	9	6			
51 - 60	1		1	4	2		2	1			
61 - 70	1		1					4			
71 - 80	2		1	1		• •					
81 - 90		•••		1		2	· .				
91 - 100	1				1	••					
101 – 110	• •	• • •	•••	••	1	••		• •			
Over 110	••	1			1						
Total	20	15	15	19	18	15.	23	20			

The durations of cycles in general business activity are derived from the monthly reference troughs of business cycles, 1854-1933, in Table 16. See Appendix Table B1 for the periods covered by the specific cycles and their successive durations.

activities in successive business cycles. Our analysis of hundreds of time series is sufficiently advanced to give us full confidence in these conclusions. Later monographs will demonstrate in detail that the processes involved in business cycles behave far less regularly than theorists have been prone to assume; but they will demonstrate also that business-cycle phenomena are far more regular than many historically-minded students believe.

These facts have a vital bearing on the value of averages as a tool of theoretical analysis. If business cycles had few if any repetitive features other than the cyclical movement in 'total output' or 'total employment' itself, averages of cyclical measures would have little value. Whether or not a general theory of business cycles would be possible in such a case, average measures of cyclical behavior could be of no aid in the development of a general theory. But so far as business cycles have repetitive features, averages help to expose these features. By showing what cyclical behavior is characteristic of different activities, they put observational records in a form that both reveals concretely what is to be explained and helps in finding explanations. When used competently, average measures of cyclical movements in different economic processes go far toward accounting for one another.

Our theoretical work leans heavily on cyclical averages, such as are described in this book, and we hope that others will find them helpful. Instead of setting out from the dreamland of equilibrium, or from a few simple assumptions that common sense suggests about the condition of business in late 'prosperity' or 'depression', as is the usual procedure of business-cycle theorists, we start our theoretical analysis with cyclical averages; in other words, our 'assumptions' are derived from concrete, systematic observations of economic life. Not only that, but we can test our reasonings as we journey through successive stages of the cycle by referring ever and again to the arrays of averages. This program is essayed in a volume now in preparation, which seeks to explain how business cycles come about and why they differ from one another.<sup>12</sup>

# III Influence of Extreme Items on Averages

It follows from the preceding analysis that the tendency of averages to conceal the episodic features of successive cycles is from our viewpoint a virtue rather than a defect. We consider averages faulty not so much because they conceal episodic movements as because they do not do so sufficiently. The larger the variability of cyclical measures, the fewer the cycles covered, the narrower the geographic area or the economic scope represented by a series, the rougher must averages be as gauges of cyclical

۶

12 For the program as a whole, see Ch. 1, Sec. VIII.

#### 492 STABLE AND IRREGULAR FEATURES OF CYCLES

behavior. Some of the differences between averages for the same series in Table 180 are considerable. A few reflect structural or secular changes in cyclical behavior: for example, the recent decline in the amplitude of specific cycles in call money rates, and the shortening of the lead of iron production at reference troughs. But we believe that random factors are chiefly responsible for the wide variations sometimes found in averages based on different groups of cycles.

One outstanding example may be cited. After the entry of the United States into World War I, the railroads curtailed purchases of equipment drastically, anticipating that the government would take over their business. On December 28, 1917 the government actually took control and set up the Railroad Administration. No freight cars were purchased for several months. When designs for standard equipment were finally worked out, the Administration entered the market on May 1, 1918 with orders for 99,500 cars. On a quarterly basis the figures of car orders during 1918 and 1919, in thousands of cars, run as follows: 1, 100, 0, 0, 1, 0, 0, 3.13 We recognize a specific cycle with a trough in the first quarter of 1918, a peak in the second quarter of 1918, and a terminal trough in the third quarter of 1919. The legitimacy of treating the rise between the first and second quarters in 1918 as a specific-cycle expansion instead of a random movement may be questioned. This 'cycle' is certainly one of the most peculiar on record: zero values predominate, the duration is only six quarters, the total amplitude is nearly 1,200 points, the rise per month is 195 points. But we believe that in view of the attendant circumstances this movement is best regarded as a specific cycle dominated by random disturbances. It illustrates how cyclical fluctuations may sometimes be twisted out of their ordinary course by government, which can concentrate its purchases on a single day or month, while there is bound to be some dispersion over time when numerous units act independently. The extraordinary specific cycle of 1918-19 in freight car orders accounts for some of the most striking differences between the averages of subgroups in Table 180.

As explained in Chapter 9, Section II, we attempt to minimize such distortions by excluding from the averages cycles dominated by random factors. We do this freely when we are reasonably sure that certain cycles of a series are dominated by random influences, as in the case of most price and value series during serious monetary disturbances.<sup>14</sup> We sometimes follow this practice even when we lack definite knowledge of random perturbations associated with a given 'extreme' cycle. But our exclusions of cycles on account of size alone are few in comparison with the number

<sup>18</sup> John E. Partington, op. cit., pp. 156-7, 225.

<sup>14</sup> We make no exclusions in many series on interest rates and security prices, since they often escape the extreme fluctuations characteristic of price series during periods of monetary disturbance. Three of the seven series we use for illustrative purposes—railroad bond yields, call money rates, and railroad stock prices—are cases in point.

#### TABLE 186

### Influence of the Highest and Lowest Values on the Average Duration, Timing and Amplitude of Specific Cycles Seven American Series

Measure and basis of average <sup>a</sup>	Deflated clearings	Pig iron production	Freight car orders	Railroad stock prices	Shares traded	Call money rates	Railroad bond yields
AVERAGE DURATION		_					
Expansion							
N	32.6	28.8	18.3	28.8	17.9	19.9	21.0
N-I.	34.0	30.1	19.2	30.2	18.9	20.6	21.7
N-H	29.6	27.4	17.0	25.5	16.2	19.0	19.1
Contraction		2					
N	114	14 5	21.2	21.0	26.2	18.0	21.4
N-T.	12.1	15.2	22.0	21.0	27.6	18.6	22.4
N-H	9.4	12.4	20.0	18.6	24.7	17.2	19.9
Full cycle			2010				
N	44 0	43 3	39 5	49.8	44 1	37.9	42.4
N-L	45.1	44.6	40.7	51 7	45.5	38.7	43.8
N-H	39.0	41.3	37.0	44.1	41.1	37.2	41.1
	57.0	41.5	57.0		41.1	57.4	
AV. LEAD (-) OR LAG (+) At reference peaks							
N	+3.2	+1.9	-5.8	-5.6	-10.4	-0.1	+7.8
N-L	+3.6	+2.8	-4.6	-4.6	-9.5	+0.6	+8.3
N-H	+2.3	+1.2	-6.9	-6.6	-11.4	-0.7	+7.1
At reference troughs							
N	-5.8	-3.4	-3.0	-7.4	-4.6	+1.5	+11.8
N-L	-5.1	-2.7	-2.1	-6.0	-3.7	+2.4	+12.9
N-H	-6.2	-3.7	-3.8	-8.6	-5.4	+0.7	+10.7
AVERAGE AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CYCLES Rise							
Ν	26.9	62.1	213.0	35.6	98.1	115.9	10.8
N-L	28.3	63.9	218.9	37.3	101.9	119.7	11.2
N-H	24.5	58.8	192.3	32.4	92.0	106.9	9.5
Fall	-						
N	13.4	54.8	211.6	31.8	92.4	116.1	12.5
N-L	14.1	57.3	219.6	33.3	96.3	120.1	13.1
N-H	10.4	48.0	190.5	25.3	86.4	106.0	11.5
Rise & fall							
N	40.2	116.8	424.5	67.3	190.5	232.0	23.3
N-L	41.8	121.2	436.5	69.9	197.7	238.8	24.3
N-H	36.6	111.0	382.8	57.6	178.4	212.9	22.3
Rise per months							
N	0.83	2 42	22 56	1 43	7 63	6 88	0.57
N-I	0.86	2.42	23.61	1.49	9.00	7 10	0.57
N-H	0.00	2.30	12 08	1.77	6.72	6.08	0.59
Fall per months	0.79	2.24	12.90	1.50	0.72	0.00	0.51
N	1 93	4 67	11 74	1 69	4 00	7 63	0.86
N-I.	2.03	4.07	12 12	1.05	4.20	7 01	0.00
N-H	1 17	4.75	10 21	1 54	3 40	7.01	0.02
Rise & fall per monthb	1.17	7.20	10.21	1.54	5.09	1.01	0.00
N	0 94	2.87	13 20	1 44	4 56	6 28	0.63
N→I.	0.97	2.00	13 71	1 49	4.55	6 40	0.05
N-H	0.97	2.77	10 31	1 38	4.75	5.02	0.59
•• •••	0.70	2.71	10.51	1.50	4.51	5.74	0.00

In order to bring out variations in detail, we use decimals freely in this and the following table. All durations are expressed in months, amplitudes in specific-cycle relatives.

<sup>a</sup> N stands for the full number of cyclical observations on the series, as shown in Tables 140 and 141.  $^{N-L}$  excludes the single lowest value in the array,  $^{N-H}$  excludes the single highest value. For cycle-by-cycle measures other than the per month amplitudes, see Appendix Tables B1 and B3.

.-

<sup>b</sup>Unweighted average.

### TABLE 187

### Several Positional Arithmetic Means Duration, Timing and Amplitude of Specific Cycles Seven American Series

Measure and no. of items averaged <sup>a</sup>	Deflated clearings	Pig iron production	Freight car orders	Railroad stock prices	Shares traded	Call money rates	Railroad bond yields
AVERAGE DURATION							
Expansion							
N	32.6	28.8	18.3	28.8	17.9	19.9	21.0
N-2	30.9	28.7	17.8	26.8	17.2	19.7	19.7
N-4	30.9	28.4	17.2	25.1	16.3	19.8	18.3
3 or 4	29.7	25.3	14.0	22.0	17.0	19.3	16.5
1 or 2	30.0	25.0	12.0	22.0	16.0	18.0	16.5
Contraction							10.0
N	11.4	14.5	21.2	21.0	26.2	18.0	21.4
N-2	9.9	13.0	20.8	19.4	26.2	17.9	20.9
N-4	9.5	12.7	20.2	18.3	26.5	17.7	20.0
3 or 4	8.7	11.0	17.0	13.8	24.3	17.0	18.2
1 or 2	9.0	11.0	18.0	14.0	24.0	17.0	18.5
Full cycle							
N	44.0	43.3	39.5	49.8	44.1	37.9	42.4
N-2	39.8	42.5	38.1	45.8	42.4	38.0	42.4
N-4	40.0	41.6	37.8	43.6	40.1	38.3	42.5
3 or 4	39.7	38.7	38.0	43.0	41.0	39.0	42.5
1 or 2	40.0	38.0	39.0	44.0	41.0	38.0	43.5
AV. LEAD (-) OR LAG (+)							
At reference peaks							
N	+3.2	+1.9	-5.8	-5.6	-10.4	-0.1	+7.8
N-2	+2.7	+2.2	-5.7	-5.5	-10.5	+0.1	+7.6
N-4	+2.2	+2.0	-5.3	-5.2	-10.7	+0.3	+7.7
3 or 4	+2.0	+0.7	-5.2	-5.7	-10.7	0.0	+7.0
1 or 2	+2.0	+1.0	-5.0	-5.0	-11.0	0.0	+7.0
At reference troughs							
N	-5.8	-3.4	-3.0	-7.4	-4.6	+1.5	+11.8
N-2	-5.5	-3.0	-2.9	-7.1	-4.4	+1.6	+11.9
N-4	-5.4	-2.8	-2.7	-7.3	-4.2	+1.4	+12.3
3 or 4	-4.7	-1.8	-2.7	-7.5	-2.8	+0.7	+13.5
1 or 2	-4.0	-2.0	-3.0	-8.0	-2.5	+1.0	+14.0
AVERAGE AMPLITUDE							
OF SPECIFIC CYCLES							
Rise							
N	26.9	62.1	213.0	35.6	98.1	115.9	10.8
N-2	25.9	60.5	197.4	34.0	95.7	110.4	9.9
N-4	26.0	59.9	190.1	32.2	95.3	108.6	9.7
3 or 4	25.8	58.7	177.5	29.1	99.8	95.9	9.3
1 or 2	26.8	61.9	177.3	27.4	101.6	98.0	9.4
Fall			••••				
N	13.4	54.8	211.6	31.8	92.4	116.1	12.5
N-2	11.0	50.3	197.7	26.6	90.2	109.8	12.0
N-4	10.2	48.9	190.9	25.5	89.6	108.6	11.7
3 or 4	9.5	51.4	1/5.9	25.4	83.9	106.7	10.9
1 or 2	9.7	50.0	169.3	25.0	83.8	101.6	10.8
NISC & IAII	40.0	116.9	4245	(7.2	100 5		
IN	40.2	110.0	424.5	67.3	190.5	252.0	23.3
IN-2	38.0	115.5	373.0	59.8	185.3	219.1	25.2
IN-4	36.5	115.0	3/8.4	57.4	183.8	215.1	22.6
5 or 4	37.5	105.9	341.9	4/.5	181.1	187.8	22.4
1 or 2	30.5	106.5	334.5	46.8	181.2	187.4	22.6

ج,

#### TABLE 187-Continued

#### Several Positional Arithmetic Means Duration, Timing and Amplitude of Specific Cycles Seven American Series

Measure and no. of items averaged <sup>a</sup>	Deflated clearings	Pig iron production	Freight car orders	Railroad stock prices	Shares traded	Call money rates	Railroad bond yields
AVERAGE AMPLITUDE OF SPECIFIC CYCLES-Continued							
Rise per month <sup>b</sup>							
N	0.83	2.42	22.56	1.43	7.63	6.88	0.57
N-2	0.82	2.32	13.53	1.36	7.05	6.28	0.52
N-4	0.82	2.20	12.89	1.35 ·	6.70	6.03	0.51
3 or 4	0.83	1.97	10.83	1.32	6.10	5.63	0.45
1 or 2	0.80	2.00	10.80	1.30	6.20	5.60	0.45
Fall per month <sup>b</sup>							
N	1.93	4.67	11.74	1.69	4.09	7.63	0.86
N-2	1.22	4.51	10.51	1.59	3.88	7.29	0.71
N-4	1.01	4.39	10.30	1.56	3.90	6.98	0.65
3 or 4	0.97	4.10	9.10	1.30	3.63	6.40	0.52
1 or 2	1.00	4.20	9.10	1.30	3.60	6.50	0.50
Rise & fall per month <sup>b</sup>							
N	0.94	2.87	13.20	1.44	4.56	6.28	0.63
N-2	0.93	2.83	10.67	1.42	4.50	6.12	0.61
N-4	0.92	2.80	10.23	1.42	4.50	6.05	0.58
3 or 4	0.90	2.67	9.57	1.42	4.57	5.97	0.48
1 or 2	0.90	2.60	9.50	1.40	4.60	6.00	0.50

All durations are expressed in months, amplitudes in specific-cycle relatives.

•That is, number of central items in array that are averaged. N stands for the full number of cyclical observations on the series, as shown in Tables 140 and 141. See text for full explanation of symbols. For cycle-by-cycle measures other than the per month amplitudes, see Appendix Tables B1 and B3. •Unweighted average.

of averages we take. We deem it a better general rule to use fully the comparatively few cyclical observations available for a series than to conjecture that an item that looks extreme would continue to appear in the same light if the series covered two or three times as many cycles.

Table 186 measures the influence exercised on some of our cyclical averages by the highest and lowest items found in the different arrays. This influence is disconcerting at times. For example, the average rise per month during expansions of freight car orders is 22.6 points for the nineteen specific cycles from 1870 to 1933; the average falls to 13.0 when the peculiar expansion lasting one quarter in 1918 is left out. Again, the average fall per month in deflated clearings is 1.9 points for the fifteen specific cycles from 1878 to 1933, but is only 1.2 points when the brief and violent contraction of 1907 is excluded. It is plain that 'extreme' values sometimes dominate the averages, and that they frequently make their influence felt. Nevertheless, the relations among the averages of the seven series in our sample are much the same whether the averages include all items or exclude on a uniform plan the highest or lowest values. Of course, these results would be blurred if the experiment were based on shorter series, if seventy series were compared instead of seven, or if the

### 496 STABLE AND IRREGULAR FEATURES OF CYCLES

highest value or two were excluded in some instances and the lowest value or two in others—which we might well do if we knew enough about the play of 'random forces' on the cyclical behavior of different series.

Sometimes statisticians employ positional means as a device for eliminating or reducing the influences of extreme values, and we ourselves have used this device in making seasonal indexes.<sup>15</sup> But it seems sounder practice to proceed cautiously and discriminatingly in each instance than to exclude throughout some fixed number of values at both ends of arrays.<sup>16</sup> Not infrequently these values are extreme only in the sense that they occupy the inescapable first and last places of a variable series, or they are truly extreme at one end but not at the other. To lop off values at both ends of an array by mechanical rule is to discard information indiscriminately.

It is of some interest, however, to compare our standard results with those yielded by positional means. The averages in Table 187 are made from arrays, that is, from cyclical measures arranged in order of size. They show the average duration, timing and amplitude of the specific cycles in the seven series we have been using for experimental purposes. One average is based on N items; that is, it includes all observations on the series. A second includes the middle (N-2) items; that is, the lowest and highest values are excluded. A third includes the middle (N-4); that is, the lowest and highest two values are excluded. The fourth includes the middle three or four items according as the number of cyclical observations is odd or even. The fifth is the median; it includes solely the middle item when the number of observations is odd and the middle two items when the number is even.<sup>17</sup>

If we may judge from Table 187, the exclusion of the single highest and lowest values usually has a slight effect on cyclical averages. The effect is somewhat larger when the highest and lowest two values are omitted, but even these exclusions do not affect materially the relations among the averages. Our samples indicate that if we omitted the extremes at both ends of arrays, average measures of cyclical duration and amplitude, though not of timing, would be far more often below than above the averages we actually make, but the relations among the averages for different series would be substantially the same. Even average durations of full specific cycles, which do not differ significantly among our series, repeat much the same order in the positional as in the full means. Of

15 In this operation a judgment factor still enters; that is, in deciding what number of central values are to be averaged. See p. 46.

16 To be sure, mechanical rules have some advantage when work must move speedily, or when expert assistance is not available.

17 These several averages may be regarded as members of a family of positional arithmetic means, of which the arithmetic mean of ordinary usage includes the maximum number and the median the minimum number of central values in an array. It may be noted parenthetically that this statement defines the median unambiguously.

course, when only one or two central items are included in positional means, greater differences appear. But medians are not formidable rivals of arithmetic means when arrays are short and the gaps between successive values erratic, which is the typical occurrence in our tables of cyclical measures. Despite their greater roughness, the medians rarely differ in order of magnitude from the arithmetic means. Further, the rankings of the medians and the arithmetic means are very similar.

Tables 188-189 and Charts 75-76 illustrate the effects of different methods of averaging on our cyclical patterns. Once again, the shapes of the patterns are substantially the same whether we use all items in making averages or drop one to two values at the ends of the arrays.<sup>18</sup> Even the median patterns of the specific cycles rarely differ radically from the mean patterns.<sup>19</sup> They move in the same directions throughout. Now and then, one pattern shows acceleration and the other retardation; in such instances the cycle-by-cycle measures usually confirm the mean pattern. The median reference-cycle pattern of some series diverges sharply from the mean pattern, especially at the turns. But once again, when the two move in different directions or when one pattern shows acceleration and the other retardation, the cycle-by-cycle measures usually confirm the mean pattern.<sup>20</sup> We conclude that, on the whole, the mean patterns are more faithful representatives of cyclical behavior than the median patterns.

The preceding tests are based upon samples that include a larger number of cycles than most series in our collection. For this reason we make similar tests for smaller groups of cycles in Table 190. Of course, the omission of one or two values at the extremes of an array can make a greater difference when there are six cycles than when there are three times as many. To exclude the highest and lowest two values in a series of five or six items is to convert means into medians. Few of the results for small groups are modified drastically by changing the form of the average; yet the table demonstrates vividly the instability of small samples.

We have already noted that the means of cyclical durations and amplitudes tend to decline as the number of central items included diminishes.

18 Such results may, of course, be expected even for reference cycles of random series.

<sup>10</sup> As noted on the chart we use the mean (arithmetic average) intervals between cycle stages in plotting the median as well as the mean patterns. The reason medians of the intervals are not used is that they bear no determinate relation to the median duration of full cycles. This difficulty is shared by positional means generally and is a serious inconvenience in handling measures that bear additive relations to one another, such as durations of cyclical phases, durations of intervals between cycle stages, and amplitudes of cycle phases.

The charts also show average deviations of the patterns about their means. When the average deviation is small, the mean and median must be close together. When the average deviation is large, we cannot tell whether exclusion of items at the ends of arrays will affect the results much or little; but large average deviations are always a warning that the full mean may misrepresent the central tendency of the observations.

 $^{20}$  We omit the d-tailed evidence supplied by our standard Tables S5 and R2 and first differences of the entries in those tables.

## **TABLE** 188

Several Positional Arithmetic Means of Specific-cycle Patterns Seven American Series

	Average in specific-cycle relatives at stage										
Series and	I	II	ш	IV		VI		VIII	IX		
no. of items	Initial		Expansion	n			Contraction	n —	Terminal		
averaged*	trough (3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	(3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	trough (3 mos.)		
Deflated clearings											
15	85.7	90.5	99.2	106.7	112.6	108.7	106.0	101.9	99.2		
13	85.8	90.9	99.1	106.4	111.8	108.2	105.4	102.2	99.9		
11	85.9	91.2	99.0	106.4	111.3	108.2	105.4	102.5	100.3		
3	85.7	91.9	98.6	106.6	110.1	107.8	104.5	103.7	101.6		
1	85.5	91.7	98.5	106.8	110.0	108.0	104.4	103.8	100.5		
Pig iron production											
15	67.3	82.5	103.7	116.5	129.3	122.6	108.2	88.4	74.6		
13	65.1	81.1	101.8	114.5	127.5	122.8	109.8	91.2	76.0		
11	64.1	81.3	101.6	114.5	127.0	122.7	111.3	93.9	77.3		
3	64.8	82.6	100.4	113.4	126.9	121.7	113.3	91.4	76.3		
1	67.0	83.5	101.2	113.1	127.7	122.2	113.5	90.2	76.8		
Freight car orders											
19	29.5	66.3	104.5	136.8	242.5	112.6	100.2	72.2	30.9		
17	27.6	64.1	97.0	126.1	227.9	115.3	100.9	70.9	29.4		
15	26.1	63.7	95.2	123.4	221.4	117.6	102.4	71.3	27.6		
3	19.8	53.7	95.2	122.2	201.9	123.5	98.7	64.5	26.8		
1	19.4	54.5	97.2	123.0	202.4	123.1	94.6	62.4	26.1		
Railroad stock prices											
18	82.8	88.0	98.8	110.8	118.3	112.4	103.2	94.0	86.6		
16	83.2	88.6	99.3	110.1	116.7	111.4	102.3	95.6	89.1		
14	84.0	89.5	99.9	109.5	115.6	110.5	101.9	94.8	89.4		
4	84.3	90.1	100.7	108.2	114.4	109.6	100.7	94.4	89.5		
Shares	84.8	90.5	100.9	108.0	114./	109.4	100.8	94.8	89.0		
traded	65.4	70 7	106.5	110.0	152.4	110 7	100.4	01 6	(10		
12	55.4	79.7	106.3	116.0	151.0	119.7	100.4	01.0 91.1	60.7		
11	56.0	79.4	107.2	114.6	148.8	119.5	100.0	80.6	60.6		
3	57.0	76.3	108.0	111.7	149.5	119.4	100.5	79.1	61.7		
1	57.2	76.3	109.3	110.2	151.0	120.0	100.3	78.7	60.2		
Call money						12010	10015				
23	62.1	80.3	1047	123.2	178.0	120 4	89.9	71.8	61.9		
21	61.5	79.5	104.1	123.8	171.8	120.4	89.7	70.7	60.1		
19	61.4	79.7	103.6	123.8	170.9	119.5	90.8	70.8	60.1		
3	63.4	79.1	105.5	122.3	164.1	116.4	99.3	71.0	60.7		
1	63.2	79.7	106.4	121.5	163.8	115.5	99.2	69.4	59.7		
Railroad bond vields											
20	96.1	98.4	101.5	104.0	106.9	103.7	100.6	96.9	94.3		
18	96.6	98.8	101.5	103.9	106.9	103.6	100.5	97.1	94.7		
16	96.6	98.6	101.4	103.8	106.8	103.6	100.4	97.0	94.8		
4	96.7	98.6	101.2	103.6	106.7	103.4	99.8	97.0	94.4		
2	97.0	98. <b>8</b>	101.3	103.6	106.5	103.5	99.8	97.1	94.4		

\*That is, number of central items in array that are averaged. The average on the first line for each series includes all cycles in the series. For the periods covered, see Chart 75; for the cycle-by-cycle patterns, Appendix Table B1.

### TABLE 189

Several	Positional	Arithmetic	Means	of	Reference-cycle	Patterns
		Seven A	merican	S	eries	

	Average in reference-cycle relatives at stage								
Series and	I	Π	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
no. of items	Initial	Expansion			Peak		Terminal		
averageu	trough (3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	(3 mos.)	First third	Middle third	Last third	trough (3 mos.)
Deflated clearings									
15	88.1	94.0	98.4	105.2	107.5	106.7	102.3	99.5	100.6
13	88.0	93.5	98.1	104.5	107.5	106.6	102.8	100.5	102.3
11	88.2	93.5	98.1	104.4	107.2	106.5	102.8	100.7	102.5
3	88.0	92.9	98.2	104.1	106.9	106.2	102.8	101.0	103.5
Pig iron production	07.0	, ,2.,	51.5	105.9	100.9	107.1	102.9	101.2	105.0
15	73.3	90.0	103.5	112.5	122.2	117.6	100.4	84.8	81.1
13	71.8	89.0	101.4	110.6	119.8	117.2	101.3	87.0	83.6
11	70.5	87.8	100.8	110.6	118.9	116.9	102.1	89.1	85.0
3	71.3	88.8	99.5	110.0	119.4	115.5	105.3	95.3	87.8
1	71.3	89.7	99.2	109.4	120.0	115.7	103.7	95.7	87.4
Freight car orders									
16	76.0	82.1	112.9	136.8	122.3	93.8	62.0	64.1	89.2
14	65.9	83.6	116.1	137.8	123.2	90.8	62.3	60.6	76.9
12	62.7	85.5	112.7	140.0	124.8	87.1	63.7	54.0	70.9
4	57.4	92.4	112.6	137 4	130.2	03.3	627	56.2	76.3
Railroad stock prices	57.0	20.0	112.0	157.4	139.5	02.0	02.7	30.5	/0.5
19	91.0	96.9	104.0	109.4	106.9	104.3	97.7	92.5	94.7
17	91.0	97.0	103.3	108.5	105.2	102.7	97.5	94.4	96.8
15	91.2	96.7	103.1	108.2	105.2	102.9	97.5	94.4	95.9
3	91.1	96.0	102.3	108.7	105.8	101.2	96.9	93.8	95.0
1	87.6	95.4	102.2	109.0	105.6	100.7	97.7	93.9	94.8
Shares traded				1					
15	83.8	111.2	110.9	114.0	110.6	96.8	90.5	79.5	97.5
13	84.2	108.5	110.7	113.7	110.5	96.2	90.6	77.3	94.2
11	84.0	104.7	100.1	113.7	110.1	95.3	91.3	76.1	92.5
3	81.2	97.7	107.8	111.0	113.7	95.1	89.7	76.3	89.1
Call money	01.2	97.7	107.0	111.0	115.7	95.0	00.1	/0.5	00.1
19	77.5	82.4	98.4	128.2	159.5	128.5	103.9	81.1	76.2
17	77.2	81.8	96.3	123.9	143.6	128.4	101.1	79.6	74.0
15	76.7	81.0	95.0	119.9	142.4	127.0	96.7	79.3	74.2
3	74.5	85.6	92.0	118.3	132.7	118.4	99.3	79.5	77.2
1	74.6	85.7	92.4	118.2	136.2	119.3	100.9	79.8	76.7
Railroad bond yields									
19	102.0	100.5	98.3	98.9	101.0	102.0	101.5	101.1	100.2
17	101,9	100.3	98.5	99.0	100.6	101.8	101.4	101.2	100.4
15	101.8	100.0	98.5	98.6	100.2	101.5	101.4	101.2	100.4
3	101.6	101.1	97.8	98.4	99.4	101.5	101.7	101.0	99.8
1	102.3	100.7	97.8	98.3	99.4	101.4	101.8	100.8	99.8

\*That is, number of central items in array that are averaged. The average on the first line for each series includes all cycles in the series. For the periods covered, see Chart 76; for the cycle-by-cycle patterns, Appendix Table B3.

...

#### CHART 75 Mean and Median Specific-cycle Patterns Seven American Series





Horizontal scale, in months  $\frac{1}{12}$   $\frac{1}{12}$   $\frac{1}{24}$   $\frac{1}{16}$   $\frac{1}{25}$   $\frac{1}{60}$  See Table 188. In each series the mean (artification varage) intervals batween cycle stages are used for the median pattern as well as for the mean pattern. For other explanations, see Ch. 5, Sec. VI.

- 500 -

#### CHART 76

Mean and Median Reference-cycle Patterns Seven American Series

Shares traded



15 Reference cycles: 1879-1933 — Mean paltern ----- Madian pattern 120 -110 100 90 80 70 60 50 Call money rates 19 Reference cycles: 1858-1933 - Mean pattern ----- Median pattern 160 -150 140 Å 130 120 110 100 90 80 -

٩

.~



70

60

#### TABLE 190

Several Positional Arithmetic Means Duration and Amplitude of Small Groups of Specific Cycles Seven American Series

		Ave	rage dur	ation	Average amplitude in specific-cycle relatives						
Series and period	No. of specific	months			F	Rise & fa	11	Per month rise & fall <sup>a</sup>			
Series and period covered Deflated clearings 1878–1893 1893–1910 1910–1933 Pig iron production 1879–1896 1896–1914 1914–1933 Freight car orders 1870–1894 1914–1933 Railroad stock prices 1857–1889 1899–1907 1907–1932 Shares traded 1878–1897 1897–1914 1914–1933 Call money rates 1858–1880 1880–1904 1904–1931 Railroad bond yields 1860–1876	cycles (N)	N items	Middle (N-2) items	Middle (N-4) items	N items	Middle (N-2) items	Middle (N-4) items	N items	Middle (N-2) items	Middle (N-4) items	
Deflated clearings 1878–1893 1893–1910 1910–1933	5 5 5	37 41 54	37 41 42	36 43 49	42 37 41	41 36 31	43 34 25	1.1 0.9 0.8	1.2 0.9 0.8	1.1 0.9 0.8	
Pig iron production 1879–1896 1896–1914 1914–1933	5 5 5	43 44 44	37 45 43	37 48 40	107 113 131	99 110 134	98 106 132	2.8 2.6 3.2	2.9 2.5 3.2	2.6 2.6 3.1	
Freight car orders 1870–1894 1894–1914 1914–1933	6 6 7	48 40 32	45 41 29	46 42 28	421 319 518	383 322 436	386 315 438	9.7 8.3 20.4	8.1 8.0 14.0	7.9 7.8 12.9	
Railroad stock prices 1857–1889 1889–1907 1907–1932	6 6 6	63 37 49	53 39 41	46 43 38	76 52 74	76 52 44	71 49 43	1.5 1.4 1.4	1.4 1.4 1.4	1.4 1.4 1.4	
Shares traded 1878–1897 1897–1914 1914–1933	5 5 5	46 42 44	39 42 38	37 42 40	148 220 204	146 205 211	145 197 213	3.6 5.2 4.9	3.8 5.0 5.0	4.3 4.7 5.1	
Call money rates 1858–1880 1880–1904 1904–1931	7 8 8	38 36 40	38 37 40	40 36 40	218 289 187	158 293 163	140 304 156	5.9 8.4 4.5	5.0 8.3 4.2	5.5 8.0 4.0	
Railroad bond yields 1860–1876 1876–1905 1905–1931	6 7 7	32 49 45	32 48 46	. 29 47 45	27 20 24	28 20 22	26 20 23	0.9 0.4 0.6	0.9 0.4 0.5	1.0 0.4 0.5	

Averages are derived from arrays: the average based on the middle (N-2) items excludes the single highest and lowest items, and so on.

• Unweighted average.

This tendency indicates a 'skew' towards the higher values.<sup>21</sup> The distributions of durations of business cycles resemble those of specific cycles, in that both are skewed positively.<sup>22</sup> In part these results flow from our method of marking off business and specific cycles; that is, we have a rigid

<sup>21</sup> When the highest single value of an array deviates from the mean by more than the lowest single value, the mean with these extremes omitted must be smaller than the full mean; the decline in the average is indicative of a skew towards the higher values. Similarly, when the mean of the values above the median deviates from the mean of the full array by more than the mean of the values below the median, the median must be lower than the full mean; the fact that it is lower is again indicative, though more definitely since the base is broader, of a skew towards the upper ranges.

22 See above, Tables 168 and 185; also Mitchell, Business Cycles: The Problem and Its Setting, pp. 416-24.

lower limit but no rigid upper limit to the duration of movements that we recognize as cycles. In the case of cyclical amplitudes we fix no lower limit formally, but our technique is inherently more sensitive to extremely large than to extremely small amplitudes.<sup>23</sup> When there are no limitations of this character, as happens in the timing measures, we find positive skewness no more frequently than negative skewness. But these statements merely scratch the surface of the problem raised by the asymmetries, and we must postpone full analysis. The one point we wish to stress now is that when we find skewness in distributions of cyclical measures, it is rarely so marked as to destroy the usefulness of arithmetic means as rough measures of central tendency.

At the same time we recognize that the samples of cycles covered by our collection of time series are often unstable to a disconcerting degree. In dealing with the amplitudes of specific cycles and with cyclical patterns, we should often count by tens and in extreme instances by hundreds, rather than by integers or decimals. The significant matters—at least at this stage of our work—are, usually, orders of magnitude, not precise figures; the latter often have little value except as guides to the former. Sometimes we regard only the average deviations showing the variability from cycle to cycle as significant, while the averages serve merely as a base from which to measure deviations. To show that the movements of a given factor with respect to business cycles vary within wide limits is an important result, and one that can often be established from a relatively slender sample.

## **IV** Causal Interpretation of Averages

If the analysis of this and the two preceding chapters is valid, our averages may, with the exercise of due caution, be treated as representatives of the cyclical movements that characterize different activities, and the average deviations as representatives of the variability of cyclical measures around fairly stationary means. It is tempting to pass from this statement to another, namely, that averages represent roughly the effects of cyclical forces and that average deviations represent the effects of random forces. Such statements do no harm if carefully interpreted, but they are easily misconstrued and therefore best avoided.<sup>24</sup>

For example, Chart 77 shows clear-cut specific-cycle patterns in crop production in the United States and Great Britain. But the referencecycle patterns in both countries are nearly straight lines, their slopes reflecting mainly the upward trend of the American series and the down-

<sup>23</sup> There is a slight tendency for the standings of specific cycles to be skewed negatively at troughs and a strong tendency for the standings to be skewed positively at peaks; while the rise, fall, and joint rise and fall of the specific cycles tend to be skewed positively (Tables 187-188). 24 Cf. Ch. 5, Scc. VIIS.

ward trend of the British. The relation between the specific- and reference-cycle patterns indicates that in each country the specific cycles of crop output have been virtually independent in time of business cycles. It is clear therefore that we cannot regard the specific-cycle averages as measuring the effects of business-cycle forces. We might say that they measure the effects of specific-cycle forces. In that case we should have to include variations in growing conditions (the vagaries of the weather,





Morizontal scale, in months  $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 12 & 24 & 38 & 48 & 60 \\ → Indicates lead at reference process, the constant of the state of th$ 

The two crop series are annual; hence the five-point patterns. For sources of data, see Appendix C; for explanation of chart, Ch. 5, Sec. YIII and XI.

مز

plant diseases, insects, and so on) as well as variations in the activities of farmers among specific-cycle forces. But variations in growing conditions are usually classed as random perturbations; if we treat them as such we should have to say that random factors enter substantially into the specificcycle averages, whether or not rhythmic tendencies characterize the activities of farmers.

As another example, let us take the cyclical behavior of pig iron production in the United States and Great Britain (Chart 77). Now we find that the reference-cycle pattern resembles the specific-cycle pattern very closely in each country. But if we interpret the average reference-cycle pattern as representing business-cycle influences, that precludes an identical interpretation of the specific-cycle pattern. For if the first interpretation is valid, the specific-cycle pattern must contain a random component measured roughly by the difference between the two patterns. We might say that the specific-cycle averages represent specific-cycle forces, but that statement of itself adds nothing to knowledge. We might say instead that business-cycle forces dominate while random forces have little influence on the specific cycles of pig iron production. Even this statement involves many assumptions; among others, (1) that random factors have slight influence upon the timing of business cycles, (2) that variations in the timing of iron production at business-cycle turns do not arise from variations in business-cycle forces, (3) that the timing of random perturbations affecting iron production is uncorrelated with the timing of business cycles, (4) that random perturbations influence the amplitude and pattern of specific cycles as little as they influence their timing in regard to business cycles. Although assumptions of this type may be an intellectual convenience at certain stages of an argument, it is well to recognize that they bury important problems.

In general, when business-cycle influences dominate the movements of a series and random influences count for little, the average specificand reference-cycle patterns should be closely similar. But we must not lose sight of the fact that similarity might also be produced by factors peculiar to a series, if their influence happens to correspond closely in timing with the cyclical tides of general business. Similarity may also be produced by random influences that affect the same way both the cyclical tides of general business and the specific cycles of the series. On the other hand, wide differences between the two cyclical patterns need not mean that random influences are dominant. For such differences might have been produced by rhythmic specific-cycle influences that are independent of business cycles rather than by random influences. Sometimes the two patterns may appear rather different at first sight though a series is dominated by business cycles, as when it participates in business cycles by rising in the late stages of reference contractions and the early stages of reference expansions, and falling in the late stages of reference expansions and the early stages of reference contractions. However, when the relation is of this type the amplitude of the reference-cycle pattern should approach that of the specific-cycle pattern.

These remarks indicate a few of the difficulties in interpreting averages and average deviations in causal terms. Averages and average deviations provide materials for studying the effects of business-cycle and random forces; they do not solve this problem. Nor can we work with a simple dichotomy of causal factors, unless we assume that secular factors can never express themselves independently of cyclical factors, and treat as random all factors, other than business cycles, that 'produce' specific cycles. From the point of view of a business-cycle theory that puts the subject in a box by itself, these assumptions may be legitimate; but if one wishes to understand the business cycles of actual experience, it is desirable to get as much insight as possible into the miscellaneous and dim category of factors that seem independent of business cycles, whether their influence is cumulative, haphazard or rhythmic. We shall learn more by discriminating among different influences than by lumping as many as possible under one heading.

If, therefore, we sometimes speak of the differences among successive business cycles as 'random', we merely use a vague shorthand expression. It is conceivable that even wars and variations in rainfall, which we regard as two of the most powerful 'random' disturbances of economic life, have sufficient regularity to be predictable. As we press analysis of the variations among business cycles, we may find many significant differences between cycles that come in times of war and those that come in times of peace, between cycles occurring in times of agricultural prosperity and in times of agricultural depression, between cycles characterized by vigorous revivals in investment and lags in consumption and those characterized by vigorous revivals in consumption and lags in investment, between short and long business cycles, mild and violent cycles, and so on.<sup>25</sup> These alluring investigations must stand over until we have attained a tolerably accurate working knowledge of what cyclical fluctuations are typical in different business processes and their broad interrelations.

## V Test of Consilience among the Results

As stated many times in this book, such knowledge is not easy to attain. The more we have studied business cycles the more we have become convinced of both the importance and the difficulty of determining reliably what cyclical behavior has been characteristic of different economic activities. Theorists sometimes wrangle about questions of fact as if they were problems in metaphysics. Whether and how wage rates conform to busi-

25 Unfortunately, the small number of cyclical observations places severe limits upon analysis.

ness cycles is a question of fact; so also with building construction, savings, interest rates, and other economic factors. No speculative solution can have any meaning, except as a hypothesis to be tested. To settle these questions of fact, statistics must be marshaled with scientific care, they must be analyzed with the aid of expert knowledge of business processes, and they must be tested for consistency with other leading facts.

Not a few of our time series are rough compilations. Most of them we feel are much too brief for our needs. Our statistical analysis is imperfect: at times the seasonal movements are refractory, now and then the specific cycles are elusive, and there are the many other difficulties on which we have expatiated in preceding chapters. To break through the mist that envelops the facts of cyclical experience, whenever possible we work with several series representing the same process or closely related processes. When results for related series are set side by side, the insufficiencies of our data and methods can to a large extent be overcome. By checking varied bits of evidence against one another, it is usually possible to establish with confidence what cyclical movements are characteristic of different business factors and the relations in time between these movements and business cycles. Where we would be reluctant to generalize on the basis of a single set of fallible observations, the consilience of several sets of observations gives us courage to push forward toward our goal of determining what business cycles are, how they typically run their course, and what tendencies they show toward variation.

Ordinarily we can find several series that represent the behavior of the same economic process in different areas or periods, or of similar economic processes in the same area and period. For example, we have analyzed so far nine series on residential building in the United States. Three show contracts for total residential building in different unitsdollar value, square feet of floor space, and number of structures. Another three show separately the value of contracts for one and two family dwellings, apartment houses, and hotels. These six records of contracts by months are supplemented by much longer series of permits for residential building issued annually in Manhattan, Philadelphia and St. Louis. And the American materials are compared with numerous foreign series, some of which measure the volume of residential building completed and thus enable us to observe the stage when construction products are installed. Our analysis of many other business factors is equally detailed. So far we have analyzed eleven series showing purchases or production of railroad equipment, sixteen series on bank clearings or debits, twenty-four on the output of iron and steel, thirteen on stock prices. numerous wholesale price indexes, employment and wage disbursements in upwards of a score of industries, the volume of business estimated in various ways, and so on. Never do two or more samples yield identical results. But when there is marked agreement among the results yielded by
### 508 STABLE AND IRREGULAR FEATURES OF CYCLES

several samples, we feel justified in regarding those features of cyclical behavior that characterize the entire group as reliably established. This presumption of reliability is strengthened when the results accord well with *a priori* expectations based upon broader but less exact knowledge, or when they accord well with considerations that come to mind after the statistical analysis is finished, especially when the latter type of confirmation is itself tested by a fresh appeal to facts.

Of course, the test of consistency among different sets of statistical results, or between statistical results and other knowledge, is not limited to cases of agreement. For example, we do not expect exports to have the same relation to domestic cycles in the United States as in Great Britain; we expect new construction and repair work to bear different relations to business cycles; we expect interest rates on 4-6 month loans to behave differently from bond yields; we expect bank clearings in New York City to differ from 'outside' clearings in ways we can define in advance. So too, we expect a combination of similarities and differences to appear when we have series showing physical output, prices, employment, and wage disbursements for a given industry. Our idea of what similarities and differences to expect may be vague when we first make such comparisons; but if we have data of these four types for several industries we can form more definite expectations to test. In a still broader fashion we can tell whether our inclusive measures of production, transportation, employment, prices, inventories, sales, and monetary circulation are consistent with one another.

In the last resort, judgment concerning the significance of our measurements must depend upon the fashion in which they fit together. Whether the conclusions about the cyclical behavior of the processes treated in any one monograph are sound or not can seldom be settled by looking merely at the evidence there presented; almost always the evidence concerning processes treated in other monographs must be considered. A more rigorous test will be supplied by the final volume, where we shall try to weave the many lines of evidence presented in the monographic studies into a systematic account of how business cycles run their course.

ES

of cyclical hed. This ccord well nowledge, d after the confirma-

**K**5. -

tistical relimited to have the t Britain; elations to ehave difrk City to So too, we when we wage disand differons; but if orm more ll whether ployment, stent with

our meastogether. processes settled by s the evist be conme, where the monorun their

### APPENDIX A

### Division of Reference Cycles into Stages

### APPENDIX A



### TABLE A1

### Division of Monthly Reference Cycles into Nine Stages, Four Countries

Stage	Period covered*	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)	Stage	Period covered <sup>e</sup>	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)
			United	l States			
I II	Nov. 1854 – Jan. 1855 Jan. 1855 – Oct. 1855	3 10	5.5	I II	Apr. 1885 – June 1885 June 1885 – Dec. 1885	3 7	4.0
IV V	Aug. 1855 – July 1856 Aug. 1856 – May 1857 May 1857 – July 1857	10	9.5 9.5 5.5		Aug. 1886 – Feb. 1887 Feb. 1887 – Apr. 1887	7	7.0 7.0 4.0
	July 1857 – Dec. 1857 Jan. 1858 – May 1858	6 5	3.5 5.5	VI VII	Apr. 1887 – July 1887 Aug. 1887 – Nov. 1887	4 4	2.5 4.0
VIII IX	June 1858 – Nov. 1858 Nov. 1858 – Jan. 1859	6 3	5.5 3.5	VIII IX	Dec. 1887 – Mar. 1888 Mar. 1888 – May 1888	4 3	4.0 2.5
I II	Nov. 1858 – Jan. 1859 Jan. 1859 – July 1859	3 7	 4.0	I II	Mar.1888 – May 1888 May 1888 – Jan. 1889	3 9	 5.0
III IV	Aug. 1859 – Feb. 1860 Mar. 1860 – Sep. 1860	7 7	7.0 7.0	III IV	Feb. 1889 – Sep. 1889 Oct. 1889 – June 1890	8 9	8.5 8.5
V	Sep. 1860 - Nov. 1860 Nov. 1860 - Dec. 1860	3	4.0		June 1890 - Aug. 1890	3	5.0
VII	Jan. 1861 – Mar.1861	3	2.5	VII	Nov. 1890 – Jan. 1891	3	3.0
	Apr. 1861 – May 1861 May 1861 – July 1861	3	2.5 1.5		Feb. 1891 – Apr. 1891 Apr. 1891 – June 1891	3	3.0 2.0
I II	May 1861 – July 1861 July 1861 – Sep. 1862	3 15	 8.0	I II	Apr. 1891 – June 1891 June 1891 – Nov. 1891	3 6	3.5
III IV	Oct. 1862 – Dec. 1863 Jan. 1864 – Mar. 1865	15 15	15.0 15.0	III IV	Dec. 1891 – June 1892 July 1892 – Dec. 1892	7 6	6.5 6.5
V	Mar. 1865 - May 1865	3 10	8.0 5.5		Dec. 1892 – Feb. 1893 Feb. 1893 – June 1893	3	3.5 3.0
VII	Mar.1866 - Jan. 1867	11	10.5	VII	July 1893 – Dec. 1893	6	5.5
	Feb. 1867 – Nov. 1867 Nov. 1867 – Jan. 1868	10 3	10.5 5.5		Jan. 1894 – May 1894 May 1894 – July 1894	5 3	5.5 3.0
I II	Nov. 1867 – Jan. 1868 Jan. 1868 – June 1868	3 6	 3.5	I II	May 1894 – July 1894 July 1894 – Dec. 1894	3 6	3.5
III	July 1868 - Nov. 1868	5	5.5		Jan. 1895 – May 1895	5	5.5
V	May 1869 – July 1869	3	3.5	v	Nov. 1895 – Jan. 1896	3	3.5
VI	July 1869 - Dec. 1869	6	3.5		Jan. 1896 - June 1896	6	3.5
VIII	June 1870 – Nov. 1870	6	5.5	VIII	Dec. 1896 – May 1897	6	5.5
IX T	Nov. 1870 - Jan. 1871	3	<i>3</i> .5		May 1897 - July 1897 May 1897 - July 1897	3	3.5
п	Jan. 1871 – Nov. 1871	11	6.0	II	July 1897 – Feb. 1898	8	4.5
	Dec. 1871 – Oct. 1872 Nov. 1872 – Sep. 1873	11 11	11.0 11.0	III	Mar. 1898 – Sep. 1898 Oct. 1898 – May 1899	8	7.5 7.5
v	Sep. 1873 - Nov. 1873	3	6.0	V	May 1899 - July 1899	3	4.5
VI VII	Nov. 1873 – July 1875 Aug. 1875 – May 1877	21 22	11.0 21.5		July 1899 – Dec. 1899 Jan. 1900 – May 1900	6 5	3.5 5.5
	June 1877 – Feb. 1879 Feb. 1879 – Apr. 1879	21	21.5 11.0		June 1900 - Nov. 1900 Nov. 1900 - Jan. 1901	6 3	5 5 3.5
I	Feb. 1879 – Apr. 1879	3		I	Nov. 1900 – Jan. 1901	3	
	Apr. 18/9 - Mar. 1880 Apr. 1880 - Feb. 1881	12	6.5 11.5		Jan. 1901 – July 1901 Aug. 1901 – Jan. 1902	6	4.0 6.5
īv	Mar.1881 - Feb. 1882	12	11.5	IV	Feb. 1902 - Aug. 1902	7	6.5
V	Feb. 1882 - Apr. 1882	3 12	6.5 6.5		Aug. 1902 ~ Oct. 1902 Oct 1902 - Apr 1903	3 7	4.0 ∡ ∩
VII	Apr. 1883 – Apr. 1884	13	12.5	vii	May 1903 – Dec. 1903	8	7.5
VIII IX	May 1884 – Apr. 1885 Apr. 1885 – June 1885	12 3	12.5 6.5	VIII IX	Jan. 1904 – July 1904 July 1904 – Sep. 1904	7 3	7.5 4.0

7

.

Divisi

Stage

I July II Sep. IV June V Apr. VI June VII Oct. VII Feb. IX May

I May I July III Jan. IV July V Dec. VI Feb. VII Oct. VIII May IX Oct.

I III J IV S V D VI Fe VII Set VIII Ma IX Nov

IX IN I Nov II Jan-III Maa IV July V July VI Sep VII Nov VIII Fel IX M:

IX Mar II Mar III Aug IV Oct V Dec VI Feb VII Aug IX Aug

I Au II Oc III Ap IV No V Ap VI Jun VII Oc VIII Ma IX Jun

### TABLE A1 - Continued

Division of Monthly Reference Cycles into Nine Stages, Four Countries

Stage	Period covered*	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)	Stage	Period covered*	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)
		U	nited Stat	es — Con	tinued		
I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	July 1904 - Sep. 1904 Sep. 1904 - July 1905 Aug. 1905 - May 1906 June 1906 - Apr. 1907 Apr. 1907 - June 1907 June 1907 - Sep. 1907 Oct. 1907 - Jan. 1908 Feb. 1908 - May 1908 May 1908 - July 1908	3 11 10 11 3 4 4 4 3	6.0 10.5 10.5 6.0 2.5 4.0 4.0 2.5	I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	June 1924 – Aug. 1924 Aug. 1924 – Apr. 1925 May 1925 – Dec. 1925 Jan. 1926 – Sep. 1926 Sep. 1926 – Nov. 1926 Nov. 1926 – Feb. 1927 Mar. 1927 – July 1927 Aug. 1927 – Nov. 1927 Nov. 1927 – Jan. 1928	3 9 8 9 3 4 5 4 3	5.0 8.5 8.5 5.0 2.5 4.5 4.5 2.5
I II IV V VI VII VII IX	May 1908 - July 1908 July 1908 - Dec. 1908 Jan. 1909 - June 1909 July 1909 - Dec. 1909 Dec. 1909 - Dec. 1909 Feb. 1910 - Sep. 1910 Oct. 1910 - Apr. 1911 May 1911 - Dec. 1911 Dec. 1911 - Feb. 1912	3 6 6 3 8 7 8 3	3.5 6.0 3.5 4.5 7.5 7.5 4.5	I II IV V VI VII VIII IX	Nov. 1927 – Jan. 1928 Jan. 1928 – June 1928 July 1928 – Nov. 1928 Dec. 1928 – May 1929 May 1929 – July 1929 July 1929 – Sep. 1930 Oct. 1930 – Nov. 1931 Dec. 1931 – Feb. 1933 Feb. 1933 – Apr. 1933	3 6 5 6 3 15 14 15 3	3.5 5.5 5.5 3.5 8.0 14.5 14.5 8.0
I III IV VI VII VIII IX	Dec. 1911 - Feb. 1912 Feb. 1912 - May 1912 June 1912 - Aug. 1912 Sep. 1912 - Dcc. 1912 Dec. 1912 - Feb. 1913 Feb. 1913 - Aug. 1913 Sep. 1913 - Apr. 1914 May 1914 - Nov. 1914 Nov. 1914 - Jan. 1915	3 4 3 7 8 7 3	2.5 3.5 3.5 2.5 4.0 7.5 7.5 4.0	I II IV V VI VII VII IX	Feb. 1933 - Apr. 1933 Apr. 1933 - July 1934 Aug. 1934 - Doc. 1935 Jan. 1936 - Apr. 1937 Apr. 1937 - June 1937 June 1937 - Sep. 1937 Oct. 1937 - Dec. 1937 Jan. 1938 - Apr. 1938 Apr. 1938 - June 1938	3 16 17 16 3 4 3 4 3	8.5 16.5 16.5 2.5 3.5 3.5 2.5
I II IV V VI VII VII IX	Nov. 1914 – Jan. 1915 Jan. 1915 – Feb. 1916 Mar.1916 – May 1917 June 1917 – July 1918 July 1918 – Sep. 1918 Sep. 1918 – Oct. 1918 Nov. 1918 – Jan. 1919 Feb. 1919 – Mar.1919 Mar.1919 – May 1919	3 14 15 14 3 2 3 2 3	7.5 14.5 14.5 7.5 1.5 2.5 2.5 1.5				
I II IV V VI VII VII IX	Mar. 1919 – May 1919 May 1919 – July 1919 Aug. 1919 – Sep. 1919 Oct. 1919 – Dec. 1919 Dec. 1919 – Feb. 1920 Feb. 1920 – July 1920 Aug. 1920 – Feb. 1921 Mar. 1921 – Aug. 1921 Aug. 1921 – Oct. 1921	3 2 3 6 7 6 3	2.0 2.5 2.5 2.0 3.5 6.5 6.5 3.5				
I II IV V VI VII VIII IX	Aug. 1921 – Oct. 1921 Oct. 1921 – Mar. 1922 Apr. 1922 – Oct. 1922 Nov. 1922 – Apr. 1923 Apr. 1923 – June 1923 June 1923 – Scp. 1923 Oct. 1923 – Fcb. 1924 Mar. 1924 – June 1924	3 6 7 6 3 4 5 4 3	3.5 6.5 3.5 2.5 4.5 4.5 2.5				

3.5 6.5 3.5 3.0 5.5 5.5 3.0

... 3.5 5.5 5.5 3.5 5.5 5.5 3.5 3.5

### ÀPPENDIX À

### TABLE A1 - Continued

### Division of Monthly Reference Cycles into Mine Stages, Four Countries

Stage	Period covered <sup>a</sup>	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)	Stage	Period covered <sup>a</sup>	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)	
			Great	Britain				
I	Nov. 1854 - Jan. 1855	3		I	Jan. 1895 - Mar.1895	3		
II	Jan. 1855 - Nov. 1855	11	6.0	) II	Mar.1895 - Nov. 1896	21	11.0	
III	Dec. 1855 – Sep. 1856	10	10.5	III	Dec. 1896 - Aug. 1898	21	21.0	
IV	Oct. 1856 – Aug. 1857	11	10.5	IV	Sep. 1898 - May 1900	21	21.0	
V	Aug. 1857 – Oct. 1857	3	6.0		May 1900 – July 1900	3	11.0	
VI	Oct. 1857 - Nov. 1857	2	1.5		July 1900 - Nov. 1900	5	3.0	
	Dec. 185/	1	1.5		Dec. 1900 - Mar. 1901	4	4.5	
	Jan. 1858 - Feb. 1858	2	1.5		Apr. 1901 - Aug. 1901	5	4.5	
IX	reb. 1000 - Apr. 1000	3	1.5	17	Aug. 1901 - Oct. 1901	3	3.0	
I	Feb. 1858 – Apr. 1858	3		I	Aug. 1901 - Oct. 1901	3		
II	Apr. 1858 – Jan. 1859	10	5.5	II II	Oct. 1901 - Apr. 1902	7	4.0	
III	Feb. 1859 - Oct. 1859	9	9.5	III	May 1902 - Oct. 1902	6	6.5	
IV	Nov. 1859 – Aug. 1860	10	9.5	IV	Nov. 1902 - May 1903	7	6.5	
V	Aug. 1860 - Oct. 1860	3	5.5		May 1903 – July 1903	3	4.0	
	Oct. 1860 - June 1861	9	5.0		July 1903 - Nov. 1903	5	3.0	
	July 1861 - Feb. 1862	8	8.5		Dec. 1903 - May 1904	6	5.5	
	Mar. 1862 - Nov. 1862	2	8.3 5.0		June 1904 - Oct. 1904	2	5.5	
IX	Nov. 1802 – Jan. 1803	5	5.0	17	Oct. 1904 - Dec. 1904	3	5.0	
I	Nov. 1862 – Jan. 1863	3		I	Oct. 1904 - Dec. 1904	3		
II	Jan. 1863 – Jan. 1864	13	7.0	II	Dec. 1904 - Sep. 1905	10	5.5	
III	Feb. 1864 – Jan. 1865	12	12.5		Oct. 1905 - July 1906	10	10.0	
IV	Feb. 1865 - Feb. 1866	13	12.5		Aug. 1906 - May 1907	10	10.0	
V	reb. 1800 - Apr. 1800	<b>,</b>	7.0		May 1907 – July 1907	5	5.5	
VI	Dec 1866 - June 1867	7	4.5		Dec 1907 - Nov. 1907	6	5.0	
VIII	Luly 1867 - Feb 1868	8	7.5	VIII	June 1908 - Oct 1908	5	5.5	
IX	Feb. 1868 – Apr. 1868	3	4.5	IX	Oct. 1908 - Dec. 1908	3	3.0	
		-				-		
1	Feb. 1868 – Apr. 1868	3			Oct. 1908 - Dec. 1908	3		
11	Apr. 1868 - Sep. 1869	18	9.5		Dec. 1908 - Mar. 1910	10	8.5	
111	Oct. 1069 - Feb. 1871	19	17.5		Apr. 1910 - July 1911	16	16.0	
v	$A_{\rm Mg} = 1872 - Oct = 1872$	3	0.5	v	Nov 1912 - Jap 1913	3	10.0	
vi	Oct 1872 - Dec 1874	27	14.0	vi	Ian 1913 - July 1913	7	4.0	
VII	Ian. 1875 - Feb. 1877	26	26.5	VII	Aug. 1913 – Jan. 1914	6	6.5	
vIII	Mar.1877 - May 1879	27	26.5	VIII	Feb. 1914 - Aug. 1914	7	6.5	
IX	May 1879 - July 1879	3	14.0	IX	Aug.1914 - Oct. 1914	3	4.0	
т	May 1879 - July 1970	3		т	-	3		
π	1079 - 300 - 1079	14	75	III II	Oct 1914 - Jan 1914	16	85	
m	Sep. 1880 - Sep. 1881	13	13.5	111	Feb. 1916 - May 1917	16	16.0	
īv	Oct. 1881 - Nov. 1882	14	13.5	ĪV	Iune 1917 – Sep. 1918	16	16.0	
v	Nov. 1882 – Jan. 1883	3	7.5	v	Sep. 1918 - Nov. 1918	3	8.5	
VI	Ian. 1883 - Feb. 1884	14	7.5	VI	Nov. 1918 - Dec. 1918	2	1.5	
VII	Mar.1884 - Mar.1885	13	13.5	VII	Jan. 1919	1	1.5	
VIII	Apr. 1885 - May 1886	14	13.5	VIII	Feb. 1919 - Mar.1919	2	1.5	
IX	May 1886 – July 1886	3	7.5	IX	Mar.1919 - May 1919	3	1.5	
I	May 1886 July 1886	3		I	Mar.1919 - May 1919	3		
II	July 1886 - Nov. 1887	17	9.0	II	May 1919 - July 1919	3	2.0	
ш	Dec. 1887 - Mar. 1889	16	16.5	III	Aug. 1919 - Nov. 1919	4	3.5	
IV	Apr. 1889 - Aug. 1890	17	16.5	IV	Dec. 1919 - Feb. 1920	3	3.5	
v	Aug. 1890 - Oct. 1890	3	9.0	v	Feb. 1920 - Apr. 1920	3	2.0	
VI	Oct. 1890 - Feb. 1892	17	9.0	VI	Apr. 1920 - Aug. 1920	5	3.0	
VII	Mar.1892 – Aug. 1893	18	17.5	VII	Sep. 1920 - Dec. 1920	4	4.5	
VIII	Sep. 1893 – Jan. 1895	17	17.5	VIII	Jan. 1921 - May 1921	5	4.5	
IX	jan. 1895 - Mar.1895	2	9.0	IX	wiay 1921 – July 1921	2	5.0	

Divisi

I May II July III Aug. IV Oct. V Oct. VI Dec. VII June VII Jan. IX June

I June II Aug. III Oct. IV Jan. V Feb. VI Apr. VII Oct. VII Mar IX Aug

I Nov II Jan. III Aug IV Apr V Oct. VI Dec VII Mar VIII July IX Sep.

I Sep II Nov III Jun IV Jan V July VI Sep VII Mat VIII Aug IX Jan

I Jan II Ma III Sep IV Ma V Au VI Oc VII Sep VIII Sep IX Jul

I Jul II Sen III Ma IV Oc V Ma VI Ma VII Oc VIII AF IX At

Stage

### DIVISION OF REFERENCE CYCLES

÷.

.

### TABLE A1 - Continued

Division of Monthly Reference Cycles into Nine Stages, Four Countries

Stage	Period covered <sup>a</sup>	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)	Stage	Period covered <sup>a</sup>	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)
		Gre	at Britair	– Conti	nued		
I	May 1921 - July 1921	3		I	Aug. 1928 - Oct. 1928	3	
II	July 1921 - July 1922	13	7.0	II	Oct. 1928 - Dec. 1928	3	2.0
III	Aug. 1922 - Sep. 1923	14	13.5	III	Jan. 1929 - Mar.1929	3	3.0
IV	Oct. 1923 - Oct. 1924	13	13.5		Apr. 1929 – June 1929	3	3.0
v	Oct. 1924 - Dec. 1924	5	7.0		June 1929 - Aug. 1929	12	2.0
	Dec. 1924 - May 1925	0 7	5.5		Aug. 1929 - July 1930	12	0.5
VIII	June 1925 – Dec. 1925 Jan 1926 – June 1926	6	6.5	VIII	Aug. 1931 – July 1932	12'	12.0
IX	June 1926 – Aug. 1926	3	3.5	IX	July 1932 – Sep. 1932	3	6.5
7	J == 1026 A == 1026	-		, r	Jul. 1022 Sec 1022	2	
1	June 1920 - Aug. 1920	2	1.5		$\int u y 1932 - 3ep. 1932$	20	10.5
11	Oct 1926 - Dec 1926	3	2.5		May 1934 - Dec 1935	20	20.0
īv	Ian. 1927 - Feb. 1927	2	2.5	īv	Ian. 1936 – Aug. 1937	20	20.0
v	Feb. 1927 – Apr. 1927	3	1.5	v	Aug. 1937 - Oct. 1937	3	10.5
VI	Apr. 1927 - Sep. 1927	6	3.5	VI	Oct. 1937 - Jan. 1938	4	2.5
VII	Oct. 1927 - Feb. 1928	5	5.5	VII	Feb. 1938 - Apr. 1938	3	3.5
VIII	Mar.1928 - Aug. 1928	6	5.5	VIII	May 1938 - Aug. 1938	4	3.5
IX	Aug. 1928 – Oct. 1928	3	3.5	IX	Aug. 1938 - Oct. 1938	3	2.5
			Fra	nce			
I	Nov 1865 - Jan. 1866	3		T	Aug. 1879 - Oct. 1879	3	
ū	Ian. 1866 - July 1866	7	4.0	п	Oct. 1879 - June 1880	9	5.0
III	Aug. 1866 - Mar. 1867	8	7.5	ш	July 1880 - Feb. 1881	8	8.5
IV	Apr. 1867 - Oct. 1867	7	7.5	IV	Mar.1881 - Nov. 1881	9	8.5
v	Oct. 1867 - Dec. 1867	3	4.0	v	Nov. 1881 - Jan. 1882	3	5.0
VI	Dec. 1867 - Feb. 1868	3	2.0	VI VI	Jan. 1882 - Oct. 1883	22	11.5
VII	Mar.1868 – June 1868	4	3.5	VII	Nov. 1883 – Sep. 1885	23	22.5
VIII	July 1868 - Sep. 1868	3	3.5	VIII	Oct. 1885 – July 1887	22	22.5
IX	Sep. 1868 – Nov. 1868	3	2.0		July 1887 – Sep. 1887	3	11.5
I	Sep. 1868 - Nov. 1868	3		I	July 1887 - Sep. 1887	3	···:
II	Nov. 1868 – May 1869	7	4.0		Sep. 1887 – Sep. 1888	13	7.0
	June 1869 - Dec. 1869	4	7.0		Oct. 1888 - Nov. 1889	14	13.5
	Jan. 1870 - July 1870	2	7.0		Dec. 1889 - Dec. 1890	13	13.5
vi	Sep 1870 - Sep 1870	5	4.0	VI	Eeb 1891 - May 1892	16	7.0
VII	Mar 1871 - July 1871	5	5.5		Tune 1892 - Aug 1893	15	15.5
VIII	Aug. 1871 – Jan. 1872	6	5.5	VIII	Sen. 1893 - Dec. 1894	16	15.5
IX	Jan. 1872 - Mar. 1872	3	3.5	IX	Dec. 1894 - Feb. 1895	3	8.5
T	I 1972 Mar 1972	2			D. 1004 D.1 1005	> /	
TT I	Jan. 1872 - Mar. 1872	د ۲			Dec. 1894 - Feb. 1895	20	10.5
11	Sep 1872 - Feb 1873	6	5.5		Oct 1896 - June 1898	20	20.5
	Mar 1873 - Aug 1873	6	6.0		$J_{\rm ulv} = 1898 - Feb = 1900$	20	20.5
v	Aug. 1873 - Oct. 1873	3	3.5	v	Feb 1900 - Apr 1900	20	10.5
vi	Oct. 1873 – Aug. 1874	11	6.0	vi	Apr. 1900 – Jan. 1901	10	5.5
VII	Sep. 1874 - Aug. 1875	12	11.5	VII	Feb. 1901 - Oct. 1901	9	9.5
VIII	Sep. 1875 - July 1876	11	11.5	VIII	Nov. 1901 - Aug. 1902	10	9.5
IX	July 1876 - Sep. 1876	3	6.0	IX	Aug. 1902 - Oct. 1902	3	5.5
I	July 1876 - Sep. 1876	3		I	Aug. 1902 - Oct. 1902	3	
II	Sep. 1876 - Feb. 1877	6	3.5	II	Oct. 1902 - Nov. 1902	2	1.5
III	Mar.1877 - Sep. 1877	7	6.5	III	Dec. 1902 - Feb. 1903	3	2.5
IV	Oct. 1877 - Mar.1878	6	6.5	I IV	Mar.1903 - Apr. 1903	2	2.5
· V	Mar.1878 - May 1878	3	3.5	l V	Apr. 1903 – June 1903	3	1.5
VI	May 1878 - Sep. 1878	5	3.0	VI	June 1903 – Oct. 1903	5	3.0
	Oct. 1878 – Mar. 1879	6	5.5	VII	Nov. 1903 – Apr. 1904	6	5.5
	Aug 1870 . Oct 1879	2	5.5		May 1904 - Sep. 1904	5	5.5
IA.	Aug. 10/9-Oct. 18/9	2	5.0		sep. 1904 - Nov. 1904	3	5.0

Interval from stage to stageb (mos.) 11.0 21.0 21.0 21.0 21.0 3.0 4.5 3.0

4.0
6.5
6.5
4.0
3.0
5.5
5.5
3.0

5.5 10.0 10.0 5.5 3.0 5.5 5.5 3.0

8.5 16.0 16.0 8.5 4.0 6.5 6.5 4.0

8.5 16.0 16.0 8.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5

2.0 3.5 3.5 2.0 3.0 4.5 4.5 3.0

.

.

ries

### APPENDIX A

### TABLE A1 - Continued

Division of Monthly Reference Cycles into Nine Stages, Four Countries

Stage	Period covered <sup>a</sup>	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)	Stage	Period covered*	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)
			France –	- Continu	ed		
I II IV V VI VII VII IX	Scp. 1904 - Nov. 1904 Nov. 1904 - Sep. 1905 Oct. 1905 - July 1906 Aug. 1906 - June 1907 June 1907 - Aug. 1907 Aug. 1907 - Jan. 1908 Feb. 1908 - July 1908 Aug. 1908 - Jan. 1909 Jan. 1909 - Mar.1909	3 11 10 11 3 6 6 6 3	6.0 10.5 10.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 6.0 3.5	I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	May 1927 – July 1927 July 1927 – May 1928 June 1928 – Mar. 1929 Apr. 1929 – Feb. 1930 Feb. 1930 – Apr. 1930 Apr. 1930 – Dec. 1930 Jan. 1931 – Sep. 1931 Oct. 1931 – June 1932 June 1932 – Aug. 1932	3 11 10 11 3 9 9 9 3	6.0 10.5 10.5 6.0 5.0 9.0 9.0 5.0
I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	Jan. 1909 – Mar.1909 Mar.1909 – July 1910 Aug.1910 – Dec. 1911 Jan. 1912 – May 1913 July 1913 – July 1913 July 1913 – Oct. 1913 Nov. 1913 – Mar.1914 Apr. 1914 – July 1914 July 1914 – Sep. 1914	3 17 17 17 3 4 5 4 3	9.0 17.0 17.0 9.0 2.5 4.5 4.5 2.5	I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	June 1932 – Aug. 1932 Aug. 1932 – Nov. 1932 Dcc. 1932 – Feb. 1933 Mar. 1933 – June 1933 June 1933 – Aug. 1933 Aug. 1933 – Feb. 1934 Mar. 1934 – Aug. 1934 Sep. 1934 – Mar. 1935 Mar. 1935 – May 1935	3 4 3 4 3 7 6 7 3	2.5 3.5 3.5 2.5 4.0 6.5 6.5 4.0
I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	July 1914 - Sep. 1914 Sep. 1914 - Nov. 1915 Dec. 1915 - Feb. 1917 Mar. 1917 - May 1918 July 1918 - July 1918 July 1918 - Sep. 1918 Oct. 1918 - Dec. 1918 Jan. 1919 - Mar.1919 Mar.1919 - May 1919	3 15 15 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	8.0 15.0 15.0 2.0 3.0 3.0 2.0	I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	Mar. 1935 - May 1935 May 1935 - Dec. 1935 Jan. 1936 - Sep. 1936 Oct. 1936 - May 1937 May 1937 - July 1937 July 1937 - Oct. 1937 Nov. 1937 - Mar. 1938 Apr. 1938 - July 1938 July 1938 - Sep. 1938	3 8 9 8 3 4 5 4 3	4.5 8.5 8.5 4.5 2.5 4.5 4.5 2.5
I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	Mar. 1919 – May 1919 May 1919 – Sep. 1919 Oct. 1919 – Mar. 1920 Apr. 1920 – Aug. 1920 Aug. 1920 – Oct. 1920 Oct. 1920 – Dec. 1920 Jan. 1921 – Mar. 1921 Apr. 1921 – June 1921 June 1921 – Aug. 1921	3 5 5 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	3.0 5.5 5.5 3.0 2.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 2.0				
I II IV V VI VII VII IX	June 1921 – Aug. 1921 Aug. 1921 – Aug. 1922 Sep. 1922 – Aug. 1923 Sep. 1923 – Sep. 1924 Sep. 1924 – Nov. 1924 Nov. 1924 – Dec. 1924 Jan. 1925 – Mar. 1925 Apr. 1925 – May 1925 May 1925 – July 1925	3 13 12 13 3 2 3 2 3	7.0 12.5 12.5 7.0 1.5 2.5 2.5 1.5				
I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	May 1925 - July 1925 July 1925 - Nov. 1925 Dec. 1925 - Apr. 1926 May 1926 - Sep. 1926 Sep. 1926 - Nov. 1926 Nov. 1926 - Dec. 1926 Jan. 1927 - Mar. 1927 Apr. 1927 - May 1927 May 1927 - July 1927	3 5 5 3 2 3 2 3 2 3	3.0 5.0 5.0 3.0 1.5 2.5 2.5 1.5				

Stage

I Jan II Ma III Fet V Fet V Dev VI Fet VII Au VIII Fet IX Jul II Sep III Oc V Dev V Fet V Dev V Fet VI Oc VI Fet IV Oc VI Fet IV Oc V Dev VI Fet IV Oc V Dev V Fet IV Oc IV Dev V Dev V Fet IV Oc IV Oc V Oc IV Oc V Oc IV Oc

I Jan II Ma III No IV Jul V Fe VI Ap VII De VII Jul IX Fe

IX ... I Fe II Ap III Se IV Mi V Ju VI Se VII Mi VII Mi VII Au IX Ja

I Ja II M III D V JU VI A VII Ja VIII Ju IX N II Ja III JU VV VI M VI M VII M VII M VII M VII M

Inclusive
That is,

crames.

,

### DIVISION OF REFERENCE CYCLES

### TABLE A1 - Continued

Division of Monthly Reference Cycles into Nine Stages, Four Countries

Stage	Period covered <sup>a</sup>	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)	Stage	Period covered <sup>a</sup>	No. of months in stage	Interval from stage to stage <sup>b</sup> (mos.)
			Ger	many			
I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	Jan. 1879 - Mar.1879 Mar.1879 - Jan. 1880 Feb. 1880 - Jan. 1881 Feb. 1881 - Dec. 1881 Dec. 1881 - Feb. 1882 Feb. 1882 - July 1883 Aug.1883 - Jan. 1885 Feb. 1885 - July 1886	3 11 12 11 3 18 18 18 18 18 3	6.0 11.5 11.5 6.0 9.5 18.0 18.0 9.5	I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	July 1914 - Sep. 1914 Sep. 1914 - Nov. 1915 Dec. 1915 - Feb. 1917 Mar. 1917 - May 1918 May 1918 - July 1918 July 1918 - Oct. 1918 Nov. 1918 - Jan. 1919 Feb. 1919 - May 1919 May 1919 - July 1919	3 15 15 15 3 4 3 4 3	8.0 15.0 15.0 2.5 3.5 3.5 2.5
I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	July 1886 - Sep. 1886 Sep. 1886 - Sep. 1887 Oct. 1887 - Nov. 1888 Dec. 1888 - Dec. 1889 Dec. 1889 - Feb. 1890 Feb. 1890 - Sep. 1891 Oct. 1891 - May 1893 June 1893 - Jan. 1895 Jan. 1895 - Mar.1895	3 13 14 13 3 20 20 20 20 3	7.0 13.5 13.5 7.0 10.5 20.0 20.0 10.5	I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	May 1919 – July 1919 July 1919 – May 1920 June 1920 – May 1921 June 1921 – Apr. 1922 Apr. 1922 – June 1922 June 1922 – Nov. 1922 Dec. 1922 – Apr. 1923 May 1923 – Oct. 1923 Oct. 1923 – Dec. 1923	3 11 12 11 3 6 5 6 3	6.0 11.5 11.5 6.0 3.5 5.5 5.5 3.5
I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	Jan. 1895 - Mar.1895 Mar.1895 - Oct. 1896 Nov.1896 - Joune 1898 July 1898 - Feb. 1900 Feb. 1900 - Apr. 1900 Apr. 1900 - Nov. 1900 Dec. 1900 - June 1901 July 1901 - Feb. 1902 Feb. 1902 - Apr. 1902	3 20 20 3 8 7 8 3	10.5 20.0 20.0 10.5 4.5 7.5 7.5 4.5	I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	Oct. 1923 - Dec. 1923 Dec. 1923 - Apr. 1924 May 1924 - Sep. 1924 Oct. 1924 - Feb. 1925 Feb. 1925 - Apr. 1925 Apr. 1925 - July 1925 Aug. 1925 - Oct. 1925 Nov. 1925 - Feb. 1926 Feb. 1926 - Apr. 1926	3 5 5 3 4 3 4 3	3.0 5.0 5.0 3.0 2.5 3.5 3.5 2.5
I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	Feb. 1902 - Apr. 1902 Apr. 1902 - Aug. 1902 Sep. 1902 - Feb. 1903 Mar. 1903 - July 1903 July 1903 - Sep. 1903 Sep. 1903 - Feb. 1904 Mar. 1904 - July 1904 Aug. 1904 - Jan. 1905 Jan. 1905 - Mar.1905	3 5 5 3 6 5 6 3	3.0 5.5 5.5 3.0 3.5 5.5 5.5 3.5	I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	Feb. 1926 - Apr. 1926 Apr. 1926 - Mar. 1927 Apr. 1927 - Mar. 1928 Apr. 1928 - Mar. 1929 Mar. 1929 - May 1929 May 1929 - May 1930 June 1930 - June 1931 July 1931 - July 1932 July 1932 - Sep. 1932	3 12 12 12 3 13 13 13 3	6.5 12.0 12.0 6.5 7.0 13.0 13.0 7.0
I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	Jan. 1905 - Mar. 1905 Mar. 1905 - Nov. 1905 Dec. 1905 - Sep. 1906 Oct. 1906 - June 1907 June 1907 - Aug. 1907 Aug. 1907 - Dec. 1907 Jan. 1908 - June 1908 July 1908 - Nov. 1908 Nov. 1908 - Jan. 1909	3 9 10 9 3 5 6 5 3	5.0 9.5 5.0 3.0 5.5 5.5 3.0				
I III IV V VI VII VIII IX	Nov. 1908 – Jan. 1909 Jan. 1909 – May 1910 June 1910 – Oct. 1911 Nov. 1911 – Mar. 1913 May 1913 – Sep. 1913 Oct. 1913 – Feb. 1914 Mar.1914 – July 1914 July 1914 – Sep. 1914	3 17 17 17 3 5 5 5 3	9.0 17.0 17.0 9.0 3.0 5.0 5.0 3.0				

• Inclusive of the dates given. • That is, from the midpoint of the preceding stage to the midpoint of the given stage.

Intries

of ths

Interval

### from stage to stage<sup>b</sup> (mos.) 6.0 10.5 10.5 6.0 5.0 9.0 9.0 5.0 2.5 3.5 2.5 4.0 6.5 4.0 ... 4.5 8.5 4.5 2.5 4.5 2.5 4.5 2.5

### APPENDIX A

### TABLE A2

### Average Interval between Reference-cycle Stages during Selected Periods United States

			7	Average in	terval in 1	nonths be	tween stag	es		
		I-II	11-111	III-IV	IV-V	V-VI	VI-VII	VII-VIII	VIII-IX	Average
Period	No. of refer-		Expa	insion			Contra	action		duration of cycles
covered	ence cycles	Trough to first third	First to middle third	Middle to last third	Last third to peak	Peak to first third	First to middle third	Middle to last third	Last third to trough	in months (sum of av. intervals)
1854–1938	21	4.8	8.3	8.3	4.8	3.9	6.9	6.9	3.9	47.7
1858–1938	20	4.7	8.3	8.3	4.7	3.9	6.9	6.9	3.9	47.6
1861–1938	19	4.8	8.3	8.3	4.8	4.0	7.2	7.2	4.0	48.6
1867–1938	18	4.6	8.0	8.0	4.6	3.9	7.0	7.0	3.9	46.9
1870–1938	17	4.6	8.1	8.1	4.6	4.0	7.1	7.1	4.0	47.6
1879–1938 1885–1938 1888–1938 1891–1938 1894–1938	16 15 14 13 12	4.6 4.4 4.5 4.4 4.5	7.9 7.7 7.8 7.7 7.8	7.9 7.7 7.8 7.7 7.8 7.7	4.6 4.4 4.5 4.4 4.5	3.5 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.5	6.2 5.7 5.9 6.1 6.1	6.2 5.7 5.9 6.1 6.1	3.5 3.3. 3.4 3.5 3.5	44.4 42.4 42.9 43.4 43.9
1897–1938	11	4.6	8.0	8.0	4.6	3.5	6.2	6.2	3.5	44.6
1900–1938	10	4.6	8.0	8.0	4.6	3.6	6.2	6.2	3.6	44.9
1904–1938	9	4.7	8.2	8.2	4.7	3.5	6.1	6.1	3.5	45.0
1908–1938	8	4.5	7.9	7.9	4.5	3.6	6.4	6.4	3.6	44.9
1912–1938	7	4.6	8.2	8.2	4.6	3.5	6.2	6.2	3.5	45.1
1914–1938	6	5.0	9.0	9.0	5.0	3.4	6.0	6.0	3.4	46.8
1919–1938	5	4.5	7.9	7.9	4.5	3.8	6.7	6.7	3.8	45.8
1921–1938	4	5.1	9.2	9.2	5.1	3.9	6.8	6.8	3.9	50.0
1854–1933	20	4.6	7.9	7.9	4.6	4.0	7.0	7.0	4.0	47.0
1858–1933	19	4.5	7.8	7.8	4.5	4.0	7.1	7.1	4.0	46.9
1861–1933	18	4.6	7.9	7.9	4.6	4.1	7.4	7.4	4.1	47.8
1867–1933	17	4.4	7.5	7.5	4.4	4.0	7.2	7.2	4.0	46.1
1870–1933	16	4.4	7.6	7.6	4.4	4.1	7.3	7.3	4.1	46.7
1879–1933 1885–1933 1888–1933 1891–1933 1894–1933	15 14 13 12 11	4.3 4.1 4.2 4.1 4.1	7.4 7.1 7.1 7.0 7.0	7.4 7.1 7.0 7.0	4.3 4.1 4.2 4.1 4.1	3.6 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.6	6.3 5.9 6.0 6.3 6.4	6.3 5.9 6.0 6.3 6.4	3.6 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.6	43.2 41.0 41.5 41.8 42.3
1897–1933	10	4.2	7.2	7.2	4.2	3.6	6.4	6.4	3.6	42.9
1900–1933	9	4.2	7.1	7.1	4.2	3.7	6.6	6.6	3.7	43.0
1904–1933	8	4.2 .	7.2	7.2	4.2	3.6	6.4	6.4	3.6	42.9
1908–1933	7	3.9	6.7	6.7	3.9	3.8	6.8	6.8	3.8	42.4
1912–1933	6	4.0	6.8	6.8	4.0	3.7	6.7	6.7	3.7	42.3
1914–1933	5	4.3	7.5	7.5	4.3	3.6	6.5	6.5	3.6	43.8
1919–1933	4	3.5	5.8	5.8	3.5	4.1	7.5	7.5	4.1	41.8
1854–1914	15	4.7	8.1	8.1	4.7	4.1	7.2	7.2	4.1	48.0
1858–1914	14	4.6	8.0	8.0	4.6	4.1	7.3	7.3	4.1	48.0
1861–1914	13	4.7	8.0	8.0	4.7	4.3	7.7	7.7	4.3	49.4
1867–1914	12	4.4	7.5	7.5	4.4	4.2	7.5	7.5	4.2	47.0
1870–1914	11	4.5	7.6	7.6	4.5	4.3	7.6	7.6	4.3	48.0
18791914	10	4.3	7.3	7.3	4.3	3.6	6.2	6.2	3.6	42.9
18851914	9	4.1	6.8	6.8	4.1	3.3	5.6	5.6	3.3	39.4
18881914	8	4.1	6.8	6.8	4.1	3.4	5.8	5.8	3.4	40.0
18911914	7	3.9	6.6	6.6	3.9	3.6	6.1	6.1	3.6	40.4
18941914	6	4.0	6.6	6.6	4.0	3.7	6.2	6.2	3.7	41.0
18971914	5	4.1	6.8	6.8	4.1	3.7	6.4	6.4	3.7	42.0
19001914	4	4.0	6.6	6.6	4.0	3.8	6.6	6.6	3.8	42.0

THIS APP full deta would gr Table Chapters B5–B9 st and 12. The a the analy positive is restric are sacri this restr

Derived from Appendix Table A1, which shows intervals between successive stages of the monthly reference cycles.

.

### APPENDIX B

### Some Supporting Data

THIS APPENDIX is restricted to the barest essentials. If we attempted to present in full detail the cyclical measures of all series considered in the text, this volume would grow to unmanageable proportions.

Tables B1-B4 present cycle-by-cycle measures of the seven series analyzed in Chapters 9-12. Several of these series are analyzed also in Chapters 5-8. Tables B5-B9 show in detail the classifications of cycles carried through in Chapters 11 and 12.

The arrangement and content of Tables B1-B4 are governed, in the main, by the analysis of Chapters 11 and 12. In Tables B1 and B3 the cycles are treated on a positive basis, in Tables B2 and B4 on an inverted basis. Since the inverted analysis is restricted to the outer boundaries of the positive analysis, some inverted cycles are sacrificed. Our results, however, would not be altered appreciably by lifting this restriction.

- 517 -

-
æ
ы
Ч
B
<
۶ų.

## Measures of Successive Specific Cycles Treated on Positive Plan

Seven American Series

	XI	rer-	ough (19)		21.5	10.5	0.90	82.4	00.2	10.6	00.5	85.3b	06.7	93.0	12.1	94.3	04.1	68.4		95.1	06.3	76.8	49.2	6. <i>TT</i> .9
		•••	= <u>=</u> = =		.6	4.	4	o.	.8	4.	.7 1	(4	ن ⊢	ŗ.	 -	-	- - -	œ.		4	1	<u>.</u>		<u>د</u>
	IN IN	ц	Las thir 18	-	124	110	106	33	103	Ξ	<u></u>	88	106	66	112	96	105	74		106	105	87	89	94
at stage	ΝI	ontractic	Middle third (17)		130.2	113.1	105.2	107.4	102.3	110.4	100.3	90.0	107.9	103.9	116.8	101.4	104.4	93.9		104.3	120.8	117.3	101.8	120.1
elatives	١٨	Ŭ	First third (16)		126.9	114.6	112.7	105.9	108.0	113.3	104.3	(96.8)	107.4	102.8	113.4	102.0	110.0	108.0		117.4	130.0	122.6	106.0	131.1
o-cycle r	>		reak (15)		131.7ª 104.3	117.0	114.0	108.4	109.9	116.8	106.4	110.3	110.0	104.9	117.0	105.2	109.8	123.1		119.7	131.8	124.2	112.9	138.7
n specific	IV		Last third (14)		109.2	108.1	107.4	105.6	104.5	109.9	102.7	108.0	106.8	102.6	108.9	104.1	105.2	116.2		111.9	113.1	109.9	112.1	116.4
verage ii	Ш	xpansion	Middle third (13)		97.3 100.9	96.0	96.4	99.1	98.5	95.5	100.4	101.2	98.3	97.9	101.2	102.7	98.3	103.8		97.6	104.2	95.2	111.9	98.6
•	п	H	First third (12)		78.2 97.0	84.2	90.6	95.5	91.6	82.8	95.3	91.7	89.4	95.3	86.2	93.9	92.9	92.4		78.3	74.5	83.5	92.3	65.0
	-	Initial	trough (11)		72.2	80.4	85.5	91.5	87.9	81.2	85.2	83.5	79.0 <sup>b</sup>	93.8	77.3	93.3	90.6	86.5		55.7	67.0	74.0	67.5	51.5
Ratio	o	total total	& fall	arings	.85	.85	.78	.39	69.	.85	.78	.52	<u>.</u>	.48	.89	.52	.77	.40	luction	.72	.72	.51	.42	.59
	ie in ycle	S	Rise & fall (9)	ated cle	69.7 18.2	43.1	36.5	42.9	31.7	41.8	27.1	51.8	34.3	23.0	44.6	22.8	24.9	91.3	on proc	88.6	90.3	97.6	109.1	148.0
1	putuc cific-c	elativ	Fall (8)	Defl	11.9	6.5	8.0	26.0	9.7	6.2	5.9	25.0	3.3	11.9	4.9	10.9	5.7	54.7	Pig iı	24.6	25.5	47.4	63.7	60.8
•	spe	-	Rise		59.5	36.6	28.5	16.9	22.0	35.6	21.2	26.8	31.0	11.1	39.7	11.9	19.2	36.6		64.0	64.3	50.2	45.4	87.2
Ratio	of	expan- sion to	cycle (6)		.85 50	.78	.83	.79	.72	.76	<i>LL</i> .	.95	.79	.57	.92	.45	.86	.65		89.	.87	.70	.33	69.
	cific	50	Full cycle (5)	;	46 34	40	36	29	36	49	44	43	34	49	49	29	28	114		72	38	37	30	36
	ion of spe		Contrac- tion (4) ·		7	, o	, Q	9	10	12	10	7	7	21	4	16	4	40		23	5	Ξ	20	11
	Durat	cycle	Expan- sion (3)		39 17	31	8	23	26	37	34	41	27	28	45	13	24	74		49	33	26	10	25
	Dates of	specific cycles	Trough – Pcak – Trough (2)		Mar.78-June 81-Jan. 82 Ian. 82-June 83-Nov. 84	Nov. 84-June 87-Mar.88	Mar.88-Sep. 90-Mar.91	Mar.91-Feb. 93-Aug. 93	Aug. 93-Oct. 95-Aug. 96	Aug. 96-Sep. 99-Sep. 00	Sep. 00-July 03-May 04	May 04-Oct. 07-Dec. 07	Dec. 07-Mar.10-Oct. 10	Oct. 10-Feb. 13-Nov. 14	Nov. 14-Aug. 18-Dec. 18	Dec. 18-Jan. 20-May 21	May 21–May 23–Sep. 23	Sep. 23-Nov. 29-Mar.33		Jan. 79-Feb. 83-Jan. 85	Jan. 85-Oct. 87-Mar.88	Mar.88-May 90-Apr. 91	Apr. 91-Feb. 92-Oct. 93	Oct. 93-Nov. 95-Oct. 96
	Cycle	цо.	Ξ		7 7	ŝ	41	<u>م</u>	9	2	æ	6	10	11	12	13	14	15		-	2	ĉ	4	ŝ

APPENDIX B

Y

ı

ŝ

.-

	97.8 68.0 62.0	96.7 70.9	74.1 39.8	88.6	24.4		3.8	0,46	15.1	80.4 41.6		26.1	0.40	14.4	10.2	34.2	18.4	4.7	0.0	7.62	31.1	42.4	53.9 0 1	;;
	109.1 89.2 83.7	104.3 83.9	90.2 46.9	105.5	31.0		121.4	108.1	58.7	130.8	i i	44.3	(0.10)	62.4	46.0	120.8	72.3	25.7	0.0 1	4/.8	166.0	50.0	98.0 4 2	i r
	125.1 116.8 122.0	118.0 99.5	109.6 80.6	113.5	71.1		107.1	94.0	80.5	146.9		83.0	4.101	1003	136.6	185.6	115.7	46.8	0.5	80.1	133.9	152.4	84.4 25.0	
	127.4 114.8 122.2	132.2 120.3	112.6	137.9	136.6		54.1	123.1	125.0	141.0 121 e		130.1	12021	(+20.4)	143.9	180.2	122.4	51.8	0.0	141.2	133.3	100.0	95.2	1001
	128.3 118.0 124.7	138.4 127.7	114.4 130.9	147.2	173.3		400.6	272.9	278.4	153.8		192.5	141.0	183.7	212.2	192.9	210.3	285.3	591.0	238.0	180.0	178.6	187.8	1.11
	112.5 109.6 116.3	120.4 114.5	105.1 122.4	124.7	154.7		30.2	11.7	158.0	128.8	0.101	172.9	(6.111)	116.4	120.6	69.1	123.0	123.0	(444.8)	(166.7)	100.0	(88.7)	(124.9) 261 6	0.102
	97.7 101.2 106.5	89.8	107.3 115.9	84.9	147.6		57.1	37.4	104.2	1.16	1.021	149.1	4.16	7.12	81.9	47.0	101.4	121.5	(298.6)	90.6	48.5	62.0	174.6	0.4/1
	74.5 87.8 76.4	64.0 86.0	87.4 95.6	54.6	88.8 129.2		30.2	40.2	54.5	49.7	r.00	79.9	(1.4)	0.4.9	46.2	54.8	51.9	109.0	(152.3)	(24.0)	19.3	(21.6)	(91.8)	10.01
nued	52.3 69.0 51.1	59.8 82.7	52.5 90.2	38.9	123.3		14.8	3.2	10.4	12.2	0. /r	75.2	4.60	6.77	11.6	17.1	33.0	25.5	6.1	0.0	7.0	42.5	48.4	1
n – Conti	.71 .49 .54	59. 45	19. 16		55	orders	.49	.55	50	89.	ę.	4	ų:	<u>5</u>	2.05	.53	.48	.48	<u>.</u>	.53	.54	50	12:0	74.
roductio	106.5 99.0 136.3	120.3	102.2	166.9	198.9	ght car	782.6	488.0	531.3	209.0	0.022	283.7	223.0	8 006	402.6	334.5	369.2	540.4	1175.9	452.8	321.9	272.3	273.3	+-1/0
iron p	30.5 50.0 62.7	41.7 56.8	40.3 91 1	58.6	18./	Frei	396.8	218.3	263.3	67.4	+-771	166.4	101.4	C.CII	202.0	158.7	191.9	280.6	591.0	214.8	148.9	136.2	133.9	041.0
Pig	76.0 49.0 73.6	78.6	61.9 40.7	108.3	50.0		385.8	269.7	268.0	141.6	7.001	117.3	121.6	C.6/1	200.6	175.8	177.3	259.8	584.9	238.0	173.0	136.1	139.4	1.002
	.79 84 88	69 57	.85 62	19:	.60 .31		.33	.25	.50	.76	<b>.</b>	.27	52	с».	. 4	09.	.53	.62	.17	.43	.50	.38	5; i	ŝ
	48 38 49	35	53 26	36 3	94 64		36	48	84	51	<b>+</b> 7	45	24	5	5 2	30	51	39	18	21	. 24	24	36	8
	0 0 0 0	23 73	8 01	2 4 3	<b>5</b>		24	36	42	12	71	33	18	0 <u>e</u>	30	12	24	15	15	12	12	15	27	20
	38 32 43	3: 7: 2	45 16	: 23	20		12	12	42	£	71	12	9 9	35	21	18	27	24	ŝ	6	12	6	° ;	717
	6 Oct. 96-Dec. 99-Oct. 00 7 Oct. 00-June 03-Dec. 03 8 Dec. 03-July 07-Ian 08	9 Jan. 08-Jan. 10-Dec. 10 0 Dec. 10-Jan. 13-Dec. 14	1 Dec. 14-Sep. 18-May 19 2 May 19-Sep. 20-Luby 21	3 July 21–May 23–July 24	4 July 24-July 20-Nov.27		1 4Q 70-4Q 71-4Q 73	2 40 73 - 40 74 - 40 77	3 4Q 77 - 2Q 81 - 4Q 84	4 4 2 84 - 10 88 - 10 89	ן וע איי דע איי דע איין דע איי	6 10 91 - 10 92 - 40 94	7   4Q 94 - 2Q 95 - 4Q 96		0 40 03 - 30 05 - 10 08	1 10 08-30 09-30 10	2 30 10 - 40 12 - 40 14	3 4Q 14-4Q 16-1Q 18	4 10 18-20 18-30 19	5 30 19 - 20 20 - 20 21	6 2Q 21-2Q 22-2Q 23	7 2Q 23-1Q 24-2Q 25	8 11Q 25 <sup>d</sup> - 4Q 25 - 1Q 28	ר או - גד' א <del>ו</del> - 12 או   ה
	1	-		• ••• •											Ē	-		-	-	-	Ē	÷		-

SUPPORTING DATA

- °91

۱

.

TABLE B1-Continued

### Measures of Successive Specific Cycles Treated on Positive Plan Seven American Series

	X	T <sub>cr</sub> -	minal trough	(1)
	VIII	u	Last	(18)
at stage <sup>1</sup>	ΝI	ontractic	Middle	(17)
relatives	١٨	0	First	(16)
-cycle 1	>	- 6	rcak	(15)
n specific	IV		Last	(14)
Average i	III	Expansior	Middle	(13)
1	II		First	(12)
	I	Initial	trough	(11)
Ratio	ۍ و	total	& fall	(10)
	ycle vcle	۵j	Rise & fall	(6)
	ecific-cy	relative	Fall	(8)
	d ds		Rise	Ð
Ratio	of	expan- sion to	cycle	(9)
	cific	SU	Full	3
	tion of spe		Contrac-	(4)
	Dura	cyci	Expan-	6
	Dates of	specific cycles	Trough – Peak – Trough	(2)
	Cycle	Ю		Ξ

ļ			•				Railrc	ad stoc	k prices	-								
1	Oct. 57-Mar.58-May 59	5	14	19	.26	17.9	13.0	30.9	.58	89.3	92.1	97.3	107.8	107.2	103.1	100.6	98.4	94.2
2	May 59–Sep. 60–May 61	16	80	24	-67	23.8	21.9	45.7	.52	91.6	92.9	94.2	106.7	115.4	107.4	101.0	102.3	33.
'n	May 61-Apr. 64-Apr. 65	35	12	47	.74	84.7	33.0	117.7	.72	57.5	60.6	85.9	122.0	142.2	140.4	129.4	120.9	109.
4	Apr. 65-Apr. 72-June 77	84	62	146	.58	42.0	54.9	96.9	.43	78.4	84.2	99.5	109.8	120.4	114.4	105.1	89.7	65.
ŝ	June 77-June 81-June 85	48	48	96	.50	78.0	44.2	122.2	.64	56.1	65.1	82.8	115.2	134.1	124.4	116.9	95.1	89.
9	June 85-May 87-Apr. 89	23	23	46	.50	28.4	16.6	45.0	.63	83.0	93.4	100.5	108.3	111.4	103.5	97.4	97.0	94.8
2	Apr. 89–May 90–Dec. 90	13	7	20	.65	8.1	15.1	23.2	.35	96.7	98.3	101.6	101.3	104.8	105.1	101.0	92.4	89
8	Dec. 90-Mar.92-Mar.95	15	36	51	.29	17.8	30.2	48.0	.37	97.3	100.6	103.2	112.7	115.1	112.3	91.9	88.1	84
5	Mar.95-Sep. 95-Aug.96	9	11	17	.35	13.2	18.1	31.3	.42	94.4	99.2	104.1	106.7	107.6	102.5	98.0	95.5	89.
10	Aug. 96-Apr. 00-Sep. 00	44	2	49	06.	45.4	5.1	50.5	.90	75.6	81.9	95.1	117.6	121.0	118.5	115.2	116.0	115.
Ξ	Sep. 00-Sep. 02-Oct. 03	24	13	37	.65	46.5	30.1	76.6	.61	70.3	86.4	101.3	109.7	116.8	111.2	104.5	90.8	86.7
12	Oct. 03-Sep. 06-Nov.07	35	14	49	.71	44.3	37.7	82.0	.54	75.5	79.1	103.7	113.4	119.8	118.3	100.1	91.6	82.
13	Nov.07-Aug.09-July 10	21	11	32	99.	37.8	15.2	53.0	.71	76.5	81.9	95.6	107.2	114.3	113.7	111.0	105.8	66
14	July 10-Aug. 12-Feb. 15	25	30	55	.45	6.5	26.9	33.4	.19	101.9	104.5	105.4	105.7	108.4	102.4	92.9	86.0°	81
15	Feb. 15-Oct. 16-Dec. 17	20	14	34	.59	14.7	29.6	44.3	.33	93.9	96.3	105.1	105.8	108.6	105.0	97.5	87.5	79.0
16	Dec. 17-June 19-June 21	18	24	42	.43	14.5	23.1	37.6	.39	97.5	99.8	106.3	106.8	112.0	101.0	94.4	94.6	88.9
17	June 21-Sep. 22-Oct. 23	15	13	28	.54	26.4	15.2	41.6	.63	86.6	88.9	93.0	105.6	113.0	107.5	106.6	98.8	9.76
18	Oct. 23-Sep. 29-June 32	71	33	104	.68	90.3	141.8	232.1	39	67.5	78.2	103.9	132.2	157.8	132.4	947	418	160

\_

APPENDIX B

Shares traded Teb 88-May81-Apr 88 3 39 47 36 51 318 514 871 1205 1102 1338 1054 1051 634 524 524 523 4671 1205 1102 1338 1054 1056 734 520 446 520 956 1017 980 1504 1056 734 520 946 520 956 1017 188 135 151 105 1051 950 74 520 946 520 946 520 956 1017 980 1504 1056 74 520 946 520 954 956 956 956 956 956 956 956 956 956 956	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------

SUPPORTING DATA

	Ы
	Positive
	U
inued	Treated
1-Cont	Cycles
BLEB	Specific
TA	Successive
	oť
	feasures
	2

an

Seven American Series

	ţ	×	÷	nal ueh	6	1	1.1	5.9	2.9	2.8	.7	0.6	9.2	0.5	ļ	6.9	2.8	4.7	8.2	0 3
	ĺ		ř.		- E		5 3	4 7	6 5	9 13:	<u>5</u>	4	5 8	3		5 7	4	8 10	4	ð
		IIIV	E.	Last	(18)		33.	104.	68.	132.	74.	57.	101.	36.	[	84.	97.	104.	98.	80
	at stage	VII	ontracti	Middle	(17)		43.2	87.8	114.8	146.3	105.1	101.3	110.0	71.0		95.2	98.5	106.7	99.1	000
	clatives	١٨	J	First	third (16)		131.9	99.4	102.9	153.1	126.0	112.0	104.6	158.2		105.2	104.0	109.6	9.66	1001
	-cycle n	>	f	reak	(15)		242.6	138.3	154.5	163.8	137.1	123.6	116.2	176.0		109.8	105.5	110.8	101.4	104 8
	a specific	IV		Last	(14)		120.7	119.9	144.6	129.9	9.66	117.1	112.3	142.4		108.4	102.6	107.4	100.3	102.0
	verage ir	III	xpansion	Middle	(13)		133.7	110.9	102.7	85.7	93.5	110.7	98.4	121.3		106.0	100.6	100.5	100.9	101 3
	A	п	E	First	(12)		55.9	73.5	77.3	65.7	81.0	100.4	72.6	83.4		103.5	96.8	83.8	100.1	0.00
}			Initial	trough	(11)	ned	31.6	51.0	70.8	43.7	76.0	90.6	50.0	73.6		99.2	93.9	75.3	98.7	0 90
	Ratio	Jo	total	k fall	(10)	– Contin	.50	.59	.45	.79	.44	.31	.71	.41	d yields	.24	.48	.85	.46	47
		cle II		Rise	& iall (9)	y rates	421.9	148.7	185.3	151.1	138.5	107.6	93.2	247.9	ad bon	43.5	24.3	41.6	5.9	16.7
		cific-cy	elative	Fall	(8)	ll mone	210.9	61.4	101.6	31.0	77.4	74.6	27.0	145.5	Railro	32.9	12.7	6.1	3.2	8
	V	spe	_	Rise	6	Ca	211.0	87.3	83.7	120.1	61.1	33.0	66.2	102.4		10.6	11.6	35.5	2.7	6.7
	Ratio	of	sion to	cycle	(9)		.75	.50	.27	68.	.26	.52	.47	.41		.47	.65	.71	.65	35
		cific be	4	Full	cycle (5)		52	36	48	37	42	27	36	44		30	17	28	20	48
		on of spec		Contrac-	(4)		13	18	35	4	31	13	19	26		16	9	80	7	31
		Durati	ryuc	Expan-	(3)		39	18	13	33	11	14	17	18		14	=	20	13	17
	-	Dates of	specific cycles	Tanah - Bash Tanah	Lrougn - rcak - Lrougn (2)		July 04-Oct. 07-Nov.08	Nov.08-May 10-Nov. 11	Nov.11-Dec. 12-Nov.15	Nov. 15-Aug. 18-Dec. 18	Dec. 18-Nov. 19-June 22	June 22-Aug. 23-Sep. 24	Sep. 24-Feb. 26-Sep. 27	Sep. 27-Mar.29-May 31		Aug. 60-Oct. 61-Feb. 63	Feb. 63–Jan. 64–July 64	July 64-Mar.66-Nov.66	Nov. 66-Dec. 67-July 68	Iulv 68-Dec. 69-July 72
		Cycle	DO.		Ξ	1	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23		1	0	'n	4	5

522

### APPENDIX B

88.5 84.0 89.3 94.7 99.4

90.5 92.6 99.9

95.8 99.9 99.4 99.4

103.1 106.5 102.0 101.8 101.8

111.0 108.5 103.8 103.8 104.0 105.0

106.7 107.8 103.1 101.7 103.2

106.6 106.7 102.4 102.4 98.9

107.3 107.0 101.7 100.1 95.8

105.7 106.1 99.2 98.9 94.3

27.8 26.9 19.1 14.4 16.3

22.5 24.5 14.5 9.3 5.6

.46 .47 .19 .09 .09 .09 .09 .09 .09 .09

2.7 7.9 5.3 5.1 5.1 10.7

.65 .33 .33 .44 .70 .70

13 117 116 23 26 26 26

July 72–Nov. 73–Aug. 76 Aug. 76–Apr. 77–June 81 June 81–Sep. 83–July 86 July 86–Oct. 87–June 89 June 89–Aug. 91–July 92

9 ~ 8 6 **0** 

۶

	92.8	92.1	104.1	5 00	103.8	96.6	98.6	88.6	91.9	94.1
	95.8	95.0	105.0	1005	103.7	98.2	(102.7)	91.4	95.7	95.9
	97.6	98.6	106.5	103.2	103.8	98.8	104.7	104.0	99.9	98.6
	102.1	102.2	107.0	105.7	104.1	99.2	(105.4)	106.2	102.5	102.8
	108.5	108.0	107.9	109.2	106.2	103.6	106.8"	111.7	104.8	105.9
	104.2	104.0	101.6	102.1	103.0	102.3	105.1	103.9	104.1	104.7
	101.4	104.4	96.1	7.70	99.3	102.0	101.3	98.3	103.5	101.3
	101.2	102.4	95.8	95.2	96.4	98.5e	92.6	94.7	100.2	96.7
tinued	100.4	102.0	93.0	94.7	93.4	97.9	88.2	91.7	97.2	94.4
ds – Con	34	.27	.80	.59	.84	.45	.69	.46	.37	.49
nd yiel	23.8	21.9	18.7	24.4	15.2	12.7	26.8	43.1	20.5	23.3
oad bo	15.7	15.9	3.8	9.9	2.4	7.0	8.2	23.1	12.9	11.8
Railr	8.1	6.0	14.9	14.5	12.8	5.7	18.6	20.0	7.6	11.5
	.35	.26	.75	69.	16.	.48	16.	.39	.21	.51
	37	46	68	48	64	31	22	46	63	41
	24	34	17	15	9	16	7	28	50	20
	13	12	51	33	58	15	20	18	13	21
	ly 92-Aug. 93-Aug. 95	lg. 95-Aug. 96-June 99	ne 99–Sep. 03–Feb. 05	b. 05-Nov. 07-Feb. 09	b. 09–Dec. 13–June 14	ne 14-Sep. 15-Jan. 17	a. 17–Sep. 18–Nov.18	vv.18–May 20–Sep. 22	p. 22-Oct. 23-Dec. 27	c. 27-Sep. 29-May 31
	J.	ž	7	Fe	Fe	Ju	E.	ž	S.	Ă

\* Entries in parentheses are interpolated.

20128175

11212

Average of two months.

<sup>b</sup> One month.

<sup>a</sup> Based on the first segment of the series (see Ch. 9, note 2), which we use through cycle 17.

<sup>d</sup> Based on the second segment (see preceding note).

• Omits Aug.-Nov. 1914 No data (N. Y. Stock Exchange closed).

.-

SUPPORTING DATA

cycle relatives at stage*	XI IIIA IIA A	Expansion Ter-	First Middle Last peak	(13) (14) (15) (16) (17)		97.3 96.3 100.2 100.6 103.6	86.5 90.6 103.2 116.2 125.8	89.3 94.6 100.7 112.2 119.0	92.7 96.8 100.4 107.0 109.8	88.1 91.8 98.7 104.7 110.1	86.7 88.3 101.9 117.2 124.6	88.8 99.3 104.6 107.1 110.9	85.9 94.3 104.0 111.1 113.4	81.2 <sup>b</sup> 91.8 100.9 109.7 113.0	96.0 97.4 100.1 104.9 107.3	82.0 91.5 107.4 115.6 124.3	94.3 94.9 103.8 105.2 106.3	92.7 95.1 100.6 107.7 112.3	83.7 89.4 100.4 112.4 119.1		75 820 1173 1275 1485		78.0 08./ 1011 110.0 18.0 19.7 7.0 0.0 1175 1175	0.011 1.711 0.711 1.776 0.70	C.241 4.611 1.101 1.000 2.25	7'141   9'C71   C'/N1   N'78   C'/C
Average in sp		Contraction	Middle La	(11)		104.2 95	96.8 87	91.5 89	91.9	114.8 99	88.5 89	88.7 89	85.7 86	) 85.6 (84	97.0 95	91.6 87	98.2 94	99.8 94	83.9 84		87 8 84	2000	11 C.40	10.001	CK 7.601	00.1 1.00
	I	Initial	peak First	(0) (10)	sât	105.4• 101.5	97.6 96.5	94.6 92.7	9.66 98.5	115.9 114.3	95.0 93.4	93.8 91.0	90.9 89.1	104.9* (92.0	98.9 96.5	92.5 90.6	98.4 95.4	103.4 100.3	88.2 88.4	tion	050 033		2.0% 1 0.1%	109.1 1.401	/·CII 7.171	4.04 C.201
	Ratio of rise to	total fall	s rise	(8)	flated clearii	44	t .78	85	12. 0	.44	.82	.82	.85	57	.80	80.	.75	65	68.	iron product	70		*	2; ;	ÿ,	<u>c</u> o.
tude in	ic-cycle	Eall	k rise	(2) (9)	ð	6.3 14.4	9.3 50.4	9.7 35.0	7.1 24.0	2.0 49.8	7.9 46.2	2.1 27.1	7.5 32.5	1.8 55.5	1.3 14.2	2.3 52.6	2.0 16.1	9.6 30.3	5.4 39.9	Pig	1 0 0 2					J./   120.
ilqmA	specific		Fall R	(5) (		8.1	11.1 3	5.3 2	6.9 1	27.8 2	8.3 3	5.0 2	5.0 2	23.7 3	2.9 1	10.5 4	4.1 1	10.7 1	4.5 3		19 5 7		0 10 17	41.7 4	4.00	0.0.6
tion of	ic cycles	Ratio of	to full	(4)		.71	.65	<i>L</i> :	.79	.81	67.	.74	80.	.93	.80	89.	.76	<b>09</b> .	.95		50	)	ŧ.		ș, f	۵/.
Dura	specifi	Full	cycle (mos.)	(3)		24	48	30	50	32	47	46	51	29	35	66	17	40	78		56	; <del>.</del>	77	17 14	÷ 5	44
	Dates of	specific cycles	Deak - Trough - Peak	(2)		June 81 – Jan. 82 – June 83	June 83 – Nov. 84 – June 87	June 87 - Mar. 88 - Sep. 90	Sep. 90 – Mar. 91 – Feb. 93	Feb. 93 - Aug. 93 - Oct. 95	Oct. 95 - Aug. 96 - Sep. 99	Sep. 99-Sep. 00-July 03	July 03 - May 04 - Oct. 07	Oct. 07 - Dcc. 07 - Mar. 10	Mar.10-Oct. 10-Feb. 13	Feb. 13 - Nov. 14 - Aug. 18	Aug. 18 - Dec. 18 - Jan. 20	Jan. 20 - May 21 - May 23	May 23 - Sep. 23 - Nov. 29		Eah 83 - Ion 85 - Oct 87		Uct. 8/ - Mar. 86 - May 90	May 90 - Apr. 91 - FcD. 92	reb. 92 - Oct. 93 - Nov. 92	Nov. 95 - Uct. 96 - Lec. 70 - Lec.
	Cvcle			Ξ		-	2	ŝ	4	Ś	9	~	œ	6	10	11	12	13	7		-	• •	N 6	n ·	4 1	'n

.-

TABLE B2 Measures of Successive Specific Cycles Treated on Inverted Plan

524

### APPENDIX B

					Pig	iron pro	duction-	Continued								
<b> </b> •	Dec. 99 - Oct. 00 - June 03	42	.76	22.4	51.0	73.4	69.	94.4	93.8	92.1	80.3	72.0	91.6	105.6	114.3	123.0
•	Itine 03 – Dec. 03 – July 07	49	88.	38.8	76.0	114.8	99.	91.7	89.2	90.8	69.3	52.9	79.0	110.2	120.2	128.9
. oc	Tulv 07 - Ian. 08 - Ian. 10	30	80	64.6	84.1	148.7	.57	128.6	126.1	125.9	86.4	64.0	68.4	96.1	128.8	148.1
00	Jan. 10 – Dec. 10 – Jan. 13	36	69.	35.7	45.1	80.8	.56	118.8	113.5	101.3	89.5	83.1	86.3	96.1	115.0	128.2
10	Jan. 13 – Dec. 14 – Sep. 18	68	99.	46.1	67.9	114.0	.60	103.8	97.8	80.9	68.2	57.7	96.0	117.8	115.3	125.6
÷	Sen 18 - May 19 - Sen 20	24	67	42.4	35.0	77.4	.45	120.2	118.3	115.1	94.7	77.8	82.5	99.9	105.5	112.8
: :	Sen 20 - Inly 21 - May 23	20	69	103.6	126.1	229.7	55	149.0	135.6	91.7	53.3	45.4	63.6	98.9	145.3	171.5
1 1	May 23 – July 24 – July 26	38	.63	49.8	37.4	87.2	<del>.</del> 43	124.9	117.0	96.3	89.5	75.1	90.8	103.7	106.1	112.5
5 4	July 26 - Nov. 27 - July 29	36	.56	17.8	35.1	52.9	99.	104.4	103.8	97.4	94.4	86.6	90.7	103.6	108.6	121.7
Į																
						Freig	ht car ord	lers				,				
-	40 71 - 40 73 - 40 74	36	33	413.4	342.4	755.8	.45	417.4	56.4	111.6	126.5	4.0	51.0	47.5	14.9	346.4
• •	40 74 - 40 77 - 20 81	28	54	60.7	392.3	453.0	.87	75.9	34.2	26.3	30.1	15.2	79.8	152.5	231.3	407.5
1 ल	20 81 - 40 84 - 10 88	81	48	261.0	174.0	435.0	.40	276.0	123.9	79.8	58.2	15.0	61.0	112.0	158.2	189.0
4	10 88 - 10 89 - 10 90	5	.50	45.6	107.3	152.9	.70	104.1	95.4	99.4	88.5	58.5	87.5	129.8	105.9	165.8
· •	10 90 - 10 91 - 10 92	24	.50	147.0	78.0	225.0	.35	197.0	158.3	110.4	51.6	50.0	53.1	99.1	115.0	128.0
9	10 97 - 40 94 - 20 95	39	.15	179.7	176.9	356.6	.50	207.9	140.5	89.6	47.8	28.2	(103.9)	141.7	(162.8)	205.1
•	20 95 - 40 96 - 30 99	5	.65	70.0	214.9	284.9	.75	97.4	83.3	90.8	55.2	27.4	52.7	116.3	170.6	242.3
- 00	30 99 - 10 00 - 20 02	33	.82	82.0	120.8	202.8	.60	143.7	(92.6)	67.0	(65.2)	61.7	93.5	90.4	115.6	182.5
6	2002 - 4003 - 3005	39	.54	166.9	245.1	412.0	.59	181.1	113.5	107.8	61.5	14.2	56.5	100.1	147.4	259.3
10	30 05 - 10 08 - 30 09	48	.38	243.2	126.1	369.3	.34	255.5	173.2	164.5	55.4	12.3	39.3	33.7	49.6	138.4
Ξ	30 09 - 30 10 - 40 12	39	69.	139.3	161.5	300.8	.54	169.3	158.1	163.0	106.0	30.0	47.2	92.4	112.0	191.5
:2	40 12 - 40 14 - 40 16	48	.50	196.7	192.1	388.8	.49	215.6	125.5	118.6	74.1	18.9	80.6	89.9	91.0	211.0
13	40 16 - 10 18 - 20 18	18	.17	306.5	498.9	805.4	.62	311.7	56.6	51.1	28.1	5.2	(129.9)	(254.6)	(379.4)	504.1
4	20 18 - 30 19 - 20 20	24	.38	1017.2	223.0	1240.2	.18	1017.2	0.0	5.1	0.0	0.0	(22.5)	84.8	(156.1)	223.0
15	2Q 20 - 2Q 21 - 2Q 22	24	.50	135.2	363.3	498.5	.73	149.8	88.9	50.4	30.1	14.6	40.5	101.8	209.8	377.9
16	20 22 - 20 23 - 10 24	21	.43	146.9	98.0	244.9	.40	177.5	131.4	132.0	163.6	30.6	(37.2)	44.7	(63.8)	128.6
17	10 24 - 20 25 - 10 26°	24	.38	122.4	110.5	232.9	.47	160.5	89.9	136.9	44.9	38.1	(69.7)	99.3	(126.9)	148.6
18	40 254-10 28 - 40 29	48	44.	130.5	143.9	274.4	.52	183.1	92.8	82.4	95.6	52.6	62.8	100.5	150.6	196.5

-ر

SUPPORTING DATA

:

:

ł

	Inverted Plan	
	ю	
- Continued	ycles Treated	
82-	Ő	
BLE	Specific	
TA	Successive	
	of	
	Measures	

Seven American Series

ł

		Durat	ion of	An	plitude	. <u>s</u> .				Average	in specifi	c-cycle r	elatives a	it stage*		
Ċ		specific	c cycles	ž,	cunc-cy. relatives		Ratio of rise to	-	п	Ξ	IV	>	Ν	VII	VIII	X
no.	specific cycles	Full	Ratio of			Eall F	total fall	Initial	0	ontractio	-	E	щ	xpansion		T <sub>er</sub> -
		cycle (mos.)	to full	Fall	Rise	& rise	& rise	peak	First	Middle	Last	uguoi t	First	Middle	Last	peak
Ξ	reak - 1 rougn - reak (2)	(3)	cycie (4)	(2)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)
						Railro	ad stock p	rices								
	Mar.58 - May 59 - Sep. 60	30	.53	12.8	24.3	37.1	.65	106.1	102.1	9.66	97.4	93.3	94.7	96.0	108.8	117.6
7	Sep. 60 - May 61 - Apr. 64	43	.81	15.8	9.66	115.6	.86	83.6	77.8	73.1	74.1	67.8	71.4	101.3	143.8	167.6
ŝ	<b>Apr.</b> 64 – <b>A</b> pr. 65 – <b>A</b> pr. 72	96	88.	24.3	43.2	67.5	.64	104.9	103.6	95.5	89.2	80.6	86.6	102.3	112.9	123.8
4	<b>Apr.</b> 72 – June 77 – June 81	110	.44	53.4	88.5	141.9	62	117.1	111.3	102.2	87.2	63.7	73.9	94.0	130.8	152.2
ŝ	June 81 – June 85 – May 87	12	.32	39.7	27.7	67.4	.41	120.7	112.0	105.2	85.7	81.0	91.1	98.1	105:7	108.7
9	May 87 - Apr. 89 - May 90	36	.36	16.7	8.0	24.7	.32	112.4	104.5	98.3	97.9	95.7	97.3	100.5	100.3	103.7
7	May 90 - Dec. 90 - Mar. 92	52	89.	15.4	16.7	32.1	.52	107.0	107.3	103.1	94.3	91.6	94.7	97.1	106.1	108.3
8	Mar. 92 - Mar. 95 - Sep. 95	42	.14	31.1	12.3	43.4	.28	118.8	115.8	94.8	90.9	87.7	92.2	96.7	99.1	100.0
6	Sep. 95 - Aug. 96 - Apr. 00	55	8.	16.1	47.8	63.9	.75	95.5	91.0	87.0	84.8	79.4	86.1	99.9	123.6	127.2
10	Apr. 00 - Sep. 00 - Sep. 02	29	.83	3.3	49.4	52.7	-94	78.1	76.5	74.4	74.9	74.8	92.0	107.7	116.7	124.2
11	Sep. 02 - Oct. 03 - Sep. 06	<b>48</b>	.73	27.2	46.1	73.3	.63	105.7	100.7	94.6	82.2	78.5	82.3	107.8	117.9	124.6
12	Sep. 06 – Nov. 07 – Aug. 09	35	.60	36.9	39.7	76.6	.52	117.2	115.7	97.9	89.6	80.3	86.0	100.3	112.5	120.0
13	Aug. 09 – July 10 – Aug. 12	36	69.	14.4	6.0	20.4	.29	109.2	108.7	106.2	101.1	94.8	97.2	98.0	98.3	100.8
14	Aug. 12 - Feb. 15 - Oct. 16	20	.40	29.1	13.9	43.0	.32	117.3	110.9	100.5	93.1e	88.2	90.4	98.7	99.4	102.1
15	Oct. 16 – Dec. 17 – June 19	32	.56	33.0	13.1	46.1	.28	121.1	117.0	108.7	97.5	88.1	90.2	96.1	96.5	101.2
16	June 19 – June 21 – Sep. 22	39	38	23.7	27.8	51.5	.54	114.8	103.5	96.7	96.9	91.1	93.5	97.8	1.11.1	118.9
17	Sep. 22 - Oct. 23 - Sep. 29	84	.85	10.4	90.5	100.9	06.	78.1	74.4	73.7	68.3	67.7	78.4	104.1	132.4	158.2
						Shi	ares trade	-								
-	May 81 – Apr. 85 – Nov. 85	54	.13	56.0	56.2	112.2	.50	122.7	109.4	100.3	94.1	66.7	60.7	109.0	7.99	122.9
2	Nov. 85 – Feb. 88 – June 89	43	.37	90.9	42.7	133.6	.32	148.8	113.4	125.4	92.1	57.9	86.0	85.0	81.9	100.6
ŝ	June 89 – Mar. 91 – Feb. 92	32	.34	36.0	93.1	129.1	.72	114.6	100.0	94.7	90.0	78.6	94.1	108.8	119.4	171.7
4 1	Feb. 92 – Jan. 95 – May 95	£	<u>10</u>	122.2	53.1	175.3		184.6	118.9	111.1	71.4	62.4	59.3	86.3	80.8	115.5
ŋ	Way - Way - V - Jan.	44	C4.	41.0	204.8	0.262	18.	C.4V	84.D	C.80	0.46	40.5-	C./21	129.0	I 4U. 7	C.1C2

.-

526

### APPENDIX B

	224.2	176.2	105.7	97.6	220.5	218.4	126.8	176.8	159.7		126.8	217.1	365.7	81.3	160.6	181.7	155.1	121.8	211.0	184.9	177.3	245.5	223.4	201.3	253.4	121.3	156.6	188.3	150.7	87.8	124.7	173.9
	187.3	119.8	90.3	97.3	129.2	145.4	102.6	135.0	152.3		110.2	131.1	123.4	62.6	133.6	111.4	69.69	112.8	151.6	138.9	129.3	137.4	156.2	114.4	126.1	105.1	146.5	149.3	109.5	83.2	120.5	140.6
	149.9	137.3	91.5	71.0	169.3	76.9	122.0	120.5	97.8		109.8	100.0	94.1	68.2	75.3	81.1	147.3	91.0	88.8	108.6	118.0	104.7	75.9	104.1	139.6	97.3	104.0	98.6	102.8	78.6	105.6	119.8
	78.6	113.7	77.5	72.8	103.9	68.0	88.0	70.7	67.1		96.1	86.1	73.2	59.1	96.4	89.3	87.4	97.2	43.0	69.69	64.2	69.2	74.1	93.4	58.3	64.5	78.3	75.6	89.0	71.3	6.77	82.4
	36.3	39.3	68.2	51.7	33.7°	62.2	62.8	59.7	47.2		81.6	69.69	53.2	50.3	67.6	79.4	61.7	77.6	38.4	45.8	49.9	36.1	57.9	57.8	33.0	44.7	71.8	50.3	83.5	64.4	53.7	72.7
	70.4	74.4	81.2	69.7	59.1ª	72.4	74.3	58.4	55.3		87.0	79.8	72.6	57.5	78.8	66.0	64.8	81.7	99.7	52.2	69.7	41.8	55.5	51.2	47.4	47.2	97.4	65.3	83.5	80.7	63.0	82.8
	77.6	86.9	121.3	109.0	73.3	92.0	7.9.7	73.4	57.9		98.5	90.3	64.6	71.9	96.4	106.1	88.6	106.1	67.7	84.0	94.6	47.1	66.1	76.1	74.3	60.8	82.0	109.1	91.9	113.2	111.1	89.7
	98.6	94.8	130.0	135.6	100.2	128.7	131.1	76.4	66.1		100.6	95.3	109.7	140.8	94.5	109.8	125.9	92.4	141.3	114.3	0.111	166.7	95.5	126.3	111.4	185.9	92.8	97.9	96.2	135.7	122.8	85.3
tinued	113.1	205.9	164.4	137.1	124.5	138.0	190.2	93.8	75.8	3	111.3	113.0	179.7	576.3	114.4	142.7	129.8	172.1	182.7	172.3	204.5	266.7	215.2	157.6	191.5	342.0	129.1	147.0	102.9	147.7	135.5	94.8
ded – Con	.71	.45	.28	.35	.67	.67	33	12	.80	noney rat	.60	77.	.71	90.	.67	62	58	.32	.54	.52	.45	.48	.51	.59	.58	.20	.60	.59	.78	.22	.46	.82
harcs tra	264.7	303.5	133.7	131.3	277.6	232.0	191.4	151.2	141.1	Call n	74.9	190.9	439.0	557.0	139.8	165.6	161.5	138.7	316.9	265.6	282.0	440.0	322.8	243.3	378.9	373.9	142.1	234.7	86.6	106.7	152.8	123.3
S	187.9	136.9	37.5	45.9	186.8	156.2	64.0	117.1	112.5		45.2	147.5	312.5	31.0	93.0	102.3	93.4	44.2	172.6	139.1	127.4	209.4	165.5	143.5	220.4	76.6	84.8	138.0	67.2	23.4	71.0	101.2
:	76.8	166.6	96.2	85.4	90.8	75.8	127 4	34.1	28.6		29.7	43.4	126.5	526.0	46.8	633	681	94.5	144.3	126.5	154.6	230.6	157.3	99.8	158.5	297.3	57.3	96.7	19.4	83.3	81.8	22.1
	.32	.36	.46	.19	.35	44	17	76	.87		47	55	59	43	.67	58	5	7	5	.63	.38	.58	.75	69.	.64	58	42	.49	.73	.31	.57	49
	28	56	41	27	60	34	43		47		47	58	51	28	24	10	81	61	57	38	34	40	36	35	61	31	31	68	15	45	30	37
	Ian. 99 - Aug. 00 - May 01	May 01 - May 04 - Jan. 06	Jan. 06 - Nov. 07 - June 09	June 09 - Apr. 11 - Sep. 11	Sep. 11 - Dec. 14 - Sep. 16	Sen 16 - Anr 18 - July 19	$1_{11} 1_{11} 1_{11} - 0_{cf} 2_{1} - F_{ab} 2_{3}$	Feb 23_Oct 23_Nov 25	Nov. 25 - May 26 - Oct. 29		Sen 60 - Oct 62 - Aug 64	Aug. 64 – Oct. 66 – June 69	Time 69 – Mar. 71 – Sep. 73	Sep. 73 - Ian. 75 - Ian. 76	Jan. 76-Sep. 76-Jan. 78	Ian 78 - Sen 78 - Aur 79	Aug 70 - Oct 80 - Feb 81	Feb. 81 - May 82 - Sep. 82	Sen. 82 - Ian 85 - Iune 87	June 87 – Aug. 88 – Aug. 90	Aug. 90 – May 92 – June 93	Inne 93 – Nov. 94 – Oct. 96	Oct. 96 - July 97 - Oct. 99	Oct. 99 - Sep. 00 - Sep. 02	Sep. 02 - July 04 - Oct. 07	Oct. 07 Nov. 08 May 10	May 10 - Nov. 11 - Dcc. 12	Dec. 12 – Nov. 15 – Aug. 18	Анк. 18 - Dec. 18 - Nov. 19	Nov. 19 – June 22 – Aug. 23	Aug. 23 – Sep. 24 – Feb. 26	Feb. 26 - Scp. 27 - Mar. 29
	6	7	8	6	10	F	: 2	1 1	4		-	• ~	1 67	14	ŝ	ý		- 00	00	10	11	12	1	-	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22

SUPPORTING DATA

(21

1

-	
2	
2	
	- 6
	. C
-	
~	
0	
- 1	,
2	~
æ	
	¢
6-1	- 7
_	
. 1	
-	
Ω.	
	۲,
<	
÷ .	
Ξ.	
-	

Measures of Successive Specific Cycles Treated on Inverted Plan Seven American Series

	XI	Ter-	peak	(11)
	VIII	_	Last	(16)
it stage*	ПΛ	xpansion	Middle	(15)
elatives a	Ν	E	First	(14)
c-cycle n	>	-	I rougn	(13)
in specifi	N	-	Last	(12)
Average	Ξ	ontractio	Middle	(11)
	Ξ	Ŭ	First	(01)
	-	Initial	peak	6)
	Ratio of rise to	total fall	& rise	(8)
.u.	ele "	Fall	& rise	Ê
nplitude	ecific-cy relative:		Rise	(9)
Ar	ds		Fall	(2)
tion of	c cycles	Ratio of	to full	cycle (4)
, circle	specific	Full	cycle (mos.)	(3)
	, , ,	uates or specific cycles	- - - - - - -	Pcak - Trough - Pcak (2)
	č	no.		Ξ

.

						Railroac	i bond yi	elds		İ						
-	Oct. 61 – Feb. 63 – Jan. 64	27	.41	36.8	10.7	47.5	.23	122.6	117.5	106.3	94.3	85.8	88.5	92.0	93.8	96.5
0	Ian. 64 - Iulv 64 - Mar.66	26	.77	11.0	38.0	49.0	,78	91.5	90.2	85.4	84.5	80.5	89.7	107.6	114.9	118.5
ę	Mar. 66 – Nov. 66 – Dec. 67	21	.62	5.7	2.7	8.4	.32	103.8	102.7	100.0	98.2	98.1	99.5	100.3	99.7	100.8
4	Dec. 67 - July 68 - Dec. 69	24	.71	3.1	7.9	11.0	.72	99.8	98.3	97.6	96.9	96.7	98.8	101.1	102.8	104.6
2	Dec. 69 – July 72 – Nov. 73	47	.34	8.9	4.9	13.8	.36	106.2	101.8	101.1	99.3	97.3	98.8	98.2	98.2	102.2
9	Nov. 73 – Aug. 76 – Apt. 77	41	.20	23.7	2.2	25.9	,08	116.6	108.3	100.6	95.1	92.9	93.8	93.5	94.5	95.1
~	Apr. 77 – June 81 – Sep. 83	77	.35	25.9	4.1	30.0	.14	114.7	112.6	105.6	95.5	88.8	91.0	91.7	92.3	92.9
80	Sep. 83 – July 86 – Oct. 87	49	.31	15.2	4.8	20.0	.24	108.2	106.3	104.1	96.5	93.0	94.2	94.7	95.7	97.8
6	Oct. 87 - June 89 - Aug. 91	46	.57	9.4	10.9	20.3	,54	104.5	102.3	9.66	97.2	95.1	96.7	99.8	104.1	106.0
10	Aug. 91 - July 92 - Aug. 93	24	-54	5.6	8.0	13.6	,59	103.4	102.3	9.66	98.3	97.8	98.7	98.9	101.6	105.8
11	Aug. 93 – Aug. 95 – Aug. 96	36	.33	1.91	5.6	21.7	.26	111.6	105.0	100.4	98.5	95.5	95.8	97.8	97.3	1.101
12	Aug. 96 - June 99 - Sep. 03	85	.60	16.3	15.1	31.4	.48	110.6	104.7	100.9	97.2	94.3	97.2	97.5	103.0	109.4
13	Sep. 03 - Feb. 05 - Nov. 07	50	.66	3.5	14.8	18.3	.81	100.3	99.4	98.9	97.6	96.8	97.3	9.90	104.4	111.6
14	Nov. 07 – Feb. 09 – Dec. 13	73	.79	9.4	12.9	22.3	.58	103.7	100.4	98.0	95.5	94.3	97.3	100.2	104.0	107.2
15	Dec. 13 – June 14 – Sep. 15	21	.71	2.3	5.7	8.0	.71	99.7	97.8	97.4	97.3	97.4	98 <b>.</b> 0•	101.5	101.9	103.1
16	Sep. 15 – Jan. 17 – Sep. 18	36	.56	6.7	19.5	26.2	.74	99.1	94.9	94.5	93.9	92.4	97.0	106.1	110.1	111.9
17	Sep. 18 - Nov. 18 - May 20	20	06.	7.7	20.2	27.9	.72	100.4	(1.66)	98.4	(96.5)	92.7	95.7	99.4	105.0	112.9
18	May 20 - Sep. 22 - Oct. 23	41	.32	23.5	7.0	30.5	.23	113.7	108.0	105.8	93.0	90.2	92.9	96.0	96.6	97.2
19	Oct. 23 - Dec. 27 - Sep. 29	11	.30	13.0	11.3	24.3	.47	105.8	103.6	100.9	96.7	92.8	95.0	9.66	102.9	104.1
Entr	ies in parentheses are interpolated.						° Base	d on the f	irst segme	nt of the se	sries (see	Ch. 9, not	e 2), whic	sh we use	through cj	rcle 17.
• Aver	age of two months.						d Base	d on the s	econd seg	ment (see	preceding	note).				
• One	month.						Ē	ts AugN	ov. 1914.	No data (	N.Y. 2000	ik Excnan	ge closea)			

....

528

.

### APPENDIX B

erican Series	ge in reference-cycle relatives at stage* Average change	IV V VI VII VIII IX per month in reference-cycle	on Peak Contraction Ter- relatives during minal stages matched	East Last Middle Last trough with reference	third third third third third (13) Expansion Contraction (8) (9) (10) (11) (12) (13) (14) (15)	d clearings		107.4 103.3 107.1 109.8 101.2 102.8 +0.79 -0.07	101.2 110.2 113.0 110.5 106.3 107.9 $+1.07$ $-0.37$	104.6 111.5 113.2 106.8 105.2 105.5 $+0.92$ -0.79	108.9 112.4 109.0 87.0 90.8 91.0 70.01 -1.34 166.7 106.5 97.7 97.8 102.1 +0.67 -0.54	103.9 108.2 109.2 104.8 105.8 110.7 +1.14 -0.17	100.8 102.3 100.9 103.0 99.9 104.1 +0.70 -0.13	105.8 108.9 108.6 96.0 93.7 97.1 +0.68 -1.45	101.9 103.4 102.9 102.3 104.6 106.5 +0.95 +0.06	101.6 103.8 101.5 102.4 95.8 92.6 +0.54 -0.42	107.6 115.5 113.6 110.6 110.6 112.2 +0.74 -0.75	103.4 104.9 102.0 99.2 94.2 97.2 +1.13 -0.65	103.9 106.9 102.8 102.9 103.7 103.6 +0.79 -0.28	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	00.1 14.01 C.10 C.C/ C.CY /.CII C.CII 4.811	production		102.5 111.0 114.0 108.7 102.7 100.2 +1.54 -0.28	109.4 $116.2$ $101.5$ $123.5$ $108.7$ $106.1$ $+2.15$ $-0.78$	114.8 122.5 120.2 108.8 7/7 8/.4 122.5 120.2 108.8 7/7	108.1 111.0 115.8 66.3 72.5 62.3 +1.40 -2.50	
Seven An	Aver		itial Expans	ough First Midd	(5) (6) (7)	Deflat		71.1 82.5 91.	81.0 87.3 93.	85.8 90.5 95.	94.9 100.0 103. 92.4 96.7 99	80.3 89.5 90.	89.1 96.8 97.	87.2 93.4 101.	85.9 89.9 95.	96.7 98.9 98.	77.1 85.6 100.	94.3 101.9 104.	91.2 92.3 96.	87.6 92.9 97.	0/.0 112.4 109.	Pig iro		55.5 77.9 94.	68.9 73.9 97.	76.4 87.0 95.	82.9   117.1   118.	55.8 80.7 03
	No. of months	lead (-) or lap (+) of	corresponding specific-cycle I <sub>I</sub>	turn at reference tr	Peak Trough <sup>a</sup> (3) (4)		-12	+15 -6	+3 -1	+22	+1 -10	+3 +3	+10 -3	+5 -6	+2 -15	+1 -1	0 4	0 -4	0 -10	· · ·	+2 0 1		-2	+11 -4	+7 -1	-2 -1	-11 -8	a 1
			cle Dates of reference cycles		Trough - Peak - Trough ()		Mar. 79	1   Mar. 79 – Mar. 82 – May 85	2   May 85 - Mar. 87 - Apr. 88	3 Apr. 88 – July 90 – May 91	4   May 91 - Jan. 93 - June 94   5   Iune 94 - Dec 95 - Iune 97	5 June 97 – Luce 99 – Dec. $00$	7   Dec. 00 - Sen. 02 - Aug. 04	8 Aue. 04 - May 07 - June 08	9   June 08 - Jan. 10 - Jan. 12	0 Jan. 12 - Jan. 13 - Dec. 14	1 Dec. 14 - Aug. 18 - Apr. 19	2 Apr. 19 - Jan. 20 - Sep. 21	3   Sep. 21 - May 23 - July 24	4 July 24 - Oct. 26 - Dec. 27	5 Dec. 27 – June 29 – Mar. 33		Mar. 79	1   Mar. 79 - Mar. 82 - May 85	2   May 85 - Mar. 87 - Apr. 88	3   Apr. 88 – July 90 – May 91	4   May 91 - Jan. 93 - June 94	C T 04 Dec 05 T 07 II

SUPPORTING DATA

TABLE B3 Measures of Successive Reference Cycles Treated on Positive Plan

7

-
~
***
~
•
•••
-
2
<b>L</b> 1
-
~
<b>G 3</b>
$\sim$
-
6-7
_
_
_
-
<u> </u>
_
-
-
-
_
-

# TABLE B3-Continued Measures of Successive Reference Cycles Treated on Positive Plan Seven American Series

.

•

		No. of	months			Average	in referer	ice-cycle i	elatives a	t stage *			Average	change
		lead	-) of +) of	1	н	Ξ	21	>	٧ſ	Ν	IIIV	IX	in refere	nonth nce-cycle
Cycle Bo	Dates of reference cycles	correspecifie	onding c-cycle	Initial		Expansion		Peak	U	Contraction	-	Ter- minal	relative stages <sup>b</sup>	s during matched
		turn at r	eference	trough	First	Middle	Last		First	Middle	Last	trough	with re	ference
<del>(</del> 1)	Trough – Peak – Trough (2)	Peak (3)	Trough <sup>a</sup> .(4)	(5)	third (6)	third (7)	third (8)	(6)	third (10)	third (11)	third (12)	(13)	Expansion (14)	Contraction (15)
					Pig ir	on produc	tion — Cont	inued						
6	[une 97 - June 99 - Dec. 00	9+	-2	71.3	85.5	91.7	96.7	106.1	117.5	119.1	101.5	9.98	+1.45	-0.35
2	Dec. 00 - Sep. 02 - Aug. 04	6+	81	74.9	91.0	99.2	104.6	107.9	109.1	103.7	93.5	90.5	+1.57	-0.76
80	Aug. 04 - May 07 - June 08	+2	-5	6(0)	91.3	108.4	114.0	120.0	121.9	85.6	61.5	62.7	+1.61	-4.41
6	June 08 – Jan. 10 – Jan. 12	0	-13	58.2	73.7	91.1	120.4	131.3	115.7	96.7	96.6	106.1	+3.85	-1.05
10	Jan. 12 - Jan. 13 - Dec. 14	0	0	91.4	100.0	106.6	112.6	122.1	115.0	95.1	80.2	67.8	+2.56	-2.36
11	Dec. 14 - Aug. 18 - Apr. 19	Ŧ	Ŧ	52.3	85.7	106.7	103.9	114.6	113.9	111.4	101.3	82.4	+1.42	-4.02
12	Apr. 19 - Jan. 20 - Sep. 21	8 +	-2	105.6	94.2	113.9	96.6	122.7	128.5	119.7	48.4	45.7	+1.90	-3.85
13	Sep. 21 - May 23 - July 24	0	0	41.1	61.5	85.1	123.9	142.0	133.0	109.5	101.8	85.5	+5.04	-4.04
14	July 24 - Oct. 26 - Dec. 27	ĥ	ī	73.7	89.8	102.0	107.3	110.8	104.9	103.4	95.7	92.1	+1.37	-1.34
15	Dec. 27 - June 29 - Mar.33	+	0	124.6	132.2	148.4	153.1	169.3	139.8	73.2	32.1	24.5	+2.48	-3.22
						Freight ca	r orders°							ļ
	4Q 70		1											
-	4Q 70 - 3Q 73 - 1Q 79	-23	-16	10.1	26.7	108.5	90.5	26.6	71.9	84.7	173.0	350.5	+2.14	+1.38
2	10 79 - 10 82 - 20 85	-10	9	76.7	105.5	143.3	162.2	157.6	90.5	64.8	38.9	53.0	+3.07	-3.16
ĉ	2Q 85 - 2Q 87 - 1Q 88	Ŧ	+10	44.7	60.8	79.0	130.2	146.3	(117.2)	117.8	(129.0)	153.8	+3.61	-0.11
4	10 88 - 30 90 - 20 91	Ŷ	<b>6</b>	111.2	100.9	98.2	144.2	99.3	(55.2)	45.6	(45.4)	47.7	+1.92	-7.90
ŝ	2Q 91 - 1Q 93 - 2Q 94	-	+2	70.9	142.9	164.2	94.3	140.8	70.1	41.8	49.7	35.2	+1.42	-2.70
9	2Q 94 - 4Q 95 - 2Q 97		-	37.4	29.9	123.9	174.0	137.8	154.9	60.6	52.0	74.8	+7.34	-6.78
2	2Q 97 - 3Q 99 - 4Q 00	+7	-10	29.6	74.6	89.8	124.3	176.5	82.3	77.4	125.4	140.2	+4.07	+0.06
œ	4Q 00 - 4Q 02 - 3Q 04	1	6-	121.5	96.2	123.1	170.7	96.1	91.6	39.7	60.6	112.4	+2.76	-5.24
ۍ : د	3Q 04 - 2Q 07 - 2Q 08	-21	4 1	81.9	101.7	153.8	130.5	73.4	47.2	11.2	7.6	11.2	+2.74	-8.05
2	11 74 - 01 71 - 80 77	î		2.12	c.c/	/ 4.2	C.UU2	0.44	7.00	.00	11.4	1.041	×۲	-0.14

\_

530

### APPENDIX B

1	1						1																		1						
	-6.11	-7.44	-4.82	+0.05	-4.13			-1.18	-0.32	+0.24	-0.67	-0.50	10.0	-1.25	-0.74	+0.35	-0.91	-1.48	-0.48	-0.93	+0.04	-0.61	-0.32	+1.61	-2.86			-0.55	-3.88	-1.85	-1.75
	+7.65	+0.42	+6.87	+0.36	+1.18			+0.41	+1.74	+0.86	+0.27	+0 88	00.0 T	+0.04	+0.36	+1.29	+1.93	+1.10	+1.71	+0.18	-0.43	-0.64	+0.98	+1.09	+0.89			+1.61	+0.51	+1.44	+1.10 +2.14
	15.9	0.0	128.0	84.0	0.1			93.6	116.6	103.9	87.6	1.10		94.0 84.4	98.0	125.6	96.9	92.7	97.4	82.61	92.4	94.0	107.3	126.1	27.3			59.5	88.1	98.5	60.1 133.0
	62.4	(3.9)	75.7	80.0	5.3			95.6	111.2	105.1	77.5 83.0	980	0.07	6.0%	95.7	109.9	90.2	85.5	98.5	89.4 <sup>r</sup>	90.1	91.8	100.5	125.4	27.8			89.9	54.9	82.3	65.2 76.0
	71.5	2.4	94.3	81.3	45.5			106.0	110.8	103.1	91.6	0.001	1010	91.0	94.2	111.8	91.2	80.9	98.7	93.6	92.4	100.5	97.7	118.3	83.7			101.8	96.2	110.4	84.8 103.7
	102.9	(0.0)	40.4	78.0	185.6			99.0	105.8	102.4	105.9	109.7	100 7	100.3	100.6	110.8	109.8	91.6	100.0	98.2	91.5	95.8	97.5	107.6	144.2			107.8	99.5	88.7	120.6 92.7
nued	162.4	0.0	32.2	91.4	232.8	2		112.1	101.2	106.6	100.9	107.7	105 6	0.01	101.7	107.8	117.5	94.4	107.0	105.2	88.6	97.9	102.6	104.8	153.0	•		126.4	106.4	83.3	161.0
lers-Conti	181.6	119.2	(8.%c) 155.3	1.07	172.4	tock price		108.0	122.4	100.7	117.9	1061	102.0	0.001	109.1	103.3	111.2	109.9	109.5	109.4	89.5	103.1	105.3	98.8	143.8	traded		110.9	111.2	106.4	4.cv 125.6
ght car ore	106.6	148.4	162.3	116.7	97.0	Railroad s		94.8	99.3	95.6	118.4	08.7	000	111 0	98.7	87.0	102.6	110.1	102.2	109.2	110.0	106.7	106.4	90.9	133.4	Shares		107.8	104.5	105.3	126.0 102.7
Freig	105.7	118.6	(0.0)	95.7	104.2			94.6	60.1	92.6	112.7	C.CD	100.6	100.0	100.5	84.2	95.4	97.9	92.0	107.6	105.3	115.4	90.6	83.8	131.4	•		80.9	114.6	7.76	94.4 85.9
	111.0	26.0	20.0	292.4	160.8			98.7	52.8	87.6	108.2	819	001	100.2	9.66	75.4	81.9	81.5	85.5	105.7	98.91	111.3	87.6	76.9	129.4			53.3	65.3	114.2	89.8 81.2
	-1	+	+ - - -	+2	-1		-14	<b>-</b>	-32	:	-21 +1	; ;	1 u -	n e i t	-10	-3	-10	-7	-18	+2	-16	-3	6-	:	6-		-13	ī	-2	-2	<b>- 1</b> + 1
	-2	î :	++ -12	-11	+2			ī	-12	:	- 18	, t	4 C	-10	2 <b>~</b>	+10	0	80	-5	-5	-22	- 7	8-	:	+3			10	-16	-13	-11-
	4Q 11 - 1Q 13 - 4Q 14	40 14 - 30 18 - 20 19	20 19 - 10 20 - 30 21 30 21 - 20 23 - 30 24	3Q 24 - 3Q 26 - 4Q 27	4Q 27 - 2Q 29 - 1Q 33		Dec. 58	Dec. 58 – Oct. 60 – June 61	June 61 - Apr. 65 - Dec. 67	Dec. 67 – June 69 – Dcc. 70	Dec. 70 - Oct. 73 - Mar. 79	Mai: 75 - Mai: 02 - Mai 82 - Ans 88	A 60 T1 00 Ma. 01	Apr. 58 - July 90 - May 91 May 91 - Ian 93 - June 94	Iune 94 – Dec. 95 – June 97	June 97 – June 99 – Dec. 00	Dec. 00 - Sep. 02 - Aug. 04	Aug. 04 - May 07 - June 08	June 08 – Jan. 10 – Jan. 12	Jan. 12 - Jan. 13 - Dcc. 14	Dec. 14 - Aug. 18 - Apr. 19	Apr. 19 - Jan. 20 - Sep. 21	Sep. 21 - May 23 - July 24	July 24 - Oct. 26 - Dec. 27	Dec. 27 – June 29 – Mar. 33		Mar. 79	Mar. 79 - Mar. 82 - May 85	May 85 - Mar.87 - Apr. 88	Apr. 88 - July 90 - May 91	May 91 – Jan. 93 – June 94 June 94 – Dec. 95 – June 97
	11	23	14	15	16			-	2	e	4 u	יי	0 1	~ 0	• •	10	1	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19			-	2	'n	4 0

SUPPORTING DATA

TABLE B3-Continued	ssive Reference Cycles Treated on Posi	Seven American Series
TA	Measures of Successive R	Ser

tive Plan

Expansion Contraction Average change per month -2.46 -1.67 -2.36 -2.58 +1.92 -2.95 +2.11 +2.20 -2.12 -0.66 -5.49 -7.10 -1.50 -5.79 -8.72 -4.96 -2.71 in reference-cycle (15) relatives during stages<sup>b</sup> matched with reference +2.26 -0.03 +6.19 +11.92 +0.27 +4.33 +1.80 +2.09 +1.56 -0.58 +1.18 +4.81 +1.70 +2.39 +3.35 +4.79 +4.67 -0.32 +4.67 +4.05 (14) 194.6 99.1 80.6 61.8 44.0<sup>f</sup> trough 163.6 58.5 130.0 146.5 45.3 Ter-minal 97.5 87.3 63.1 32.6 68.2 99.7 64.1 99.2 09.3 (13) X 84.9 58.4 72.0 80.3 76.3 106.2 105.0 66.7 70.6 62.3 116.4 69.8 77.3 133.0 55.9 Last third (12) 91.9 36.6 70.4 80.0 VIII Contraction Middle third (11) 102.2 88.1 63.7 63.8 63.8 80.4 77.9 105.5 1115.6 78.9 95.6 89.1 69.4 57.8 60.6 107.5 104.2 113.4 212.3 103.3 ١١٨ Average in reference-cycle relatives at stage\* 107.3 84.7 67.0 97.7 88.9 81.6 95.6 96.9 33.3 101.3 120.3 64.8 115.7 184.9 165.6 174.7 152.7 195.2 First third (10) 112.0 5 122.2 114.6 75.0 129.4 113.5 61.9 113.8 99.4 87.9 150.6 114.6 103.6 186.1 524.9 89.7 143.5 186.9 124.4 137.3 147.9 Peak 6 > Shares traded - Continued Call money rates Last third (8) 131.6 96.9 1111.0 127.4 131.8 89.5 124.3 108.9 96.7 141.9 101.6 115.6 268.5 110.5 128.3 137.5 111.7 61.4 97.1 2 Expansion Middle third 84.3 86.9 114.2 116.7 103.0 121.5 127.9 119.6 103.2 139.6 103.4 97.5 133.3 125.2 78.3 87.0 66.1 78.4 80.7 III ε 96.2 180.1 First third (6) 79.6 178.5 117.3 124.7 151.1 83.0 78.0 106.3 92.2 92.2 86.8 91.5 135.6 45.3 53.4 101.8 40.0 62.9 Η trough 24.0<sup>1</sup> 117.2 62.9 64.2 93.6 Initial 56.0 137.9 78.3 111.2 107.8 64.9 104.9 74.6 119.7 80.0 38.2 60.8 53.3 50.6 3 corresponding specific-cycle turn at reference Trough<sup>a</sup> (4) No. of months 40100 ±12 ±12 ÷Ϋ lead (–) or lag (+) of Peak (3) -16 -16 -16 <del>°</del> 7 0 77 Dec. 14 - Aug. 18 - Apr. 19 Apr. 19 - Jan. 20 - Sep. 21 Sep. 21 - May 23 - July 24 July 24 - Oct. 26 - Dec. 27 Dec. 27 - June 29 - Mar. 33 Dec. 58 Dec. 58 - Oct. 60 - June 61 June 61 June 61 - Apr. 65 - Dec. 67 Dec. 67 - Dec. 70 Dec. 70 Dec. 70 Dec. 70 - Oct. 73 - Mar. 79 Mar. 79 - Mar. 85 May 85 - Mar. 87 - Apr. 88 Apr. 88 - July 90 - May 91 May 91 - Jan. 93 - June 94 June 97 - Dec. 05 - June 97 June 97 - June 99 - Dec. 00 June 97 - June 99 - Dec. 00 Dec. 00 - Sep. 02 - Aug. 04 Aug. 04 - May 07 - June 08 June 08 - Jan. 10 - Jan. 12 Jan. 12 - Jan. 13 - Dec. 14 Trough - Peak - Trough reference cycles Dates of ଟ Cycle 9 - 8 0 0 Ξ 0.040 9 ~ 8 6 0

532

### APPENDIX B

C'C/ 7-
+11 66.9 -4 93.9
+9 75.4 +2 123.5 -3 52.8 100.6
+20
+20 99.4 +7 112.5
+19 99.6
+27 113.4 +14 112.8
+14 106.3 1
+14 102.3 1
+14 102.3 1
+24 103.6 10
1.601
+6 94.6
+8 96.6
100.3
-5 97.3
+12 92.4
109.8 1
0 102.7 1
93.1 9
the same line in col. (2). s follows: teck prices (VIII-IV) ded (VIII-IV) y rates (1-V)

-

SUPPORTING DATA

### APPENDIX B

### TABLE B4

### Patterns of Successive Reference Cycles Treated on Inverted Plan Seven American Series

			A	verage i	n referen	ice-cycle	relatives	at stage	•	
Cycle	Dates of	I	11	111	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
no.	reference cycles	Initial	C	ontractio	n		1	Expansio	n	Ter-
	Deals Treast Back	peak	First	Middle	Last	1 rough	First	Middle	Last	peak
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
			Deflat	ed clear	ings					
1	Mar.82-May 85-Mar.87	93.1	96.6	99.0	91.2	92.7	99.9	107.1	115.8	126.2
2	Mar.87-Apr. 88-July 90	93.4	95.7	93.6	90.1	91.4	96.4	101.4	111.5	118.9
3 4	July 90-May 91-Jan. 93	98.6	100.0	94.5 88 0	93.0	93.3	98.3	101.3	107.0	110.4
5	Dec. 95–June 97–June 99	94.8	90.2	87.7	87.8	91.6	102.2	103.6	118.6	123.5
6	June 99-Dec. 00-Sep. 02	94.0	94.8	91.0	91.9	96.2	104.5	105.5	108.8	110.5
7	Sep. 02-Aug.04-May 07	91.2	90.0	91.9	89.1	92.8	99.5	107.8	112.7	116.0
8	May 07-June 08-Jan. 10	103.9	103.6	91.5	89.4	92.6	97.0	103.4	110.0	111.6
10	Jan. 10-Jan. 12-Jan. 13 Jan. 13-Dec. 14-Aug. 18	97.9	97.5	90.9	85.9	83.0	92.2	103.1	115.9	124.4
11	Aug 18-Apr 19-Jap 20	08.4	96.8	043	04.2	05.6	103.2	105.0	104.8	106.3
12	Jan. 20-Sep. 21-May 23	103.4	100.6	97.8	92.9	95.8	96.9	101.5	104.8	112.3
13	May 23-July 24-Oct. 26	96.3	92.6	92.7	93.4	93.3	99.0	104.3	107.8	106.0
14	Oct. 26-Dec. 27-June 29	90.3	93.0	96.5	97.5	98.1	102.4	99.9	107.9	105.3
			Pig iro	n produ	iction					
1	Mar.82-May 85-Mar.87	93.7	96.3	91.8	86.7	84.6	90.7	119.4	134.3	142.6
2	Mar.87-Apr. 88-July 90	90.1	78.7	95.8	84.3	81.9	93.6	102.3	123.5	131.8
3	July 90-May 91-Jan. 93	107.3	105.3	95.3	68.1	76.5	108.1	109.8	99.8	102.5
5	Dec. 95-June 97-June 99	105.8	95.8	68.7	82.4	87.6	101.9	112.8	119.0	142.0
6	June 99-Dec. 00-Sep. 02	87.1	96.4	97.8	83.3	81.9	99.6	108.5	114.4	118.1
7	Sep. 02-Aug. 04-May 07	86.5	87.4	83.0	74.9	72.5	98.9	117.5	123.5	130.1
8	May 07-June 08-Jan. 10	123.4	125.3	88.0	63.2	64.5	81.7	101.0	133.5	145.5
10	Jan. 10-Jan. 12-Jan. 13 Jan. 13-Dec. 14-Aug. 18	104.2	98.2	87.5	87.4 68.4	57.9	94.9	111.9	118.5	128.2
11	Aug. 18-Apr. 19-Jan. 20	123.5	122.8	120.0	109.2	88.8	79.2	95.8	81.2	103.2
12	Jan. 20-Sep. 21-May 23	123.2	129.0	120.2	48.6	45.8	68.6	94.9	138.2	158.4
13	May 23-July 24-Oct. 26	123.6	115.8	95.4	88.7	74.4	90.8	103.0	108.4	112.0
14	Oct. 20-Dec. 27-June 29	100.1	100.5	99.0	91.0	00.2	93.5	105.0	108.4	119.8
			Freigh	t car or	ders					
1	3Q 73-1Q 79-1Q 82	9.2	24.7	29.1	59.5	120.5	165.8	225.1	254.8	247.6
2	10 82 - 20 85 - 20 87	191.3	109.9	78.7	47.2	64.3	87.5	113.8	187.6	210.7
4	3O 90 - 2O 91 - 1O 93	127.8	(71.0)	58.8	(58.4)	61.4	123.9	142.3	81.8	122.1
5	1Q 93-2Q 94-4Q 95	177.4	88.3	52.6	62.6	44.3	35.4	146.6	206.0	163.0
6	4Q 95-2Q 97-3Q 99	73.8	82.9	32.4	27.9	40.0	100.9	121.4	168.1	238.8
7	3Q 99 - 4Q 00 - 4Q 02	135.9	63.4	59.6	96.6	108.0	85.4	109.3	151.7	85.4
8 0	$4Q \ 02 - 3Q \ 04 - 2Q \ 07$	150.1	08.9	29.8	45.6	84.5	104.8	158.6	134.6	75.7
10	1Q 10-4Q 11-1Q 13	169.0	70.6	48.0	60.6	121.3	115.5	116.5	198.6	177.6
11	1Q 13-4Q 14-30 18	215.0	136.2	94.7	82.7	21.0	96.1	120.2	96.6	<b>0</b> .0
12	3Q 18-2Q 19-1Q 20	0.0	(0.0)	28.2	(47.1)	0.0	(0.0)	74.6	(255.8)	788.7
13	1Q 20 - 3Q 21 - 2Q 23	60.7	75.6	31.9	14.2	25.6	98.6	208.2	199.2	41.3
14*	20 $23 - 30$ $24 - 30$ $2630 26 - 40 27 - 20 29$	43.3	54.4 100.8	127.0	101.9	108.6	94.6 70.4	89.5 65.6	114.0	16.9
	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	1				100.0	, , , , , ,			

ł

.-

ł

١

### SUPPORTING DATA

### TABLE B4 - Continued

Patterns of Successive Reference Cycles Treated on Inverted Plan Seven American Series

			A	verage in	n referen	ce-cycle :	relatives	at stage	•	
Cycle	Dates of	I	11	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
n0.	reference cycles	Initial	C	ontractio	- a		I	Expansion	1	Ter-
		peak	First	Middle	Last	Trough	First	Middle	Last	minal peak
(1)	Peak - Trough - Peak (2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	third (8)	third (9)	(10)	(11)
		]	Railroa	d stock j	prices					
1	Oct. 60-June 61-Apr. 65	71.6	63.2	67.8	61.1	59.8	68.2	112.7	138.9	114.8
2	Apr. 65-Dec. 67-June 69	87.2	91.1	95.4	95.7	100.4	106.2	109.7	115.5	122.2
3	June 69-Dec. 70-Oct. 73	98.1	94.2	94.8	96.7	95.6	99.6	104.6	104.2	89.2
4	Oct. 73-Mar.79-Mar.82	95.8	100.5	87.0	73.5	83.2	102.6	125.4	143.9	133.5
5	Mar.82–May 85–Mar.87	110.0	112.1	105.0	85.0	82.4	90.8	99.3	106.7	108.4
6	Mar.87-Apr. 88-July 90	108.5	110.5	101.9	99.4	96.9	97.2	96.5	100.4	102.1
7	July 90-May 91-Jan. 93	104.5	99.6	90.1	92.9	93.8	97.8	106.0	104.0	102.7
8	Jan. 93-June 94-Dec. 95	120.6	112.5	96.5	97.8	94.7	95.6	93.9	103.8	96.7
9	Dec. 95-June 97-June 99	92.7	91.7	85.9	87.2	89.3	99.8	103.1	122.4	127.7
10	June 99-Dec. 00-Sep. 02	79.1	81.3	82.0	80.6	92.1	107.4	115.4	125.1	132.2
11	Sep. 02-Aug. 04-May 07	103.3	96.5	80.2	79.4	85.2	102.3	115.1	114.9	98.6
12	May 07-June 08-Jan. 10	94.2	· 91.4	80.7	85.3	92.6	99.6	110.7	118.6	115.8
13	Jan. 10-Jan. 12-Jan. 13	107.6	100.5	99.2	99.1	97.9	99.7	101.2	101.3	97.5
14	Jan. 13-Dec. 14-Aug. 18	119.8	111.9	106.6	101.7 <sup>b</sup>	94.1 <sup>b</sup>	100.2	104.6	85.1	84.3
15	Aug. 18-Apr. 19-Jan. 20	97.9	101.1	102.1	99.5	102.1	105.8	97.9	94.6	89.8
16	Jan. 20-Sep. 21-May 23	95.8	93.8	98.4	89.9	92.0	95.0	111.6	110.5	107.6
17	May 23-July 24-Oct. 26	87.2	82.9	83.0	85.5	91.3	99.5	107.9	117.3	124.5
18	Oct. 26–Dec. 27–June 29	83.1	85.3	93.9	99.4	100.0	101.5	103.1	111.1	118.2
			Sha	res trade	ed					
1	Mar.82–May 85–Mar.87	126.5	107.9	101.9	90.0	59.6	104.6	95.4	101.5	97.1

Mar.87-Apr. 88-July 90 131.2 122.7 108.6 2 118.6 67.7 92.9 100.1 101.1 79.2 July 90-May 91-Jan. 93 Jan. 93-June 94-Dec. 95 Dec. 95-June 97-June 99 3 76.3 81.2 101.1 75.3 90.2 94.7 126.5 95.7 161.6 190.6 77.2 71.2 90.0 99.7 4 142.8 100.4 75.3 110.1 107.9 5 64.9 52.9 62.0 75.9 165.5 43.4 114.2 178.3 June 99-Dec. 00-Sep. 02 Sep. 02-Aug. 04-May 07 87.2 76.6 97.7 6 73.0 60.6 139.0 179.9 87.6 115.5 98.3 75.6 50.1 85.0 120.5 7 72.7 127.3 123.9 81.4 May 07-June 08-Jan. 10 Jan. 10-Jan. 12-Jan. 13 Jan. 13-Dec. 14-Aug. 18 93.7 83.6 8 79.6 90.0 100.7 105.6 115.3 112.9 117.2 9 162.7 122.8 80.2 100.9 77.7 109.0 74.2 95.0 81.8 28.6 114.3 73.7 57.7 51.8 49.5<sup>b</sup> 144.4 106.3 10 73.6 41.6 54.8 54.0 78.2 168.9 11 Aug. 18-Apr. 19-Jan. 20 109.9 119.9 116.6 106.7 Jan. 20-Sep. 21-May 23 May 23-July 24-Oct. 26 12 128.2 107.7 87.8 78.7 65.9 87.0 125.4 114.1 104.2 13 64.1 57.4 68.0 49.8 83.8 134.8 101.9 126.3 114.8

			Call r	noncy r	ates					
1	Oct. 60-June 61-Apr. 65	108.8	106.4	90.8	100.9	103.8	91.2	99.8	109.9	102.5
2	Apr. 65-Dec. 67-June 69	92.0	90.0	79.2	93.3	86.7	100.9	113.3	134.3	216.2
3	June 69-Dec. 70-Oct. 73	166.6	107.8	62.1	59.8	78.2	59.8	87.1	175.4	342.9
4	Oct. 73-Mar.79-Mar.82	683.9	84.4	75.3	92.0	82.2	139.5	128.7	113.6	92.3
5	Mar.82-May 85-Mar.87	117.8	151.8	79.5	81.8	42.9	50.8	87.9	143.9	161.0
6 7	Mar.87–Apr. 88–July 90 July 90–May91–Jan. 93	128.4 214.2	165.5 189.9	96.2 119.4	82.3 91.5	61.0 114.3	53.6 89.0	87.3 57.8	138.0 97.7	187.5 108.8
8	Jan. 93-June 94-Dec. 95	164.7	231.3	150.1	48.4	53.1	39.8	78.1	61.2	136.8
9	Dec. 95-June 97-June 99	116.6	129.7	180.3	59.8	54.4	67.7	86.8	104.5	159.3
10	June 99-Dec. 00-Sep. 02	108.3	142.9	75.7	58.6	72.6	107.6	87.7	111.9	193.3
	·	•				L	Ļ		L	

71.1 Call money mater

59.6

54.1

81.8

90.1

102.4

134.4

136.7

145.0

Oct. 26-Dec. 27-June 29

14

### APPENDIX B

### TABLE B4-Continued

### Patterns of Successive Reference Cycles Treated on Inverted Plan Seven American Series

			A	verage in	referen	ce-cycle i	elatives	at stage	•	
Cycle	Dates of	I	п	111	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII	IX
no.	reference cycles	Initial	c	ontractio	n		1	Expansion	n	Ter
(1)	Peak – Trough – Peak (2)	peak (3)	First third (4)	Middle third (5)	Last third (6)	(7)	First third (8)	Middle third (9)	Last third (10)	minal peak (11)
		Cal	ll mone	y rates -	-Contin	ued				
11	Sep. 02-Aug. 04-May 07	198.9	115.7	77.1	42.8	35.1	61.7	145.2	139.3	76.6
12	May 07–June 08–Jan. 10	88.1	133.3	284.7	55.8	53.5	41.4	61.2	88.7	99.2
13	Jan. 10-Jan. 12-Jan. 13	115.5	104.3	80.8	88.0	73.6	92.5	97.5	160.8	131.0

	Jam to Jam ta Jam to			0000	00.0				100.0	101.0
14	Jan. 13-Dec. 14-Aug. 18	127.7	99.2	85.0	131.8	101.7	61.3	85.3	144.5	189.4
15	Aug. 18-Apr. 19-Jan. 20	96.7	88.4	78.4	83.5	86.9	98.9	94.5	141.6	143.7
16	Jan. 20–Sep. 21–May 23	152.0	136.9	123.8	107.9	93.5	80.5	69.9	80.7	84.0
17	May 23-July 24-Oct. 26	121.6	126.6	110.7	86.2	52.1	75.0	107.2	110.5	114.9
18	Oct. 26-Dec. 27-June 29	83.1	80.3	76.6	65.8	71.7	92.6	119.2	150.5	153.6

Railroad bond vields

Oct. 60-June 61-Apr. 65	109.9	116.3	113.6	116.8	118.3	110.2	88.7	92.0	109.2
Apr. 65-Dec. 67-June 69	93.8	99.1	100.4	100.2	101.0	98.8	99.2	102.4	102.1
June 69-Dec. 70-Oct. 73	102.0	104.3	102.0	100.8	101.9	100.4	97.9	97.6	101.0
Oct. 73-Mar.79-Mar.82	126.7	115.6	103.7	101.2	96.1	93.3	86.9	82.3	83.7
Mar.82–May 85–Mar.87	104.6	104.2	103.9	103.1	99.4	96.9	91.7	91.8	92.4
Mar.87-Apr. 88-July 90	101.9	102.0	104.6	102.7	102.0	100.2	96.5	98.5	100.0
July 90-May 91-Jan. 93	96.9	98.4	100.5	100.6	102.3	102.9	99.0	98.6	98.8
Jan. 93-June 94-Dec. 95	102.4	103.3	107.1	100.5	99.4	98.0	97.5	94.0	95.4
Dec. 95-June 97-June 99	103.9	104.2	107.4	101.4	99.2	98.1	99.0	94.3	92.3
June 99-Dec. 00-Sep. 02	96.7	99.0	99.6	100.3	99.4	99.2	100.7	101.2	103.5
Sep. 02-Aug.04-May07	94.0	96.4	100.7	100.8	99.5	98.8	99.7	102.7	105.8
May 07-June 08-Jan. 10	99.2	101.1	105.3	101.9	100.8	98.8	97.0	98.7	99.8
Jan. 10-Jan. 12-Jan. 13	97.0	99.1	99.4	100.1	99.9	100.1	101.0	101.9	102.0
Jan. 13-Dec. 14-Aug. 18	93.6	96.6	96.8	95.7 <sup>b</sup>	100.0 <sup>b</sup>	99.0	96.4	109.0	114.2
Aug. 18-Apr. 19-Jan. 20	102.1	101.5	95.1	98.0	98.8	98.8	103.5	103.3	105.9
Jan. 20-Sep. 21-May 23	103.3	110.0	104.9	106.1	103.3	96.1	89.9	93.5	95.3
May 23-July 24-Oct. 26	102.6	102.7	103.2	101.9	99.7	99.8	99.5	97.0	96.6
Oct. 26-Dec. 27-June 29	101.6	100.5	98.7	97.0	95.3	97.0	101.9	104.3	106.3
	Oct. 60-June 61-Apr. 65 Apr. 65-Dec. 67-June 69 June 69-Dec. 70-Oct. 73 Oct. 73-Mar. 70-Oct. 73 Oct. 73-Mar. 79-Mar. 82 Mar. 82-May 85-Mar. 87 Mar. 87-Apr. 88-July 90 July 90-May 91-Jan. 93 Jan. 93-June 94-Dec. 95 Dec. 95-June 97-June 99 June 99-Dec. 00-Sep. 02 Sep. 02-Aug. 04-May 07 May 07-June 08-Jan. 10 Jan. 10-Jan. 12-Jan. 13 Jan. 13-Dec. 14-Aug. 18 Aug. 18-Apr. 19-Jan. 20 Jan. 20-Sep. 21-May 23 May 23-July 24-Oct. 26 Oct. 26-Dec. 27-June 29	Oct. 60-June 61-Apr. 65     109.9       Apr. 65-Dec. 67-June 69     93.8       June 69-Dec. 70-Oct. 73     102.0       Oct. 73-Mar.79-Mar.82     126.7       Mar.82-May 85-Mar.87     104.6       Mar.82-May 85-Mar.87     104.6       Mar.87-Apr. 88-July 90     101.9       July 90-May 91-Jan. 93     96.9       Jan. 93-June 94-Dec. 95     102.4       Dec. 95-June 97-June 99     103.9       June 99-Dec. 00-Sep. 02     96.7       Sep. 02-Aug.04-May07     94.0       May 07-June 08-Jan. 10     99.2       Jan. 10-Jan. 12-Jan. 13     97.0       Jan. 13-Dec. 14-Aug.18     93.6       Aug.18-Apr. 19-Jan. 20     102.1       Jan. 20-Sep. 21-May 23     103.3       May 23-July 24-Oct. 26     102.6       Oct. 26-Dec. 27-June 29     101.6	Oct. 60-June 61-Apr. 65     109.9     116.3       Apr. 65-Dec. 67-June 69     93.8     99.1       June 69-Dec. 70-Oct. 73     102.0     104.3       Oct. 73-Mar.79-Mar.82     126.7     115.6       Mar.82-May 85-Mar.87     104.6     104.2       Mar.82-May 85-Mar.87     104.6     104.2       Mar.87-Apr. 88-July 90     101.9     102.0       July 90-May 91-Jan. 93     96.9     98.4       Jan. 93-June 94-Dec. 95     102.4     103.3       Dec. 95-June 97-June 99     103.9     104.2       May 07-June 08-Jan. 10     99.2     101.1       Jan. 10-Jan. 12-Jan. 13     97.0     99.1       Jan. 13-Dec. 14-Aug.18     93.6     96.6       Aug.18-Apr. 19-Jan. 20     102.1     101.5       Jan. 20-Sep. 21-May 23     103.3     110.0       May 23-July 24-Oct. 26     102.6     102.7       Oct. 26-Dec. 27-June 29     101.3     110.5	Oct.     60-June 61-Apr.     65     109.9     116.3     113.6       Apr.     65-Dec.     67-June 69     93.8     99.1     100.4       June 69-Dec.     70-Oct.     73     102.0     104.3     102.0       Oct.     73-Mar.     70-Oct.     73     102.0     104.3     102.0       Oct.     73-Mar.     70-Oct.     73     102.0     104.3     102.0       Mar.     82-May 85-Mar.     104.6     104.2     103.9       Mar.     87-Apr.     88-July 90     101.9     102.0     104.6       July 90-May 91-Jan.     93     96.9     98.4     100.5       Jan.     93-June 94-Dec.     95     102.4     103.3     107.1       Dec.     95-June 97-June 99     103.9     104.2     107.4     104.6       June 99-Dec.     00-Sep. 02     96.7     99.0     99.6     59.0     99.0     99.6       Sep.     02-Aug.04-May07     94.0     96.4     100.7     May 07-June 08-Jan.     109.2     101.1	Oct. 60-June 61-Apr. 65     109.9     116.3     113.6     116.8       Apr. 65-Dec. 67-June 69     93.8     99.1     100.4     100.2       June 69-Dec. 70-Oct. 73     102.0     104.3     102.0     100.8       Oct. 73-Mar.79-Mar.82     126.7     115.6     103.7     101.2       Mar.82-May 85-Mar.87     104.6     104.2     103.9     103.1       Mar.82-Apr. 88-July 90     101.9     102.0     104.6     102.7       July 90-May 91-Jan. 93     96.9     98.4     100.5     100.6       Jan. 93-June 94-Dec. 95     102.4     103.3     107.1     100.5       Dec. 95-June 97-June 99     103.9     104.2     107.4     101.4       June 99-Dec. 00-Sep. 02     96.7     99.0     99.6     100.3       Sep. 02-Aug.04-May07     94.0     96.4     100.7     100.8       May 07-June 08-Jan. 10     99.2     101.1     105.3     101.9       Jan. 10-Jan. 12-Jan. 13     97.0     99.4     100.1       Jan. 13-Dec. 14-Aug.18     93.6     96.6     96.8	Oct.     60-June     61-Apr.     65     109.9     116.3     113.6     116.8     118.3       Apr.     65-Dec.     67-June     93.8     99.1     100.4     100.2     101.0       June     69-Dec.     70-Oct.     73     102.0     104.3     102.0     100.8     101.9       Oct.     73-Mar.79-Mar.82     126.7     115.6     103.7     101.2     96.1       Mar.82-May 85-Mar.87     104.6     104.2     103.9     103.1     99.4       Mar.87-Apr.     88-July     90     101.9     102.0     104.6     102.7     102.0       July     90-May 91-Jan.     93     96.9     98.4     100.5     100.6     102.3       Jan.     93-June 94-Dec.     95     102.4     103.3     107.1     100.5     99.4       Dec.     95-June 97-June 99     103.9     104.2     107.4     101.4     99.2       June     99-Dec.     00-Sep.     2     96.7     99.0     99.6     100.8     99.5	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

\*Entries in parentheses are interpolated. \*Based on the first segment of the series (see Ch. 9, note 2), which we use through cycle 14. bOmits Aug.-Nov. 1914. No data (N. Y. Stock Exchange closed).

### TABLE B5

### List of Cycles Included in Table 164 and Chart 60

The entries for the seven series refer to the cycle numbers in Table B1. The entries for business cycles refer to the line numbers in Table 16 for the United States; that is, to cycles whose peaks are shown on these lines.

Series and phase of long cycles in building	Expansion (Col. 2 & 6 of Table 164)	Contraction (Col. 3 & 7 of Table 164)	Full cycle (Col. 4-5 & 8-9 of Table 164, and Chart 60)
DEFLATED CLEARINGS			
Upswings	1-4,8-10,13-14	1-3,8-9,13-14	1-3,8-9,13-14
Downswings	5-7,11-12	4-7,10-12,15	5-7,11-12
PIG IRON PRODUCTION			
Upswings	1-3,7-9,12-14	1-2,7-8,12-13	1-2,7-8,12-13
Downswings	4-6,10-11,15	3-6,9-11,14-15	4-6,10-11,15
FREIGHT CAR ORDERS			
Upswings	1,3-5,9-11,15-18	3-4,9-10,15-17	3-4,9-10,15-17
Downswings	2,6-8,12-14,19	1-2,5-8,11-14,18-19	2, 6-8, 12-14, 19
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES			
Upswings	3-7,11-13,16-17	3,5-6,11-12,16-17	3,5-6,11-12,16-17
Downswings	1-2,8-10,14-15	1-2,4,7-10,13-15,18	1-2,8-10,14-15
SHARES TRADED			
Upswings	1-3,7-9,12-14	1-2,7-8,12-13	1-2,7-8,12-13
Downswings	4-6,10-11,15	3-6,9-11,14-15	4-6,10-11,15
CALL MONEY RATES			
Upswings	2-4,7-11,15-17,20-22	2-3,7-10,15-16,20-21	2-3,7-10,15-16,20-21
Downswings	1,5-6,12-14,18-19,23	1,4-6,11-14,17-19,22-23	1,5-6,12-14,18-19,23
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS			
Upswings	2-6,8-10,13-14,18-19	2-5,8-9,13-14,18	2-5,8-9,13-14,18
Downswings	1,7,11-12,15-17,20	1,6,10-12,15-17,20	1,11-12,15-17,20
BUSINESS CYCLES			
Upswings	9-14,18-20,23-25	9-10,12-13,18-19,23-24	9-10,12-13,18-19,23-24
Downswings	7-8,15-17,21-22,26	7-8,11,14-17,20-22,25-26	7-8,15-17,21-22,26

.-

### TABLE B6

### List of Cycles Included in Table 166 and Chart 63

The entries in the last column refer to the cycle numbers in Table B2; the entries in the preceding columns refer to the cycle numbers in Table B1.

Series and phase of long waves in prices	Expansion (Col. 2 & 7 of Table 166)	Contraction (Col. 3 & 8 of Table 166)	Full cycle, positive (Col. 4-5 & 9-10 of Table 166, and Chart 63)	Full cycle, inverted (Col. 6 & 11 of Table 166)
DEFLATED CLEARINGS				
Upswings	7-13	7-12	7-12	7-12
Downswings	1-6, 14-15	1-6, 13-15	1-6, 14-15	1-5, 13-14
PIG IRON PRODUCTION				
Upswings	6-12	6-11	6-11	6-11
Downswings	1-5, 13-15	1-5, 12-15	1-5, 13-15	1-4, 12-14
FREIGHT CAR ORDERS				
Upswings	8-15	8-14	8-14	8-14
Downswings	1-7, 16-19	1-7, 15-19	1-7, 16-19	1-6, 15-18
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES				
Upswings	1-3, 10-16	1-2, 10-15	1-2, 10-15	1-2, 10-15
Downswings	4-9, 17-18	3-9, 16-18	4-9, 17-18	3-8, 16-17
SHARES TRADED				
Upswings	6-12	6-11	6-11	6-11
Downswings	1-5, 13-15	1-5, 12-15	1-5, 13-15	1-4, 12-14
CALL MONEY RATES				
Upswings	1-2, 14-20	1, 14-19	1, 14-19	1, 14-19
Downswings	3-13, 21-23	2-13, 20-23	3-13, 21-23	2-12, 20-22
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS				
Upswings	1-2, 13-18	1-2, 12-17	1-2, 13-17	1, 12-17
Downswings	3-12, 19-20	3-11, 18-20	3-11, 19-20	3-11, 18-19

### TABLE B7 List of Cycles Included in Table 167

The entries refer to the line numbers in Table 16 in the sense explained at the head of Table B5; except that in the last column, number x is the cycle running from the peak on line x to the peak on line x+1.

Country and phase of long waves in prices	Expansion (Col. 2 & 7 of Table 167)	Contraction (Col. 3 & 8 of Table 167)	Full cycle, positive (Col. 4-5 & 9-10 of Table 167)	Full cycle, inverted (Col. 6 & 11 of Table 167)
UNITED STATES Upswings Downswings.	4 *-6 *, 7-9, 17-23 2 *-3 *, 10-16, 24-26	4 *-6 *, 7-8, 17-22 2 *-3 *, 9-16, 23-26	4 *-6 *, 7-8, 17-22 2 *-3 *, 10-16, 24-26	4 *-6 *, 7-8, 17-22 2 *, 9-15, 23-25
OREAT BRITAIN Upswings Downswings.	2 *-6 *, 14 *, 15-18, 21-26 7 *-13 *, 19-20, 27-29	2 *-5 *, 14 *, 15-17, 21-25 6 *-13 *, 18-20, 26-29	2 *-5 *, 14 *, 15-17, 21-25 7 *-13 *, 19-20, 27-29	2 *-5 *, 14 *, 15-17, 21-25 6 *-12 *, 18-19, 26-28
GERMANY Upswings Downswings.	2*-3*, 6-11 4-5, 12-13	2 *, 6-11 3 *, 4-5, 12-13	2 *, 6-11 4-5, 12-13	2*, 6-10 3*, 4, 12
FRANCE Upswings Downswings.	3*-5*, 6-8, 12-19 2*, 9-11, 20	3 *-5 *, 6-7, 12-18 2 *, 8-11, 19-20	3*-5*, 6-7, 12-18. 2*, 9-11, 20	3 *-5 *, 6-7, 12-18 8-10, 19

\* Included in the analysis based on annual reference dates, but not in the analysis based on monthly reference dates.

-

### TABLE B8

### List of Cycles Included in Tables 170, 172, 173 and 175, and Charts 67, 69 and 71

The entries for the seven series in columns (a) and (c) refer to the cycle numbers in Table B1; the entries in columns (b) and (d) to the cycle numbers in Table B2. The entries for business cycles in the United States and Great Britain refer to the line numbers in Table 16 in the sense explained at the head of Table B5; except that in columns (b) and (d), number x is the cycle running from the peak on line x to the peak on line x+1.

Series and place of cycles	Table 170 and Chart 67 (a)	Table 172 and Chart 69 (b)	Col. 2-5 of Tables 173 and 175, and Chart 71 (c)	Col. 6 of Tables 173 and 175 (d)
DEFLATED CLEARINGS First Middle Last	1,3,6,9,12,14	2,5,7,9,11	1,6,10,14 2-4,7-8,11-12 5,9,13,15	5,9,13 1-3,6-7,10-11 4,8,12,14
PIG IRON PRODUCTION First Middle Last	2,5,8,11,13  4,7,10,12,15	1,4,6,8,10  3,5,7,9,11	1,5,9,13 2-3,6-7,10-11,14 4,8,12,15	4,8,12 1-2,5-6,9-10,13 3,7,11,14
FREIGHT CAR ORDERS First Middle Last	4,7,10,13,16	3,6,9,10,12 5,7,9,11,14ª	3,7,11,16 4-5,8-9,12-14,17-18 6,10,15,19	2,6,10,15 3-4,7-8,11-13,16-17 5,9,14,18
RAILROAD STOCK PRICES First Middle Last	1,6,9,12,15,17 3,8,11,14,16,18	5,8,10,12,14	5,9,13,17 6-7,10-11,14-15 8,12,16,18	4,8,12,16 5-6,9-10,13-14 7,11,15,17
SHARES TRADED First Middle Last	2,5,8,11,13	1,4,6,8,10	1,5,9,13 2-3,6-7,10-11,14 4,8,12,15	4,8,12 1-2,5-6,9-10,13 3,7,11,14
CALL MONEY RATES First Middle Last	1,3,6,10,13,16,19,21	9,12,14,16,18	7,13,17,21 8-11,14-15,18-19,22 12,16,20,23	4,12,16,20 5-10,13-14,17-18,21 11,15,19,22
RAILROAD BOND YIELDS First Middle Last	4,7,9,12,14,16,19	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	7,12,15,19 8-10,13,16-17 11,14,18,20	6,11,14,18 7-9,12,15-16 10,13,17,19
BUSINESS CYCLES, U.S. First Middle Last	8,10,13,16,19,22,24 7,9,11,15,18,21,23,26	12,15,17,19,21	12,16,20,24 13-14,17-18,21-22,25 15,19,23,26	11,15,19,23 12-13,16-17,20-21,24 14,18,22,25
BUSINESS CYCLES, G.B. First Middle Last	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	19,21,24,27 22,25,28 20,23,26,29	18,20,23,26 21,24,27 19,22,25,28

\*Omitted in Chart 69.

TABLE B9

List of Specific Cycles Included in Table 180

(The entries refer to the cycle numbers in Table B1)

Series	1879-1897	1897-1914	1914-1933
Deflated clearings	1 6	7-11	12-15
Pig iron production	1~5	6-10	11-15
Freight car orders	3-7	8-12	13-19
Railroad stock prices	5-9	10-14	15-18
Shares traded.	1-5	6-10	11-15
Call money rates	7-13	14-18	19-23
Railroad bond yields	8-12	13-15	16-20

-

### APPENDIX C

### Sources of Data

THIS APPENDIX lists sources of data, so far as they are not already given in the text. Explanatory notes are occasionally added. Their main purpose is to help the interested reader identify the particular series we have used.

### Chapter 3

### Chart 3

### (1) INDEX OF INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION

Through 1939, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, New Federal Reserve Index of Industrial Production (published apparently at the end of 1941), pp. 23, 29. Since 1940, Federal Reserve Bulletin, Aug. 1943, p. 773. (For revised data starting 1939, see *ibid.*, Oct. 1943, p. 964.)

(2) TON-MILES OF FREIGHT HAULED

Nonrevenue ton-miles included. Derived from publications of the Interstate Commerce Commission. Through 1922, Statistics of Railways, 1922, p. XCV. For 1923-34, Freight and Passenger Service Operating Statistics of Class I Steam Railways. Since 1935, Freight Train Performance of Class I Steam Railways. Seasonal removed by the National Bureau.

(8) DEPARTMENT STORE SALES

Federal Reserve Bulletin, Aug. 1936, p. 631; Feb. 1938, p. 160; Jan. 1941, p. 65; April 1942, p. 372. (For revised data, see *ibid.*, June 1944.)

### Chapter 4

### Chart 7

Some of the titles on the chart are abbreviated here.

- (1) MILK USED IN FACTORY PRODUCTION
  - Through 1941, furnished by Bureau of Foreign and Domestic Commerce. For 1942, Survey of Current Business, March 1943, p. S-25. (Slightly revised figures, starting in 1920, may be obtained from the Bureau of Foreign and Domestic Commerce.)
- (2) TRANSIT RIDES, NEW YORK CITY

Bus rides, which constituted 3 per cent of total transit rides in 1927, are excluded before 1927. Traffic of Hudson and Manhattan Railroad Company is excluded throughout. In general, the data come from the *Annual Report* of the Transit Commission (prior to 1920, Public Service Commission, First District), State of New York. Figures on subway and streetcar rides in 1941-42, and bus rides in 1927-42, furnished by Transit Commission.

- 540 -

- (3) RAILWAY PASSENGER-MILES, COMMUTATION Interstate Commerce Commission, Revenue Traffic Statistics of Class I Steam Railways.
- (4) WHOLESALE PRICE OF SULPHURIC ACID From publications of the Bureau of Labor Statistics: through 1931, various issues of the Bulletin; since 1932, Wholesale Prices.
- (5) WHOLESALE PRICE OF SHOES Through Sept. 1931, Bulletin of the Bureau of Labor Statistics, various issues. For 1931-42, furnished by Bureau of Labor Statistics. The figures of the first segment run higher than the figures of the second. Hence the figures of the second segment, starting Oct. 1931, were raised by 1.026, which is the average ratio of the old to the new series during Jan.-Sept. 1931.
- (6) WHEAT FREICHT RATES, CHICAGO TO NEW YORK Average daily rate during month. Basic data through 1934, furnished by Chicago Board of Trade. Since 1935, Chicago Board of Trade, Annual Report.

### Chart 8 and Tables 18-19

All series are adjusted for seasonal variations, except (4)-(5), (33)-(34), (38)-(40). The following series have been adjusted by the National Bureau: (3), (8), (10), (20)-(22), (26)-(30), (35)-(37), also component (b) of (23)-(25).

- (1) TOTAL INCOME PAYMENTS For 1932-38, furnished by Bureau of Foreign and Domestic Commerce. For 1939, Survey of Current Business, March 1943, p. 27. For revised data in 1939, see *ibid.*, April 1944.
- (2) TOTAL CIVIL NONAGRICULTURAL EMPLOYMENT Self-employed persons, casual workers, and domestic servants excluded. Federal Reserve Bulletin, June 1941, pp. 534-5.
- (3) BANK DEBITS OUTSIDE N.Y. CITY Survey of Current Business, 1936 Supplement, p. 44; June 1933, p. 30; 1938 Supplement, p. 53; 1940 Supplement, p. 48.
- (4) INDEX OF WHOLESALE PRICES Bureau of Labor Statistics, Wholesale Prices, Dec. issues.
- (5) INDEX OF COST OF LIVING National Industrial Conference Board index. Survey of Current Business, Dec. 1936, p. 19: Jan. 1941, p. 18.
- (6) RETAIL SALES Sales by department stores, chain and independent grocery stores. automobile dealers, restaurants, service stations, and other retail outlets. Estimates furnished by V. Lewis Bassie, War Production Board.
- (7) DEPARTMENT STORE SALES See this appendix, note on series (3) of Chart 3.
- (8) CHAIN STORE SALES Survey of Current Business, 1936 Supplement, p. 25; 1940 Supplement, p. 27.
- (9) FREIGHT CAR LOADINGS Federal Reserve Bulletin, June 1941, pp. 532-3. See p. 529 for description.
- (10) ELECTRIC POWER PRODUCTION Survey of Current Business, Dec. 1940, p. 17.
- (11) TOTAL INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION (F.R.BOARD) See this appendix, note on series (1) of Chart 3.

(12) TOTAL INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION (S.S.Co.)

From publications of Standard Statistics Company. Through 1936, Standard Trade and Securities: Basic Statistics, April 29, 1938, Sec. D, p. 67. Since 1937. Standard Trade and Securities: Current Statistics, Dec. 1939, p. 13; Dec. 1940, p. 13.

- (13) PRODUCTION OF DURABLE MANUFACTURES BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF the Federal Reserve System, New Federal Reserve Index of Industrial Production (published apparently at the end of 1941), pp. 30, 45, 82. (For revised data, starting 1939, see Federal Reserve Bulletin, Oct. 1943.)
- (14) PRODUCTION OF NONDURABLE MANUFACTURES Same as (13).
- (15) PRODUCTION OF MINERALS Same as (13).
- (16) PRODUCTION OF PRODUCERS' DURABLE GOODS Federal Reserve Bank of New York index; furnished by that agency. Adjusted for secular trend. Data reflect revisions as of Jan. 1942. See description in Journal of the American Statistical Association, June 1938, pp. 341-8; Sept. 1941, pp. 423-5.
- (17) PRODUCTION OF CONSUMERS' DURABLE GOODS Same as (16).
- (18) PRODUCTION OF PRODUCERS' NONDURABLE GOODS Same as (16).
- (19) PRODUCTION OF CONSUMERS' NONDURABLE GOODS Same as (16).
- (20) PAYROLLS IN MANUFACTURING Bureau of Labor Statistics index. Survey of Current Business, Dec. 1938, p. 16; Oct. 1939, p. 17; 1942 Supplement, pp. 48, 50.
- (21) PAYROLLS, DURABLE MANUFACTURES Same as (20).
- (22) PAYROLLS, NONDURABLE MANUFACTURES Same as (20).
- (23) MAN-HOURS WORKED IN MANUFACTURING Derived by multiplying seasonally adjusted figures of two series: (a) index of factory employment (Survey of Current Business, Dec. 1938, p. 15; Oct. 1939, p. 17; March 1941, p. 18) and (b) average hours worked per week (Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Hours and Earnings in the United States, 1932-40", Bulletin 697, pp. 48-9, 156).
- (24) MAN-HOURS WORKED, DURABLE MANUFACTURES Same as (23).
- (25) MAN-HOURS WORKED, NONDURABLE MANUFACTURES Same as (23).
- (26) AVERAGE HOURLY EARNINGS IN MANUFACTURING Same as (23), series (b).
- (27) TOTAL IMPORTS General imports. Bureau of Foreign and Domestic Commerce, Monthly Summary of Foreign Commerce.

.

(28) TOTAL EXPORTS Re-exports of foreign merchandise included. Same as (27).

- (29) TOTAL CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS Value of contracts in 37 states, reported by F. W. Dodge Corporation. Survey of Current Business. 1936 Supplement, p. 16; 1940 Supplement, p. 16.
- (30) PRIVATE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS Value of contracts in 37 states, on account of private owners, reported by F. W. Dodge Corporation. *Ibid.*, Aug. 1937, p. 18; 1940 Supplement, p. 16.
- (31) ORDERS FOR MANUFACTURED GOODS Index of value of new orders, by National Industrial Conference Board. C. L. Rogers, "Inventories, Shipments, Orders, 1929-1940: Revised Indexes", The Conference Board Economic Record, Vol. II, Supplement, Dec. 26, 1940, pp. 8, 7.
- (32) INVENTORIES HELD BY MANUFACTURERS Index of value of inventories. Same as (31).
- (53) INDUSTRIAL COMMON STOCK PRICES Index of prices of 354 stocks. Standard and Poor's Corporation, Trade and Securities Statistics: Long Term Security Price Index Record, p. 7; see description on pp. 3-4. (The issue cited is Vol. 96, No. 9, Sec. 2 of the Corporation's publications.)
- (34) CORPORATE BOND PRICES Same as (40), but inverted.

1

- (35) NUMBER OF BUSINESS FAILURES Data represent 'all commercial' failures. Through 1933, Dun's Review, Jan. 1935, p. 18. Since 1934, Dun's Statistical Review, Feb. 1940, p. 14; these figures are not strictly comparable with earlier data.
- (36) NEW CORPORATE CAPITAL ISSUES Domestic issues, dollar value, compiled by Commercial and Financial Chronicle. Reported in Survey of Current Business, Feb. 1938, pp. 18, 20; 1940 Supplement, p. 68; 1942 Supplement, p. 80.
- (37) LOANS OF REPORTING MEMBER BANKS From reporting member banks in 101 cities. Derived from Federal Reserve Bulletin, Feb. 1933, p. 75; Dec. 1935, pp. 806, 876; and later issues.
- (38) NET DEMAND DEPOSITS OF MEMBER BANKS All member banks. Through 1937, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, Annual Report. Since 1938, Federal Reserve Bulletin.
- (39) COMMERCIAL PAPER RATES Through Jan. 1937, Frederick R. Macaulay, Interest Rates, Bond Yields and Stock Prices, Appendix A, Table 10, col. 3, pp. A160-1. Since Feb. 1937, Bank and Quotation Record. See Macaulay, pp. A335-51, for description.
- (40) YIELD OF CORPORATE BONDS Moody's 120 domestic bonds. Reported in Survey of Current Business, Nov. 1937, p. 19; 1940 Supplement, p. 73.

### Chart 9

All series have been adjusted for seasonal variations by the National Bureau, except (1), (2), and (4), which are left in their original form; and (13)-(14), which were adjusted by the compilers. Series (11) is adjusted through 1916 only.

- (1) INDEX OF WHOLESALE PRICES Bureau of Labor Statistics, Bulletin 543, pp. 7-8.
- (2) INDEX OF WAGES Snyder's index of composite wages. Furnished by Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

-ر
- (3) COMMERCIAL PAPER RATES Frederick R. Macaulay, Interest Rates, Bond Yields and Stock Prices, Appendix A, Table 10, col. 3, pp. A156-7.
- (4) INDEX OF COMMON STOCK PRICES Alfred Cowles 3rd and Associates, Common-Stock Indexes, 1871-1937 (Principia Press, 1938), p. 67.
- (5) BANK CLEARINGS OUTSIDE N.Y. CITY Daily averages. Commercial and Financial Chronicle, Vol. 102, p. 191; Vol. 104, p. 106; Vol. 106, p. 16; Vol. 108, p. 208; Vol. 110, p. 302.
- (6) FACTORY PAYROLLS, N.Y. STATE New York State, Department of Labor, The Industrial Bulletin, Jan. 1942, p. 9.
- (7) CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS, 27 STATES Furnished by F. W. Dodge Corporation.
- (8) TOTAL IMPORTS See this appendix, note on series (27) of Chart 8.
- (9) TOTAL EXPORTS See this appendix, note on series (28) of Chart 8.
- (10) LIABILITIES OF BUSINESS FAILURES Bradstreet's.
- (11) CORPORATE CAPITAL ISSUES Bonds, notes and stocks. Refunding issues included; also foreign issues. Journal of Commerce, Jan. 2d or 3d numbers, 1915-19.
- (12) NET OPERATING INCOME, U.S. STEEL CORP. Commercial and Financial Chronicle, Vol. 106, p. 494; Vol. 110, p. 463. See description in Vol. 106, p. 493.
- (13) PRODUCTION, BASIC INDUSTRIES Federal Reserve Bulletin, May 1924, p. 422.
- (14) R.R. REVENUE FREICHT TON-MILES Estimates furnished by Babson Statistical Organization, Inc.
- (15) FACTORY EMPLOYMENT, N.Y. STATE Same as (6).
- (16) PIG IRON PRODUCTION Daily averages. Frederick R. Macaulay, Interest Rates, Bond Yields and Stock Prices, Appendix A, Table 27, col. 4, pp. A264-5.
- (17) COTTON CONSUMPTION In running bales. Bureau of the Census (bulletins on Cotton Production and Distribution), Bulletin 135, pp. 57-8; Bulletin 145, p. 57.
- (18) PORTLAND CEMENT PRODUCTION W. M. Persons, W. T. Foster, and A. J. Hettinger. Jr. (editors), The Problem of Business Forecasting (Houghton Mifflin, 1924), pp. 160-1.

۶

- (19) OAK FLOORING PRODUCTION Survey of Current Business, May 1924, pp. 36-7.
- (20) PASSENCER CAR PRODUCTION Ibid., June 1927, p. 22.

- (21) TRUCK PRODUCTION Same as (20).
- (22) BONDS TRADED, N.Y. STOCK EXCHANCE In dollars, par value of bonds sold. New York Stock Exchange Bulletin, Aug. 1934, p. 10A.
- (23) SHARES TRADED, N.Y. STOCK EXCHANGE Number sold. Same as (22).

## Table 21

All series are adjusted for seasonal variations, except (19)-(23), (25)-(26), (28)-(29), (31)-(33), (37)-(38), and (42). No seasonal adjustment of (12)-(13) after 1930, (24) before 1921, (27) after 1929, (89) after May 1931. Except for (1)-(5), (9)-(10), and the Babson segment of (15), all seasonal adjustments are by the National Bureau.

All series have been analyzed on a monthly basis, except the following which are quarterly: (11)-(13), (43) and (45) through 1897, and (44) and (46) through 1894.

(1) AYRES' INDEX OF BUSINESS ACTIVITY

Adjusted for trend. From publications by Cleveland Trust Co. Through 1928, chart on American Business Activity since 1790 (7th ed., Jan. 1933). Since 1929, Business Bulletin, Jan. 15, 1935. (For revised figures since 1923, see Leonard P. Ayres, Turning Points in Business Cycles, pp. 197-9.)

(2) PERSONS' INDEX OF PRODUCTION AND TRADE

Adjusted for trend. Through 1902, Warren M. Persons, Forecasting Business Cycles, pp. 93-125. From 1903 to trough in 1919, Review of Economic Statistics, April 1923, pp. 75-6. From trough in 1919 to 1933, *ibid.*, Aug. 1933, pp. 157-60. (For revised data starting in 1919, see Edwin Frickey, Barron's Index of Business since 1899, Barron's Publishing Co., 1943.)

(3) AXE-HOUGHTON INDEX OF TRADE AND INDUSTRIAL ACTIVITY Based on pig iron production, imports, bank clearings outside N.Y. City, and revenue per mile of selected railroads. (Not adjusted for trend.) Furnished by E. W. Axe and Company. Inc., N.Y. City.

(4) A.T.&T. INDEX OF BUSINESS ACTIVITY

Adjusted for secular trend. Through trough in 1900, Harvard Business Review, Jan. 1923. p. 159. From trough in 1900 to July 1932. Index of Industrial Activity in the United States (a confidential report of the American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Oct. 20, 1932). Since Aug. 1932, the company's Summary of Business Conditions in the United States. (The series has been revised according to later confidential releases of the Chief Statistician's Division.)

- (5) PITTSBURGH INDEX OF BUSINESS Adjusted for secular trend. Furnished by Bureau of Business Research, University of Pittsburgh. Described in Pittsburgh Business Review, Oct. 1933.
- (6) BANK CLEARINGS, TOTAL Daily averages for a varying (generally increasing) number of cities. Through 1883, The Public (formerly The Financier). Since 1884, Commercial and Financial Chronicle.
- (7) BANK CLEARINGS OUTSIDE N.Y. CITY Same as (6).
- (8) BANK CLEARINGS OUTSIDE N.Y. CITY, DEFLATED The series on clearings (before deflation) is not the same as (7). Continued after 1918 with bank debits in 140 centers outside N.Y. City, adjusted to the level of 'outside' bank clearings in Jan. 1919. Deflated by Snyder's index of the general price level. See Ch. 6, note 7.

(9) SNYDER'S CLEARINGS INDEX OF BUSINESS

Adjusted for secular trend and changes in the general level of prices; smoothed by a 3-month moving average. Based on bank clearings outside N.Y. City through 1918, on bank debits in 140 centers outside N.Y. City since 1919. Furnished by Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

(10) SNYDER'S INDEX OF DEPOSITS ACTIVITY

Adjusted for secular trend through 1918; smoothed throughout by a 3-month moving average. Through 1918, *Review of Economic Statistics*, Oct. 1924, p. 258. Since 1919, furnished by Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

(11) Orders for Locomotives

Number of locomotives. Through trough in 1924, John E. Partington, Railroad Purchasing and the Business Cycle, pp. 219-26. Later data from Survey of Current Business.

- (12) ORDERS FOR FREICHT CARS Number of cars. Through trough in 1924, same as (11). Later data from Iron Trade Review.
- (13) ORDERS FOR PASSENCER CARS Number of railroad cars. Same as (11).
- (14) PLANS FILED FOR NEW BUILDINGS, MANHATTAN In dollars. Bronx included through trough in 1904; later data confined to Manhattan. Through 1879, The City Record (New York), Jan. 19, 1880, p. 104. For 1880–1909 and 1917–19, Real Estate Record and Builder's Guide. For 1910–16 and after 1919, Borough of Manhattan, Dept. of Buildings, Annual Report.
- (15) RAILROAD FREIGHT TON-MILES

Data for 1908-12 and 1919-21 cycles include nonrevenue ton-miles. Through trough in 1908, and from trough in 1912 to trough in 1919, the data are estimates furnished by Babson Statistical Organization, Inc. From trough in 1908 to trough in 1912. American Railway Association, Proceedings, May 20, 1914, pp. 525, 527. From trough in 1919 to trough in 1921, Interstate Conmerce Commission, Statistics of Railways, 1922, p. XCV. Later data from the Commission's Revenue Traffic Statistics of Class I Steam Railways.

- (16) PIG IRON PRODUCTION See Ch. 6, note 7.
- (17) TOTAL IMPORTS

General imports. Derived from publications of Bureau of Foreign and Domestic Commerce (or its predecessors): through June 1914, Monthly Summary of Commerce and Finance, Dec. 1910, pp. 1120-6, and later issues; since July 1914, Monthly Summary of Foreign Commerce.

- (18) TOTAL EXPORTS Re-exports of foreign merchandise included. Same as (17).
- (19) SNYDER'S INDEX OF GENERAL PRICES

Through 1912, a composite of indexes of wholesale prices, cost of living, wages, security prices, urban realty prices, and rents. For the period since 1913, see Carl Snyder, The Measure of the General Price Level, *Review of Economic Statistics*, Feb. 1928, pp. 40-52. Data furnished by Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

- (20) WHOLESALE PRICES. TOTAL Through trough in 1891, George F. Warren and Frank A. Pearson, Prices, pp. 12-13. Later data from publications of the Bureau of Labor Statistics: through 1931, Bulletin, various issues; since 1932, Wholesale Prices.
- (21) METALS AND METAL PRODUCTS, WHOLESALE PRICES Publications of the Bureau of Labor Statistics, as in (20).
- (22) BUILDING MATERIALS, WHOLESALE PRICES Same as (21).

- (23) FUEL AND LICHTING, WHOLESALE PRICES Same as (21).
- (24) CHEMICALS AND DRUGS. WHOLESALE PRICES Same 28 (21).
- (25) TEXTILES. WHOLESALE PRICES Same as (21).

:0

- (26) HOUSEFURNISHING GOODS, WHOLESALE PRICES Same as (21).
- (27) HIDES AND LEATHER PRODUCTS, WHOLESALE PRICES Same as (21).
- (28) PIG IRON, WHOLESALE PRICE, PHILADELPHIA Through trough in 1912, price of 'No. 1 anthracite foundry' pig iron: later, 'basic' pig iron. American Iron and Steel Institute, Annual Report.
- (29) STEEL BILLETS, WHOLESALE PRICE, PITTSBURGH Price of 'Bessemer' steel billets through 1928; 'open hearth, rerolling' steel billets since 1929. Through 1889, Iron Age, Jan. 7, 1915, p. 12. Later data from publications of the Bureau of Labor Statistics, as in (20).
- (30) SLAB ZINC, WHOLESALE PRICE, N.Y. CITY Through trough in 1900, The Mineral Industry, 1892, p. 471, and later issues. Later data from Iron Age (Jan. annual review numbers).
- (31) COPPER, WHOLESALE PRICE, N.Y. CITY Through trough in 1912, 'lake' copper; later, 'electrolytic' copper. Through 1895, The Mineral Industry, 1893, p. 253, and later issues. Since 1896, Engineering and Mining Journal.
- (32) PIG LEAD, WHOLESALE PRICE, N.Y. CITY Through 1889, The Mineral Industry, 1893, p. 423. Since 1890, Engineering and Mining Journal.
- (33) PIG TIN, WHOLESALE PRICE, N.Y. CITY Through 1899, The Mineral Industry, 1893, p. 612, and later issues. Since 1900, Metal Statistics (published by American Metal Market).
- (34) BANK CLEARINCS, N.Y. CITY Daily averages. Through Sept. 1860 and for 1864-74. New York State Chamber of Commerce, Annual Report. From Oct. 1860 through 1861, The Bankers' Magazine. For 1862-63, The Merchants' Magazine and Commercial Review. For 1875-83, The Public. Since 1884, Commercial and Financial Chronicle.
- (35) SHARES TRADED, N.Y. STOCK EXCHANGE See Ch. 6, note 7.
- (36) BONDS TRADED, N.Y. STOCK EXCHANCE In dollars, par value of bonds sold. Through 1897, New York Times, 1905. different issues. Since 1898, New York Stock Exchange Bulletin, Aug. 1934, pp. 10A-B.
- (37) INDEX OF 'ALL' COMMON STOCK PRICES Alfred Cowles 3rd and Associates, op. cit., pp. 66-7.
- (38) INDEX OF RAILROAD STOCK PRICES See Ch. 6, note 7.
- (39) CALL MONEY RATES, N.Y. STOCK EXCHANCE See Ch. 6, note 7.

## APPENDIX C

- (40) 90-DAY MONEY RATES, STOCK EXCHANGE LOANS. N.Y. CITY Frederick R. Macaulay, Interest Rates, Bond Yields and Stock Prices, Appendix A. Table 10, col. 2, pp. A150-61.
- (41) COMMERCIAL PAPER RATES, N.Y. LITY Ibid., col. 3, pp. A142-61.
- (42) RAILROAD BOND YIELDS See Ch. 6, note 7.
- (43) NUMBER OF FAILURES

Dun's Review, successive issues. Includes manufacturing and mining concerns, huilders, employers of labor in mechanic arts; also trading concerns, agents and brokers; but not professional men, banks (after 1892), or railroads. See Dun's Review, Dec. 30, 1893, pp. 2-3, and Feb. 1936, p. 21.

- (44) NUMBER OF FAILURES Bradstreet's, successive issues. Apparently differs from (43) in including banks, and excluding stock brokers and real estate dealers.
- (45) LIABILITIES OF FAILURES Same as (43).
- (46) LIABILITIES OF FAILURES Same as (44).

## Chapter 5

## Chart 11

Every series except that for petroleum is plotted from the beginning of its statistical record by months. The output of petroleum from the Appalachian field is available by months from 1868 on. All series are adjusted for seasonal variations.

- (1) COKE PRODUCTION See text, Table 4.
- (2) BITUMINOUS COAL PRODUCTION See text, Table 13.
- (3) CALVES SLAUGHTERED Federally inspected slaughter. Bureau of Agricultural Economics, Livestock, Meats, and Wool: Market Statistics and Related Data, 1933, p. 59.
- (4) COTTON STOCKS AT MILLS Derived from Bureau of the Census bulletins on Cotton Production and Distribution.
- (5) PETROLEUM OUTPUT, APPALACHIAN FIELD Daily averages. Through 1931, Mineral Resources (by Geological Survey through 1923, later by Bureau of Mines). Since 1932, Bureau of Mines, Minerals Yearbook.

(6) STRUCTURAL STEEL ORDERS Through 1922, Bureau of the Census, Record Book of Business Statistics, Part II, p. 32. For 1923-32, Survey of Current Business, 1932 Supplement, pp. 216-7, and later monthly issues. For 1933, American Institute of Steel Construction, Inc., Annual Report, 1941, p. 89,

#### Chart 12

The series are adjusted for seasonal variations.

(1) SLAB ZINC, WHOLESALE PRICE Iron Age, Jan. 5, 1939, p. 209. (2) SHARES TRADED, N.Y. STOCK EXCHANCE See Ch. 6, note 7,

## Charts 16, 17, 20, 21

All series are adjusted for seasonal variations except (3), (4) and (10). The seasonal correction of (6) stops in May 1931.

- (1) BITUMINOUS COAL PRODUCTION See text, Table 13.
- (2) PIG IRON PRODUCTION See Ch. 6, note 7.
- (3) PRICE OF PIG IRON Weighted average of prices of four leading grades. Derived from publications of the Bureau of Labor Statistics: through 1931, Bulletin, various issues; since 1932, Wholesale Prices.
- (4) RAILROAD BOND YIELDS See Ch. 6, note 7.
- (5) SHARES TRADED See Ch. 6, note 7.
- (6) CALL MONEY RATES See Ch. 6, note 7.
- (7) TOTAL EXPORTS See this appendix, note on series (18) of Table 21.
- (8) SUGAR MELTINGS Data relating to four

Data relating to four ports overlapped in 1921 with data for eight ports. For four ports, Weekly Statistical Sugar Trade Journal. For eight ports, Survey of Current Business, Oct. 1987, p. 17; 1940 Supplement, p. 113.

- (9) POSTAL RECEIPTS Receipts at 50 selected (largest) cities. Through 1919, furnished by Post Office Department. Since 1920, Survey of Current Business.
- (10) SLAB ZINC STOCKS AT REFINERIES Data refer to end of month. Furnished by American Zinc Institute.

## Chapter 8

# Chart 45

Series S consists of monthly readings from a simple sine curve, ranging from a trough of 800 to a peak of 1200, with a period of 44 months. Its equation is  $y = 1000 + 200 \sin x$ , where x is the number of months multiplied by 8°11'.

Series C also ranges from a trough of 800 to a peak of 1200, and has a period of 44 months. It is made from a segment of a tangent function, y = 1000 + 38 [(tan x) -1]. The selected segment falls between  $x = 45^{\circ}$  and  $x = 80^{\circ}$  56' inclusive. By taking a monthly reading every 3°16', the second half of the cyclical rise (starting with the mid-expansion month and ending with the peak month) was obtained. By using the deviations of these figures from 1000, in reverse order and changing signs, the first half of the rise (from the trough month through the mid-expansion month) was obtained. The contraction is the same as the expansion, with the order of the figures reversed.

Series T has 'triangular' cycles, with a period of 44 months. It starts from a trough of 800, rises by a monthly increment of 18.18 to a peak of 1200, and then falls away at the rate of 18.18 per month to a trough of 800.

The basic random series was obtained as follows. First, we took the two digit random numbers given in Table XXXIII of Statistical Tables, by R. A. Fisher and F. Yates. This is a series of random numbers from a rectangular frequency distribution, with a range from 0 to 99 inclusive. In order to obtain a random series with a normal distribution, the numbers from 1 to 99 (zeroes were

skipped) were assumed to represent percentiles of a normal distribution, and the corresponding values of the normal deviate were taken from Table IX in the above source. For example, the normal deviate corresponding to the 1st percentile is -2.3263 (which means that one per cent of the observations in a normal population, with mean of zero and variance of unity, have deviates algebraically less than -2.3263). After transforming the numbers 1 to 99 to normal deviates, the latter were multiplied by 50; so that the range of the *basic random series* is 232 (from -116 to +116), or somewhat more than one-half the range of the cyclical series.

Series S, C and T are aligned: their troughs come in the same month, as do their peaks. The basic random series is fixed in time for all series. Series S' is the sum of the sine function and the basic random series. Series S'' is the sum of the sine function and twice the basic random series. And so on for the other series, as explained in the text.

Each series covers six full cycles, counting from troughs, with a few additional values placed before the first and after the last trough. The number of monthly values used in a series is 282. Smoothing by Macaulay's formula involves a loss of 21 items at each end. Hence the smoothed data cover only four cycles from trough to trough, and five cycles from peak to peak.

Series S', S", C' and C" are adaptations of artificial series originally worked out by Geoffrey H. Moore and W. Allen Wallis, to whom we owe thanks.

## Chapter 10

## Chart 59

The index of orders is based upon quarterly figures for locomotives, freight cars, passenger cars, and rails. These series come from John E. Partington, Railroad Purchasing and the Business Cycle, pp. 219-26, through the trough in 1924; continued with data from the Railway Age for locomotives and passenger cars, and from the Iron Trade Review for freight cars. The index was obtained by averaging the reference-cycle patterns of the four series for each business cycle (except that rail orders are not used after the trough in 1924). This operation combines two steps: the construction of a rough index of orders and a reference-cycle analysis of the index. The implicit index number is an unweighted arithmetic mean of relatives, the average standing of each series during a reference cycle being the base.

The data on freight ton-miles are compiled from various sources. See this appendix, note on series (15) of Table 21.

## Chapter 12

#### Chart 77

The index of American crop production includes 12 basic crops and comes from the Bureau of Agricultural Economics, Agricultural Situation, Jan. 1935, Oct. 1937; figures for recent years were furnished by the Bureau of Agricultural Economics. For the British index from 1866 to 1931, see Leo Drescher, Die Entwicklung der Agrarproduktion Grossbritanniens und Irlands seit Beginn des 19. Jahrhunderts, Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, Vol. 41, March 1935, pp. 293-4. To cover recent years, we extended this index by methods similar to Drescher's.

For the source of the American pig iron series, see Ch. 6, note 7. The British iron series comes from The Iron and Coal Trades Review.

ponding ple, the at of the tes algehe latter -116), or

aks. The and the m series.

s placed es is 282. hed data

offrey H.

nger cars, ess Cycle, comotives tained by that rail struction c number ing a ref-

note on

Bureau of rears were 1931, see it Beginn ver recent

ries comes

# Index

Amplitude-Cont .: Abramovitz, Moses, 80, 194, 202, 267 Acceleration principle, 251, 340-3 Aggregate economic activity (see business activity, general; also aggregate transactions) Aggregate transactions, 20, 82 Agriculture, 40, 42-3, 66, 97, 204, 362, 408, 413, 503-5, 550 American Institute of Steel Construction, 548 American Iron and Steel Institute, 547 American Railway Association, 546 American Telephone and Telegraph Company, 271, 545 A. T. and T. index of business activity (see also business activity, indexes of), 98, 101, 106, 136, 403, 455, 545; also Ch. 7 American Zinc Institute, 549 Amplitude of business cycles (see business cycles) of long cycles, 418-20 of reference cycles effects of smoothing on, 358 effects of trend elimination on, 294-8 in annual data, 266-7 method of measuring, 174-5 ratio to amplitude of specific cycles, 174-5 secular changes in, 399 stability of, 480-2 structural changes in, 409 of specific cycles amplitude of erratic movements compared with, 153 before and after 1914, 406-8 compared with reference-cycle amplitude, 174-5, 482 dependence on unit of data, 137-8 difficulties of measuring, 137-41, 326-7, 363-5 during Kitchin's major cycles, 451, 454 during long building cycles, 418-21, 425-6 during long cycles marked off by severe depressions, 458-61 during long waves in wholesale prices, 433, 436 during Schumpeter's 'Juglar cycles', 444-5 effect of smoothing on, 326-35, 339-40, 360, 362 effect of trend elimination on, 135-6, 280-92, 300-1. 304

influence of extreme items on, 493-6, 502-3 influence of time unit on, 204-7, 217-9, 229-45, 256-9, 261 measurements of, in seven test series, 518-28 method of measuring, 27-8. 131-41, 460-1 on positive and inverted basis, 135-6, 287-9 secular changes in, 385-93, 397-8, 400 structural changes in, 406-8 variability of, 299-301, 361-2, 375-6, 380, 467-8, 482-9, 491-5, 497, 502-3 Amplitude ratio (see seasonal variations) Anderson, Oskar, 362 Annals (see business annals) Annual cycles (see annual data) Annual data (see also calendar-year data; fiscalyear data) absence of erratic movements in, 261 amplitude of, 229-41, 259, 261 bias of amplitude of, 243-5 conformity measures of. 265-7 corresponding and noncorresponding cycles in, 232-9, 243-9 cyclical phases skipped by, 217-9, 258-9 deficiency for cyclical analysis, 65-6, 202; also Ch. 6 different forms of, 252-61 directions of movement in, 210-6, 251-2 duration of, 220-3 effect on reference-cycle patterns, 263-5, 267-8 effect on specific cycle patterns, 215-6, 219-20, 246-52, 256, 260 effect on timing of specific cycles, 223-9 effect of trend elimination on, 302-8 'extra' cycles in, 216, 237-8 method of analyzing, 197-202, 228-9 number of specific cycles in, 215-20 patterns adjusted for variation in amplitude and duration, 251, 253 precision effect' of, 220-5 reference chronology derived from, 261-3, 440 secular component of, 245-6 specific-cycle turns in, 204-9, 216, 224-9, 254-7 'twisting effect' of, 220-5 Appelbaum, Cicely, 80

Arithmetic mean (see averages) Artificial series, 318-21, 333-5, 342-6, 549-50

-

• 1

Business of secular of severe d 462-4 stable fe

structura symbols i timing se 70, 77. Business fa liabilities number Calendar-ye Calendar-ye dates) Call money 527, 532-

Calves slau

Chain store Change pe and con

specific-c Charts of

168-9, 17 Chemicals

547

Chicago Be Clark, Coli Clearings (

Clearings i ings inde Cleveland business Coefficient ures; rat Coke produ

Cole, Arth

Commerci (see con

Commerci

Commodit 97-8, 101 549 Common s 544, 547

Common

Conformit

Conformit

296-9, 35

computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation of the computation o

effect of influenc

interpre

Constructi ing plat 418-27,

Consumer

543 Cone, Fre

101, 325,

Average deviations effect of smoothing on, 361-2	Bulletin 57, National Bureau of Economic Re- search, 414
effect of trend elimination on, 300 use and interpretation of, 33-4, 380-1, 480, 497, 503 6	Bulletin 61, National Bureau of Economic Re- search, 16, 82, 87, 96, 107, 140, 458, 474
Averages (see also average deviations; positional means; seasonal variations)	search, 57, 89, 128 Bullock, C. J. 108-9
as a tool in analysis of cyclical behavior, 14, 33-4, 380-3, 491	Bureau of Agricultural Economics, 548, 550 Bureau of Foreign and Domestic Commerce,
as representatives of cyclical behavior, Ch. 10, 11 12	540-2, 546 Bureau of Labor Statistics 69,70, 74, 91, 97, 189
causal interpretation of, 503-6	432, 541-3, 546-7, 549
effects on cyclical patterns of different methods	Bureau of Mines, 25, 59, 61, 548
influence of extreme items on 46, 491-503	Burns Arthur F 16 38-9 57 95 389 414 498
twelve-month moving, 46, 253, 311, 332	431
weighted and unweighted, 28-9, 133-5, 143-4, 150-1, 330, 342, 381	Business activity, general, 1, 5-6, 16, 71-6, 82-3, 89, 94-5, 98, 101
Axe, E. W., 107-9, 545	Business activity, indexes of (see also A.T. and T.;
Axe-Houghton index of trade and industrial activity (see also business activity, indexes of),	Axe-Houghton; Ayres; Babson; Frickey; Pitts- burgh; Snyder)
98, 101, 108-9, 545 Ayres' index of business activity (see also busi-	amplitudes of expansions and contractions in, 106, 402-3, 455
ness activity, indexes of), 98, 101, 108, 403, 545 Ayres, Leonard P., 107-9, 455, 545	as criteria of business cycles, 11, 75, 108, 455, 462
Pakan Statistical Organization Edd Edd	reference expansions and contractions, sum-
Babson's index of the physical volume of husi-	Business annals 4 10 18 24 76 108 403.6
ness, 73	Business cycles (see also conformity: duration:
Bank clearings	long cycles; reference cycles; war cycles)
In seven cities outside N. Y. City, 108, 110-1; also Ch. 7	amplitude of, 7-8, 90, 106-7, 382, 402-3, 408, 425, 444, 448-64, 468, 474
New York City, 98, 101, 323, 325, 547	before and after 1914, 406-12
outside N. Y. City, 92, 98, 101, 324-5, 544-6	chronologies of, 78-81, 107-14, 464-5, 510-5
outside N. Y. City. deflated. 98, 101, 210, 518, 524, 529, 534, 537-9, 545; also Ch. 6-12	continuity of, 3, 7-8, 66, 70-1, 81, 89-90, 107 criteria for dating, 24, 71-7, 80, 82-3, 87, 89-91,
total, 75, 98, 101, 545	95
Bank debits outside N. Y. City, 84, 86, 88, 541	cyclical changes in, 382-3; also Ch. 11
Bankruptcies (see business failures)	data needed for understanding, 5-8, 18-21,
Barger, Harold, 73	41-3, 500-0 definition of 8.8, 17, 71, 76, 81, 06, 488
Bassie, V. Lewis, 541	difficulties in dating 81.94
in marking off specific cycles 66	diffusion of. 96.107, 111, 261-2
in measuring leads or lags 117 120	duration of (see duration)
in measuring secular trend, 29, 143, 335-6	during Kitchin's major cycles, 448-54
of amplitude of short phases, 331	during long building cycles, 418-27
Bituminous coal production, 59-63; also Ch. 5	during long cycles marked off by severe depres-
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve	sions, 455-64
System (see also Federal Reserve Board), 75, 540, 542-3	during Mills' economic stages, 403-6
Board of Trade, Great Britain, 63	during Schumpeter's Jugiar cycles, 440-8
Bond prices (see corporate bond prices)	inductive verification of hypotheses of 8.10
Bond yields (see corporate bond yields; railroad bond yields)	influence of random factors on, 466-74, 491-2, 505-6
Bonds traded, N. Y. Stock Exchange, 93, 98, 101, 545, 547	international relationship of, 18-9 irregular features of, 466-79
Bratt, Elmer C., 108, 110	limitations of techniques for analyzing, 40-1,
Building construction (see construction)	64.6, 81-94, 126, 137-8, 160, 174-5, 183, 193-7,
Building materials, wholesale prices, 98, 101, 546	215-7, 326-7, 347-9
Building plans filed, Manhattan, 98, 101, 230-1, 546	number analyzed, 19, 21, 78-9 reference dates of (see reference dates)

552

.

nomic Re-

nomic Re-474 nomic Re-

8, 550 Commerce,

91, 97, 139,

2, 414, 428,

71-6, 82-3,

.T.and T.; ckey; Pitts-

actions in.

5, 108, 455,

ions, sum-

103-6 duration; ycles) 402-3, 408,

, 510-5 -90, 107 , 87, 89-91,

**5**-8, 1**8**-21,

488

re depres

**c**5, 431-40 , 440-8 -31

of, 8-10 -74, 491-2,

zing, 40-1, 183, 193-7,

**a**)

INDEX

Business cycles-Cont.:

- secular changes in, 382-406, 412-7 severe depressions of, 106-7, 455, 458, 460, 462-4
- stable features of, 474-91 structural changes in, 382-3, 406-17
- symbols used in observing, 14-7
- timing sequences in, 6, 11-3, 16, 23, 38-9, 68-70, 77, 88-9, 98, 125-8, 223-7, 276-9, 323-5

Business failures liabilities of, 92, 98, 101, 544, 548 number of, 85, 88-9, 98, 101, 543, 548

Calendar-year data, 205-8, 253-62, 267-8 Calendar-year reference dates (see reference dates)

- Call money rates, 98, 101, 156, 158, 169, 173, 521-2, 527, 532-3, 535-9, 547; also Ch. 6, 8-12 Calves slaughtered, 119, 121, 548
- Chain store sales, index of, 84, 86, 88, 195, 541
- Change per month (see amplitude; expansion and contraction; reference-cycle patterns; specific-cycle patterns)
- Charts of cyclical patterns, sample, 34-5, 154-8, 168-9, 171-3
- Chemicals and drugs, wholesale prices, 98, 101, 547
- Chicago Board of Trade, 541
- Clark, Colin, 73
- Clearings (see bank clearings)
- Clearings index of business (see Snyder's clearings index of business)
- Cleveland Trust Company (see Ayres' index of business activity)
- Coefficient of correlation (see correlation measures; rank correlation)
- Coke production, 59, 119, 121, 186, 548; also Ch. 2 Cole, Arthur H., 108-9, 432
- Commercial and industrial building permits (see construction)
- Commercial paper rates, 75-6, 85, 88-9, 92, 98, 101, 325, 454, 543-4, 548
- Commodity prices, 20, 75, 82, 84, 88-9, 91-2, 94, 97-8, 101, 325, 431-40, 538, 541, 543, 546, 547, 549
- Common stock prices, index of 'all', 92, 98, 101, 544, 547
- Common stock prices, index of industrial, 85, 88, 543
- Cone, Frederick M., 73
- Conformity, 31-3, 100, 104, 117, 123, 176-97, 265-7, 296-9, 357-61, 399-400, 409 Conformity index
- computation of, 179-82, 184, 186-91, 200-1 effect of smoothing on, 356-61 effect of trend elimination on, 296-9, 304
- influence of time unit on, 265-7 interpretation of, 183, 191-7
- Construction (see also building materials; building plans), 19-20, 82, 85, 88, 92, 140, 414-6, 418-27, 507-8, 543-4
- Consumer expenditures, index of, 87

Consumers' goods, index of production of, 84, 86, 88-9, 542

- Continuity of business cycles (see business cycles) Contraction (see expansion and contraction) Contraction index (see conformity index)
- Copper, wholesale price, N. Y. City, 98, 101, 547 Cornell University, Agricultural Experiment
- Station, 432 Corporate bond prices, 85, 88-9, 543
- Corporate bond yields, 85, 88-9, 543
- Corporate capital issues, new, 85, 88-9, 543
- Corporate capital issues, refunding included, 92,
- 544 Correlation measures, 48-9, 51-5, 127, 183, 186,
- 236-7, 329, 389-91, 395-6, 402, 485, 488 Corresponding and noncorresponding cycles (see
- also specific-cycle measures), 237-41, 244-5 Corresponding specific-cycle turns (see specificcycle turns)
- Cost of living, index of, 84, 88-9, 541
- Cotton consumption, 93, 544
- Cotton stocks at mills, 119, 121, 548
- Cowles, Alfred, 3rd, 544, 547
- Crises, 107, 268, 314-5, 323-4, 382-3, 442, 448-64,
- 468 Crop output, indexes of (see also agriculture),
- 503-4, 550
- Cusped cycles. 318-21, 330, 334-5, 344-7, 549-50
- Cycle base (see reference-cycle measures, method of computing; specific-cycle measures, method of computing)
- Cycle of experience, 37-40
- Cyclical bias (see bias)
- Cyclical diffusion, 66-71, 96-107, 111, 261-2
- Cyclical graduation (see Macaulay's graduation; smoothing)
- Cyclical measures (see also amplitude; averages; conformity; conformity index; duration; refence-cycle measures; specific-cycle measures; timing)
- computation of, Ch. 2, 5
- cyclical changes in, Ch. 11
- effect of dubious cycles on, 363-7
- effect of smoothing on, Ch. 8
- effect of trend adjustment on, Ch. 7
- in brief periods, 229-30, 239-40, 322-4, 326, 329-31, 385, 394-5, 397, 399, 401, 485-7, 497, 502
- influence of time unit on, Ch. 6
- sample charts of, 34-5, 154-8, 168-9, 171-3
- sample tables of, 26-32, 129, 133, 142, 145, 147, 150, 161, 167, 177, 190, 192-3
- secular changes in, Ch. 10
- skewness in distribution of, 502.3
- stability of relations among, 474-91
- variability of, 299-303, 361-2, 370-80; also Cb. 12
- Cyclical patterns (see reference-cycle patterns; special nineteen-point pattern; specific-cycle
- patterns)
- Cyclical timing (see timing)
- Cyclical turns (see peaks and troughs)

543

540

tan, 546

activity)

4.7, 106.7, 455-64

specific cycles)

Drescher, Leo. 550

414-6. 550

of business cycles

437-40

449, 458

of specific cycles

26-7, 129-30, 485, 488

pressions, 462-3

360, 362

300.1.304

498-4. 502

Duration

payrolls, 84, 86, 88-9, 542

pressions, 458, 462-3

of. 66-7 540

Dairy products, milk used in factory production Duration-Cont .: influence of time unit on, 204-8, 217-23, 231, Demand deposits of member banks, net, 85, 88, 235, 256, 258-9, 261 measurements of, in seven test series, 518-28 Lepartment of Buildings, Borough of Manhatminimum length of, 57-8 secular changes in, 384-93, 397-8, 400, 414 Department of Commerce. 87 structural changes in, 406-7 Department store sales, index of, 44-5, 84, 86, 88, variability of, 300-2, 361-2, 375-6, 467-8, 482-8, 490, 492-7, 502-3 Deposits activity (see Snyder's index of deposits Dyeing and finishing textile plants, employment and payrolls in, 138-9 Depression (see also expansion and contraction) Eckler, A. Ross, 107-9, 462 Diffusion (see business cycles; cyclical diffusion; Electric power production, 84, 86, 88, 541; also Ch. 7 Dodge, F. W., Corporation, 543-4 Employment (see also manufacturing) factory, indexes of, 68-70, 74, 91, 93, 138-9, 544 Durable consumers' goods (see consumers' goods) in three countries, 90-1 Durable manufactures, indexes of nonagricultural, 74, 84, 86, 88-9, 408, 541 man-hours worked, 84, 86, 88-9, 542 Erratic movements (see also smoothing) annual data and, 216-7, 261 production, 84, 86, 88-9, 542 difficulties in distinguishing cyclical from, 7.8, Durable producers' goods (see producers' goods) 58-9, 61-5, 87, 90 Durable railroad goods, index of orders of, method of measuring, 151-4 plan of treating, 27, 33-4, 39, 41, 57-65, 132, 134-5, 138, 148, 151, 153-4; also Ch. 8 Expansion and contraction (see also business before and after 1914, 406-12 cycles; reference cycles; reference-cycle patduring Kitchin's major cycles, 451, 454 terns; specific cycles; specific-cycle patterns) during long building cycles, 425-7 of business cycles during long cycles marked off by severe deamplitude of, 106, 403 conformity to, 31-3, 176-80, 186-9, 296-7 during long waves in wholesale prices, 488, diffusion of, 100-7 direction of movements of time series in, during Mills' economic stages, 403-6 96-105 during Schumpeter's 'Juglar cycles', 440-5 duration of, 78-9, 107-8, 113, 401, 412, 425-6, frequency distribution of, 441, 490 433, 437-8, 445, 451, 462-3 in four countries, 78-9, 371-2, 401-2, 412, 441 rate of change during, 30-2, 167, 176-8, limits of length of, 3, 7.8, 87, 89-90 189-90, 192-3, 296-7 secular changes in, 401-6, 412-8 of specific cycles structural changes in, 406, 412-3 amplitude of, 27, 133, 256, 258-9, 397, 407, variability of. 371-2, 401-2, 412, 441, 490 419-21, 425-7, 433, 436, 445, 451, 458-62, of long cycles, 382-3, 418-20, 422, 431-2, 442, 464, 467, 486, 488, 493-4, 502 duration of, 26, 129, 221-3, 256, 258-9, 323-5, 330, 397, 407-19, 421, 426, 429, 431, 433, before and after 1914, 406-8 436, 445, 451, 463, 467, 486, 488, 493-4, 502 compared with duration of business cycles. Expansion index (see conformity index) Exports, total, 85, 88-9, 91-2, 98, 101, 156, 158, 169, during Kitchin's major cycles, 451, 454 173, 542, 546 during long building cycles, 418-22, 425-7 'Extra' cycles, 118, 139-40, 216-7, 238, 314-5, 363-7, during long cycles marked off by severe de-450 Extreme items (see averages) during long waves in wholesale prices, 436-8 during Schumpeter's 'Juglar cycles', 445 Factory employment (see employment) effect of dubious cycle on, 363-4 Factory payrolls, N. Y. State, index of, 92, 544 effect of smoothing on, 314, 322-6, 329-31. Federal Power Commission, 271 Federal Reserve Bank of New York, index of proeffect of trend elimination on, 279-80, 290-2, duction, 74-5, 84, 86, 88-9, 542 Federal Reserve Board (see also industrial proinfluence of extreme items on averages of, duction)

index of consumer expenditures, 87

Federal R index o 88.54 index of index o Federal R rates. 3 Fiscal-year Fiscal-vea Fisher, R Food and ploymen Foreign tr Foster, W France duratio 401. long wa number referen time set Frank, Isa Freight ca Freight ca Freight to 544.546 Frickey, H Frickey's Friedman Frisbee, I Fuel and Full-cycle Garvy, G Gayer, Ar Germany duratio 401-2 long w numbe referen time se war cyc Gilbert, I Gold imp Kingdo Graduat smooth Great Br duratio 401, Kitchi long w numbe referen severe time s war cy Harvard the So-Hettinge

217-23, 231.

ries, 518-28

400, 414

5-6, 467-8,

nployment

541: also

138-9, 544

France

Germany

the Social Sciences, 111

Hettinger, A. J., 544

541

from, 7-8,

7.65, 132. h. 8 business cycle patatterns)

296-7

series in,

12, 425-6.

7. 176-8.

397.407 , 458.62.

-9. 323-5 431, 433, 93-4, 502

158, 169,

5, 363.7.

**R**. 544

of pro-

ial pro-

Federal Reserve Board-Cont .: Hides and leather products, wholesale prices, 98, 101, 547 index of department store sales, 44.5, 84, 86, Hoffmann, W. 91 88. 540 index of freight car loadings, 84, 86, 88, 541 · Houghton, Ruth, 107-9 Housefurnishing goods, wholesale prices, 98, index of production of minerals, 84, 86, 88, 542 · 101. 547 Federal Reserve System, effect of, on interest Hubbard, Joseph B., 107.9 rates, 332-3, 393, 417 Fiscal-year data, 207, 254-61, 267-8 Hultgren, Thor, 100 Fiscal-year reference dates (see reference dates) Imports, total, 85, 88, 92, 98, 101, 542, 546 Fisher, R. A., 391-2, 550 Food and kindred products, manufacturing em-Income, net operating, U. S. Steel Corporation, ployment, 68-70 92.544 Income payments, index of total, 80, 84, 86-9, 541 Foreign trade (see also exports), 20, 82, 98, 101 Foster, W. T., 544 Income, personal, 20, 82 Incomplete cycles, treatment of, 130, 137, 141, duration of business cycles in, 78, 262, 371, 147-8, 162 401, 404-5, 412, 437-42 Index numbers, limitations of, 11, 78-6 long waves in wholesale prices in, 431-2 Industrial activity (see A. T. and T.; Axenumber of series analyzed, 20 Houghton; Ayres; Babson; business activity; reference dates for, 78, 113, 513-4 Frickey; industrial production; Pittsburgh; time series available for, 73-6, 81-2, 94 Snyder) Frank, Isaiah, 80, 111 Industrial common stock prices (see common Freight car loadings, index of, 84, 86, 88, 541 Freight car orders (see orders) Freight ton-miles, 44-5, 93, 98, 101, 415-6, 540, 544, 546, 550 Frickey, Edwin, 38, 95, 108, 110-3, 271, 545 Frickey's 'standard pattern', 111.3 Friedman, Milton, 131, 384, 482 Frisbee, Ira N., 419 Fuel and lighting, wholesale prices, 98, 101, 547 88. 542 Full-cycle index (see conformity index) Industrialization Mills' stages of, 403-6 Garvy, George, 80, 431 secular changes in, 413-4 Gayer, Arthur D., 432 duration of business cycles in, 79, 262, 371-2, 401-2, 404-5, 412, 437-41 long waves in wholesale prices in, 431-2 number of series analyzed, 20 rates; railroad bond yields), 20, 75-6, 82, 117-8, reference dates tor, 79, 113, 515 433 time series available for, 73-6, 81-2 war cycles in. 90-4 Gilbert, Donald W., 107-9, 111 546 Gold imports, net, by United States from United Kingdom, 63, 66 Inventories Graduation Macaulay's (see graduation; smoothing) Great Britain duration of business cycles in, 79, 262, 371-2, 401, 404-5, 412, 437-42, 458, 463 cycles) Kitchin's major cycles in, 449-50 long waves in wholesale prices in, 431-2 orders) number of series analyzed. 20 reference dates for, 79, 512-3 severe depressions in, 455 time series available for, 73-6, 81-2 war cycles in, 90-4 Harvard University Committee for Research in

stock prices, index of industrial) Industrial production, indexes of

- Federal Reserve Bank of New York, 74-5, 84, 86, 88-9, 542 Federal Reserve Board, 45. 73-5, 82-4, 86-9, 540
- Persons' index of production and trade, 98, 101, 108, 110, 403, 545
- Standard Statistics Company, 73, 75-84, 86,

Institut für Konjunkturforschung, 91, 440 Inter-cycle trend (see secular trend)

- Interest rates (see also call money rates; commercial paper rates; corporate bond yields; Federal Reserve System; ninety-day money
- Interpolation, use of, in analysis, 149-50, 249-51 Interstate Commerce Commission, 416, 540-1,
- Intra-cycle trend (see secular trend)

held by manufacturers, 85, 88-9, 115, 543 number of series on, 20, 82

Inverse conformity (see conformity)

Inverted cycles (see reference cycles; specific

Investment goods, orders for (see construction;

Iron, steel and their products, manufacturing employment, 68-9

Irregular movements (see erratic movements) Irregular series (see also conformity), 116, 188

Jacobs, Alfred, 432 Jerome, H., 91 Jevons, W. Stanley, 432

556 Juglar, Clément, 442 Juglar cycles, 440-8, 462 Keynes, J. M., 83 Kitchin cycles, 440-1, 444, 448-54 Kitchin, Joseph, 108-9, 382, 449, 454 Kondratieff cycles (see also long cycles), 428, 431-2, 440, 448 Kondratieff, Nikolai D., 382, 431 Kuznets, Simon, 48, 72, 80, 382, 414, 428 Lead, pig, wholesale price, N. Y. City, 98, 101, 547 Leads and lags (see timing) Leather, manufacturing employment, 68-70 Lewis, Edward E., 205 Loans, reporting member banks, 85, 88-9, 543 Locomotives, orders for (see orders) Long cycles (see also amplitude; business cycles; duration; reference-cycle measures, cyclical changes in; specific cycle measures, cyclical changes in) as deviations from trends, 427-31 543 as triplets of business cycles, 440-8, 539 chronologies of, 107, 422, 428-9, 431-2, 440-1, 448-9, 454-5, 458, 462, 464-5 considered in analyzing specific cycles, 57, 465 in building, 418-27, 537 in wholesale prices, 431-40, 538 marked off by booms, 448-54, 539 marked off by severe depressions, 455-64, 539 short-term trends in, 438-40 Lumber and allied products, manufacturing employment, 68-9 Lynn, Fred, 91 Macaulay, Frederick R., 210, 271, 312, 325, 330, 433, 543-4, 548 Macaulay's graduation, 550; also Ch. 8 Machinery industry, manufacturing employment. 68-9 goods) Mack, Ruth P., 322 Major cycles (see long cycles) Man-hours, indexes of (see also durable manufactures; nondurable manufactures), 74, 84, 86. 88.9. 542 Manufactured goods, index of orders for (see goods) orders) Manufacturing (see also consumers' goods: durable manufactures; industrial production; Orders. for nondurable manufactures; producers' goods) employment in, 68-70, 74, 91, 93, 138-9, 544 hourly earnings in. 84, 88-9, 542 man-hours worked in, 84, 86, 88-9, 542 payrolls in, 84, 86, 88-9, 92, 138-9, 542, 544 production in, 84, 86, 88-9, 91, 93, 98, 101, 541-2.544 Marx, Karl, 382 Massachusetts, Department of Labor and Industries, 91 Median (see positional means) Merchandising (see also department store sales; orders; retail sales), 20, 82

Metals and metal products, wholesale prices, 98, 101, 546 Micoleau, H. L., 109 Milk used in factory production, 66-7, 540 Mills, Frederick C., 403-6 Minerals, index of production of, 84, 86, 88, 542 Ministry of Labour, 91, 137 Ministry of Munitions, 91 Mitchell, Wesley C., 3, 7, 9, 11, 14, 16, 18, 21, 22. 43. 46. 57, 89, 94, 107, 204, 268, 270, 323, 382, 414, 433, 438, 442, 462, 502 Money and banking, 20, 82 Money and security markets, 98, 101 Monthly data compared with annual (see annual data) Monthly reference dates (see reference dates) Moore, Geoffrey H., 80, 91, 157, 183, 229, 550 Moving average (see averages; seasonal variations; smoothing) Moving seasonal index (see seasonal variations) National Industrial Conference Board, 74, 541, National Labor Relations Board, 61 Neutral series, 116, 188, 196 New York State, Chamber of Commerce, 547 New York State, Department of Labor, 544 New York State, Transit Commission, 540 New York Stock Exchange (see bonds traded; call money rates; ninety-day money rates; shares traded; common stock prices; railroad stock prices) Nine-point pattern (see reference-cycle patterns; specific-cycle patterns) Nineteen point pattern, 347-9, 357 Ninety-day money rates, 98, 101, 325, 548 Nonagricultural employment (see employment) Noncorresponding cycles (see corresponding and noncorresponding cycles) Nondurable consumers' goods (see consumers' Nondurable manufactures, indexes of man-hours worked, 84, 86, 88, 542 payrolls, 84, 86, 88-9, 542 production, 84, 86, 88-9, 542 Nondurable producers' goods (see producers' Oak flooring production, 93, 544 durable railroad goods, 414-6, 550 freight cars, 98, 101, 519, 525, 530-1, 534, 537-9, 546; also Ch. 9-12 investment goods, 98, 101 locomotives, 98, 100-1, 546 manufactured goods, 85, 88, 543 passenger cars, 98, 101, 546 structural steel, 63, 119-21, 123-5, 548

Paper and printing, manufacturing employment. 68.70

Partington, John E., 372, 474, 492, 550

Passenger cars (see also orders), 91, 95, 544

Passenger-m Patterns (see ence-cycle cial ninete terns) Payrolls, ind tures; ma tures), 84, Peaks and specific-cy dating of, effect of 304 effect of s influence 229·33, in long c 454.5. 4 Pearson, Fr Persons, Wa Persons' inc 101, 108, Petroleum 124-5, 548 Phases, shor effect of. effect of s influence method o Pig iron pr 168-70 1 544, 546; Pig iron, 168-70, 12 Pittsburgh Portland ce Positional : Positive con Positive an reference Postal rece 182, 549 Post Office Prices (see prices; c prices) Producers' 86. 88-9 Production manufac 98-9, 101 Profits and come, ne Prosperity 4,7 Ouarterly Quarterly amplitud

comparis Ch. 6 conform. prices, 98,

. 540

86, 88, 542

16, 18, 21, 270, **3**2**3**,

nual (see

dates) 29, 550

ial varia.

ariations)

, 74, 541,

ey rates; railroad cle pat-

548 loyment) ding and

nsumers'

.:

roducers'

84, 537-9,

employ-

844

Passenger-miles, commutation, railway, 67, 541 Patterns (see Frickey's 'standard pattern'; reference-cycle patterns; seasonal variations; special nineteen-point pattern; specific-cycle patterns)

- Payrolls, indexes of (see also durable manufactures; manufacturing; nondurable manufactures), 84, 86, 88-9, 92, 138-9, 542, 544
- Peaks and troughs (see also reference dates; specific-cycle turns; timing) dating of, 148; also Ch. 4
  - effect of trend elimination on, 276-9, 301-2,
  - 304
  - effect of smoothing on, 312-26 influence of time unit on, 209, 213, 224-5, 227,
  - 229-33, 254-5, 257 in long cycles, 422, 428-9, 431-2, 440-1, 448-9,
  - 454-5, 458, 462, 464-5
- Pearson, Frank A., 417, 432, 546
- Persons, Warren M., 36, 107-8, 110, 455, 544-5 Persons' index of production and trade, 98,
- 101, 108, 110, 403, 545
- Petroleum output, Appalachian field, 119-21, 124-5, 548

Phases, short

- effect of, on averages, 151, 381, 491-503 effect of smoothing on, 322-4, 326, 329-31 influence of time unit on, 204-23, 231, 262-3
- method of measuring, 132, 148-9 Pig iron production, 93, 98, 101, 136, 156, 158, 168-70, 173, 518-9, 524-5, 529-30, 534, 537-9,
- 544, 546; also Ch. 6-12 Pig iron, wholesale price, 98, 101, 156, 158, 168-70, 173, 467-8, 547, 549
- Pittsburgh index of business, 98, 101, 545
- Portland cement production, 93, 544
- Positional means (see also averages), 46, 493-503 Positive conformity (see conformity)
- Positive and inverted treatment of cycles (see
- reference cycles; specific cycles) Postal receipts, 156, 158, 168-9, 173, 177, 179, 182, 549
- Post Office Department, 549
- Prices (see commodity prices; common stock prices; corporate bond prices; railroad stock prices)
- Producers' goods, index of production of, 84, 86, 88-9, 542
- Production (see also industrial production; manufacturing), 19-20, 82, 84, 86, 88-91, 93, 98-9, 101
- Profits and losses (see also business failures; income, net operating), 20, 82
- Prosperity (see also expansion and contraction), 4, 7

Quarterly reference dates (see reference dates) Quarterly data (see also time series)

amplitude of, 232-3, 237, 241-5

comparison of, with monthly and annual, Ch. 6

conformity measures of, 265-6

Quarterly data-Cont.:

duration of specific cycles in, 222-3 method of analyzing, 197-202, 229 number of specific cycles in, 222 reference-cycle patterns of, 261-4 secular component in, 245-6 specific-cycle patterns of, 246-50 specific-cycle turns in, 209

timing of specific-cycle turns in, 225-9

- Railroad (see also freight ton-miles; orders; passenger-miles)
- bond yields, index of, 98, 101, 136, 156, 158, 168-9, 173, 186, 190, 192-3, 325, 522-3, 528, 533, 536-9, 548; also Ch. 6-7, 9-12
- construction, 38-9, 140, 414-6
- stock prices, index of, 98, 101, 520, 526, 531, 535, 537-9, 547; also Ch. 6, 8-12

traffic and investment, 414-6, 550

- Random factor, 27, 38, 49, 52, 318, 320-2, 334, 466-7, 480, 491-2, 495-6, 503-5
- Random movements (see also erratic movements), Ch. 3, 8, 12
- Random series (see also artificial series; smoothing), 318-21, 334, 549-50
- Range
- of cyclical measures, 375-6, 380 of seasonal index, 50
- Rank correlation, 236-7, 329, 402, 485, 488
- Rate of change (see amplitude; expansion and contraction; reference-cycle patterns; specificcycle patterns)
- Recession (see business cycles; expansion and contraction)

Reference chronology (see reference dates)

- Reference contraction (see expansion and contraction)
- Reference cycles (see also business cycles; reference-cycle measures; reference dates)
- division of, into nine stages, 29-31, 161, 163, 510-5
- inverted treatment of, 162, 166, 180-3, 188-93, 196-7, 450, 453, 474-9, 534-6
- Reference-cycle measures (see also amplitude; conformity indexes; duration; expansion and contraction; reference-cycle patterns; timing) cyclical changes in, 422, 424-5, 429-33, 435, 444, 447-8, 450, 453, 457-8, 464-5
  - effect of smoothing on. 349-62, 367-9
- effect of trend adjustment on, 294-300, 304-5, 307-9
- influence of extreme items on, 497, 499, 501 influence of time unit on, 261-9

method of computing

- for monthly data, 29-33, 160-97
- for quarterly and annual data, 200-2
- sample charts of, 34-5, 168-9, 171-3
- sample tables of, 30-2, 161, 167, 177, 190, 192-5
- secular changes in, 393-401, 414-7
- structural changes in, 406-9, 411-3, 416-7
- variability of, 375-7, 379-81, 468-82, 484-91, 497, 499, 501; also Ch. 10, 11

Reference-cycle patterns (see also reference cycles) 455.462 before and after 1914, 411 Schwartz, David, 109 during Kitchen's major cycles, 450, 453-4 Seasonal variations during long building cycles, 422, 424-5 during long cycles marked off by severe dedefinition of, 44 pressions, 457.8 during long waves in wholesale prices, 432-3, 57-8, 61-2, 64 435 during Schumpeter's 'Juglar cycles', 444, 447-8 40, 44-6 during Wardwell's major cycles, 429-31 effect of smoothing on, 349-57 53-4 effect of trend adjustment on, 294-5, 299-300, 307-8 Secular bias (see bias) influence of extreme items on, 491-503 influence of time unit on, 262-5. 267-8 measurements of, in seven test series, 529-36 Ch. 10 method of computing for monthly data, 29-30, 160-70 for quarterly and annual data, 200, 202 rates of change from stage to stage of, 30-1, 167.70 relation between specific-cycle patterns and, 170-6 sample charts of, 34-5. 168-9, 171-3 sample tables of, 30, 161, 190 secular changes in, 393-8, 415-7 special nineteen-point, 347-9, 357 295, 309, 414 variability of, 370-80, 466-82, 484-91, 506 Reference dates (see also business annals: business cycles, chronologies of) as aids in studying timing sequences, 12-3, 120, presence of, in 125-7 dependability of, 94-114, 464-5 derivation of, 24, 71-7 difficulties in setting, 81-94, 113 duration of business cycles derived from, 78-9 monthly as standard in setting quarterly and 288.4 annual, 80-1, 261-2 schedule of, for four countries, 76-81 Reference expansion (see expansion and contraction) Reference patterns (see reference-cycle patterns) Retail sales, index of, 84, 86-8, 541 Revival (see business cycles; expansion and contraction) Richter, Hans, 432 Riggleman, John R., 419, 422 Rogers, C. L., 543 Rostow, Walt, 80 Sample charts of cyclical patterns, \$4-5, 154-8, Smith, W. B., 109 168-9.171-3 Sample tables of reference-cycle measures, 30-2, 161, 167, 177, 190, 192-3 Sample tables of specific-cycle measures, 26-30, 129, 133, 142, 145, 147, 150 effect of, on Sasulv. Max. 343

Sauerbeck-Statist index of wholesale prices, 432 Savings and investments, 20, 82 Schumann, C. G. W., 406

Schumpeter, Joseph A., 39, 383, 431, 440-2, 444-8, amplitude of, 40, 48-50 difficulties in eliminating, 40, 44, 47, 49-50, elimination of, prior to cyclical analysis, 36, equality condition in elimination of, 49-51, methods of computing indexes of, 46-9, 51-5 methods of eliminating, 49-50 Secular changes in cyclical behavior, 301-2; also Secular trend (see also amplitude; duration; reference-cycle patterns; specific-cycle patterns) character of, in six test series, 271-3 effect of elimination of, on number of specific cycles, 37-8, 273-6 reference-cycle measures, 294-9 specific-cycle measures, 273-94, 300-5 variability of cyclical measures, 299-302 effect of smoothing on measures of, 335-6 inter- and intra-cycle, 28, 36, 141-4, 245, 283-4, methods of measuring, 28-9, 37-9, 141-4 methods of removing, 271, 276, 278 plan of treating, 12, 36-43, 307, 309 business cycles, 401-3, 413-7 reference-cycle measures, 393-401, 412-6 specific-cycle measures, 301-2, 384-93, 412-6 sample tables of measures of, 28, 142 step-wise elimination of, 39, 131, 135, 141-2, time unit and, 245-6, 259-60, 302-8 Security markets, 20, 82 Severe depressions, 106-7, 455, 458, 460, 462-4 Shares traded, N. Y. Stock Exchange, 63, 93, 98, 101, 122-3, 156, 158, 169, 173, 521, 526-7, 531-2, 535, 537-9, 545, 547-8; also Ch. 6, 9-12 Shiskin, Julius, 46, 80, 216 Shoes, wholesale price of men's, 67, 541 Silberling, Norman J., 432 Sine-shaped cycles, 126, 251, 294, 318-9, 321, 330, 334-5, 340-6, 549-50 Single-date series (see also annual data), 260-1 Skewness (see cyclical measures) Smoothing (see also artificial series; erratic movements; Macaulay's graduation; special nineteen-point pattern) dubious cycles caused by, 65, 314-5, 361-2 number of specific cycles, 312-6, 363-7 reference-cycle measures, 349-61 specific-cycle measures, 316-49 variability of cyclical measures, 361-2

Smoothingmethods rounding Snedecor, G Snyder, Car Snyder's cle 546 Snyder's ind Snyder's ind Snyder's ind Special nine Specific cycl correspon 376-7, dating of definition diffusion division c inverted 185-7 436, 45 uncertain Specific-cvc ration: trend; turns: ti cyclical o 456.45 effect of effect of for corre month 236month 232raw ar trend 285influence influence method for mo for gu sample c sample 1 147.15 secular o structura variabili 482-50 Specific-cv adjustme change before a during I during 1 during pressio during le during \$ effect of effect of

40-2, 444-8,

47. 49-50.

546

palysis, 36,

of, 49.51,

6-9, 51-5

801-2: also

ation; ref-

patterns)

3-6

9-302 335-6

245, 283-4,

1.4

412-6 93, 412-6

35, 141-2,

462-4 **53**, 93, 98, 5-7, 581-2,

321, 330,

). 260-1

erratic special

361-2

8-7

1-2

Smoothing-Cont.: methods of, 311, 317-9, 332, 343-4, 361-2, 368 rounding bias of, 331, 343-4, 347-8 Snedecor, George W., 392 Snyder, Carl, 75, 98, 101, 108, 546 Snyder's clearings index of business, 98, 101, 108, Snyder's index of composite wages, 92, 543 Snyder's index of deposits activity, 98, 101, 546 method of computing for monthly data, 29-30, 144-60 Snyder's index of general prices, 98, 101, 546 Special nineteen-point pattern, 347-9, 357 Specific cycles (see also specific-cycle measures) correspondence to business cycles, 117, 129-30, 376-7, 482 149-51, 157-9 dating of, 56-66, 88-9, 148, 215-6, 276-9 definition of, 11-2, 24-6 170-6 diffusion of 66-71 division of into nine stages, 29, 144-9, 151, 199 inverted treatment of, 115-9, 125, 130, 133, 135-7, 143-5, 147-8, 150, 250, 282-3, 286, 288, 436, 450-2, 454, 459, 524-8 10, 11 uncertainties in identifying, 61, 363-7 Specific-cycle measures (see also amplitude; dutiming) ration; expansion and contraction; secular trend; specific-cycle patterns; specific-cycle 117-20, 127 turns; timing) cyclical changes in, 420-7, 432-7, 444-8, 450-4, effects of smoothing on, 312-26 456, 458-65 effect of smoothing on, 312-49, 361-9 effect of trend adjustment on, 273-94, 299-309 for corresponding cycles in monthly and annual data, 225, 228, 232-4, 70.7, 80.90, 125-6 236-8, 241-3, 248 monthly and quarterly data, 225, 228, 232-4, 237, 242-3 raw and smoothed data, 316-49. trend-adjusted and unadjusted data, 277-81, 285-6, 288-9, 291 influence of extreme items on, 491-503 influence of time unit on, 204-61, 268-9, 302-6 547 method of computing for monthly data, 24-30, 115-60 stock prices) for quarterly and annual data, 197-200, 202 Stock trading (see shares traded) sample charts of, 34-5, 154-8 sample tables of, 26-30, 124, 129, 133, 142, 145, employment, 68-70 147.150 Structural changes, 382-3, 406-17 secular changes in, 300-2, 384-93, 396-401, 412-6 structural changes in, 406-10, 412-3, 416-7 variability of, 299-302, 361-2, 372, 375-81, 467-8, 482-503; also Ch. 10, 11 Specific-cycle patterns (see also specific cycles) adjustment of, to show variation in rates of tical significance) change, 157-60, 251-3 before and after 1914, 410 during Kitchin's major cycles, 450, 452 during long building cycles, 422-3, 425 during long cycles marked off by severe de-Time series pressions, 456, 458 during long waves in wholesale prices, 434 22.77 during Schumpeter's 'Juglar cycles', 444, 446 effect of dubious cycle on, 365-7 107.127.186 effect of smoothing on, 336-49

Specific-cycle patterns-Cont.:

effect of trend adjustment on, 292-4, 300, 305-6 influence of extreme items on, 497-8, 500

influence of time unit on, 246-52

interpolation of standings in, 148-50, 249-51

intra-cycle trend in, 28, 36, 141-2, 283-4, 414 inverted treatment of, 147-8, 452, 524-8

measurements of, in seven test series, 518-28

for quarterly and annual data, 199-200

of artificial series, 342-7

- rates of change from stage to stage of, 30-1,
- relation between reference-cycle patterns and,

sample charts of, 34-5, 154-8

sample tables of, 29, 145, 147

special nineteen-point, 347-9

variability of, 362, 377-8, 497-8, 500; also Ch.

Specific-cycle turns (see also peaks and troughs;

criteria of corrrespondence to reference turns,

dating of, 24, 56-66, 68-70, 73-5, 88-9, 119, 148

effects of trend elimination on, 272, 275-9

influence of time unit on, 204-10, 216, 224-5, 227-8, 232-3, 254-5, 257

relation to dating of reference cycles, 12-3, 58,

Standard and Poor's Corporation, 543

Standard Statistics Company, index of industrial production, 78, 75, 84, 86, 88, 542

Statistical significance (see also variance ratios), 389-93, 397-8, 400-1, 412

Statistique Générale, 94, 432, 440

Steel billets, wholesale price, Pittsburgh, 98, 101,

Stock prices (see common stock prices; railroad

Stone, clay and glass products, manufacturing

Structural steel, orders for (see orders)

Sugar meltings, 156, 158, 168-9, 173, 549

Sulphuric acid, wholesale price, 67, 541

Testing of hypotheses (see business cycles; statis-

Textiles, manufacturing employment, 68-70

Textiles, wholesale prices, 98, 101, 547

Thomas, Dorothy Swaine, 455

Thorp, Willard L., 10, 18, 24, 76, 108, 403-6

as records of economic activities, 10-1, 13, 16-7,

customary techniques of analyzing, 4, 36-8, 46,

number analyzed, 19-21, 81-2

Time unit (see annual data; calendar-year data; fiscal-year data; quarterly data; referencecycle measures; specific-cycle measures)

Timing (see also annual data; quarterly data) effect of smoothing on, \$16-25

effect of trend elimination on, 276-9, 301-2, 304 influence of extreme items on, 493-6 influence of time unit on, 198, 223-30, 259,

261 methods of measuring, 12, 26-7, 116-29, 168-70,

185-98, 201, 266, **3**57

of 46 series, 97-100

of seven test series, 529-33

sample tables of measures of, 26, 124, 129 secular changes in, 398-400

sequences, in business cycles, 6, 11-3, 16, 23, 38-9, 68-70, 77, 88-9, 98, 125-8, 223-7, 276-9, 323-5

structural changes in. 406, 409

variability of, 376, 467, 487-90

Tin, pig, wholesale price, N. Y. City, 98, 101, 547 Tinbergen, J., 204

Tintner, Gerhard, 362

Tobacco industry, manufacturing employment, 68-70

Ton-miles (see freight ton-miles)

Transit rides, N. Y. City, 66-7, 5

Transportation, 19-20, 82

Transportation equipment industry, manufacturing employment, 68-9

Trend (see secular trend)

Trend cycles, 382, 428

Triangular cycles, 318-9, 321, 334-5, 343-5, 550 Troughs (see peaks and troughs)

Truck production, 91, 93, 545

Turning points (see peaks and troughs: refer-

ence dates; specific-cycle turns; timing) Turning zones, 70, 95 United States duration of business cycles in, 78, 262, 371-2, 401-2, 404-5, 412, 437-42, 451, 458, 463, 516 number of series analyzed, 20 reference dates for, 78, 107-13, 510-1 time series available for, 73-6, 81-2, 97 University of Illinois, Bureau of Business Research, 271 University of Pittsburgh, Bureau of Business Research, 545 Variance analysis, technique of, 391-2 Variance ratios, 391-3, 396-402, 405-9, 412, 425-6, 433, 436-8, 445, 451, 454, 459-60, 462-3, 485, 489 Veblen, Thorstein, 382 Wagenführ, Rolf, 91 Wages (see income, personal; Snyder's index of composite wages) Wallis, W. Allen, 146, 183, 550 War cycles, 90-4, 429 War Production Board. 541 Wardwell, Charles A. R., 382, 428, 455 Wardwell's major cycles, 382, 428-31 Warren, George F., 417, 432, 546 Wheat freight rates, Chicago to New York, 67, 541 Wholesale prices (see commodity prices) Wiśniewski, Jan K., 390 Wohlstetter, Albert, 80, 91 World War I (see war cycles)

Unemployment, World War I, 90-1, 94

Yates, F., 392, 550 Yule, G. Udny, 51

Zinc, slab, wholesale price, N. Y. City, 98, 101, 122-3. 547

Zinc stocks at refineries, 147, 156, 158, 166, 168-9, 173, 178-9, 548